Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology

# **Springer Protocols**



Alan Talevi Luisa Rocha *Editors* 

# Antiepileptic Drug Discovery

**Novel Approaches** 





#### METHODS IN PHARMACOLOGY AND TOXICOLOGY

Series Editor Y. James Kang University of Louisville School of Medicine Prospect, Kentucky, USA

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/7653

# **Antiepileptic Drug Discovery**

## **Novel Approaches**

Edited by

## Alan Talevi

CONICET, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Argentina

## Luisa Rocha

Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico

💥 Humana Press

*Editors* Alan Talevi Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB) Faculty of Exact Sciences National University of La Plata La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Luisa Rocha Department of Pharmacobiology Center for Research and Advanced Studies Mexico City, Mexico

ISSN 1557-2153 ISSN 1940-6053 (electronic) Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology ISBN 978-1-4939-6353-9 ISBN 978-1-4939-6355-3 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016949635

#### © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Humana Press imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer Science+Business Media LLC New York

#### Preface

Despite the introduction of several novel antiepileptic medications to the clinical practice during the last 20 years, the proportion of patients failing to achieve a seizure-free status has not improved substantially. Furthermore, current antiepileptic drugs provide symptomatic control to responsive patients (anticonvulsive or antiseizure effect) but have not proven to prevent the setting and progression of the disorder (antiepileptogenesis). Leading experts have emphasized the need for paradigm shifts in the field of antiepileptic drug discovery as a key factor to arrive at truly innovative therapeutic solutions. Such innovative solutions involve a wide and multidisciplinary array of strategies, including, among others, the development of new in vitro and in vivo models of epilepsy, the exploration of new molecular targets and mechanisms of action, the integration of computer-aided approaches, and the development of advanced drug delivery systems. Even though remarkable (yet incomplete) progress has been made in the knowledge of the pathophysiology of epilepsy and the determinants of refractoriness, these advancements have so far not crystallized into more efficacious therapeutic strategies. What is more, the epilepsy field has fallen somewhat behind regarding the integration of modern drug development tools, in comparison with other complex disorders such as cancer or Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases.

This volume aims to provide medicinal chemists, pharmacologists, and other scientists involved in antiepileptic drug discovery with a comprehensive view of novel approaches for the development of antiepileptic therapies, with a focus on novel molecular targets for antiepileptic drugs, computer-aided approaches for the identification of new drug candidates, and therapeutic strategies to overcome refractory epilepsy. The last part illustrates the potential benefits that network pharmacology and rational drug repurposing could bring to the antiepileptic drug discovery community.

The volume is made up of 19 chapters that are briefly commented on next.

Firstly, López-Meraz et al. describe the role of proinflammatory cytokines in the neuroinflammation process associated with seizure activity. They indicate the relevance of considering these cytokines as potential therapeutic targets for the pharmacological treatment of epilepsy. Valle-Dorado et al. present a review of different anti-inflammatory drugs that may be used to avoid the neuroinflammation that results from seizure activity. These authors suggest that anti-inflammatory drugs represent a strategy to decrease the higher excitability associated with epilepsy. Mendoza-Torreblanca et al. describe some of the basic aspects of the role of synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A) in epilepsy, and support that this molecule is a good molecular target for the design of new antiepileptic drugs. Interestingly, they also provide an immunochemical protocol to obtain reliable semi-quantitative data of SV2A as well as a methodology to develop SV2A molecular dynamics simulations. Zavala and Rocha explain the relevance of evaluating the pro- and anticonvulsant effects of cannabinoids, depending on the type of epilepsy and the rate of excitability. Cuellar-Herrera et al. examine the importance of the pharmacological blockade of glutamate receptors as a therapeutic strategy to control seizure activity and induce neuroprotection. Gavernet discusses the existing evidence of the potential use of carbonic anhydrase as an antiepileptic drug target, describing a structure-based procedure for the design of novel inhibitors. Joshi and Kapur

describe experimental evidence supporting the idea that neurosteroids regulate seizure activity via modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. They also provide data that neurosteroids represent a novel target to control seizure activity in women with epilepsy. Marelli et al. describe the mechanisms involved in the neuroprotective effects induced by erythropoietin and propose that the activation of its receptor (EPO receptor) can be used as a therapeutic strategy to avoid epileptogenesis and pharmacoresistant epilepsy. The last two chapters of the first part of the volume are dedicated to treatment options different from traditional small molecule therapies. Carvajal Aguilera and Phillips Farfán review different eating regimes used to control seizure activity and the mechanisms involved in their effects. They propose that elucidating the underlying mechanisms of these therapeutic interventions could help in the development of innovative antiepileptic medications, and they provide a protocol for the preclinical study of caloric restriction. López-García et al. provide a review of different gene therapies considered as possible strategies to reduce seizure activity.

In the second part, Lara et al. present an overview of the relevance of using human brain tissue to evaluate the pharmacoresistance in epilepsy and describe protocols of different approaches to fulfill this goal: in vitro electrophysiological recordings, in vitro procedures for receptor evaluation, and genomic analyses. Rogel-Salazar and Luna-Munguia analyze the role of the blood-brain barrier in epilepsy and the relevance of considering this structure as a target to design new antiepileptic strategies. Talevi and Bruno-Blanch describe the general procedures to implement a ligand-based virtual screening campaign for the identification of novel antiepileptic drugs. Couvoupetrou et al. also discuss technical aspects of computational (ligand-based) and experimental approaches used for the early detection of substrates of efflux systems, which could assist in the development of new antiepileptic drugs addressing the transporter hypothesis of pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Similarly, Palestro and Gavernet describe structure-based approaches that can be used to predict P-glycoprotein substrates. At the end of the second part of the volume, Ruiz and Castro examine the potential use of pharmaceuticals' micro- and nanocarriers to improve central nervous system bioavailability of antiepileptic agents; they also provide an experimental procedure to study drug release from such advanced pharmaceutical vehicles in vitro.

In the last part, Kubova presents a review of the different side effects induced by the different antiepileptic drugs and points out the necessity to carry out comparative, well-designed, and long-term trials in order to identify the best pharmacological strategy to control epilepsy. This author also emphasizes some reported beneficial effects of known antiepileptic drugs on comorbid mood disorders. In the two final chapters of the book, Talevi discusses the potential of network pharmacology and drug repurposing in the field of antiepileptic drug discovery, along with some practical consideration on how these approaches could be integrated into the drug discovery process.

The editors consider this book to be an excellent tool for the study of pharmacoresistant epilepsy and the discovery of new antiepileptic drugs.

> Alan Talevi Luisa Rocha

### **Contents**

| Prej<br>Cor | face<br>tributors  | v<br>ix |
|-------------|--|---------|
| Pai         | RT I NOVEL APPROACHES FOR THE TREATMENT OF EPILEPSY  |         |
| 1           | Inflammatory Cytokines as Targets for Epilepsy Drug Therapy<br>María-Leonor López-Meraz, Jesús-Servando Medel-Matus,<br>and Jerome Niquet  | 3       |
| 2           | The Use of Anti-inflammatory Drugs in Epilepsy<br>María Guadalupe Valle-Dorado, Laura Elena Córdova-Dávalos,<br>Daniel Pérez-Pérez, Rosalinda Guevara-Guzmán, and Luisa Rocha  | 23      |
| 3           | Carbonic Anhydrase and Epilepsy Luciana Gavernet   | 37      |
| 4           | Synaptic Vesicle Protein 2A as a Novel Pharmacological Targetwith Broad Potential for New Antiepileptic Drugs.Luz Adriana Pichardo-Macías, Itzel Jatziri Contreras-García,Sergio R. Zamudio, Edgar Mixcoha, and Julieta G. Mendoza-Torreblanca | 53      |
| 5           | Do Cannabinoids Represent a Good Therapeutic Strategy for Epilepsy?<br>Cecilia Zavala-Tecuapetla and Luisa Rocha   | 83      |
| 6           | Glutamate Receptors as Targets for Novel Antiepileptic Drug Therapy<br>Manola Cuéllar-Herrera, César E. Santana-Gómez,<br>Francia Carmona-Cruz, Daruni Vázquez-Barrón, Francisco Velasco,<br>and Ana L. Velasco                                |         |
| 7           | Neurosteroid Regulation of Seizures: Role of GABAA Receptor Plasticity<br>Suchitra Joshi and Jaideep Kapur   | 127     |
| 8           | Erythropoietin as Potential Neuroprotective and Antiepileptogenic<br>Agent in Epilepsy and Refractory Epilepsy<br>Amalia Marelli, Liliana Czornyj, Luisa Rocha, and Alberto Lazarowski   | 147     |
| 9           | Caloric Restriction and Dietary Treatments of Epilepsy:<br>Mechanistic Insights for Drug Discovery<br>Karla G. Carvajal Aguilera and Bryan V. Phillips Farfán  | 163     |
| 10          | Gene Therapy in Epilepsy<br>Miguel A. López-García, Iris A. Feria-Romero, Julia J. Segura-Uribe,<br>David Escalante-Santiago, and Sandra Orozco-Suárez   | 181     |

| Pai | AT II  | Innovative Solutions for the Screening<br>of New Antiepileptics Drugs and Addressing<br>Multi-Drug Resistant Epilepsy |     |  |
|-----|--|---|-----|--|
| 11  | Human Brain Tissue as a Model for the Study of Epilepsy  |   |     |  |
| 12  | The Blood–Brain Barrier and the Design of New Antiepileptic Drugs 2<br>Gabriela Rogel-Salazar and Hiram Luna-Munguia   |   |     |  |
| 13  | Virtual Screening Applications in the Search of Novel AntiepilepticDrug Candidates.2.Alan Talevi and Luis E. Bruno-Blanch  |   |     |  |
| 14  | Discovering New Antiepileptic Drugs Addressing the Transporter<br>Hypothesis of Refractory Epilepsy: Ligand-Based Approximations<br>Manuel Couyoupetrou, Mauricio Di Ianni, Melisa Gantner,<br>Guido Pesce, Roxana Peroni, Alan Talevi, and Luis E. Bruno-Blanch |   |     |  |
| 15  | Discovering New Antiepileptic Drugs Addressing the Transporter<br>Hypothesis of Refractory Epilepsy: Structure-Based Approximations Pablo Palestro and Luciana Gavernet  |   | 281 |  |
| 16  | Nanoformulations of Antiepileptic Drugs: In Vitro and In Vivo Studies 29<br>María E. Ruiz and Guillermo R. Castro  |   |     |  |
| Pai | AT III   | Potential Contributions of Network Pharmacology<br>and Drug Repurposing in Antiepileptic Drug Discovery               |     |  |
| 17  | Side Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs  |   | 329 |  |
| 18  | Network Pharmacology and Epilepsy  |   | 351 |  |
| 19  | The Importance of Drug Repurposing in the Field of AntiepilepticDrug Development   |   |     |  |
| Ind | lex  |   | 379 |  |

viii

Contents

#### **Contributors**

- IVETTE BAÑUELOS-CABRERA Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- LUIS E. BRUNO-BLANCH Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB), Faculty of Exact Sciences, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- FRANCIA CARMONA-CRUZ Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- KARLA G. CARVAJAL AGUILERA Laboratorio de Nutrición Experimental, Instituto Nacional de Pediatría, Mexico City, Mexico
- GUILLERMO R. CASTRO Nanobiomaterials Laboratory, Applied Biotechnology Institute (CINDEFI, UNLP-CONICET CCT La Plata) -School of Sciences, Universidad Nacional de La Plata, La Plata, Argentina
- ITZEL JATZIRI CONTRERAS-GARCÍA Laboratorio de Neurociencias, Instituto Nacional de Pediatría, Mexico City, Mexico; Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico
- LAURA ELENA CÓRDOVA-DÁVALOS Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico
- MANUEL COUYOUPETROU Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB), Faculty of Exact Sciences, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina; Administración Nacional de Medicamentos, Alimentos y Tecnología Médica (ANMAT), Instituto Nacional de Medicamentos (INAME), Buenos Aires, Argentina
- MANOLA CUÉLLAR-HERRERA Epilepsy Clinic, Unit of Functional Neurosurgery, Stereotaxy and Radiosurgery, General Hospital of Mexico "Dr. Eduardo Liceaga", Mexico City, Mexico
- LILIANA CZORNYJ Fundación INVESTIGAR, CABA, Argentina; Neurology Service, National Pediatric Hospital "Juan P Garrahan", CABA, Argentina
- DAVID ESCALANTE-SANTIAGO Unidad de Investigación Médica en Enfermedades Neurológicas, Hospital de Especialidades Centro Médico Nacional Siglo XXI, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Mexico City, Mexico
- IRIS A. FERIA-ROMERO Unidad de Investigación Médica en Enfermedades Neurológicas, Hospital de Especialidades Centro Médico Nacional Siglo XXI, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Mexico City, Mexico
- MELISA GANTNER Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB), Faculty of Exact Sciences, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- LUCIANA GAVERNET Laboratory of Bioactive Research and Development (LIDeB), Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Exact Sciences, University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- ROSALINDA GUEVARA-GUZMÁN Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico

- MAURICIO DI IANNI Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB), Faculty of Exact Sciences, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- SUCHITRA JOSHI Department of Neurology, University of Virginia, Health Sciences Center, Charlottesville, VA, USA
- JAIDEEP KAPUR Department of Neurology, University of Virginia, Health Sciences Center, Charlottesville, VA, USA
- HANA KUBOVA Institute of Physiology Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic
- LEONARDO LARA-VALDERRÁBANO Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- ALBERTO LAZAROWSKI INFIBIOC, School of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, University of Buenos Aires, CABA, Argentina; Fundación INVESTIGAR, CABA, Argentina
- MIGUEL A. LÓPEZ-GARCÍA Unidad de Investigación Médica en Enfermedades Neurológicas, Hospital de Especialidades Centro Médico Nacional Siglo XXI, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Mexico City, Mexico; Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias Biológicas y de la Salud, Universidad Autónoma Metropolitana, Mexico City, Mexico
- María-Leonor López-Meraz Centro de Investigaciones Cerebrales, Universidad Veracruzana, Xalapa, Mexico
- HIRAM LUNA-MUNGUIA Department of Neurology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA
- AMALIA MARELLI INFIBIOC, School of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, University of Buenos Aires, CABA, Argentina
- JESÚS-SERVANDO MEDEL-MATUS Department of Pediatrics, Neurology Division at David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, CA, USA
- JULIETA G. MENDOZA-TORREBLANCA Laboratorio de Neurociencias, Instituto Nacional de Pediatría, Mexico City, Mexico
- EDGAR MIXCOHA Laboratory of Molecular Neurobiology and Addictive Neurochemistry, National Institute of Psychiatry, Ramón de la Fuente Muñiz, Mexico City, Mexico
- Víctor Navarrete-Modesto Unit for Medical Research in Neurological Diseases, National Medical Center, Mexico City, Mexico
- JEROME NIQUET Department of Neurology, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California, Los Angeles, CA, USA; Epilepsy Research Laboratory, Veterans Affairs Greater Los Angeles Healthcare System, Los Angeles, CA, USA

SANDRA OROZCO-SUÁREZ • Unidad de Investigación Médica en Enfermedades Neurológicas, Hospital de Especialidades Centro Médico Nacional Siglo XXI, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Mexico City, Mexico

- PABLO PALESTRO Laboratory of Bioactive Research and Development (LIDeB), Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Exact Sciences, University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- DANIEL PÉREZ-PÉREZ Plan of Combined Studies in Medicine (PECEM), Faculty of Medicine, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico
- ROXANA PERONI Instituto de Investigaciones Farmacológicas (ININFA), Faculty of Pharmacy and Biochemistry, University of Buenos Aires (UBA) – CONICET, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- GUIDO PESCE Administración Nacional de Medicamentos, Alimentos y Tecnología Médica (ANMAT), Instituto Nacional de Medicamentos (INAME), Buenos Aires, Argentina
- BRYAN V. PHILLIPS FARFÁN Laboratorio de Nutrición Experimental, Instituto Nacional de Pediatría, Mexico City, Mexico

- LUZ ADRIANA PICHARDO-MACÍAS Laboratorio de Neurociencias, Instituto Nacional de Pediatría, Mexico City, Mexico; Laboratorio de Neurociencia Conductual, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Ciudad de México, Mexico
- LUISA ROCHA Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- GABRIELA ROGEL-SALAZAR Department of Neurology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA
- MARÍA E. RUIZ Quality Control of Drugs, Department of Biological Sciences, School of Sciences, Universidad Nacional de La Plata (UNLP) – Argentinean National Council for Scientific and Technical Research (CONICET), La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- César E. Santana-Gómez Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- JULIA J. SEGURA-URIBE Unidad de Investigación Médica en Enfermedades Neurológicas, Hospital de Especialidades Centro Médico Nacional Siglo XXI, Instituto Mexicano del Seguro Social, Mexico City, Mexico
- ALAN TALEVI Laboratorio de Investigación y Desarrollo de Bioactivos (LIDeB), Faculty of Exact Sciences, National University of La Plata, La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina
- María Guadalupe Valle-Dorado Department of Pharmacobiology, Center for Research and Advanced Studies, Mexico City, Mexico
- DARUNI VÁZQUEZ-BARRÓN Epilepsy Clinic, Unit of Functional Neurosurgery, Stereotaxy and Radiosurgery, General Hospital of Mexico "Dr. Eduardo Liceaga", Mexico City, Mexico
- ANA L. VELASCO Epilepsy Clinic, Unit of Functional Neurosurgery, Stereotaxy and Radiosurgery, General Hospital of Mexico "Dr. Eduardo Liceaga", Mexico City, Mexico
- FRANCISCO VELASCO Epilepsy Clinic, Unit of Functional Neurosurgery, Stereotaxy and Radiosurgery, General Hospital of Mexico "Dr. Eduardo Liceaga", Mexico City, Mexico
- SERGIO R. ZAMUDIO Laboratorio de Neurociencia Conductual, Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Ciudad de México, Mexico
- CECILIA ZAVALA-TECUAPETLA Laboratory of Physiology of the Reticular Formation, National Institute of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Mexico City, Mexico

## **Part I**

## Novel Approaches for the Treatment of Epilepsy

## **Chapter 1**

#### Inflammatory Cytokines as Targets for Epilepsy Drug Therapy

## María-Leonor López-Meraz, Jesús-Servando Medel-Matus, and Jerome Niquet

#### Abstract

Seizures and epilepsy are associated with a neuroinflammatory process. Proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , are acutely expressed after seizures in experimental models and, in some cases, still overexpressed later during the chronic stage. Increased levels of these cytokines have been found in the serum from epileptic patients. Pharmacological approaches in rodents support that neuroinflammation is involved in modulating seizure susceptibility, neuronal damage, and other neurological disorders associated with epilepsy. This chapter review studies suggesting that proinflammatory cytokine systems are potential therapeutic targets for the pharmacological treatment of epilepsy.

Key words Cytokines, Interleukin-1β, Seizures, Epilepsy, Neuronal damage, Comorbidities

#### **1** Cytokines in the Central Nervous System

Although inflammation produces beneficial effects on central nervous system (CNS) like the elimination of pathogens and the activation of repair processes in the damaged area, excessive and uncontrolled inflammation can be detrimental to the brain since it produces neurotoxic factors leading to aggravation of neurodegenerative disorders [1]. Cytokines are usually considered chemical messengers between immune cells, having a crucial role in the inflammatory and immune response to injury and infection [2]. Nathan and Sporn have defined cytokines as a (glyco)protein, nonimmunoglobulin in nature, released by living cells of the host, which acts nonenzymatically in picomolar to nanomolar concentrations to regulate host cell function [3]. Cytokines comprise a diverse group of proteins including interleukins, interferons, colonystimulating factors, and peptide growth factors [3]. Research in cytokines has been complicated considering that cytokines arise from apparently unrelated cell types and display diverse and even

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_1, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

opposing bioactivities. Thus, it is difficult to predict how, when, and where cytokines will play a role (even if their amino acid sequence and actions are known). The actions of a given cytokine can also be exerted by another one, and some cytokines promote the synthesis or release of other cytokines, which finally produce the biological effect [3]. The classification of cytokines can be confusing, since they are frequently named for their biological activity [2]. Cytokines can be classified in three groups: proinflammatory [such as interleukin-1 (IL-1 $\beta$ ), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ )], anti-inflammatory (such as IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13), and hematopoietic cytokines (such as IL-3 and IL-5) [2].

It is now accepted that cytokines are signaling agents in the brain and serve as mediators between the immune and nerve cells; the brain is able of influencing immune processes, and this immunological response can in turn change the brain activity [2]. However, a full assessment of these complex interactions is still under study. The first reports describing a relationship between inflammation in the central nervous system and epilepsy were performed in the 1990s. Several research groups performed studies in order to characterize how seizures and epilepsy could regulate cytokine transcription, expression, or release [4–8]. In the current chapter, we examine the studies identifying the potential therapeutic properties of inflammatory cytokine systems, with an emphasis on interleukin-1 $\beta$  signaling.

#### 2 Cytokine and Its Receptors After Seizures

Nowadays, it is well established that cytokines can also be synthesized and released in the brain by microglial cells, astrocytes, and some populations of neurons. It is also known that there is a rapid and strong increase in cytokine expression levels in the brain acutely following an insult or chronically in many neurodegenerative disorders. There is a large body of experimental and clinical studies that have characterized the relationship between epilepsy and cytokines. Electrically or chemically induced seizures in developing and adult rats trigger gliosis and microglia activation, along with an increase of mRNA and protein expression of proinflammatory cytokines. Data obtained from human brain tissue or blood samples, as well as meta-analysis, have also shown an association between epilepsy and neuroinflammation. This chapter reviews the studies revealing the interaction between neuroinflammation and seizures and the data identifying the specific inflammatory signaling pathways that may be potential therapeutic target for the treatment and/or prevention of seizures and their sequels.

The relationship between seizures and neuroinflammation can vary depending on the stage at which it is evaluated: during the acute phase of seizures (mainly *status epilepticus*, *SE*), the latency or epileptogenesis phase, or the chronic phase (i.e., epilepsy, when spontaneous and recurrent seizures occur). Additionally, results often differ depending on the experimental model used to induce the convulsions or the epilepsy and the level of maturation of the brain. In the following paragraphs, we review the experimental evidence obtained from rodents.

It is known that baseline levels of cytokines in the rat brain are barely detectable in normal condition. Initial studies in seizure models demonstrated that the systemic administration of kainic acid (KA) or pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) in the adult rat triggers an upregulation of brain (cortex, hippocampus, thalamus) mRNA for cytokines, including IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  natural antagonist (IL-1Ra), and IL-6, 2–24 h after seizures [4, 5, 7]. A similar effect was later observed in adult rats following electrically induced SE or amygdala kindling, where it results in an upregulation of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , type I IL-1 receptor (IL-1RI), and inducible nitric oxide synthase mRNA in hippocampus 2–24 h following seizures [9, 10]. Other studies also demonstrated that TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 secretion was increased in hippocampal slices prepared from rats previously injected with KA in the amygdala [6].

It is noteworthy that most of the studies indicate that IL-1 $\beta$  (mRNA or protein) peaks sooner than other proinflammatory cytokines. Actually, in some cases, it is the only cytokine increasing after seizures. IL-1 $\beta$  belongs to the IL-1 family and exerts its biological effects by acting on type I IL-1 receptor (IL-1RI) [11]. IL-1 $\beta$  natural antagonist (IL-1Ra) is a protein that competitively and selectively avoids the binding of IL-1 $\beta$  with its type I receptor [12–14].

Vezzani and colleagues also reported an increased number of IL-1β-immunoreactive cells in CA1, CA3, and dentate gyrus (DG) after seizures induced by intrahippocampal injection of KA in adult rats [8]. A similar effect was observed in adult rats after SE induced by electrical stimulation, where the number of IL-1β, IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1RI immunoreactive cells in CA1 and CA3 hippocampal areas was increased 2-48 h post-SE (acute stage) and still higher than controls 60 days post-SE [9, 15]. In adult rats, SE induced by pilocarpine produced an overexpression of IL-1ß and IL-1RI cells in damaged CA3 area during the acute (18 h post-SE), latent (7 days post-SE), and chronic phases (4 months post-SE), along with triggering astrogliosis and microglia activation [16]. Recently, an upregulation of IL-1ß was detected by western blot in the hippocampus from adult rats after chemical kindling induced by PTZ, along with an increase in the number of IL-1RI immunoreactive cells in the DG [17].

Chemically induced seizures cause a strong neuroinflammatory response in the developing hippocampus (P9, P15, and P21 rat pups; P, postnatal day). That response includes overexpression of astrocytes and activated microglia [18, 19], as well as an acute mRNA increase of inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1β, IL-1Ra,

TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 [18–20]. In 15-day-old rat pups, SE promotes an increase in IL-1ß mRNA levels in hippocampus 4 h after SE that does not persist 18 h following seizures, whereas mRNA levels of IL-1Ra, IL-6, or TNF-α remain unchanged [18, 19]. Omran and collaborators showed that hippocampal mRNA and protein of IL-1ß are upregulated in 11-day-old rats 2 h after lithium-pilocarpine-induced SE (acute stage), as well as during the chronic stage, when spontaneous seizures occurred [21]. Recently, it has been shown that SE induced by lithium-pilocarpine produced a transitory overexpression of IL-1β and IL-1RI in the injured hippocampus (mainly in the CA1 area, but also in dentate gyrus and hilus) 6 h following convulsions [22]. Altogether, those data suggest that neuronal damage induced by SE in the developing rat brain may involve the participation of the IL- $1\beta$ /IL-1RI system. Febrile convulsions, induced by a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and a subconvulsant dose of KA in 14-day-old rat pups, increased IL-1ß levels in hypothalamus and hippocampus after seizures [23]. Additionally, the chronic expression of IL-1ß in hippocampus is associated with the development of spontaneous limbic seizures after induction of febrile seizures in P11 rats [24].

On the other hand, some groups have reported alterations of the immune system in patients with epilepsy. The involvement of neuroinflammation in the pathogenesis of human epilepsy has long been debated and is controversial. Changes in the immune system vary with the type of epileptic syndrome, etiology, and antiepileptic drug treatment. Furthermore, studies in epileptic patients are limited and even showed opposite results. One of the first approaches to study the relationship between epilepsy and neuroinflammation has been the measurement of blood levels of cytokines after seizures and in different types of epilepsies [25-29]. A limitation of these clinical studies is the inherent difficulty in correlating cytokine blood level with the brain physiopathology. It has been reported that patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy due to hippocampal sclerosis (MTLE-HS) and patients with focal epilepsy due to benign cerebral tumors have higher levels of IL-6 serum concentration during the interictal state, as compared with controls; no differences were detected in IL-1 $\beta$  or TNF- $\alpha$  serum levels in MTLE-HS. However, elevated IL-1ß concentrations were seen in patients with focal epilepsy due to tumors [27]. Other studies showed that patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE) have increased serum concentrations of IL-6, but not those of IL-1ß or TNF- $\alpha$ , immediately after seizure [25]. However, in a meta-analysis by Yu et al, no differences between plasma concentrations of IL-1β and IL-1Ra in patients with epilepsy and control subjects were identified [30]. A recent study reported that increased serum levels of IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-1Ra were detected in both patients with temporal and extratemporal lobe epilepsy; however, higher levels of IL-1 $\beta$  were observed in the TLE group [31]. Other studies

showed that there is an increase in IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-1Ra plasma levels in patients with TLE and a decrease following epilepsy surgery when patients remained free of seizures [28, 29, 32].

Ravizza and colleagues showed that the hippocampus of patients with TLE and hippocampal sclerosis have neurons and glia immunoreactive to IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-1RI, suggesting the activation of IL-1 $\beta$ /IL-1RI system in human epilepsy [33]. Hippocampal tissue from children with medial temporal lobe epilepsy also displayed higher levels of IL-1 $\beta$  than control patients [21]. Remarkably, the cortical tissue of patients with focal cortical dysplasia and glioneuronal tumors also showed increased expression of IL-1 $\beta$  and its type I receptor in neurons and glial cells, and this effect positively correlated with the frequency of seizures [34]. See Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.

#### 3 Effect of Cytokines on Ictogenesis and Epileptogenesis

As indicated above, seizures and epilepsy induce a strong inflammatory response in the brain. The remaining question is whether inflammation increased seizure susceptibility. Proconvulsant and anticonvulsant effects have been reported for IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ . A possible explanation for this phenomenon is that cytokines play different roles through multiple pathways, depending on their concentration and availability of receptors [35]. These cytokines could be a target for modifying seizure susceptibility, but the efficacy of treatment varies with the experimental model, animal species, age of the experimental subject, type of seizure modeled, as well the time point of intervention.

Experimental evidence suggests a particularly strong proconvulsant effect of IL-1 $\beta$ , which makes to the IL-1 $\beta$ /IL1-RI system an interesting target for pursuing of anticonvulsant drugs. This effect is associated with the capacity of IL-1ß to induce the production of other cytokines and growth factors [36] and changes in blood flow [37]. In adult rats, the intrahippocampal injection of IL-1ß prolongs and worsens the electroencephalographic and behavioral seizures caused by KA [8, 38]. These authors demonstrated that 1 ng of IL-1ß intrahippocampally injected 10 min before KA increases seizure duration (but not seizure onset or number), an effect that was blocked by the coadministration of 1 µg of IL-1R1a, indicating the involvement of the IL-1 $\beta$ /IL-1R1 system in ictogenesis. In this study, the effect of IL-1 $\beta$  was also blocked by the coinjection of  $0.1 \text{ ng of } 3 \cdot ((+) \cdot 2 \cdot \text{carboxypiperazin-})$ 4yl)-propyl-phosphonate, an NMDA receptor antagonist, implying that IL-1ß requires the glutamatergic neurotransmission to maintain seizures [8]. The administration of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and high-mobility group B1 (HMGB1) protein can rapidly enhance the mean frequency of spontaneous ictal-like discharges,

reduces the latency, and prolongs the duration of the first ictal-like event in a brain slice model of temporal lobe epilepsy, supporting the possibility that targeting these inflammatory pathways may represent an effective therapeutic strategy to prevent seizures and epileptogenesis [39]. In another report, the subchronic treatment with an inhibitor of interleukin-1 synthesis (VX-765, 200 mg/kg, i.p.) in adult rats prevented the epileptogenesis triggered by electrical kindling [33]. Marchi and colleagues confirmed the efficacy of anti-inflammatory strategies in the treatment of seizures. In their study, the pretreatment of adult rats with IL-1Ra (35  $\mu$ g/kg, i.v.) 2 h before pilocarpine reduced the prevalence of lithium-pilocarpine-induced SE and delayed SE onset. These effects were associated with a decrease in the blood-brain barrier (BBB) damage [40]. As indirect evidence of proconvulsant effect of IL-1 $\beta$ , the intracerebral injection of IL-1Ra reduces bicuculline-induced convulsions in mice [41]. Also, transgenic mice with overexpression of IL-1Ra in astrocytes exhibit an increased seizure threshold to bicuculline-induced convulsions [38].

Systemic administration of LPS in P14 rats increased the susceptibility to seizures induced by lithium-pilocarpine, KA, or PTZ in adulthood [42]. It is noteworthy that the hippocampal IL-1 $\beta$  release 6 h following KA-induced seizures was higher in the LPS group; levels of TNF- $\alpha$  were also increased, but it did not reach statistical significance [42]. However, the effect of LPS on PTZ-induced seizures in adult rats was blocked by the concomitant intracerebroventricular administration of a TNF- $\alpha$ -neutralizing antibody (50 µg/5 µl), but not by postnatal treatment with IL-1Ra (10 or 50 µg/5 µl). Interestingly, it was mimicked by the intracerebroventricular inflammatory trigger (in this case a single LPS injection) during a critical postnatal period may cause a long-lasting increase in seizure susceptibility through TNF- $\alpha$  [42].

IL-1 $\beta$  contributes to febrile convulsions induced by LPS and a subconvulsant dose of KA in 14-day-old rat pups. The treatment with IL-1 $\beta$  (3 or 30 ng, i.c.v.) increased the proportion of rats that experienced febrile convulsions, whereas IL-1Ra (10 µg or 15 ng, i.c.v.) had anticonvulsant effects [23] (*see* Appendix 1). Additionally, IL-1 $\beta$  receptor-deficient mice were resistant to febrile seizure induced by a stream of heated air [43]. These findings suggest that IL-1 $\beta$  signaling contributes to fever-induced hyperexcitability and seizures and represents a potential target for their prevention and management.

Kwon and collaborators tested a combination therapy of antiinflammatory drugs in 3-week-old rats, in order to evaluate its effect on epileptogenesis and mossy fiber sprouting due to SE. The authors found that the combination of IL-1Ra (100 mg/kg) and COX-2 inhibitor (CAY 10404, 10 mg/kg) administered for 10 days following SE reduced the development of spontaneous recurrent seizures and limited the extent of mossy fibers [44].

An indirect way to identify the participation of cytokines in the development of seizures is by blocking their inflammatory activity. A good example is the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), a cytokine activated in astrocytes by serum-derived albumin and involved in epileptogenesis. A study indicated that the inhibition of TGF- $\beta$  signaling by angiotensin II type I receptor (AT1) antagonist, losartan, prevents the development of delayed recurrent spontaneous seizures in two different rat models of vascular injury. This inhibitory effect persists weeks after drug withdrawal. Thus, this treatment could be an efficient anti-epileptogenic therapy for epilepsy associated with vascular injury [45]. Another study demonstrated that the treatment with carbamazepine (a classical antiepileptic drug) or vinpocetine (a nonclassical antiseizure drug) reduces IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  expression in rat hippocampus after seizure induction. These findings suggest that the mechanisms of action of these antiepileptic drugs involve a decrease in neuroinflammation and confirm the close relationship between cytokines and seizure development [46]. The antidepressant sertraline is an effective inhibitor of tonic-clonic seizures in animal models. Recently, it was shown that sertraline markedly reduced IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  expression induced by the convulsive agent PTZ and the inoculation of LPS in the rat hippocampus. The results of this study indicate that a reduction of brain inflammatory processes may contribute to the antiseizure action of sertraline, a drug which could be used to treat depression in epileptic patients [47]. The treatment with bupivacaine, an anesthetic agent that inhibits the release of glutamate in rat cerebrocortical nerve terminals, increased seizure latency and reduced hippocampal neuronal death. These effects were accompanied by a reduction in mRNA of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  in the hippocampus in a KA model of temporal lobe epilepsy in rats [48].

#### Role of Cytokines in the Pathophysiology of Seizures and Epilepsy 4

Damage

4.1 Neuronal As described above, proinflammatory cytokines are produced, overexpressed, and/or released in the brain (by microglia, astroglia, and even neurons) after seizures. Experimental studies showed that cytokines contribute to neuronal cell death occurring after seizures. In adult rats, the combination of IL-1Ra and VX-765 (a specific non-peptide inhibitor of IL-1 $\beta$  cleavage and release) decreases neuronal cell loss in the adult rat forebrain following SE induced by pilocarpine or electrical stimulation [49], suggesting that the IL-1  $\beta$ /1L-1RI system is an important therapeutic target to promote neuroprotection after brain injury.

> In the immature rat brain (up to 2 weeks old of age), CA1 pyramidal neurons are highly sensitive to SE-induced neuronal injury, and most of them die by necrosis [50-52]. Recently, it was

demonstrated that i.c.v. injection of IL-1 $\beta$  (3 ng/ $\mu$ l) increased SE-induced necrotic neuronal cell death in the CA1 area of the hippocampus from 14-day-old rats. IL-1ß effect was blocked when coadministrated with IL-1Ra [53]. This data showed that IL-1 $\beta$ facilitates necrotic neuronal cell death after SE through the activation of IL-1RI [53]. Administration of the proinflammatory agent lipopolysaccharide (LPS) prior to the induction of SE by lithiumpilocarpine in rat pups (P7 and P14) increases neuronal cell death observed in the hippocampal CA1 area [54]. Sankar's group tested a combination of anti-inflammatory drugs to promote neuroprotection against LPS plus lithium-pilocarpine-induced SE in 2 weekold rat pups. Their findings indicate that the combination of IL-1Ra (100 mg/kg) and a COX-2 inhibitor (CAY 10404, 1 mg/ kg) decreased the number of CA1 injured neurons after SE; however, the combination of minocycline, an anti-inflammatory and antagonist of microglia activation (100 mg/kg) plus CAY 10404 or IL-1Ra plus minocycline, was ineffective in decreasing neuronal damage. Interestingly, any of these drugs injected alone had neuroprotective effects against SE-induced damage [44]. These authors suggest that multiple anti-inflammatory therapies may provide a practical approach to neuroprotective and antiepileptogenic treatment [44].

Other drugs have been found to have neuroprotective properties against seizure-induced neuronal cell death along with reducing the expression of neuroinflammation markers. In this context, the anesthetic drug bupivacaine reduces neuronal cell death and activation and production of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  in the rat hippocampus after seizures induced by KA [48]. In a different study using the same model of seizures, the intraperitoneal administration of hispidulin (a flavonoid compound that inhibits glutamate release) increased seizure latency, decreased seizure score, reduced production of proinflammatory cytokines, and attenuated hippocampal neuronal cell death [55].

The mechanism by which IL-1ß induces neuronal death is not fully understood. IL-1 $\beta$  (10 mg/ml) aggravates NMDA or glutamate-induced hippocampal neuronal death in fetal rat hippocampal neuron cultures [56]. A recent study showed that spinal glial glutamate transporters activity in neuropathic animals is attenuated by endogenous IL-1β, which in turn could increase glutamate levels and promote excitotoxicity [57]. IL-1 $\beta$  may aggravate neuronal death by binding to its receptor (IL-1RI) and/or affecting GABA<sub>A</sub> and NMDA receptor activities [15, 58,59]. In vitro experiments with neuronal cultures have shown that IL-1 $\beta$  inhibits currents mediated by the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor, suppresses potassium flow through voltage-dependent channels, and enhances the function of the NMDA receptors [58-62]. Also, it has been observed that IL-1ß increases Ca<sup>2+</sup> intracellular mobilizathrough the nitric oxide (NO)/cyclic tion guanosine

monophosphate signaling pathway [63]. These cellular effects amplify neuronal excitability and may participate in the mechanisms underlying mechanisms of seizure-induced neuronal cell death. A recent study demonstrated that IL-1ß decreased GABAevoked currents in specimens from TLE with or without hippocampal sclerosis, through the mediation of IL-1R1 and the involvement of protein kinase C and IRAK1 (the proximal kinase mediating the IL-1R1 signaling) [64]. These data support that the IL-1 $\beta$ /IL-1RI system is activated in human epilepsy and may contribute to seizure generation in humans by reducing GABAergic neurotransmission [64]. Altogether, these studies suggest that a better characterization of the signaling cytokine pathways, particularly the IL-1 $\beta$  one, in the brain may have significant therapeutic implications for the treatment of seizures and epilepsy.

A number of studies indicate that cytokines exhibit diverse activities in the brain and can modify systemic and CNS responses to insults, including infection, trauma, inflammation, and seizures. Variations in serum and brain levels of IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , or IL-1 have been reported and may play a key role in several neurological disorders including autism, depression, and anxiety. It has been accepted that the prevalence of mood disorders and autism is higher among patients with epilepsy than in the general population [65]. Cytokines could be the link between epilepsy and mood disorders; here we summarize the current knowledge about the participation of inflammation on seizures/mood disorder development.

> Major depressive disorder (MDD) is a highly prevalent, heterogeneous, and recurrent neuropsychiatric condition characterized by a broad range of symptoms, including altered mood and cognitive functions. It has a multifactorial etiology originating from the interaction between environmental and genetic factors and presents frequent comorbidity [66]. Observations in depressed patients showed increased levels of acute-phase proteins (e.g., IL-1Ra), chemokines, adhesion molecules, and inflammatory mediators, such as cytokines [67]. Proinflammatory cytokines mimic, in animal and in vitro models, many of the neurological changes thought to be features of depression, including decreased neurogenesis, changes in the monoamine system, and neurodegeneration [66, 67]. Studies in animal models confirm the relationship between depression and cytokine expression after seizures. It has been observed that the blockade of hippocampal IL-1 receptors, by intrahippocampal injection of human IL-1Ra, attenuated the behavioral and biochemical manifestations of depression in epileptic/depressed rats [68, 69].

> The most studied cytokines related with depression and epilepsy are IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ . There is a positive correlation between the serum and plasma level of these proinflammatory cytokines and depression [70, 71]. Higher levels of the systemic

4.2 Mood **Comorbidities** 

inflammatory marker IL-6 in childhood are associated with an increased risk of developing depression and psychosis in young adulthood [72]. Furthermore, increased brain level of several cytokines has been reported. For example, IL-1 $\beta$  is found in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of depressive patients [73], and postmortem analyses in the prefrontal cortex of depressive patients have suggested an upregulation of a variety of proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines [74]. Other studies indicated that TNF- $\alpha$ may induce changes in brain structure and function, contributing to the development of depression [75].

The main mechanisms involved in the pathophysiology of depression implicate the activation of the hypothalamo-pituitaryadrenocortical (HPA) axis [76, 77]. Several studies confirmed that post-SE rodents showed dysregulation of the HPA axis, along with increased plasma corticosterone levels as occurs in depression [68]. The upregulation of the HPA axis is an important feature associated with depressive signs [78, 79]. This highlights the potential for direct clinical significance of raised proinflammatory cytokines, especially TNF- $\alpha$  [70]. Moreover, TNF- $\alpha$  activates the neuronal serotonin transporters [76, 80]. During the process of depression, the uptake of serotonin is diminished. A study demonstrated that both IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  can acutely regulate the neuronal serotonin transporter activity by stimulation of serotonin uptake in both a rat embryonic raphe cell line and in mouse midbrain and striatal synaptosomes [80, 81].

In general terms, an anxiety disorder involves an excessive state of arousal characterized by feelings of apprehension, uncertainty, or fear [81]. It has been widely shown in humans and animal models that epilepsy can contribute to the development of anxiety, but the evidence of a direct participation of cytokines on the anxiety symptomatology produced by seizures has not been demonstrated. However, increases in levels of proinflammatory cytokines closely related to epilepsy have been used in some studies as a marker of anxiety disorders. Studies in humans have shown augmented circulating levels of IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-8 in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), which may be due to an insufficient regulation of the immune function [82-84]. Similarly, patients with panic disorder (PD) or PTSD exhibited significantly increased levels of IL-6, IL-1α, IL-1β, IL-8, and IFN-α compared with healthy controls [85]. The high comorbidity between anxiety disorders and depression and the similar effects of antidepressant treatment in these conditions suggest that similar neurobiological mechanisms may be affected in both disorders. Studies show that stress may produce an inflammatory response, along with increasing the levels of circulating proinflammatory cytokines. Cytokines induce changes in the HPA axis and the immune system; consequently, they act as a trigger for anxiety, in a similar fashion to depression [86].

Autism is a severe neurodevelopmental disorder with a large population prevalence, characterized by impairments in social interaction, deficits in verbal and non-verbal communication, repetitive behavior, and restricted interests [87]. It is known that there is a comorbidity between autism and epilepsy [88]. Recent experimental studies showed that the induction of MIA (maternal immune activation) in mice increases hippocampal excitability, accelerates kindling rate, prolonges increase of seizure susceptibility after kindling, and diminishes sociability (main feature of autism) in the offspring. Remarkably, epileptic and social impairments were abolished by antibodies to IL-6 and mimicked by recombinant IL-6 [89]. These data confirm previous findings about comorbidity between autism and epilepsy [88]. However, the relationship between epilepsy, autism, and neuroinflammation is complex. A recent study explored the effect of MIA induced by the prenatal exposure to IL-6 and IL-1β combination on SE induced by KA in mice. Prenatal exposure to IL-6 alone alleviated the severity of KA-induced epilepsy, while exposure to IL-6 + IL-1β increased its severity. Increased severity of epilepsy in the IL-6+IL-1 $\beta$  mice correlated with the improvement of social behavior deficit (autism-like behavior) [90]. It is known that BTBR T+tf/J mice exhibit autistic-like behaviors (social interaction impairments and restricted repetitive behavior). One study that evaluated the expression of several cytokines in the brain of BTBR mice showed a significantly increased production of IL-6 [91]. On the other hand, increased IL-6 levels have been measured in the brain tissue [92, 93] and peripheral blood [94] of patients with autism spectrum disorders suggesting the cytokine profile may be altered in these conditions. Numerous studies have shown that the cytokine levels in different tissues as blood, brain, and cerebrospinal fluid of autistic subjects are altered; for example, a series of studies suggests that IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , and interferon- $\gamma$  are significantly increased in autistic subjects [95].

#### **5** Final Considerations

The evidence given above demonstrates that seizures and epilepsy are associated with a neuroinflammation process, involving, among others, gene expression, production, and release of proinflammatory cytokines. Considering the literature from experimental models and patients with epilepsy, IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ would be the most promising therapeutic target candidates. These cytokines facilitate seizure occurrence and epileptogenesis, seizure-induced neuronal cell death, and even neurological disorders that have high comorbidity with epilepsy. Thus, several experimental approaches are worthy of consideration: the use of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), in order to prevent or reduce gene transcription by cleavage or degradation of specific mRNA;



**Fig. 1** Seizures and epilepsy are associated with a neuroinflammatory process that involves gliosis and microglia activation, as well as gene expression, production, and release of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$ , among others. These cytokines facilitate seizure occurrence and epileptogenesis, seizure-induced neuronal cell death due to seizures, and even neurological disorders that have high comorbidity with epilepsy. Experimental approaches worthy of consideration to prevent cytokine receptor activation and the corresponding intracellular signaling cascade include the use of anti-inflammatory drugs, inhibitors of cytokine cleavage, antagonists of cytokine receptors (particularly IL-1RI), neutralizing antibodies (that prevent cytokines from reaching its cellular targets and consequently its biological effects), or small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) in order to cleavage or degrade specific mRNA

antagonists of cytokine receptors, particularly IL-1RI, to prevent receptor activation and the corresponding intracellular signaling cascade; the use of neutralizing antibodies that prevent cytokines from reaching its cellular targets and consequently its biological effects; inhibitors of cytokine cleavage; or the use of anti-inflammatory drugs (Fig. 1). One aspect to consider when selecting the experimental model is the variability of the proinflammatory response among models, which is highly dependent on the molecular mechanisms involved in the generation and spread of epileptic activity. Additionally, the inflammatory response associated to seizures can vary with the age of experimental subject, with the understanding that the developing and the mature brain may respond differently to inflammation. Also, new evidence has shown that human cytokine production varies depending on the type of epilepsy, temporal or extratemporal, with or without hippocampal sclerosis, and/or associated with tumors or not.

The current use of computational techniques such as molecular modeling and docking, among others, allow the identification of drugs targeting specifically a particular pathway. These tools could help us to discover new chemical entities or identify already known drugs, which modulate or decrease neuroinflammation, with the intention of controlling the generation of epileptic activity or preventing epilepsy and its consequences. However, these antiinflammatory drugs will be credible therapeutic alternatives for epilepsy only if they can effectively cross the BBB to exert their effect. Considering this limitation, it is worth exploring the system of proinflammatory cytokines as a potential therapeutic target for the treatment of epilepsy.

#### Appendix 1: Intracerebroventricular (i.c.v) Injection of Cytokines in 14-Day-Old Rat Pups

| Materials | Anesthesia system, isoflurane anesthesia system, hair clippers, scal-<br>pel, forceps, fine scissors, 25-gauge needle, stereotaxic frame<br>adapted for neonatal rodents, heating blanket, handheld drill for<br>skull openings, microinfusion pump, bone wax, sterile suture, and<br>dry glass bead sterilizer. |
|-----------|--|
| Solutions | Picric acid saturated solution, sterile saline.  |
| Protocol  | 1. Anesthetize the rat with isoflurane (3%, for induction) and shave the top of the head.  |
|           | 2. Place the anesthetized rat in a stereotaxic frame adapted for neonatal rodents and maintain the rat's body temperature with a heating blanket. Anesthetized rats with isoflurane (1.5–2%, for maintenance) during the surgery.  |
|           | Note: Surgery must be performed in aseptic conditions; surgical instruments must be sterilized.  |
|           | 3. Clean the skin with iodine solution to reduce the risk of contamination.  |
|           | 4. Make a small incision in the skin to expose the skull.  |
|           | 5. Make a small burr hole at the following coordinates: -4.0 mm posterior to bregma, -1.6 mm lateral to the midline (right side).  |
|           | 6. Insert a 25-gauge needle (0.5 mm) into the hole and lower it until it is at the depth of 3.5 mm below the surface of the skull.   |

- 7. Infuse drug over a period of 5 min (0.2 µl/min) using a microinfusion pump.
  Note: Prepare stock solution of lyophilized drug by dissolving them in 1 µl of sterile saline solution.
- 8. Seal the hole with bone wax and close the skin with a single suture.
- 9. Apply the saturated picric acid solution to the wound to prevent maternal cannibalism.
- 10. After recovery, the pup is transferred to its mother.

#### Appendix 2: Determination of IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-1RI mRNA Expression by qRT-PCR

| Materials | <i>mir</i> Vana <sup>TM</sup> PARIS <sup>TM</sup> kit (AM1556, Applied Biosystems, USA), agarose gel for electrophoresis, M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, USA), cDNA, primers (forward and reverse), Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (Fermentas, Thermo Scientific, USA), nuclease-free water, spectrophotometer, electrophoresis system, and thermal cycler. |
|-----------|--|
| Protocol  | 1. Isolate RNA from brain samples with <i>mir</i> Vana <sup>TM</sup> PARIS <sup>TM</sup> kit (AM1556) following the manufacturer's recommendations (Applied Biosystems, USA).  |
|           | 2. Determine RNA concentration with a spectrophotometer by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm.   |
|           | 3. Assess RNA integrity by agarose gel electrophoresis.  |
|           | 4. Perform reverse transcription reactions with 1 $\mu$ g of total RNA in a final volume of 20 $\mu$ l, using M-MLV reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen, USA), according to the manufacturer's recommendations.  |
|           | 5. Perform real-time PCR reactions in triplicate as follows: each sample containing 1 $\mu$ l of cDNA, 5 pmoles of each primer (forward and reverse), 10 $\mu$ l of Maxima SYBR Green/ROX qPCR Master Mix (Fermentas, Thermo Scientific, USA), and nuclease-free water up to 20 $\mu$ l.   |
|           | Note: Include triplicates for each sample containing primers for $\beta$ -actin to normalize the data.   |
|           | <ol> <li>Run reactions in a thermal cycler, according to the following pro-<br/>tocol: 2 min at 50 °C, 10 min at 95 °C, 40 cycles of 30 s at 95 °C,<br/>and 1 min at 60 °C, followed by a melting curve analysis.</li> </ol>   |
|           | Note: Primers were designed using the Primer 3 software [96], and sequences are shown in Table 1.  |
|           | 7. Calculate amplification efficiencies by using lineal regression<br>and determine changes in relative gene expression using β-actin<br>as internal control.  |

|         |                                 | -                 |
|---------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
|         | Primer sequence from 5' to $3'$ | Product size (bp) |
| IL-1β   | F TGAAGCAGCTATGGCAACTG          | 200               |
|         | R CTGCCTTCCTGAAGCTCTTG          |                   |
| IL-1RI  | F TGTGGCTGAAGAGCACAGAG          | 199               |
|         | R CGTGACGTTGCAGATCAGTT          |                   |
| β-Actin | F AGGCTGTGCTGTCCCTGTAT          | 201               |
|         | R GCTGTGGTGGTGAAGCTGTA          |                   |
|         |                                 |                   |

Table 1 Sequence of primers used to amplify IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-1RI, and  $\beta$ -actin

F forward, R reverse

#### Appendix 3: Localization of IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-1RI by Immunohistochemistry

| Materials                                  | Peristaltic pump, microtome, humidity chamber, histology jars, hydrophobic pen, aqueous mounting media, microwave, timer, and light microscope.  |
|--|--|
| Solutions                                  | 4% phosphate-buffered paraformaldehyde, 0.1 M phosphate buf-<br>fer (0.1 M PB), saline solution, 10 mM citrate solution (pH 6.0),<br>ethanol solutions: 70, 80, 95, and 100%, blocking buffer (0.5%<br>goat serum in 0.1 M PB).  |
| Protocol                                   | 1. Anesthetize rats with an overdose of pentobarbital.   |
| Tissue Processing                          | 2. Perform transcardiac perfusion with saline solution followed by 4% phosphate-buffered (PB) paraformaldehyde.  |
|  | 3. Keep brain in situ at 4 °C overnight.   |
|  | 4. After removal of the brain, dehydrate in graded series of ethanol solutions (70%, 8 h; 80%, 2×3 h; 95%, 2×1.5 h; 100%, 2×1 h) and xylene (2×40 min) and then embed it in paraffin.  |
|  | 5. Section brains into 10-µm-thick coronal sections at the level of dorsal hippocampus and mount sections on gelatin-coated glass slides; keep slides at room temperature.   |
|  | 6. Deparaffinize (in xylene, 2×10 min) and rehydrate sections in<br>a graded series of ethanol (100%, 2×10 min; 95%, 2×5 min;<br>and 70%, 1×5 min) and dH <sub>2</sub> O (2×10 min) with a final wash<br>in 0.1 M PB (1×10 min).   |
| Immunodetection of IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-1RI | <ol> <li>Perform antigen retrieval procedure by heating brain sections<br/>in a 10 mM citrate solution (pH 6.0) using a microwave oven<br/>[2 min at high power and 10 min at power 20]; then allow the<br/>slides to slowly cool to room temperature for 45 min.</li> </ol> |

- 2. Rinse slides in dH<sub>2</sub>O ( $1 \times 10$  min), wash them in 0.1 M PB ( $2 \times 10$  min), and incubate in a blocking buffer (0.5% goat serum in 0.1 M PB) at room temperature for 1 h.
- 3. Incubate slides overnight at 4 °C in a humidified chamber with primary antibody [rabbit polyclonal anti-IL-1 $\beta$  (ab9787, Abcam) diluted 1:500 or rabbit polyclonal anti-IL-1RI (sc 25775, Santa Cruz) diluted 1:200 with blocking buffer].
- 4. Wash sections in 0.1 M PB  $(3 \times 10 \text{ min})$  and then expose them to biotinylated goat anti-rabbit (BA 1000, Vector Labs) diluted 1:1000 with the blocking solution for 2 h at room temperature.
- 5. Wash sections in 0.1 M PB (3×10 min) and then incubate with ABC-peroxidase complex 1:1000 (Vectastain ABC kit elite DK-6100 standard, Vector Labs) during 90 min.
- 6. Wash sections in 0.1 M PB  $(3 \times 10 \text{ min})$  and reveal staining after incubation with AB peroxidase substrate kit, 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (SK-4100, Vector Labs).
- Wash sections in 0.1 M PB (3×10 min), dehydrate it in graded series of ethanol solutions (70%, 1 min; 95%, 1 min; 100%, 1 min) and xylene (20 dips), and then mount with nonaqueous mounting medium.
- 8. Examine brain sections with a light microscope.

#### References

- Ramesh G, MacLean AG, Philipp MT (2013) Cytokines and chemokines at the crossroads of neuroinflammation, neurodegeneration, and neuropathic pain. Mediators Inflamm 2013:480739
- Kronfol Z, Remick DG (2000) Cytokines and the brain: implications for clinical psychiatry. Am J Psychiatry 157:683–694
- Nathan C, Sporn M (1991) Cytokines in context. J Cell Biol 113:981–986
- Minami M, Kuraishi Y, Yamaguchi T et al (1990) Convulsants induce interleukin-1 beta messenger RNA in rat brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 171:832–837
- Minami M, Kuraishi Y, Satoh M (1991) Effects of kainic acid on messenger RNA levels of IL-1 beta, IL-6, TNF alpha and LIF in the rat brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 176:593–598
- 6. De Bock F, Dornand J, Rondouin G (1996) Release of TNF alpha in the rat hippocampus following epileptic seizures and excitotoxic neuronal damage. Neuroreport 7:1125–1129
- Eriksson C, Winblad B, Schultzberg M (1998) Kainic acid induced expression of interleukin-1

receptor antagonist mRNA in the rat brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 58:195–208

- 8. Vezzani A, Conti M, De Luigi A et al (1999) Interleukin-1beta immunoreactivity and microglia are enhanced in the rat hippocampus by focal kainate application: functional evidence for enhancement of electrographic seizures. J Neurosci 19:5054–5065
- 9. De Simoni MG, Perego C, Ravizza T et al (2000) Inflammatory cytokines and related genes are induced in the rat hippocampus by limbic status epilepticus. Eur J Neurosci 12:2623–2633
- Plata-Salamán CR, Ilyin SE, Turrin NP et al (2000) Kindling modulates the IL-1beta system, TNF-alpha, TGF-beta1, and neuropeptide mRNAs in specific brain regions. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 75:248–258
- O'Connor JJ, Coogan AN (1999) Actions of the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 beta on central synaptic transmission. Exp Physiol 84:601–614
- 12. Dripps DJ, Brandhuber BJ, Thompson RC et al (1991) Interleukin-1 (IL-1) receptor

antagonist binds to the 80-kDa IL-1 receptor but does not initiate IL-1 signal transduction. J Biol Chem 266:10331–10336

- Dinarello CA (1994) The interleukin-1 family: 10 years of discovery. FASEB J 8:1314–1325
- Loscher C (2003) Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist exerts agonist activity in the hippocampus independent of the interleukin-1 type I receptor. J Neuroimmunol 137:117–124
- Ravizza T, Vezzani A (2006) Status epilepticus induces time-dependent neuronal and astrocytic expression of interleukin-1 receptor type I in the rat limbic system. Neuroscience 137:301–308
- 16. Ravizza T, Gagliardi B, Noé F et al (2008) Innate and adaptive immunity during epileptogenesis and spontaneous seizures: evidence from experimental models and human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 29:142–160
- 17. Kołosowska K, Maciejak P, Szyndler J et al (2014) The role of interleukin-1 $\beta$  in the pentylenetetrazole-induced kindling of seizures, in the rat hippocampus. Eur J Pharmacol 731:31–37
- Rizzi M, Perego C, Aliprandi M et al (2003) Glia activation and cytokine increase in rat hippocampus by kainic acid-induced status epilepticus during postnatal development. Neurobiol Dis 14:494–503
- Ravizza T, Rizzi M, Perego C et al (2005) Inflammatory response and glia activation in developing rat hippocampus after status epilepticus. Epilepsia 46(Suppl 5):113–117
- 20. Järvelä JT, Lopez-Picon FR, Plysjuk A et al (2011) Temporal profiles of age-dependent changes in cytokine mRNA expression and glial cell activation after status epilepticus in postnatal rat hippocampus. J Neuroinflammation 8:29
- Omran A, Peng J, Zhang C et al (2012) Interleukin-1β and microRNA-146a in an immature rat model and children with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 53:1215–1224
- 22. Álvarez-Croda DM, Santiago-García J, Medel-Matus JS, et al (2016) Hippocampal distribution of IL-1beta and IL-1RI following lithiumpilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in the developing rat. An Acad Bras Cienc 88 Suppl 1: 653–63
- Heida JG, Pittman QJ (2005) Causal links between brain cytokines and experimental febrile convulsions in the rat. Epilepsia 46:1906–1913
- 24. Dubé CM, Ravizza T, Hamamura M et al (2010) Epileptogenesis provoked by prolonged experimental febrile seizures: mechanisms and biomarkers. J Neurosci 30:7484–7494
- 25. Bauer S, Cepok S, Todorova-Rudolph A et al (2009) Etiology and site of temporal lobe epi-

lepsy influence postictal cytokine release. Epilepsy Res 86:82–88

- Choi J, Min HJ, Shin J-S (2011) Increased levels of HMGB1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in children with febrile seizures. J Neuroinflammation 8:135
- 27. Nowak M, Bauer S, Haag A et al (2011) Interictal alterations of cytokines and leukocytes in patients with active epilepsy. Brain Behav Immun 25:423–428
- Lehtimäki KA, Keränen T, Palmio J et al (2007) Increased plasma levels of cytokines after seizures in localization-related epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand 116:226–230
- 29. Quirico-Santos T, Meira ID, Gomes AC et al (2013) Resection of the epileptogenic lesion abolishes seizures and reduces inflammatory cytokines of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neuroimmunol 254:125–130
- 30. Yu N, Di Q, Hu Y et al (2012) A meta-analysis of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the plasma of epileptic patients with recent seizure. Neurosci Lett 514:110–115
- Uludag IF, Duksal T, Tiftikcioglu BI et al (2015) IL-1β, IL-6 and IL1Ra levels in temporal lobe epilepsy. Seizure 26:22–25
- 32. Lorigados Pedre L, Morales Chacón LM, Orozco Suárez S et al (2013) Inflammatory mediators in epilepsy. Curr Pharm Des 19:6766–6772
- 33. Ravizza T, Noé F, Zardoni D et al (2008) Interleukin converting enzyme inhibition impairs kindling epileptogenesis in rats by blocking astrocytic IL-1beta production. Neurobiol Dis 31:327–333
- Ravizza T, Boer K, Redeker S et al (2006) The IL-1beta system in epilepsy-associated malformations of cortical development. Neurobiol Dis 24:128–143
- 35. Li G, Bauer S, Nowak M et al (2011) Cytokines and epilepsy. Seizure 20:249–256
- Merrill JE, Benveniste EN (1996) Cytokines in inflammatory brain lesions: helpful and harmful. Trends Neurosci 19:331–338
- 37. Maher CO, Anderson RE, Martin HS et al (2003) Interleukin-1beta and adverse effects on cerebral blood flow during long-term global hypoperfusion. J Neurosurg 99:907–912
- Vezzani A, Moneta D, Richichi C et al (2002) Functional role of inflammatory cytokines and antiinflammatory molecules in seizures and epileptogenesis. Epilepsia 43(Suppl 5):30–35
- 39. Chiavegato A, Zurolo E, Losi G et al (2014) The inflammatory molecules IL-1β and HMGB1 can rapidly enhance focal seizure generation in a brain slice model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Front Cell Neurosci 8:155

- 40. Marchi N, Fan Q, Ghosh C et al (2009) Antagonism of peripheral inflammation reduces the severity of status epilepticus. Neurobiol Dis 33:171–181
- 41. Vezzani A, Moneta D, Conti M et al (2000) Powerful anticonvulsant action of IL-1 receptor antagonist on intracerebral injection and astrocytic overexpression in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:11534–11539
- 42. Galic MA, Riazi K, Heida JG et al (2008) Postnatal inflammation increases seizure susceptibility in adult rats. J Neurosci 28:6904–6913
- 43. Dubé C, Vezzani A, Behrens M et al (2005) Interleukin-1beta contributes to the generation of experimental febrile seizures. Ann Neurol 57:152–155
- 44. Kwon YS, Pineda E, Auvin S et al (2013) Neuroprotective and antiepileptogenic effects of combination of anti-inflammatory drugs in the immature brain. J Neuroinflammation 10:30
- 45. Bar-Klein G, Cacheaux LP, Kamintsky L et al (2014) Losartan prevents acquired epilepsy via TGF- $\beta$  signaling suppression. Ann Neurol 75:864–875
- 46. Gómez CD, Buijs RM, Sitges M (2014) The anti-seizure drugs vinpocetine and carbamazepine, but not valproic acid, reduce inflammatory IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  expression in rat hippocampus. J Neurochem 130:770–779
- 47. Sitges M, Gómez CD, Aldana BI (2014) Sertraline reduces IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA expression and overcomes their rise induced by seizures in the rat hippocampus. PLoS One 9:e111665
- 48. Chiu KM, Wu CC, Wang MJ et al (2015) Protective effects of bupivacaine against kainic acid-induced seizure and neuronal cell death in the rat hippocampus. Biol Pharm Bull 38:522–530
- 49. Noe FM, Polascheck N, Frigerio F et al (2013) Pharmacological blockade of IL-1β/IL-1 receptor type 1 axis during epileptogenesis provides neuroprotection in two rat models of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 59:183–193
- 50. Sankar R, Shin DH, Liu H et al (1998) Patterns of status epilepticus-induced neuronal injury during development and long-term consequences. J Neurosci 18:8382–8393
- 51. Niquet J, Auvin S, Archie M et al (2007) Status epilepticus triggers caspase-3 activation and necrosis in the immature rat brain. Epilepsia 48:1203–1206
- 52. Lopez-Meraz M-L, Wasterlain CG, Rocha LL et al (2010) Vulnerability of postnatal hippocampal neurons to seizures varies regionally with their maturational stage. Neurobiol Dis 37:394-402

- 53. Medel-Matus J-S, Álvarez-Croda D-M, Martínez-Quiroz J et al (2014) IL-1β increases necrotic neuronal cell death in the developing rat hippocampus after status epilepticus by activating type I IL-1 receptor (IL-1RI). Int J Dev Neurosci 38:232–240
- 54. Auvin S, Shin D, Mazarati A et al (2007) Inflammation exacerbates seizure-induced injury in the immature brain. Epilepsia 48(Suppl 5):27–34
- 55. Lin TY, Lu CW, Wang SJ et al (2015) Protective effect of hispidulin on kainic acidinduced seizures and neurotoxicity in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 755:6–15
- 56. Ma XC, Gottschall PE, Chen LT et al (2011) Role and mechanisms of interleukin-1 in the modulation of neurotoxicity. Neuroimmunomodulation 10:199–207
- 57. Yan X, Yadav R, Gao M et al (2014) Interleukin-1 beta enhances endocytosis of glial glutamate transporters in the spinal dorsal horn through activating protein kinase C. Glia 62:1093–1109
- 58. Wang S, Cheng Q, Malik S et al (2000) Interleukin-1beta inhibits gammaaminobutyric acid type A (GABA(A)) receptor current in cultured hippocampal neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292:497–504
- 59. Viviani B, Bartesaghi S, Gardoni F et al (2003) Interleukin-1beta enhances NMDA receptormediated intracellular calcium increase through activation of the Src family of kinases. J Neurosci 23:8692–8700
- 60. Miller LG, Galpern WR, Dunlap K et al (1991) Interleukin-1 augments gamma-aminobutyric acid A receptor function in brain. Mol Pharmacol 39:105–108
- 61. Zhu G, Okada M, Yoshida S et al (2006) Effects of interleukin-1beta on hippocampal glutamate and GABA releases associated with Ca2+-induced Ca2+ releasing systems. Epilepsy Res 71:107–116
- 62. Takeda M, Kitagawa J, Takahashi M et al (2008) Activation of interleukin-1beta receptor suppresses the voltage-gated potassium currents in the small-diameter trigeminal ganglion neurons following peripheral inflammation. Pain 139:594–602
- 63. Meini A, Benocci A, Frosini M et al (2000) Nitric oxide modulation of interleukin-1[beta]-evoked intracellular Ca2+ release in human astrocytoma U-373 MG cells and brain striatal slices. J Neurosci 20:8980–8986
- 64. Roseti C, van Vliet EA, Cifelli P et al (2015) GABAA currents are decreased by IL-1 $\beta$  in epileptogenic tissue of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: implications for ictogenesis. Neurobiol Dis 82:311–320

- 65. Helmstaedter C, Aldenkamp AP, Baker GA et al (2014) Disentangling the relationship between epilepsy and its behavioral comorbidities—the need for prospective studies in newonset epilepsies. Epilepsy Behav 31:43–47
- 66. Zunszain PA, Hepgul N, Pariante CM (2013) Inflammation and depression. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 14:135–151
- 67. Miller AH, Maletic V, Raison CL (2009) Inflammation and its discontents: the role of cytokines in the pathophysiology of major depression. Biol Psychiatry 65:732–741
- 68. Mazarati AM, Shin D, Kwon YS et al (2009) Elevated plasma corticosterone level and depressive behavior in experimental temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 34:457–461
- 69. Pineda E, Shin D, Sankar R et al (2010) Comorbidity between epilepsy and depression: experimental evidence for the involvement of serotonergic, glucocorticoid, and neuroinflammatory mechanisms. Epilepsia 51(Suppl 3):110–114
- Dowlati Y, Herrmann N, Swardfager W et al (2010) A meta-analysis of cytokines in major depression. Biol Psychiatry 67:446–457
- Howren MB, Lamkin DM, Suls J (2009) Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: a meta-analysis. Psychosom Med 71:171–186
- 72. Khandaker GM, Pearson RM, Zammit S et al (2014) Association of serum interleukin 6 and C-reactive protein in childhood with depression and psychosis in young adult life: a population-based longitudinal study. JAMA Psychiatry 71:1121–1128
- Levine J, Barak Y, Chengappa KN et al (1999) Cerebrospinal cytokine levels in patients with acute depression. Neuropsychobiology 40:171–176
- 74. Shelton RC, Claiborne J, Sidoryk-Wegrzynowicz M et al (2011) Altered expression of genes involved in inflammation and apoptosis in frontal cortex in major depression. Mol Psychiatry 16:751–762
- Krishnadas R, Cavanagh J (2012) Depression: an inflammatory illness? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 83:495–502
- 76. Berthold-Losleben M, Himmerich H (2008) The TNF-alpha system: functional aspects in depression, narcolepsy and psychopharmacology. Curr Neuropharmacol 6:193–202
- 77. Doczy EJ, Seroogy K, Harrison CR et al (2009) Hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis, glucocorticoids, and neurologic disease. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 29:265–284

- Cowen PJ (2002) Cortisol, serotonin and depression: all stressed out? Br J Psychiatry 180:99–100
- 79. Young EA, Haskett RF, Grunhaus L et al (1994) Increased evening activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in depressed patients. Arch Gen Psychiatry 51:701–707
- 80. Zhu C-B, Blakely RD, Hewlett WA (2006) The proinflammatory cytokines interleukinlbeta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha activate serotonin transporters. Neuropsychopharmacology 31:2121–2131
- Hou R, Baldwin DS (2012) A neuroimmunological perspective on anxiety disorders. Hum Psychopharmacol 27:6–14
- 82. Gill J, Vythilingam M, Page GG (2008) Low cortisol, high DHEA, and high levels of stimulated TNF-alpha, and IL-6 in women with PTSD. J Trauma Stress 21:530–539
- Rohleder N, Joksimovic L, Wolf JM et al (2004) Hypocortisolism and increased glucocorticoid sensitivity of pro-Inflammatory cytokine production in Bosnian war refugees with posttraumatic stress disorder. Biol Psychiatry 55:745–751
- 84. Von Känel R, Begré S, Abbas CC et al (2010) Inflammatory biomarkers in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder caused by myocardial infarction and the role of depressive symptoms. Neuroimmunomodulation 17:39–46
- 85. Hoge EA, Brandstetter K, Moshier S et al (2009) Broad spectrum of cytokine abnormalities in panic disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder. Depress Anxiety 26:447–455
- Leonard BE, Myint A (2009) The psychoneuroimmunology of depression. Hum Psychopharmacol 24:165–175
- 87. Wei H, Alberts I, Li X (2013) Brain IL-6 and autism. Neuroscience 252:320–325
- Smith SEP, Li J, Garbett K et al (2007) Maternal immune activation alters fetal brain development through interleukin-6. J Neurosci 27:10695–10702
- Pineda E, Shin D, You SJ et al (2013) Maternal immune activation promotes hippocampal kindling epileptogenesis in mice. Ann Neurol 74:11–19
- 90. Washington J, Kumar U, Medel-Matus J-S et al (2015) Cytokine-dependent bidirectional connection between impaired social behavior and susceptibility to seizures associated with maternal immune activation in mice. Epilepsy Behav 50:40–45

- 91. Heo Y, Zhang Y, Gao D et al (2011) Aberrant immune responses in a mouse with behavioral disorders. PLoS One 6:e20912
- 92. Vargas DL, Nascimbene C, Krishnan C et al (2005) Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. Ann Neurol 57:67–81
- 93. Li X, Chauhan A, Sheikh AM et al (2009) Elevated immune response in the brain of autistic patients. J Neuroimmunol 207:111–116
- 94. Ashwood P, Krakowiak P, Hertz-Picciotto I et al (2011) Elevated plasma cytokines in autism spectrum disorders provide evidence of

immune dysfunction and are associated with impaired behavioral outcome. Brain Behav Immun 25:40–45

- 95. Xu N, Li X, Zhong Y (2015) Inflammatory cytokines: potential biomarkers of immunologic dysfunction in autism spectrum disorders. Mediators Inflamm 2015: 531518
- Rozen S, Skaletsky H (2000) Primer3 on the WWW for general users and for biologist programmers. Methods Mol Biol 132:365–86.

## **Chapter 2**

#### The Use of Anti-inflammatory Drugs in Epilepsy

#### María Guadalupe Valle-Dorado, Laura Elena Córdova-Dávalos, Daniel Pérez-Pérez, Rosalinda Guevara-Guzmán, and Luisa Rocha

#### Abstract

Epilepsy is a brain disorder associated with neuroinflammation. Furthermore, it is known that important elements of the inflammatory process increase the susceptibility to epileptic activity. Therefore, the search of pharmacological strategies focused on decreasing both neuroinflammation and neuronal excitability associated with epilepsy is important. This chapter is a review of several drugs that may be used for this purpose.

Key words Anti-inflammatory drugs, Neuroinflammation, Seizures, Epilepsy

#### 1 Introduction

Inflammation is the result of a series of events that arise in response to the presence of different types of agents that are noxious to the organism. It is considered as a defense mechanism that occurs to eliminate and later to repair the damage caused by any harmful agent. However, changes associated with the inflammatory process may cause tissue damage and, in the long term, lead to cell death [1]. In the central nervous system (CNS), inflammatory response, or *neuroinflammation*, is regulated by the interaction of cellular elements of the immune and nervous systems. Neuroinflammation involves the activation of astrocytes, microglia, lymphocytes, and mast cells [2]. The activation of these cells causes the release of inflammatory mediators, including cytokines, histamine, and serotonin, among others [3].

Neuroinflammation may result from central (neuroinfections, stroke, seizures, and *status epilepticus* (SE), among others) or peripheral (infections or autoimmune diseases) events. Neuroinflammation causes the activation of cells from the immune system, damage to the blood-brain barrier (BBB), neuronal death, and the beginning of a chronic state that facilitates the development of epilepsy (*epileptogenesis*) [4, 5]. Therefore, at the level of

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_2, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

the CNS, it is relevant to identify cellular therapeutic targets to block the process of neuroinflammation and its consequences.

It is known that during the neuroinflammatory process microglia (brain phagocytic cells) produce different mediators such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and increase the expression of the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), glutaminase, cytokines such as interleukin 1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), cathepsin B, matrix metalloproteinases (MMP), and glutamate [6–8]. In this regard, the release of these mediators from microglia contributes to the generation of seizures by increasing neuronal excitability [9].

On the other hand, astrocytes are cells that regulate the electrochemical gradient in the CNS [10] and recognize albumin through transforming growth factor beta receptors (TGF- $\beta$ Rs). At this level, extravasated albumin resulting from BBB damage and/or seizures [11] produces the activation of TGF- $\beta$ R and decreases the expression of the inwardly rectifying potassium channels (Kir 4.1) with a consequent reduction of astrocytes potassium (K<sup>+</sup>) buffering capacity, subsequent neuronal hyperexcitability, and an increase of epileptiform activity [12]. Another situation that results in the decline of the buffer function of astrocytes is produced by the decoupling of gap junctions between these cells and the endothelial cells of the BBB due to the increase of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  [13].

In the CNS, it is considered that mast cells are part of the BBB since they are in intimate contact with this structure and are rarely located in the cerebral parenchyma [14, 15]. Mast cells can migrate from the BBB to the brain parenchyma and release their components by degranulation as a consequence of different factors, such as hyperthermia, changes in pH, exposure to high levels of substance P, interleukins, pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), and damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) [16-18]. The release of factors contained in mast cells, such as MMP (e.g., MMP-2, MMP-9) [19], vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [20], TNF- $\alpha$  [21], IL-1 $\beta$ , intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1) [22], may contribute to the damage of the BBB. It is possible that the epileptic activity increases the expression of ICAM-1, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-6 [23] as a result of mast cell activation. This idea is supported by the decrease in neuronal damage secondary to status epilepticus in animals pretreated with sodium cromoglycate, which stabilizes mast cells and thus prevents the release of their content [24].

Cyclooxygenase, which is located inside the cells, catalyzes the conversion of arachidonic acid into different mediators of inflammation that belong to the family of the prostaglandins and thromboxanes. There are two isoforms of this enzyme: the cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1), which is expressed constitutively in most tissues, and COX-2, which is found in small amounts and it is inducible by damage such as inflammation and seizures [25]. In the brain, there is an upregulation in the expression of COX-1 and



**Fig. 1** COX-2 and its inhibitors in the epileptic brain. Glutamate and proinflammatory cytokines stimulate the expression of COX-2 in the CNS. This enzyme synthetizes PGH2, a prostaglandin that gives rise to many others; each of them results in a particular effect, such as the increase in the expression of P-glycoprotein, intracellular accumulation of Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and a rise in the glutamate release, which contribute to the pathophysiology of epilepsy. *CNS* central nervous system, *Ca2+* calcium ion, *PLA2* phospholipase A2, *COX-2* cyclooxygenase-2, *TNF-* $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , *NMDA N*-methyl-d-aspartate, *NF-kB* nuclear factor kB, *PGH2* prostaglandin H2. The *dotted line* indicates an effect without a specific mechanism. The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

COX-2 as a result of epileptic activity [26-28]. In experimental models, the use of anti-inflammatory drugs that are COX inhibitors diminishes neuroinflammation, an effect associated with a decrease in the frequency of seizures [29, 30] (Fig. 1).

In the cells, oxidative stress occurs when there is an imbalance due to an increase in free radicals and/or a decrease in antioxidants, which may cause tissue damage. As a result of epileptic activity, there is a release of calcium that favors the activation of phospholipase  $A_2$ , which in turn increases the release of arachidonic acid at the level of membrane lipids. Arachidonic acid promotes the production of ROS by different routes, thus increasing the inflammatory response [31]. The main biomolecules damaged by oxidative stress produced during epileptic seizures are membrane proteins, lipids, DNA, and RNA in susceptible regions of the CNS, such as the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex [32–35]. In different seizure models, the use of antioxidants showed a decrease in oxidative stress and neuroinflammation [36, 37].
Different neuroinflammatory processes increase neuronal excitability, which in turn produce an increase in seizures, situation that favors neuroinflammation generating a harmful vicious circle for the organism. This recurring sequence of events may contribute to the development of epilepsy [38]. This is the reason for which the search for pharmacological strategies focused on the pharmacological blockade of pro-inflammatory pathways in the CNS, which may be considered antiepileptic, is relevant [39]. Different pharmacological therapies with anti-inflammatory effects and potential antiepileptic use are discussed below.

### 2 Anti-inflammatory Drugs

#### 2.1 COX Inhibitors

There is some evidence indicating that the selective inhibition of COX-2 may constitute an appropriate pharmacological strategy to prevent neuronal damage and neuroinflammation resulting from epileptic activity. Celecoxib, a selective COX-2 inhibitor, prevents microglia activation and inhibits aberrant neurogenesis as well as astrogliosis through the inhibition of the MAPK/ERK signaling pathway. These effects of celecoxib are associated with a decrease in the production of prostaglandin E [40], a decrease in neuronal excitability, an upregulation of the expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, and anti-epileptogenic effects [29]. On the other hand, it is known that the high expression of P-glycoprotein in the BBB is a mechanism that mediates drug resistance in epilepsy [41]. Experimental evidence suggests that celecoxib prevents the overexpression of P-glycoprotein induced by glutamate overexposure in endothelial cells of the BBB [42]. These studies suggest that celecoxib may represent a therapeutic strategy to prevent drug-resistant epilepsy.

Parecoxib, another selective COX-2 inhibitor, decreases the levels of prostaglandin E2 and neuronal damage in the hippocampus and the piriform cortex when administered during 18 days after lithium-pilocarpine-induced SE model. This treatment also reduces the intensity of spontaneous seizures during the development of epileptogenesis [43].

To the present, the effects resulting from the administration of acetylsalicylic acid, a nonselective COX inhibitor, are controversial. Ma et al. (2012) reported that chronic administration of aspirin after lithium-pilocarpine-induced SE decreases neuronal damage in the hippocampus as well as the frequency and duration of subsequent spontaneous seizures [30]. However, another study found that treatment with acetylsalicylic acid chronically administered before pilocarpine induction of SE increases susceptibility to seizures and does not alter the subsequent neuronal cell death and gliosis in the hippocampus [44]. These data suggest that further studies—in different experimental models using different doses and protocols of management—are needed to determine the possible anti-epileptogenic effect of acetylsalicylic acid.

Furthermore, although the administration of indomethacin, an inhibitor of COX, does not modify the presentation of SE induced by pilocarpine [45], it decreases the expression of IL-1 $\beta$ and TNF- $\alpha$  associated with this event [46]. This suggests that indomethacin may be used to decrease the inflammatory process associated with epileptic activity.

These data suggest that the decreased activity of COX by selective inhibitors may represent a therapeutic strategy to reduce seizure-induced neuroinflammation and avoid drug-resistant epilepsy.

**2.2 Glucocorticoids** Seizure activity may induce vasogenic cerebral edema, which is harmful. In addition, the use of anti-inflammatory agents such as dexamethasone, a synthetic glucocorticoid steroid, is considered a therapeutic strategy for treating cerebral edema resulting from seizures [47]. It is described that the continuous administration of dexamethasone reduces the epileptic encephalopathy with continuous spike-and-wave during sleep [48] as well as the epileptic activity associated with neurocysticercosis [49].

Dexamethasone induces a significant reduction of epileptic activity secondary to intracerebral injection of penicillin [50]. However, experimental evidence indicates that dexamethasone increases cerebral edema, an effect associated with a decrease in the volume of the hippocampus and increased mortality of animals subjected to SE [51]. These controversial data can be explained from the fact that anti-inflammatory and antiepileptic effects of dexamethasone depend on the administered dose [52].

**2.3 Antioxidants** Due to the increase in oxidative stress during epileptic activity, it is proposed that the use of antioxidant drugs may represent a pharmacological therapy to reduce the process of neuroinflammation associated with epilepsy (Fig. 2). In this regard, it is described that pretreatment with  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (i.e., vitamin E) reduces the activation of astrocytes, microglia, neuronal death, and oxidative stress induced by SE in the hippocampus [36]. In addition, treatment with  $\alpha$ -tocopherol during the subsequent period to seizure significantly reduces astrocytosis, activation of microglia, and neuronal death, effects associated with a lower oxidative stress [53]. It is suggested that the antioxidant effect of  $\alpha$ -tocopherol may increase when it is combined with other antioxidants such as vitamin C (ascorbic acid). Vitamin C by itself reduces hippocampal injury and mortality induced by epileptic activity [54].

The administration of baicalein, another antioxidant suppressor of oxidative stress, reduces epileptiform activity and cognitive impairment in epilepsy like in tremor rat model. These effects are associated to a decrease of oxidative stress and inflammation indicators [37].



**Fig. 2** ROS in epilepsy and the role of antioxidants. Cells in the CNS are able to generate ROS in response to multiple insults (e. g., hypoxia, cell death, and inflammation). ROS may alter cell function through multiple mechanisms. The presence of antioxidants, like vitamin E, controls these effects by binding to ROS and stabilizing these particles. *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *BBB* blood-brain barrier. The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

The evidence described above supports the idea of using antioxidants as adjuvant therapy to prevent the neuroinflammationassociated epileptic activity.

2.4 Antimicrobial It is known that some antimicrobial agents, such as penicillins, cephalosporins, quinolones, and antimalarials, may induce proconvulsant effects and epileptiform activity in both patients with epilepsy and normal subjects [55]. In addition, many antimicrobials present pharmacokinetic interactions with some antiepileptic drugs [56]. On the other hand, it is described that tetracyclines, such as minocycline, doxycycline, and tetracycline, induce anticonvulsant effects in a dose-dependent manner on the model of partial seizures induced by 6-Hz electrical stimulation. However, at high doses, they cause toxic effects, such as motor and respiratory deficiencies and death [57].

With regard to minocycline, a second-generation tetracycline, it is known that it presents very powerful anti-inflammatory properties which are independent of its antimicrobial activity [58]. At the level of the CNS, these mechanisms of action include the suppression of the activation of microglia and a reduction in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines [59]. Interestingly, it was found that the repeated administration of minocycline after the induction of SE decreases neuronal damage by preventing microglial



**Fig. 3** Mechanisms of minocycline in epilepsy. It has been suggested that minocycline exerts its effects through the inhibition of microglial activation; moreover, it is known that it is able to inhibit MMP-9, an enzyme involved in BBB damage. Finally, it is considered that minocycline decreases glutamate excitotoxicity due to the inhibition of caspases pathway (apoptosis) and the p38 MAPK pathway. *TNF-* $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , *IL-1* $\beta$  interleukin-1 $\beta$ , *MMP-9* matrix metalloproteinase-9, *MAPK* mitogen-activated protein kinase. The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

activation and producing IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  in the CA1 region of the hippocampus and the adjacent neocortex. These anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective effects of minocycline resulted in the reduction of the frequency, duration, and severity of spontaneous recurrent seizures subsequent to SE [60]. Such evidence suggests the possibility of using minocycline as an anti-epileptogenic treatment for subjects who have presented SE (Fig. 3).

Cytokines are a group of peptides and proteins that are released from the immune system in response to infectious diseases. In the CNS, cytokines are produced and released from glia or blood cells that reach the brain parenchyma as a result of BBB damage. Currently, it is known that, in addition to their immunological effects, cytokines are involved in neuronal excitability through changes in receptors coupled to ion channels, among other mechanisms. This situation results in long-term changes in brain function and facilitation of epileptic activity [61]. At present, there are drugs that prevent the production and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and reduce epileptic activity, which represents a novel strategy for the control of this disease.

2.5 Antiinflammatory Drugs with Antiepileptic Effects

Caspases are a group of proteins that belong to the cysteine protease group, which participate mainly in the process of apoptosis. Some caspases are also involved in protein maturation of some interleukins. In particular, caspase 1, also called IL-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme (ICE), is involved in the maturation and secretion of some interleukins [62]. The administration of VX-765, a selective blocker of IL-1 $\beta$ production by inhibition of the ICE, blocks kindling-induced epileptogenesis in rats [63]. Similarly, repeated treatment with VX-765 reduces chronic epileptic activity secondary to SE as well as the expression of acute seizures in mice [9]. The combination of VX-765 with anakinra (a recombinant human IL-1 receptor antagonist) in animals previously subjected to SE by pilocarpine reduces subsequent neuronal loss and IL-1 $\beta$  expression in astrocytes [64]. These data indicate that the specific blocking of the synthesis of interleukins is capable of modifying the epileptic activity and subsequent neuronal damage (Fig. 4).



**Fig. 4** Role of VX-765 and anakinra in neuroinflammation and epilepsy. ROS are molecules able to induce the expression of IL-1 $\beta$  through the induction of CASP1. VX-765 inhibits CASP1, diminishing IL-1 $\beta$  expression and, in turn, neuroinflammation. Anakinra is a selective inhibitor of IL-1 $\beta$  receptor; this binding allows it to diminish the effects of cytokines in target cells. *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *IL-1\beta* interleukin-1 $\beta$ , *CASP1* caspase-1 or ICE, interleukin-1 $\beta$  converting enzyme. The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

31



**Fig. 5** Role of mTOR inhibitors in epilepsy. The mTOR pathway has an important role in the normal development of the CNS; however, when the TSC is inhibited (by mutations or another intracellular pathway), mTOR is overexpressed leading to deleterious consequences such as hyperexcitability, neuronal dysplasia, reactive astrocytes, and neuronal death. In the epileptic brain, TSC can be inhibited by TNF- $\alpha$  and hypoxia. Under hypoxic conditions, the activation of TNF- $\alpha$  receptor leads to this inhibition, and finally to the overexpression of mTOR. Rapamycin, a selective inhibitor of mTOR, has been used in the treatment of epilepsy in patients with TSC, showing convenient effects. *CNS* central nervous system, *IKK* $\beta$  inhibitor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells, *TSC* tuberous sclerosis complex, *mTOR* mechanistic target of rapamycin, *TNF-* $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ . The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway is an intracellular signaling cascade involved in multiple cellular functions, including the synthesis of proteins, cell growth, and cell proliferation as well as synaptic plasticity. It is also involved in neuronal excitability and epileptogenesis [65, 66]. Rapamycin is an immunosuppressant that specifically inhibits mTOR pathway. In addition, it decreases the expression of IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , very likely through the inhibition of the activation of NF-kB [67] (Fig. 5). In patients, rapamycin has been found to decrease seizures associated with tuberous sclerosis, infantile spasms, seizures secondary to neonatal hypoxia, absence seizures, and temporal lobe epilepsy [68]. Results of experimental models confirm its anti-epileptic effects [69]. Currently, inhibitors of the mTOR pathway are being considered as antiepileptic compounds for the control of drug-resistant epilepsy [70].

Within the process of neuroinflammation, mast cells are given little importance despite they play an important role in the process of peripheral inflammation. At the level of CNS, there is a high density of mast cells in the leptomeninges, hypothalamus, hippocampus, thalamus, and dura mater of spinal cord [71]. It is proposed that mast cells are part of the BBB and that their activation is involved in the breakdown of this structure and the subsequent process of neuroinflammation associated with brain disorders [1].

In the CNS, degranulation of mast cells produces the release of factors such as histamine, heparin, and serotonin that can produce BBB rupture and the extravasation of blood elements to the cerebral parenchyma, situation that facilitates neuroinflammation. Therefore, it is considered that the use of drugs such as sodium cromoglycate represents a strategy to stabilize mast cells [72, 73]. The stabilizing effect of cromoglycate is carried out through the blockade of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels [74] and by the phosphorylation of a 78 kDa protein located around granules of mast cells that regulates the translation of signals between the membrane and the cytoskeleton [75].

There is experimental evidence that indicates that the administration of cromoglycate prevents the degranulation of mast cells and reduces neuronal damage as well as activation of glial processes of cerebral ischemia [17, 76]. Recently, we reported that pretreatment with sodium cromoglycate resulted in a neuroprotective effect in hippocampus of rats submitted to SE induced by pilocarpine. This effect is associated with a reduced release of histamine in the hippocampus [24], which induces proconvulsant effects [77]. These experimental evidences suggest that systemic administration of cromoglycate may be a good option to avoid or reduce neuronal and BBB damage resulting from the degranulation of mast cells in response to acute events such as SE, which leads to the development of spontaneous seizures (Fig. 6).

## 3 Conclusion

It is clear that epilepsy is associated with neuroinflammation processes, which in turn induce neuronal damage. For this reason, the use of drugs that facilitate neuroprotection and/or which block transduction cascades associated with neuroinflammation is so relevant. Therefore, the search for combinations of these drugs with traditional antiepileptic drugs may result as a more effective strategy to control epileptic activity and its consequences.



**Fig. 6** Role of mast cells and their inhibition in epilepsy. Mast cells have many effects in different cells in the CNS. These target cells produce substances that stimulate mast cells, leading to a neuroinflammation cycle. The activation of microglia and astrocytes, and the BBB-breakdown are consequences of mast cell activation, which lead to negative effects in the epileptic brain. The pretreatment with sodium cromoglycate, a mast cell stabilizer, has proven beneficial effects in the litium-pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy, suggesting the possible therapeutic effect of this inhibition in epilepsy. *IgE* immunoglobulin E, *MMP9* matrix metalloproteinase-9, *BBB* blood-brain barrier, *IL-6* interleukin 6, *IL-13* interleukin-13, *IL-33* interleukin-33, *MCP1* monocyte chemo-attractant protein 1, *TNF-* $\alpha$  tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , *IL-1* $\beta$  interleukin-1 $\beta$ , *ROS* reactive oxygen species. The *red truncated arrow* indicates inhibition

## Acknowledgments

We thank Francia Carmona for their technical assistance and the National Council for Sciences and Technology of Mexico for the support provided for developing this study (grant 220365 and scholarship 380140).

#### References

- Bañuelos-Cabrera I, Valle-Dorado MG, Aldana BI et al (2014) Role of histaminergic system in blood-brain barrier dysfunction associated with neurological disorders. Arch Med Res 45(8): 677–686
- Legido A, Katsetos CD (2014) Experimental studies in epilepsy; immunologic and inflammatory mechanisms. Semin Pediatr Neurol 21(3):197–206
- Vezzani A, Granata T (2005) Brain inflammation in epilepsy: experimental and clinical evidence. Epilepsia 46:1724–1743
- 4. Vezzani A, French J, Bartfai T et al (2011) The role of inflammation in epilepsy. Nat Rev Neurol 7:31–40
- 5. Janigro D, Iffland PH II, Marchi N et al (2013) A role for inflammation in status epilepticus is revealed by a review of current therapeutic approaches. Epilepsia 54(Suppl 6):30–32
- Eid T, Thomas MJ, Spencer DD et al (2004) Loss of glutamine synthetase in the human epileptogenic hippocampus: possible mechanism for raised extracellular glutamate in mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Lancet 363:28–37

- Czeh M, Gressens P, Kaindl AM (2011) The yin and yang of microglia. Dev Neurosci 33(3–4):199–209
- Brown GC, Vilalta A (2015) How microglia kill neurons. Brain Res 1628:288–297
- 9. Maroso M, Balosso S, Ravizza T et al (2011) Interleukin-1 $\beta$  biosynthesis inhibition reduces acute seizures and drug resistant chronic epileptic activity in mice. Neurotherapeutics 8:304–315
- Anderson CM, Swanson RA (2000) Astrocyte glutamate transport: review of properties, regulation, and physiological functions. Glia 32:1–14
- 11. Oby E, Janigro D (2006) The blood-brain barrier and epilepsy. Epilepsia 47(11):1761–1774
- Ivens S, Kaufer D, Flores LP et al (2007) TGFbeta receptor-mediated albumin uptake into astrocytes is involved in neocortical epileptogenesis. Brain 130:535–547
- Bedner P, Dupper A, Hüttmann K et al (2015) Astrocyte uncoupling as a cause of human temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 138:1208–1222
- Khalil M, Ronda J, Weintraub M et al (2007) Brain mast cell relationship to neurovasculature during development. Brain Res 1171: 18–29
- Zhuang X, Silverman AJ, Silver R (1996) Brain mast cell degranulation regulates blood-brain barrier. J Neurobiol 31(4):393–403
- 16. Cocchiara R, Albeggiani G, Lampiasi N (1999) Histamine and tumor necrosis factor-alpha production from purified rat brain mast cells mediated by substance P. Neuroreport 10(3): 575–578
- 17. Jin Y, Silverman AJ, Vannucci SJ (2009) Mast cells are early responders after hypoxia-ischemia in immature rat brain. Stroke 40(9):3107–3112
- Bleck TP (2009) Hypothermia, hyperthermia, and other systemic factors in status epilepticus. Epilepsia 50(Suppl 12):10
- 19. Mattila OS, Strbian D, Saksi J et al (2011) Cerebral mast cells mediate blood-brain barrier disruption in acute experimental ischemic stroke through perivascular gelatinase activation. Stroke 42(12):3600–3605
- 20. Kempuraj D, Asadi S, Zhang B et al (2010) Mercury induces inflammatory mediator release from human mast cells. J Neuroinflammation 7:20
- Kim JE, Ryu HJ, Kang TC (2013) Status epilepticus induces vasogenic edema via tumor necrosis factor-α/endothelin-1-mediated two different pathways. PLoS One 8(9):74458
- 22. Meng H, Tonnesen MG, Marchese MJ et al (1995) Mast cells are potent regulators of

endothelial cell adhesion molecule ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression. J Cell Physiol 165(1):40–53

- Dhôte F, Peinnequin A, Carpentier P et al (2007) Prolonged inflammatory gene response following soman-induced seizures in mice. Toxicology 238(2–3):166–176
- 24. Valle-Dorado MG, Santana-Gómez CE, Orozco-Suárez SA et al (2015) The mast cell stabilizer sodium cromoglycate reduces histamine release and status epilepticus-induced neuronal damage in the rat hippocampus. Neuropharmacology 92:49–55
- Kaufmann WE, Andreasson KI, Isakson PC et al (1997) Cyclooxygenases and the central nervous system. Prostaglandins 54(3):601–624
- Desjardins P, Sauvageau A, Bouthillier A et al (2003) Induction of astrocytic cyclooxygenase-2 in epileptic patients with hippocampal sclerosis. Neurochem Int 42:299–303
- 27. Okada K, Yuhi T, Tsuji S et al (2001) Cyclooxygenase-2 expression in the hippocampus of genetically epilepsy susceptible EI mice was increased after seizure. Brain Res 894:332–335
- 28. Tanaka S, Nakamura T, Sumitani K et al (2009) Stage- and region-specific cyclooxygenase expression and effects of a selective COX-1 inhibitor in the mouse amygdala kindling model. Neurosci Res 65:79–87
- 29. Zhang H, Sun R, Lei GF et al (2008) Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor inhibits hippocampal synaptic reorganization in pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus rats. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 9(11):903–915
- 30. Ma L, Cui XL, Wang Y et al (2012) Aspirin attenuates spontaneous recurrent seizures and inhibits hippocampal neuronal loss, mossy fiber sprouting and aberrant neurogenesis following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in rats. Brain Res 1469:103–113
- Mrsić J, Zupan G, Eraković V et al (1997) The influence of nimodipine and MK-801 on the brain free arachidonic acid level and the learning ability in hypoxia-exposed rats. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 21(2): 345–358
- Bohr VA, Stevnsner T, de Souza-Pinto NC (2002) Mitochondrial DNA repair of oxidative damage in mammalian cells. Gene 286(1): 127–134
- 33. Gluck MR, Jayatilleke E, Shaw S et al (2000) CNS oxidative stress associated with the kainic acid rodent model of experimental epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 39(1):63–71
- 34. Tejada S, Sureda A, Roca C et al (2007) Antioxidant response and oxidative damage in

brain cortex after high dose of pilocarpine. Brain Res Bull 71(4):372–375

- 35. Jarret SG, Liang LP, Hellier JL et al (2008) Mitochondrial DNA damage and impaired base excision repair during epileptogenesis. Neurobiol Dis 30(1):130–138
- 36. Betti M, Minelli A, Ambrogini P et al (2011) Dietary supplementation with α-tocopherol reduces neuroinflammation and neuronal degeneration in the rat brain after kainic acidinduced status epilepticus. Free Radic Res 45:1136–1142
- Mao X, Cao Y, Li X et al (2014) Baicalein ameliorates cognitive deficits in epilepsy-like tremor rat. Neurol Sci 35:1261–1268
- Vezzani A, Lang B, Aronica E (2015) Immunity and inflammation in epilepsy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 6(2):pii: a022699
- Ravizza T, Balosso S, Vezzani A (2011) Inflammation and prevention of epileptogenesis. Neurosci Lett 497:223–230
- 40. Ciceri P, Zhang Y, Shaffer AF et al (2002) Pharmacology of celecoxib in rat brain after kainate administration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 302(3):846–852
- 41. Volk HA, Löscher W (2005) Multidrug resistance in epilepsy: rats with drug-resistant seizures exhibit enhanced brain expression of P-glycoprotein compared with rats with drug-responsive seizures. Brain 128(Pt 6):1358–1368
- 42. Zibell G, Unkrüer B, Pekcec A et al (2009) Prevention of seizure-induced up-regulation of endothelial P-glycoprotein by COX-2 inhibition. Neuropharmacology 56:849–855
- 43. Polascheck N, Bankstahl M, Löscher W (2010) The COX-2 inhibitor parecoxib is neuroprotective but not antiepileptogenic in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Exp Neurol 224:219–233
- 44. Jeong KH, Kim JY, Choi YS et al (2013) Influence of aspirin on pilocarpine-induced epilepsy in mice. Korean J Physiol Pharmacol 17(1):15–21
- 45. Iknomidou-Turski C, Cavalheiro EA, Turski L et al (1988) Differential effects of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on seizures produced by pilocarpine in rats. Brain Res 462(2): 275–285
- 46. Viera MJ, Perosa SR, Argaãaraz GA et al (2014) Indomethacin can downregulate the levels of inflammatory mediators in the hippocampus of rats submitted to pilocarpineinduced status epilepticus. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 69(9):621–626
- 47. Araki T, Otsubo H, Makino Y et al (2006) Efficacy of dexamathasone on cerebral swelling

and seizures during subdural grid EEG recording in children. Epilepsia 47(1):176–180

- 48. Che W, Parmentier J, Seidel P et al (2014) Corticosteroids inhibit sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced interleukin-6 secretion from human airway smooth muscle via mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatase 1-mediated repression of mitogen and stress-activated protein kinase 1. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 50(2):358–368
- 49. García HH, Gonzales I, Lescano AG, Cysticercosis Working Group in Peru et al (2014) Enhanced steroid dosing reduces seizures during antiparasitic treatment for cysticercosis and early after. Epilepsia 55(9):1452–1459
- 50. Yilmaz T, Akça M, Turan Y et al (2014) Efficacy of dexamethasone on penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats: an electrophysiological study. Brain Res 1554:67–72
- 51. Duffy BA, Chun KP, Ma D et al (2014) Dexamethasone exacerbates cerebral edema and brain injury following lithium-pilocarpine induced status epilepticus. Neurobiol Dis 63:229–236
- 52. Al-Shorbagy MY, El Sayeh BM, Abdallah DM (2012) Diverse effects of variant doses of dexamethasone in lithium-pilocarpine induced seizures in rats. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 90(1): 13–21
- 53. Ambrogini P, Minelli A, Galati C et al (2014) Post-seizure α-tocopherol treatment decreases neuroinflammation and neuronal degeneration induced by status epilepticus in rat hippocampus. Mol Neurobiol 50(1):246–256
- 54. Sawicka-Glazer E, Czuczwar SJ (2014) Vitamin C: a new auxiliary treatment of epilepsy? Pharmacol Rep 66(4):529–533
- 55. Sutter R, Rüegg S, Tschudin-Sutter S (2015) Seizures as adverse events of antibiotic drugs: a systematic review. Neurology 85(15): 1332–1341
- 56. Sander JW, Perucca E (2003) Epilepsy and comorbidity: infections and antimicrobials usage in relation to epilepsy management. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 180:16–22. doi:10.1034/ j.1600-0404.108.s180.3.x
- 57. Wang DD, Englot DJ, Garcia PA et al (2012) Minocycline- and tetracycline-class antibiotics are protective against partial seizures *in vivo*. Epilepsy Behav 24:314–318. doi:10.1016/j. yebeh.2012.03.035
- 58. Kielian T, Esen N, Liu S et al (2007) Minocycline modulates neuroinflammation independently of its antimicrobial activity in *Staphylococcus aureus*-induced brain abscess. Am J Pathol 171:1199–1214

- Yong VW, Wells J, Giuliani F et al (2004) The promise of minocycline in neurology. Lancet Neurol 3:744–751
- 60. Wang N, Mi X, Gao B et al (2015) Minocycline inhibits brain inflammation and attenuates spontaneous recurrent seizures following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Neuroscience 287:144–156. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2014.12.021
- Vezzani A, Viviani B (2015) Neuromodulatory properties of inflammatory cytokines and their impact on neuronal excitability. Neuropharmacology 96(Pt A):70–82
- Nickel W, Rabouille C (2009) Mechanisms of regulated unconventional protein secretion. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:148–155
- 63. Ravizza T, Noé F, Zardoni D et al (2008) Interleukin converting enzyme inhibition impairs kindling epileptogenesis in rats by blocking astrocytic IL-1β production. Neurobiol Dis 31:327–333
- 64. Noe FM, Polascheck N, Frigerio F et al (2013) Pharmacological blockade of IL-1β/IL-1 receptor type 1 axis during epileptogenesis provides neuroprotection in two rat models of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 59: 183–193
- 65. Napolioni V, Curatolo P (2008) Genetics and molecular biology of tuberous sclerosis complex. Curr Genomics 9(7):475–487
- 66. Curatolo P (2015) Mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) in tuberous sclerosis complex-associated epilepsy. Pediatr Neurol 52(3):281–289
- 67. Russo E, Andreozzi F, Iuliano R et al (2014) Early molecular and behavioral response to lipopolysaccharide in the WAG/Rij rat model of absence epilepsy and depressive-like behavior, involves interplay between AMPK, AKT/ mTOR pathways and neuroinflammatory cytokine release. Brain Behav Immun 42:157–168
- 68. Curatolo P, Bjørnvold M, Dill PE et al (2016) The role of mTOR inhibitors in the treatment of patients with tuberous sclerosis complex:

evidence-based and expert opinions. Drugs 76:551–565. doi:10.1007/s40265-016-0552-9

- 69. Drion CM, Borm LE, Kooijman L et al (2016) Effects of rapamycin and curcumin treatment on the development of epilepsy after electrically induced status epilepticus in rats. Epilepsia 57:688–697. doi:10.1111/epi.13345
- 70. Lukawski K, Gryta P, Łuszczki J et al (2016) Exploring the latest avenues for antiepileptic drug discovery and development. Expert Opin Drug Discov 11:369–382
- Nautiyal KM, Dailey CA, Jahn JL et al (2012) Serotonin of mast cell origin contributes to hippocampal function. Eur J Neurosci 36(3): 2347–2359
- Howell JB, Altounyan RE (1967) A doubleblind trial of disodium cromoglycate in the treatment of allergic bronchial asthma. Lancet 2(7515):539–542
- 73. Kusner EJ, Dubnick B, Herzig DJ (1973) The inhibition by disodium cromoglycate *in vitro* of anaphylactically induced histamine release from rat peritoneal mast cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 184(1):41–46
- 74. Ashmole I, Duffy SM, Leyland ML et al (2012) CRACM/Orai ion channel expression and function in human lung mast cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol 129(6):1628–1635.e2
- 75. Theoharides TC, Wang L, Pang X et al (2000) Cloning and cellular localization of the rat mast cell 78-kDa protein phosphorylated in response to the mast cell "stabilizer" cromolyn. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 294(3):810–821
- Jin Y, Silverman AJ, Vannucci SJ (2007) Mast cell stabilization limits hypoxic-ischemic brain damage in the immature rat. Dev Neurosci 29(4-5):373–384
- 77. Bañuelos-Cabrera I, Cuéllar-Huerta M, Velasco AL (2016) Pharmacoresistant temporal lobe epilepsy modifies histamine turnover and H3 receptor function in the human hippocampus and temporal neocortex. Epilepsia 57:e76–e80. doi:10.1111/epi.13329

# **Chapter 3**

## **Carbonic Anhydrase and Epilepsy**

## Luciana Gavernet

## Abstract

The deficiencies of current antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) demand the search of new active compounds through novel strategies of drug discovery. Particularly, the design of AEDs based on molecular targets constitutes a promising alternative to empirical screening, the traditional method to detect anticonvulsant action in new structures. In this chapter we described the advances in the dynamic field of carbonic anhydrases, with emphasis in the development of selective inhibitors as anticonvulsants. We first detailed the 3D architecture of carbonic anhydrases and the mechanism of action of classical inhibitors. Then we reviewed the known anticonvulsant drugs that present carbonic anhydrase inhibition and the progress made in the design of selective inhibitors of CAVII, the isoform implicated in the generation of febrile seizures.

Key words Epilepsy, Carbonic anhydrase, Sulfonamides, Sulfamides, Sulfamates

## **1** New Targets for Antiepileptic Drugs

Epilepsy is a complex chronic brain disorder. The International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) defines and quantifies over 15 different seizure types and more than 30 epilepsy syndromes that can be originated by a variety of pathological conditions [1]. Pharmacological experiments carried out over the last decades have increased our knowledge about the physiopathology of epilepsy, and they proved that mechanisms of generation of seizures are related with the imbalance between inhibitory and excitatory conductance in brain tissues [2]. Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) work to reconstruct this balance and avoid the seizures, but they are efficient in about 70% of the patients. The remaining 30% of the people (who cannot completely control the seizures though drug therapy) suffer from refractory or intractable epilepsy [3, 4]. On the other hand, responsive patients experience medication-related side effects, which become more evident and dangerous when lifelong medication is necessary [3].

After four decades of research, numerous compounds have been introduced to the market with notable improvements in their absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_3, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

(ADME/Tox) properties, relative to the first generation of AEDs. However, no significant progresses have been achieved in terms of the efficacy in resistant patients [3]. This fact demanded a conscientious analysis about the strategies employed to the design of anticonvulsant compounds.

Without a doubt, the approach more extensively addressed for the discovery of new AEDs has been the phenotypic screening in acute models of seizures [5]. The US National Institute of Health, through its Anticonvulsant Screening Project, proposes an initial protocol that includes in vivo/in vitro models to identify new active molecules [5]. Among them, the most employed assays are the maximal electroshock seizure test (MES test) and the pentylenetetrazol test (scMES test) in mice and rats [6]. The MES test is associated with the electrical induction of the seizure, whereas scMES test involves a chemical stimulus to generate the convulsion. Most of the marketed AEDs are capable of suppressing the seizures induced with at least one of these two tests.

The screening methodology does not detect AEDs with a specific mechanism of action. In fact, the molecular targets of the new compounds are elucidated after the identification of the activity. Accordingly, screening methods might ignore compounds with novel mechanisms of anticonvulsant effect, if they cannot avoid the seizures caused by classical test [7]. To partially solve this limitation, other assays have been recently included in the program, which detected drugs that are ineffective into the classical models [5].

The restrictions of the empirical screening, the progress in the knowledge of the mechanisms involved in ictogenesis (or epileptogenesis), and the lack of efficiency of known AEDs in refractory patients have supported the search of alternative methods of drug discovery, like the design of anticonvulsants based on molecular targets [3, 8]. Successful examples of this rational methodology are vigabatrin, tiagabine, and perampanel [9]. Vigabatrin and tiagabine potentiate the GABA-ergic neurotransmission, whereas perampanel impedes the glutamatergic excitation [9]. However other less explored molecular targets that affect in some way over the GABA-ergic neurotransmission or glutamatergic excitation have been pointed out as new alternatives for target-based drug design [8, 10]. In this context, carbonic anhydrase has emerged as an attractive enzyme for designing new active anticonvulsant compounds [11].

## 2 Carbonic Anhydrases

Carbonic anhydrases (CAs) belong to a family of metalloenzymes that are responsible for the reversible hydration of carbon dioxide and bicarbonate. They have been classified into five classes (named as  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ , and  $\varepsilon$  CAs). The  $\alpha$  class is the most studied and it is found mainly in vertebrates. In fact,  $\alpha$ -CAs is the only class found in mammals [12]. Up to now, 16 isoforms of  $\alpha$ -CAs have been identified with different catalytic activities, cell/tissue distributions, and response to inhibitors [12, 13]. There are eight cytosolic proteins (CA I, CA II, CA III, CA VII, CA VIII, CA X, CA XI, CA XIII), two mitochondrial matrix proteins (CA VA, CA VB), one secreted protein (CA VI), two glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI)-anchored proteins (CA XII, CA XII, CA XIV). Isoform CA XV is not expressed in primates, and isoforms CAVIII, CAX, and CAXI have no catalytic activity since they lack of histidine residues of the active sites [11]. They are also defined as CA-related proteins (CARPs).

Extensive experimental data showed the architecture of the catalytic forms of  $\alpha$ -CAs, especially for CAII. The active site is well conserved in all the active isoforms, and it comprises a Zn<sup>2+</sup> ion located at the bottom of a half hydrophilic and half hydrophobic conical cleft. The cavity is approximately 15 Å deep and the active site is accessible to water [13]. The metal ion then is coordinated by the imidazole rings of three histidine residues with the fourth position occupied by a water molecule at acidic pH (<8) and by a hydroxide ion at higher pH (Fig. 1).

CAs are responsible for maintaining the intra- and extracellular balance between  $CO_2$ ,  $H^+$ , and  $HCO_3^-$  ions [12]. They play important functions in crucial physiological processes for both normal and pathological conditions, such as the acid-base equilibrium,  $CO_2$ and  $HCO_3^-$  transport across membranes, electrolyte secretion, calcification, biosynthetic reactions (gluconeogenesis, lipogenesis, and ureagenesis), signal transduction, and tumorigenicity [13].

Regarding their role in the control of pH, CAs represent a versatile system to balance the acid-base concentrations at the level of the blood–brain barrier, neurons, glia, and interstitial fluid in the brain, as well at levels of the whole organism (respiratory functions, energy metabolic functions, and renal functions) [14]. Of course, the modulation of pH is attached to the movements of many other ions, so this enzyme is indirectly involved in the flux control of other solutes [11, 14].

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, seizures are related with the imbalance between inhibitory and excitatory conductance in brain tissues, which may be related with fast alterations in the extracellular ionic compositions [15]. For example, epileptiform activity is caused by a rise in the extracellular potassium concentration [16], and neuronal excitability is affected by changes in pH [14]. Generally, the excitability of most central neurons and neuronal network is increased by alkalosis while it was suppressed by acidosis [11, 14, 17–20]. Hyperventilation is a standard practice employed in the clinic to generate respiratory alkalosis, causing precipitation of petit mal seizures [21]. It is also employed in children to trigger febrile

2.1 Carbonic Anhydrase and Seizures



Fig. 1 Active site of catalytic  $\alpha$ -CAs. The metal ion coordinates 3 histidine residues and a water molecule that generates the nucleophilic hydroxide anion necessary to trigger the catalytic cycle

seizures (as well in animal models of convulsions) [22, 23]. On the other hand, respiratory acidosis induced exogenously suppresses the neuronal excitability [14].

The pH is mainly balanced by the buffer  $CO_2/HCO_3^-$  (in the intracellular and extracellular space), so several links between CAs and the generation of seizures have been proposed [11]. Furthermore, the relation of CA and seizures is supported by the fact that CA inhibitors are (or were) employed to treat epilepsy. For example, in 1963, Esplin and Rosertain studied the inhibitor acetazolamide and they found that it decreased excitability in cat spinal cord [24]. After that, other authors proposed that the glial cells are more alkaline than neurons (due to higher concentrations of HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), and the anticonvulsant action of the CA inhibitors could be related with extracellular acidosis [25]. A revision of the AEDs with inhibitory action against CA is given in the next section of this chapter.

#### **3 CA Inhibitors as Anticonvulsant Drugs**

CAs inhibitors have been the object of study in many fields of medicinal chemistry, as candidates to treat glaucoma, altitude sickness, obesity, pain, cancer, and epilepsy [12, 26–28].

Classical inhibitors of  $\alpha$ -CAs exert their action by blocking the four position originally destined for water in the catalytic center (Fig. 1). They usually bind to the Zn<sup>2+</sup> as anions, forming two different complexes depending on the presence/absence of water (Fig. 2). The most important functional group that serves as Zn<sup>2+</sup> anchoring group of CA inhibitors is the sulfonamide function (and their bioisosteric partners, Fig. 2). However, it is worth pointing out that other inhibition mechanisms have been discovered for other families of compounds, such as polyamines and coumarins [12].

Some commercial AEDs are CA inhibitors [29]. However, their anticonvulsant action has not been totally attributed to the CA inhibition process in most of the compounds. In fact, the CA interactions represent a drug weakness in some cases, because it generates tolerance and/or important side effects.

Acetazolamide (Diamox<sup>®</sup>) was introduced to the market as a diuretic in 1953 (Fig. 3). Simultaneously, its anticonvulsant properties were discovered by Bergstrom et al. [30] and then other researchers probed their effect in animals and humans [31–34]. It has been employed in partial and generalized seizures, as well as in catamenial epilepsy [35, 36]. Regarding its safety, acetazolamide induces side effects as paresthesias, tinnitus, loss of appetite, and alterations of taste [37, 38]. Nowadays it is rarely indicated to treat convulsions, mainly due to the development of tolerance [39, 40]. Methazolamide is a structurally related compound that has been



**Fig. 2** Schematic representation of the interactions found for classical inhibitors and the active site [16]. (a) The Zn(II) ion is coordinated with a water molecule in addition to the inhibitor ( $IN^{-}$ ). (b) The inhibitor ( $IN^{-}$ ) substitutes the fourth position in the tetrahedral complex (originally available for water). (c) Sulfonamides (X = C atom), sulfamates (X = 0 atom) and sulfamides (X = N atom) bind to the zinc ion in their deprotonated form



Fig. 3 Structures of anticonvulsant drugs with proved CA inhibition. 1: Acetazolamide; 2: Methazolamide; 3: Sulthiame; 4: Topiramate and 5: Zonizamide

tested as anticonvulsant (Fig. 3), but it has gained more attention as antiglaucoma drug [29, 41, 42]. Sulthiame is another sulfonamide derivative employed as AED (Fig. 3). It is prescribed to treat partial epilepsy in children in Europe and Australia [43], but serious side effects related with deterioration in cognitive functions have been reported [44].

Topiramate (Topamax<sup>®</sup>) is a broad spectrum AED employed for the treatment of partial and generalized seizures, including Lennox–Gastaut syndrome and prophylactic treatment of migraine [45, 46]. It is also indicated in patients with bipolar and mood instability disorders, post-traumatic stress, eating disorders, addictions, and other pathologies [29, 47–50]. From a structural point of view, it is a substituted monosaccharide that contains sulfamate function (Fig. 3). The sulfamate group is a bioisosteric partner of sulfonamide moiety, and it serves as anchoring group to interact with CA active site [51].

The anticonvulsant action of topiramate is attributed to multiple mechanisms of action. It inhibits several CA isoforms [52], but it also blocks Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and AMPA/kainate receptors; and it enhances the GABA-ergic neurotransmission [29, 53–59]. On the other hand, CA inhibition contributes to the generation of several side effects like metabolic acidosis, hypocitraturia, hypercalciuria, and elevated urine pH, leading to an increased risk of kidney stone formation [10, 29, 60, 61].

Zonisamide is an AED effective for simple and complex partial seizures, generalized tonic–clonic seizures, myoclonic epilepsies, Lennox–Gastaut syndrome, and infantile spasms [29, 62–64]. Like acetazolamide, it has a sulfonamide function in its chemical structure

(Fig. 3), but a weaker inhibition profile: its CA-inhibiting activity in vivo is 100–1000 times weaker than acetazolamide [65]. Studies showed that its main mechanisms of anticonvulsant action are the blockade of voltage-sensitive sodium channels and the reduction of voltage-sensitive T-type calcium currents [29]. Zonisamide presents acceptable side effects like somnolence, dizziness, and weight loss but it develops tolerance very quickly [29, 65].

Regarding drugs in development, the search of new CA inhibitors as anticonvulsants is an active area of research [52, 66–70]. However, the limitations found in marketed and experimental CA inhibitors originated doubts about the potential of this target for designing efficient AEDs. Experts in the field have concluded that future inhibitors might overcome the difficulties of tolerance and toxicity by selective targeting specific isoforms involved in the pathological process [10]. Following this idea, in the last years, the drug design campaigns have focused on obtaining isoform-selective inhibitors of CAs. It represents a challenging objective because there are 13 active CAs in humans with similar architecture [12]. They share the active site characteristics (three residues of His bound to the zinc ion) and two residues highly conserved near the active site (identified as Thr 199 and Glu 106 in CAII), since they help with the coordination between water/hydroxide ion and zinc. Other common features are the physicochemical characteristics of the residues in the conical cleft, which presents a hydrophobic region opposite to one hydrophilic region [12].

However, there are environmental differences for the isozymes that provide the opportunity of designing selective inhibitors. For example, transmembrane isoforms CAIX and CAXII are targets for anticancer drugs, particularly in diseases associated with hypoxic tumors [12, 71]. Hydrophilic glycosyl sulfonamide inhibitors of CA IX and CA XII have been designed to minimize the diffusion through lipid membranes and to promote the selective inhibition of transmembrane CAs [12, 72]. Similarly, positively charged sulfonamide inhibitors were designed to minimize their transport through the lipophilic membranes [73].

There are also divergences in the identity of some amino acids in each isoform, mainly for those located at the middle and toward the exit of the active site cavity. It generates differences on the size and shape of the cleft, which finally affect the inhibition patterns of the ligands. For example, the inhibition constant (Ki) of the anticonvulsant topiramate is 210 times lower than its sulfamide analogue in CAII isoform [74]. However, this sulfamide effectively inhibits in the nanomolar range isozymes CA VA, VB, VII, XIII, and XIV [74]. The weak inhibitory properties of the sulfamide against CAII has been attributed to the unfavorable Van der Waals contacts between this ligand and one distinctive residue of CA II (Ala65) [74]. Additionally, the access to other protonation states of the sulfamide function relative to the sulfamate group has also been hypothesized as an extra source of selectivity [75]. On the other hand, the divergences in the identity of the amino acids at the entrance of the cavity provide the opportunity of designing elongated molecules that interact with the active site but also with the distinctive residues to be isoform selective [12]. This strategy is known as *the tail approach* and numerous successful examples are given in literature mainly for antiglaucoma and anticancer drugs [12]. Regarding epilepsy, there is a growing interest about the design of selective inhibitors for the isoform CAVII, which has gained attention as a promising target for AEDs.

As detailed previously in this chapter, CAs are responsible of preserving the intra- and extracellular balance between  $CO_2$ , H<sup>+</sup>, and HCO<sub>3</sub>ions, and these species influence the neuronal signaling in many different ways. Regarding neuronal excitability, numerous studies sustain the hypothesis that CA activity promotes depolarizing and excitatory GABA-ergic transmission through HCO<sub>3</sub>- currents [14, 76]. Moreover, important advancements have been recently reported about the influence of the isoform CAVII in the generation of febrile seizures via the activation of GABAA receptors [77].

Human CAVII is a cytosolic isoform composed of 263 amino acids that shares 56% of identity with the CAII isoform [78]. In contrast to ubiquitous CAII, CAVII is the unique isoform present mostly in the central nervous system. It is highly expressed in the cortex, hippocampus, and thalamus regions of humans' and rats' brain tissues and in the stomach, duodenum, colon, liver, and skeletal muscle of mice [79, 80].

In relation to CAVII inhibition, Gitto and coworkers rationally designed, synthesized, and evaluated ten isoquinoline-derived sulfonamides and other four substituted aryl sulfonamides as selective inhibitors [81]. They showed inhibitory efficacy at low nanomolar concentrations in some examples and selectivity against CAVII over CAII. The authors proposed that small substituents in the C1 position of the isoquinoline ring improve the inhibition in CAVII. Figure 4 shows the two more representative compounds (structures 1 and 2). After that, the authors tested other structurally related aryl sulfonamides, but the new compounds showed lower selectivity when compared to the previously reported ones [82].

Recently, De Luca and coworkers performed a virtual screening campaign in order to find new CAVII inhibitors [83]. They constructed two 3D pharmacophore models based on two experimentally available complexes of inhibitors with CAVII (protein data bank codes: 3ML5 and 3MDZ [84]). Later, a final pharmacophore model was made by superimposing the two structure-based hypotheses and taking out the overlapped chemical features. This pattern was employed as template for virtual screening into a focused library of 6313 sulfonamides available in the zinc database [85]. The 34 hits found were submitted to a docking simulation and finally two compounds were selected for experimental assays

3.1 Design of Selective CAVII Inhibitors as Anticonvulsants



Fig. 4 Representative structures of CAVII inhibitors collected from literature [70, 81, 83, 86]

(Fig. 4, structures 3 and 4). Both molecules showed nanomolar inhibition against CAVII isoform but not selectivity against CAII.

We and other authors have also explored the applications of rational design for the discovery of new AEDs via CAVII inhibition [70, 86]. Particularly, we studied the inhibition pattern of sulfamides (-NH-SO<sub>2</sub>-NH-), which are bioisosteres of the classic sulfonamide group [75]. Initially, we found that the N,N'disubstitution of the sulfamide function causes a negative effect in the activity for the off-target CAII, but it provokes inhibitory action against CAVII in some cases. For example, we found that N,N'-dicyclopropylsulfamide (Fig. 4, structure 5) has a Ki value of 160 nM and it is inactive against CAII [70]. To explain the origin of the effects that may contribute to the different binding affinity, we simulated the interaction of this compound (among others) with CAII and CAVII using docking and molecular dynamics simulations.

The docking simulations for *N*, *N*-dicyclopropylsulfamide were performed using AutoDockTools 1.5.0 and AutoDock 4.0 docking softwares [87]. The starting CAII protein was prepared from the 0.99 Å resolution crystal structure of the CAII-sulfonamide complex deposited by Jude et al. (protein data bank code 2FOU) [88]. CA VII isoform was obtained from the complex provided by Opperman et al. (protein data bank 3MDZ) [89]. In both cases, the crystallographic water molecules, the ligand, and any cocrystal-lized molecule/ion were stripped. Hydrogen atoms were added using the LEaP module of AMBER11 [90].

We retained the default AutoDock parameters for all the variables but the charges of the ligands, for which AM1-BCC charges were calculated using Quacpac software [91]. We found this performs better in the docking for this particular system than the default Gasteiger charges [75]. The sulfamide was docked using the Lamarckian genetic algorithm (LGA) in the "docking active site," defined through a grid centered on the ND2 atom of Asn67 residue for CA II and the ND2 atom of Asn64 for CA VII. In both isozymes, we employed 60, 50, and 60 grid points in X,  $\Upsilon$ , and Z dimensions respectively, with the default grid spacing (0.375 Å), and performed 50 docking runs.

The N, N'-dicyclopropylsulfamide was docked as anion, by removing the H atom of one NH group, since it is believed that classical inhibitors coordinate to the active site as negative species [75].

The conformations predicted by AutoDock for the complexes with CAII and CAVII were used as starting points for MD simulations with AMBER11 software [90]. The initial geometries were minimized (1000 cycles for the water molecules followed by 2500 cycles for the entire systems). After a 20 ps NTV equilibration period with a weak restraint (10 kcal/mol Å<sup>2</sup>) for the complex and a NTP 200 ps without restraint, production runs larger than 12 ns were computed for each complex, for the coordinates saved every 1000 time steps. The ionizable residues were set to their normal ionization states at pH 7, except for the His residues coordinating the Zn metallocenter, which were modeled as Hid94, Hid96, and Hie119 (numbers relative to CA II). The protein atoms were surrounded by a periodic box of TIP3P32 water molecules that extended 10 Å from the protein. Counter ions were placed by the LEaP module of AMBER11 to neutralize the system [90]. The ff03 version of the all-atom AMBER force field was used to model the protein, and the GAFF force field was employed for the organic ligands [90, 92].

We derived our own nonstandard force fields for the Zn active site by means of geometry minimization (B3LYP/6-31G\*\*, Gaussian03 software [93]), followed by calculation of the second derivatives and RESP charges for the active site supermolecule defined by three His residues, the Zn ion, and the sulfamide ligand [75].

Our molecular modeling studies suggested that the active site is more elongated in CAVII than in CAII, particularly in the hydrophilic region delimited by ASN64, HIS66, GLN69, LYS93, and GLN94 (GLN69 and LYS93 are distinctive residues for CAVII, and they are replaced by ASN67 and ILE91 in CAII). The larger space in the CAVII active site entrance allows it to accommodate bulkier sulfamides, like N, N'-disubstituted compounds. After that we design new amino acid-derived sulfamides with different alkyl/aryl chains with the purpose of improving the interactions with CAVII [86]. The idea was to construct a sulfamide with both polar and nonpolar chains, to promote the interactions with the elongated hydrophilic region close to the active site in CAVII as well with the other lipophilic half of the cavity. Snapshots of the molecular dynamic simulations previously described allowed us to access to elongated conformation of CAVII, and docking studies were also performed to analyze these new designed sulfamides. We employed the docking conditions described before for N,N'-dicyclopropylsulfamide. However, in the simulations with the amino acid-derived sulfamides, two deprotonated forms can be constructed, since the substituents of the sulfamide function are different. Both anions were considered, and the most stable complex predicted by docking (lower binding energy) was conserved [86].

We found very interesting results in terms of CAVII activity and selectivity against CAII. Figure 4 shows one of the most promising structures (compound 6). It was also active against MES test in mice confirming the anticonvulsant activity in this classical model [94]. Compound 6 showed all animals protected in MES assay (3/3) at the lower dose tested (30 mg/kg), 4 h after administration [94].

We also studied the CA inhibition of the artificial sweetener sodium cyclamate (Fig. 4, structure 7). It showed important potency and selectivity against the off-target CAII [70]. This structure presents a sulfamate salt and it was previously tested by us in animal models of convulsion with positive results [95]. The selection of this compound was based on the results found for another sweetener, saccharine, which showed anticonvulsant action and high inhibitory potency and selectivity against CAVII [96].

## 4 Conclusions

Carbonic anhydrase is inhibited by drugs employed to treat several diseases, such as cancer, glaucoma, and also epilepsy. Nowadays, the main challenge in the design of CA inhibitors is to find compounds that act selectively and with high potency against specific isoforms. In this chapter, we have focused on successful examples of CAVII inhibitors, which prove its potentiality as anticonvulsant target. We are aware that more studies are needed to complete the anticonvulsant profile of the new compounds; but we consider that this isoform has much future in the treatment of febrile seizures and, perhaps, in other epileptic syndromes.

#### References

- 1. Berg AT, Berkovic SF, Brodie MJ et al (2010) Revised terminology and concepts for organization of seizures and epilepsies: report of the ILAE commission on classification and terminology, 2005–2009. Epilepsia 51:676–685
- Staley K (2015) Molecular mechanisms of epilepsy. Nat Neurosci 18:367–372
- Löscher W, Schmidt D (2011) Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. Epilepsia 52:657–678
- French JA (2007) Refractory epilepsy: clinical overview. Epilepsia 48:3–7
- 5. Loscher W (2011) Critical review of current animal models of seizures and epilepsy used in the discovery and development of new antiepileptic drugs. Seizure 20:359–368
- Krall RL, Penry JK, White BG et al (1978) Antiepileptic drug development. II Anticonvulsant drug screening. Epilepsia 19:404–428
- Rogawski MA (2006) Molecular targets versus models for new antiepileptic drug discovery. Epilepsy Res 68:22–28

- Löscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE et al (2013) New avenues for anti-epileptic drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:757–776
- Bialer M, White HS (2010) Key factors in the discovery and development of new antiepileptic drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9:68–82
- Meldrum B, Rogawski MA (2007) Molecular targets for antiepileptic drug development. Neurotherapeutics 4:18–61
- Thiry A, Dogné JM, Supuran CT, Masereel B (2007) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors as anticonvulsant agents. Curr Top Med Chem 7:855–864
- 12. McKenna R, Frost SC (2014) Overview of the carbonic anhydrase family. In: Frost SC, McKenna R (eds) Carbonic anhydrase: mechanism, regulation, links to disease, and industrial applications. Springer, London
- 13. Frost SC (2014) Physiological functions of the alpha class of carbonic anhydrases. In: Frost SC, McKenna R (eds) Carbonic anhydrase: mechanism, regulation, links to disease, and industrial Applications. Springer, London
- 14. Ruusuvuori E, Kaila K (2014) Carbonic anhydrases and brain pH in the control of neuronal excitability. In: Frost SC, McKenna R (eds) Carbonic anhydrase: mechanism, regulation, links to disease, and industrial Applications. Springer, London
- Xiong ZQ, Stringer JL (2000) Regulation of extracellular pH in the developing hippocampus. Dev Brain Res 122:113–117
- 16. Stringer JL, Lothman EW (1996) During after discharges in the young rat *in vivo* extracellular potassium is not elevated above adult levels. Dev Brain Res 91:136–139
- Aram JA, Lodge D (1987) Epileptiform activity induced by alkalosis in rat neocortical slices: block by antagonists of N-methyl-D-aspartate. Neurosci Lett 83:345–350
- Bonnet U, Wiemann M, Bingmann D (1998) CO<sub>2</sub>/HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>(-)</sup>-withdrawal from the bath medium of hippocampal slices: biphasic effect on intracellular pH and bioelectric activity of CA3-neurons. Brain Res 796:161–170
- Velisek L, Dreier JP, Stanton PK et al (1994) Lowering of extracellular pH suppresses low-Mg<sup>(2+)</sup>-induces seizures in combined entorhinal cortex-hippocampal slices. Exp Brain Res 101:44–52
- Xiong ZQ, Saggau P, Stringer JL (2000) Activity-dependent intracellular acidification correlates with the duration of seizure activity. J Neurosci 20:1290–1296
- Guaranha MS, Garzon E, Buchpiguel CA et al (2005) Hyperventilation revisited: physiological effects and efficacy on focal seizure activation in the era of video-EEG monitoring. Epilepsia 46:69–75

- 22. Schuchmann S, Schmitz D, Rivera C et al (2006) Experimental febrile seizures are precipitated by a hyperthermia-induced respiratory alkalosis. Nat Med 12:817–823
- Schuchmann S, Hauck S, Henning S et al (2011) Respiratory alkalosis in children with febrile seizures. Epilepsia 52:1949–1955
- 24. Esplin DW, Rosenstein R (1963) Analysis of spinal depressant actions of carbonic dioxide and acetazolamide. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther 143:499–513
- 25. White HS, Woodbury DM, Chen CF et al (1986) Role of glial cation and anion transport mechanisms in etiology and arrest of seizures. Adv Neurol 44:695–712
- Supuran CT (2008) Carbonic anhydrases—an overview. Curr Pharm Des 14:603–614
- 27. Supuran CT (2010) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 20:3467–3474
- Carta F, Supuran CT, Scozzafava A (2014) Sulfonamides and their isosters as carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Future Med Chem 6:1149–1165
- 29. Aggarwal M, Kondeti B, McKenna R (2013) Anticonvulsant/antiepileptic carbonic anhydrase inhibitors: a patent review. Expert Opin Ther Pat 23:717–724
- Bergstrom WH, Garzoli RF, Lombroso C et al (1952) Observations on metabolic and clinical effects of carbonic anhydrase inhibitors in epileptics. Am J Dis Child 84:771–772
- Millichap JG, Thatcher LD, Williams PM (1955) Anticonvulsant action of acetazolamide, alone and in combination with ammonium chloride. Fed Proc 14:370–371
- 32. Millichap JG, Woodbury DM, Goodman LS (1956) Mechanism of the anticonvulsant action of acetazolamide, a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor. Neurology 6:552–559
- 33. Merlis S (1956) Diamox: a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor: its use in epilepsy. Neurology 4:863–868
- 34. Lombroso C, Davidson DT, Grossi-Bianchi L (1956) Further evaluation of acetazolamide (Diamox) in treatment of epilepsy. JAMA 160:268–272
- Lim LL, Foldvary N, Mascha E et al (2001) Acetazolamide in women with catamenial epilepsy. Epilepsia 42:746–749
- Reiss WG, Oles KS (1996) Acetazolamide in the treatment of seizures. Ann Pharmacother 30:514–519
- Inoue H, Hazama H, Hamazoe K et al (1984) Antipsychotic and prophylactic effects of acetazolamide (Diamox) on atypical psychosis. Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn 38:425–436
- Wolf P (2011) Acute drug administration in epilepsy: a review. CNS Neurosci Ther 17:442–448

- 39. Ansell B, Clarke E (1956) Acetazolamide in treatment of epilepsy. Br Med J 1:650–661
- 40. Lombroso CT, Forxythe I (1960) A long term follow up of acetazolamide/Diamox in the treatment of epilepsy. Epilepsia 1:493–500
- Woodbury DM, Rollins LT, Gardner MD et al (1958) Effects of carbon dioxide on brain excitability and electrolytes. Am J Physiol 192:79–90
- 42. Gray WD, Rauh CE, Osterbero AC et al (1958) The anticonvulsant actions of methazolamide (a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor) and diphenylhydantoin. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 124:149–160
- Ben-Zeev B, Watemberg N, Lerman P et al (2004) Sulthiame in childhood epilepsy. Pediatr Int 46:521–524
- 44. Wirrell E, Sherman EMS, Vanmastrigt R et al (2008) Deterioration in cognitive function in children with benign epilepsy of childhood with central temporal spikes treated with sulthiame. J Child Neurol 23:14–21
- 45. Lyseng-Williamson KA, Yang LPH (2007) Topiramate: a review of its use in the treatment of epilepsy. Drugs 67:2231–2256
- 46. Silberstein SD, Ben-Menachem E, Shank RP et al (2005) Topiramate monotherapy in epilepsy and migraine prevention. Clin Ther 27:154–165
- 47. Arbaizar B, Gómez-Acebo I, Llorca J (2008) Efficacy of topiramate in bulimia nervosa and binge-eating disorder: a systematic review. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 30:471–475
- 48. Shank RP, Maryanoff BE (2008) Molecular pharmacodynamics, clinical therapeutics, and pharmacokinetics of topiramate. CNS Neurosci Ther 14:120–142
- 49. Dias VV, Balanzá-Martinez V, Soeiro-De-Souza MG et al (2012) Pharmacological approaches in bipolar disorders and the impact on cognition: a critical overview. Acta Psychiatr Scand 126:315–331
- 50. Bray GA (2014) Medical treatment of obesity: the past, the present and the future. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 28:665–683
- Recacha R, Costanzo MJ, Maryanoff BE et al (2012) Crystal structure of human carbonic anhydrase II complexed with an anti-convulsant sugar sulphamate. Biochem J 361:437–441
- 52. De Simone G, Scozzafava A, Supuran CT (2009) Which carbonic anhydrases are targeted by the antiepileptic sulfonamides and sulfamates? Chem Biol Drug Des 74:317–321
- Maryanoff BE (2009) Pharmaceutical Gold from neurostabilizing agents: topiramate and successor molecules. J Med Chem 52:3431–3440

- Zona C, Ciotti MT, Avoli M (1997) Topiramate attenuates voltage-gated sodium currents in rat cerebellar granule cells. Neurosci Lett 23:123–126
- 55. DeLorenzo RJ, Sombati S, Coulter DA (2000) Effects of topiramate on sustained repetitive firing and spontaneous recurrent seizure discharges in cultured hippocampal neurons. Epilepsia 41:S40–S44
- 56. Taverna S, Sancini G, Mantegazza M et al (1999) Inhibition of transient and persistent Na<sup>+</sup> current fractions by the new anticonvulsant topiramate. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 288:960–968
- 57. McLean MJ, Bukhari AA, Wamil AW (2000) Effects of topiramate on sodium-dependent action-potential firing by mouse spinal cord neurons in cell culture. Epilepsia 41:S21–S24
- Zhang X, Velumian AA, Jones OT et al (2000) Modulation of high-voltage-activated calcium channels in dentate granule cells by topiramate. Epilepsia 41:S52–S60
- Skradski S, White HS (2000) Topiramate blocks kainate-evoked cobalt influx into cultured neurons. Epilepsia 41:S45–S47
- 60. Vega D, Maalouf NM, Sakhaee K (2007) Increased propensity for calcium phosphate kidney stones with topiramate use. Expert Opin Drug Saf 6:547–557
- Mahmoud AA, Rizk T, El-Bakri NK et al (2011) Incidence of kidney stones with topiramate treatment in pediatric patients. Epilepsia 52:1890–1893
- 62. Leppik I, Willmore L, Homan R et al (1993) Efficacy and safety of zonisamide: results of a multicenter study. Epilepsy Res 14:165–173
- 63. Leppik IE (2004) Zonisamide: chemistry, mechanism of action, and pharmacokinetics. Seizure 13:S5–S9
- Dupont S, Stefan H (2012) Zonisamide in clinical practice. Acta Neurol Scand Suppl 194:29–35
- 65. Masuda Y, Karasawa T, Shiraishi Y, Hori M et al (1980) 3-Sulfamoylmethyl-1,2-benzisoxazole, a new type of anticonvulsant drug: pharmacological profile. Arzneimittelforschung 30:477–483
- 66. Karata MO, Uslu H, Sarı S et al (2015) Coumarin or benzoxazinone based novel carbonic anhydrase inhibitors: synthesis, molecular docking and anticonvulsant studies. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem. doi:10.3109/147 56366.2015.1063624
- 67. Garro Martinez JC, Vega-Hissi EG, Andrada MF et al (2014) Lacosamide derivatives with anticonvulsant activity as carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Molecular modeling, docking and QSAR analysis. Curr Comput Aided Drug Des 10:160–167

- 68. Yusuf M, Khan RA, Maria Khan M et al (2013) An interactive human carbonic anhydrase-II (hCA-II) receptor–pharmacophore molecular model & anticonvulsant activity of the designed and synthesized 5-Amino-1,3,4-Thiadiazole-2-Thiol conjugated imine derivatives. Chem Biol Drug Des 81:666–673
- 69. Thiry A, Dogné JM, Supuran CT et al (2009) Drug design of carbonic anhydrase inhibitors as anticonvulsant agents. In: Supuran CT, Winum JY (eds) Drug design of zinc-enzyme inhibitors: functional, structural, and disease applications. Wiley, New Jersey
- 70. Gavernet L, Gonzalez Funes JL, Palestro PH (2013) Inhibition pattern of sulfamide-related compounds in binding to carbonic anhydrase isoforms I, II, VII, XII and XIV. Bioorg Med Chem 21:1410–1418
- 71. Rodríguez OM, Maresca A, Témpera CA et al (2011) N- $\beta$ -Glycosyl sulfamides are selective inhibitors of the cancer associated carbonic anhydrase isoforms IX and XII. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2:4447–4450
- 72. Smainea FZ, Winum JY, Montero JL et al (2007) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors: selective inhibition of the extracellular, tumorassociated isoforms IX and XII over isozymes I and II with glycosyl-thioureido-sulfonamides. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17:5096–5100
- 73. Casey JR, Morgan PE, Vullo D et al (2004) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Design of selective, membrane-impermeant inhibitors targeting the human tumor-associated isozyme IX. J Med Chem 47:2337–2347
- 74. Winum JY, Temperini C, El Cheikh K et al (2006) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors: clash with Ala65 as a means for designing inhibitors with low affinity for the ubiquitous isozyme II, exemplified by the crystal structure of the topiramate sulfamide analogue. J Med Chem 49:7024–7031
- 75. Gavernet L, Gonzalez Funes JL, Bruno Blanch LE (2010) Affinity of sulfamates and sulfamides to carbonic anhydrase II isoform: experimental and molecular modeling approaches. J Chem Inf Model 50:1113–1122
- Farrant M, Kaila K (2007) The cellular, molecular and ionic basis of GABAA receptor signalling. Prog Brain Res 160:59–87
- 77. Ruusuvuori E, Huebner AK, Kirilkin I et al (2013) Neuronal carbonic anhydrase VII provides GABAergic excitatory drive to exacerbate febrile seizures. EMBO J 32:2275–2286
- 78. Montgomery JC, Venta PJ, Eddy RL et al (1991) Characterization of the human gene for a newly discovered carbonic anhydrase, CA VII, and its localization to chromosome 16. Genomics 11:835–848

- 79. Truppo E, Supuran CT, Sandomenico A et al (2012) Carbonic anhydrase VII is S-glutathionylated without loss of catalytic activity and affinity for sulfonamide inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:1560–1564
- Bootorabi F, Janis J, Smith E et al (2010) Analysis of a shortened form of human carbonic anhydrase VII expressed in vitro compared to the full-length enzyme. Biochimie 92:1072–1080
- 81. Gitto R, Agnello S, Ferro S et al (2010) Identification of potent and selective human carbonic anhydrase VII (hCA VII) inhibitors. ChemMedChem 5:823–826
- 82. Gitto R, Damiano FM, Mader P et al (2012) Synthesis, structure–activity relationship studies, and X-ray crystallographic analysis of arylsulfonamides as potent carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. J Med Chem 55:3891–3899
- 83. De Luca L, Ferro S, Damiano FM et al (2014) Structure-based screening for the discovery of new carbonic anhydrase VII inhibitors. Eur J Med Chem 71:105–111
- 84. Berman HM, Westbrook J, Feng Z et al (2000) The protein data bank. Nucleic Acids Res 28:235–242
- Irwin JJ, Sterling T, Mysinger MM et al (2012) ZINC: a free tool to discover chemistry for biology. J Chem Inf Model 52:1757–1768
- Villalba ML, Palestro PH, Ceruso M et al (2016) Sulfamide derivatives with selective carbonic anhydrase VII inhibitory action. Bioorg Med Chem 24:894–901
- 87. Morris GM, Goodsell DS, Halliday RS et al (1998) Automated docking using a Lamarckian genetic algorithm and empirical binding free energy function. J Comput Chem 19:1639–1662
- 88. Jude KM, Banerjee AL, Haldar MK et al (2006) Ultrahigh resolution crystal structures of human carbonic anhydrases I and II complexed with two-prong inhibitors reveal the molecular basis of high affinity. J Am Chem Soc 128:3011–3018
- 89. Ugochukwu E, Shafqat N, Pilka E et al (to be published)
- Case DA, Darden TA, Cheatham TE III et al (2010) AMBER 11. University of California, San Francisco
- QuACPAC (2007) Quality atomic charges, proton assignment and canonicalization. OpenEye Scientific Software, Inc., Santa Fe, NM
- 92. Wang J, Wolf RM, Caldwell JW et al (2004) Development and testing of a general amber force field. J Comput Chem 25:1157–1174
- 93. Frisch MJ, Trucks GW, Schlegel HB (2004) Gaussian 03, revision C.02. Gaussian, Inc., Wallingford, CT

- 94. Villalba ML, Enrique AV, Higgs J et al (2016) Novel sulfamides and sulfamates derived from amino esters: synthetic studies and anticonvulsant activity. Eur J Pharmacol 774:5–63. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.02.001
- 95. Talevi A, Enrique AV, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Anticonvulsant activity of artificial

sweeteners: a structural link between sweet-taste receptor T1R3 and brain glutamate receptors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:4072–4074

96. Moeker J, Peat TS, Bornaghi LF et al (2014) Cyclic secondary sulfonamides: unusually good inhibitors of cancer-related carbonic anhydrase enzymes. J Med Chem 57:3522–3531

# **Chapter 4**

# Synaptic Vesicle Protein 2A as a Novel Pharmacological Target with Broad Potential for New Antiepileptic Drugs

## Luz Adriana Pichardo-Macías, Itzel Jatziri Contreras-García, Sergio R. Zamudio, Edgar Mixcoha, and Julieta G. Mendoza-Torreblanca

## Abstract

In recent years, synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A) has become an attractive protein to study due to its important role in epilepsy. This protein is expressed ubiquitously throughout the brain in all nerve terminals independently of their neurotransmitter. It plays an important role in ensuring correct neurotransmission by priming vesicles for fusion. SV2A is the molecular target of the anticonvulsant drug levetiracetam (LEV), whose effects might be modulated by neuronal activity, by the pathophysiology of the nervous tissue and by SV2A expression. All of these qualities offer the advantage that some anticonvulsant drugs, by interacting with SV2A, could act on both excitatory and inhibitory synapses and simultaneously have effects restricted to epileptic tissue, resulting in the selective modulation of neuronal excitability. This chapter describes and discusses some of the basic aspects of the role of SV2A in epilepsy, addressing three main issues: SV2A function in neurotransmission, the correlation of the expression and/or distribution of the protein with treatment response and neuronal damage, and the reasons that SV2A is a good molecular target for the discovery of new antiepileptic drugs (AEDs).

Key words Synaptic vesicle proteins, SV2A, Levetiracetam, Epilepsy biomarker, Neurotransmitters release, Neurotransmission, Vesicle cycle, Synaptotagmin, Antiepileptic drugs

## **1** Synaptic Vesicles

Synaptic vesicles (SVs) are a specialized class of tiny (40–50 nm diameter) secretory vesicles localized in presynaptic nerve terminals. SVs have two major functions: the accumulation and storage of neurotransmitters and the release of these neurotransmitters [1]. When an action potential arrives at a nerve terminal, it causes an influx of calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) through voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels, which triggers the vesicles to release their contents within a fraction of a millisecond [2]. The neurotransmitters are secreted in

**Electronic supplementary material**: The online version of this chapter (doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_4) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_4, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

multimolecular packets (quanta), each containing several thousand transmitter molecules. At rest, nerve terminals release quanta spontaneously at a slow rate, giving rise to spontaneous miniature synaptic potentials [3].

SVs are released and reused in a simple but well-balanced cycle of exocytosis and endocytosis, its *yin* and *yang* elements [4]. The exocytosis process begins once the SVs are filled with neurotransmitters by active transport and are conveyed close to the active zone of the presynaptic plasma membrane, where they reside in a cluster ready to be recruited for exocytosis [5, 6]. Vesicle clusters appear to be homogeneous, with little sign of any morphological boundary that might demarcate the functional pools [7]. However, there are two distinct vesicle pools. One is the readily releasable pool (RRP, comprising 20% of the total vesicle population), which contains the first vesicles; these are fused upon stimulation and are refilled rapidly, almost entirely by recycling and without mobilization of the reserve pool. The second, the reserve pool, functions during depletion of the terminal and refills over a longer period [3, 7, 8].

Filled vesicles dock at the active zone where they undergo an ATP-dependent priming reaction that makes them competent for  $Ca^{2+}$ -triggered fusion. The vesicle membrane fuses with the presynaptic membrane, and the contents of the vesicle are released into the synaptic cleft [3]. There are many proteins involved in exocytosis; the most important proteins and their functions are illustrated in Fig. 1. After fusion pore opening, SVs undergo endocytosis, for which three pathways are proposed: (1) "kiss and stay" is a pathway in which vesicles are endocytosed by closure of the fusion pore and are refilled with neurotransmitters while remaining docked to the active zone, (2) "kiss and run" is a local recycling pathway that is clathrin independent but results in the mixing of vesicles with the reserve pool after endocytosis, and (3) the last pathway is that in which vesicles undergo clathrin-mediated endocytosis and are recycled either directly or via endosomes [6, 9].

**Fig. 1** (continued) the vesicle over the active zone [6]. In docking stage, SNARE syntaxin is held in a closed state by the regulatory protein Munc18-1, and in that configuration, it is unable to interact with other SNARE proteins. (b) Priming. The configuration of the Munc 18-1/syntaxin complex is altered so that syntaxin is in its open state and assembles with synaptobrevin and SNAP-25 to form a parallel four-helix bundle that binds the vesicle in close contact with the plasma membrane [3, 6]. The SNARE proteins do not fully account for fusion of the vesicle and plasma membrane; e.g., complexin protein serves to stabilize the interaction between the synaptobrevin and syntaxin helices [3]. (c) Exocytosis. Upon calcium influx to the nerve terminal, the incoming calcium binds to the calcium-sensor synaptotagmin 1 (SYT-1), which in turn binds to the SNARE complex, displacing complexin and initiating pore formation [3, 5]. After fusion, the SNARE complex must be disassembled for efficient vesicle recycling to occur [5, 6]. (d) Endocytosis. SV2A acts in a clathrin-mediated endocytosis through its binding with SYT-1. SV2A and SYT-1 interact through first 57 amino acids of SV2A and the C2B domain of SYT-1 [34]. Y46 residue of SV2A binds to the clathrin adaptor AP2 [23]. SYT-1 has its own binding site with  $\mu$ -subunit of AP-2 and with stonin 2 [23]. Then, SV2A ability to affect SYT-1 endocytosis may be through engaging  $\mu$ -AP2 through its endocytosis motif Y-46 and interacting with SYT-1 bound to stonin 2 [23]. SV2A may stabilize the complex ensuring the inclusion of SYT-1 into vesicles



**Fig. 1** The synaptic vesicle cycle; synaptic vesicles are filled with neurotransmitter and are grouped and docked (**a**) in the vicinity of active zones. Synaptic vesicles are prepared (priming; **b**) to a competent state for the fusion pore opening triggered by calcium (exocytosis; **c**). After fusion, synaptic vesicles are endocytosed and recycled through clathrin-mediated endocytosis (**d**). There are several key synaptic vesicle and plasma proteins that participate during all cycle. (**a**) Docking. The vesicle protein Rab3 binds to the cytoplasmic proteins Munc13 and RIMs, to holding

#### 2 Synaptic Vesicle Protein 2A

Biochemists have isolated many of the key proteins of SVs. These proteins fall into two major classes: transport proteins involved in neurotransmitter uptake and trafficking proteins that participate in synaptic vesicle exocytosis, endocytosis, and recycling (several mentioned in Fig. 1) [9]. Among these proteins are those in the synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) family; however, it is frequently unknown to which group each protein belongs because their specific functions have not yet been fully characterized.

Three genes in vertebrates encode this highly homologous SV2 family of transmembrane glycoproteins known as SV2A, SV2B, and SV2C. SV2A was the first isoform identified and is the most studied due to its biological and pharmacological implications [10–12]. The SV2A has an 82.7 kDa molecular weight and 742 amino acids, a long and conserved NH<sub>2</sub>-terminus, 12 transmembrane (TM) domains, a long and conserved cytoplasmic loop, a long intravesicular loop that includes three N-linked glycosylation sites, and a short C-terminus [13–15].

The SV2A is expressed ubiquitously throughout the brain at different levels, with the exception of the facial and trigeminal nuclei [16]. As expected for a synaptic vesicle protein, SV2A is essentially absent in the neuronal soma [16]. Both in humans and in rats, SV2A immunoreactivity (IR) is present in synaptic layers throughout all subfields of the hippocampal formation. The strongest IR is observed in the stratum lucidum of CA3 (mossy fibers) and in the hilar region of the dentate gyrus (DG). Because SV2A is a protein localized in the terminal presynaptic axons of neurons, its expression is observed surrounding the dendrites or somata of the postsynaptic pyramidal neurons (CA1 and CA3), granular cells, and hilar cells [17, 18]. A protocol to detect the SV2A IR by immunohistochemistry, as well as its semiquantification using systematic random sampling and optical densitometry, is described in Appendix 1.

SV2A is expressed in both glutamatergic and GABAergic terminals; immunocytochemical studies in the rat cortex, hippocampus, and cerebellum showed that SV2A co-localizes with vesicular glutamate transporters (VGLUT) 1 and 2 and with the vesicular  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) transporter (VGAT) [16, 19, 20]. Intriguingly, SV2A is mostly co-expressed with VGLUT1 and VGAT (82% and 96%, respectively) and less so VGLUT2 (42%); however, the distribution is almost equal among all terminals [19].

## **3 SV2A Protein Main Functions**

The localization of SV2A in all SVs, together with its conservation across species, suggests that the protein is highly important in vesicle functioning [13]. Although it is well known that SV2A is not

indispensable for neurotransmitter release, its function is clearly essential to normal neurotransmitter release for at least the more complex vertebrate nervous systems [21, 22]. Its function remains undefined, but most evidence suggests that SV2A potentially has multiple regulatory actions at diverse points in the synaptic vesicle cycle [21, 23, 24].

For more than a decade, enormous effort has been given to dem-3.1 SV2A Protein onstrate SV2A transporter function. The first insights came in May Function 1992 from three independent groups, all of which recognized the as a Transporter SV2A as a transporter because it shares significant homology with several transporter proteins [13, 14, 25]. Additionally, SV2A has residues equivalent to critical functional residues of several major facilitator superfamily (MFS) transporters. The mutagenesis approach resulted in the identification of some of these residues affecting SV2A binding with its high-affinity compound, UCB-30889 [26]. In addition, two conserved tryptophans (W300 and W666), which contribute to transport activity in some MFS proteins, are required for SV2A's function in neurotransmission [22]. Nevertheless, the finding that disruption of a canonical MFS transporter motif (R231) in SV2A does not impair neurotransmission suggests that SV2A does not act as a transporter [22].

However, there are other studies supporting SV2A transporter activity; by protein tomography, an SV2A pore opening toward the cytoplasm was identified, as well as a more open structure toward the intraluminal space. The existence of these two major alternate functional conformations sustains a valve action necessary for molecular transport [27]. Otherwise, it has been demonstrated that human SV2A, when expressed in yeast, functions as a galactose transporter. These yeast cells were able to grow on medium containing galactose, and this effect was inhibited by the addition of the drug LEV, which specifically binds to SV2A. Most importantly, direct measurement of galactose uptake shows that SV2A is able to transport extracellular galactose inside the cells [28].

Because of the variable effects of mutating residues implicated in transporter function, the lack of identification of an SV2A endogenous substrate, and the need to interpret the yeast data as implicated in the central nervous system (CNS) of vertebrates, it remains unclear whether SV2A acts as a transporter. It is still possible, however, that SV2A transports a common constituent of the vesicle environment, such as ATP, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, or other ions [16, 21, 27]. The presence of two conserved, negatively charged amino acids in the first TM domain of SV2A increases the probability that it transports a positively charged substrate such as Ca<sup>2+</sup> and not a negatively charged substrate such as chloride or ATP [12].

## 3.2 SV2A Protein Function During Synaptic Vesicle Cycle

To better elucidate SV2A function, a mouse line was created that is homozygous for the deletion of SV2A (SV2A knockout, KO) or both SV2A and SV2B double KO (DKO) [21, 29–32]. SV2A and SV2B proteins are very similar and co-expressed in largely overlapping patterns; in some studies, it was only possible to observe a disrupted electrophysiological phenotype when both SV2A and SV2B were deleted, suggesting that SV2A and SV2B are functionally redundant [21, 31].

Electrophysiological recordings in culture of autaptic hippocampal neurons from SV2A KO and SV2A/SV2B DKO mice suggest two major hypotheses about the possible mechanisms by which SV2A and SV2A/SV2B may regulate vesicular exocytosis. The first one concerns SV2A regulation of RRP, which corresponds to the vesicles that are docked and primed for fusion (see above and Fig. 1). The size of the RRP of vesicles is correlated with the synaptic release probability. In a series of experiments in hippocampal neurons, it was observed that a loss of either SV2A or SV2A/ SV2B resulted in a decrease in neurotransmitter release and reduced synaptic depression, which are linked to lower initial release probability and, therefore, a reduced size of the RRP [29, 30]. Similar results were found in SV2A KO chromaffin cells [24]. No differences were found in the frequency of miniature excitatory and inhibitory postsynaptic currents or the number, composition, or structure of the synapses because the architecture of the brain was normal in the mutants [21, 29, 30].

Because a loss of SV2A did not alter the number of docked synaptic vesicles or their morphology, it is possible that SV2A acts after vesicles arrive at the active zone [21, 29, 30]. Furthermore, it was observed that brain tissue from SV2A KO contained a smaller proportion of the syntaxin protein (Fig. 1a); this finding is consistent with the interpretation that SV2A action affects the formation of the complex of soluble NSF attachment proteins (SNARE) [24, 30]. Because the formation of the SNARE complex is one of the last events before exocytosis, these results suggest that SV2A influences synaptic vesicle priming (Fig. 1b), which prepares vesicles for neurotransmitter release.

On the other hand, the second hypothesis states that SV2A is a target for residual  $Ca^{2+}$  [21, 31]. Through paired pulses and repetitive stimulation of 2 and 10 Hz, an increase in the synaptic response (relative facilitation) with subsequent progressive depression in SV2A/SV2B DKO neurons was observed. Notably, no difference in the initial release probability was detected; however, such facilitation was reversed in all frequencies by incubating SV2A/SV2B DKO neurons with ethylene glycol tetra-acetic acid (EGTA, a  $Ca^{2+}$  chelator) indicating that the difference in synaptic response was mostly due to the buildup of residual  $Ca^{2+}$  [21, 31]. In addition, the loss of SV2B in rod bipolar cells (i.e., where the major SV2 isoform is expressed) was associated with an increase in the basal  $Ca^{2+}$ 

concentration in nerve terminals and with the accumulation of presynaptic Ca<sup>2+</sup> during continuous stimulation [33]. These results support the role of SV2 in the regulation of cytoplasmic Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels at the nerve terminal during repetitive stimulation. SV2A might act as residual Ca<sup>2+</sup> target or as a Ca<sup>2+</sup> transporter; as mentioned previously, the conserved presence of negatively charged residues in TM domain 1 of SV2A supports these functions [21].

Finally, SV2A also has an essential function of modulating the internalization of calcium-sensor synaptotagmin 1 (SYT-1) protein during endocytosis. Mice with a mutation in Y46 amino acid residue (an endocytosis motif) at the NH<sub>2</sub>-terminus of SV2A show a higher proportion of both SV2A and SYT-1 on the plasma membrane (i.e., diminished internalization) and reduced binding of SV2A to multiple endocytosis-related proteins. The Y46 residue of SV2A serves as a receptor for clathrin adaptor proteins; thus, SV2A via an interaction with both SYT-1 [34] and clathrin adaptors [23] may regulate the vesicle content of SYT-1. In the absence of SV2A, the SYT-1 trafficking of SVs may become more random, leading to fewer vesicles with enough SYT-1 to trigger Ca<sup>2+</sup>-stimulated fusion [23] (Fig. 1d).

Despite the somewhat disparate results, it is possible to infer multiple mechanisms of SV2A function during the neurotransmitter release process [21, 23, 24, 29]. The finding that neurotransmission is decreased but not abolished in the absence of SV2A suggests that SV2A plays an important but non-essential role in priming vesicles for fusion. The evidence indicates that SV2 proteins may act as a positive modulator of synaptic transmission by increasing the availability of secretory vesicles and thus the release probability, thereby ensuring correct neurotransmission [24, 30, 35].

## 4 SV2A Protein and Epilepsy

#### 4.1 Mice Lacking SV2A

The association of epilepsy and SV2A is evidenced by the observation that the SV2A KO mouse presents spontaneous generalized seizures. These mice have a low growth rate and a high mortality rate, with the first peak after birth and a second peak between the second and third week; no animals survive after this period, indicating that SV2A is a vital protein. Organisms that survive the first peak of death begin to experience severe and progressive recurrent spontaneous seizures (RSZ) indicative of widespread CNS hyperexcitability. In contrast, the heterozygous organisms are viable and fertile; however, they have a slight decrease in body weight, a slightly higher mortality rate, and a 24% presentation rate of RSZ [21, 29, 32].

The targeted disruption of the SV2A gene results in a decrease in the frequency and amplitude of spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus [29, 32] as well as an increase in the frequency of spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic currents (sEPSCs), with no change in their amplitudes [32]. The alteration of action potentialdependent glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic transmission may cause RSZ in SV2A KO mice. Therefore, the decrease in inhibitory release may induce a reverberating hyperexcitability and subsequently potentiate glutamate transmission to produce a continuous firing of action potentials, resulting in the emergence of RSZ [32]. It is noteworthy that alteration of synaptic GABAergic inhibition in the hippocampal formation plays a critical role in the generation and propagation of seizures in several types of epilepsy in humans [36, 37].

Another important aspect in the SV2A-epilepsy relationship is the change in expression of protein levels. The CNS is highly sensitive to the up- or downregulation of diverse proteins, which may result in a diverse range of disorders, such as epilepsy [29, 38]. SV2A is not an exception; in neurons from SV2A/SV2B DKOas well as in autaptic wild type neurons with overexpression of SV2A in autaptic wild-type neurons resulted in a reduced synaptic release probability and reduced synaptic depression respectively, suggesting that excess SV2A is as detrimental to neuronal function as deficient SV2A [39].

In a genetic model of spontaneously epileptic rats, low levels of SV2A were found in all cortical layers (mainly in the frontal and entorhinal cortex) and in the inner molecular layer of the DG [40]. Similarly, in a kindling epilepsy model, a decrease in SV2A expression was observed in the early hours (acute phase), became more pronounced over days (latent period), and progressed to involve the whole hippocampus (chronic phase) [17]. In contrast, SV2A expression in pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) kindling animals was selectively elevated in the hilar region [18]. Further studies are required to clarify this contradiction.

Similarly, patients with different disorders, such as complex partial seizures (CPZ), also showed a decrease in the expression of SV2A. Individuals with focal cortical dysplasia and tuberous sclerosis complex showed a reduction in SV2A IR in the neuropil of the cortex and the hippocampus (mainly in regions with extensive neuronal loss) [41]. Furthermore, patients with temporal lobe epilepsy presented a marked loss of SV2A IR in the temporal neocortex [17, 42, 43], and those with hippocampus but not in the inner molecular layer of the DG [17], again in parallel with synaptic loss [43]. Finally, brain tumor patients with epilepsy (approximately 50–80% of patients with gliomas have seizures) presented modest SV2A IR within the tumor area without changes in peritumoral tissue [38].

Interestingly, the SV2A decreased markedly in pharmacoresistant (i.e., resistant to phenytoin and phenobarbital) epileptic rats. However, through hippocampal low-frequency stimulation, a

4.2 SV2A Protein Levels in Animal Models and Patients with Epilepsy

61

remarkable increase in the SV2A was observed, while the seizure degree was inhibited [44]. On the other hand, glioma patients with epilepsy and a good response to LEV treatment had significantly stronger SV2A expression in tumors as well as in peritumoral tissue than did patients who did not show such a response [45]. These results suggest that the regulation of the SV2A may be an important issue for anticonvulsive treatment. Additional clinical and animal studies are required to further address this important matter.

As we describe above, the expression of the SV2A is altered under some pathological conditions such as epilepsy. Generally, in patients with CPZ as well as in epileptic animal models, the level of SV2A is decreased; indeed, this reduction has been observed in parallel with the course of the disease and through different brain structures. In addition, the regulation of the SV2A may significantly diminish the appearance, intensity, and seizure duration, and it can conceivably be a main factor in treatment response. Therefore, it is very plausible that SV2A expression can be a useful biomarker of epilepsy progression and/or a predictor of the response to treatment; in vivo SV2A quantification through positron emission tomography (PET) may be a helpful clinical tool to elucidate this.

4.3 SV2A Protein and the Anticonvulsant
Drug Levetiracetam
Finally, the identification of the SV2A as a therapeutic target of the anticonvulsant drug LEV established its fundamental role in epilepsy. Photoaffinity labeling studies determined that UCB-30889 (a LEV analog with a higher affinity for SV2A) bound to a protein of ~90 kDa. This protein was only detected in brain structures but not in peripheral tissue and was abundant in synaptic vesicle fractions; this placed SV2 proteins as the primary candidates [46–48]. Afterward, it was demonstrated that brain membranes and purified SVs from mice lacking SV2A did not bind UCB 30889. These results indicated that SV2A was necessary for LEV binding. Notably, no binding was observed in the related isoforms SV2B and SV2C [49].

Currently, there is no doubt that LEV binds in a saturable, reversible, and stereospecific manner to SV2A in both rat and human brains; this also holds true for its structural analogs brivaracetam, seletracetam, and UCB-30889, which overall form the racetam family [49, 50]. LEV (S-enantiomer pyrrolidine derivative of α-ethyl-2-oxo-1-pyrrolidine acetamide IUPAC, (S)-2-(2oxopyrrolidin-1-yl) butanamide) is a second-generation anticonvulsant drug that has demonstrated a better tolerability and improved efficiency; therefore, it has gradually become a firstchoice drug. At present, LEV is indicated in the treatment of partial onset seizures with or without secondary generalization, either as monotherapy (adults and adolescents with new diagnoses) or adjunctive therapy (adults and children >1 year of age); it can also be used in the control of myoclonic seizures and primary generalized tonic-clonic seizures only as adjunctive therapy in adults and adolescents [51–53].

At the molecular level, the specific racetam-binding site on the SV2A is still unknown; however, through mutagenesis studies, 14 amino acid residues involved in LEV binding to the TM hydrophilic core of SV2A have been identified [26]. In addition, modeling, molecular dynamics, and docking simulations showed a TM consensus binding site for racetam ligands in one or two different possible conformational states of SV2A [54, 55]. Of special importance are the residues D-670, W-666, N-667, Y-462, K-694, C-697, and W-300 [14, 26, 54]. All of these TM residues may be involved in the interaction between SV2A and LEV; however, they are not necessarily involved in the ligand pocket, and they may affect other aspects, such as changing the native conformation or the stability of the protein. A protocol to perform molecular dynamics and docking simulations is described in Appendix 2.

To exert its action, LEV requires access to the intraluminal face of synaptic vesicles. Because of its hydrophilic character, this process may be slow; it is possible that LEV reaches SV2A from its luminal side during recycling and endocytosis and, later, may bind to the SV2A TM region [15, 26, 54, 55] and be released during vesicle fusion [56] (Fig. 2). LEV may antagonize the effect of the SV2A, inhibiting it from participating in its usual role of priming vesicles and, as a result, may generate a decrease in the production of RRP. This decrease in RRP may then cause a decrease in excitatory and inhibitory synaptic transmission [30, 35, 49, 56, 57]. This suggests that LEV acts like antagonist of SV2A; however, it is also possible that LEV would act as an agonist, ergo, LEV binding migth enhances a function of SV2A that inhibits abnormal bursting in epileptic circuits, a function whose loss in the SV2A KOs results in seizures [49].

The in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo studies have corroborated that the principal mechanism of action of LEV is through the SV2A [58]. Experimental data obtained in rodent models of partial and generalized epilepsies established a strong correlation between SV2A binding affinity and the anticonvulsant potency of LEV and its derivatives [46, 49, 59]. In addition, heterozygous SV2A mice displayed increased vulnerability to seizures and accelerated epileptogenesis and a reduced anticonvulsant activity of LEV in several seizure models [58]; these effects are associated with both the occupancy and availability of SV2A [60]. These results prove that SV2A plays a crucial role in the mediation of the anticonvulsant action of LEV and suggest that the SV2A represents an important and validated target for the discovery of novel AEDs.


**Fig. 2** Proposed LEV mechanism of action. In epileptic nerve terminal, LEV may be modulated by neuronal activity; although LEV can act on different cell populations, apparently their effects are limited to those terminals that exhibit greater activity, such as glutamatergic terminals, that union results in a selective decrease of neurotransmitter release. It is possible that LEV accesses to the intraluminal face of synaptic vesicles during endocytosis (**a**) and binds to the SV2A in its transmembrane region (**b**); later, LEV is released during vesicle fusion (**c**)

#### 5 Is SV2A Protein a Better Target for New AEDs?

The identification of the SV2A as a therapeutic target for the anticonvulsant drug LEV opened a new and successful avenue for discovering new SV2A ligands with antiepileptic activity [49, 58]. The fact that SV2A mechanisms of action protect against different preclinical models of partial and generalized seizures suggests that SV2A is essential for neuronal synchronization associated with several types of epileptiform activity and may provide antiepileptic drug candidates with the potential for broad-spectrum clinical efficacy [58, 59].

Remarkably, recent evidence also shows that the actions of LEV may be modulated by neuronal activity [35, 56, 57, 61], by the pathophysiology of the nervous tissue [62-64] and by SV2A expression [17, 60]. Electrophysiological manipulation in hippocampal pyramidal neurons caused increases in neuronal activity and 64

in vesicular recycling, which were followed by a corresponding increase in the effects of LEV [56]. Additionally, although LEV can act on different cell populations, apparently their effects are limited to those terminals with high neuronal firing [61]. On this basis, it is suggested that LEV may preferably act on neurons that exhibit greater activity, such as glutamatergic terminals, under pathological conditions such as epilepsy [65] (Fig. 2).

With respect to the pathophysiology of nervous tissue, LEV seems to have little effect on healthy tissue compared with the epileptic brain [62, 63]. Intracellular slice recordings from the CA3 hippocampal region demonstrate that LEV does not influence normal glutamatergic and GABAergic transmission but decreases the epileptiform activity induced by the GABAA receptor antagonist bicuculline or the glutamate agonist NMDA (N-methyl-daspartate). This result is consistent with the previous in vivo studies that reported that LEV did not show an effect on GABAergic transmission in the normal brain [66]. In the same way, LEV did not appear to affect brain amino acid levels in healthy rats [67]; on the contrary, LEV significantly normalized some of the induced biochemical alterations in lithium-pilocarpine-treated rats [65, 68]. These results support the hypothesis that LEV could act only under pathophysiological conditions, such as in chronic models of epilepsy, where LEV has shown to have modulating effects on the levels of different neurotransmitters and excitability in diverse cell populations [65, 68-70].

In addition, these results might also explain the lack of LEV protection against seizures in the acute models of PTZ and acute maximal electroshock-induced seizure, which are traditionally used to evaluate the effectiveness of AEDs [71, 72]; it may also explain the markedly potent protection against seizures in chronic models such as mice kindled with corneal electroshocks and epilepsy models induced by pilocarpine and kainic acid [51,71–73]. Furthermore, the pharmacological actions of LEV may depend largely on morphological and functional changes resulting from the establishment of the chronic phase of epilepsy (i.e., constant hyperexcitability and a marked imbalance between the systems of excitation and inhibition) [74, 75].

Finally, another important aspect to consider with respect to the effectiveness of LEV is SV2A expression; although it is ubiquitously distributed in the CNS, the morphological changes of nerve tissue once it becomes epileptic may change SV2A pattern of expression. As mentioned above, SV2A appears to decrease; however, it is not known whether these decreases occur throughout the whole brain, only in some structures, or only in certain cell populations. Furthermore, protein expression is closely related to the response to treatment [45], and the data from SV2A heterozygous mice show a pro-epileptic phenotype and decreased protection against seizures [60]. Therefore, the up- or downregulation of protein levels may be associated with neuronal activity and efficacy of LEV in a directly proportional relationship.

Because SV2A is the primary target of LEV, its mechanism of action may involve effects on neurotransmitter release. The fact that SV2A is found in almost all synaptic CNS terminals suggests that LEV has the ability to act on all of these terminals; however, these effects can be selective, taking into consideration the basic aspects of epilepsy physiology (i.e., increased neuronal activity and morphological changes, including different expression levels of SV2A); therefore, the final effect of LEV would be finely conditioned by all of these aspects.

#### 6 Conclusions

SV2A is an essential synaptic vesicle membrane protein involved in the regulation of neurotransmitter release; it is widely distributed throughout the brain with a well-defined expression pattern. In epilepsy, SV2A expression is significantly decreased in both animal models and patients. Moreover, SV2A expression diminishes with disease progression. This decreased expression might explain the lack of response to LEV treatment in some epileptic patients. Thus, if it were possible to determine the SV2A levels in vivo (e.g., using PET), this could be a good predictor of treatment response and of the progression of neuronal damage, positioning SV2A as a potential biomarker.

Additionally, SV2A is a unique protein recognized as a pharmacological target of anticonvulsant drugs. Furthermore, this protein represents an important target for new drug discovery; such drugs may act depending on the morphological and functional changes associated with the chronic phase of epilepsy; thus, these drugs may directly affect the epileptic focus and have minimal effects on the surrounding non-epileptic tissue.

#### Acknowledgments

We are grateful to María Sara Navarrete Hernández and Mercedes Edna García Cruz for their administrative and technical assistance and to Dante Ayala Moreno for the preparation of the figures. This work was supported by CONACyT (SALUD-2012-01-180069), INP (111/2012) and IPN (SIP-20151159). E.M is CONACYT Research Fellow; A.P.M and I.J.C.G are recipients of a fellowship from the CONACyT; J.G.M.T and S.R.Z. acknowledge the National Research System of Mexico for membership.

#### 7 Appendix 1: Immunohistochemistry Protocol

**7.1** *Introduction* Immunohistochemistry (IHC) is a widely used histological technique that serves to determine the presence, location, and expression of biomarkers with antigenic capacity. For this, a specific antibody (Ab) is needed, which will bind to an antigen of interest and generate an antigen-Ab complex; the epitope (i.e., the region of an antigen that specifically binds an Ab) should be readily available for binding and generate an efficient interaction between antigen and Ab. The complex resulting from the immune reaction can be detected by enzymatic reactions [76, 77].

Overall, the main steps of IHC (with multiple steps) begin with the direct application of a monospecific primary Ab to the tissue section; then, a biotin-labeled secondary Ab is added [78]. Later, it is possible to apply an avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex to amplify the immunoreactivity (IR). Avidin is a glycoprotein that has high affinity for biotin and that has four biotin-binding sites; this allows for the formation of macromolecular complexes with biotinylated peroxidase and biotinylated secondary Ab, resulting in a high staining intensity [79]. Finally, chromogens are added to the sections and oxidized by peroxidase, leading to a color (brown or black) reaction [78] (Supplementary Fig. 1).

Depending on the target protein, immunoassays can be evaluated qualitatively or quantitatively; when the protein of interest is localized in cell soma and it is well defined, it is "easy" to be counted, and in this case, stereology methods can be a good option. Stereology utilizes systematic random sampling (SRS, a statistical sampling method) to unbiasedly select a representative sample of the region of interest [80, 81]. This technique can be applied to biological structures at all levels of the sampling hierarchy, beginning with a random selection of animals from the population and proceeding from high to low levels (i.e., slices, total region, each subregion of interest) [81]. The distribution pattern of the sampling sites is systematic (i.e., the distance from one sampling site to the next is constant) with a random component (see **note 1**) [80]. A sample taken in such a way allows for all units in the population to have the same probability of being sampled [82].

Nevertheless, when a protein of interest does not have a defined pattern, semiquantitative analysis is the best option. It is possible to accomplish this using densitometry, which is the quantitative measurement of optical density (OD) in light-sensitive materials, such as photographic images, due to their exposure to light [83]. Images captured through the light microscope from the IHC performed on the tissue can be processed to obtain semiquantitative data by OD as a result of the dark gradient of the images, and this can be expressed as the intensity of dark spots in a given area; usually it is a relative value expressed as OD units [83, 84].

There are several forms to quantify the IR of the proteins; however, because synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A) is located on the axon terminal and presents a dotted mark with sparse nuclear or cytoplasmic presence, its quantification is complicated. Even so, we propose that reliable semiquantitative data of SV2A IR can be obtained using a combination of SRS and OD analysis.

7.2 Materials Male Wistar rats (250–300 g of body weight, from Envigo Inc.) were used to evaluate SV2A IR in the hippocampus. Animals were kept in animal facilities of the Instituto Nacional de Pediatría and were maintained in controlled temperature conditions (22–24 °C) and with a light/dark cycle of 12:12 h. This protocol was approved by our Institutional Committee and conducted in accordance with the ethical principles and regulations specified in the internal guidelines of the Institution and in the Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals' of the Mexican Council for Animal Care (Norma Oficial Mexicana NOM-062-ZOO-1999).

7.2.2 Tissue Sample Animals were deeply anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (90 mg/kg). Subsequently, rats were perfused through the heart with saline solution (NaCl 0.9% in deionized water) and later with paraformaldehyde (PFA, 4%) in phosphate buffer (PB; 0.1 M, pH 7.4). Subsequently, rats were decapitated and their brains removed and postfixed at room temperature for 24 h in the same solution (PFA 4% in PB). After this time, brains were cryoprotected by immersion in buffered graded solutions of sucrose (20–30%) until they sank. Then, brains were frozen in 4-methylbutane prechilled with dry ice and stored at -80 °C until used. Subsequently, serial sagittal sections (40 µm thick) from entire hippocampus were cut using a cryostat and were collected in 24-well culture plates filled with PB [85].

7.2.3 Immuno-The IHC procedure was performed on free-floating sections conhistochemistry tinuously stirred at room temperature. Importantly, between each reaction, three washes were performed with PB (see note 2) for 15 min. The process was initiated by incubating the sections with hydrogen peroxide  $(3\% H_2O_2, Sigma; see note 3)$  diluted in PB for 10 min. After the washes, the tissue was incubated in fetal calf serum (FCS, 5% Gibco) diluted in PB for 1 h (see note 4). Without washing, the slices were incubated with primary SV2A Ab (1: 500; goat IgG; diluted in PB/FCS; Santa Cruz, sc-11936; see note 5) overnight. The next day, the sections were washed and incubated with horse anti-goat biotinylated secondary Ab (1: 500; Vector BA-9500; see note 6) diluted with PB/FCS for 2 h. Then, the slices were washed and incubated with avidin-biotinylated peroxidase (Vectastain ABC Elite Standard Kit, Vector PK-6100; see note 7) for 1 h. By the end of this period, the tissue was again washed, and the activity of peroxidase was revealed by using 3,

| 3'-diamino-chromogen benzidine (DAB, Vector SK-4100) for         |
|--|
| 5 min (see note 8). The reaction was stopped by washes with      |
| PB. Finally, the sections were mounted on gelatin-coated slides  |
| and cover slipped with Cytoseal (Richard-Allan Scientific) [85]. |

7.2.4 Quantification of SV2A Protein IR To obtain an estimate of the levels of SV2A protein, a semiautomatic stereological system (MBF Bioscience) equipped with a light microscope (Olympus BX51) and digital video camera (AxioCam MRC) was used. Also used were the *Stereo Investigator 11* program and the optical fractionator probe. One of every six sections was selected, and 11 subregions of the hippocampus were drawn. In each subregion, a systematic random procedure was carried out with a sampling grid of  $750 \times 500 \ \mu m$  (see note 9) to capture the images with a 20× objective. The OD analysis was performed using the NIH image J v1.43 m program [86] (see note 10); the values were expressed as OD units, and each value of OD was corrected using background subtraction [84].

**7.3 Results** Supplementary Fig. 2 illustrates the SV2A IR observed throughout all subfields of the hippocampus. SV2A staining pattern showed diffuse stains in all regions with the strongest IR present in the hilus, external molecular layer, and stratum lucidum (Supplementary Fig. 2a; stratum lucidum is not shown). As expected for SV2A, it was essentially absent in the neuronal soma of the pyramidal and granular cells (Supplementary Fig. 2b–d); however, the SV2A IR was observed surrounding their somata (Supplementary Fig. 2e, f) representing the axon terminals which contact them. The analysis of labeling intensity in the 12 regions of hippocampus showed less SV2A IR in laconosum molecular layer, in oriens and radiatum layers of CA1 field, and in granular layer showing a significant difference with SV2A IR of hilus, stratum lucidum, and external molecular layer (Supplementary Fig. 2g).

**7.4 Conclusions** As we mentioned above, it is possible to obtain a reliable semiquantitative data of SV2A IR using a combination of SRS and OD analysis. The main advantage of this methodology is that it allows obtaining data from the entire structure of interest and from all subregions required for analyze; this permits a more detailed study of the phenomenon under analysis.

**Note 1**: With SRS, the first subject-object (i.e., rats, slices, first point in the region or subregion) is sampled at random. Then, each successive object is sampled systematically. For example, suppose there are four experimental groups with five individuals each. Each of the individuals (a total of 20) is numbered, and a random number from 1 to 4 is chosen; if the first number is 3, then 4 numbers are added each time to obtain the first group, i.e., the individuals with the numbers 3, 7, 11, 15, and 19 will form the first group. For another example, if the striatum must be analyzed,

it is first recommended that the entire region be cut extensively  $(40-50 \ \mu\text{m})$ . All the slices have to be taken into account; if there are 140 slices and only 1 in 20 are to be analyzed, then a number from 1 to 20 is randomly selected. Supposing that the first number selected is 15, 20 is added to obtain 35, and again 20 is added each time, resulting in the analysis of slices with the assigned numbers 35, 55, 75, 95, 115, and 135.

**Note 2**: Usually, washes are performed with PB + Triton (PB; 0.1 M, pH 7.4; Triton-X100 0.3%; Sigma); however, to detect SV2A IR, Triton was omitted because it is a nonionic detergent that breaks or denatures the cell membrane. Because SV2A is an integral membrane protein, when phosphate buffer with Triton is added, many protein are lost, and, consequently, the immunostaining is decreased.

Note 3: The  $H_2O_2$  reduces or blocks the endogenous peroxidase activity present in the tissue, avoiding background and false positive.

**Note 4**: Blocking with serum from the same animal species in which the secondary Ab that was made will saturate the unspecific binding sites and thereby reduces background reactions in the tissue. Tissues after this step do not have to be washed.

Note 5: One should be especially careful with the choice of primary Ab because, depending on the sequence to which the antibodies bind (epitope), it is possible to ensure that the IR observed corresponds only to SV2A protein (not another SV2 isoform). There are different epitopes that can be detected by IHC for the SV2 proteins, e.g., the amino terminal and the large intraluminal loop. The first 46 amino acids of the amino terminal region of the SV2A are absent in the SV2B isoform; instead, the SV2C isoform shares 60% amino acid sequence homology. Therefore, an antibody that binds to amino terminal region is able to detect both SV2A and SV2B isoforms. However, the anatomical distribution of SV2 proteins should be useful to discriminate between these two isoforms. For instance, in the rat hippocampus, the main expression of SV2 protein corresponds to the SV2A isoform, followed by SV2B and with little or almost no expression of SV2C. Then, an antibody which binds to the amino terminal region of the SV2 protein would be a good choice for labeling SV2A in the hippocampal area.

**Note 6**: The secondary antibody should be made against the same species as the primary antibody and has to be obtained from a species that is different from the source of the primary antibody.

Note 7: For this, the avidin-biotinylated peroxidase complex must be incubated 30 min before its use. This complex binds to the biotinylated secondary antibody, allowing for the amplification of the IR, increasing the specificity and sensitivity of the signal at the site of antigen localization.

Note 8: To detect the peroxidase activity (from the avidinbiotin-peroxidase complex), three substances must be added:  $H_2O_2$ , DAB, and buffer. The buffer serves to stabilize the oxide reduction reactions. The peroxidase enzyme (Px) reacts with its specific substrate and forms a complex enzyme substrate (Px  $\cdot$  H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>). DAB is a donor substance that loses electrons when it interacts with the Px  $\cdot$  H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> complex, resulting in DAB oxidation and polymerization. This forms a brown precipitate, and because it is highly insoluble, it sticks to the site of the immunoreaction. Adding nickel darkens the DAB staining, resulting in a gray-blackish reaction product [87].

Note 9: In the *Stereo Investigator 11* program with the optical fractionator workflow, it is possible to draw and to sample all the subregions of interest. To do this, one must set up the information about an experimental subject and trace the regions of interest. After this step, the "SRS grid layout" must be defined; this grid helps the program to automatically select the sites to be sampled. The first site is selected at random (by the program); then, depending of the grid size, the rest of the sites are located with a uniform distance between sampling sites. It is recommended that at least three sites per section/subregion be sampled.

Note 10: Perform the following steps. (1) Open the image in the program: select the "File" menu, and click the "open" option; this opens a window to choose the saved image. Select the image and click "open." (2) Define the bits to display the image: click on the "Image" menu, and click the "type" and "8 bit" options. (3) Calibrate: click the "analyze" menu, choose the "calibrate" option, then click the "function: uncalibrated OD" and "unit: Gray value," and select "Global calibration, OK, list." (4) Analyze the image: select the "Analyze" menu, search and click the "tools" option, select "ROI manager," and draw a piece of the area of interest with the drawing tools. Once drawn, select "Add" to add each data for each area. To observe the data of the OD of each area selected, click on "measure"; this will cause a window to appear with a chart containing the OD of each region.

#### 8 Appendix 2: Synaptic Vesicle Protein 2A Molecular Dynamics Simulation

8.1 Introduction

Molecular dynamics simulation (MDS) is a technique that uses the classical physics equations to describe the atomic behavior of bio/ molecule(s) in a given condition. In fact, there are examples where MDS has demonstrated to be predictive, e.g., human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) integrase crystallographic structure was used to perform a MDS, and the results demonstrated that the protein exhibited a cryptic motif that was used to find specific organic molecules to inhibit it. Then, a molecule was found and subsequently approved by the US Food and Drug Administration to be used as inhibitor of this protein [88]. MDS is at present widely used in drug discovery [89, 90], thanks to the advances in computing power that

allows simulating bigger systems for longer time periods. It is also important to point out that algorithms for calculation are improving constantly. We advise the reader to find the mathematical and physiochemical fundament of MDS to know more about this technique, advantages, and limitations. References [90] and [91] can be a good starting point to discover more about MDS.

In more technical details, MDS treats all atoms as rigid spheres interacting between them by a set of numbers called force field (FF). FF has defined all atom types, bonds, angles, dihedrals, impropers, charges, and van der Waals values, for solving the classical movement equations and describing the trajectory of a molecule in a certain condition.

One of the most important things to start a simulation of a biomolecule is to be sure that the structure is complete and correct. It is extremely important to be certain about the geometry, atomic spatial disposition, and completeness of the molecule. When this annex was written, the Protein Data Bank (PDB), the most important repository to obtain crystallographic structures of biological systems, had 113,130 total structures. These structures include proteins, nucleic acids, and protein complexes, and not all of them are complete [92]. Since some systems show flexible motifs, X-ray crystallography is not sensitive enough for solving more flexible motifs, and many atomic models are not complete. Although nuclear magnetic resonance is a possible solution to know the structure of a biomolecule, it has a limitation: the size of the system. However, to solve the problem of uncompleted systems, there are some other bioinformatic tools that can help to model a complete system, such as homology modeling. It is possible to find homology modeling servers on the Internet to generate a complete model of a biomolecule. Iterative Threading ASSEmbly Refinement (I-TASSER) is one of the most used to predict the structure of a protein from its sequence [93, 94]. I-TASSER uses PDB structures and applies several threading algorithms to perform the structure prediction of a protein.

To carry out a MDS, it is necessary to have software to solve the classical motion equations. There are several freely accessible (under open source released under the GNU General Public License) such as GROMACS (GROningen Machine for Chemical Simulations) [95, 96] or NAMD (Nanoscale Molecular Dynamics) [97]; they are free of charge for noncommercial use by individuals and academic institutions. There are also commercial packages such as CHARMM (Chemistry at HARvard Molecular Mechanics) [98] or AMBER (Assisted Model Building with Energy Refinement) [99]. All packages are useful and include tools to set up, simulate, and analyze a system. NAMD uses VMD (Visual Molecular Dynamics) [100] to perform a setup graphically. AMBER has also a graphical interface. In contrast, GROMACS or CHARMM needs text files as inputs. Other differences are found, e.g., in the way of coupling pressure in

simulations at constant pressure and temperature. CHARMM and NAMD can perform more coupling schemes than AMBER. This annex does not pretend to be a summary of advantages for each program to perform MDS. We refer the reader to the original papers and manuals of each program for more information.

As mentioned above, FF is the set of parameters that describe the possible intra- and intermolecular interactions. Some FF are used to improve atomic description in different systems, e.g., Optimized Potentials for Liquid Simulations (OPLS) [101–103]. OPLS is an FF developed for liquids, being capable of reproducing properties such as vapor pressure, density, and heat of vaporization. OPLS is also a FF frequently used for proteins and lipids. We refer the reader to review the Ruso and Piñeiro's chapter [104], which contains useful information about MDS with membranes.

For starting a MDS, it is necessary to define a box called unit cell (where the biomolecule is introduced). The unit cell is the virtual flask where the system will be simulated and depends directly on the geometry and the nature of the molecule of interest. Periodic boundary conditions (PBC) are used in MDS to reproduce the behavior of a system in bulk. There are several unit cells that can fill the space for reproducing the bulk behavior as in an experiment. Some are cubic, orthorhombic, dodecahedron, or even hexagonal prism; cubic and dodecahedron unit cells can be used for globular proteins in solution; however, dodecahedron unit cell saves 30% of water molecules in comparison with cubic, which implies a faster simulation owing to the reduced quantity of particles in the system.

The trajectory is the sequence of conformations (frames) that the biomolecule visits in the simulation; in other words, it is the "movie" that shows how the atoms move in that condition. Much information can be obtained from a trajectory. Some properties to measure in function of time are:

- (a) *The radius of gyration* (Rg) which is the weighted scalar length of each atom from the center of mass of the global structure. It gives a rough measure for the compactness of a macromolecule.
- (b) Root-mean-square deviation (RMSD) which is a global measurement for the scalar atomic distance between two structures. It is typically employed to assess global protein structural changes.
- (c) *The root-mean-square fluctuations* (RMSF) of the atomic positions throughout the trajectory indicate what are the most flexible parts of the system.
- (d) The solvent accessible surface area (SAS) of a molecule is a measure of the area of the system that is exposed to the solvent.

- (e) Numbers of hydrogen bonds (HB), based on geometrical criteria, donor-acceptor distance cutoff <3.5 Å, and donor-Hacceptor angle <30°, are the most typical values for determining if a group of atoms form an HB.
- (f) Secondary structure, which can be calculated using the do\_ dssp program, is based on the geometrical criteria defined in the Dictionary of Secondary Structure of Proteins [105].

Other analyses are cluster analysis and principal component analysis (PCA). First, all frames can be clustered in function of RMSD to know what the most visited configuration in trajectory is. GROMACS has several clustering algorithms. GROMOS algorithm uses a cutoff for choosing the nearest neighbors and eliminates it from the pool of clusters [106]. Doing this iteratively with the rest of structures gives a set of average structure of each cluster. It is necessary to calculate the RMSD after fitting to define the distance between structures. The PCA determinates the predominant movements that a molecule takes in simulation. That helps to know if an atomic displacement is responsible for a determined function. It is possible to obtain the correlation matrix and diagonalize it to get the eigenvectors and eigenvalues. Eigenvectors are projected in structure to observe these atomic displacements. The less eigenvalues, the less global movements that describe the system; it means there are few atomic displacements that describe the behavior of the system. Please refer to the website [107] where there are very easy lecture of what PCA is.

Summarizing, there are several things necessary to implement a MDS: first, a complete system with biological sense, the FF that will describe the system correctly, and the program to perform the simulations and analyze them. Then, several analyses can be done to evaluate how the molecule evolves in simulation, measuring its properties in function of time. Next, we will develop and analyze an MDS of synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A).

8.2 Materials
and Methods
8.2.1 SV2A Modeling
For studying the SV2A, we started with protein primary sequence obtained under NP\_476558.2 code from the National Center of Biotechnology (NCBI) and UniProt (Q02563). Once with the correct sequence, it was send to I-TASSER server [93, 94] to obtain a model of SV2A protein. The model was confirmed and completed with other models predicted by independent algorithms; the CPHmodels-3.2 [108] and 3D-JIGSAWv3.0 [109] servers were used to confirm the reproducibility of the SV2A 3D model provided by I-TASSER.

8.2.2 SV2A Molecular Dynamics Simulations We chose GROMACS program to perform the SV2A simulation because it is a scriptable program, and we have developed many inhouse tools to perform the analysis of MDS trajectory. In Supplementary Fig. 3, the basic pipeline to carry out a MDS is described. The simulations were performed by applying the half- $\varepsilon$  double-pair list method [110] to ensure the compatibility of the Berger united-atom parameters used for the lipids with the OPLS-AA (all atom) FF [101–103] employed for the protein and ions.

Protein  $NH_2$ -terminus was carefully placed out the membrane, while the transmembrane (TM) helices were placed inside of it. The system was then solvated using simple point charge water molecule model. Upon removing the solvent molecules found in the hydrophobic region of the lipid bilayer, 19 Na<sup>+</sup> ions were added to neutralize the system. The simulation box contained one molecule of SV2A, 342 POPC (1-palmitoyl-2-oleoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphorylcholine) molecules, 47,671 waters, and 19 Na<sup>+</sup> ions, leading to a total of 172,298 atoms (Supplementary Fig. 4).

Firstly, a minimization for 500 steps using the steepest descent method prior the generation of MDS trajectories was made. Then, the solvent-protein and lipid-protein contacts were optimized by a 5 ns long simulation with harmonic constraints in the heavy atoms of the protein. The force constants of these positional restraints were sequentially reduced. Then, an unrestrained 50 ns long production trajectory was generated. All the simulations were performed using a time step of 2 fs. In all simulations, the pressure was controlled at 1 bar using a semi-isotropic Parrinello-Rahman barostat [111] to allow independent modifications of the box dimensions in the XY plane and in the Z-axis. The temperature was kept constant at 310 K by a Nosé-Hoover thermostat [112].

The LINCS (Linear Constraint Solver) algorithm [113] was employed to remove the bond vibrations. The particle mesh Ewald method [114] coupled to periodic boundary conditions was used to treat the long-range electrostatics using a direct space cutoff of 1.2 nm and a grid spacing of 0.15 nm. The van der Waals interactions were computed using PBC coupled to a spherical cutoff of 1.2 nm. A replicate of MDS was carried out in order to confirm the results of the first MDS, with the same initial configuration but with different initial velocities allowing to find the reproducibility in both simulations. All the MDS were done with the program GROMACS [8, 9] (version 4.6.1) [115].

**8.3 Results** In this section, we will focus on cluster analysis and PCA of two, original and replicate, SV2A MDS. Details of the Rg, RMSD, RMSF, SAS, and HB results have previously been reported [116].

8.3.1 SV2A Cluster
Analysis
Using a cutoff radius of 0.3 nm, the protein conformations observed throughout the original trajectory were distributed into ten different clusters (Supplementary Fig. 5). The most populated five clusters correspond to 95.61% of structures (51.73%, 21.34%, 8.84%, 7.50%, and 6.20%, respectively). The Cluster 1 is the most probable configuration that SV2A adopts in the membrane. The principal differences between clusters were, first, in the orientation

of extravesicular domain and, second, in the intravesicular NH<sub>2</sub>terminal domain, with a sequence of loops that can adopt several conformations. The most conserved part of the protein structure is the TM region.

8.3.2 SV2A Principal The variance-covariance matrix of atomic motions showed which atoms move together in a concerted way. We calculated the diagonalized covariance matrix for the  $\alpha$ -carbons of SV2A. Eigenvalues revealed that only 2–3 components were relevant for the two trajectories. The projection of the original trajectory on the two principal eigenvectors clearly indicates that the protein experiences a serious structural evolution during the first 16 ns of the trajectory. The protein structure seemed to reach a more stable structure in the last part of the trajectory.

The PCA results of the two independent simulations (T1 original and T2 replica) show that first eigenvector from T1 has significant projections on two first eigenvectors of T2. Thus, the movement along T1 is larger and also less specific. While the TM domain remains quite stable, the most mobile parts of the protein, i.e., the extramembranal domains, take different conformations along both trajectories (Supplementary Fig. 6). More specifically, the ATP-binding motif (in extravesicular loop of SV2A) shows a different conformation along both trajectories. The NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal displacement seems to conserve better its geometry in T2 than in T1. Besides, the extraluminal loop exhibits a larger displacement in T1 than in T2. The covariance matrix reveals that these three atomic displacements are anticorrelated with the TM region. Just a few residues, including some in the N-terminal domain, are correlated.

# **8.4 Conclusions** Using MDS technique allows studying complex systems such as explicit solvated TM proteins obtaining results in atomic detail. SV2A protein was inserted in a POPC membrane, solvated and simulated for 50 ns. Clusterization showed a principal average structure of the protein and PCA demonstrated stability in TM domains and some correlated movements between the extraand intravesicular motifs; additionally with those movements, the ATP-binding motif moves correlated with them. It is necessary to continue with this work extending the simulation; if there are some extra conformational changes, they will be seen in longer simulation time. Given the pharmacological importance of SV2A, knowing its conformation is essential to direct further experimental work to discover new potential anticonvulsant ligands.

Finally, we invite you to prove this technique in your own system. There are manuals and tutorials that will help you to set up and simulate your system. Try it on!

#### References

- Sudhof TC (1989) Synaptic vesicles. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1(4):655–659
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J et al (2002) Intracellular vesicular traffic. In: Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J (eds) Molecular biology of the cell, 4th edn. Garland Science, New York, NY, pp 749–812
- Nicholls JG, Martin A, Fuchs PA, Brown DA, Diamond ME, Weisblat DA (2012) Release of neurotransmitters. In: Nicholls JG, Martin AR, Fuchs PA, Brown DA, Diamond ME, Weisblat DA (eds) From neuron to brain, 5th edn. Sinauer Associates, Inc, Sunderland, MA, p 241, 264–271
- Zhang B, Ramaswami M (1999) Synaptic vesicle endocytosis and recycling. In: Bellen HJ (ed) Neurotransmitter release. Oxford University Press, Oxford, p 389
- Siegelbaum SA, Kandel ER, Südhof TC (2013) Transmitter release. In: Kandel ER, Schwartz JH, Jessell TM, Siegelbaum SA, Hudspeth AJ (eds) Principles of neural science, 5th edn. Mc Graw Hill, New York, NY, pp 275–287
- Sudhof TC (2014) The molecular machinery of neurotransmitter release (Nobel lecture). Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 53(47):12696– 12717. doi:10.1002/anie.201406359
- Richards DA, Guatimosim C, Betz WJ (2000) Two endocytic recycling routes selectively fill two vesicle pools in frog motor nerve terminals. Neuron 27(3):551–559
- Richards DA, Guatimosim C, Rizzoli SO, Betz WJ (2003) Synaptic vesicle pools at the frog neuromuscular junction. Neuron 39(3):529–541
- 9. Sudhof TC (2004) The synaptic vesicle cycle. AnnuRevNeurosci27:509–547.doi:10.1146/ annurev.neuro.26.041002.131412
- Buckley K, Kelly RB (1985) Identification of a transmembrane glycoprotein specific for secretory vesicles of neural and endocrine cells. J Cell Biol 100(4):1284–1294
- Bajjalieh SM, Peterson K, Linial M, Scheller RH (1993) Brain contains two forms of synaptic vesicle protein 2. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90(6):2150–2154
- Janz R, Sudhof TC (1999) SV2C is a synaptic vesicle protein with an unusually restricted localization: anatomy of a synaptic vesicle protein family. Neuroscience 94(4):1279–1290
- Bajjalieh SM, Peterson K, Shinghal R, Scheller RH (1992) SV2, a brain synaptic vesicle protein homologous to bacterial transporters. Science 257(5074):1271–1273

- Feany MB, Lee S, Edwards RH, Buckley KM (1992) The synaptic vesicle protein SV2 is a novel type of transmembrane transporter. Cell 70(5):861–867
- Mendoza-Torreblanca JG, Vanoye-Carlo A, Phillips-Farfan BV, Carmona-Aparicio L, Gomez-Lira G (2013) Synaptic vesicle protein 2A: basic facts and role in synaptic function. Eur J Neurosci 38(11):3529–3539. doi:10.1111/ejn.12360
- Bajjalieh SM, Frantz GD, Weimann JM, McConnell SK, Scheller RH (1994) Differential expression of synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) isoforms. J Neurosci 14(9):5223–5235
- 17. van Vliet EA, Aronica E, Redeker S, Boer K, Gorter JA (2009) Decreased expression of synaptic vesicle protein 2A, the binding site for levetiracetam, during epileptogenesis and chronic epilepsy. Epilepsia 50(3):422–433. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01727.x
- 18. Ohno Y, Ishihara S, Terada R, Kikuta M, Sofue N, Kawai Y, Serikawa T, Sasa M (2009) Preferential increase in the hippocampal synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A) by pentylenetetrazole kindling. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 390(3):415–420. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2009.09.035
- Bragina L, Fattorini G, Giovedi S, Melone M, Bosco F, Benfenati F, Conti F (2011) Analysis of synaptotagmin, SV2, and Rab3 expression in cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic axon terminals. Front Cell Neurosci 5:32. doi:10.3389/fncel.2011.00032
- 20. Gronborg M, Pavlos NJ, Brunk I, Chua JJ, Munster-Wandowski A, Riedel D, Ahnert-Hilger G, Urlaub H, Jahn R (2010) Quantitative comparison of glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic vesicles unveils selectivity for few proteins including MAL2, a novel synaptic vesicle protein. J Neurosci 30(1):2–12. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4074-09.2010
- Janz R, Goda Y, Geppert M, Missler M, Sudhof TC (1999) SV2A and SV2B function as redundant Ca2+ regulators in neurotransmitter release. Neuron 24(4):1003–1016
- 22. Nowack A, Yao J, Custer KL, Bajjalieh SM (2010) SV2 regulates neurotransmitter release via multiple mechanisms. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 299(5):C960–C967. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00259.2010
- Yao J, Nowack A, Kensel-Hammes P, Gardner RG, Bajjalieh SM (2010) Cotrafficking of SV2 and synaptotagmin at the synapse. J Neurosci 30(16):5569–5578. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.4781-09.2010

- Xu T, Bajjalieh SM (2001) SV2 modulates the size of the readily releasable pool of secretory vesicles. Nat Cell Biol 3(8):691–698. doi:10.1038/35087000
- 25. Gingrich JA, Andersen PH, Tiberi M, el Mestikawy S, Jorgensen PN, Fremeau RT Jr, Caron MG (1992) Identification, characterization, and molecular cloning of a novel transporter-like protein localized to the central nervous system. FEBS Lett 312(2-3):115–122
- 26. Shi J, Anderson D, Lynch BA, Castaigne JG, Foerch P, Lebon F (2011) Combining modelling and mutagenesis studies of synaptic vesicle protein 2A to identify a series of residues involved in racetam binding. Biochem Soc Trans 39(5):1341–1347. doi:10.1042/ bst0391341
- 27. Lynch BA, Matagne A, Brannstrom A, von Euler A, Jansson M, Hauzenberger E, Soderhall JA (2008) Visualization of SV2A conformations in situ by the use of protein tomography. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 375(4):491–495. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2008.07.145
- Madeo M, Kovacs AD, Pearce DA (2014) The human synaptic vesicle protein, SV2A, functions as a galactose transporter in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J Biol Chem 289(48):33066–33071. doi:10.1074/jbc. C114.584516
- 29. Crowder KM, Gunther JM, Jones TA, Hale BD, Zhang HZ, Peterson MR, Scheller RH, Chavkin C, Bajjalieh SM (1999) Abnormal neurotransmission in mice lacking synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96(26):15268–15273
- Custer KL, Austin NS, Sullivan JM, Bajjalieh SM (2006) Synaptic vesicle protein 2 enhances release probability at quiescent synapses. J Neurosci 26(4):1303–1313. doi:10.1523/ jneurosci.2699-05.2006
- Chang WP, Sudhof TC (2009) SV2 renders primed synaptic vesicles competent for Ca2+induced exocytosis. J Neurosci 29(4):883– 897. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.4521-08.2009
- 32. Venkatesan K, Alix P, Marquet A, Doupagne M, Niespodziany I, Rogister B, Seutin V (2012) Altered balance between excitatory and inhibitory inputs onto CA1 pyramidal neurons from SV2A-deficient but not SV2B-deficient mice. J Neurosci Res 90(12):2317–2327. doi:10.1002/jnr.23111
- 33. Wan QF, Zhou ZY, Thakur P, Vila A, Sherry DM, Janz R, Heidelberger R (2010) SV2 acts via presynaptic calcium to regulate neurotransmitter release. Neuron 66(6):884–895. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2010.05.010

- 34. Schivell AE, Mochida S, Kensel-Hammes P, Custer KL, Bajjalieh SM (2005) SV2A and SV2C contain a unique synaptotagminbinding site. Mol Cell Neurosci 29(1):56–64. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2004.12.011
- 35. Yang XF, Weisenfeld A, Rothman SM (2007) Prolonged exposure to levetiracetam reveals a presynaptic effect on neurotransmission. Epilepsia 48(10):1861–1869. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2006.01132.x
- 36. Sperk G, Furtinger S, Schwarzer C, Pirker S (2004) GABA and its receptors in epilepsy. Adv Exp Med Biol 548:92–103
- 37. Treiman DM, Walton NY, Kendrick C (1990) A progressive sequence of electroencephalographic changes during generalized convulsive status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res 5(1):49–60
- 38. de Groot M, Toering ST, Boer K, Spliet WG, Heimans JJ, Aronica E, Reijneveld JC (2010) Expression of synaptic vesicle protein 2A in epilepsy-associated brain tumors and in the peritumoral cortex. Neuro Oncol 12(3):265– 273. doi:10.1093/neuonc/nop028
- 39. Nowack A, Malarkey EB, Yao J, Bleckert A, Hill J, Bajjalieh SM (2011) Levetiracetam reverses synaptic deficits produced by overexpression of SV2A. PLoS One 6(12):e29560. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0029560
- 40. Hanaya R, Hosoyama H, Sugata S, Tokudome M, Hirano H, Tokimura H, Kurisu K, Serikawa T, Sasa M, Arita K (2012) Low distribution of synaptic vesicle protein 2A and synaptotagimin-1 in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus of spontaneously epileptic rats exhibiting both tonic convulsion and absence seizure. Neuroscience 221:12–20. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2012.06.058
- 41. Toering ST, Boer K, de Groot M, Troost D, Heimans JJ, Spliet WG, van Rijen PC, Jansen FE, Gorter JA, Reijneveld JC, Aronica E (2009) Expression patterns of synaptic vesicle protein 2A in focal cortical dysplasia and TSCcortical tubers. Epilepsia 50(6):1409–1418. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01955.x
- 42. Feng G, Xiao F, Lu Y, Huang Z, Yuan J, Xiao Z, Xi Z, Wang X (2009) Down-regulation synaptic vesicle protein 2A in the anterior temporal neocortex of patients with intractable epilepsy. J Mol Neurosci 39(3):354–359. doi:10.1007/s12031-009-9288-2
- 43. Crevecoeur J, Kaminski RM, Rogister B, Foerch P, Vandenplas C, Neveux M, Mazzuferi M, Kroonen J, Poulet C, Martin D, Sadzot B, Rikir E, Klitgaard H, Moonen G, Deprez M (2014) Expression pattern of synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) isoforms in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy and hippocampal sclerosis. Neuropathol Appl

77

Neurobiol 40(2):191–204. doi:10.1111/ nan.12054

- 44. Wang L, Shi J, Wu G, Zhou F, Hong Z (2014) Hippocampal low-frequency stimulation increased SV2A expression and inhibited the seizure degree in pharmacoresistant amygdala-kindling epileptic rats. Epilepsy Res 108(9):1483–1491. doi:10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2014.07.005
- 45. de Groot M, Aronica E, Heimans JJ, Reijneveld JC (2011) Synaptic vesicle protein 2A predicts response to levetiracetam in patients with glioma. Neurology 77(6):532–539. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e318228c110
- 46. Noyer M, Gillard M, Matagne A, Henichart JP, Wulfert E (1995) The novel antiepileptic drug levetiracetam (ucb L059) appears to act via a specific binding site in CNS membranes. Eur J Pharmacol 286(2):137–146
- 47. Fuks B, Gillard M, Michel P, Lynch B, Vertongen P, Leprince P, Klitgaard H, Chatelain P (2003) Localization and photoaffinity labelling of the levetiracetam binding site in rat brain and certain cell lines. Eur J Pharmacol 478(1):11–19
- 48. Gillard M, Fuks B, Michel P, Vertongen P, Massingham R, Chatelain P (2003) Binding characteristics of [3H]ucb 30889 to levetiracetam binding sites in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 478(1):1–9
- 49. Lynch BA, Lambeng N, Nocka K, Kensel-Hammes P, Bajjalieh SM, Matagne A, Fuks B (2004) The synaptic vesicle protein SV2A is the binding site for the antiepileptic drug levetiracetam. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101(26):9861–9866. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0308208101
- 50. Gillard M, Fuks B, Leclercq K, Matagne A (2011) Binding characteristics of brivaracetam, a selective, high affinity SV2A ligand in rat, mouse and human brain: relationship to anti-convulsant properties. Eur J Pharmacol 664(1-3):36–44. doi:10.1016/j. ejphar.2011.04.064
- 51. De Smedt T, Raedt R, Vonck K, Boon P (2007) Levetiracetam: the profile of a novel anticonvulsant drug-part I: preclinical data. CNS Drug Rev 13(1):43–56. doi:10.1111/j.1527-3458.2007.00004.x
- 52. Lyseng-Williamson KA (2011) Levetiracetam: a review of its use in epilepsy. Drugs 71(4):489–514. doi:10.2165/11204490-00000000-00000
- 53. Swaroop HS, Ananya C, Nithin K, Jayashankar CA, Satish Babu HV, Srinivas BN (2013) Levetiracetam: a review of its use in the treatment of epilepsy. Int J Med Biomed Res 2(3):166–172

- 54. Correa-Basurto J, Cuevas-Hernandez RI, Phillips-Farfan BV, Martinez-Archundia M, Romo-MancillasA, Ramirez-Salinas GL, Perez-Gonzalez OA, Trujillo-Ferrara J, Mendoza-Torreblanca JG (2015) Identification of the antiepileptic racetam binding site in the synaptic vesicle protein 2A by molecular dynamics and docking simulations. Front Cell Neurosci 9:125. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00125
- 55. Lee J, Daniels V, Sands ZA, Lebon F, Shi J, Biggin PC (2015) Exploring the interaction of SV2A with racetams using homology modelling, molecular dynamics and site-directed mutagenesis. PLoS One 10(2):e0116589. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0116589
- 56. Meehan AL, Yang X, McAdams BD, Yuan L, Rothman SM (2011) A new mechanism for antiepileptic drug action: vesicular entry may mediate the effects of levetirace-tam. J Neurophysiol 106(3):1227–1239. doi:10.1152/jn.00279.2011
- 57. Meehan AL, Yang X, Yuan LL, Rothman SM (2012) Levetiracetam has an activity-dependent effect on inhibitory transmission. Epilepsia 53(3):469–476. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03392.x
- 58. Kaminski RM, Gillard M, Klitgaard H (2012) Targeting SV2A for discovery of antiepileptic drugs. In: Noebels JL, Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Olsen RW, Delgado-Escueta AV (eds) Jasper's basic mechanisms of the epilepsies, 4th edn. National Center for Biotechnology Information, Bethesda, MD
- 59. Kaminski RM, Matagne A, Leclercq K, Gillard M, Michel P, Kenda B, Talaga P, Klitgaard H (2008) SV2A protein is a broad-spectrum anticonvulsant target: functional correlation between protein binding and seizure protection in models of both partial and generalized epilepsy. Neuropharmacology 54(4):715–720. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2007.11.021
- 60. Kaminski RM, Matagne A, Patsalos PN, Klitgaard H (2009) Benefit of combination therapy in epilepsy: a review of the preclinical evidence with levetiracetam. Epilepsia 50(3):387–397. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01713.x
- 61. Levesque M, Behr C, Avoli M (2015) The anti-ictogenic effects of levetiracetam are mirrored by interictal spiking and high-frequency oscillation changes in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Seizure 25:18–25. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2014.11.008
- 62. Birnstiel S, Wulfert E, Beck SG (1997) Levetiracetam (ucb LO59) affects in vitro models of epilepsy in CA3 pyramidal neurons without altering normal synaptic transmission.

Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 356(5):611–618

- 63. Klitgaard H (2001) Levetiracetam: the preclinical profile of a new class of antiepileptic drugs? Epilepsia 42(Suppl 4):13–18
- 64. Sanchez PE, Zhu L, Verret L, Vossel KA, Orr AG, Cirrito JR, Devidze N, Ho K, Yu GQ, Palop JJ, Mucke L (2012) Levetiracetam suppresses neuronal network dysfunction and reverses synaptic and cognitive deficits in an Alzheimer's disease model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(42):E2895–E2903. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1121081109
- 65. Klitgaard H, Matagne A, Grimee R, Vanneste-Goemaere J, Margineanu DG (2003) Electrophysiological, neurochemical and regional effects of levetiracetam in the rat pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Seizure 12(2):92–100
- 66. Margineanu DG, Klitgaard H (2003) Levetiracetam has no significant gammaaminobutyric acid-related effect on pairedpulse interaction in the dentate gyrus of rats. Eur J Pharmacol 466(3):255–261
- 67. Tong X, Patsalos PN (2001) A microdialysis study of the novel antiepileptic drug levetiracetam: extracellular pharmacokinetics and effect on taurine in rat brain. Br J Pharmacol 133(6):867–874. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704141
- Al-Shorbagy MY, El Sayeh BM, Abdallah DM (2013) Additional antiepileptic mechanisms of levetiracetam in lithium-pilocarpine treated rats. PLoS One 8(10):e76735. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0076735
- 69. Margineanu DG, Matagne A, Kaminski RM, Klitgaard H (2008) Effects of chronic treatment with levetiracetam on hippocampal field responses after pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in rats. Brain Res Bull 77(5):282–285. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2008.07.006
- 70. Rigo JM, Hans G, Nguyen L, Rocher V, Belachew S, Malgrange B, Leprince P, Moonen G, Selak I, Matagne A, Klitgaard H (2002) The anti-epileptic drug levetiracetam reverses the inhibition by negative allosteric modulators of neuronal GABA- and glycinegated currents. Br J Pharmacol 136(5):659– 672. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0704766
- Glien M, Brandt C, Potschka H, Loscher W (2002) Effects of the novel antiepileptic drug levetiracetam on spontaneous recurrent seizures in the rat pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 43(4):350–357
- 72. Klitgaard H, Matagne A, Gobert J, Wulfert E (1998) Evidence for a unique profile of levetiracetam in rodent models of seizures and epilepsy. Eur J Pharmacol 353(2-3):191–206

- 73. Surges R, Volynski KE, Walker MC (2008) Is levetiracetam different from other antiepileptic drugs? Levetiracetam and its cellular mechanism of action in epilepsy revisited. Ther Adv Neurol Disord 1(1):13–24. doi:10.1177/1756285608094212
- 74. Stafstrom CE (2010) Pathophysiological mechanisms of seizures and epilepsy: a primer. In: Rho JM, Sankar R, Stafstrom CE (eds) Epilepsy: mechanisms, models, and translational perspectives. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 3–17
- 75. Sloviter RS (2008) Hippocampal epileptogenesis in animal models of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis: the importance of the "latent period" and other concepts. Epilepsia 49(Suppl 9):85–92. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2008.01931.x
- 76. Taylor CR, Shan-Rong S, Barr NJ (2001) Techniques of immunohistochemistry: principles, pitfalls, and standardization. In: Dabbs DJ (ed) Diagnostic immunohistochemistry, 3rd edn. Saunders Elsevier, Philadelphia, PA
- Koivunen ME, Krogsrud R (2006) Principles of immunochemical techniques used in clinical laboratories. Labmedicine 37(8):490–497
- 78. Schacht V, Kern J (2015) Basics of immunohistochemistry. Soc Investig Dermatol 135:1–4
- 79. Hsu SM, Raine L, Fanger H (1981) A comparative study of the peroxidaseantiperoxidase method and an avidin-biotin complex method for studying polypeptide hormones with radioimmunoassay antibodies. Am J Clin Pathol 75(5):734–738
- Bioscience M (2015) http://www.mbfbioscience.com/help/sil1/Content/SI\_ SPECIFIC/Foundations/srs.htm
- Mouton PR (2002) Sampling. In: Mouton PR (ed) Principles and practices of unbiased stereology: an introduction for bioscientists. Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD, pp 29–49
- Howard CV, Reed MG (2005) Random sampling and random geometry. In: Howard CV, Reed MG (eds) Unbiased stereology, 2nd edn. Garland Science/BIOS Scientific, New York, NY, pp 17–30
- 83. Campeau F (2014) Occupational standards: relationships and communication. In: Campeau F, Fleitz J (eds) Limited radiography, 3rd edn. Cengage Learning, Clifton Park, NY, Facts 101 textbook key facts, Cram101 texbook Reviews
- 84. Gomez-Lira G, Mendoza-Torreblanca JG, Granados-Rojas L (2011) Ketogenic diet does not change NKCC1 and KCC2 expression in rat hippocampus. Epilepsy Res 96(1-2):166– 171. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2011.05.017

- 85. Mendoza-Torreblanca JG, Martínez-Martínez E, Tapia-Rodriguez M, Ramirez-Hernandez R, Gutierrez-Ospina G (2008) The rostral migratory stream is a neurogenic niche that predominantly engenders periglomerular cells: *in vivo* evidence in the adult rat brain. Neurosci Res 60(3):289–299. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2007.11.013
- 86. Hartig SM (2013) Basic image analysis and manipulation in ImageJ. Current protocols in molecular biology/edited by Frederick M Ausubel [et al] Chapter 14:Unit14.15. doi:10.1002/0471142727.mb1415s102
- Escovar G, Hanssen H, Uribe Botero H (1982) Técnicas de inmuno-peroxidasa en la detección de marcadores tumorales y antigenos virales. Biomedica 2(3):140–155
- Schames JR, Henchman RH, Siegel JS, Sotriffer CA, Ni H, McCammon JA (2004) Discovery of a novel binding trench in HIV integrase. J Med Chem 47:1879–1881
- Durrant JD, McCammon JA (2011) Molecular dynamics simulations and drug discovery. BMC Biol 9:71
- Borhani DW, Shaw DE (2012) The future of molecular dynamics simulations in drug discovery. J Comput Aided Mol Des 26:15–26
- 91. Rapaport DC (2004) The art of molecular dynamics simulation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- 92. http://www.rcsb.org/pdb/statistics/holdings.do
- 93. Roy A, Kucukural A, Zhang Y (2010) I-TASSER: a unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction. Nat Protoc 5:725–738
- 94. Yang J, Yan R, Roy A, Xu D, Poisson J, Zhang Y (2015) The I-TASSER suite: protein structure and function prediction. Nat Methods 12:7–8
- 95. Berendsen HJC, van der Spoel D, van Drunen R (1995) GROMACS: a message-passing parallel molecular dynamics implementation. Comput Phys Commun 91:43–56
- Lindahl E, Hess B, van der Spoel D (2001) GROMACS 3.0: a package for molecular simulation and trajectory analysis. J Mol Model 7:306–317
- 97. Phillips JC, Braun R, Wang W, Gumbart J, Tajkhorshid E, Villa E, Chipot C, Skeel RD, Kale L, Schulten K (2005) Scalable molecular dynamics with NAMD. J Comput Chem 26:1781–1802
- 98. Brooks BR, Brooks CL III, Mackerell AD, Nilsson L, Petrella RJ, Roux B, Won Y, Archontis G, Bartels C, Boresch S, Caflisch A, Caves L, Cui Q, Dinner AR, Feig M, Fischer

S, Gao J, Hodoscek M, Im W, Kuczera K, Lazaridis T, Ma J, Ovchinnikov V, Paci E, Pastor RW, Post CB, Pu JZ, Schaefer M, Tidor B, Venable RM, Woodcock HL, Wu X, Yang W, York DM, Karplus M (2009) CHARMM: the biomolecular simulation program. J Comput Chem 30:1545–1615

- 99. Case DA, Berryman JT, Betz RM, Cerutti DS, Cheatham TE III, Darden TA, Duke RE, Giese TJ, Gohlke H, Goetz AW, Homeyer N, Izadi S, Janowski P, Kaus J, Kovalenko A, Lee TS, LeGrand S, Li P, Luchko T, Luo R, Madej B, Merz KM, Monard G, Needham P, Nguyen H, Nguyen HT, Omelyan I, Onufriev A, Roe DR, Roitberg A, Salomon-Ferrer R, Simmerling CL, Smith WW, Swails J, Walker RC, Wang J, Wolf RM, Wu X, York DM, Kollman PA (2015) AMBER 2015. University of California, San Francisco, CA
- 100. Humphrey W, Dalke A, Schulten K (1996) VMD - visual molecular dynamics. J Mol Graph 14:33–38
- 101. Jorgensen WL, Tirado-Rives J (1988) The OPLS force field for proteins: energy minimizations for crystals of cyclic peptides and crambin. J Am Chem Soc 110:1657–1666
- 102. Jorgensen WL, Maxwell DS, Tirado-Rives J (1996) Development and testing of the OPLS all-atom force field on conformational energetics and properties of organic liquids. J Am Chem Soc 118:11225–11236
- 103. Kaminski G, Friesner RA, Tirado-Rives J, Jorgensen WL (2001) Evaluation and reparametrization of the OPLS-AA force field for proteins via comparison with accurate quantum chemical calculations on peptides. J Phys Chem B 105:6474–6487
- 104. Ruso JM, Piñeiro A (2013) Proteins in solution and at interfaces: methods and applications in biotechnology and material science. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY
- 105. Kabsch W, Sander C (1983) Dictionary of protein secondary structure: pattern recognition of hydrogen-bonded and geometrical features. Biopolymers 22:2577–2637
- 106. Daura X, Gademann K, Jaun B, Seebach D, van Gunsteren WF, Mark AE (1999) Peptide folding: when simulation meet experiment. Angew Chem Int Ed 38:236–240
- 107. https://georgemdallas.wordpress. com/2013/10/30/principal-componentanalysis-4-dummies-eigenvectorseigenvalues-and-dimension-reduction/
- 108. Nielsen M, Lundegaard C, Lund O, Petersen TN (2010) CPHmodels-3.0 - remote homology modeling using structure guided sequence profiles. Nucleic Acids Res 38(Suppl 2):W576–W581

- 109. Offman MN, Fitzjohn PW, Bates PA (2006) Developing a move-set for protein model refinement. Bioinformatics 22:1838–1845
- 110. Chakrabarti N, Neale C, Payandeh J, Pai EF, Pomes R (2010) An iris-like mechanism of pore dilation in the CorA magnesium transport system. Biophys J 98:784–792. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2009.11.009
- Parrinello M, Rahman A (1981) Polymorphic transitions in single crystals: a new molecular dynamics method. J Appl Phys 52:7182– 7190. doi:10.1063/1.328693
- 112. Nosé S (1984) A molecular dynamics method for simulations in the canonical ensemble. Mol Phys 52:255–256
- 113. Hess B, Bekker H, Berendsen HJC, Fraaije JGEM (1997) LINCS: a linear constraint

solver for molecular simulations. J Comput Chem 18:1463–1472

- 114. Darden T, York D, Pedersen L (1993) Particle mesh Ewald: an N-log(N) method for Ewald sums in large systems. J Chem Phys 98:10089–10092. doi:10.1063/1.464397
- 115. Hess B, Kutzner C, Van Der Spoel D, Lindahl E (2008) GROMACS 4: algorithms for highly efficient, load-balanced, and scalable molecular simulation. J Chem Theor Comput 4:435–447. doi:10.1021/ct700301q
- 116. Correa J, Cuevas RI, Phillips BV, Martinez M, Romo A, Ramirez GL, Perez OA, Trujillo J, Mendoza JG (2015) Identification of the antiepileptic racetam binding site in the synaptic vesicle protein 2A by molecular dynamics and docking simulations. Front Cell Neurosci 9:125. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00125

# **Chapter 5**

## **Do Cannabinoids Represent a Good Therapeutic Strategy** for Epilepsy?

### Cecilia Zavala-Tecuapetla and Luisa Rocha

#### Abstract

The medical use of cannabinoids has been proposed for the control of epilepsy. At present, several studies have focused on investigating how cannabinoids can regulate the expression of epileptic seizures as well as the epileptogenesis process. Some of them suggest that cannabinoids may represent a therapeutic approach for different types of epilepsy. However, experimental evidence indicates that the effects of cannabinoids depend on several experimental and pathological conditions. In this chapter, we provide an overview of these preclinical and clinical research.

Key words Endocannabinoid system, Anandamide (AEA), 2-Arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG),  $\Delta$ 9-Tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\Delta$ 9-THC), Cannabidiol (CBD), CB1/CB2 receptors, Seizures, Epilepsy

#### 1 Introduction

During centuries cannabis plants have been used for both medicinal and recreational uses as described in Chinese, Indian, and Arab pharmacopeias [1]. Presently, the medical use of *Cannabis* extracts has been approved in some European countries [2].

Cannabis plants present a mixture of chemical constituents, the C<sub>21</sub> terpenophenolic compounds also called phytocannabinoids. Detailed chemical analysis has allowed the identification of about 70 molecular species of these phytocannabinoids [3] whose amounts depend on each plant and environmental conditions [4, 5]. The most important phytocannabinoids are the psychoactive  $\Delta 9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\Delta 9$ -THC) and the non-psychoactive cannabidiol (CBD). CBD was isolated in 1940, and its structure was elucidated in 1963 [6, 7]. The  $\Delta 9$ -THC was isolated by Yechiel Gaoni and Raphael Mechoulam [8] and was shown to account for the psychotropic effects of cannabis preparations in rhesus monkeys [9]. During the late 1980s, it was found that  $\Delta 9$ -THC exerts its effects through the activation of two G-protein-coupled receptors: cannabinoid type 1 (CB1) and cannabinoid type 2 (CB2)

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_5, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

receptors [10, 11]. Thereafter, the endocannabinoids (eCBs) anandamide and 2-arachidonoylglycerol were identified as the endogenous ligands of CB1 and CB2 receptors [12–14].

A growing body of evidence supports that the eCB system is involved in several functions of the brain and that *Cannabis* and phytocannabinoids represent pharmacological strategies to induce neuroprotection and control of disorders such as epilepsy, migraine, and pain [15]. In the case of epilepsy, experimental evidence indicates a key role for eCB system in the modulation of neuronal excitability. The present review focuses on providing a better understanding of how and when pharmacological interventions with cannabinoids or phytocannabinoids may control epilepsy.

#### 2 The Endocannabinoid System

The eCB system has a crucial role in different brain functions including cerebral development, cognition, learning, memory, motor behavior, appetite regulation, temperature regulation, and pain [16]. Experimental evidence indicates that the role of eCB in the regulation of physiological responses depends on the gender [17]. The eCB system consists of cannabinoid receptors, their endogenous lipid ligands (eCBs), and the enzymatic machinery for their biosynthesis, cellular uptake, release, and degradation [18].

2.1 Endocan-The first eCBs identified in the central nervous system (CNS) [19, 20] were the hydrophobic ligands N-arachidonoyl ethanolamide nabinoids (anandamide, AEA) [12] and 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) [13, 14]. The synthesis of these eCBs depends on specific enzymes using membrane phospholipids as precursors. The N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-hydrolyzing phospholipase D (NAPE-PLD) is the enzyme responsible for the synthesis of AEA and other *N*-acylethanolamines [21], whereas different diacylglycerol lipases (DAGLs) are involved in the synthesis of 2-AG [22]. The effects mediated by eCBs are limited by their fast catabolism. The enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) catabolizes AEA [23]. Monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) and serine hydrolase  $\alpha/\beta$ -hydrolase domain 6 (ABHD) induce degradation of 2-AG in the brain [24-26]. Carrier-mediated transport systems are involved in clearing eCBs from the extracellular space [27–29], and their subsequent enzymatic degradation can proceed through either hydrolysis or oxidation [24, 30, 31].

Unlike other neuromodulators and traditional vesicular neurotransmitters, eCBs are believed to be synthesized "on demand" by changes in neural activity [32]. The synthesis of eCBs in post-synaptic neurons can be triggered by the increase in intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration subsequent to depolarization and activation of voltage-gated  $Ca^{2+}$  channels [33–37] and the activation of certain

 $G\alpha q/11$  protein-coupled receptors [38–40]. Other studies suggest that intracellular storage organelles might accumulate presynthesized eCBs [41, 42].

**2.2 Endocannabinoid** CB1 and CB2 receptors belong to the large superfamily of heptahelical G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCR) and couple to Gi/Go proteins. The CB2 receptor is predominately expressed in the immune system [43] and has very limited expression in the CNS. By contrast, the CB1 receptors are highly expressed at presynaptic levels in the brain, and its activation is implicated in inhibition of the synaptic neurotransmission [44–47]. Concerning this notion, it is known that the activation of presynaptic CB1 receptors reduces the release of neurotransmitters like glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) [48] as a consequence of the inhibition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels and activation of K<sup>+</sup> channels [49–54], a situation that may modify the neuronal excitability [55].

Activation of CB1 receptors promotes its interaction with Go proteins, resulting in guanosine diphosphate/guanosine triphosphate exchange and subsequent dissociation of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta\gamma$  subunits with a consequent reduction of adenylate cyclase and cyclic adenosine monophosphate production [56]; inhibition N-, P/Q-, and L-type voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels [20, 46, 57, 58]; stimulation of A type K<sup>+</sup> channels [44, 59, 60], activation of G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying K<sup>+</sup> channels [61, 62]; and inhibition of the vesicular release machinery [63].

While the CB1 receptor is responsible for the vast majority of the currently known effects of cannabinoids and eCBs in the CNS, it is worth noting that additional cannabinoid receptors may exist. The cannabinoid-sensitive receptor G-protein-coupled receptor 55 (GPR55), identified as a novel cannabinoid receptor that couples to  $G\alpha 13$  protein [64], is activated by some phytocannabinoids such as  $\Delta$ 9-THC. In the brain, GPR55 is present in the caudate, putamen, hippocampus, thalamus, pons, cerebellum, frontal cortex, and thalamus [64]. In human embryonic kidney cells, the activation of GPR55 triggers the release of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> from endoplasmic reticulum stores via a pathway dependent on Ras homolog gene family member A (RhoA), phospholipase C, and inositol 1,4.5-trisphosphate receptor [65]. The increases of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> levels that result from the activation of GPR55 by L-a-lysophosphatidylinositol (LPI, an endogenous agonist) augment the probability of vesicular release of glutamate at excitatory hippocampal synapses [66, 67]. These results support a relevant role of GPR55 in cerebral excitability.

#### 3 Phytocannabinoids

CBD and  $\Delta 9$ -THC represent the most important phytocannabinoids contained in the *Cannabis* plants [3].  $\Delta 9$ -THC is a partial agonist of CB1 receptors that induces most of the behavioral, cognitive, and psychotropic effects of *Cannabis*. The mechanisms by which  $\Delta 9$ -THC induces these effects also involve the activation and desensitization of the transient receptor potential (TRP) channels of ankyrin type 1 (TRPA1) and vanilloids type 1 (TRPV1) and type 2 (TRPV2) [68–70].

CBD is considered a "multitarget" drug because of its interaction with many other non-eCB signaling systems. It acts as an agonist of TRPV1, TRPV2, and TRPA1 [68, 70–72], 5-hydroxytryptamine1 $\alpha$  receptors [73], and glycine receptors [74]. CBD acts as an antagonist of TRP melastatin type-8 channels [69], T-type voltage-gated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels [75], and GPR55 receptors [76]. Also, it exerts dynamic control over intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> stores [77, 78] and inhibits the uptake and enzymatic degradation of AEA via FAAH [79].

CBD may potentiate some effects induced by  $\Delta 9$ -THC such as analgesia, antiemesis, and anti-inflammation, but it also reduces  $\Delta 9$ -THC-induced psychoactive effects (impaired working memory, sedation, tachycardia, and paranoia) [80–82]. Cannabis products with a high content of CBD induce greater tolerability and lower incidence of psychosis when compared with those with high content of  $\Delta 9$ -THC [83].

#### 4 Effects of Cannabinoids on Seizure Activity and Epilepsy

Several studies indicate that eCBs and cannabinoids play an important role in epilepsy. Here, we summarize evidence from preclinical and clinical studies focused on clarifying this situation.

Concerning experimental models of acute seizure activity, it is described that the i.c.v. administration of arachidonyl-2chloroethylamide (ACEA, a CB1 receptor agonist) decreases the frequency of penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats, an effect blocked by AM-251 (a CB1 receptor antagonist) [84]. Compounds like  $\Delta$ 9-THC, WIN55,212-2, CBD, and AEA and their analog O-1812 induce anticonvulsant effects in the maximal electroshock seizure model [85, 86]. In in vitro models, the activation of CB1 receptors with agonists (methanandamide, 2-AG, AEA, or WIN 55,212-2) reduces the epileptiform activity induced by low or omission of Mg<sup>2+</sup> and high K<sup>+</sup> [87–89]. The cannabinoid agonist HU210 reduces the epileptiform synchronization in hippocampus induced by kainic acid administration, an effect avoided with the pretreatment with rimonabant, a CB1 receptor antagonist [90]. This group of evidence reveals that cannabinoids may modify both focal and generalized seizures blocking neuronal hypersynchronization associated with epileptic activity.

Studies reveal the participation of cannabinoids in the expression of seizure activity and the epileptogenesis process.  $\Delta 9$ -THC and the cannabinoid agonist WIN55,212 abolish spontaneous epileptic seizures subsequent to pilocarpine-induced SE. Conversely, the administration of the CB1 receptor antagonist SR141716A increases both seizure duration and frequency [91]. The administration of WIN 55,212-2 during 15 days after pilocarpine-induced SE reduces the severity, duration, and frequency of spontaneous recurrent seizures, an effect associated with the preservation of GABAergic neurons, as well as absence of changes in the oxidative stress and expression of NMDA receptor subunits [92]. In the kindling model, the activation of CB1 receptors has been proposed to delay the acquisition of generalized seizures, whereas the inhibition of the enzymatic degradation of AEA did not affect the epileptogenesis process but reduces the neurogenesis associated to it [93]. All these findings support the idea that activation of CB1 receptors can suppress recurrent excitation during epileptogenesis.

Studies indicate that the activation of CB1 receptors can augment or reduce the seizure termination and duration, a situation that depends on the neuronal subpopulation [94]. CB1 receptors are also expressed in astrocytes [95, 96], and their activation is involved in the maintenance of epileptiform discharge [97].

eCBs may interact with other neurotransmitters and neuromodulators. Using the pentylenetetrazol-induced clonic seizure model, it was found that opioids are able to modulate the anticonvulsant effects of cannabinoids [98, 99]. In glutamatergic neurons, activation of CB1 receptors reduces the excitatory neurotransmission and the susceptibility to seizure activity [94, 100]. In experimental models of temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE), the activation of CB1 receptors with agonists (WIN 55,212-2, AEA, or 2-AG) decreases the epileptiform activity, the EPSCs evoked by glutamate, and the excitatory events evoked after antidromic electrical stimulation of mossy fibers in hilus [101].

Several experiments have focused on determining the role of eCB system on seizure activity by enhancing the availability of eCBs. Inhibition of AEA hydrolysis with URB-597, a FAAH inhibitor, results in anticonvulsive effects in the PTZ-induced seizures [102]. The inhibition of the 2-AG hydrolysis using WWL123 (an antagonist of ABHD6) reduces spontaneous seizures in R6/2 mice (a genetic model of juvenile Huntington's disease seizures) and PTZ-induced tonic-clonic convulsions [103]. Also, the increased levels of 2-AG that result of inhibition of degrading enzyme MAGL have been associated with a delay in the development of the kindling process [104]. The reduced metabolism of eCBs induced by the combination of AM404 (inhibitor of endocannabinoid reuptake) and URB597 (inhibitor of FAAH) results in decreased kainic acid-induced SE in guinea pigs [105]. These studies indicate that the blockage of specific enzymes can represent a new strategy to augment the anticonvulsant effects of eCBs.

In WAG/Rij rats, a genetic animal model of absence seizures, the administration of AEA or WIN55,212-2 (CB1 receptor agonists) reduces the seizure activity, while rimonabant (a CB1 receptor antagonist) increases it [106]. These results suggest that attenuated eCB function may contribute to the generation and maintenance of absence seizures.

#### 5 eCBs and CB1 Receptors in Experimental Models of Seizure Activity and Epilepsy

Several studies indicate that seizure activity and epilepsy modify the eCB system and CB1 receptors. Concerning this issue, it is known that pilocarpine-induced SE increases 2-AG and CB1 receptor expression in hippocampus [91]. Acute seizures induced by kainic acid produce a rapid augmentation of AEA synthesis in the hippocampus and activation of CB1 receptors [107]. Studies indicate that seizure-induced changes in eCBs are age specific. Kainic acidinduced seizures in young rats augment the tissue content of AEA and their biosynthetic enzyme (NAPE-PLD) in the hippocampus, while adult rats present elevated tissue content of 2-AG and its biosynthetic enzyme DAGL [108]. Kindling-induced seizures augment CB1 receptor density in the pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampus [94]. Similar findings have been reported for different mouse models of epilepsy [109, 110]. In contrast, other studies indicate a low expression of CB1 receptors in certain neuronal subpopulation [111, 112]. These contradictory results can be explained by the different epilepsy models used and the period of evaluation after induction of seizures.

Upregulation of CB1 receptors in hippocampus is detected in mice with TLE subsequent to pilocarpine-induced SE [101]. Using the same experimental model of TLE in rats, it was found that spontaneous recurrent seizures are associated with a redistribution of CB1 receptors and changes in expression, binding, and G-protein activation in hippocampus [113]. This situation might depend on the time course of the SE-induced epileptogenesis process [111]. This group of evidence leads to suggest that the redistribution of CB1 receptors is associated with the cerebral plasticity involved in the epileptogenesis process.

#### 6 eCBs and CB1 Receptors in Patients with Epilepsy

In dogs with idiopathic epilepsy, high concentrations of AEA were found in the cerebrospinal fluid, a situation that correlates with the severity of seizures and duration of the disease [114]. This study suggests an important activation of the cannabinoid systems as result of seizure activity. However, the low levels of AEA detected in the cerebrospinal fluid of drug-naïve patients with TLE do not support this hypothesis [115].

Positron emission tomography (PET) imaging revealed increased availability of CB1 receptors in the ipsilateral temporal lobe of patients with TLE, a situation that was more evident in those subjects evaluated within short term after the last seizure and presenting higher number of seizures. These patients also show a decreased availability of CB1 receptors in the ipsilateral superior insular cortex, a condition that may restrict the seizure propagation [116]. However, it is important to consider that in vivo studies using PET imaging cannot avoid the presence of endogenous ligands and the enhanced availability of CB1 receptors can be associated with an increase in their number or affinity, or it is a consequence of low extracellular levels of eCBs.

The evaluation of hippocampal tissue obtained from patients with refractory TLE indicates a reduced expression of cannabinoid receptor-interacting protein-1a (CRIP1a) mRNA and the metabolic enzymes DGAL-a (enzyme involved in the synthesis of 2-AG). There is also a decrease in the mRNA and protein expression of CB1 receptors, mainly at glutamatergic axons, but not in GABAergic boutons, in the dentate gyrus [117]. Considering that CB1 receptors reduce the excitatory neurotransmission in glutamatergic neurons [94, 100], their lower expression at glutamatergic axons can facilitate the excitatory neurotransmission in the epileptic hippocampus. In contrast, CB1 receptors are preserved in dentate gyrus and CA1 region of patients with TLE, suggesting increased expression of these receptors in the GABAergic sprouting axons [118]. These results indicate that the disruption of the inhibitory effects of eCB system on GABAergic transmission in hippocampus of patients with TLE may facilitate the seizure activity.

Concerning TRPV1, studies revealed no significant changes in their expression in hippocampus of animals submitted to repetitive seizures [94]. However, patients with pharmacoresistant temporal lobe epilepsy show increased TRPV1 expression in the hippocampus [119]. Considering that cannabinoids may act as agonists of TRPV1, TRPV2, and TRPA1 [68, 70–72], the activation of these receptors by eCBs may contribute to the modulation of synaptic plasticity in human epileptic hippocampus.

#### 7 The Phytocannabinoids and Epilepsy

There are new well-documented cases reporting remarkably strong beneficial effects of cannabinoids on seizure activity. This situation has triggered an upsurge in exploiting medical marijuana in patients with refractory epilepsy.

CBD is the major constituent of marijuana; it lacks psychoactive side effects and does not act as a CB1 receptor agonist. CBD induces anticonvulsant effects in the seizure activity induced by maximal electroshock test, pentylenetetrazol, pilocarpine-induced temporal lobe seizures, and penicillin [120-123]. However, CBD does not modify the seizure activity induced by cortical administration of cobalt [124]. In kindled rats, CBD reduces the seizure susceptibility and reduces the afterdischarge amplitude, duration, and propagation [125]. Clinical studies also support the anticonvulsant effect of CBD [126]. On the other hand, results obtained from in vitro and in vivo models indicate that cannabidivarin and  $\Delta 9$ -tetrahydrocannabivarin represent the two most important phytocannabinoids with therapeutic potential as anticonvulsant agents [127–131]. At present it is evident that CBD and other phytocannabinoids exert their antiseizure effects at CB1 receptors and other pharmacological targets [128].

In patients with Dravet syndrome, in which epilepsy is usually refractory to standard antiepileptic drugs, medical marijuana with a high CBD/ $\Delta$ 9-THC ratio has been successful to reduce the seizure activity [132]. CBD reduces the seizure frequency in patients with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, who experience multiple refractory seizures everyday in spite of antiepileptic drugs [133]. Epidiolex (GW Pharmaceuticals), a new phytocannabinoid obtained from Cannabis extracts that contains about 98% of CBD and 2% of other cannabinoids, is now approved as a drug to be evaluated in pediatric patients with Dravet and Lennox-Gastaut syndromes [134]. However, proper controlled clinical trials are necessary to establish efficacy and safety of these phytocannabinoids in patients with epilepsy. In addition, future studies have to explore the cellular mechanisms and the signaling pathways involved in the anticonvulsant effects of CBD and other phytocannabinoids.

# 8 Is the Administration of Cannabinoids a Good Option to Control Epilepsy in Humans?

It is clear that epilepsy modifies the eCB system (e.g., CB1 receptors). However, as many other neuromodulatory systems, the activation of CB1 receptors can augment or reduce the seizure termination and duration, a situation that depends on the neuronal subpopulation and the experimental model used. Concerning this issue, cannabinoids may induce excitatory effects if CB1 receptors are overexpressed in GABAergic neurons. In contrast, the overexpression of these receptors in glutamatergic neurons can produce inhibitory effects. Therefore, the findings obtained from the evaluation of CB1 receptors in patients with epilepsy using PET or in in vitro conditions have to include a clear identification of the cells in which those changes are produced. In addition, it is relevant to demonstrate that CB1 receptors are functionally active. This situation will help in the clarification of the mechanisms that underlie the anticonvulsant effects of cannabis and cannabinoids in different types of human epilepsy. It will also facilitate the establishment of compounds with therapeutic efficacy to reduce the seizure activity.

Although the results obtained from experimental models are relevant to understand the role of eCBs in epilepsy, they do not reproduce totally the pathological conditions of the human epilepsy. Therefore, the analysis of cerebral tissue obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy and submitted to epilepsy surgery is essential to clarify if cannabinoids represent a good therapeutic strategy for epilepsy.

#### References

- 1. Abel EL (1980) Marihuana: the first twelve thousand years. Plenum, New York
- Kmietowicz Z (2010) Cannabis based drug is licensed for spasticity in patients with MS. BMJ 340:c3363
- Elsohly MA, Slade D (2005) Chemical constituents of marijuana: the complex mixture of natural cannabinoids. Life Sci 78:539–548
- Mechoulam R, Hanus L (2000) A historical overview of chemical research on cannabinoids. Chem Phys Lipids 108:1–13
- 5. Pertwee RG (2008) The diverse CB1 and CB2 receptor pharmacology of three plant cannabinoids: delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol, cannabidiol and delta9-tetrahydrocannabivarin. Br J Pharmacol 153:199–215
- Adams R, Pease DC, Clark JH (1940) Isolation of cannabinol, cannabidiol, and quebrachitol from red oil of Minnesota wild hemp. J Am Chem Soc 62:2194–2196
- Michoulam R, Shvo Y, Hashish I (1963) The structure of cannabidiol. Tetrahedron 19: 2073–2078
- Gaoni Y, Mechoulam R (1964) Isolation, structure and partial synthesis of an active constituent of hashish. J Am Chem Soc 86:1646–1647
- 9. Mechoulam R, Shani A, Edery H et al (1970) Chemical basis of hashish activity. Science 169:611–612
- Devane WA, Dysarz FA, Johnson MR et al (1988) Determination and characterization of a cannabinoid receptor in rat brain. Mol Pharmacol 34:605–613
- 11. Matsuda LA, Lolait SJ, Brownstein MJ et al (1990) Structure of a cannabinoid receptor

and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. Nature 346:561–564

- Devane WA, Hanus L, Breuer A et al (1992) Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science 258:1946–1949
- Mechoulam R, Ben-Shabat S, Hanus L et al (1995) Identification of an endogenous 2-monoglyceride, present in canine gut, that binds to cannabinoid receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 50:83–90
- Sugiura T, Kondo S, Sukagawa A et al (1995)
   2-Arachidonoylglycerol: a possible endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand in brain. Biochem Biophys Commun 215:89–97
- Benbadis SR, Sanchez-Ramos J, Bozorg A et al (2014) Medical marijuana in neurology. Expert Rev Neurother 14(12):1453–1465
- Mechoulam R, Parker LA (2013) The endocannabinoid system and the brain. Annu Rev Psychol 64:21–47
- Tabatadze N, Huang G, May RM et al (2015) Sex differences in molecular signaling at inhibitory synapses in the hippocampus. J Neurosci 35(32):11252–11265
- Pertwee RG, Howlett AC, Abood ME et al (2010) International union of basic and clinical pharmacology. LXXIX. Cannabinoid receptors and their ligands: beyond CB1 and CB2. Pharmacol Rev 62:588–631
- Kreitzer AC, Regehr WG (2001) Retrograde inhibition of presynaptic calcium influx by endogenous cannabinoids at excitatory synapses onto Purkinje cells. Neuron 29:717–727
- 20. Wilson RI, Kunos G, Nicoll RA (2001) Presynaptic specificity of endocannabinoid

signaling in the hippocampus. Neuron 31: 453-462

- Okamoto Y, Morishita J, Tsuboi K et al (2004) Molecular characterization of a phospholipase D generating anandamide and its congeners. J Biol Chem 279:5298–5305
- 22. Bisogno T, Howell F, Williams G et al (2003) Cloning of the first sn1-DAG lipases points to the spatial and temporal regulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. J Cell Biol 163:463–468
- 23. McKinney MK, Cravatt BF (2005) Structure and function of fatty acid amide hydrolase. Annu Rev Biochem 74:411–432
- 24. Dinh TP, Carpenter D, Leslie FM et al (2002) Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:10819–10824
- 25. Blankman JL, Simon GM, Cravatt BF (2007) A comprehensive profile of brain enzymes that hydrolyze the endocannabinoid 2-arachidonoylglycerol. Chem Biol 14:1347–1356
- 26. Marrs WR, Blankman JL, Horne EA et al (2010) The serine hydrolase ABHD6 controls the accumulation and efficacy of 2-AG at cannabinoid receptors. Nat Neurosci 13: 951–957
- 27. Di Marzo V, Fontana A, Cadas H et al (1994) Formation and inactivation of endogenous cannabinoid anandamide in central neurons. Nature 372:686–691
- Hillard CJ, Edgemond WS, Jarrahian A, Campbell WB (1997) Accumulation of N-arachidonoylethanolamine (anandamide) into cerebellar granule cells occurs via facilitated diffusion. J Neurochem 69:631–638
- 29. Piomelli D, Beltramo M, Glasnapp S et al (1999) Structural determinants for recognition and translocation by the anandamide transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96: 5802–5807
- 30. Deutsch DG, Ueda N, Yamamoto S (2002) The fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH). Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 66:201–210
- Yates ML, Barker EL (2009) Inactivation and biotransformation of the endogenous cannabinoids anandamide and 2-arachidonoylglycerol. Mol Pharmacol 76:11–17
- 32. Di Marzo V, Deutsch DG (1998) Biochemistry of the endogenous ligands of cannabinoid receptors. Neurobiol Dis 5:386–404
- 33. Ohno-Shosaku T, Maejima T, Kano M (2001) Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signals from depolarized postsynaptic neurons to presynaptic terminals. Neuron 29(3):729–738

- Wilson RI, Nicoll RA (2001) Endogenous cannabinoids mediate retrograde signalling at hippocampal synapses. Nature 410:588–592
- Wallmichrath I, Szabo B (2002) Cannabinoids inhibit striatonigral GABAergic neurotransmission in the mouse. Neuroscience 113: 671–682
- 36. Kim J, Alger BE (2004) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 potentiates retrograde endocannabinoid effects in hippocampus. Nat Neurosci 7:697–698
- 37. Szabo B, Urbanski MJ, Bisogno T et al (2006) Depolarization-induced retrograde synaptic inhibition in the mouse cerebellar cortex is mediated by 2-arachidonoylglycerol. J Physiol (Lond) 577:263–280
- Maejima T, Hashimoto K, Yoshida T et al (2001) Presynaptic inhibition caused by retrograde signal from metabotropic glutamate to cannabinoid receptors. Neuron 31: 463–475
- 39. Galante M, Diana MA (2004) Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors inhibit GABA release at interneuron–Purkinje cell synapses through endocannabinoid production. J Neurosci 24:4865–4874
- Straiker A, Mackie K (2007) Metabotropic suppression of excitation in murine autaptic hippocampal neurons. J Physiol (Lond) 578:773–785
- 41. Maccarrone M, Dainese E, Oddi S (2010) Intracellular trafficking of anandamide: new concepts for signaling. Trends Biochem Sci 35:601–608
- 42. Min R, Di Marzo V, Mansvelder HD (2010) DAG lipase involvement in depolarization induced suppression of inhibition: does endocannabinoid biosynthesis always meet the demand? Neuroscientist 16:608–613
- 43. Berdyshev EV (2000) Cannabinoid receptors and the regulation of immune response. Chem Phys Lipids 108:169–190
- 44. Hampson RE, Evans GJ, Mu J (1995) Role of cyclic AMP dependent protein kinase in cannabinoid receptor modulation of potassium "A-current" in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Life Sci 56:2081–2088
- 45. Mackie K, Lai Y, Westenbroek R et al (1995) Cannabinoids activate an inwardly rectifying potassium conductance and inhibit Q-type calcium currents in Att20 cells transfected with rat-brain cannabinoid receptor. J Neurosci 15:6552–6561
- 46. Twitchell W, Brown S, Mackie K (1997) Cannabinoids inhibit N- and P/Q-type calcium channels in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 78:43–50

- 47. Schweitzer P (2000) Cannabinoids decrease the K(+) M-current in hippocampal CA1 neurons. J Neurosci 20:51–58
- Wilson RI, Nicoll RA (2002) Endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. Science 296(5568): 678–682
- 49. Huang CC, Lo SW, Hsu KS (2001) Presynaptic mechanisms underlying cannabinoid inhibition of excitatory synaptic transmission in rat striatal neurons. J Physiol 532: 731–748
- 50. Robbe D, Alonso G, Duchamp F et al (2001) Localization and mechanisms of action of cannabinoid receptors at the glutamatergic synapses of the mouse nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci 21:109–116
- 51. Azad SC, Eder M, Marsicano G et al (2003) Activation of the cannabinoid receptor type 1 decreases glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic transmission in the lateral amygdala of the mouse. Learn Mem 10:116–128
- 52. Brown SP, Safo PK, Regehr WG (2004) Endocannabinoids inhibit transmission at granule cell to Purkinje cell synapses by modulating three types of presynaptic calcium channels. J Neurosci 24:5623–5631
- Lovinger DM (2008) Presynaptic modulation by endocannabinoids. Handb Exp Pharmacol 184:435–477
- 54. Li Y, Krogh KA, Thayer SA (2012) Epileptic stimulus increases Homer 1a expression to modulate endocannabinoid signaling in cultured hippocampal neurons. Neuropharmacology 63:1140–1149
- 55. Katona I, Freund TF (2012) Multiple functions of endocannabinoid signaling in the brain. Annu Rev Neurosci 35:529–558
- 56. Glass M, Felder CC (1997) Concurrent stimulation of cannabinoid CB1 and dopamine D2 receptors augments cAMP accumulation in striatal neurons: evidence for a Gs linkage to the CB1 receptor. J Neurosci 17: 5327–5333
- 57. Mackie K, Hille B (1992) Cannabinoids inhibit N-type calcium channels in neuroblastoma-glioma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:3825–3829
- 58. Szabo GG, Lenkey N, Holderith N et al (2014) Presynaptic calcium channel inhibition underlies CB(1) cannabinoid receptormediated suppression of GABA release. J Neurosci 34:7958–7963
- 59. Deadwyler SA, Hampson RE, Mu J et al (1995) Cannabinoids modulate voltage sensitive potassium A-current in hippocampal neurons via a cAMP dependent process. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 273:734–743

- 60. Mu J, Zhuang SY, Hampson RE et al (2000) Protein kinase-dependent phosphorylation and cannabinoid receptor modulation of potassium A current (IA) in cultured rat hippocampal neurons. Pflugers Arch 439: 541–546
- Henry DJ, Chavkin C (1995) Activation of inwardly rectifying potassium channels (GIRK1) by co-expressed rat brain cannabinoid receptors in Xenopus oocytes. Neurosci Lett 186:91–94
- 62. McAllister SD, Griffin G, Satin LS et al (1999) Cannabinoid receptors can activate and inhibit G protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels in a xenopus oocyte expression system. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 291:618–626
- 63. Photowala H, Blackmer T, Schwartz E et al (2006) G protein beta gamma-subunits activated by serotonin mediate presynaptic inhibition by regulating vesicle fusion properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:4281–4286
- 64. Ryberg E, Larsson N, Sjögren S et al (2007) The orphan receptor GPR55 is a novel cannabinoid receptor. Br J Pharmacol 152: 1092–1101
- 65. Lauckner JE, Jensen JB, Chen HY et al (2008) GPR55 is a cannabinoid receptor that increases intracellular calcium and inhibits M current. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105: 2699–2704
- 66. Oka S, Nakajima K, Yamashita A et al (2007) Identification of GPR55 as a lysophosphatidylinositol receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 362:928–934
- 67. Sylantyev S, Jensen TP, Ross RA et al (2013) Cannabinoid- and lysophosphatidylinositolsensitive receptor GPR55 boosts neurotransmitter release at central synapses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:5193–5198
- 68. Qin N, Neeper MP, Liu Y et al (2008) TRPV2 is activated by cannabidiol and mediates CGRP release in cultured rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. J Neurosci 28:6231–6238
- 69. De Petrocellis L, Vellani V, Schiano-Moriello A et al (2008) Plant-derived cannabinoids modulate the activity of transient receptor potential channels of ankyrin type-1 and melastatin type-8. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 325:1007–1015
- 70. De Petrocellis L, Ligresti A, Moriello AS et al (2011) Effects of cannabinoids and cannabinoid enriched Cannabis extracts on TRP channel s and endocannabinoid metabolic enzymes. Br J Pharmacol 163:1479–1494
- 71. Thomas BF, Gilliam AF, Burch DF et al (1998) Comparative receptor binding analyses

of cannabinoid agonists and antagonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 285:285–292

- 72. Bisogno T, Hanus L, De Petrocellis L et al (2001) Molecular targets for cannabidiol and its synthetic analogues: effect on vanilloid VR1 receptors and on the cellular uptake and enzymatic hydrolysis of anandamide. Br J Pharmacol 134:845–852
- 73. Russo EB, Burnett A, Hall B et al (2005) Agonistic properties of cannabidiol at 5-HT1a receptors. Neurochem Res 30:1037–1043
- 74. Ahrens J, Demir R, Leuwer M et al (2009) The nonpsychotropic cannabinoid cannabidiol modulates and directly activates alpha-1 and alpha-1-Beta glycine receptor function. Pharmacology 83:217–222
- Ross HR, Napier I, Connor M (2008) Inhibition of recombinant human T-type calcium channels by Delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol. J Biol Chem 283: 16124–16134
- Ross RA (2009) The enigmatic pharmacology of GPR55. Trends Pharmacol Sci 30: 156–163
- 77. Drysdale AJ, Ryan D, Pertwee RG et al (2006) Cannabidiol-induced intracellular Ca2+ elevations in hippocampal cells. Neuropharmacology 50:621–631
- Ryan D, Drysdale AJ, Lafourcade C et al (2009) Cannabidiol targets mitochondria to regulate intracellular Ca2+ levels. J Neurosci 29:2053–2063
- 79. De Petrocellis L, Di Marzo V (2010) Non-CB1, non-CB2 receptors for endocannabinoids, plant cannabinoids, and synthetic cannabimimetics: focus on G-protein-coupled receptors and transient receptor potential channels. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5: 103–121
- Karniol IG, Carlini EA (1973) Pharmacological interaction between cannabidiol and delta9-tetrahydrocannabinol. Psychopharmacologia 33:53–70
- Russo E, Guy GW (2006) A tale of two cannabinoids: the therapeutic rationale for combining tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol. Med Hypotheses 66:234–246
- Englund A, Morrison PD, Nottage J et al (2013) Cannabidiol inhibits THC-elicited paranoid symptoms and hippocampaldependent memory impairment. J Psychopharmacol 27:19–27
- 83. Schubart CD, Sommer IE, van Gastel WA et al (2011) Cannabis with high cannabidiol content is associated with fewer psychotic experiences. Schizophr Res 130:216–221

- 84. Kozan R, Ayyildiz M, Agar E (2009) The effects of intracerebroventricular AM-251, a CB1-receptor antagonist, and ACEA, a CB1receptor agonist, on penicillin-induced epileptiform activity in rats. Epilepsia 50(7): 1760–1767
- 85. Wallace MJ, Wiley JL, Martin BR et al (2001) Assessment of the role of CB1 receptors in cannabinoid anticonvulsant effects. Eur J Pharmacol 428:51–57
- 86. Wallace MJ, Martin BR, DeLorenzo RJ (2002) Evidence for a physiological role of endocannabinoids in the modulation of seizure threshold and severity. Eur J Pharmacol 452:295–301
- 87. Ameri A, Wilhelm A, Simmet T (1999) Effects of the endogeneous cannabinoid, anandamide, on neuronal activity in rat hippocampal slices. Br J Pharmacol 126(8): 1831–1839
- Ameri A, Simmet T (2000) Effects of 2-arachidonylglycerol, an endogenous cannabinoid, on neuronal activity in rat hippocampal slices. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 361(3):265–272
- Deshpande LS, Blair RE, Ziobro JM et al (2007) Endocannabinoids block status epilepticus in cultured hippocampal neurons. Eur J Pharmacol 558:52–59
- 90. Mason R, Cheer JF (2009) Cannabinoid receptor activation reverses kainate-induced synchronized population burst firing in rat hippocampus. Front Int Neurosci 3:1–6
- 91. Wallace MJ, Blair RE, Falenski KW et al (2003) The endogenous cannabinoid system regulates seizure frequency and duration in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 307:129–137
- 92. Di Maio R, Cannon JR, Greenamyre JT (2015) Post-status epilepticus treatment with the cannabinoid agonist WIN 55,212-2 prevents chronic epileptic hippocampal damage in rats. Neurobiol Dis 73:356–365
- 93. Wendt H, Soerensen J, Wotjak CT et al (2011) Targeting the endocannabinoid system in the amygdala kindling model of temporal lobe epilepsy in mice. Epilepsia 52(7):e62–e65
- 94. von Rüden EL, Jafari M, Bogdanovic RM et al (2015) Analysis in conditional cannabinoid 1 receptor-knockout mice reveals neuronal subpopulation-specific effects on epileptogenesis in the kindling paradigm. Neurobiol Dis 73:334–347
- 95. Navarrete M, Araque A (2008) Endocannabinoids mediate neuron-astrocyte communication. Neuron 57:883–893

- Navarrete M, Araque A (2010) Endocannabinoids potentiate synaptic transmission through stimulation of astrocytes. Neuron 68:113–126
- 97. Coiret G, Ster J, Grewe B et al (2012) Neuron to astrocyte communication via cannabinoid receptors is necessary for sustained epileptiform activity in rat hippocampus. PLoS One 7(5):e37320
- 98. Shafaroodi H, Samini M, Moezi L et al (2004) The interaction of cannabinoids and opioids on pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure threshold in mice. Neuropharmacology 47: 390–400
- 99. Bahremand A, Shafaroodi H, Ghasemi M et al (2008) The cannabinoid anticonvulsant effect on pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure is potentiated by ultra-low dose naltrexone in mice. Epilepsy Res 81:44–51
- 100. Monory K, Massa F, Egertová M et al (2006) The endocannabinoid system controls key epileptogenic circuits in the hippocampus. Neuron 51(4):455–466
- 101. Bhaskaran MD, Smith BN (2010) Cannabinoid mediated inhibition of recurrent excitatory circuitry in the dentate gyrus in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. PLoS One 5:e10683
- 102. Vilela LR, Medeiros DC, Rezende GH et al (2013) Effects of cannabinoids and endocannabinoid hydrolysis inhibition on pentylenetetrazole-induced seizure and electroencephalographic activity in rats. Epilepsy Res 104(3):195–202
- 103. Naydenov AV, Horne EA, Cheah CS et al (2014) ABHD6 blockade exerts antiepileptic activity in PTZ-induced seizures and in spontaneous seizures in R6/2 mice. Neuron 83(2):361–371
- 104. von Rüden EL, Bogdanovic RM, Wotjak CT et al (2015) Inhibition of monoacylglycerol lipase mediates a cannabinoid 1-receptor dependent delay of kindling progression in mice. Neurobiol Dis 77:238–245
- 105. Shubina L, Aliev R, Kitchigina V (2015) Attenuation of kainic acid-induced status epilepticus by inhibition of endocannabinoid transport and degradation in guinea pigs. Epilepsy Res 111:33–44
- 106. Citraro R, Russo E, Ngomba RT et al (2013) CB1 agonists, locally applied to the corticothalamic circuit of rats with genetic absence epilepsy, reduce epileptic manifestations. Epilepsy Res 106(1-2):74–82
- 107. Marsicano G, Goodenough S, Monory K et al (2003) CB1 cannabinoid receptors and

on-demand defense against excitotoxicity. Science 302:84–88

- 108. Fezza F, Marrone MC, Avvisati R et al (2014) Distinct modulation of the endocannabinoid system upon kainic acid-induced in vivo seizures and in vitro epileptiform bursting. Mol Cell Neurosci 62:1–9
- 109. Karlócai MR, Tóth K, Watanabe M et al (2011) Redistribution of CB1 cannabinoid receptors in the acute and chronic phases of pilocarpine-induced epilepsy. PLoS One 6(11):e27196
- 110. Bojnik E, Turunç E, Armağan G et al (2012) Changes in the cannabinoid (CB1) receptor expression level and G-protein activation in kainic acid induced seizures. Epilepsy Res 99(1-2):64-68
- 111. Falenski KW, Carter DS, Harrison AJ et al (2009) Temporal characterization of changes in hippocampal cannabinoid CB(1) receptor expression following pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Brain Res 1262:64–72
- 112. Wyeth MS, Zhang N, Mody I et al (2010) Selective reduction of cholecystokininpositive basket cell innervation in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 30(26): 8993–9006
- 113. Falenski KW, Blair RE, Sim-Selley LJ et al (2007) Status epilepticus causes a long-lasting redistribution of hippocampal cannabinoid type 1 receptor expression and function in the rat pilocarpine model of acquired epilepsy. Neuroscience 146(3):1232–1244
- 114. Gesell FK, Zoerner AA, Brauer C et al (2013) Alterations of endocannabinoids in cerebrospinal fluid of dogs with epileptic seizure disorder. BMC Vet Res 9:262
- 115. Romigi A, Bari M, Placidi F et al (2010) Cerebrospinal fluid levels of the endocannabinoid anandamide are reduced in patients with untreated newly diagnosed temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 51:768–772
- 116. Goffin K, Van Paesschen W, Van Laere K (2011) In vivo activation of endocannabinoid system in temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. Brain 134(Pt 4):1033–1040
- 117. Ludányi A, Eross L, Czirják S et al (2008) Downregulation of the CB1 cannabinoid receptor and related molecular elements of the endocannabinoid system in epileptic human hippocampus. J Neurosci 28: 2976–2990
- 118. Maglóczky Z, Tóth K, Karlócai R et al (2010) Dynamic changes of CB1-receptor expression in hippocampi of epileptic mice and humans. Epilepsia 51(Suppl 3):115–120

- 119. Sun FJ, Guo W, Zheng DH et al (2013) Increased expression of TRPV1 in the cortex and hippocampus from patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. J Mol Neurosci 49(1):182–193
- 120. Izquierdo I, Tannhauser M (1973) Letter: the effect of cannabidiol on maximal electroshock seizures in rats. J Pharm Pharmacol 25:916–917
- 121. Karler R, Turkanis SA (1978) Cannabis and epilepsy. Adv Biosci 22–23:619–641
- 122. Jones NA, Hill AJ, Smith I et al (2010) Cannabidiol displays anti-epileptiform and anti-seizure properties in vitro and in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 332:569–577
- 123. Jones NA, Glyn SE, Akiyama S et al (2012) Cannabidiol exerts anticonvulsant effects in animal models of temporal lobe and partial seizures. Seizure 21:344–352
- 124. Colasanti BK, Lindamood C III, Craig CR (1982) Effects of marihuana cannabinoids on seizure activity in cobalt-epileptic rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 16:573–578
- 125. Turkanis SA, Smiley KA, Borys HK et al (1979) An electrophysiological analysis of the anticonvulsant action of cannabidiol on limbic seizures in conscious rats. Epilepsia 20: 351–363
- 126. Devinsky O, Cilio MR, Cross H et al (2014) Cannabidiol: pharmacology and potential therapeutic role in epilepsy and other neuropsychiatric disorders. Epilepsia 55:791–802
- 127. Hill AJ, Weston SE, Jones NA et al (2010) Delta(9)-Tetrahydrocannabivarin suppresses

in vitro epileptiform and in vivo seizure activity in adult rats. Epilepsia 51:1522–1532

- 128. Hill AJ, Williams CM, Whalley BJ et al (2012) Phytocannabinoids as novel therapeutic agents in CNS disorders. Pharmacol Ther 133:79–97
- 129. Hill TD, Cascio MG, Romano B et al (2013) Cannabidivarin-rich cannabis extracts are anticonvulsant in mouse and rat via a CB1 receptor-independent mechanism. Br J Pharmacol 170:679–692
- 130. Amada N, Yamasaki Y, Williams CM et al (2013) Cannabidivarin (CBDV) suppresses pentylenetetrazole (PTZ)-induced increases in epilepsy-related gene expression. Peer J 1: e214
- 131. Bialer M, Johannessen SI, Levy RH et al (2015) Progress report on new antiepileptic drugs: a summary of the Twelfth Eilat Conference (EILAT XII). Epilepsy Res 111: 85–141
- 132. Maa E, Figi P (2014) The case for medical marijuana in epilepsy. Epilepsia 55:783–786
- 133. Hussain SA, Zhou R, Jacobson C et al (2015) Perceived efficacy of cannabidiol-enriched cannabis extracts for treatment of pediatric epilepsy: a potential role for infantile spasms and Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. Epilepsy Behav 47:138–141
- 134. Devinsky O, Sullivan J, Friedman D et al (2015) Epidiolex (Cannabidiol) in treatment resistant epilepsy. American Academy of Neurology 67th annual meeting abstract 2015, Washington, DC, USA

# **Chapter 6**

## Glutamate Receptors as Targets for Novel Antiepileptic Drug Therapy

## Manola Cuéllar-Herrera, César E. Santana-Gómez, Francia Carmona-Cruz, Daruni Vázquez-Barrón, Francisco Velasco, and Ana L. Velasco

#### Abstract

In recent years, extensive research has been directed towards the development of novel therapeutic targets in epilepsy. A number of studies have reported that glutamate plays an important role in seizure generation and spread. Glutamate is the predominant excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, exerting its action through ionotropic and metabotropic receptors. Notably, a significant increase of extracellular glutamate release was observed in hippocampus during the ictal, postictal, and interictal period of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy undergoing surgery (During and Spencer, Lancet 341:1607–1610, 1993; Cavus et al., Epilepsia 49:1358–1366, 2008). These results indicate a strong association between increased glutamate and epileptiform activity. The chronic increase in extracellular glutamate release favors neuronal hyperexcitability and subsequent neuronal damage. Thus, the pharmacological blockade of glutamatergic signaling represents an attractive alternative for the control of seizures and neuroprotection. In particular, glutamate receptors are attractive targets for novel antiepileptic drugs because different studies have demonstrated that its agonists and antagonists reduce excessive excitatory responses providing neuroprotection and causing seizure suppression. We provide a brief description of the glutamate agonists and antagonists with potential effects on these receptors and the results obtained in both preclinical models of epilepsy and during clinical trials.

Key words Epilepsy, Glutamate receptors, Antiepileptic drugs, Anticonvulsive, Neuroprotection, Preclinical models, Clinical trials

#### **1** Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors (iGluRs)

The iGluRs provide rapid postsynaptic depolarization in response to synaptic release of glutamate, and have a major role in neural transmission, synaptic plasticity, and learning and memory [1–3]. The receptors consist of three distinct families: *N*-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA),  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate (AMPA), and kainate (KA) [4, 5] (Fig. 1).

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_6, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016



**Fig. 1** Glutamatergic synapse. After presynaptic depolarization, glutamate content is released into the synaptic space. This glutamate interacts with postsynaptic ionotropic receptors (NMDA, AMPA, and KA) as well as the KA receptor presynaptically. The intensity or continuity of *arrows* is associated with the permeability to Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup>. In addition, glutamate can exert its action through metabotropic receptors (mGlu) located on the presynaptic (group II and III) and postsynaptic terminal (group I and II). The activation of glutamate receptors increases neuronal excitability, which makes them an attractive therapeutic target for the treatment of epileptic seizures

An increase in the excitatory synaptic transmission activation for iGluRs has been reported to induce epileptiform discharges, and initiation and spread of seizure activity in different animal models of epilepsy [6–9]. Although few studies of receptors are available in patients with epilepsy, the evidence suggests that there are changes in up- or down-regulation of iGluRs in tissue of sclerotic hippocampus and its immediate surroundings [10–14].

Based on this evidence, the use of antagonists acting on all three iGluRs subtypes has been investigated for antiseizure activity in preclinical models of epilepsy and clinical trials.

**1.1 NMDA Receptors** NMDARs are coupled to high-conductance cationic channels permeable to K<sup>+</sup>, Na<sup>+</sup>, and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and they are blocked by Mg<sup>2+</sup> at resting potential (Fig. 1). These receptors exist in multiple forms (NR1, NR2<sub>A-D</sub>, NR3<sub>A-B</sub>), which have different physiological and pharmacological properties and are differentially distributed throughout the brain [15].

The NMDARs' competitive antagonists such as the AP-7, CGP 40116, D-CPPene, APV, CPP, and CGP 39551 have been demonstrated to possess a broad spectrum of anticonvulsant activity in diverse animal models of generalized tonic-clonic seizures (pentylenetetrazol (PTZ), 4-aminopyridine (4-AP), NMDA, maximal electroshock stimulation (MES), bicuculline, and cocaine), status epilepticus (SE) models (pilocarpine and continuous electrical stimulation of the hippocampus), and genetic animal models (soundinduced seizures in DBA/2 mice, genetically epilepsy-prone (GEP) rats, and genetic absence epilepsy GAERS rats) (Table 1) [16–36]. Only the APV has been reported to reduce mortality in NMDAinduced seizure in mice [37]. Regarding animal models of focal epilepsy the CPP, AP-7, CGP 39551, CGP 37849, D-CPPene, and CGP 40116 reduce the propagation of secondarily generalized motor seizures during the development of the amygdaloid and hippocampal kindling in rat [38–40]. However, the anticonvulsant effects were weaker once the rats were kindled [41-46]. In vitro studies showed that only AP-7 and APV reduce epileptiform activity induced by low Mg<sup>2+</sup>, penicillin, and picrotoxin models in hippocampal neurons [47, 48].

On the other hand, the non-competitive NMDAR antagonists such as ketamine, dizocilpine (MK-801), remacemide, dextromethorphan, memantine, and ifenprodil (NR2<sub>B</sub> selective antagonists) showed anticonvulsant effects in animal models of generalized tonic-clonic seizures (NMDA, cocaine, bicuculline, PTZ, 4-AP, MES, and ethanol-withdrawal seizures) (Table 1) [16, 23, 37, 49–62]. In these same animal models only memantine prevented tonic but not clonic seizures [50, 52, 63, 64]. In SE animal models induced by chemical compounds (kainic acid and pilocarpine) or hippocampal continuous electrical stimulation, drugs like ketamine, dizocilpine, remacemide, and ifenprodil exerted anticonvulsant effects and significantly decreased seizure-related brain damage [31, 65–71].

Interestingly the daily administration of dizocilpine, ifenprodil, remacemide, dextromethorphan, and ketamine prevented or increased the latency to development of amygdaline and chemical kindling in rodents [72–76]. On the other hand, studies in genetic seizure models (sound-induced seizure in DBA/2 mice, GEP rats, and model of absence epilepsy in WAG/rij rats) showed that ketamine, dextromethorphan, ifenprodil, and dizocilpine have anticonvulsant effects [77–81]. Regarding studies of in vitro models, remacemide, ketamine, dizocilpine, and memantine suppressed or blocked epileptiform activity in preparations of cultured hippocampal neurons and slices (hippocampal and cortical) in rats [23, 82–87].

1.1.1 Antagonists in Preclinical Models of Epilepsy
## Table 1

## Molecular structure of the antagonists of the ionotropic glutamate receptors

| Structure   | IUPAC name  | Traditional name |
|---|---|------------------|
| NMDA antagonists  |   |                  |
|   | 2-Amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid   | AP-7             |
|   | 2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid   | APV              |
|   | ( <i>E</i> ,2 <i>R</i> )-2-Amino-4-methyl-5-<br>phosphonopent-3-enoic acid                    | CGP-37849        |
| HO-P=O<br>CH <sub>3</sub> NH <sub>2</sub> CH <sub>3</sub> | ( <i>R</i> , <i>E</i> )-(4-Amino-5-ethoxy-2-methyl-<br>5-oxopent-2-en-1-yl)phosphonic<br>acid | CGP-39551        |
|   | D-( <i>E</i> )-2-Amino-4-methyl-5-<br>phosphono3-pentenoic acid                               | CGP-40116        |
|   | 3-(2-Carboxypiperazin-4-yl)propyl-1-<br>phosphonic acid                                       | СРР              |
|   | ( <i>R</i> )-4-[( <i>E</i> )-3-Phosphonoprop-2-enyl] piperazine-2-carboxylic acid             | D-CPPene         |

| Table 1     |
|-------------|
| (continued) |

| Structure                        | IUPAC name  | Traditional name     |
|----------------------------------|---|----------------------|
| H <sub>3</sub> C-N               | (9α,13α,14α)-3-Methoxy-17-<br>methylmorphinan   | Dextro<br>methorphan |
| H <sub>3</sub> C<br>NH           | [5 <i>R</i> ,10 <i>S</i> ]-[+]-5-methyl-10,11-<br>dihydro-5H-dibenzo[a,d]<br>cyclohepten-5,10-imine | Dizocilpine          |
|                                  | (3-Carbamoyloxy-2-phenylpropyl)<br>carbamate  | Felbamate            |
| HO<br>OH<br>OH                   | 4-[2-(4-Benzylpiperidin-1-yl)-1-<br>hydroxypropyl]phenol  | Ifenprodil           |
| O H <sub>3</sub> C               | ( <i>RS</i> )-2-(2-Chlorophenyl)-2-<br>(methylamino)cyclohexanone                                   | Ketamine             |
| H <sub>3</sub> C CH <sub>3</sub> | 3,5-Dimethyladamantan-1-amine   | Memantine            |
| H <sub>2</sub> N CH <sub>3</sub> | <i>N</i> -(1-Methyl-1,2-diphenylethyl)<br>glycinamide   | Remacemide           |
| AMPA antagonists                 |   |                      |

| Table  | 1     |
|--------|-------|
| (conti | nued) |

| Structure  | IUPAC name  | Traditional name |
|--|---|------------------|
|  | (6-Cyano-7-nitroquinoxaline-2,3-<br>dione)  | CNQX             |
| H <sub>3</sub> C<br>N<br>O<br>CH <sub>3</sub>  | <ul> <li>7-Acetyl-5-(4-aminophenyl)-8-<br/>methyl-9H-[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-h]</li> <li>[2,3]benzodiazepine-8-carbonitrile</li> </ul> | EGIS-8332        |
| CH <sub>3</sub><br>CH <sub>3</sub><br>H <sub>2</sub> N                                 | 4-(8-Methyl-9 <i>H</i> -[1,3]dioxolo[4,5-h]<br>[2,3]benzodiazepin-5-yl)aniline  | GYKI-52466       |
| но он пн   | ( <i>R</i> )-2-Amino-2-(4-methoxyphenyl)<br>ethanol   | IKM-159          |
| H <sub>3</sub> C<br>H <sub>3</sub> C<br>O<br>N<br>O<br>N<br>O<br>N<br>O<br>N<br>O<br>N | N,N-Dimethyl-2-[2-(3-phenyl-1,2,4-<br>oxadiazol-5-yl)phenoxy]<br>ethanamine   | Irampanel        |

| Table  | 1     |
|--------|-------|
| (conti | nued) |

| Structure   | IUPAC name  | Traditional name |
|---|---|------------------|
|   | (3 <i>RS</i> ,4 <i>aRS</i> ,6 <i>RS</i> ,8 <i>aRS</i> )-6-[2-(1(2)<br>H-Tetrazole-5-yl)ethyl]<br>decahydroisoquinoline-3-carboxylic<br>acid)  | LY215490         |
|   | (2,3-Dihydroxy-6-nitro-7-sulfamoyl-<br>benzo[f]quinoxaline-2,3-dione  | NBQX             |
| CH <sub>3</sub><br>N<br>HN<br>O<br>HN<br>O<br>HO<br>O<br>HO<br>O<br>H | [8-Methyl-5-(4-( <i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -<br>dimethylsulfamoyl)phenyl)-6,7,8,9-<br>tetrahydro-1H-pyrrolo[3,2- <i>h</i> ]-iso-<br>quinoline2,3-dione-3- <i>O</i> -(4-<br>hydroxybutyric acid-2-yl)oxime]<br>CH <sub>3</sub> | NS1209           |
|   | (2-(2-Oxo-1-phenyl-5-pyridin-2-yl-<br>1,2-dihydropyridin-3-yl)<br>benzonitrile)   | Perampanel       |

## Table 1 (continued)

| Structure   | IUPAC name   | Traditional name |
|---|--|------------------|
|   | 9-Carboxymethyl-imidazo-[1-2a]<br>indeno[1-2e]pyrazin-4-one-2-<br>carboxylic acid  | RPR117824        |
| O<br>O<br>O<br>N<br>CH <sub>3</sub><br>CH <sub>3</sub><br>CH <sub>3</sub> | (8 <i>R</i> )-7-Acetyl-5-(4-aminophenyl)-<br>8,9-dihydro-8-methyl-7 <i>H</i> -1,3-<br>dioxolo[4,5-h] [2,3]<br>benzodiazepine     | Talampanel       |
|   | [6-(1H-Imidazol-1-yl)-7-nitro-2,3-<br>(1H,4H)-<br>quinoxalinedionehydrochloride  | ҮМ90К            |
|   | [2,3-Dioxo-7-(1H-imidazol-1-yl)-6-<br>nitro-1,2,3,4-tetrahydroquinoxalin-<br>1-yl]-acetic acidmonohydrate                        | YM872            |
| Kainate antagonists   |  |                  |
| HN NHOH   | (3 <i>S</i> ,4a <i>R</i> ,6 <i>R</i> ,8a <i>R</i> )-6-[2-(1H-Tetrazol-<br>5-yl)ethyl]decahydro-3-<br>isoquinolinecarboxylic acid | LY293558         |
|   |  | (continued)      |

| Structure        | IUPAC name   | Traditional name |
|------------------|--|------------------|
|                  | (3 <i>S</i> ,4a <i>R</i> ,6 <i>S</i> ,8a <i>R</i> )-6-(((1H-Tetrazol-5-<br>ylmethyl)oxy)methyl)-<br>1,2,3,4,4a,5,6,7,8,8a-<br>decahydroisoquinoline-3-carboxylic<br>acid | LY37770          |
| HO O<br>OH<br>NH | (3 <i>S</i> ,4a <i>S</i> ,6 <i>S</i> ,8a <i>R</i> )-6-[(4-<br>Carboxyphenyl)methyl]-<br>1,2,3,4,4a,5,6,7,8,8a,decahydroiso<br>quinoline-3-carboxylic acid                | LY382884         |

Table 1 (continued)

ACD/ChemSketch 11.0 was used to draw the molecules

In spite of the anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects shown by NMDAR antagonist in preclinical studies, the disadvantage of some of these antagonists is that they may produce prominent side effects in kindled animals, such as hyperlocomotion and stereotypies [45]. In addition, NMDAR antagonists reported adverse events as confusion, difficulty in concentration, agitation, ataxia, and catatonia [88, 89]. Another important limitation of these drugs is that they have also induced proconvulsant effects [90–94]. Also, drugs as memantine and dizocilpine can modulate dopaminergic system, serotonergic system, and cholinergic neurotransmission with similar potency to that acting on NMDARs.

1.1.2 Antagonists Initially ketamine was reported to be effective in stopping the refractory SE (RSE), either convulsive or non-convulsive, by intravenous or oral administration, without apparent adverse effects in children and adults [95, 96]. However, a multicenter study on the use of intravenous ketamine reported serious complications, such as sepsis, shock, organ failure, and pneumonia. These complications were not related to the dose or duration of exposure to ketamine, but were certainly frequent when compared to the administration of other anesthetic drugs used for RSE [97]. This study reported that ketamine induced supraventricular tachycardia and atrial fibrillation in 7% of patients. Another study reported psychiatric symptoms (hallucinations, delirium, a floating sensation, and blurred vision),

intracranial pressure increase, salivation, intraocular pressure, and arrhythmia at doses from 0.45 to 10 mg/kg/h and in some cases neurotoxicity [98]. Moreover, diffuse cerebellar and cerebral atrophy were detected 3 months after ketamine infusion (7.5 mg/ kg/h) in an adult patient with RSE. The finding of this study suggests that damage was consistent with NMDA receptor antagonist neurotoxicity.

Although ketamine administered in healthy volunteers does not induce seizures [99], and preliminary reports suggest that ketamine may be an efficacious agent for the control of RSE, further studies are needed to establish doses of prolonged ketamine therapy and adverse events at long term.

Felbamate Felbamate is an NMDA receptor blocker slightly selective for  $NR1_A/NR2_B$  subunits and corresponds to the group of the secondgeneration antiepileptic drugs. Clinical studies have demonstrated its efficacy as polytherapy or monotherapy in the treatment of drugrefractory partial seizures with or without generalization and in absence seizures at doses from 45 to 300 mg/kg for oral administration [100-102]. Besides, in pediatric patients with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, its administration reduced the frequency of atonic and tonic-clonic seizures in a dose-dependent manner [103]. Reported adverse events are ataxia, sedation, insomnia, dizziness, anorexia, vomiting, nausea, weight loss, diplopia, dysphagia, irritability, and headache [104]. The use of felbamate has been limited because aplastic anemia and hepatic failure have been reported to occur in some patients [105]. Based on these evidences, felbamate should be administered under a careful and strict control of laboratory parameters for hematological and hepatic dysfunctions. DCPP-ene In one study, DCPP-ene was tolerated at doses from 10 to 900 mg for oral administration with an elimination half-life of approximately 4 h in healthy volunteers and patients with intractable complex partial seizures [106]. However, seizure number remained unchanged in 50% of patients. One patient showed improvement

in the first week, but thereafter DCPP-ene treatment was discontinued because the patient developed RSE. DCPP-ene was discontinued in all patients because they presented adverse effects that included poor concentration, sedation, ataxia, depression, dysarthria, amnesia, and unilateral choreo-athetosis in one patient [106].
 Dextromethorphan Considerably improved the electrographic activity and stopped seizures in children with drug refractory epi-

lepsy and in one neonatal patient with myoclonic encephalopathy in doses from 20 to 42 mg/kg/day (orally administered by tube) [107, 108]. Also, it has been reported that doses from 6 to 20 mg decrease the frequency and duration of seizures in patients with medically refractory temporal lobe epilepsy for oral administration [109]. However, increase of epileptiform abnormalities in the EEG without behavioral concomitants has been reported and led to discontinuing of this therapy [107]. To date it is not known whether dextromethorphan aggravates seizures, so more studies are needed to assess side effects and dosage regimen, before being a drug of first choice in the clinic.

Remacemide In a multicenter study in adult patients with refractory epilepsy, the seizure frequency decreased by 50% during treatment with remacemide at a dose of 800 mg/day (oral administration) as compared to the placebo group [110]. However, when compared to carbamazepine in the treatment of newly diagnosed patients with epilepsy, it was observed that remacemide was less effective [111]. It is absorbed rapidly in the gastrointestinal tract, and reaches plasma peak in 1 h with elimination half-life of 3–4 h [110]. The undesired effects were fatigue, dizziness, nausea, and diplopia [112].

In general, remacemide has shown a good profile of safety and tolerability; however, its effectiveness in the treatment of epilepsy is questionable, and for the moment further evaluation on seizure control is required.

**1.2** AMPA Receptors (AMPARs) These receptors are configured by subunits GluR1–4 and are permeable to K<sup>+</sup>, Na<sup>+</sup>, and in some cases also Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Fig. 1). AMPARs are the most abundant ionotropic glutamate receptors in the mammalian brain. These are the predominant mediators of excitatory neurotransmission in the central nervous system. In addition, AMPARs play a pivotal role in seizure generation and spread. The use of AMPAR antagonists broadly protected against seizures in diverse in vitro and in vivo models (Table 1, (Fig. 2)).

1.2.1 AntagonistsStudies of the AMPAR antagonists in experimental models of SEin Preclinical Modelsshowed that the CNQX was an effective anticonvulsant drug suppressing both electrographic and behavioral seizures induced in<br/>rats by electrical stimulation of the perforant path [113]. However,<br/> $4 \pm 5$  h later, electrographic spikes and behavioral convulsions reappeared [113]. Other AMPAR antagonists (NS1209 and IKM-159)<br/>blocked SE induced by electrical stimulation of the amygdala, kainic acid, and in vitro models of SE [114, 115].

Competitive AMPAR antagonists such as NBQX, YM872, YM90K, RPR117824, and LY215490 showed neuroprotective and anticonvulsant effects on preclinical models of partial and generalized epilepsy induced by MES, PTZ, kindling, bicuculline, strychnine, and 4-AP [116–122].

On the other hand, the non-competitive AMPAR antagonists such as the GYKI 52466, BIIR561 CL (irampanel), and EGIS-8332 provide potent anticonvulsant protection in models of amygdala-kindling, bicuculline, PTZ, picrotoxin, MES, AMPA-induced seizures, and sound-induced seizures in DBA/2 mice [123–125].



**Fig. 2** Drugs with potential effects on ionotropic and metabotropic receptors in preclinical models of epilepsy and clinical trials. Note that clinical trials have only confirmed the effectiveness of ionotropic NMDAR and AMPAR antagonists in epilepsy. However, their use in humans should be contemplated with extreme caution

Other AMPAR antagonists as perampanel (E2007) and talampanel (GYKI 53773, LY-300164) showed to be anticonvulsant and neuroprotective in MES, PTZ, amygdala-kindled, audiogenic, and 6 Hz seizure test models [126, 127]. However, both drugs were inactive in genetic absence epilepsy (GAERS and WAG/Rij models) [126, 127].

Although competitive and non-competitive antagonists have shown neuroprotective, anticonvulsant, and antiepileptic effects in several animal models, the great disadvantage of some of these antagonists is that they are not orally active, only intravenously [128]. Another important limitation of these drugs is their too short half-life, so the administration for therapeutic use must be continuous, causing increasing plasma concentration that might unfavorably influence their safety profile [126]. The main adverse effects reported in animals were motor impairment, sedation, and mild-to-moderate ataxia. Besides they have a weak anticonvulsive activity in genetic models of absence epilepsy [126, 127]. 1.2.2 Antagonist Clinical Trials

Talampanel

Despite this promising scenario, only some compounds reach clinical trials. Here, we present the results of two non-competitive AMPAR antagonists talampanel and perampanel.

Talampanel was well tolerated and absorbed in single doses of 3-100 mg for oral administration in healthy volunteers. The mean time to reach peak concentration is approximately 2 h, with an elimination half-life of approximately 6.5 h [129]. The most commonly reported adverse events were dizziness, sedation, and ataxia [129].

In patients with refractory partial seizures with or without secondary generalization, talampanel demonstrated anticonvulsant efficacy as monotherapy and as an adjunctive to antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) reducing seizure frequency [130]. The dose of 50 or 75 mg for oral administration was well tolerated; it was found that peak plasma concentrations were reached from 1 to 3 h, with a mean elimination half-life of 3 h [129]. Despite the anticonvulsive effect in animal models, talampanel in clinical trials showed an inadequate seizure control and short half-life time and, when used in combination with carbamazepine, it increased plasmatic concentration [129]. The adverse events that occurred around plasma peak concentration included mild-to-moderate ataxia, dizziness, headache, and drowsiness [129, 130]. To date talampanel is not used in patients with epilepsy. In other diseases such as glioblastoma and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis additional trials have been realized to evaluate its effect in proliferation and migration in these diseases [131, 132].

Perampanel

More recently, the potent non-competitive AMPAR antagonist perampanel showed favorable pharmacologic properties, good oral bioavailability, safety, and tolerability. In healthy human subjects and in patients with epilepsy it was shown that the time to reach peak concentration was 0.5-2.5 h given once daily through oral administration, with an elimination half-life of approximately 105 h, 70% of which was excreted in the feces and nearly 30% in the urine [133]. Phase II studies in patients with partial-onset seizures showed a reduction in seizure frequency with perampanel as adjunctive therapy with other AEDs in doses from 2 to 12 mg/day for oral administration [133]. Phase III studies showed that a single dose of 12 mg/day for oral administration significantly reduced seizure frequency, and increased responder rate in treatmentresistant patients, which was maintained over 1-year follow-up with good tolerance [134]. The adverse events that occurred were dizziness, headache, drowsiness, and fatigue [133]. Overall, perampanel has a favorable pharmacologic profile for therapeutic use. It is important to consider that extensive half-life be able to induce severe adverse reactions; so far there is no information. It is therefore important that future studies assess possible adverse effects.

| 1.3 Kainate<br>Receptors (KARs)                           | KARs are integrated by subunits GluK5-7 and KA1-2 and are per-<br>meable to K <sup>+</sup> , Na <sup>+</sup> , and Ca <sup>2+</sup> [139]. They act postsynaptically in<br>principal neurons and interneurons, as well as presynaptically to<br>modulate GABA and glutamate release [135–140] (Fig. 1).<br>KARs have received attention as potential drug targets due to their<br>modulatory role at both postsynaptic and presynaptic levels (Fig. 2).  |
|---|--|
| 1.3.1 Antagonists<br>in Preclinical Models<br>of Epilepsy | KAR antagonists such as LY293558, LY37770, and LY382884<br>showed to reduce epileptiform activity in vitro models of electrical<br>stimulation in hippocampal slices, and to interrupt seizures in vivo<br>in pilocarpine, (RS)-2-amino-3-(3-hydroxy-5- <i>tert</i> -butylisoxazol-<br>4-yl) propanoic acid (ATPA), and picrotoxin models (Table 1)<br>[141–143]. However, it has not been approved for therapeutic use<br>in humans. The reasons are lack of antibodies for recognizing spe-<br>cific subunits to distinguish KARs from AMPARs and lack of spe-<br>cific agonists and antagonists at both pre- and postsynaptic sites.<br>Several studies have demonstrated an important subset of drugs<br>that antagonize the GluR5 subunit inducing an anticonvulsant and<br>neuroprotective effect [141, 142, 144, 145]. In the future it is<br>essential to identify new anticonvulsant compounds acting on<br>KARs with clinical potential. |

## 2 Metabotropic Receptors

The metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) are a family of G-protein-coupled receptors that provide important modulatory control of glutamatergic transmission. The mGluRs have proved to have presynaptic and postsynaptic roles. Postsynaptically they modulate membrane properties by second messenger interactions and presynaptically they control synaptic release [146]. Based on signal transduction mechanisms, pharmacological profile, and receptor protein, mGluRs are classified into three groups: group I (mGluR1 and 5), group II (mGluR2 and 3), and group III (mGluR4, 6, 7, and 8) (Fig. 1).

Studies suggest as a role for mGluRs in epileptogenesis and seizure-induced damage; these evidences proposed that mGluRs may be considered a potential target for the treatment for epilepsy [147] (Fig. 2).

**2.1 Group I (mGluR1** and mGluR5) Group I mGluRs are located postsynaptically and act on Gq protein to stimulate phosphoinositide hydrolysis and phospholipase C. These receptors are excitatory, acting to enhance neurotransmitter release, potentiate ionotropic glutamate receptor responses, and modulate various depolarizing currents [148]. The activation of group I by antagonists attenuated neuronal damage and seizures [149]. 2.1.1 Antagonists in Preclinical Models of Epilepsy The treatment with antagonists of mGluR1 (LY367385, LY456236, AIDA, and BAY 36-7620) has shown anticonvulsant effects and has reduced neuronal damage in generalized convulsive seizure (sound seizure in DBA/2 mice and tonic seizures in PTZ), limbic seizure (6 Hz focal seizure model, amygdala kindled), and absence-like seizure models (Table 2) [150–153]. However, the antagonist LY456236 did not inhibit clonic seizures produced by PTZ [152].

On the other hand, studies in genetic models of absence seizures (WAG/Rij rats model) have shown that systemic treatment with positive allosteric modulators of mGlu1 or mGlu5 (RO0711401 and VU0360172) reduces spontaneous-occurring spike-and-wave discharges in these animals (Table 2) [154, 155].

Otherwise, the antagonist mGluR5 (MPEP) inhibits spikeand-wave discharges in sound-induced seizures in DBA/2 mice [156]. In addition, other mGluR5 antagonist, the MTEP, has anticonvulsant effect in models of PTZ and hippocampal stimulation in 12- and 18-day-old rats. However, it did not induce anticonvulsant effect in 25-day-old animals [157, 158].

On the other hand, SIB 1893, a non-competitive antagonist of mGluR5, combined with sub-effective doses of oxcarbazepine reduced seizure and after-discharge durations in amygdala-kindling model [159]. This evidence suggests that these antagonists of group I metabotropic receptors could be developed as new antiepileptic drugs, particularly for patients that are refractory to current medication.

Groups II and III are expressed primarily at presynaptic level and bind to Gi/Go protein to inhibit cAMP. They generally act to reduce glutamate release, and may also inhibit high threshold calcium channels, activate potassium channels, and directly inhibit transmitter release machinery. Both groups have anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects in preclinical models of epilepsy.

Group II mGluR agonists such as LY354740, LY389795, LY379268, DCG-IV, and 2R,4R-APDC have proved anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects in models of limbic and generalized motor seizures such as amygdala-kindled seizures, PTZ, picrotoxin, kainic acid model, pilocarpine, and ACPD-induced model (Table 2) [160–165]. LY354740 inhibited spontaneous epileptiform discharges which developed in rat Mg<sup>2+</sup>-free medium cortical slices, and it potentiated the anticonvulsant activity of diazepam in PTZ. However, it had no effect on NMDA-induced convulsions [162].

In genetic models, LY389795 and LY379268 inhibited soundinduced clonic seizures in DBA/2 mice, and absence seizures in lethargic lh/lh mice [165]. However, neither of these agonists inhibited sound-induced seizures in GEP rats nor absence seizures

2.2 Group II (mGluR2 and mGluR3) and Group III (mGlu4, mGluR6, mGluR7, and mGluR8)

2.2.1 Group II (mGluR2 and mGluR3)

Agonists in Preclinical Models of Epilepsy

## Table 2

## Molecular structure of agonists and antagonists of metabotropic glutamate receptors

| Structure  | IUPAC name   | Traditional<br>name |
|--|--|---------------------|
| Group I (mGluR1 and mGluR5)  |  |                     |
| OH<br>H <sub>2</sub> N<br>HO <sup>P</sup> OH   | 2-Amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid  | AP-7                |
| H <sub>2</sub> C<br>O  | (3a <i>S</i> ,6a <i>S</i> )-5-Methylidene-6a-[(naphthalen-<br>2-yl)methyl]-hexahydro-1H-<br>cyclopenta[c]furan-1-one | BAY-367620          |
| OH<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O<br>O | (S)-(+)-A-amino-a-methylbenzeneaceticacid  | LY-367385           |
| CH <sub>3</sub>  | 2-Methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)pyridine,<br>Hydrochloride   | MPEP                |

| Table  | 2     |
|--------|-------|
| (conti | nued) |

| Structure                 | IUPAC name  | Traditional<br>name |
|---------------------------|---|---------------------|
| N<br>N<br>CH <sub>3</sub> | 3-[2-(2-Methyl-1,3-thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]<br>pyridine hydrochloride            | MTEP                |
|                           | <i>N</i> -[4-(Trifluoromethyl)-1,3-oxazol-2-yl]-<br>9H-xanthene-9-carboxamide | Ro0711401           |
| N<br>CH <sub>3</sub>      | 2-Methyl-6-[( <i>E</i> )-2-phenylethenyl]pyridine                             | SIB-1893            |

## Table 2 (continued)

| Structure                          | IUPAC name   | Traditional<br>name |
|------------------------------------|--|---------------------|
| HN                                 | N-Cyclobutyl-6-[2-(3-fluorophenyl)<br>eth/nyl]pyridine-3-carboxamide                                       | VU0360172           |
| Group II (mGluR2 and mGluR3)       |  |                     |
| HO NH <sub>2</sub><br>O OH         | (1 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>S</i> )-1-Aminocyclopentane-1,3-<br>dicarboxylic acid                                    | 18,38-ACPD          |
| O OH<br>H <sub>2</sub> N N<br>HO H | (2 <i>R</i> ,4 <i>R</i> )-4-Amino-2,4-<br>pyrrolidinedicarboxylic acid                                     | 2R,4R-APDC          |
|                                    | (2 <i>S</i> ,2′ <i>R</i> ,3′ <i>R</i> )-2-(2′,3′-<br>Dicarboxycyclopropyl)glycin                           | DCG-IV              |
| H <sub>2</sub> N OH<br>HO          | (1 <i>\$</i> ,2 <i>\$</i> ,5 <i>R</i> ,6 <i>\$</i> )-2-Aminobicyclo[3.1.0]<br>hexane-2,6-dicarboxylic acid | LY354740            |

| Structure  | IUPAC name   | Traditional<br>name |
|--|--|---------------------|
| H <sub>2</sub> N OH<br>HO OH                           | (1 <i>S</i> ,2 <i>R</i> ,5 <i>R</i> ,6 <i>R</i> )-2-Amino-4-<br>oxabicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-2,6-dicarboxylic<br>acid | LY379268            |
| H <sub>2</sub> N OH                                    | (4 <i>S</i> ,6 <i>S</i> )-4-Amino-2-thiabicyclo[3.1.0]<br>hexane-4,6-dicarboxylic acid                           | LY389795            |
| Group III (mGlu4, mGluR6, mGluR7, a                    | and mGluR8)  |                     |
| HO<br>NH <sub>2</sub> OH<br>OH<br>OH<br>OH<br>OH<br>OH | 3,4-Dicarboxyphenylglycine   | 3,4-DCPG            |
| HO NH <sub>2</sub>                                     | (1 <i>S</i> ,3 <i>R</i> ,4 <i>S</i> )-1-Aminocyclopentane-1,3,4-<br>tricarboxylic acid                           | ACPT-1              |
| H <sub>2</sub> N OH<br>OH<br>OH                        | (2 <i>S</i> )-2-Amino-4-phosphonobutanoic acid   | L-AP4               |

## Table 2 (continued)

| Structure                   | IUPAC name                             | Traditional<br>name |
|-----------------------------|--|---------------------|
| HO O OH<br>HO O POH<br>HO O | L-Serine-O-phosphate                   | L-SOP               |
|                             | ( <i>RS</i> )-4-Phosphonophenylglycine | PPG                 |

Table 2 (continued)

ACD/ChemSketch 11.0 was used to draw the molecules

in WAG/Rij rats [165, 166]. On the other hand, the 1S,3S-ACPD suppressed sound-induced seizures in GEP rats when injected directly into the inferior colliculus [167].

The agonists L-AP4 and L-SOP are antiepileptogenic and anticonvulsant in experimental models of amygdala- and PTZ-induced kindled as well as the limbic seizures induced by 3,5-DHPG (Table 2) [168–171].

Preferential agonists of mGluR8 such as PPG and 3,4-DCPG and the agonist of mGluR4 ACPT-1 have shown anticonvulsant effect against sound-induced seizures in DBA/2 mice and MES (Table 2) [165, 172–174]. L-SOP gives only partial protection in sound-induced clonic seizures in DBA/2 mice [172]. However, it suppressed all phases of sound-induced seizures in GEP rats when injected into the inferior colliculus [167].

PPG, ACPT-1, and L-AP4 have neuroprotective effects against kainic acid and NMDA-induced excitotoxicity in cultured cortical and hippocampal neurons [174–176], while PPG and 3,4-DCPG showed anticonvulsant effects against seizures induced by bilateral intracerebroventricular infusion of DL-homocysteic acid in immature 12-day-old rats [177, 178].

2.2.2 Group III (mGlu4, mGluR6, mGluR7, and mGluR8)

Agonists in Preclinical Models of Epilepsy Although preclinical data positively support the therapeutic potential of mGluR ligands in epilepsy they have not been tested in clinical trials. One reason is that some agonists (L-AP4 and L-SOP) may also induce proconvulsant effects [179]. These have been observed depending not only on the animal model of epilepsy used but also on timing and dosage of the drug delivery.

Dietrich et al. [180] reported that surgical specimens of hippocampi of epileptic patients with sclerosis showed loss of function of the L-AP4 agonist. This study suggests that the loss of inhibition mediated by group III mGluRs is an important factor contributing to hyperexcitability in hippocampus of patients with epilepsy [180].

The systemic injection of the selective mGlu4 receptor-positive allosteric modulator PHCCC enhanced the number of spike-wave discharges in WAG/Rij rats. These data support the hypothesis that activation of mGluR4 receptors participates in the generation of absence-type seizures which can be exacerbated with the use of a positive allosteric modulator [154]. Moreover, mGluR4 antagonist CPPG significantly attenuated the PTZ-induced absence seizures [181].

Future research should focus more on the specific physiological and pathological conditions under which each receptor subtype participates, which may be the key for fully understanding their therapeutic potential.

## 3 Conclusion

The development of drugs that target ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptors has recently gained new interest for its potential use in epilepsy. The efficacy of these drugs in preclinical models is evaluated by their anticonvulsive, antiepileptic, and neuroprotective effects on (1) generalized tonic-clonic seizures, (2) partial or focal seizures, (3) convulsive and non-convulsive SE, and (4) genetic epilepsy. Clinical trials have only confirmed the effectiveness of ionotropic receptor antagonists (NMDARs and AMPARs) in epilepsy. However, their use in humans should be contemplated with extreme caution due to their unfavorable pharmacokinetic profile, efficacy, adverse effects, and tolerability.

Regarding drugs that target metabotropic receptors, they have not been approved yet for clinical trials. The main problems are that some of them are not orally active, lack of specific agonists and antagonists, there are not enough studies in animal models of the adverse effects, short duration of action, and the fact that they have induced proconvulsant effects in some animal models. It is important to consider that at present, there is insufficient evidence that alterations in mGluRs have a role in pharmacoresistance in patients with epilepsy. We are currently studying mGluR functional activity and transduction cascade in surgically resected tissue of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy. These studies will allow us to investigate the influence of clinical factors on the mGluRs, and may provide the scientific basis for these alterations in epilepsy, thus leading to know whether they can be used as a therapeutic target to treat epilepsy in the future. In conclusion, great progresses have been achieved and the recent results focus again attention on these compounds as therapeutic targets in epilepsy.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Heidy Higuera Hernández for her technical assistance.

#### References

- During MJ, Spencer DD (1993) Extracellular hippocampal glutamate and spontaneous seizure in the conscious human brain. Lancet 341:1607–1610
- Cavus I, Pan JW, Hetherington HP et al (2008) Decreased hippocampal volume on MRI is associated with increased extracellular glutamate in epilepsy patients. Epilepsia 49:1358–1366
- 3. Traynelis SF, Wollmuth LP, McBain CJ et al (2010) Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacol Rev 62:405–496
- Kew JNC, Kemp JA (2005) Ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor structure and pharmacology. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 179:4–29
- 5. Mayer ML, Armstrong N (2004) Structure and function of glutamate receptor ion channels. Annu Rev Physiol 66:161–181
- Stelzer A, Slater NT, ten Bruggencate G (1987) Activation of NMDA receptors blocks GABAergic inhibition in an in vitro model of epilepsy. Nature 326:698–701
- Kamphuis W, De Rijk TC, Talamini LM, Lopes da Silva FH (1994) Rat hippocampal kindling induces changes in the glutamate receptor mRNA expression patterns in dentate granule neurons. Eur J Neurosci 6:1119–1127
- Federico P, MacVicar BA (1996) Imaging the induction and spread of seizure activity in the isolated brain of the guinea pig: the roles of GABA and glutamate receptors. J Neurophysiol 76:3471–3492
- Prince HK, Conn PJ, Blackstone CD et al (1995) Down-regulation of AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 in amygdaloid kindling. J Neurochem 64:462–465
- 10. Geddes JW, Cahan LD, Cooper SM et al (1990) Altered distribution of excitatory

amino acid receptors in temporal lobe epilepsy. Exp Neurol 108:214–220

- 11. Hosford DA, Crain BJ, Cao Z et al (1991) Increased AMPA-sensitive quisqualate receptor binding and reduced NMDA receptor binding in epileptic human hippocampus. J Neurosci 11:428–434
- 12. McDonald JW, Garofalo EA, Hood T et al (1991) Altered excitatory and inhibitory amino acid receptor binding in hippocampus of patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Ann Neurol 29:529–541
- Brines ML, Sundaresan S, Spencer DD, de Lanerolle NC (1997) Quantitative autoradiographic analysis of ionotropic glutamate receptor subtypes in human temporal lobe epilepsy: up-regulation in reorganized epileptogenic hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 9:2035–2044
- Zilles K, Qü MS, Köhling R, Speckmann EJ (1999) Ionotropic glutamate and GABA receptors in human epileptic neocortical tissue: quantitative in vitro receptor autoradiography. Neuroscience 94:1051–1061
- Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF (1999) The glutamate receptor ion channels. Pharmacol Rev 51:7–62
- Turski WA, Urbanska E, Dziki M et al (1990) Excitatory amino acid antagonists protect mice against seizures induced by bicuculline. Brain Res 514:131–134
- Czuczwar SJ, Meldrum B (1982) Protection against chemically induced seizures by 2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid. Eur J Pharmacol 83:335–338
- Aldinio C, French ED, Schwarcz R (1983) The effects of intrahippocampal ibotenic acid and their blockade by (-) 2-amino-7phosphonoheptanoic acid: morphological and electroencephalographical analysis. Exp Brain Res 51:36-44

- Czuczwar SJ, Frey HH, Löscher W (1985) Antagonism of N-methyl-D, L-aspartic acid-induced convulsions by antiepileptic drugs and other agents. Eur J Pharmacol 108:273–280
- 20. Czuczwar SJ, Cavalheiro EA, Turski L et al (1985) Phosphonic analogues of excitatory amino acids raise the threshold for maximal electroconvulsions in mice. Neurosci Res 3:86–90
- 21. Croucher M, Collins J, Meldrum B (1982) Anticonvulsant action of excitatory amino acid antagonists. Science 216:899–901
- 22. Morales-Villagrán A, Ureña-Guerrero ME, Tapia R (1996) Protection by NMDA receptor antagonists against seizures induced by intracerebral administration of 4-aminopyridine. Eur J Pharmacol 305:87–93
- 23. Ghasemi M, Schachter SC (2011) The NMDA receptor complex as a therapeutic target in epilepsy: a review. Epilepsy Behav 22:617–640
- 24. Eblen F, Löschmann PA, Wüllner U et al (1996) Effects of 7-nitroindazole, NG-nitro-L-arginine, and D-CPPene on harmaline-induced postural tremor, N-methyl-D-aspartate-induced seizures, and lisuride-induced rotations in rats with nigral 6-hydroxydopamine lesions. Eur J Pharmacol 299:9–16
- 25. Kleinrok Z, Turski WA, Czuczwar SJ (1995) Excitatory amino acid antagonists and the anticonvulsive activity of conventional antiepileptic drugs. Pol J Pharmacol 47:247–252
- 26. Assi AA (2001) N6-cyclohexyladenosine and 3-(2-carboxypiperazine-4-yl)-1-propenyl-1phosphonic acid enhance the effect of antiepileptic drugs against induced seizures in mice. J Pharm Pharm Sci 4:42–51
- 27. Schmutz M, Portet C, Jeker A et al (1990) The competitive NMDA receptor antagonists CGP 37849 and CGP 39551 are potent, orally-active anticonvulsants in rodents. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 342:61–66
- Velisek L, Vachova D, Mares P (1997) Excitatory amino acid antagonists and pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures during ontogenesis. IV. Effects of CGP 39551. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 56:493–498
- 29. Fujikawa DG, Daniels AH, Kim JS (1994) The competitive NMDA receptor antagonist CGP 40116 protects against status epilepticus-induced neuronal damage. Epilepsy Res 17:207–219
- Millan MH, Patel S, Mello LM, Meldrum BS (1986) Focal injection of 2-amino-7phosphonoheptanoic acid into prepiriform

cortex protects against pilocarpine-induced limbic seizures in rats. Neurosci Lett 70:69–74

- Yen W, Williamson J, Bertram EH, Kapur J (2004) A comparison of three NMDA receptor antagonists in the treatment of prolonged status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res 59:43–50
- 32. Chapman AG, Graham J, Meldrum BS (1990) Potent oral anticonvulsant action of CPP and CPPene in DBA/2 mice. Eur J Pharmacol 178:97–99
- 33. Faingold CL, Millan MH, Boersma CA, Meldrum BS (1988) Excitant amino acids and audiogenic seizures in the genetically epilepsy-prone rat. I. Afferent seizure initiation pathway. Exp Neurol 99:678–686
- 34. De Sarro G, De Sarro A (1992) Anticonvulsant activity of competitive antagonists of NMDA receptor in genetically epilepsy-prone rats. Eur J Pharmacol 215:221–229
- 35. De Sarro G, Ammendola D, Nava F, De Sarro A (1995) Effects of some excitatory amino acid antagonists on imipenem-induced seizures in DBA/2 mice. Brain Res 671:131–140
- 36. Smith SE, Chapman AG (1993) Acute and chronic anticonvulsant effects of D (-) CPPene in genetically epilepsy-prone rats. Epilepsy Res 15:193–199
- 37. Swinyard EA, Sofia RD, Kupferberg HJ (1986) Comparative anticonvulsant activity and neurotoxicity of felbamate and four prototype antiepileptic drugs in mice and rats. Epilepsia 27:27–34
- Löscher W (1998) Pharmacology of glutamate receptor antagonists in the kindling model of epilepsy. Prog Neurobiol 54:721–741
- 39. Croucher MJ, Bradford HF, Sunter DC, Watkins JC (1988) Inhibition of the development of electrical kindling of the prepyriform cortex by daily focal injections of excitatory amino acid antagonists. Eur J Pharmacol 152:29–38
- 40. Attwell PJ, Kaura S, Sigala G et al (1995) Blockade of both epileptogenesis and glutamate release by (1S,3S)-ACPD, a presynaptic glutamate receptor agonist. Brain Res 698:155–162
- Mori N, Wada JA (1989) Suppression of amygdaloid kindled convulsion following unilateral injection of 2-amino-7-phosphonoheptanoic acid (2-APH) into the substantia innominata of rats. Brain Res 486:141–146
- 42. Peterson DW, Collins JF, Bradford HF (1984) Anticonvulsant action of amino acid antagonists against kindled hippocampal seizures. Brain Res 311:176–180
- 43. Morimoto K, Katayama K, Inoue K, Sato K (1991) Effects of competitive and noncom-

petitive NMDA receptor antagonists on kindling and LTP. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:893–899

- 44. Holmes KH, Bilkey DK, Laverty R (1992) The infusion of an NMDA antagonist into perirhinal cortex suppresses amygdala-kindled seizures. Brain Res 587:285–290
- 45. Löscher W, Hönack D (1991) Anticonvulsant and behavioral effects of two novel competitive N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor antagonists, CGP 37849 and CGP 39551, in the kindling model of epilepsy. Comparison with MK-801 and carbamazepine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 256:432–440
- 46. Dürmüller N, Craggs M, Meldrum BS (1994) The effect of the non-NMDA receptor antagonist GYKI 52466 and NBQX and the competitive NMDA receptor antagonist D-CPPene on the development of amygdala kindling and on amygdala-kindled seizures. Epilepsy Res 17:167–174
- 47. Ashton D, Willems R, De Prins E, Wauquier A (1988) Selective inhibition of synaptic versus non-synaptic epileptogenesis by NMDA antagonists in the in vitro hippocampus. Epilepsy Res 2:219–222
- Brady RJ, Swann JW (1986) Ketamine selectively suppresses synchronized afterdischarges in immature hippocampus. Neurosci Lett 69:143–149
- 49. Taberner PV (1976) The anticonvulsant activity of ketamine against seizures induced by pentylenetetrazol and mercaptopropionic acid. Eur J Pharmacol 39:305–311
- 50. Parsons CG, Quack G, Bresink I et al (1995) Comparison of the potency, kinetics and voltage-dependency of a series of uncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonists in vitro with anticonvulsive and motor impairment activity in vivo. Neuropharmacology 34: 1239–1258
- Zhi JG, Levy G (1990) Effect of orally administered dextromethorphan on theophyllineand pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures in rats. J Pharm Sci 79:1053–1055
- Geter-Douglass B, Witkin JM (1999) Behavioral effects and anticonvulsant efficacies of low-affinity, uncompetitive NMDA antagonists in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 146:280–289
- 53. Velísková J, Velísek L, Mares P, Rokyta R (1990) Ketamine suppresses both bicuculline- and picrotoxin-induced generalized tonic-clonic seizures during ontogenesis. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 37:667–674
- 54. Roth JE, Zhang G, Murray TF, Franklin PH (1992) Dextrorotatory opioids and phencyclidine exert anticonvulsant action in prepiriform cortex. Eur J Pharmacol 215:293–296

- 55. Manocha A, Sharma KK, Mediratta PK (2001) Possible mechanism of anticonvulsant effect of ketamine in mice. Indian J Exp Biol 39:1002–1008
- 56. Kulkarni SK, Ticku MK (1989) Interaction between GABAergic anticonvulsants and the NMDA receptor antagonist MK 801 against MES- and picrotoxin-induced convulsions in rats. Life Sci 44:1317–1323
- 57. Wardley-Smith B, Wann KT (1991) Effects of four drugs on 4-aminopyridine seizures: a comparison with their effects on HPNS. Undersea Biomed Res 18:413–419
- 58. Barat SA, Abdel-Rahman MS (1997) Decreased cocaine- and lidocaine-induced seizure response by dextromethorphan and DNQX in rat. Brain Res 756:179–183
- 59. Brackett RL, Pouw B, Blyden JF et al (2000) Prevention of cocaine-induced convulsions and lethality in mice: effectiveness of targeting different sites on the NMDA receptor complex. Neuropharmacology 39:407–418
- 60. Fidecka S, Langwiński R (1989) Interaction between ketamine and ethanol in rats and mice. Pol J Pharmacol Pharm 41:23–32
- 61. Erden BF, Ozdemirci S, Yildiran G et al (1999) Dextromethorphan attenuates ethanol withdrawal syndrome in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:537–541
- 62. Morrisett RA, Rezvani AH, Overstreet D et al (1990) MK-801 potently inhibits alcohol withdrawal seizures in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 176:103–105
- 63. Zaitsev AV, Kim KK, Vasilev DS et al (2015) N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor channel blockers prevent pentylenetetrazole-induced convulsions and morphological changes in rat brain neurons. J Neurosci Res 93:454–465
- 64. Meldrum BS, Turski L, Schwarz M et al (1986) Anticonvulsant action of 1,3-dimethyl-5-aminoadamantane. Pharmacological studies in rodents and baboon, Papio papio. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 332:93–97
- 65. Halonen T, Nissinen J, Pitkänen A (1999) Neuroprotective effect of remacemide hydrochloride in a perforant pathway stimulation model of status epilepticus in the rat. Epilepsy Res 34:251–269
- 66. Freitas RM, Sousa FCF, Viana GSB, Fonteles MMF (2006) Effect of gabaergic, glutamatergic, antipsychotic and antidepressant drugs on pilocarpine-induced seizures and status epilepticus. Neurosci Lett 408:79–83
- 67. Fujikawa DG (1995) Neuroprotective effect of ketamine administered after status epilepticus onset. Epilepsia 36:186–195
- 68. Hughes P, Young D, Dragunow M (1993) MK-801 sensitizes rats to pilocarpine induced

limbic seizures and status epilepticus. Neuroreport 4:314–316

- 69. Ebert U, Brandt C, Löscher W (2002) Delayed sclerosis, neuroprotection, and limbic epileptogenesis after status epilepticus in the rat. Epilepsia 43(Suppl 5):86–95
- Ding S, Fellin T, Zhu Y et al (2007) Enhanced astrocytic Ca2+ signals contribute to neuronal excitotoxicity after status epilepticus. J Neurosci 27:10674–10684
- Clifford DB, Olney JW, Benz AM et al (1990) Ketamine, phencyclidine, and MK-801 protect against kainic acid-induced seizurerelated brain damage. Epilepsia 31:382–390
- 72. Gilbert ME (1988) The NMDA-receptor antagonist, MK-801, suppresses limbic kindling and kindled seizures. Brain Res 463:90–99
- 73. Yourick DL, Repasi RT, Rittase WB et al (1999) Ifenprodil and arcaine alter amygdala-kindling development. Eur J Pharmacol 371:147–152
- 74. Garske GE, Palmer GC, Napier JJ et al (1991) Preclinical profile of the anticonvulsant remacemide and its enantiomers in the rat. Epilepsy Res 9:161–174
- 75. Trommer BL, Pasternak JF (1990) NMDA receptor antagonists inhibit kindling epileptogenesis and seizure expression in developing rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 53:248–252
- 76. Giorgi O, Orlandi M, Lecca D, Corda MG (1991) MK-801 prevents chemical kindling induced by pentylenetetrazol in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 193:363–365
- 77. De Sarro GB, De Sarro A (1993) Anticonvulsant properties of non-competitive antagonists of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in genetically epilepsy-prone rats: comparison with CPPene. Neuropharmacology 32:51–58
- Chapman AG, Meldrum BS (1989) Noncompetitive N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists protect against sound-induced seizures in DBA/2 mice. Eur J Pharmacol 166: 201–211
- 79. Van Luijtelaar EL, Coenen AM (1995) Effects of remacemide and its metabolite FPL 12495 on spike-wave discharges, electroencephalogram and behaviour in rats with absence epilepsy. Neuropharmacology 34:419–425
- Midzyanovskaya IS, Salonin DV, Bosnyakova DY et al (2004) The multiple effects of ketamine on electroencephalographic activity and behavior in WAG/Rij rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 79:83–91
- Peeters BWM, Van Rijn C, Van Luijtelaar ELJ, Coenen AM (1989) Antiepileptic and behavioural actions of MK-801 in an animal model of spontaneous absence epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 3:178–181

- Lee WL, Hablitz JJ (1990) Effect of APV and ketamine on epileptiform activity in the CA1 and CA3 regions of the hippocampus. Epilepsy Res 6:87–94
- 83. Mikolásová R, Velísek L, Vorlícek J, Mares P (1994) Developmental changes of ketamine action against epileptic afterdischarges induced by hippocampal stimulation in rats. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 81:105–112
- Aram JA, Lodge D (1987) Epileptiform activity induced by alkalosis in rat neocortical slices: block by antagonists of N-methyl-Daspartate. Neurosci Lett 83:345–350
- 85. Sagratella S, Frank C, de Carolis AS (1987) Effects of ketamine and (+) cyclazocine on 4-aminopyridine and "magnesium free" epileptogenic activity in hippocampal slices of rats. Neuropharmacology 26:1181–1184
- Hu RQ, Davies JA (1995) The effect of the desglycinyl metabolite of remacemide on cortical wedges prepared from DBA/2 mice. Eur J Pharmacol 287:251–256
- 87. Norris SK, King AE (1997) Electrophysiological effects of the anticonvulsant remacemide hydrochloride and its metabolite ARL 12495AA on rat CA1 hippocampal neurons in vitro. Neuropharmacology 36: 951–959
- Farber NB (2003) The NMDA receptor hypofunction model of psychosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1003:119–130
- Muir KW, Lees KR (1995) Clinical experience with excitatory amino acid antagonist drugs. Stroke 26:503–513
- 90. Leccese AP, Marquis KL, Mattia A, Moreton JE (1986) The convulsant and anticonvulsant effects of phencyclidine (PCP) and PCP analogues in the rat. Behav Brain Res 19:163–169
- Löscher W, Hönack D (1990) High doses of memantine(1-amino-3,5-dimethyladamantane) induce seizures in kindled but not in nonkindled rats. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 341:476–481
- 92. Manohar S, Maxwell D, Winters WD (1972) Development of EEG seizure activity during and after chronic ketamine administration in the rat. Neuropharmacology 11:819–826
- 93. Thompson KW, Wasterlain CG (1993) Dextromethorphan and its combination with phenytoin facilitate kindling. Neurology 43:992–994
- 94. Tortella FC, Hill RG (1996) EEG seizure activity and behavioral neurotoxicity produced by (+)-MK801, but not the glycine site antagonist L-687,414, in the rat. Neuropharmacology 35:441–448
- 95. Mewasingh LD, Sékhara T, Aeby A et al (2003) Oral ketamine in paediatric non-

convulsive status epilepticus. Seizure 12: 483-489

- 96. Synowiec AS, Singh DS, Yenugadhati V et al (2013) Ketamine use in the treatment of refractory status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res 105:183–188
- 97. Gaspard N, Foreman B, Judd LM et al (2013) Intravenous ketamine for the treatment of refractory status epilepticus: a retrospective multicenter study. Epilepsia 54:1498–1503
- Fang Y, Wang X (2015) Ketamine for the treatment of refractory status epilepticus. Seizure 30:14–20
- 99. Corssen G, Little SC, Tavakoli M (1974) Ketamine and epilepsy. Anesth Analg 53:319–335
- Theodore WH, Raubertas RF, Porter RJ et al (1991) Felbamate: a clinical trial for complex partial seizures. Epilepsia 32:392–397
- Devinsky O, Kothari M, Savino L, Luciano D (1994) Felbamate for refractory absence seizures. J Epilepsy 7:189–194
- Canger R, Vignoli A, Bonardi R, Guidolin L (1999) Felbamate in refractory partial epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 34:43–48
- 103. Dodson WE (1993) Felbamate in the treatment of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: results of a 12-month open-label study following a randomized clinical trial. Epilepsia 34(Suppl 7):S18–S24
- 104. Pellock JM, Faught E, Leppik IE et al (2006) Felbamate: consensus of current clinical experience. Epilepsy Res 71:89–101
- 105. Pellock JM (1999) Felbamate. Epilepsia 40(Suppl 5):S57–S62
- 106. Sveinbjornsdottir S, Sander JW, Upton D et al (1993) The excitatory amino acid antagonist D-CPP-ene (SDZ EAA-494) in patients with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 16:165–174
- 107. Schmitt B, Netzer R, Fanconi S et al (1994) Drug refractory epilepsy in brain damage: effect of dextromethorphan on EEG in four patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 3:333–339
- 108. Chien Y, Lin M, Weng W et al (2012) Dextromethorphan in the treatment of early myoclonic encephalopathy evolving into migrating partial seizures in infancy. J Formos Med Assoc 111:290–294
- 109. Wieser HG, Beck H (1992) Improvement of medically refractory temporal lobe epilepsy with dextromethorphan. J Epilepsy 5:246–247
- 110. Muir K, Palmer G (1991) Remacemide. Epilepsy Res Suppl 3:147–152
- 111. Whitehead J (2001) Monotherapy trials: sequential design. Epilepsy Res 45:81–87

- 112. Chadwick DW, Betts TA, Boddie HG et al (2002) Remacemide hydrochloride as an addon therapy in epilepsy: a randomized, placebocontrolled trial of three dose levels (300, 600 and 1200 mg/day) in a Q.I.D. regimen. Seizure 11:114–123
- 113. Mazarati AM, Wasterlain CG (1999) N-Methyl-D-asparate receptor antagonists abolish the maintenance phase of selfsustaining status epilepticus in rat. Neurosci Lett 265:187–190
- 114. Pitkänen A, Mathiesen C, Rønn LCB et al (2007) Effect of novel AMPA antagonist, NS1209, on status epilepticus. An experimental study in rat. Epilepsy Res 74:45–54
- 115. Gill M, Frausto S, Ikoma M et al (2010) A series of structurally novel heterotricyclic α-amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate receptor-selective antagonists. Br J Pharmacol 160:1417–1429
- 116. Yamaguchi S, Donevan SD, Rogawski MA (1993) Anticonvulsant activity of AMPA/kainate antagonists: comparison of GYKI 52466 and NBOX in maximal electroshock and chemoconvulsant seizure models. Epilepsy Res 15:179–184
- 117. Namba T, Morimoto K, Sato K et al (1994) Antiepileptogenic and anticonvulsant effects of NBQX, a selective AMPA receptor antagonist, in the rat kindling model of epilepsy. Brain Res 638:36–44
- 118. Schoepp DD, Lodge D, Bleakman D et al (1995) In vitro and in vivo antagonism of AMPA receptor activation by (3S, 4aR, 6R, 8aR)-6-[2-(1(2)H-tetrazole-5-yl) ethyl] decahydroisoquinoline-3-carboxylic acid. Neuropharmacology 34:1159–1168
- 119. Katsumori H, Minabe Y, Osawa M, Ashby CR (1998) Acute effects of various GABA receptor agonists and glutamate antagonists on focal hippocampal seizures in freely moving rats elicited by low-frequency stimulation. Synapse 28:103–109
- 120. Kodama M, Yamada N, Sato K et al (1999) Effects of YM90K, a selective AMPA receptor antagonist, on amygdala-kindling and longterm hippocampal potentiation in the rat. Eur J Pharmacol 374:11–19
- 121. Hara H, Yamada N, Kodama M et al (2006) Effect of YM872, a selective and highly watersoluble AMPA receptor antagonist, in the rat kindling and rekindling model of epilepsy. Eur J Pharmacol 531:59–65
- 122. Mignani S, Bohme GA, Birraux G et al (2002)
   9-Carboxymethyl-5H,10H-imidazo[1,2-a]
   indeno[1,2-e]pyrazin-4-one-2-carbocylic
   Acid (RPR117824): selective anticonvulsive

and neuroprotective AMPA antagonist. Bioorg Med Chem 10:1627–1637

- 123. Chapman AG, Smith SE, Meldrum BS (1991) The anticonvulsant effect of the non-NMDA antagonists, NBQX and GYKI 52466, in mice. Epilepsy Res 9:92–96
- 124. Wienrich M, Brenner M, Loscher W et al (2001) In vivo pharmacology of BIIR 561 CL, a novel combined antagonist of AMPA receptors and voltage-dependent Na(+) channels. Br J Pharmacol 133:789–796
- 125. Gigler G, Móricz K, Ágoston M et al (2007) Neuroprotective and anticonvulsant effects of EGIS-8332, a non-competitive AMPA receptor antagonist, in a range of animal models. Br J Pharmacol 152:151–160
- 126. Howes JF, Bell C (2007) Talampanel. Neurotherapeutics 4:126–129
- 127. Hanada T, Hashizume Y, Tokuhara N et al (2011) Perampanel: a novel, orally active, noncompetitive AMPA-receptor antagonist that reduces seizure activity in rodent models of epilepsy. Epilepsia 52:1331–1340
- 128. Nielsen EO, Varming T, Mathiesen C et al (1999) SPD 502: a water-soluble and in vivo long-lasting AMPA antagonist with neuroprotective activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289:1492–1501
- 129. Langan YM, Lucas R, Jewell H et al (2003) Talampanel, a new antiepileptic drug: singleand multiple-dose pharmacokinetics and initial 1-week experience in patients with chronic intractable epilepsy. Epilepsia 44:46–53
- 130. Chappell AS, Sander JW, Brodie MJ et al (2002) A crossover, add-on trial of talampanel in patients with refractory partial seizures. Neurology 58:1680–1682
- 131. Grossman SA, Ye X, Chamberlain M et al (2009) Talampanel with standard radiation and temozolomide in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma: a multicenter phase II trial. J Clin Oncol 27:4155–4161
- 132. Pascuzzi RM, Shefner J, Chappell AS et al (2010) A phase II trial of talampanel in subjects with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler 11:266–271
- 133. Krauss GL, Bar M, Biton V et al (2012) Tolerability and safety of perampanel: two randomized dose-escalation studies. Acta Neurol Scand 125:8–15
- 134. Krauss GL, Perucca E, Ben-Menachem E et al (2013) Perampanel, a selective, noncompetitive α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4isoxazolepropionic acid receptor antagonist, as adjunctive therapy for refractory partialonset seizures: interim results from phase III, extension study 307. Epilepsia 54:126–134

- 135. Vignes M, Bleakman D, Lodge D, Collingridge GL (1997) The synaptic activation of the GluR5 subtype of kainate receptor in area CA3 of the rat hippocampus. Neuropharmacology 36:1477–1481
- 136. Cossart R, Esclapez M, Hirsch JC et al (1998) GluR5 kainate receptor activation in interneurons increases tonic inhibition of pyramidal cells. Nat Neurosci 1:470–478
- 137. Christensen JK, Paternain AV, Selak S et al (2004) A mosaic of functional kainate receptors in hippocampal interneurons. J Neurosci 24:8986–8993
- 138. Wu LJ, Zhao MG, Toyoda H et al (2005) Kainate receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in the adult anterior cingulate cortex. J Neurophysiol 94:1805–1813
- 139. Wondolowski J, Frerking M (2009) Subunitdependent postsynaptic expression of kainate receptors on hippocampal interneurons in area CA1. J Neurosci 29:563–574
- 140. Aroniadou-Anderjaska V, Pidoplichko VI, Figueiredo TH et al (2012) Presynaptic facilitation of glutamate release in the basolateral amygdala: a mechanism for the anxiogenic and seizurogenic function of GluK1 receptors. Neuroscience 221:157–169
- 141. Jane DE, Lodge D, Collingridge GL (2009) Kainate receptors: pharmacology, function andtherapeuticpotential. Neuropharmacology 56:90–113
- 142. Smolders I, Bortolotto ZA, Clarke VRJ et al (2002) Antagonists of GLU(K5)-containing kainate receptors prevent pilocarpine-induced limbic seizures. Nat Neurosci 5:796–804
- 143. Fritsch B, Reis J, Gasior M et al (2014) Role of GluK1 kainate receptors in seizures, epileptic discharges, and epileptogenesis. J Neurosci 34:5765–5775
- 144. Vincent P, Mulle C (2009) Kainate receptors in epilepsy and excitotoxicity. Neuroscience 158:309–323
- 145. Kaminski RM, Banerjee M, Rogawski MA (2004) Topiramate selectively protects against seizures induced by ATPA, a GluR5 kainate receptor agonist. Neuropharmacology 46:1097–1104
- 146. Alexander GM, Godwin DW (2006) Metabotropic glutamate receptors as a strategic target for the treatment of epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 71:1–22
- 147. Wong RK, Bianchi R, Taylor GW, Merlin LR (1999) Role of metabotropic glutamate receptors in epilepsy. Adv Neurol 79:685–698
- 148. Anwyl R (1999) Metabotropic glutamate receptors: electrophysiological properties and role in plasticity. Brain Res Rev 29:83–120

- 149. Tizzano JP, Griffey KI, Johnson JA et al (1993) Intracerebral 1S,3R-1-aminocyclopentane-1,3-dicarboxylic acid (1S,3R-ACPD) produces limbic seizures that are not blocked by ionotropic glutamate receptor antagonists. Neurosci Lett 162:12–16
- 150. Chapman AG, Yip PK, Yap JS et al (1999) Anticonvulsant actions of LY 367385 ((+)-2-methyl-4-carboxyphenylglycine) and AIDA ((RS)-1-aminoindan-1,5-dicarboxylic acid). Eur J Pharmacol 368:17–24
- 151. Renaud J, Emond M, Meilleur S et al (2002) AIDA, a class I metabotropic glutamatereceptor antagonist limits kainate-induced hippocampal dysfunction. Epilepsia 43:1306–1317
- 152. Shannon HE, Peters SC, Kingston AE (2005) Anticonvulsant effects of LY456236, a selective mGlu1 receptor antagonist. Neuropharmacology 49:188–195
- 153. De Vry J, Horváth E, Schreiber R (2001) Neuroprotective and behavioral effects of the selective metabotropic glutamate mGlu(1) receptor antagonist BAY 36-7620. Eur J Pharmacol 428:203–214
- 154. Ngomba RT, Ferraguti F, Badura A et al (2008) Positive allosteric modulation of metabotropic glutamate 4 (mGlu4) receptors enhances spontaneous and evoked absence seizures. Neuropharmacology 54:344–354
- 155. D'Amore V, Santolini I, Van Rijn CM et al (2013) Potentiation of mGlu5 receptors with the novel enhancer, VU0360172, reduces spontaneous absence seizures in WAG/Rij rats. Neuropharmacology 66:330–338
- 156. Chapman AG, Nanan K, Williams M, Meldrum BS (2000) Anticonvulsant activity of two metabotropic glutamate Group I antagonists selective for the mGlu5 receptor: 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP), and (E)-6-methyl-2-styryl-pyridine (SIB 1893). Neuropharmacology 39:1567–1574
- 157. Mares P (2009) Age-dependent anticonvulsant action of antagonists of group I glutamate metabotropic receptors in rats. Epilepsy Res 83:215–223
- 158. Zavala-Tecuapetla C, Kubová H, Otáhal J et al (2014) Age-dependent suppression of hippocampal epileptic afterdischarges by metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonist MTEP. Pharmacol Rep 66:927–930
- 159. Borowicz KK, Łuszczki JJ, Czuczwar SJ (2004) SIB 1893, a selective mGluR5 receptor antagonist, potentiates the anticonvulsant activity of oxcarbazepine against amygdalakindled convulsions in rats. Pol J Pharmacol 56:459–464

- 160. Monn JA, Valli MJ, Massey SM et al (1997) Design, synthesis, and pharmacological characterization of (+)-2-Aminobicyclo[3.1.0] hexane-2,6-dicarboxylic Acid (LY354740): a potent, selective, and orally active group 2 metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist possessing anticonvulsant and anxiolytic properties. J Med Chem 40:528–537
- 161. Attwell PJ, Koumentaki A, Abdul-Ghani AS et al (1998) Specific group II metabotropic glutamate receptor activation inhibits the development of kindled epilepsy in rats. Brain Res 787:286–291
- 162. Klodzinska A, Bijak M, Chojnacka-Wojcik E et al (2000) Roles of group II metabotropic glutamate receptors in modulation of seizure activity. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 361:283–288
- 163. Caulder EH, Riegle MA, Godwin DW (2014) Activation of Group 2 metabotropic glutamate receptors reduces behavioral and electrographic correlates of pilocarpine induced status epilepticus. Epilepsy Res 108:171–181
- 164. Miyamoto M, Ishida M, Shinozaki H (1997) Anticonvulsive and neuroprotective actions of a potent agonist (DCG-IV) for group II metabotropic glutamate receptors against intraventricular kainate in the rat. Neuroscience 77:131–140
- 165. Moldrich RX, Jeffrey M, Talebi A et al (2001) Anti-epileptic activity of group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists (--)-2-oxa-4aminobicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-4,6-dicarboxylate (LY379268) and (--)-2-thia-4-aminobicyclo[3.1.0]hexane-4,6-dicarboxylate (LY389795). Neuropharmacology 41:8–18
- 166. Ngomba RT, Biagioni F, Casciato S et al (2005) The preferential mGlu2/3 receptor antagonist, LY341495, reduces the frequency of spike-wave discharges in the WAG/Rij rat model of absence epilepsy. Neuropharmacology 49(Suppl 1):89–103
- 167. Tang E, Yip PK, Chapman AG et al (1997) Prolonged anticonvulsant action of glutamate metabotropic receptor agonists in inferior colliculus of genetically epilepsy-prone rats. Eur J Pharmacol 327:109–115
- 168. Abdul-Ghani AS, Attwell PJE, Kent NS et al (1997) Anti-epileptogenic and anticonvulsant activity of L-2-amino-4-phosphonobutyrate, a presynaptic glutamate receptor agonist. Brain Res 755:202–212
- 169. Watanabe Y, Kaida Y, Fukuhara S et al (2011) Participation of metabotropic glutamate receptors in pentetrazol-induced kindled seizure. Epilepsia 52:140–150

- 170. Tizzano JP, Griffey KI, Schoepp DD (1995) Induction or protection of limbic seizures in mice by mGluR subtype selective agonists. Neuropharmacology 34:1063–1067
- 171. Suzuki K, Mori N, Kittaka H et al (1996) Anticonvulsant action of metabotropic glutamate receptor agonists in kindled amygdala of rats. Neurosci Lett 204:41–44
- 172. Chapman AG, Nanan K, Yip P, Meldrum BS (1999) Anticonvulsant activity of a metabotropic glutamate receptor 8 preferential agonist, (R, S)-4-phosphonophenylglycine. Eur J Pharmacol 383:23–27
- 173. Chapman AG, Talebi A, Yip PK, Meldrum BS (2001)Anticonvulsant activity of a mGlu(4alpha) receptor selective agonist, (1S,3R,4S)-1aminocyclopentane-1,2,4-tricarboxylic acid. Eur J Pharmacol 424:107–113
- 174. Gasparini F, Bruno V, Battaglia G et al (1999) (R, S)-4-Phosphonophenylglycine, a potent and selective group III metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist, is anticonvulsive and neuroprotective in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 289:1678–1687
- 175. Domin H, Gołembiowska K, Zie B, Maria S (2014) Group III mGlu receptor agonist, ACPT-I, exerts potential neuroprotective effects in vitro and in vivo. Neurotox Res 26:99–113

- 176. Bruno V, Battaglia G, Ksiazek I et al (2000) Selective activation of mGlu4 metabotropic glutamate receptors is protective against excitotoxic neuronal death. J Neurosci 20:6413–6420
- 177. Folbergrová J, Haugvicová R, Mares P (2003) Seizures induced by homocysteic acid in immature rats are prevented by group III metabotropic glutamate receptoragonist (R, S)-4-phosphonophenylglycine. Exp Neurol 180:46–54
- 178. Folbergrová J, Druga R, Haugvicová R et al (2008) Anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effect of (S)-3,4-dicarboxyphenylglycine against seizures induced in immature rats by homocysteic acid. Neuropharmacology 54:665–675
- 179. Ghauri M, Chapman AG, Meldrum BS (1996) Convulsant and anticonvulsant actions of agonists and antagonists of group III mGluRs. Neuroreport 7:1469–1474
- 180. Dietrich D, Kral T, Clusmann H et al (1999) Short communication Reduced function of L-AP4-sensitive metabotropic glutamate receptors in human epileptic sclerotic hippocampus. Eur J Neurosci 11:1109–1113
- 181. Snead OC, Banerjee PK, Burnham M, Hampson D (2000) Modulation of absence seizures by the GABA(A) receptor: a critical role for metabotropic glutamate receptor 4 (mGluR4). J Neurosci 20:6218–6224

# **Chapter 7**

## Neurosteroid Regulation of Seizures: Role of GABA<sub>A</sub> Receptor Plasticity

## Suchitra Joshi and Jaideep Kapur

## Abstract

Neurosteroids, which are derived from adrenal or gonadal steroid hormones or synthesized de novo from cholesterol in the brain, regulate neuronal excitability. Neurosteroids suppress seizures, and this action is particularly important in women with epilepsy, who may experience seizure exacerbation due to hormonal fluctuations associated with their menstrual cycle, called catamenial epilepsy. Neurosteroids exert their anticonvulsant action by increasing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor-mediated fast inhibitory neurotransmission. However, the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors expressed in epilepsy have altered subunit composition, such that higher concentrations of neurosteroids are required to enhance the inhibition. Despite advances in our understanding of the neurosteroid regulation of seizures via modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, our knowledge of whether endogenous neurosteroid synthesis is altered by seizures or in epilepsy is incomplete. Furthermore, the molecular mechanisms that trigger the down-regulation of neurosteroid-sensitive GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors could provide novel targets for the development of therapies aimed at a better management of seizures in women with epilepsy.

Key words Neurosteroids, GABAA receptor, Epilepsy, Catamenial epilepsy

## 1 Introduction

The pioneering work of Seyle (1942) first demonstrated the anesthetic and anticonvulsant actions of reproductive and adrenal steroid hormones [1]. Neurosteroids, a term used to describe neuroactive derivatives of steroid hormones [2], have since been a focus of intense research. The discovery of an interaction between neurosteroids and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid type-A (GABA<sub>A</sub>) receptors provided a molecular target for the action of neurosteroids in the brain [3, 4]. Kokate and colleagues later discovered that the rank order potency of the anticonvulsant action of neurosteroids was similar to their potency for activating GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors [5]. The anticonvulsant action of neurosteroids through modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors has been extensively studied in clinical settings and in experimental animals. In this chapter, we review the advances

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_7, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

in our understanding of the neurosteroid regulation of seizures, with a particular focus on the neurosteroid control of seizures in women with epilepsy.

## 2 Neurosteroid Synthesis in the Brain

Allopregnanolone (THP,  $3\alpha$  5 $\alpha$ -tetrahydroprogesterone) and tetrahydrodeoxycorticosterone (THDOC) are the two major neurosteroids; they are derived from gonadal and adrenal steroid hormones and can readily cross the blood-brain barrier (Fig. 1). However, circulating steroid hormones are not the only source for neurosteroids in the brain; neurosteroids were found to be present in the brain of animals that underwent adrenalectomy and gonadectomy or after pharmacological suppression of the adrenal and gonadal secretions [6, 7]. Furthermore, neurosteroid levels in the brain also exhibited a circadian cycle that was unrelated to the steroid levels in the blood [8]. These findings indicate that the brain may be able to synthesize neurosteroids from a precursor other than the circulating steroid hormones. Subsequent studies have indeed established that the brain is not only a target of neurosteroids but also a neurosteroidogenic organ (Fig. 1) [9, 10].

De novo synthesis of neurosteroids in the brain utilizes cholesterol as a precursor. The enzyme StAR or translocator protein (TSPO), also called as peripheral benzodiazepine receptor, is located on the outer mitochondria membrane and transports cholesterol from the cytoplasm to the inner mitochondrial compartment [11– 13]. The enzyme P450 side-chain cleavage then converts cholesterol to pregnanolone in the first and rate-limiting step of neurosteroid biosynthesis [14]. The subsequent enzymatic reactions occur in the cytoplasm, where pregnanolone is first converted to progesterone by the enzyme 5 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase and then to THP via an intermediate compound, dihydroprogesterone. The enzymes 5 $\alpha$ -reductase and 3 $\alpha$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase regulate the conversion of progesterone to dihydroprogesterone and then to THP, respectively. Circulating steroid hormones can also be used in this biosynthetic pathway to synthesize neurosteroids.

The neurosteroid synthetic enzymes are expressed in the brain across amphibians, birds, and mammals [9]. Immunohistochemical studies and in situ hybridization analyses have revealed a CNSwide distribution of the mRNA and/or protein of these enzymes beginning from the early postnatal age [9, 15–20]. Thus, brain neurosteroid synthesis occurs throughout the life-span of an animal. Excitatory neurons in the cortex, hippocampus, amygdala, thalamus, and hypothalamus express the enzymes involved in neurosteroid synthesis [16, 18–25]. Interestingly, GABAergic interneurons in the hippocampus are devoid of neurosteroid synthetic enzymes [26]. Thus, there may be an autocrine mechanism to regulate the excitability of the principal neurons.



**Fig. 1** A schematic representation of endogenous neurosteroid synthesis in the brain from cholesterol. Cholesterol is transferred from the cytoplasm to the inner mitochondrial membrane by StAR (steroidogenic acute regulatory protein), also called as translocator protein (TSPO), or peripheral benzodiazepine receptors. In the inner mitochondrial membrane, cholesterol, in a rate-limiting step, is converted to pregnanolone by the activity of the enzyme cytochrome P450 side-chain cleavage (P450scc). Pregnanolone is then converted to progesterone in the cytoplasm by the enzyme 3 $\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 $\beta$ -HSD). In the subsequent reactions, progesterone is converted to dihydroprogesterone by the enzyme 5 $\alpha$ -reductase (5 $\alpha$ -R). This is the second rate-limiting step in neurosteroid synthesis from cholesterol. Finally, dihydroprogesterone is converted to tetrahydroprogesterone (THP), also called allopregnanolone, by the enzyme 3 $\alpha$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (3 $\alpha$ -HSD). The enzyme 3 $\alpha$ -HSD has bidirectional activity and can also convert THP to dihydroprogesterone. Allopregnanolone then can activate GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors expressed in the same cell or surrounding cells

### **3** Neurosteroid Modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> Receptors

3.1 GABA<sub>A</sub> Receptors

Neurosteroids are potent modulators of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, which are ligand-gated chloride channels that mediate inhibitory neurotransmission in the brain and spinal cord [3, 27–32]. These pentameric receptors are composed of membrane-spanning subunits ( $\alpha_{1-6}$ ,  $\beta_{1-3}$ ,  $\gamma_{1-3}$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\pi$ ,  $\varepsilon$ , and  $\theta$ ) that are encoded by 19 genes [33– 35]. A majority of the receptors are composed of 2  $\alpha$ , 2  $\beta$ , and a  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$  or  $\varepsilon$  subunits [35]. The receptors containing a  $\gamma$  subunit are generally, but not exclusively, expressed at the synapses [36–39], whereas  $\gamma$  subunit-lacking receptors, such as those containing a  $\delta$  subunit, are exclusively extrasynaptic [38, 40]. There is also a region- and neuron-specific preferential subunit assembly; for example, the  $\delta$  subunits expressed on hippocampal DGCs, thalamic neurons, and cerebellar granule neurons assemble with the  $\alpha$ 4 and  $\alpha$ 6 subunits [41–43]. In contrast, the  $\delta$  subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors expressed on hilar interneurons contain the  $\alpha$ 1 subunits [44, 45].

The subunits of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors consist of a large "N" terminal extracellular domain, four transmembrane domains (TM1-4), and a small extracellular "C" terminal region. The TM2 domains line the chloride channel, and the sites for binding to GABA and benzodiazepines are present in the "N" terminal extracellular loop [46, 47]. The neurosteroid-binding sites are located within the transmembrane domains of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  subunits [48] and are distinct from those for GABA, benzodiazepines, and barbiturates. Neurosteroids exhibit an enantio-selectivity in activating GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, which indicates the stringent structural requirements of the neurosteroid-binding site [49]. Furthermore, due to their lipophilic nature, neurosteroids can access the binding site either from inside the cell or through lateral diffusion across the membrane [50]. Neurosteroids have a dual mode of action on GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors: in nanomolar concentrations, found under physiological conditions, neurosteroids exert an allosteric effect on GABARs, whereas at micromolar concentrations, neurosteroids act like an agonist [51]. The residues T236 and Q241 on the  $\alpha$ 1 subunits are proposed to bind to neurosteroids; T236 is involved in direct activation, whereas Q241 is involved in potentiation and activation [48]. A third site, which is yet not fully characterized, is involved in the interaction with sulfated steroids [52], which generally reduce GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission [53–55].

Studies using recombinant receptors have revealed that neurosteroids act on receptors composed of many different subunit combinations; however, certain subunits confer higher neurosteroid sensitivity on the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor [51, 56–58]. For example, the  $\delta$  subunit-containing receptors have a higher neurosteroid sensitivity than other GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor subtypes [57, 59], and certain behavioral effects of neurosteroids are diminished in mice lacking  $\delta$  subunit expression [60]. Thus, neurosteroids regulate the excitability of hippocampal DGCs, thalamic neurons, and cerebellar granule neurons, which express high levels of the  $\delta$  subunitcontaining GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors.

Neurosteroids increase the conductance of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. In cultured spinal cord neurons, two conductance states of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors were found to be present based on the properties of single-channel recordings: a main conductance state and a smaller sub-conductance state [61]. In the presence of neurosteroids, channel openings to the main conductance state were more frequent. Neurosteroids also enhance the GABA efficacy of  $\delta$  subunit-containing receptors [62].



**Fig. 2** A schematic representation of the neurosteroid modulation of synaptic and extrasynaptic GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor-mediated inhibition (**a**). The synaptic  $\gamma$ 2 subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors mediate rapid phasic inhibition in response to GABA released from the presynaptic terminal. This type of current can be recorded as sIPSCs or mIPSCs. Neurosteroids at physiological concentrations prolong the decay of synaptic current (**b**). The decay of averaged mIPSCs recorded from hippocampal DGCs is prolonged after (*red*) application of 10 nM allopregnanolone compared to the decay before allopregnanolone application (*black*). The extrasynaptic GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors mediate the tonic current in response to GABA spilled from the synaptic cleft or released by glia. The tonic current is typically recorded in terms of shifts in the holding current or as membrane noise (RMS noise) (**c**), which is enhanced following application of agents that activate the receptors and reduced by agents that block the receptors. Please note the increase in holding current following bath application of allopregnanolone (10 nM, *arrow*, THP). Furthermore, application of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor antagonists such as picrotoxin (50  $\mu$ M) blocked the synaptic currents and reduced the holding current. The traces at the bottom show RMS noise from areas 1, 2, and 3 on the current trace; note the increase in the RMS noise from 8.8 to 9.5 pA following allopregnanolone application and the reduction in the RMS noise to 8 pA following picrotoxin application (**d**)

## 3.2 Neurosteroid Modulation of Synaptic and Tonic Inhibition

Neurosteroids modulate both the fast synaptic and slow tonic inhibition. The synaptic GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors mediate a fast inhibition in response to release of GABA from the presynaptic terminal (Fig. 2). On the other hand, extrasynaptic GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors mediate a slow persistent background inhibition called tonic inhibition [63, 64] and play an important role in regulating the excitability [65, 66]. The tonic inhibition is typically measured as the change in holding current in response to drugs that modulate GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. Another measure of tonic current is the change in membrane noise (root mean square noise, RMS noise), which reflects opening and closing of the channels, in response to GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor-modulatory

drugs [64, 65, 67]. The application of low nanomolar concentrations of neurosteroids prolongs the decay of mIPSCs. Similar concentrations of neurosteroids also enhance the holding current and RMS noise, indicative of augmentation of tonic current (Fig. 2).

The effect of neurosteroids on synaptic and tonic currents has largely been studied using exogenous application of known concentrations of THP or THDOC. The way that endogenous neurosteroids may shape the GABAergic inhibition is not well understood. Keller and colleagues treated acutely isolated spinal cord slices with finasteride to block endogenous neurosteroid synthesis [68]. The decay of mIPSCs recorded from lamina II neurons of finasteride-treated slices was shorter than that recorded from control slices [68]. These findings revealed that endogenously synthesized neurosteroids indeed increase the total charge transfer by GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors.

In addition to the acute effects of neurosteroids, prolonged exposure to neurosteroids changes the expression of  $GABA_A$  receptors [69, 70]. Estrus cycle-linked hormonal fluctuations influence  $\delta$  subunit expression; high progesterone levels are associated with increased  $\delta$  subunit expression and vice versa, whereas the expression of  $\gamma 2$  subunit follows an opposite trend [71, 72]. The alterations in  $\delta$  subunit expression were blocked by finasteride [73]. The expression of  $\alpha 4$  subunits on the other hand was increased following neurosteroid withdrawal via mechanisms involving Egr3 [74]. Changes in the reproductive hormones and neurosteroid levels at the onset of puberty, during pregnancy, and postpartum also induce alterations in GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor expression [75, 76]. The expression of the  $\delta$  subunit increases at late stages of pregnancy, whereas that of the  $\gamma 2$  subunit decreases [75]. The expression of the  $\delta$  and  $\gamma 2$  subunits returns to the basal levels postpartum, whereas that of the  $\alpha 4$  subunit increases [75]. The long-term use of contraceptives also increases the expression of the  $\gamma 2$  subunit [77], which could influence seizure management in women with epilepsy.

3.4 Reduced Neurosteroid Modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> Receptors in DGCs of Epileptic Animals

3.3 Effect

of Neurosteroids

on the Expression

of GABA<sub>A</sub> Receptors

The hippocampus is a major site of seizure generation and propagation [78]. Hippocampal DGCs are highly inhibited and act as a "gate" to prevent the spread of activity into the hippocampus proper, which consists of intrinsically excitable neurons of the CA1–CA3 subfields [79, 80]. An impaired GABA<sub>A</sub> receptormediated inhibition of DGCs could compromise the dentate "gating" function and recruit the hippocampus proper [81, 82].

The GABAergic inhibition of DGCs plays an important role in maintaining the "gating" function of DGCs; however, the efficacy of GABAergic inhibition of DGCs is reduced in epilepsy. The whole-cell GABA-evoked currents of DGCs were found to be larger in epileptic animals [83, 84], the amplitude of sIPSCs and mIPSCs enhanced [85–87], and the tonic current unaltered [39, 88]. However, the neurosteroid modulation of GABA-evoked whole-cell currents, synaptic currents, and tonic current was

diminished in DGCs of epileptic animals [39, 83, 85, 88]. Nanomolar concentrations of allopregnanolone prolonged the decay of mIPSCs recorded from DGCs of naïve animals, but not in the DGCs of epileptic animals [85]. In addition, a fraction of hilar interneurons was also lost in epileptic animals [89–92]. In association with the reduced neurosteroid sensitivity of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors expressed on DGCs of epileptic animals, there was a loss of neurosteroid control of the excitability of DGCs [45].

The diminution in neurosteroid modulation of synaptic and tonic currents is due to alterations in the expression and characteristics of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in experimental animal models and [39, 45, 88, 93–98] in human epilepsy [99–101]. Most prominently, the expression of the  $\alpha l$  and  $\delta$  subunits is reduced at the mRNA and protein levels in the DGCs of epileptic animals [39, 45, 88, 93-95]. Immunohistochemical studies have revealed that the expression of the  $\delta$  subunit decreases rapidly following status epilepticus and remains low throughout during the period of recurrent spontaneous seizures [39, 45, 88, 94, 95]. Because the tonic current regulates neuronal excitability, this early reduction in  $\delta$ subunit expression likely contributes to the breakdown of the dentate gating function. In contrast to the reduced  $\delta$  subunit expression on DGCs, the  $\delta$  subunit immunoreactivity on interneurons was shown to be upregulated following status epilepticus, and the tonic current was augmented [45, 102]. Taken together, the alterations in  $\delta$  subunit expression following status epilepticus likely increase the excitability of DGCs while simultaneously reducing the excitability of interneurons. The molecular mechanisms triggering the down-regulation of  $\delta$  subunit expression following status epilepticus are not fully understood. We have found that the activation of NMDA receptors and increased phosphorylation of ERK1/2 reduced  $\delta$  subunit expression in cultured hippocampal neurons [103]. NMDARs are activated [104] and the phosphorylation of ERK1/2 is also increased during status epilepticus [105– 107], and they may contribute to the subsequent reduction in  $\delta$ subunit expression.

The expression of  $\alpha$ l subunits, which are present in a majority of synaptic receptors expressed on DGCs, was also shown to be reduced in epileptic animals [45, 93–95], and this reduction was triggered by activation of the JAK/STAT pathway [98]. Furthermore, the reduced  $\alpha$ l subunit expression may contribute to the development of the seizure phenotype, as preventing  $\alpha$ l subunit down-regulation suppressed epileptogenesis [93].

There is a compensatory upregulation of  $\alpha 4$  and  $\gamma 2$  subunit expression in DGCs of epileptic animals [45, 88, 98]. Electron microscopic studies have revealed increased expression of  $\alpha 4\gamma 2$ subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in DGCs of epileptic animals [39, 85]. We have also found that a larger fraction of  $\alpha 4$  subunits co-precipitated with the  $\gamma 2$  subunits in DGCs of epileptic animals [88], indicative of altered subunit assembly. However, the  $\alpha 4\gamma 2$  subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors have lower affinity to neurosteroids than  $\alpha 1\gamma 2$  or  $\alpha 4\delta$  subunit-containing receptors, and the compensatory changes are not sufficient to restore the neurosteroid modulation of synaptic and tonic currents [39, 85, 88]. The upregulation of  $\alpha 4$  subunits in epilepsy is triggered by mechanisms involving the transcription factor Egr3 [108]. Thus, although  $\alpha 4\beta x\delta$  and  $\alpha 1\beta x\gamma 2$  subunit-containing receptors are expressed in naïve animals, the expression of the partnering subunits is differentially regulated and novel receptors with reduced neurosteroid affinity are expressed in epileptic animals [39, 85, 88, 98].

It is important to note that the reduction in  $\delta$  subunit expression following status epilepticus occurs before the compensatory changes are seen. Thus, there may be a period of heightened susceptibility following status epilepticus. Studies using voltage-sensitive dyes have found that the "gating" function of DGCs is transiently compromised in slices obtained from post-status epilepticus animals [81]. However, it is unlikely that the "gating" function of DGCs is fully restored in vivo following status epilepticus.

In addition to the differential alterations in the expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor subunits, phosphorylation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors also appears to influence neurosteroid modulation. In one study, inhibition of PKC or PKA reduced the ability of neurosteroids to prolong the decay of mIPSCs recorded from CA1 pyramidal neurons [109], whereas in another study, phosphorylation of the  $\beta$ 3 subunit by PKC diminished the neurosteroid modulation of GABAergic inhibition [110].

There may also be a feedback regulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor phosphorylation by neurosteroids. Neurosteroids trigger the phosphorylation of the  $\alpha$ 4 subunit residue S443 by PKC and increase the cell surface stability of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors [111]. We have shown that the kinetics of trafficking of the  $\delta$  and  $\gamma$ 2 subunit-containing receptors are distinct and that BDNF and PKC activation may play a role in regulating the surface expression of  $\delta$  subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors [112, 113]. Thus, stimuli that change the protein kinase activity/expression may also influence the surface expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors and in turn affect their neurosteroid modulation.

## 4 Neurosteroid Regulation of Seizures

4.1 Seizure Suppression by Neurosteroids Progesterone and its neurosteroid derivative allopregnanolone exert anticonvulsant actions [114–117]. Finasteride blocks the seizure suppression by progesterone [118], and the anticonvulsant effects of progesterone are abolished in animals that do not express the enzyme  $5\alpha$ -reductase [119]. In contrast, finasteride did not affect the efficacy of allopregnanolone to suppress seizures [118].

These findings indicate that the anticonvulsant effects of progesterone are mediated through neurosteroids. The neurosteroid suppression of seizures has been confirmed in multiple animalmodels, inwhich treatment with progesterone, allopregnanolone, or THDOC blocked single seizures or prolonged seizures of status epilepticus (SE) evoked by chemoconvulsants such as PTZ, picrotoxin, bicuculline, kainic acid, and pilocarpine, as well as seizures triggered by electrical stimulation [5, 120–127]. Treatment with progesterone and neurosteroids also increased the threshold for chemical or electrical kindling [128–132]. Thus, neurosteroids can efficiently suppress limbic seizures.

Neurosteroids also regulate the occurrence of recurrent spontaneous seizures, which are a hallmark of epilepsy. Neurosteroid treatment is effective in suppressing recurrent spontaneous seizures. In one study, treatment with ganaxolone controlled antiepileptic drug-withdrawal-induced seizures in adult patients [133] and infantile spasms in pediatric patients [134]. In another study, ganaxolone was effective in treating drug refractory seizures in pediatric and adult patients [135].

4.2 Catamenial Neurosteroid regulation of recurrent spontaneous seizures is exemplified in women with epilepsy. A third of women of reproductive age with epilepsy may experience clustering of seizures, a condition called catamenial epilepsy [114, 115, 136–141]. Catamenial seizures are most prevalent in focal epilepsy, but are also observed in symptomatic, idiopathic, or cryptopathic epilepsy with or without a focus [139, 142, 143].

The levels of progesterone and estrogen fluctuate during the menstrual cycle; progesterone is secreted by the corpus luteum, and its levels remain high until the end of the menstrual cycle. On the other hand, estrogen levels peak mid-cycle and decrease following ovulation. Based on the period in which seizure exacerbation is observed, catamenial seizures can be divided into three types [140, 141]. In type I catamenial epilepsy, which is the most prevalent form, seizures cluster during the perimenstrual period, which is caused by the declining progesterone levels. On the other hand, seizure exacerbation in type II catamenial epilepsy occurs around ovulation. These seizures are triggered by high levels of estrogen, which typically exert proconvulsant effects [114, 115, 144-146]. Type III catamenial seizures are observed in women with anovulatory cycles and can occur mid-cycle or at the end of the cycle. Further, in women with epilepsy, the seizure frequency can change during puberty and pregnancy and around menopause [147–150]. We propose that these changes occur due to alterations in the endogenous hormonal milieu and the GABAA receptor plasticity. Seizures are more frequent when progesterone levels decrease in women with epilepsy [151, 152]. Similarly, in experimental animals, serum progesterone or allopregnanolone levels have an inverse

correlation with seizure frequency [71, 153]. Rats in proestrus/ estrus stages have higher allopregnanolone levels compared to rats in the diestrus stage, and the susceptibility to kainate-induced seizures is higher in animals in the diestrus stage [153].

In order to obtain insight into the mechanisms of catamenial seizures, Reddy and Rogawsky developed an animal model of catamenial epilepsy [115, 154–156]. In this model, circulating progesterone levels were elevated by administration of pregnant mare's serum gonadotropin (PMSG) followed by human chorionic gonadotropin ( $\beta$ -HCG), and a neurosteroid withdrawal condition was induced by finasteride, an inhibitor of the enzyme 5 $\alpha$ -reductase [154]. Finasteride-treated animals were more susceptible to PTZ-induced seizures compared to the animals that were not treated with finasteride or animals that did not receive PMSG and  $\beta$ -HCG. The heightened seizure susceptibility following finasteride treatment was also observed in the kindling of PMSG- and  $\beta$ -HCG-treated animals [157]. Thus, formerly elevated progesterone levels were necessary to observe finasteride-induced seizure precipitation.

These studies had some limitations. The effect of neurosteroid depletion on spontaneous seizures was not determined in these studies. Second, the GABAA receptors expressed in the hippocampi of epileptic animals have lower neurosteroid affinity; thus, a reduction in neurosteroid levels in epileptic animals is likely to have greater effects on neuronal excitation than those observed in naïve animals. Finally, Reddy and colleagues determined the effect of neurosteroid withdrawal only under the condition of high progesterone levels. Neurosteroids are synthesized in the brain independent of circulating progesterone, but the above study did not determine the effect of depleting de novo-synthesized neurosteroids on seizures. To address these issues, we determined the role of endogenous neurosteroid synthesis in the regulation of recurrent spontaneous seizures in epileptic animals (Fig. 3) [158]. Finasteride-induced neurosteroid withdrawal caused a dramatic increase in the frequency of spontaneous seizures in female epileptic animals. The increase in seizure frequency was more pronounced in animals with elevated progesterone levels than in animals in which progesterone levels were not elevated or maintained at a lower range. Administration of allopregnanolone blocked the increase in seizure frequency, indicating that endogenous neurosteroids or neurosteroids synthesized from circulating progesterone kept seizures suppressed [158]. In agreement with the findings in epileptic animals, an anecdotal study has revealed neurosteroid withdrawal-triggered seizure exacerbation in a woman with epilepsy after the start of finasteride treatment for male-pattern hair loss [159].

The findings in experimental animals led to a central hypothesis that catamenial seizures occur because of the development of tolerance to progesterone followed by a withdrawal. The question


**Fig. 3** Administration of finasteride (marked by *downward arrow*) to female epileptic animals either with elevated progesterone levels (**a**) or with maintained low progesterone levels (**b**) induces neurosteroid withdrawal and creates a window of increased seizure susceptibility (*red box*). The seizure precipitation following finasteride was more drastic in animals with elevated progesterone levels compared to that in animals with low progesterone levels [158]

of whether supplementing progesterone exogenously to prevent the decrease that occurs during the perimenstrual period suppression of catamenial seizures was addressed. In the early clinical trials progesterone treatment appeared to regulate catamenial seizures [152, 160, 161]. However, in a recent NINDS-supported phase III multicenter, double-blind clinical trial, progesterone was no more effective than placebo in controlling either catamenial or non-catamenial seizures [162]. A post hoc analysis suggested that there may be seizure suppression in women with type I catamenial epilepsy, in which seizure precipitation occurs due to a decrease in progesterone levels during the perimenstrual period [163]. The reasons behind the failure of this clinical trial could be multi-fold. First, the expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors, which are the targets of neurosteroids, is altered in epilepsy such that receptors with lower affinity to neurosteroids are expressed. Second, progesterone can also exert additional effects on the brain through activation of progesterone receptors [164]. The effects of progesterone receptor activation on seizures and the plasticity of neurotransmitter receptors are not well understood.

It is noteworthy that androgens also regulate seizures through modulation of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors [165, 166]. Testosterone derivatives can suppress seizures evoked by chemoconvulsants such as PTZ, pilocarpine, and 4-amino pyridine or by electrical stimulation [121, 167]. In one clinical study, testosterone treatment reduced the frequency of seizures in an individual with post-traumatic epilepsy [168]. Our preliminary studies showed that the blockade of endogenous neurosteroid synthesis also increases the frequency of spontaneous seizures in male epileptic animals [117]. Thus, although the neurosteroid regulation of seizures is pronounced in females due to cyclic hormonal fluctuations, the ongoing neurosteroid synthesis also regulates the seizure frequency in male epileptic animals.

#### 4.3 Neurosteroid Regulation of Epileptogenesis

In acquired epilepsy, spontaneous seizures develop as a consequence of an inciting stimulus, such as febrile seizures, status epilepticus, or brain trauma [169-171]. Preliminary studies in experimental animals suggest that neurosteroids may play a role in suppressing epileptogenesis, the process through which a normal brain is transformed into an epileptic brain [172-174]. Status epilepticus is a commonly used epileptogenic stimulus in experimental animals, and blockade of neurosteroid synthesis following status epilepticus accelerated the development of spontaneous seizures [172]. These preliminary findings suggest that endogenous neurosteroids may resist epileptogenesis or suppress the seizure phenotype. Neurosteroid synthesis may be increased following status epilepticus, as there is a transient increase in the expression of the enzyme cytochrome P450scc in the hippocampi of animals that experience pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus [172]. However, further studies are warranted to characterize the changes in endogenous neurosteroid synthesis and to determine brain neurosteroid levels following status epilepticus to understand whether endogenous neurosteroid synthesis is altered during epileptogenesis.

4.4 Stress Because stress hormones are precursors for some neurosteroids, they may also affect seizures. In experimental animals, acute stress and Seizures was shown to elevate neurosteroid levels in the brain and plasma [7, 124, 175] and upregulate the expression of enzymes involved in neurosteroid synthesis [176]. In accordance with an anticonvulsant action of stress steroids, exposure to acute stress exerts anticonvulsant action and elevates the seizure threshold [124, 177-179]. Stress also increases the levels of THP and upregulates the expression of 5a-reductase and cytochrome P450scc in the fetal brain [180]. However, in contrast to the anticonvulsant effects of acute stress observed in adult animals, exposure to early life stress appears to enhance the vulnerability to limbic epileptogenesis in adulthood [181, 182]. The secretion of corticosterone, which can alter the homeostatic plasticity, may explain these longterm effects of early life stressors.

In contrast to the protective effect of acute stress observed in naïve animals, stress is a self-reported factor associated with increased seizure frequency in epilepsy patients [183–185]. Altered expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in epilepsy may explain the differential effects of stress on the naïve brain vs. the effects on an epileptic brain.

### 5 Conclusions

Neurosteroids are synthesized in the brain and exert an anticonvulsant action in an autocrine manner. The rapid effects of neurosteroids on the brain are mediated by increasing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor-mediated inhibitory neurotransmission. The diminished neurosteroid sensitivity of GABAA receptors in epilepsy leads to a predisposition to hypersynchrony. The reduced expression of  $\delta$  subunit-containing GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors in epilepsy is of particular significance because these receptors are a target of neurosteroids at low nanomolar concentrations and regulate neuronal excitability. Neurosteroid regulation of seizures is manifested in women with epilepsy who are at a risk of experiencing catamenial seizure exacerbation. The mechanisms underlying catamenial seizure exacerbation involve cyclic fluctuations in the neurosteroid levels and the plasticity of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors. However, our knowledge of the mechanisms that regulate the expression and/or function of neurosteroid synthetic enzymes, particularly in epilepsy and following exposure to an epileptogenic stimulus, is incomplete. Understanding the molecular mechanisms that regulate the expression of neurosteroidogenic enzymes under pathophysiological conditions may open up novel avenues for therapeutic interventions. Furthermore, studies are also needed to understand the mechanisms that regulate the expression and surface membrane trafficking of the  $\delta$  subunitcontaining GABAA receptors, such that strategies can be devised to block the reduction in their expression in epilepsy.

#### References

- Selye H (1942) Antagonism between anesthetic steroid hormones and pentamethylene tetrazol (Metrazol). J Lab Clin Med 27:1051–1053
- Baulieu EE, Robel P, Vatior O, Haug A, Legoascogne C, Boorreau E (1987) Neurosteroids: pregnenolone and dehydroepiandrosterone in the rat brain. In: Fuxe K, Agant LF (eds) Receptor-receptor interaction, a new intra-membrane integrative mechanism. MacMillan, Basingstoke, p 89
- 3. Harrison NL, Simmonds MA (1984) Modulation of the GABA receptor complex by a steroid anaesthetic. Brain Res 323:287–292
- Majewska MD, Bisserbe JC, Eskay RL (1985) Glucocorticoids are modulators of GABAA receptors in brain. Brain Res 339:178–182
- Kokate TG, Svensson BE, Rogawski MA (1994) Anticonvulsant activity of neurosteroids: correlation with GABA-evoked chloride current potentiation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 270:1223–1229
- Corpechot C, Young J, Calvel M et al (1993) Neurosteroids: 3α-hydroxy-5α-pregnan-20-one and its precursors in the brain, plasma, and steroidogenic glands of male and female rats. Endocrinology 133:1003–1009

- Purdy RH, Morrow AL, Moore PH Jr, Paul SM (1991) Stress-induced elevations of GABAA receptor-active steroids in the rat brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:4553–4557
- Baulieu EE (1998) Neurosteroids: a novel function of the brain. Psychoneuroendocrinology 23:963–987
- 9. Do Rego JL, Seong JY, Burel D et al (2009) Neurosteroid biosynthesis: enzymatic pathways and neuroendocrine regulation by neurotransmitters and neuropeptides. Front Neuroendocrinol 30:259–301
- Mellon SH, Griffin LD, Compagnone NA (2001) Biosynthesis and action of neurosteroids. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 37:3–12
- Rupprecht R, Rammes G, Eser D et al (2009) Translocator protein (18 kD) as target for anxiolytics without benzodiazepine-like side effects. Science 325:490–493
- 12. Korneyev A, Pan BS, Polo A, Romeo E, Guidotti A, Costa E (1993) Stimulation of brain pregnenolone synthesis by mitochondrial diazepam binding inhibitor receptor ligands in vivo. J Neurochem 61:1515–1524
- Papadopoulos V, Lecanu L, Brown RC, Han Z, Yao ZX (2006) Peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor in neurosteroid biosynthesis,

neuropathology and neurological disorders. Neuroscience 138:749–756

- Le GC, Robel P, Gouezou M, Sananes N, Baulieu EE, Waterman M (1987) Neurosteroids: cytochrome P-450scc in rat brain. Science 237:1212–1215
- 15. Guennoun R, Fiddes RJ, Gouqzou M, LombFs M, Baulieu EE (1995) A key enzyme in the biosynthesis of neurosteroids,  $3\beta$ -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/ $\Delta$ 5- $\Delta$ 4isomerase ( $3\beta$ -HSD), is expressed in rat brain. Mol Brain Res 30:287–300
- Petratos S, Hirst JJ, Mendis S, Anikijenko P, Walker DW (2000) Localization of P450scc and 5α-reductase type-2 in the cerebellum of fetal and newborn sheep. Dev Brain Res 123:81–86
- 17. Mensah-Nyagan AG, Do-Rego JL, Beaujean D, Luu-The V, Pelletier G, Vaudry H (1999) Neurosteroids: expression of steroidogenic enzymes and regulation of steroid biosynthesis in the central nervous system. Pharmacol Rev 51:63–82
- Stoffel-Wagner B, Beyenburg S, Watzka M et al (2000) Expression of 5α-reductase and 3α-hydroxysteroid oxidoreductase in the hippocampus of patients with chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 41:140–147
- Stoffel-Wagner B, Watzka M, Steckelbroeck S et al (2003) Allopregnanolone serum levels and expression of 5α-reductase and 3α-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase isoforms in hippocampal and temporal cortex of patients with epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 54:11–19
- Stoffel-Wagner B (2003) Neurosteroid biosynthesis in the human brain and its clinical implications. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1007:64–78
- 21. King SR, Manna PR, Ishii T et al (2002) An essential component in steroid synthesis, the steroidogenic acute regulatory protein, is expressed in discrete regions of the brain. J Neurosci 22:10613–10620
- Melcangi RC, Poletti A, Cavarretta I et al (1998) The 5α-reductase in the central nervous system: expression and modes of control. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 65:295–299
- Stoffel-Wagner B (2001) Neurosteroid metabolism in the human brain. Eur J Endocrinol 145:669–679
- Ibanez C, Guennoun R, Liere P et al (2003) Developmental expression of genes involved in neurosteroidogenesis: 3β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/Δ5-Δ4 isomerase in the rat brain. Endocrinology 144:2902–2911
- 25. Kimoto T, Tsurugizawa T, Ohta Y et al (2002) Cytochrome P450-dependent neurosteroid synthesis in the rat brain hippocampal neurons. Int Congr Ser 1233:127–137

- 26. Agís-Balboa RC, Pinna G, Zhubi A et al (2006) Characterization of brain neurons that express enzymes mediating neurosteroid biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:14602–14607
- Majewska MD, Harrison NL, Schwartz RD, Barker JL, Paul SM (1986) Steroid hormone metabolites are barbiturate-like modulators of the GABA receptor. Science 232:1004–1007
- Morrow AL, Suzdak PD, Paul SM (1987) Steroid hormone metabolites potentiate GABA receptor-mediated chloride ion flux with nanomolar potency. Eur J Pharmacol 142:483–485
- 29. Gee KW, Bolger MB, Brinton RE, Coirini H, McEwen BS (1988) Steroid modulation of the chloride ionophore in rat brain: structureactivity requirements, regional dependence and mechanism of action. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 246:803–812
- Gee KW, Chang WC, Brinton RE, McEwen BS (1987) GABA-dependent modulation of the Cl<sup>-</sup> ionophore by steroids in rat brain. Eur J Pharmacol 136:419–423
- Callachan H, Cottrell GA, Hather NY, Lambert JJ, Nooney JM, Peters JA (1987) Modulation of the GABAA receptor by progesterone metabolites. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 231:359–369
- 32. Cottrell GA, Lambert JJ, Peters JA (1987) Modulation of GABAA receptor activity by alphaxalone. Br J Pharmacol 90:491–500
- Sieghart W, Sperk G (2002) Subunit composition, distribution and function of GABAA receptor subtypes. Curr Top Med Chem 2:795–816
- Mody I (2005) Aspects of the homeostaic plasticity of GABAA receptor-mediated inhibition. J Physiol 562:37–46
- Mohler H (2006) GABAA receptor diversity and pharmacology. Cell Tissue Res 326:505–516
- 36. Essrich C, Lorez M, Benson JA, Fritschy JM, Luscher B (1998) Postsynaptic clustering of major GABAA receptor subtypes requires the γ2 subunit and gephyrin. Nat Neurosci 1:563–571
- 37. Sun C, Sieghart W, Kapur J (2004) Distribution of  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 4$ ,  $\gamma 2$ , and  $\delta$  subunits of GABAA receptors in hippocampal granule cells. Brain Res 1029:207–216
- Nusser Z, Sieghart W, Somogyi P (1998) Segregation of different GABAA receptors to synaptic and extrasynaptic membranes of cerebellar granule cells. J Neurosci 18:1693–1703
- 39. Zhang N, Wei W, Mody I, Houser CR (2007) Altered localization of GABAA receptor subunits on dentate granule cell dendrites influences tonic and phasic inhibition in a mouse model of epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:7520–7531

Neurosteroid Regulation of Seizures...

- 40. Wei W, Zhang N, Peng Z, Houser CR, Mody I (2003) Perisynaptic localization of δ subunitcontaining GABAA receptors and their activation by GABA spillover in the mouse dentate gyrus. J Neurosci 23:10650–10661
- 41. Sur C, Farrar SJ, Kerby J, Whiting PJ, Atack JR, McKernan RM (1999) Preferential coassembly of  $\alpha 4$  and  $\delta$  subunits of the GABAA receptor in rat thalamus. Mol Pharmacol 56:110–115
- 42. Bencsits E, Ebert V, Tretter V, Sieghart W (1999) A significant part of native GABAA receptors containing  $\alpha 4$  subunits do not contain  $\gamma$  or  $\delta$  subunits. J Biol Chem 274:19613–19616
- 43. Quirk K, Gillard NP, Ragan CI, Whiting PJ, McKernan RM (1994) Model of subunit composition of GABAA receptor subtypes expressed in rat cerebellum with respect to their  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma/\delta$  subunits. J Biol Chem 269:16020–16028
- 44. Glykys J, Peng Z, Chandra D, Homanics GE, Houser CR, Mody I (2007) A new naturally occurring GABAA receptor subunit partnership with high sensitivity to ethanol. Nat Neurosci 10:40–48
- 45. Peng Z, Huang CS, Stell BM, Mody I, Houser CR (2004) Altered expression of the δ subunit of the GABAA receptor in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 24:8629–8639
- 46. Sigel E (2002) Mapping of the benzodiazepine recognition site on GABAA receptors. Curr Top Med Chem 2:833–839
- 47. Sieghart W (2015) Allosteric modulation of GABAA receptors via multiple drug-binding sites. Chapter 3. In: Uwe R (ed) Advances in pharmacology diversity and functions of GABA receptors: a tribute to Hanns Möhler, part A, Volume 72 edition. Academic. p 53
- Hosie AM, Wilkins ME, da Silva HMA, Smart TG (2006) Endogenous neurosteroids regulate GABAA receptors through two discrete transmembrane sites. Nature 444:486–489
- 49. Wittmer LL, Hu Y, Kalkbrenner M, Evers AS, Zorumski CF, Covey DF (1996) Enantioselectivity of steroid-induced GABAA receptor modulation and anesthesia. Mol Pharmacol 50:1581–1586
- 50. Akk G, Shu HJ, Wang C et al (2005) Neurosteroid Access to the GABAA Receptor. J Neurosci 25:11605–11613
- Puia G, Santi M, Vicini S et al (1990) Neurosteroids act on recombinant human GABAA receptors. Neuron 4:759–765
- 52. Hosie AM, Wilkins ME, Smart TG (2007) Neurosteroid binding sites on GABAA receptors. Pharmacol Ther 116:7–19

- Mtchedlishvili Z, Kapur J (2003) A presynaptic action of the neurosteroid pregnenolone sulfate on GABAergic synaptic transmission. Mol Pharmacol 64:857–864
- 54. Majewska MD, Mienville JM, Vicini S (1988) Neurosteroid pregnenolone sulfate antagonizes electrophysiological responses to GABA in neurons. Neurosci Lett 90:279–284
- 55. Park-Chung M, Malayev A, Purdy RH, Gibbs TT, Farb DH (1999) Sulfated and unsulfated steroids modulate GABAA receptor function through distinct sites. Brain Res 830:72–87
- 56. Maitra R, Reynolds JN (1998) Modulation of GABA(A) receptor function by neuroactive steroids: evidence for heterogeneity of steroid sensitivity of recombinant GABAA receptor isoforms. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 76:909–920
- 57. Belelli D, Casula A, Ling A, Lambert JJ (2002) The influence of subunit composition on the interaction of neurosteroids with GABAA receptors. Neuropharmacology 43:651–661
- 58. Puia G, Ducic I, Vicini S, Costa E (1993) Does neurosteroid modulatory efficacy depend on GABAA receptor subunit composition? Receptors Channels 1:135–142
- 59. Wohlfarth KM, Bianchi MT, Macdonald RL (2002) Enhanced neurosteroid potentiation of ternary GABAA receptors containing the  $\delta$  subunit. J Neurosci 22:1541–1549
- 60. Mihalek RM, Banerjee PK, Korpi ER et al (1999) Attenuated sensitivity to neuroactive steroids in GABAA receptor  $\delta$  subunit knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:12905–12910
- 61. Twyman RE, Macdonald RL (1992) Neurosteroid regulation of GABAA receptor single-channel kinetic properties of mouse spinal cord neurons in culture. J Physiol 456:215–245
- 62. Bianchi MT, Macdonald RL (2003) Neurosteroids shift partial agonist activation of GABAA receptor channels from low- to high-efficacy gating patterns. J Neurosci 23:10934–10943
- 63. Nusser Z, Mody I (2006) Selective modulation of tonic and phasic inhibitions in dentate gyrus granule cells. J Neurophysiol 87:2624–2628
- 64. Mtchedlishvili Z, Kapur J (2006) Highaffinity, slowly desensitizing GABAA receptors mediate tonic inhibition in hippocampal dentate granule cells. Mol Pharmacol 69:564–575
- 65. Stell BM, Brickley SG, Tang CY, Farrant M, Mody I (2003) Neuroactive steroids reduce neuronal excitability by selectively enhancing

tonic inhibition mediated by  $\delta$  subunit-containing GABAA receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:14439–14444

- 66. Walker MC, Semyanov A (2008) Regulation of excitability by extrasynaptic GABAA receptors. Results Probl Cell Differ 44:29–48
- 67. Bright DP, Smart TG (2013) Methods for recording and measuring tonic GABAA receptor-mediated inhibition. Front Neural Circuits 7:193
- 68. Keller AF, Breton JD, Schlichter R, Poisbeau P (2004) Production of  $5\alpha$ -reduced neurosteroids is developmentally regulated and Shapes GABAA miniature IPSCs in lamina II of the spinal cord. J Neurosci 24:907–915
- 69. Shen H, Sabaliauskas N, Sherpa A et al (2010) A critical role for  $\alpha 4\beta \delta$  GABAA receptors in shaping learning deficits at puberty in mice. Science 327:1515–1518
- 70. Smith SS, Aoki C, Shen H (2009) Puberty, steroids and GABAA receptor plasticity. Psychoneuroendocrinology 34(S1):S91–S103
- 71. Maguire JL, Stell BM, Rafizadeh M, Mody I (2005) Ovarian cycle-linked changes in GABAA receptors mediating tonic inhibition alter seizure susceptibility and anxiety. Nat Neurosci 8:797–804
- 72. Wu X, Gangisetty O, Carver CM, Reddy DS (2013) Estrous cycle regulation of extrasynaptic δ-containing GABAA receptor-mediated tonic inhibition and limbic epileptogenesis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 346:146–160
- 73. Maguire J, Mody I (2007) Neurosteroid synthesis-mediated regulation of GABAA receptors: relevance to the ovarian cycle and stress. J Neurosci 27:2155–2162
- 74. Gangisetty O, Reddy DS (2010) Neurosteroid withdrawal regulates GABA-A receptor α4-subunit expression and seizure susceptibility by activation of progesterone receptorindependent Egr3 pathway. Neuroscience 170:865–880
- 75. Sanna E, Mostallino MC, Murru L et al (2009) Changes in expression and function of extrasynaptic GABAA receptors in the rat hippocampus during pregnancy and after delivery. J Neurosci 29:1755–1765
- Maguire J, Mody I (2008) GABAAR plasticity during pregnancy: relevance to postpartum depression. Neuron 59:207–213
- 77. Follesa P, Porcu P, Sogliano C et al (2002) Changes in GABAA receptor  $\gamma 2$  subunit gene expression induced by long-term administration of oral contraceptives in rats. Neuropharmacology 42:325–336
- 78. Bragin A, Wilson CL, Fields T, Fried I, Engel J Jr (2005) Analysis of seizure onset on the

basis of wideband EEG recordings. Epilepsia 46(S5):59-63

- 79. Heinemann U, Beck H, Dreier JP, Ficker E, Stabel J, Zhang CL (1992) The dentate gyrus as a regulated gate for the propagation of epileptiform activity. Epilepsy Res Suppl 7:273–280
- Lothman EW, Stringer JL, Bertram EH (1992) The dentate gyrus as a control point for seizures in the hippocampus and beyond. Epilepsy Res Suppl 7:301–313
- 81. Pathak HR, Weissinger F, Terunuma M et al (2007) Disrupted dentate granule cell chloride regulation enhances synaptic excitability during development of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:14012–14022
- 82. Stringer JL, Lothman EW (1989) Maximal dentate gyrus activation: characteristics and alterations after repeated seizures. J Neurophysiol 62:136–143
- Mtchedlishvili Z, Bertram EH, Kapur J (2001) Diminished allopregnanolone enhancement of GABAA receptor currents in a rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. J Physiol 537:453–465
- 84. Gibbs JW III, Shumate MD, Coulter DA (1997) Differential epilepsy-associated alterations in postsynaptic GABAA receptor function in dentate granule and CA1 neurons. J Neurophysiol 77:1924–1938
- 85. Sun C, Mtchedlishvili Z, Erisir A, Kapur J (2007) Diminished neurosteroid sensitivity of synaptic inhibition and altered location of the  $\alpha$ 4 subunit of GABAA receptors in an animal model of epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:12641–12650
- 86. Otis TS, De Koninck Y, Mody I (1994) Lasting potentiation of inhibition is associated with an increased number of GABAA receptors activated during miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91:7698–7702
- 87. Leroy C, Poisbeau P, Keller AF, Nehlig A (2004) Pharmacological plasticity of GABAA receptors at dentate gyrus synapses in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Physiol 557:473–487
- Rajasekaran K, Joshi S, Sun C, Mtchedlishvilli Z, Kapur J (2010) Receptors with low affinity for neurosteroids and GABA contribute to tonic inhibition of granule cells in epileptic animals. Neurobiol Dis 40:490–501
- 89. Sun C, Mtchedlishvili Z, Bertram EH, Erisir A, Kapur J (2007) Selective loss of dentate hilar interneurons contributes to reduced synaptic inhibition of granule cells in an electrical stimulation-based animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Comp Neurol 500:876–893

- Kobayashi M, Buckmaster PS (2003) Reduced inhibition of dentate granule cells in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 23:2440–2452
- Buckmaster PS, Dudek FE (1997) Neuron loss, granule cell axon reorganization, and functional changes in the dentate gyrus of epileptic kainate-treated rats. J Comp Neurol 385:385–404
- 92. Buckmaster PS, Jongen-Rêlo AL (1999) Highly specific neuron loss preserves lateral inhibitory circuits in the dentate gyrus of kainate-induced epileptic Rats. J Neurosci 19:9519–9529
- 93. Raol YH, Lund IV, Bandyopadhyay S et al (2006) Enhancing GABAA receptor αl Subunit levels in hippocampal dentate gyrus inhibits epilepsy development in an animal model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 26:11342–11346
- 94. Sperk G, Schwarzer C, Tsunashima K, Kandlhofer S (1998) Expression of GABAA receptor subunits in the hippocampus of the rat after kainic acid-induced seizures. Epilepsy Res 32:129–139
- 95. Tsunashima K, Schwarzer C, Kirchmair E, Sieghart W, Sperk G (1997) GABAA receptor subunits in the rat hippocampus III: altered messenger RNA expression in kainic acid-induced epilepsy. Neuroscience 80:1019–1032
- 96. Brooks-Kayal AR, Shumate MD, Jin H, Rikhter TY, Coulter DA (1998) Selective changes in single cell GABAA receptor subunit expression and function in temporal lobe epilepsy. Nat Med 4:1166–1172
- 97. Gonzalez MI, Cruz DA, Brooks-Kayal A (2013) Down-regulation of gephyrin and GABAA receptor subunits during epileptogenesis in the CA1 region of hippocampus. Epilepsia 54:616–624
- Lund IV, Hu Y, Raol YH et al (2008) BDNF selectively regulates GABAA receptor transcription by activation of the JAK/STAT pathway. Sci STKE 1:ra9
- 99. Loup F, Wieser HG, Yonekawa Y, Aguzzi A, Fritschy JM (2000) Selective alterations in GABAA receptor subtypes in human temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 20:5401–5419
- 100. Loup F, Picard F, Andre VM et al (2006) Altered expression of  $\alpha$ 3-containing GABAA receptors in the neocortex of patients with focal epilepsy. Brain 129:3277–3289
- 101. Palma E, Spinelli G, Torchia G et al (2005) Abnormal GABAA receptors from the human epileptic hippocampal subiculum microtransplanted to Xenopus oocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:2514–2518

- 102. Yu J, Proddutur A, Elgammal FS, Ito T, Santhakumar V (2013) Status epilepticus enhances tonic GABA currents and depolarizes GABA reversal potential in dentate fast-spiking basket cells. J Neurophysiol 109:1746–1763
- 103. Joshi S, Kapur J (2013) NMDA Receptor activation down-regulates expression of δ subunit-containing GABAA receptors in cultured hippocampal neurons. Mol Pharmacol 84:1–11
- 104. Naylor DE, Liu H, Niquet J, Wasterlain CG (2013) Rapid surface accumulation of NMDA receptors increases glutamatergic excitation during status epilepticus. Neurobiol Dis 54:225–238
- 105. Berkeley JL, Decker MJ, Levey AI (2002) The role of muscarinic acetylcholine receptormediated activation of ERK1/2 in pilocarpineinduced seizures. J Neurochem 82:192–201
- 106. Garrido YCS, Sanabria ERG, Funke MG, Cavalheiro EA, Naffah-Mazzacoratti MG (1998) MAP kinase is increased in the limbic structures of the rat brain during the early stages of status epilepticus. Brain Res Bull 47:223–229
- 107. Kim YS, Hong KS, Seong YS et al (1994) Phosphorylation and activation of MAP kinase by kainic acid-induced seizure in rat hippocampus. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 202:1163–1168
- 108. Roberts DS, Hu Y, Lund IV, Brooks-Kayal AR, Russek SJ (2006) BDNF-induced synthesis of Egr3 controls the levels of GABAA receptor α4 subunits in hippocampal neurons. J Biol Chem 281:29431–29435
- 109. Harney SC, Frenguelli BG, Lambert JJ (2003) Phosphorylation influences neurosteroid modulation of synaptic GABAA receptors in rat CA1 and dentate gyrus neurones. Neuropharmacology 45:873–883
- 110. Kia A, Ribeiro F, Nelson R, Gavrilovici C, Ferguson SSG, Poulter MO (2011) Kindling alters neurosteroid-induced modulation of phasic and tonic GABAA receptormediated currents: role of phosphorylation. J Neurochem 116:1043–1056
- 111. Abramian AM, Comenencia-Ortiz E, Modgil A et al (2014) Neurosteroids promote phosphorylation and membrane insertion of extrasynaptic GABAA receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:7132–7137
- 112. Joshi S, Kapur J (2009) Slow intracellular accumulation of GABAA receptor  $\delta$  subunit is modulated by BDNF. Neuroscience 164:507–519
- 113. Joshi S, Keith KJ, Ilyas A, Kapur J (2013) GABAA receptor membrane insertion rates are specified by their subunit composition. Mol Cell Neurosci 56:201–211

- 114. Frye CA (2008) Hormonal influences on seizures: basic neurobiology. Chapter 3. In: Gidal BE, Harden CL (eds) International review of neurobiology epilepsy in women the scientific basis for clinical management, vol 83. Academic, Boston, pp 27–77
- 115. Reddy DS (2013) Neuroendocrine aspects of catamenial epilepsy. Horm Behav 63:254–266
- 116. TaubØll E, Sveberg L, Svalheim S (2015) Interactions between hormones and epilepsy. Seizure 28:3–11
- 117. Joshi S, Rajasekaran K, Kapur J (2013) GABAergic transmission in temporal lobe epilepsy: the role of neurosteroids. Exp Neurol 244:36–42
- 118. Kokate TG, Banks MK, Magee T, Yamaguchi S, Rogawski MA (1999) Finasteride, a 5alphareductase inhibitor, blocks the anticonvulsant activity of progesterone in mice. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 288:679–684
- 119. Frye C, Rhodes M, Walf A, Harney J (2002) Progesterone reduces pentylenetetrazolinduced ictal activity of wild-type mice but not those deficient in type I 5α-reductase. Epilepsia 43:14–17
- 120. Kokate TG, Cohen AL, Karp E, Rogawski MA (1996) Neuroactive steroids protect against pilocarpine- and kainic acid-induced limbic seizures and status epilepticus in mice. Neuropharmacology 35:1049–1056
- 121. Kaminski RM, Marini H, Kim WJ, Rogawski MA (2005) Anticonvulsant activity of androsterone and etiocholanolone. Epilepsia 46:819–827
- 122. Belelli D, Bolger MB, Gee KW (1989) Anticonvulsant profile of the progesterone metabolite 5α-pregnan-3α-ol-20-one. Eur J Pharmacol 166:325–329
- 123. Reddy DS (2004) Testosterone modulation of seizure susceptibility is mediated by neurosteroids  $3\alpha$ -androstanediol and  $17\beta$ -estradiol. Neuroscience 129:195–207
- 124. Reddy DS, Rogawski MA (2002) Stressinduced deoxycorticosterone-derived neurosteroids modulate GABAA receptor function and seizure susceptibility. J Neurosci 22:3795–3805
- 125. Frye CA (1995) The neurosteroid  $3\alpha$ ,  $5\alpha$ -THP has antiseizure and possible neuroprotective effects in an animal model of epilepsy. Brain Res 696:113–120
- 126. Frye CA, Bayon LE (1999) Prenatal stress reduces the effectiveness of the neurosteroid  $3\alpha$ , $5\alpha$ -THP to block kainic-acid-induced seizures. Dev Psychobiol 34:227–234
- 127. Rogawski MA, Loya CM, Reddy K, Zolkowska D, Lossin C (2013) Neuroactive steroids for the treatment of status epilepticus. Epilepsia 54:93–98

- 128. Carter RB, Wood PL, Wieland S et al (1997) Characterization of the anticonvulsant properties of ganaxolone (CCD 1042; 3α-hydroxy-3α-methyl-5α-pregnan-20-one), a selective, high-affinity, steroid modulator of the GABAA receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 280:1284–1295
- 129. Holmes GL, Weber DA (1984) The effect of progesterone on kindling: a developmental study. Brain Res 318:45–53
- 130. Reddy DS, Gangisetty O, Briyal S (2010) Disease-modifying activity of progesterone in the hippocampus kindling model of epileptogenesis. Neuropharmacology 59:573–581
- 131. Edwards HE, Mo V, Burnham WM, Maclusky NJ (2001) Gonadectomy unmasks an inhibitory effect of progesterone on amygdala kindling in male rats. Brain Res 889:260–263
- 132. Reddy DS, Ramanathan G (2012) Finasteride inhibits the disease-modifying activity of progesterone in the hippocampus kindling model of epileptogenesis. Epilepsy Behav 25:92–97
- 133. Laxer K, Blum D, Abou-Khalil BW et al (2000) Assessment of ganaxolone's anticonvulsant activity using a randomized, doubleblind, presurgical trial design. Epilepsia 41:1187–1194
- 134. Kerrigan JF, Shields WD, Nelson TY et al (2000) Ganaxolone for treating intractable infantile spasms: a multicenter, open-label, add-on trial. Epilepsy Res 42:133–139
- 135. Pieribone VA, Tsai J, Soufflet C et al (2007) Clinical evaluation of ganaxolone in pediatric and adolescent patients with refractory epilepsy. Epilepsia 48:1870–1874
- 136. Reddy DS, Rogawski MA(2009) Neurosteroid replacement therapy for catamenial epilepsy. Neurotherapeutics 6:392–401
- 137. Bazan AC, Montenegro MA, Cendes F, Min LL, Guerreiro CA (2005) Menstrual cycle worsening of epileptic seizures in women with symptomatic focal epilepsy. Arq Neuropsiquiatr 63:751–756
- 138. Herzog AG, Harden CL, Liporace J et al (2004) Frequency of catamenial seizure exacerbation in women with localization-related epilepsy. Ann Neurol 56:431–434
- Duncan S, Read CL, Brodie MJ (1993) How common is catamenial epilepsy? Epilepsia 34:827–831
- 140. Herzog AG, Klein P, Ransil BJ (1997) Three patterns of catamenial epilepsy. Epilepsia 38:1082–1088
- 141. Herzog AG (2008) Catamenial epilepsy: definition, prevalence pathophysiology and treatment. Seizure 17:151–159
- 142. TaubØll E, Lundervold A, Gjerstad L (1991) Temporal distribution of seizures in epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 8:153–165

- 143. El-Khayat HA, Soliman NA, Tomoum HY, Omran MA, El-Wakad AS, Shatla RH (2008) Reproductive hormonal changes and catamenial pattern in adolescent females with epilepsy. Epilepsia 49:1619–1626
- 144. Veliskova J, DeSantis KA (2013) Sex and hormonal influences on seizures and epilepsy. Horm Behav 63:267–277
- 145. Veliskova J (2006) The role of estrogens in seizures and epilepsy: the bad guys or the good guys? Neuroscience 138:837–844
- 146. Veliskova J (2007) Estrogens and epilepsy: why are we so excited? Neuroscientist 13:77–88
- 147. Harden CL, Pulver MC, Ravdin L, Jacobs AR (1999) The effect of menopause and perimenopause on the course of epilepsy. Epilepsia 40:1402–1407
- 148. Klein P, van Passel-Clark LM, Pezzullo JC (2003) Onset of epilepsy at the time of menarche. Neurology 60:495–497
- 149. Rosciszewska D (1975) The course of epilepsy in girls at the age of puberty. Neurol Neurochir Pol 9:597–602
- 150. Wheless JW, Kim HL (2002) Adolescent seizures and epilepsy syndromes. Epilepsia 43(S3):33–52
- 151. Bäckströrm T (1976) Epileptic seizures in women related to plasma estrogen and progesterone during the menstrual cycle. Acta Neurol Scand 54:321–347
- 152. Bäckströrm T, Zetterlund B, Blom S, Romano M (1984) Effects of intravenous progesterone infusions on the epileptic discharge frequency in women with partial epilepsy. Acta Neurol Scand 69:240–248
- 153. Frye CA, Bayon LE (1999) Cyclic withdrawal from endogenous and exogenous progesterone increases kainic acid and perforant pathway induced seizures. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 62:315–321
- 154. Reddy DS, Kim HY, Rogawski MA (2001) Neurosteroid withdrawal model of perimenstrual catamenial epilepsy. Epilepsia 42:328–336
- 155. Reddy DS (2010) Neurosteroids: endogenous role in the human brain and therapeutic potentials. Prog Brain Res 186:113–137
- 156. Reddy DS (2009) The role of neurosteroids in the pathophysiology and treatment of catamenial epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 85:1–30
- 157. Reddy DS, Gould J, Gangisetty O (2012) A mouse kindling model of perimenstrual catamenial epilepsy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 341:784–793
- 158. Lawrence C, Martin BS, Sun C, Williamson J, Kapur J (2010) Endogenous neurosteroid synthesis modulates seizure frequency. Ann Neurol 67:689–693

- 159. Herzog AG, Frye CA (2003) Seizure exacerbation associated with inhibition of progesterone metabolism. Ann Neurol 53:390–391
- 160. Herzog AG (1986) Intermittent progesterone therapy and frequency of complex partial seizures in women with menstrual disorders. Neurology 36:1607–1610
- 161. Herzog AG (1992) Progesterone therapy in women with epilepsy: a 3-year follow-up. Neurology 52:1917–1918
- 162. Herzog AG, Frye CA (2014) Allopregnanolone levels and seizure frequency in progesterone-treated women with epilepsy. Neurology 83:345–348
- 163. Herzog AG (2015) Catamenial epilepsy: update on prevalence, pathophysiology and treatment from the findings of the NIH Progesterone Treatment Trial. Seizure 28:18–25
- 164. Brinton RD, Thompson RF, Foy MR et al (2008) Progesterone receptors: form and function in brain. Front Neuroendocrinol 29:313–339
- 165. Frye CA (2010) Effects and mechanisms of progestogens and androgens in ictal activity. Epilepsia 51:135–140
- 166. Rhodes ME, Harney JP, Frye CA (2004) Gonadal, adrenal, and neuroactive steroids' role in ictal activity. Brain Res 1000:8–18
- 167. Frye CA, Rhodes ME, Walf AA, Harney JP (2001) Testosterone reduces pentylenetetrazole-induced ictal activity of wildtype mice but not those deficient in type I  $5\alpha$ -reductase. Brain Res 918:182–186
- 168. Tan M, Tan U (2001) Effects of testosterone and clomiphene on spectral EEG and visual evoked response in a young man with posttraumatic epilepsy. Int J Neurosci 106:87–94
- 169. Dudek FE, Sutula TP (2007) Epileptogenesis in the dentate gyrus: a critical perspective. In: Helen E. Scharfman. Progress in Brain Research. The dentate gyrus: a comprehensive guide to structure, function, and clinical implications, vol 163. Elsevier. p 755
- 170. Dudek FE, Staley KJ (2011) The time course of acquired epilepsy: Implications for therapeutic intervention to suppress epileptogenesis. Neurosci Lett 497:240–246
- 171. Pitkänen A, Lukasiuk K (2011) Mechanisms of epileptogenesis and potential treatment targets. Lancet Neurol 10:173–186
- 172. Biagini G, Longo D, Baldelli E et al (2009) Neurosteroids and epileptogenesis in the pilocarpine model: evidence for a relationship between P450scc induction and length of the latent period. Epilepsia 50(S1):53–58
- 173. Biagini G, Panuccio G, Avoli M (2010) Neurosteroids and epilepsy. Curr Opin Neurol 23:170–176

- 174. Biagini G, Baldelli E, Longo D et al (2006) Endogenous neurosteroids modulate epileptogenesis in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Exp Neurol 201:519–524
- 175. Barbaccia ML, Roscetti G, Trabucchi M et al (1996) Time-dependent changes in rat brain neuroactive steroid concentrations and GABAA receptor function after acute stress. Neuroendocrinology 63:166–172
- 176. Sáínchez P, Torres JM, Gavete P, Ortega E (2008) Effects of swim stress on mRNA and protein levels of steroid  $5\alpha$ -reductase isozymes in prefrontal cortex of adult male rats. Neurochem Int 52:426–431
- 177. Verleye M, Heulard I, Gillardin JM (2008) Investigation of the anticonvulsive effect of acute immobilization stress in anxious Balb/ cByJ mice using GABAA-related mechanistic probes. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 197:523–534
- 178. Peričić D, Švob D, Jazvinšćak M, Mirković K (2000) Anticonvulsive effect of swim stress in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 66:879–886
- 179. Abel EL, Berman RF (1993) Effects of water immersion stress on convulsions induced by

pentylenetetrazol. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 45:823–825

- 180. Hirst JJ, Yawno T, Nguyen P, Walker DW (2006) Stress in pregnancy activates neurosteroid production in the fetal brain. Neuroendocrinology 84:264–274
- 181. Kumar G, Jones NC, Morris MJ, Rees S, O'Brien TJ, Salzberg MR (2011) Early life stress enhancement of limbic epileptogenesis in adult rats: mechanisticinsights. PLoS One 6:e24033
- 182. Desgent S, Duss S, Sanon NT et al (2012) Early-life stress is associated with genderbased vulnerability to epileptogenesis in rat pups. PLoS One 7:e42622
- 183. Joëls M (2009) Stress, the hippocampus, and epilepsy. Epilepsia 50:586–597
- 184. Sperling MR, Schilling C, Glosser D, Tracy JI, Asadi-Pooya AA (2008) Self-perception of seizure precipitants and their relation to anxiety level, depression, and health locus of control in epilepsy. Seizure 17:302–307
- 185. Temkin NR, Davis GR (1984) Stress as a risk factor for seizures among adults with epilepsy. Epilepsia 25:450–456

# **Chapter 8**

# Erythropoietin as Potential Neuroprotective and Antiepileptogenic Agent in Epilepsy and Refractory Epilepsy

# Amalia Marelli, Liliana Czornyj, Luisa Rocha, and Alberto Lazarowski

### Abstract

Erythropoietin (EPO) can mediate neuroprotective effects by limiting the damage and death of cells that are still alive. This effect depends on the activation of both receptor to EPO (EPO-R), which undergoes a classic dimeric conformation called (EPO-R)<sub>2</sub>, and the EPOR- $\beta$  common receptor ( $\beta$ CR). The interaction between EPO and EPO-R can prevent and repair tissue damage induced by hypoxia and neuroinflammation. The current chapter is focused on presenting the information necessary to support the hypothesis that EPO administration and/or EPO-R activation can represent a new therapeutic strategy to prevent the development of pharmacoresistant epilepsy after hypoxic events. This pharmacological effect can prevent the overexpression of multidrug resistant proteins, particularly P-glycoprotein (P-gp), which is an event induced by hypoxia and producing refractory epilepsy. The administration of high doses of EPO could also reduce the brain damage that results from seizure activity seen in the epileptogenic process subsequent to status epilepticus and perhaps avoids sudden unexpected death in epilepsy (SUDEP).

Key words Refractory epilepsy, P-glycoprotein, EPO receptor, Erythropoietin

### 1 Hypoxia

Oxygen is the chemical element that is most vital to the human body. In the brain, the interstitial oxygen levels range from approximately 1 to 5% [1]. The concept of ischemia, which is derived from the Greek words "isceiu" (brake) and "aima" (blood), was introduced by Virchow R. in 1858 to explain an imbalance between tissue demand for oxygen and blood flow [2] and its consequences. The final stage of this condition is associated with a loss in energy efficiency secondary to an altered mitochondrial aerobic metabolism. In contrast, hypoxia is a state in which there is insufficient oxygen available in the blood and/or in tissues due to an inadequate transport of this gas to the tissues [3].

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_8, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

The brain has a very strong demand for oxygen and glucose to maintain its structural and functional integrity. To function normally, the brain depends on a continuous and adequate supply of oxygen. If the delivery of oxygen to the brain is sufficiently compromised, individuals can present with loss of consciousness (within seconds), neuronal death (within minutes), and conditions such as coma, seizures, cognitive impairment, and other neurological disabilities (longer periods). Hypoxia can result in significant dysfunction of sensitive brain areas such as the hippocampus [4].

The cascade of events activated by hypoxia begins immediately in response to energy deprivation and may induce neurotoxicity via the overstimulation of glutamate receptors, the excessive accumulation of intracellular Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup>, mitochondrial damage, and eventual neuronal death in the areas that undergo ischemia. In addition, the surrounding area undergoes inflammation and subsequent apoptotic death within the few hours and in the subsequent days following the ischemic episode [5].

Hypoxia also induces changes that facilitate the depolarization of brain cells within milliseconds and results in changes in neurotransmitters [6, 7]. Indeed, hypobaric hypoxia has been associated with alterations in dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurotransmission [8, 9] and a reduction in GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor binding [10], which can modify neuronal excitability.

As an adaptive response, hypoxia leads to the activation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), which is involved in the expression of transcriptional mechanisms to maintain cellular and systemic oxygen homeostasis. The targets of HIF-1 include genes that code for proteins implicated in vasomotor control, angiogenesis, erythropoiesis, iron metabolism, proliferation mechanisms, energy metabolism, and cell death. HIF-1 is a heterodimeric transcription factor that typically consists of the constitutively expressed 120 kDa HIF-1 $\alpha$  subunit and the 91–94 kDa HIF-1 $\beta$  subunit. The other molecules termed HIF-2 $\alpha$  and HIF-3 $\alpha$  can also form a complex with HIF-1 $\beta$ . In the brain, HIF-1 $\alpha$  expression appears to be induced by hypoxia in neurons, astrocytes, ependymal cells, and possibly endothelial cells. HIF-2 $\alpha$  is expressed in glia and capillary endothelial cells but not in neurons [11, 12].

The expression of the HIF-1 protein is regulated by the proteolysis of its a subunit via oxygen-dependent proteolysis. Under normoxic conditions, the binding of the von Hippel-Lindau tumor suppressor (VHL) protein to the oxygen-dependent degradation domain activates the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and the subsequent degradation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . This event is regulated by three dif-(HEME) proteins, ferent isoenzymes of the termed prolyl-hydroxylase domain enzymes (PHD1-3). These proteins are characterized by a highly conserved common C-terminal domain Fe<sup>2+</sup>-dioxygenase, which is also known as factor-inhibiting HIF-1 (FIH-1). Under hypoxic conditions, the activity of PHDs is inhibited. The HIF-1 $\alpha$  that accumulates dimerizes with HIF-1 $\beta$ 



**Fig. 1** Under normoxic conditions, HIF prolyl-hydroxylases induce the hydroxylation of the  $\alpha$  subunits of HIF at proline residues 402 and 564. This event allows their identification and ubiquitination by the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) complex and their subsequent degradation. Under hypoxic conditions, these effects are blocked because of the inhibition of HIF prolyl-hydroxylase due to the low levels of oxygen. Additional hydroxylation of the 803-asparaginyl group by factor-inhibiting HIF (FIH) blocks its binding to transcriptional coactivators

and activates the transcription of more than 100 target genes whose protein products are involved in critical developmental and physiological processes, metabolic adaptation, and cellular antiapoptosis [13, 14] (Fig. 1).

### 2 Hypoxia and Erythropoietin (EPO)

Erythropoietin (EPO) is a glycoprotein composed of 165 amino acids (30.4-kDa). EPO has two disulfide bridges linking cysteines 7–161 and cysteines 29–33 and has a peptide core and four carbohydrate chains that are important for its stability in the peripheral circulation [15]. EPO is primarily produced in hepatocytes during the fetal period. In adults, EPO is produced in the interstitial fibroblasts of the kidney. EPO acts on its receptor (EPO-R), which is normally expressed in the erythroid precursor cells in the bone marrow [16]. Under certain circumstances, nucleated cells of different organs such as the liver, spleen, lung, testis, and brain can express EPO and EPO-R [17, 18]. Cloned in 1985 [19] and approved by the FDA in 1989, human recombinant EPO has been demonstrated to be safe and is highly effective in treating anemia in adults and children with renal failure, cancer, and prematurity [20]. In the bone marrow, EPO regulates the differentiation of red blood cells by inhibiting the apoptosis of erythroid progenitors, which becomes more evident under conditions of hypoxia [15]. At present, the EPO/EPO-R system is known to be activated by hypoxia in several organs [21–24] and induces protective effects [25]. The molecular regulation of EPO expression under hypoxic conditions is primarily mediated by the action of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\beta$  [26]. However, under chronic conditions of hypoxia, HIF-2 $\alpha$  is able to activate the EPO gene, though only in conjunction with other regulatory sequences in the vicinity of the "HIF-responsive-elements" in the DNA promoter region [27, 28].

Previous studies have indicated that the administration of EPO in patients with renal anemia results in the improvement of cognition, which is commonly assumed to be a consequence of the physiological increase in oxygenation that is secondary to the higher levels of hemoglobin [29–32]. At present, it is known that EPO acts directly on the brain; in particular, high levels of EPO and EPO-R have been observed in hypoxia-sensitive cerebral regions such as the hippocampus and telencephalon [33, 34]. In the brain, EPO is highly expressed in astrocytes and has low expression in neurons, whereas EPO-R is expressed in endothelial cells, microglia, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and neurons. EPO is also believed to act in both an autocrine and paracrine manner [35].

EPO is considered to have neuroprotective and therapeutic effects in different neurological disorders as stroke, ischemia, multiple sclerosis, schizophrenia, retinopathy, Parkinson's disease, brain trauma, spinal cord injury, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and epilepsy [20, 36–38]. The neuroprotective effects induced by EPO are achieved at concentrations between 0.01 and 10 U ml<sup>-1</sup> [39–41]. However, experimental evidence indicates that under repetitive or severe hypoxic conditions, it is necessary to administer high doses of exogenous EPO to prevent secondary damage caused by neuroinflammatory responses [42].

The neuroprotection induced by EPO has been associated with the following effects in the CNS: (1) anti-glutamate and trophic effects (dendritic branching; axonal outgrowth; synaptic activity); (2) effects on neuronal progenitors that facilitate neurogenesis and migration through the activation of neurotrophic factors; (3) antioxidant activity; (4) antiapoptotic activity; (5) anti-inflammatory activity; (6) BBB protection and angiogenesis; (7) the maintenance of intact genomic DNA; and (8) the modulation of microglia [43–45] (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Representation of the six most important effects of EPO in brain cells. All brain cells express EPO-R depending on the rate of maturation and on the conditions of hypoxia or inflammation

## 3 Epilepsy, Pharmacoresistance, and Hypoxia

Epilepsy is the second most common chronic neurological disorder after stroke, with a high incidence in the first decade of life and after the age of 60 years. Different types of epilepsy are recognized by the Commission on Classification and Terminology of the International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE) [46]. Epilepsy is a consequence of different conditions, such as genetic factors, inherited epileptic channelopathies, alterations in neurotransmitters, metabolic disorders, brain malformations, brain tumors, and cerebral trauma [47]. At present, antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are the first line of treatment for controlling seizures in many patients with epilepsy. However, approximately 35% of patients present with seizures are resistant to therapy [48].

Repetitive seizures are known to augment the expression of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) in the BBB. This condition is associated with a pharmacoresistant phenotype because P-gp extrudes AEDs from the brain into the blood [49–52]. At the neuronal level, P-gp has been associated with membrane depolarization and seizure activity as a consequence of increasing amounts of intracellular free

radicals and Ca<sup>2+</sup> [53]. P-gp overexpression is also associated with changes in plasma membrane characteristics. Indeed, cells with P-gp overexpression have low plasma membrane electrical potential (from -10 to -20 mV), which facilitates neuronal depolarization and the reduced (~30%) binding of drugs. These changes can also modify both the distribution of lipids and the target availability, which could have additional important consequences associated with the drug resistance phenotype [54–57]. According to these observations, therapies targeting the inhibition of P-gp function have been suggested to control pharmacoresistant epilepsy [58] and induce neuroprotection [59].

Patients with refractory epilepsy are also known to have a high risk of presenting with Sudden Unexpected Death in Epilepsy (SUDEP) [60]. In addition to the changes in the brain that are associated with pharmacoresistant epilepsy, these patients may show left ventricular dysfunction and signs of heart ischemia [61, 62]. Previous studies from our group have indicated that the repetitive seizure activity is associated with P-gp overexpression in the heart, which may result in changes in cardiomyocyte function and a high predisposition to SUDEP [63].

The enhanced glutamatergic neurotransmission induces P-gp overexpression at the BBB and in neurons *via* pro-inflammatory pathways; this process depends on cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) [64]. Experimental evidence indicates that both seizure activity and hypoxia enhance glutamate release, and facilitate excitotoxicity, membrane depolarization, and subsequent epileptic seizures [65–68]. In contrast, the clinical conditions that facilitate epilepsy (status epilepticus, stroke, and neonatal hypoxia) are also associated with hypoxia [69–71]. For example, during status epilepticus, cerebral oxygenation decreases phasically as a consequence of decreased cerebral blood flow and arterial blood pressure [72]. Indeed, the duration of the hypoxic-ischemic condition during seizure activity can exacerbate the subsequent brain damage [73].

The idea that seizure activity represents a condition that produces acute brain hypoxia and ischemia is well recognized [74, 75]. In relation to this finding, seizure activity in experimental models and in patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy is known to induce the overexpression of factors associated with hypoxia such as the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) a HIF-1 $\alpha$  response gene [76–79]. Furthermore, the overexpression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  and VEGF in neurons has been proposed to be a mechanism that induces neuroprotective effects in epilepsy [80].

Hypoxia induces alterations similar to what is observed in epilepsy (Fig. 3). Hypoxic conditions also lead to the overexpression of the MDR-1 gene that encodes P-gp [81]. Similarly, a progressive increase in cerebral P-gp expression is induced by intermittent hypoxia [82]. Previous studies from our group have indicated that MDR-1 gene overexpression in the brain is induced by two different experimental conditions of brain hypoxia: cortical devascularization



Fig. 3 Time course of different events seen in the brain during hypoxia and seizure activity

and cerebral CoCl<sub>2</sub> injection [83, 84]. However, the neuroinflammatory process that occurs secondary to cerebral hypoxia also induces the expression of MDR-1 gene with persistent P-gp overexpression, which is probably associated with the previous activation of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . According to these findings, the activation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  may contribute to neuroinflammation and pharmacoresistance subsequent to seizure activity [85, 86].

#### 4 Effects of EPO on Seizure Activity, Pharmacoresistant Epilepsy, and SUDEP

EPO administration significantly suppresses pentylenetetrazolinduced seizures as well as the status epilepticus and epileptogenesis induced by pilocarpine [87–89]. Additionally, treatment with recombinant human Epo (rHu-EPO) decreases neuronal damage and apoptosis in the hippocampus and induces cardioprotection subsequent to status epilepticus. Several of these effects are mediated by the activation of the JAK2/STAT5 pathway [90, 91]. According to these observations, EPO has been suggested to represent a new strategy for preventing epilepsy and its consequences in susceptible individuals [92]. However, other studies have indicated that EPO augments neuronal activity via the activation of  $Ca^{2+}$  channels [93] and increases free cytosolic concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  [94]. It is possible that the anticonvulsant and neuroprotective effects induced by EPO are produced under specific conditions of cerebral excitability (Fig. 4).

Using an experimental model of focal brain hypoxia induced by  $CoCl_2$ , we found an overexpression of P-gp, EPO-R, and HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the ischemic brain regions [84], whereas the intranasal



**Fig. 4** Representation of the different concentrations of EPO needed to activate peripheral or bone marrow (BM) cells *vs.* brain cells. PC12 cells are adrenal pheochromocytoma cells that may differentiate into cells that resemble sympathetic neurons when cultured in the presence of factors such as nerve growth factor (NGF)

administration of rHu-EPO induced neuroprotective effects with a high score of recovery of motor function in this model [37, 95, 96]. The intranasal administration of EPO was also found to protect cardiomyocytes during heart ischemia [97] as well as neurons and cardiomyocytes in epileptic rats [98]. It is possible that the protective effects induced by EPO improve with the overexpression of EPO-R and the transductional modulation of microglia, Akt1, Bad, and caspases [45].

The protective effect induced by EPO in ischemic events has been associated with a reduction in glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity as a consequence of reduced glutamate release from synaptic vesicles [99, 100]. This event may also reduce seizure susceptibility [101]. However, additional experiments are necessary to support this hypothesis.

## 5 Does EPO Represent a Neuroprotective Therapeutic Strategy to Prevent Pharmacoresistance in Epilepsy?

The neuroprotective effects of EPO are associated with its interaction with kinases. The activation of EPO-R induces the phosphorylation of Janus tyrosine kinase 2 (JAK-2), thereby inhibiting apoptosis and ultimately fostering the survival and maturation of erythrocytes. The  $\beta$  common receptor ( $\beta$ CR), also called "tissueprotective EPO receptor," activates JAK-2, which subsequently engages secondary signaling pathways associated with mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK), phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), and nuclear factor-kB (NF-kB) [42] (Fig. 5). The neuroprotective effects induced by EPO can also be mediated by the activation of the  $\beta$  CR/JAK2/Akt signaling pathway. Indeed, the inhibition of JAK2 activation or Akt abolishes the protective effects mediated by EPO [102].

The "signal transduction and activator of transcription 5a and 5b" (STAT5) pathways that induce the expression of various antiapoptotic genes are involved in  $\beta$ CR signaling. However, experimental evidence indicates that the STAT5 pathways are not essential for neuroprotection by EPO [103, 104]. The activation of prosurvival protein kinases by  $\beta$ CR signaling also inhibits mitochondrial permeability, which is a major event in cell death [105] (Fig. 5).

To determine whether the exogenous administration of EPO can be considered a therapeutic strategy to induce neuroprotection and avoid pharmacoresistant epilepsy and other cerebral disorders, it is important to analyze different situations. First, different studies have suggested that P-gp overexpression is a consequence of enhanced glutamatergic neurotransmission, which is also evident



Fig. 5 Representation of the transductional mechanisms involved in the neuroprotective effects induced by EPO

in hypoxia and neuroinflammatory events [106–108]. Therefore, the neuroinflammation and hypoxia caused by stroke, cerebral hypoxia, and status epilepticus (causing continuous hypoxic stress) may contribute to the overexpression of P-gp and facilitate pharmacoresistant epilepsy [109].

In contrast, the activation of EPO-R has been suggested to induce neuroprotection by reducing the release of glutamate through the modulation of voltage-insensitive calcium channels *via* phospholipase C [100]. In addition, EPO reduces the mRNA and protein expression of pro-inflammatory molecules (HIF-1 $\alpha$ , iNOS, COX-2, and caspase-9). According to these findings, EPO administration and EPO-R activation may reduce the neuroinflammatory processes induced by seizure activity [110, 111] and prevent P-gp overexpression, which is a key event in pharmacoresistant epilepsy. It is also important to determine whether intranasal EPO administration prevents new seizures and the development of pharmacoresistant epilepsy after brain hypoxia-ischemia insults. In addition, it is essential to elucidate whether the function of EPO-R is modified as a consequence of acute neurological disorders associated with hypoxia.

#### 6 Conclusions and Remarks

While is true that further studies are necessary to support this hypothesis, all of these considerations strongly suggest that the hypoxia associated with repetitive seizures can induce the overexpression of HIF-1 $\alpha$ , EPO-R, and P-gp in the heart and brain. P-gp overexpression may be related to a higher risk of developing pharmacoresistant epilepsy and/or SUDEP. The administration of rhEPO or any EPO-modified moiety without hematopoietic effects can represent a new therapeutic strategy to prevent these conditions. Finally, the intranasal administration of rhEPO could also induce a protective effect in the brain at the beginning of the epileptogenesis process without causing systemic side effects.

#### References

- Silver I, Erecinska M (1998) Oxygen and ion concentrations in normoxic and hypoxic brain cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 454:7–16
- Caplan L (2000) Posterior circulation ischemia: then, now, and tomorrow. Stroke 31:2011–2023
- Pierson D (2000) Pathophysiology and clinical effects of chronic hypoxia. Respir Care 45: 39–511
- 4. Carbonell T, Rama R (2009) Respiratory hypoxia and oxidative stress in the brain. Is the endogenous erythropoietin an antioxidant? Curr Chem Biol 3:238–252
- Ratan RR, Siddiq A, Smirnova N, Karpisheva K, Haskew-Layton R, McConoughey S, Langley B, Gy J, Estevez A, Huerta PT, Volpe B, Roy S, Sen CK, Azaran I, Cho S, Fink M, LaManna J (2007) Harnessing

hypoxic adaptation to prevent, treat, and repair stroke. J Mol Med 85:1331–1338

- Peers C (1997) Oxygen-sensitive ion channels. Trends Pharmacol Sci 18:405–408
- López-Barneo J, Buckler KJ, Archer SL (2005) Acute oxygen-sensing mechanisms. N Engl J Med 353:2042–2055
- Onodera H, Sato G, Kogure K (1987) GABA and benzodiazepine receptors in the gerbil brain after transient ischemia: demonstration by quantitative receptor autoradiography. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 7:82–88
- Pichiule P, Chavez JC, Boero J et al (1996) Chronic hypoxia induces modification of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor in rat brain. Neurosci Lett 218:83–86
- 10. Viapianoa MS, Mitridate de Novarab AM, Fiszer de Plazasb S et al (2001) Prolonged exposure to hypobaric hypoxia transiently reduces GABAA receptor number in mice cerebral cortex. Brain Res 894:31–36
- Sharp FR, Bernaudin M (2004) HIF1 and oxygen sensing in the brain. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:437–488
- Walshe TE, D'Amore PA (2008) The role of hypoxia in vascular injury and repair. Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis 3:615–643
- Semenza GL (2007) Oxygen-dependent regulation of mitochondrial respiration by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Biochem J 405: 1–9
- 14. Appelhoff RJ, Tian YM, Raval RR et al (2004) Differential function of the prolyl hydroxylases PHD1, PHD2, and PHD3 in the regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor. J Biol Chem 279:38458–38465
- Jelkmann W (2004) Molecular biology of erythropoietin. Intern Med 43:649–659
- Marti HH (2004) Erythropoietin and the hypoxic brain. J Exp Biol 207:3233–3242
- Bernaudin M, Marti HH, Roussel S et al (1999) A potential role for erythropoietin in focal permanent cerebral ischemia in mice. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19:643–651
- Stockmann C, Fandrey J (2006) Hypoxiainduced erythropoietin production: a paradigm for oxygen-regulated gene expression. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 33:968–979
- Lin FK, Suggs S, Lin CH et al (1985) Cloning and expression of the human erythropoietin gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82: 7580–7584
- McPherson RJ, Juul SE (2008) Recent trends in erythropoietin-mediated neuroprotection. Int J Dev Neurosci 26(1):103–111

- Kobayashi T, Yanase H, Iwanaga T et al (2002) Epididymis is a novel site of erythropoietin production in mouse reproductive organs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 296:145–151
- 22. Marti HH, Wenger RH, Rivas LA et al (1996) Erythropoietin gene expression in human, monkey and murine brain. Eur J Neurosci 8:666–676
- Masuda S, Kobayashi T, Chikuma M et al (2000) The oviduct produces erythropoietin in an estrogen- and oxygen-dependent manner. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 278: E1038–E1044
- 24. Fandrey J, Bunn HF (1993) In vivo and in vitro regulation of erythropoietin mRNA: measurement by competitive polymerase chain reaction. Blood 81:617–623
- 25. Ghezzi P, Brines M (2004) Erythropoietin as an antiapoptotic, tissue-protective cytokine. Cell Death Differ 11:S37–S44
- Wenger RH (2000) Mammalian oxygen sensing, signalling and gene regulation. J Exp Biol 203(Pt 8):1253–1263
- 27. Warnecke C, Zaborowska Z, Kurreck J, Erdmann VA, Frei U, Wiesener M, Eckardt K-U (2004) Differentiating the functional role of hypoxia-inducible factor HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-2 $\alpha$ (EPAS-1) by the use of RNA interference: erythropoietin is a HIF-2 target gene in Hep3B and Kelly cells. FASEB J 18:1462–1464
- 28. Koh MY, Powis G (2012) Passing the baton: the HIF switch. Trends Biochem Sci 37(9): 364–372
- Temple RM, Eedington DW, Swaison CP, Winney R (1990) Seizure related to erythropoietin treatment in patients undergoing dialysis. Br Med J 300:46
- 30. Brown AL, TIucker B, Baker LRI, Rainie AEG (1989) Seizures related to blood transfusion and erythropoietin treatment in patients undergoing dialysis. Br Med J 299: 1258–1259
- Edmunds ME, Walls J, Tucker B, Baker LR, Tomson CR, Ward M, Cunningham J, Moore R, Winearls CG (1989) Seizures in haemodialysis patients treated with recombinant human erythropoietin. Nephrol Dial Transplant 4(12):1065–1069
- 32. Cengiz K, Islek I (1996) Does erythropoietin cause epilepsy? Nephron 73:320–321
- 33. Digicaylioglu M, Bichet S, Marti HH et al (1995) Localization of specific erythropoietin binding sites in defined areas of the mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92: 3717–3720

- Lipton P (1999) Ischemic cell death in brain neurons. Physiol Rev 79:1431–1568
- 35. Rabie T, Marti HH (2008) Brain protection by erythropoietin: a manifold task. Physiol Rev 23:263–274
- 36. Siren AL, Fratelli M, Brines M, Goemans C, Casagrande S, Lewczuk P, Keenan S, Gleiter C, Pasquali C, Capobianco A, Mennini T, Heumann R, Cerami A, Ehrenreich H, Ghezzi P (2001) Erythropoietin prevents neuronal apoptosis after cerebral ischemia and metabolic stress. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:4044–4049
- 37. Merelli A, Caltana L, Girimonti P et al (2011) Recovery of motor spontaneous activity after intranasal delivery of human recombinant erythropoietin in a focal brain hypoxia model induced by CoCl2 in rats. Neurotox Res 20:182–192
- Brines M, Cerami A (2008) Erythropoietinmediated tissue protection: reducing collateral damage from the primary injury response. J Intern Med 264:405–432
- 39. Livnah O, Stura EA, Middleton SA et al (1999) Crystallographic evidence for preformed dimers of erythropoietin receptor before ligand activation. Science 283: 987–990
- 40. Wen TC, Sadamoto Y, Tanaka J et al (2002) Erythropoietin protects neurons against chemical hypoxia and cerebral ischemic injury by up-regulating Bcl-xL expression. J Neurosci Res 67:795–803
- 41. Grasso G, Buemi M, Alafaci C et al (2002) Beneficial effects of systemic administration of recombinant human erythropoietin in rabbits subjected to subarachnoid hemorrhage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:5627–5631
- Brines M, Cerami A (2005) Emerging biological roles for erythropoietin in the nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:484–494
- 43. Shingo T, Sorokan ST, Shimazaki T et al (2001) Erythropoietin regulates the in vitro and in vivo production of neuronal progenitors by mammalian forebrain neural stem cells. J Neurosci 21:9733–9743
- 44. Wang L, Zhang Z, Wang Y et al (2004) Treatment of stroke with erythropoietin enhances neurogenesis and angiogenesis and improves neurological function in rats. Stroke 35:1732–1737
- 45. Chong ZZ, Kang J-Q, Maiese K (2003) Erythropoietin fosters both intrinsic and extrinsic neuronal protection through modulation of microglia, Akt1, Bad, and caspasemediated pathways. Br J Pharmacol 138: 1107–1118

- 46. Theodore WH, Spencer SS, Wiebe S et al (2006) Epilepsy in North America: a report prepared under the auspices of the global campaign against epilepsy, the International Bureau for Epilepsy, the International League Against Epilepsy, and the World Health Organization. Epilepsia 47:1700–1722
- 47. Czornyj L, Lazarowski A (2014) ABCtransporters as stem-cell markers in brain dysplasia/tumor epilepsies. Front Biosci 19: 1425–1435
- Berg AT (2009) Identification of pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Neurol Clin 27:1003–1013
- 49. Auzmendi JA, Orozco-Suárez SI, Bañuelos-Cabrera I et al (2013) P-Glycoprotein contributes to cell membrane depolarization of hippocampus and neocortex in a model of repetitive seizures induced by pentylenetetrazole in rats. Curr Pharm Des 19: 6732–6738
- Lazarowski A, Ramos AJ, Garcia-Rivello H et al (2004) Neuronal and glial expression of the multidrug resistance gene product in an experimental epilepsy model. Cell Biol Neurobiol 24:77–85
- 51. Hocht C, Lazarowski A, Gonzalez NN et al (2007) Nimodipine restores the altered hippocampal phenytoin pharmacokinetics in a refractory epileptic model. Neurosci Lett 413:168–172
- 52. Bauer B, Hartz AM, Pekcec A, Toellner K, Miller DS, Potschka H (2008) Seizureinduced up-regulation of P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier through glutamate and cyclooxygenase-2 signaling. Mol Pharmacol 73(5):1444–1453
- 53. Mattson MP (1998) Free radicals, calcium, and the synaptic plasticity-cell death continuum: emerging roles of the transcription factor NFkB. Int Rev Neurobiol 42:103–68, In: Bradley RJ, Harris RA, Jenner P (eds)
- 54. Minotti AM, Barlow SB, Cabral F (1991) Resistance to antimitotic drugs in Chinese hamster ovary cells correlates with changes in the level of polymerized tubulin. J Biol Chem 266:3987–3994
- 55. Callaghan R, van Gorkom LC, Epand RM (1992) A comparison of membrane properties and composition between cell lines selected and transfected for multi-drug resistance. Br J Cancer 66(5):781–786
- Wadkins RM, Roepe PD (1997) Biophysical aspect of P-glycoprotein mediated multidrug resistance. Int Rev Cytol 171:121–165
- 57. Roepe PD (2000) What is the precise role of human MDR1 protein in chemotherapeutic drug resistance? Curr Pharm Des 6:241–260

- Robey RW, Lazarowski A, Bates SE (2008) P-glycoprotein—a clinical target in drugrefractory epilepsy? Mol Pharmacol 73: 1343–1346
- 59. Merelli A, Caltana L, Lazarowski A et al (2011) Experimental evidence of the potential use of erythropoietin by intranasal administration as a neuroprotective agent in cerebral hypoxia. Drug Metabol Drug Interact 26(2): 65–69
- 60. Téllez-Zenteno JF, Hernández Ronquillo L, Wiebe S (2005) Sudden unexpected death in epilepsy: evidence-based analysis of incidence and risk factors. Epilepsy Res 65:101–115
- Spencer RG, Cox TS, Kaplan PW (1998) Global T-wave inversion associated with nonconvulsive status epilepticus. Ann Intern Med 129:163–164
- 62. Tigaran S, Molgaard H, McClelland R et al (2003) Evidence of cardiac ischemia during seizures in drug refractory epilepsy patients. Neurology 60:492–495
- 63. Auzmendi J, Merelli A, Girardi E et al (2014) Progressive heart P-glycoprotein (P-gp) overexpression after experimental repetitive seizures (ERS) associated with fatal status epilepticus (FSE) Is it related with SUDEP? Mol Cell Epilepsy 1:e66
- 64. Bauer B, Hartz AM, Miller DS (2007) Tumor necrosis factor alpha and endothelin-1 increase P-glycoprotein expression and transport activity at the blood-brain barrier. Mol Pharmacol 71:667–675
- 65. Berg-Johnsen J, Grøndahl TO, Langmoen IA et al (1995) Changes in amino acid release and membrane potential during cerebral hypoxia and glucose deprivation. Neurol Res 17:201–208
- 66. Sun DA, Sombati S, DeLorenzo RJ (2001) Glutamate injury-induced epileptogenesis in hippocampal neurons: an in vitro model of stroke-induced "epilepsy.". Stroke 32: 2344–2350
- 67. Meldrum BS (1994) The role of glutamate in epilepsy and other CNS disorders. Neurology 44(11 Suppl 8):S14–S23
- Kunimatsu T, Asai S, Kanematsu K, Zhao H, Kohno T, Misaki T, Ishikawa K (1999) Transient in vivo membrane depolarization and glutamate release before anoxic depolarization in rat striatum. Brain Res 831(1–2): 273–282
- 69. Lucchi C, Vinet J, Meletti S, Biagini G (2015) Ischemic-hypoxic mechanisms leading to hippocampal dysfunction as a consequence of status epilepticus. Epilepsy Behav 49: 47–54

- 70. Camilo O, Goldstein LB (2004) Seizures and epilepsy after ischemic stroke. Stroke 35: 1769–1775
- 71. Inoue T, Shimizu M, Hamano S, Murakami N, Nagai T, Sakuta R (2014) Epilepsy and West syndrome in neonates with hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Pediatr Int 56(3): 369–372
- 72. Kreisman NR (1988) Cerebral hypoxia during repetitive seizures. In: Somjen G (ed) Mechanisms of cerebral hypoxia and stroke, vol 35, Advances in behavioral biology. Springer, New York, pp 139–149
- Wirrell EC, Armstrong EA, Osman LD, Yager JY (2001) Prolonged seizures exacerbate perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain damage. Pediatr Res 50:445–454
- 74. Bateman LM, Li CS, Seyal M (2008) Ictal hypoxemia in localization related epilepsy: analysis of incidence, severity and risk factors. Brain 131:3239–3245
- 75. Moseley BD, Nickels K, Britton J et al (2010) How common is ictal hypoxemia and bradycardia in children with partial complex and generalized convulsive seizures? Epilepsia 51:1219–1224
- 76. Nikitilidou L, Kanter-Schlifke I, Dhondt J et al (2012) VEGF receptor-2 (Flk-1) overexpression in mice counteracts focal epileptic seizures. PLoS One 7(7):e40535
- 77. Nicoletti JN, Shah SK, McCloskey DP et al (2008) Vascular endothelial growth factor is up-regulated after status epilepticus and protects against seizure-induced neuronal loss in hippocampus. Neuroscience 151: 232–241
- 78. Boer K, Troost D, Spliet WG et al (2008) Cellular distribution of vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGFA) and B (VEGFB) and VEGF receptors 1 and 2 in focal cortical dysplasia type IIB. Acta Neuropathol 115: 683–696
- 79. Rigau V, Morin M, Rousset MC et al (2007) Angiogenesis is associated with blood-brain barrier permeability in temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 130:1942–1956
- 80. Feast A, Martinian L, Liu J et al (2012)Investigation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$ in hippocampal sclerosis: A postmortem study. Epilepsia 53:1349–1359
- Comerford KM, Wallace TJ, Karhausen J, Louis NA, Montalto MC, Colgan SP (2002) Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-dependent regulation of the multidrug resistance (MDR1) gene. Cancer Res 62:3387–3394
- 82. Aviles-Reyes RX, Angelo MF, Villarreal A et al (2010) Intermittent hypoxia during sleep

induces reactive gliosis and limited neuronal death in rats: implications for sleep apnea. J Neurochem 112:854–869

- 83. Ramos AJ, Lazarowski A, Villar MJ et al (2004) Transient expression of MDR-1/ P-glycoprotein in a model of partial cortical devascularization. Cell Mol Neurobiol 24(1): 101–107
- 84. Lazarowski A, Caltana L, Merelli L et al (2007) Neuronal mdr-1 gene expression after experimental focal hypoxia: a new obstacle for neuroprotection? J Neurol Sci 258: 84–92
- 85. Yu C, Argyropoulos G, Zhang Y, Kastin AJ, Hsuchou H, Pan W (2008) Neuroinflammation activates Mdr1b efflux transport through NFkappaB: promoter analysis in BBB endothelia. Cell Physiol Biochem 22(5-6):745–756 20-McPherson RJ, Juul SE (2008) Recent trends in erythropoietinmediated neuroprotection. Int J Dev Neurosci 26(1):103–111
- 86. Yang J, He F, Meng Q, Sun Y, Wang W, Wang C (2016) Inhibiting HIF-1 $\alpha$  decreases expression of TNF- $\alpha$  and caspase-3 in specific brain regions exposed kainic acid-induced status epilepticus. Cell Physiol Biochem 38(1): 75–82
- 87. Nadam J, Navarro F, Sanchez P et al (2007) Neuroprotective effects of erythropoietin in the rat hippocampus after pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus. Neurobiol Dis 25:412–426
- Chu K, Jung KH, Lee ST et al (2008) Erythropoietin reduces epileptogenic processes following status epilepticus. Epilepsia 49:1723–1732
- 89. Bahçekapılı N, Akgün-Dar K, Albeniz I et al (2014) Erythropoietin pretreatment suppresses seizures and prevents the increase in inflammatory mediators during pentylenetetrazole-induced generalized seizures. Int J Neurosci 124(10):762–770
- 90. Sözmen SÇ, Kurul SH, Yiş U et al (2012) Neuroprotective effects of recombinant human erythropoietin in the developing brain of after lithium-pilocarpine induced status epilepticus. Brain Dev 34:189–195
- 91. Ma BX, Li J, Li H et al (2015) Recombinant human erythropoietin protects myocardial cells from apoptosis via the janus-activated kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 pathway in rats with epilepsy. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp 77:90–98
- 92. Jung KH, Chu K, Lee ST et al (2011) Molecular alterations underlying epileptogenesis after pro-longed febrile seizure and

modulation by erythropoietin. Epilepsia 52: 541–550

- Koshimura K, Murakami Y, Sohmiya M et al (1999) Effects of erythropoietin on neuronal activity. J Neurochem 72(6):2565–2572
- 94. Masuda S, Nagao M, Takahata K et al (1993) Functional erythropoietin receptor of the cells with neural characteristics. Comparison with receptor properties of erythroid cells. J Biol Chem 268:11208–11216
- 95. Merelli A, Czornyj L, Lazarowski A (2013) Erythropoietin: a neuroprotective agent in cerebral hypoxia, neurodegeneration, and epilepsy. Curr Pharm Des 19:6791–6801
- 96. Merelli A, Czornyj L, Lazarowski A (2015) Erythropoietin as a new therapeutic opportunity in brain inflammation and neurodegenerative diseases. Int J Neurosci 125(11): 793–797
- 97. Lipsic E, Schoemaker RG, van der Meer P, Voors AA, van Veldhuisen DJ, van Gilst WH (2006) Protective effects of erythropoietin in cardiac ischemia: from bench to bedside. J Am Coll Cardiol 48(11):2161–2167
- 98. Ma B-X, Li J, Li H, Wu S-S (2015) Recombinant human erythropoietin protects myocardial cells from apoptosis via the janus-activated kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 pathway in rats with epilepsy. Curr Ther Res 77:90–98
- 99. Roesler R, Quevedo J, Schroder N (2004) Erythropoietin, glutamate, and neuroprotection. NEJM 351:1465–1466
- 100. Kawakami M, Sekiguchi M, Sato K et al (2001) Erythropoietin receptor-mediated inhibition of exocytotic glutamate release confers neuroprotection during chemical ischemia. J Biol Chem 276:39469–39475
- 101. Mikati MA, El Hokayem JA, El Sabban ME (2007) Effects of a single dose of erythropoietin on subsequent seizure susceptibility in rats exposed to acute hypoxia at P10. Epilepsia 48:175–181
- 102. Lee TS, Lu KY, Yu YB et al  $(2015) \beta$  common receptor mediates erythropoietin-conferred protection on OxLDL-induced lipid accumulation and inflammation in macrophages. Mediators Inflamm 2015:439759
- 103. Nagai A, Nakagawa E, Choi HB et al (2001) Erythropoietin and erythropoietin receptors in human CNS neurons, astrocytes, microglia, and oligodendrocytes grown in culture. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 60:386–392
- 104. Byts N, Samoylenko A, Fasshauer T et al (2008) Essential role for Stat5 in the neurotrophic but not in the neuroprotective effect

of erythropoietin. Cell Death Differ 15: 783-792

- 105. Sato T, Tanno M, Miki T (2010) Erythropoietin (EPO) affords more potent cardioprotection by activation of distinct signaling to mitochondrial kinases compared with carbamylated EPO. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 24:401–408
- 106. Yin Y, Li W, Deng M et al (2014) Extracellular high mobility group box chromosomal protein 1 promotes drug resistance by increasing the expression of P-glycoprotein expression in gastric adenocarcinoma cells. Mol Med Rep 9(4):1439–1443
- 107. Chen Y, Huang X-J, Yu N et al (2015) HMGB1 contributes to the expression of P-glycoprotein in mouse epileptic brain through toll-like receptor 4 and receptor for advanced glycation end products. PLoS One 10(10):e0140918

- 108. Yao HC, Zhou M, Zhou YH et al (2015) Intravenous high mobility group box 1 upregulates the expression of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the myocardium via a protein kinase B-dependent pathway in rats following acute myocardial ischemia. Mol Med Rep 13:1211–1219 (PMID: 26648172)
- 109. Pitkänen A, Lukasiuk K (2009) Molecular and cellular basis of epileptogenesis in symptomatic epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 14:16–25
- 110. Vezzani A, Moneta D, Richichi C et al (2002) Functional role of inflammatory cytokines and antiinflammatory molecules in seizures and epileptogenesis. Epilepsia 43:30–35
- 111. Gui D, Li Y, Chen X, Gao D, Yang Y, Li X (2015) HIF-1 signaling pathway involving iNOS, COX-2 and caspase-9 mediates the neuroprotection provided by erythropoietin in the retina of chronic ocular hypertension rats. Mol Med Rep 11:1490–1496

# **Chapter 9**

# Caloric Restriction and Dietary Treatments of Epilepsy: Mechanistic Insights for Drug Discovery

# Karla G. Carvajal Aguilera and Bryan V. Phillips Farfán

### Abstract

Based on the observation that fasting reduces the number and severity of convulsive seizures, a few different eating regimes have emerged to treat epilepsy. These are the ketogenic diet, medium-chain triglyceride regime, modified Atkins diet and low glycemic index treatment, all of which have been used clinically. These nutritional procedures are effective and have few adverse collateral actions. A related diet is caloric restriction, which can be accomplished by several methods. Caloric restriction has been shown to possess anticonvulsive and, most importantly, antiepileptogenic properties. But there are no clinical studies exploring if caloric restriction by itself reduces the number and severity of seizures. However, there is some data suggesting that caloric restriction improves the efficacy of the ketogenic and modified Atkins diets. Its mechanism(s) of action remain(s) mysterious, although several possibilities have been suggested. Each of its proposed mechanisms of action can be targeted for the discovery of drugs that prevent or modify epilepsy. This chapter briefly describes every one of the food modifications in current clinical use or that has been studied using animal models. Much evidence indicating that caloric restriction induced by food restriction or intermittent fasting is antiepileptic or antiepileptogenic is discussed. The possible mechanisms of action of the ketogenic diet and caloric restriction are presented in short. Lastly, a brief method for performing a type of caloric restriction is detailed.

Key words Epilepsy, Epileptogenesis, Ketogenic diet, Medium-chain triglyceride regime, Modified Atkins diet, Low glycemic index treatment, Intermittent fasting, Caloric restriction, Prevention/ prophylaxis

## 1 Introduction

It has been known for a long time that seizures can be treated by fasting. Scientific investigation of the effects of short-term starvation and diet changes for the treatment of epilepsy started in the twentieth century. Since then lots of data have been accumulated showing that most eating regimes designed to effectively reduce the frequency and severity of convulsions have a relatively benign side effect profile [1-4].

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_9, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

At least one of these diets, the ketogenic diet, could actually prevent or cure epilepsy by modifying its generation (antiepileptogenic effect), since it has long-term disease alteration properties in animals and humans [5–7]. Moreover, there is evidence that this same nutritional procedure might enhance the efficiency of anticonvulsive medications [8-10]. In most patients, these food modifications are started after antiseizure drugs, which can be decreased (in number or dose) without problems [4, 11, 12]. This likely improves the quality of life by reducing adverse drug side effects and suggests that no medications would have been needed if the nutritional procedure was started sooner. Indeed, there is evidence indicating that early dietary treatment is an effective option for the management of convulsions [12-14]. Thus, there should be more studies, especially in the clinical setting and at the earliest possible opportunity, for a possible nonpharmacological treatment of epilepsy with different eating regimes.

1.1 Ketogenic Although since ancient times it is known that fasting reduces the number and severity of seizures, it was not until the early twentieth Diet (KD) century that a diet was introduced to mimic its effects. This was the KD; which is rich in fats, low in carbohydrates and adequate in proteins [15, 16]. Typically, a 4 to 1 ratio of fats to carbohydrates plus proteins is used; however, this can be modified to increase compliance or to achieve better seizure control [15, 16]. Its name stems from the fact that people subjected to it have increased ketogenesis, referring to augmented ketone body production [16, 17]. These ketone bodies (acetone, acetoacetic acid and  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyric acid) are an alternative fuel source [17]. In fact, a primary objective of the KD is to generate ketosis [17], which refers to ketonemia (a higher level of ketone bodies in blood) plus ketonuria (secretion of ketone bodies in urine).

The KD and the other eating regimes which emerged after it, all cause some degree of ketosis [18]; suggesting that a threshold level of ketone bodies might be necessary for seizure control. In fact, the ketone bodies could alter neuronal excitability *per se* (see possible mechanisms of action below). If only a certain amount of ketosis is necessary to manage epilepsy it would explain why ketone body concentration is not sufficiently correlated with the anticonvulsive effect of the KD [19, 20]. But it is important to note that ketosis is due to low blood glucose levels, which could also be responsible in part for the effects of the KD [21–25]. Therefore, the beneficial actions of the KD might depend on increased ketosis decreased glucose levels or both.

The KD is quite effective in patients; about half show a >50% reduction in seizure frequency and a third a >90% decrease [3, 15]. However, the KD is rather restrictive and has poor palatability; thus other eating regimes were introduced to improve patient compliance while maintaining efficacy. As expected, the different

diets are more liberal and have either the same or slightly less effectiveness. The nutritional procedures which have been used in patients, other than the KD, are the medium-chain triglyceride (MCT) regime, modified Atkins diet (MAD) and low glycemic index (LGI) treatment. Some KD and MAD protocols intentionally include a low to moderate degree (10–25%) of caloric restriction (CR), since it possibly increases their efficacy [15, 16]. In addition, the different eating manipulations could accidentally introduce some CR due to poor palatability or limited food choice [26]. Thus, clinical studies ought to be performed to examine whether CR has anticonvulsive and/or antiepileptogenic properties [27–29] in any of its implementations: intermittent fasting (IF or EOF for "every other day feeding"), periodic fasting (PF) and food restriction (FR).

#### 1.2 MCT Regime

The KD consists mostly of long-chain triglycerides [15, 16, 18, 26]; thus, the first diet alternative to the KD used medium-chain triglycerides to obtain about 50% of the total daily energy [16, 18, 26, 30, 31]. Medium-chain triglycerides (such as caprylic, capric and lauric acids) are found in coconut and palm kernel oils. They allow greater amounts of proteins and carbohydrates to be consumed due to fact that the medium-chain triglycerides are more ketogenic [15, 16, 18, 26, 30, 31]. Furthermore, the amount of medium-chain triglycerides can be adjusted to attain good tolerance and ketosis [32]. The MCT regime is just as helpful as the KD for seizure management [18, 32, 33]. However, there is evidence that starting (at least during the first 3 months) with a more strict nutritional procedure (*i.e.*, with more limit to the consumption of carbohydrates, in this case the KD) is likely to be better. Moreover, patients can be successfully transitioned from a strict diet to a more liberal one [18].

It is important to note that the goal of the MCT diet is to allow more consumption of carbohydrates and proteins in an effort to increase treatment palatability and compliance. Since the MCT regime is more ketogenic than the KD, it may be tempting to try to augment the level of ketosis. However, such a maneuver does not improve treatment effectiveness [19, 20, 34]. Even so, it might be advisable to achieve ketosis quicker with a fasting period [4, 16]. There have been several studies investigating the effects of specific medium-chain triglycerides on different epilepsy models; all of them showed that they possess anticonvulsive properties [35-41]. The oral administration of small-chain or medium-chain ketone esters may also be beneficial [42]. Therefore, the MCT diet could be simplified further to a simple mixture of particular mediumchain triglycerides and/or ketone esters. However, a reduction in glucose concentration and/or metabolic adaptation may be needed for the beneficial effect of the different food modifications [21-25,43-45]. It is unclear if supplementation of medium-chain fatty acids and/or ketone esters could also achieve these effects.

1.3 MAD Another alternative for the KD is the MAD, which only limits carbohydrate intake: 10 g/day in children and 15-20 g/day in adults initially; the portions can be increased depending on seizure control and tolerability [15, 16, 18, 30]. The MAD encourages ingestion of fats, liberalizes intake of proteins and can include a moderate degree of CR [15, 16, 18, 30]. Due to its relative simplicity it is usually started in an outpatient setting [15, 16, 18, 30]. Its efficiency for the treatment of epilepsy is similar to the KD [15, 16, 18, 30]. Some reports showed that the type of fat or the lipid to nonlipid (carbohydrates and/or proteins) ratio did not affect the efficacy of the KD [34, 46-50]. Based on this evidence, the general assumption is that the MCT regime, MAD or LGI treatment all have the same effects as the KD. Thus, animal model studies with these nutritional practices are extremely scarce. Nonetheless, these diets all restrict ingestion of carbohydrates, thus lowering blood glucose levels, which produces ketosis. It is clear that at least one of these two (lowering blood glucose or ketosis) should be responsible for their similar efficacy in managing epilepsy.

1.4 LGI Treatment An additional option is the LGI manipulation, which also limits carbohydrate ingestion to about 40–60 g per day [15, 16, 18, 30]. In terms of the total daily calories: around 60-70% are from fats, 20-30% from proteins and 10% from carbohydrates [15, 16, 18, 30]. However, the carbohydrates consumed must have a low (<50)glycemic index [15, 16, 18, 30]. This index measures the rise in glucose concentration in systemic circulation resulting from the consumption of a specific food, as compared to the ingestion of pure glucose [15, 16, 18]. The LGI procedure is based on the decrease in blood glucose that is also characteristic of the KD and on animal studies showing that diminished circulating glucose produces anticonvulsive effects [21-25]. This scheme produces some degree of ketosis as a consequence of reducing systemic glucose; however its effectiveness is correlated better with lower serum glucose than with the level of ketone bodies [51].

> The most important aspects of these diets could be combined. In any of them, low glycemic index carbohydrates should be preferentially consumed. Similarly, medium-chain triglycerides ought to be abundant in food choices. Finally, some degree of intentional CR is probably beneficial in the long term [15, 16, 52]. Since the data show that starting with a stringent eating regime is likely better, a calorie-restricted KD becomes the first choice to attempt for at least the first 3 months [18]. At any point, if needed, the patients can be successfully transitioned to a less strict nutritional practice [18].

There is a great deal of naming issues regarding CR in the literature [53], reflecting the conflicts in this field. CR is traditionally defined as any maneuver that reduces the amount of calories which are ingested [27, 53]. However, many studies involving CR either

1.5 CR

cause undernutrition [53] or do not truly restrict the quantity of calories eaten [27], yet beneficial effects are still observed; thus the role of reduced calories is controversial [54]. CR has gained attention because it is a natural method for expanding the life span in a broad range of animals [16, 27, 29, 53–59]. CR also raises health-span: general well-being is improved due to the prevention or delay of age-related pathologies [16, 27, 54, 56, 57, 59].

CR can be performed as IF, PF or FR, with or without mineral and vitamin supplements. IF usually means eating every other day: i.e., fasting for 24 h, followed by 24 h where food is allowed either *ad libitum* or constrained to prevent its overconsumption [27, 53, 55, 57]. PF is very similar, it generally involves fasting for 2 days or longer every 2 or more weeks [57]. Lastly, FR refers to a daily calorie limit; although this procedure can also have other names [27, 53, 55, 57]. A debate in the literature is whether any of these maneuvers produces deficits in micronutrients, implying that minerals and vitamins should be supplemented, except perhaps if the degree of CR is  $\leq 20\%$  [27, 53, 55].

What follows is some of the data showing that FR has anticonvulsive properties. A study reported that 10% FR for 25 days significantly augmented the dose of pentylenetetrazole (PTZ) which was needed to produce seizures in 47-day-old Sprague-Dawley rats [60]. Another report established that 15 % FR for 10 weeks significantly reduced the proportion of animals showing seizures in 14-week-old epileptic mice [61]. The effect was lost in 70-day-old mice, but was recovered by increasing the degree of FR to 30% [61]. An additional investigation showed that a KD restrained to 80-90% of the suggested daily calories or an equally constrained normal diet for  $\geq$ 28 days reduced excitability of the hippocampal dentate gyrus in 65-67-day-old Sprague-Dawley rats [62]. Moreover, the calorie-restricted KD showed a profile that was consistent with an antiepileptogenic effect [62]. One more study in 6-7-month-old rats bred to possess a fast kindling rate determined that 2 months of FR, such that the animals lost 20% of the body weight they had when fed ad libitum, reduced hyperactivity and possibly stress due to restraint [63]. Although the rats had a longer after-discharge duration on the first day of kindling, FR slowed down their kindling acquisition [63]. Interestingly, in rats reared to have a slow kindling rate FR diminished the extent of tonic clonic seizures and also decreased after-discharge intervals [63]. Lastly, 15% FR for a month in 51-day-old Wistar rats augmented the after-discharge threshold and tended to reduce its duration, but did not alter any other kindling variable [64]. Importantly, this anticonvulsive action was not due to changes in blood levels of glucose or  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate [64]. However, clinical studies to test whether FR by itself reduces seizure number or severity are lacking.

Similarly, there is some evidence that IF also has anticonvulsive effects. One investigation showed that IF for 10 weeks in 2-monthold Wistar rats decreased the duration of status epilepticus (SE), diminished the mortality due to SE, increased the duration of the latent period, reduced the severity of convulsions and lowered the proportion of rats with SE or that later had seizures [65]. One more study reported that IF for 11-13 days decreased seizure severity and duration, as well as augmenting the time to convulsion onset after kainic acid [66]. However, IF did not affect seizures produced by PTZ; moreover, IF increased convulsion vulnerability in the 6 Hz and maximal electroshock tests [66]. In contrast, a KD increased the current necessary to obtain seizures (was protective) in the 6 Hz test, had no effect in the maximal electroshock test and augmented the severity of convulsions (was harmful) due to kainic acid [66]. Conversely, IF for 4 weeks before PTZ treatment (35 mg/kg every other day for another 4 weeks) or IF both previous to and during PTZ administration (8 weeks total) diminished convulsion severity and reduced the number of injured neurons in the CA1 area of the hippocampus in adult Wistar rats [67]. All IF diets, even IF only during the 4 weeks of PTZ injections, lowered the quantity of damaged neurons in the hippocampal CA3 area and reduced the amount of apoptotic neurons in CA1 plus CA3 [67]. Neurons in both areas seemed to be healthier in all IF groups, since they had augmented volume [67]. A relatively short duration of IF (11-13 days) did not affect seizures resulting from a single constant infusion of PTZ [66], but a longer IF period (4–8 weeks) was protective even when PTZ was injected multiple times [67]. These contradictory outcomes suggest that diet duration is a critical variable, possibly due to metabolic adaptation. In a similar manner, IF protected neurons from damage due to PTZ administration [67] but not against pilocarpine treatment [65]. This difference was likely due to the fact that PTZ did not produce SE [67], suggesting that IF may not defend neurons from massive damage. Nonetheless, there is much evidence that CR is neuroprotective against excitotoxicity [68-73]. Additionally, IF for 12 weeks diminished the number of pilocarpine-injured neurons in the subventricular zone and piriform cortex of 6-7-month-old Wistar rats [71]. However, IF did not protect pyramidal CA1-CA3 neurons from damage by pilocarpine [65]. The difference may be due to the duration of SE: the former study stopped SE after 2 h [71] and the latter report after 3 h [65]. Indeed, the latter study suggested that IF controls epileptogenesis and defends against SE lasting 1 h [65]. Another possible explanation is that distinct brain areas respond differently to CR [67, 74]. In spite of the data showing that CR has anticonvulsive and/or antiepileptogenic effects there are no clinical investigations into the effects of CR by itself. Nevertheless, there is evidence indicating that CR augments the efficacy of the KD [16, 28] and MAD [15].

#### 2 Possible Mechanisms of Action

Given that a calorie-restricted KD has both anticonvulsive and antiepileptogenic properties [62], a potential route for the discovery of drugs that may also have these same capacities is to target one or more of its many potential mechanisms of action. Many of them will be mentioned briefly within the following paragraphs. However, two general points need to be made before: (1) both CR and the KD likely have pleiotropic effects and (2) they do not necessarily share mechanisms, as has been shown [62, 66].

2.1 KD

Individual KD components might be at least partly responsible for its actions, such as medium-chain triglycerides [35–41]. As aforementioned, ketone bodies *per se* could alter neuronal excitability [75–78]. However, there is controversy over whether the concentration at which they have their effect is really achieved in patients [76] and/or if there is a species difference in their production [78]. In this line, it is important to mention that  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyric acid also acts as a signaling molecule [79, 80], protects the neural tissue from damage [79–82] and likely takes part in the regulation of food intake [81]. It is unknown to what extent the other ketone bodies also share these properties. It is also wise to point out that  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyric acid is a weak inhibitor of histone deacetylases [79, 83], similarly to some small-chain fatty acids [84]. Therefore, the KD may have epigenetic consequences possibly explaining its long-term effects even after diet termination.

It has been shown that plasma-free fatty acids, including polyunsaturated fatty acids, are augmented by the KD [15, 75, 85–87]. The latter are hypothesized to contribute to the results produced by the KD [15, 75, 85–87]. The KD severely reduces carbohydrate intake; thus, blood glucose levels also diminish, which may have important mechanistic implications [21–25]. Actually, a large group of conjectures regarding the effects of the KD focus on energy metabolism. A hypothesis is that ionic gradients are modified by the KD, increasing the resting membrane potential and reducing epileptic activity [88]. A different conjecture states that the KD activates ATP-dependent potassium channels  $(K_{ATP})$ to inhibit neuronal activity [89, 90]; perhaps by lowering glucose and provoking ATP release through pannexin channels, subsequently ATP converted to adenosine binds its receptor opening  $K_{ATP}$  channels [90]. Another hypothesis is that the KD acts by inhibiting glycolysis, tested using 2-deoxyglucose [91-93] and fructose-1,6-diphosphate [94-98], which have broad anticonvulsive actions. Similarly, the final hypothesis is that the KD alleviates metabolic or energy shortages produced by excessive neuronal activity, for example by augmenting anaplerotic reactions [16, 37, 43, 99–101].

Other conjectures about the mechanism of the KD suggest that it affects neurotransmitters or neuroactive substances. Regarding the former, the KD may increase synthesis of  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid [102] or hinder glutamate uptake into synaptic vesicles, diminishing its release by inhibition of vesicular glutamate transporters [103, 104]. The KD has been shown to affect several neuroactive molecules, such as cholecystokinin, cortisol, galanin, ghrelin, insulin, leptin and neuropeptide Y, among others [7, 76]. For instance, the KD reduces insulin and either augments or decreases leptin [7, 76]. These changes are thought to impact the nervous system in several ways [7, 76], including activation or inhibition of intracellular signaling pathways. Thus, a last hypothesis is that the KD hinders the mammalian (mechanistic) target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling cascade [105], since its function seems to be essential for genetic and acquired epilepsies [106–108].

The mechanisms that could underlie the effects of CR are similarly broad and pleiotropic. As seen before, the effects of CR seem to depend on the species and tissue studied, the age of the animal, the duration of CR, etc. Thus, the actions of CR may partly depend on increased ketone bodies in mice [61, 109], but not in rats [60, 62, 110–114]. Similarly, CR appears to reduce blood glucose levels in mice, but it is unclear if blood glucose levels are decreased in rats or if they remain unaffected [110, 111, 113, 114]. In fact, the antiepileptogenic action of CR might require augmented ketone bodies, diminished glucose [64] or animals inbred for seizure susceptibility [61, 63]. On the other hand, the anticonvulsive effect of CR seems not to depend on blood glucose or ketone bodies [64].

Unlike the KD, CR appears not to affect ionic gradients, the membrane potential or  $K_{ATP}$  channels. However, although somewhat neglected, CR seems to inhibit glycolysis [115–118]. To be expected, CR does not modify anaplerosis or other possible deficits produced by seizures. Although not stated before, both the KD and CR augment mitochondrial biogenesis and decrease oxidative damage [16, 17, 26, 27, 57, 58, 89], as well as diminishing inflammation [5, 17, 27, 57, 58, 119]. CR could also increase glutamic acid decarboxylase expression and activity [24, 110]. However, enhanced activity of this enzyme did not result in augmented  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid levels. Likewise, increased enzyme function was observed in mice subjected to CR with different seizure susceptibility, suggesting that these phenomena are not related [24].

Not surprisingly, CR induces many systemic effects including changes in neuroactive compounds. Some of these molecules are also influenced by the KD: ghrelin, insulin, leptin and neuropeptide Y [27, 57, 58, 120]. Indeed, the neuroendocrine network that regulates appetite could be essential for the beneficial action of CR [57]. Other substances appear to be exclusively modified by CR,

2.2 CR

such as the thyroid hormone triiodothyronine as well as growth hormone [57, 120]. Obviously, these changes engage or disengage many intracellular signaling pathways. Among them, two that may participate in the mechanisms of action of CR are the mTOR and sirtuin cascades [56, 58, 59, 64]. Hormesis is another hypothesis that has been proposed as a method of operation for CR [58, 59]. This refers to a phenomenon whereby the response to an agent is different according to its intensity; for example if a chemical is toxic at high concentrations but beneficial at low levels [58]. It was not until relatively recently that a framework was proposed to associate the many possible mechanisms of action of CR [58].

## 3 CR Protocol

The protocol below is designed to carry out a study using CR in animals, but similar methods could be used in humans. Animals of any species, genotype (*i.e.*, transgenic, knockout, wild type) and age can be used. Any type, degree or duration of CR is feasible; however, the following section contains a brief and simple method focused on performing low to moderate FR (5-20%) based on the body weight of controls in group-housed weanling rats. The reasons for this choice are as follows: our laboratory is familiar with this technique; it is more economical not to supplement minerals and vitamins, thus it is best to perform a low degree of FR; it is more convenient to group-house the animals to avoid possible problems of social isolation.

If working with animals, decide the species, strain and age (refer to note 1). Choose the type, degree and duration of CR to execute (note 2). Mineral and vitamin supplementation might be needed if the extent of CR is  $\geq 20\%$  [27]. Finally, select the food and water the animals will be receiving; usually commercial chow and tap water are used.

#### 3.1 Method

- 1. It may be a good idea to fast animals for 4–12 h, so they all initiate at a similar metabolic set point [60, 62, 64, 66, 112, 114].
- Regardless of their age, the animals obtained are usually quite different in weight. Therefore, it is best to weight-match the subjects, either before the fast or after, to form the groups [60, 64, 66, 111–114]. They should be divided into at least two groups: controls eating the diet *ad libitum* and those that are subjected to FR. If forming two groups, the lightest animal of all goes to one group (A), the next lightest to the other group (B), the following lightest to the first group (A) and so on. As a fictional example, suppose we have eight animals that weigh: 150, 152, 154, 156, 158, 160, 162 and 164 g; group A would be those weighing 150, 154, 158 and 162 g, while group B

3.2 Notes

would be the ones that weigh 152, 156, 160 and 164 g. Control or experimental conditions should be assigned at random to the groups. Document the body weights of all subjects and the group they belong to.

- 3. In animal studies, decide if they will be singly housed or group housed (refer to note 3).
- 4. Weigh an amount of food in excess of the amount you expect the animals to eat and give it to the controls. For the experimental animals, follow the following formula:

weight of food (g) = 
$$\frac{\text{body weight of control}(g) \times 0.3\left(\frac{\text{kcal}}{g}\right) \times \text{degree of FR}}{\text{kilocalories in each gram of food}\left(\frac{\text{kcal}}{g}\right)}$$

where 0.3 is the recommended daily amount of kilocalories that a rat should eat per gram of body weight [121]. The units of kilocalories/gram are canceled since they appear both above and below; thus we are left with grams. In the example above, let us say that group A is the control rats, group B the experimental animals, 15% FR and 3.5 kcal per gram of food: (a) if the rats are housed in groups:  $(150+154+158+162)\times0.3\times0$ .85/3.5=624×0.3×0.85/3.5=45.5 g of food for the rats in group B. (b) if the rats are singly housed:  $150\times0.3\times$ 0.85/3.5=10.9 g of food for the rat weighing 152 g in group B, 11.2 g of food for the rat weighing 156 g in group B and so forth. Give the animals water in excess of the amount you expect them to drink. Make and keep a record of the amount of food (optionally, also of the quantity of water) given to each group.

- 5. Make sure the animals are housed in the appropriate conditions. For rats, this is usually a 12:12 h light dark period (which can be reversed, such that their night is our day), 22–24 °C and 40–60% relative humidity [122].
- 6. The second and every subsequent day, including weekends and holidays, document the weight of the animals and the leftover food from the previous day (optionally also measure their water consumption). Just as above, give the controls surplus food, calculate the amount of food for the CR group and record the quantities. Be sure to leave excess water for all groups (optionally, document this amount).
- Choosing the species, strain and age of animals is not a trivial concern. In fact, these are probably very important factors that determine the effects of FR. For example, rats and mice seem to respond differently: FR increases blood β-hydroxybutyrate levels in mice [61, 109], but does not affect them in rats [60,

110–114], with the exception of one report [62]. Similarly, the KD [123] and CR [124] show strain-specific actions. Related to this, distinct tissues respond differently to CR [125]; indeed, diverse brain areas are not affected equally by CR [74]. Finally, the antiepileptic effects of FR are observed better in younger animals [60, 61].

2. Other very important variables are the type and duration of CR. As mentioned before, CR can be implemented as IF, PF or FR. One problem often seen in the IF protocol is a behavioral adaptation to the diet, such that the subjects overeat on days they have access to food [27, 55, 68]. Thus, a maneuver could be implemented to avoid this, such as limiting the amount of food available on feeding days [55].

On the other hand, the issues inherent to FR are: (1) some CR techniques do not actually restrain the amount of calories ingested or do so for only a certain period of time [27]; (2) to the contrary, certain CR methods likely cause malnutrition and this is especially true for high degrees of restriction [53]. Thus, the results might actually be due to a deficiency of macro- or micronutrients. However, there is controversy whether and to what extent these issues require attention [27, 53, 55].

There are several ways to actually implement FR; it can be based on: the food intake of controls the day before, the body weight of controls the same day, achieving and maintaining a certain reduction in body weight, etc. If the body weight of *ad libitum* fed animals is used as a reference to calculate the amount of food that the restricted group obtains, as in the present protocol, pay careful attention not to exceed the recent food intake of controls. For example, the formula above gives 218.6 g for five rats weighing 600 g each, which likely exceeds their *ad libitum* food intake. If this is the case, switching to a different method of executing FR will be required.

As for the duration, it was shown that 10–12 days were needed for the KD to increase the voltage necessary to produce a minimal convulsive response [43, 126]. After about 20 days a new threshold was reached and at around 30 days the effect was maximal [126]. Thus, 10–30 days is the minimal duration for the KD and its effect improves throughout this period. The maximal duration of the KD is unclear, especially since there is controversy concerning its effects on glucose intolerance, insulin resistance and liver disease [127–133]. However, the KD is maintained for years in humans without major ill effects [4, 134]. There are no reports on the long-term effect of the KD or its related diets in animal models of epilepsy, as far as we know.

3. Rats and mice are social animals that can become depressed, sick or even die when isolated from others of their kind [135]. If you decide to keep them one per cage (singly housed) it is
suggested to use cages with wire mesh walls to allow animals to see, smell and hear each other.

Keeping the animals group housed avoids the stress of social isolation, but introduces other problems: the individual intakes of food and water are unknown, dominant animals may eat or drink more than the others and there are issues with the statistical design of the study. The only way to resolve the first problem is to perform single housing. However, the second issue can be alleviated by placing more than one source of food and water. The final issue relates to the smallest element that can receive its own treatment (experimental unit); since all animals in a cage receive the same restricted diet then the true sample size is the number of cages regardless of the quantity of animals within [136, 137]. Thus, two per cage is an ideal number for studies using diets and group-housed animals.

### 4 Final Remarks

As was mentioned before, all diet therapies for epilepsy lower blood glucose and produce ketosis, suggesting that one or both of these effects are required for their antiepileptic action. On the other hand, the anticonvulsive effect of CR seems not to require reduced glucose or increased ketones in the blood. However, the pleiotropic mechanisms of action responsible for the effects of the KD and CR (as well as the other procedures) are not necessarily the same, although they do share some of them (glycolytic inhibition, augmented mitochondrial biogenesis and decreased oxidative damage as well as diminished inflammation, among others). More research is needed, especially in the clinical setting regarding the possible reduction in the number and severity of seizures using only CR.

#### References

- 1. Bergqvist AG (2012) Long-term monitoring of the ketogenic diet: do's and don'ts. Epilepsy Res 100:261–266
- Jóźwiak S, Kossoff EH, Kotulska-Jóźwiak K (2011) Dietary treatment of epilepsy: rebirth of an ancient treatment. Neurol Neurochir Pol 45:370–378
- Kossoff EH, Wang HS (2013) Dietary therapies for epilepsy. Biomed J 36:2–8
- Kossoff EH, Zupec-Kania BA, Amark PE, Ballaban-Gil KR, Christina Bergqvist AG, Blackford R et al (2009) Optimal clinical management of children receiving the

ketogenic diet: recommendations of the International Ketogenic Diet Study Group. Epilepsia 50:304–317

- Gasior M, Rogawski MA, Hartman AL (2006) Neuroprotective and disease-modifying effects of the ketogenic diet. Behav Pharmacol 17:431–439
- 6. Kossoff EH, Rho JM (2009) Ketogenic diets: evidence for short- and long-term efficacy. Neurotherapeutics 6:406–414
- Thio LL (2012) Hypothalamic hormones and metabolism. Epilepsy Res 100: 245–251

- Bough KJ, Eagles DA (2001) Comparison of the anticonvulsant efficacies and neurotoxic effects of valproic acid, phenytoin, and the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 42:1345–1353
- Morrison PF, Pyzik PL, Hamdy R, Hartman AL, Kossoff EH (2009) The influence of concurrent anticonvulsants on the efficacy of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 50:1999–2001
- Zarnowska I, Luszczki JJ, Zarnowski T, Buszewicz G, Madro R, Czuczwar SJ et al (2009) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic interactions between common antiepileptic drugs and acetone, the chief anticonvulsant ketone body elevated in the ketogenic diet in mice. Epilepsia 50: 1132–1140
- Hemingway C, Freeman JM, Pillas DJ, Pyzik PL (2001) The ketogenic diet: a 3- to 6-year follow-up of 150 children enrolled prospectively. Pediatrics 108:898–905
- Kossoff EH, Pyzik PL, McGrogan JR, Rubenstein JE (2004) The impact of early versus late anticonvulsant reduction after ketogenic diet initiation. Epilepsy Behav 5:499–502
- Rubenstein JE, Kossoff EH, Pyzik PL, Vining EP, McGrogan JR, Freeman JM (2005) Experience in the use of the ketogenic diet as early therapy. J Child Neurol 20:31–34
- Wang HS, Lin KL (2013) Ketogenic diet: an early option for epilepsy treatment, instead of a last choice only. Biomed J 36:16–17
- Yoon JR, Kim HD, Kang HC (2013) Lower fat and better quality diet therapy for children with pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Korean J Pediatr 56:327–331
- Gano LB, Patel M, Rho JM (2014) Ketogenic diets, mitochondria, and neurological diseases. J Lipid Res 55:2211–2228
- 17. Ruskin DN, Masino SA (2012) The nervous system and metabolic dysregulation: emerging evidence converges on ketogenic diet therapy. Front Neurosci 6:33
- Miranda MJ, Turner Z, Magrath G (2012) Alternative diets to the classical ketogenic diet—can we be more liberal? Epilepsy Res 100:278–285
- Musa-Veloso K (2004) Non-invasive detection of ketosis and its application in refractory epilepsy. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:329–335
- 20. van Delft R, Lambrechts D, Verschuure P, Hulsman J, Majoie M (2010) Blood betahydroxybutyrate correlates better with seizure reduction due to ketogenic diet than do ketones in the urine. Seizure 19:36–39

- Greene AE, Todorova MT, Seyfried TN (2003) Perspectives on the metabolic management of epilepsy through dietary reduction of glucose and elevation of ketone bodies. J Neurochem 86:529–537
- Kawamura M Jr, Ruskin DN, Geiger JD, Boison D, Masino SA (2014) Ketogenic diet sensitizes glucose control of hippocampal excitability. J Lipid Res 55:2254–2260
- Mantis JG, Meidenbauer JJ, Zimick NC, Centeno NA, Seyfried TN (2014) Glucose reduces the anticonvulsant effects of the ketogenic diet in EL mice. Epilepsy Res 108: 1137–1144
- Meidenbauer JJ, Roberts MF (2014) Reduced glucose utilization underlies seizure protection with dietary therapy in epileptic EL mice. Epilepsy Behav 39:48–54
- 25. Yamada KA (2008) Calorie restriction and glucose regulation. Epilepsia 49:94–96
- McPherson PA, McEneny J (2012) The biochemistry of ketogenesis and its role in weight management, neurological disease and oxidative stress. J Physiol Biochem 68:141–151
- 27. Amigo I, Kowaltowski AJ (2014) Dietary restriction in cerebral bioenergetics and redox state. Redox Biol 2:296–304
- Hartman AL, Rubenstein JE, Kossoff EH (2013) Intermittent fasting: a "new" historical strategy for controlling seizures? Epilepsy Res 104:275–279
- 29. Yuen AW, Sander JW (2014) Rationale for using intermittent calorie restriction as a dietary treatment for drug resistant epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 33:110–114
- Dhamija R, Eckert S, Wirrell E (2013) Ketogenic diet. Can J Neurol Sci 40: 158–167
- Kessler SK, Neal EG, Camfield CS, Kossoff EH (2011) Dietary therapies for epilepsy: future research. Epilepsy Behav 22:17–22
- 32. Neal EG, Chaffe H, Schwartz RH, Lawson MS, Edwards N, Fitzsimmons G et al (2009) A randomized trial of classical and mediumchain triglyceride ketogenic diets in the treatment of childhood epilepsy. Epilepsia 50:1109–1117
- 33. Wibisono C, Rowe N, Beavis E, Kepreotes H, Mackie FE, Lawson JA et al (2015) Ten-year single-center experience of the ketogenic diet: factors influencing efficacy, tolerability, and compliance. J Pediatr 166:1030–1036
- 34. Likhodii SS, Musa K, Mendonca A, Dell C, Burnham WM, Cunnane SC (2000) Dietary fat, ketosis, and seizure resistance in rats on the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 41:1400–1410

- 35. Chang P, Terbach N, Plant N, Chen PE, Walker MC, Williams RS (2013) Seizure control by ketogenic diet-associated medium chain fatty acids. Neuropharmacology 69: 105–114
- 36. Chang P, Zuckermann AM, Williams S, Close AJ, Cano-Jaimez M, McEvoy JP et al (2015) Seizure control by derivatives of medium chain fatty acids associated with the ketogenic diet show novel branching-point structure for enhanced potency. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 352:43–52
- 37. Gama IR, Trindade-Filho EM, Oliveira SL, Bueno NB, Melo IT, Cabral-Junior CR et al (2015) Effects of ketogenic diets on the occurrence of pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus of rats. Metab Brain Dis 30:93–98
- McDonald TS, Tan KN, Hodson MP, Borges K (2014) Alterations of hippocampal glucose metabolism by even versus uneven medium chain triglycerides. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 34:153–160
- 39. Wlaź P, Socała K, Nieoczym D, Łuszczki JJ, Zarnowska I, Zarnowski T et al (2012) Anticonvulsant profile of caprylic acid, a main constituent of the medium-chain triglyceride (MCT) ketogenic diet, in mice. Neuropharmacology 62:1882–1889
- 40. Wlaź P, Socała K, Nieoczym D, Żarnowski T, Żarnowska I, Czuczwar SJ et al (2015) Acute anticonvulsant effects of capric acid in seizure tests in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 57:110–116
- 41. Socała K, Nieoczym D, Pieróg M, Wlaź P (2015) Role of the adenosine system and glucose restriction in the acute anticonvulsant effect of caprylic acid in the 6 Hz psychomotor seizure test in mice. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 57:44–51
- 42. Hashim SA, VanItallie TB (2014) Ketone body therapy: from the ketogenic diet to the oral administration of ketone ester. J Lipid Res 55:1818–1826
- Bough K (2008) Energy metabolism as part of the anticonvulsant mechanism of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 49:91–93
- 44. Danial NN, Hartman AL, Stafstrom CE, Thio LL (2013) How does the ketogenic diet work? Four potential mechanisms. J Child Neurol 28:1027–1033
- 45. Masino SA, Rho JM (2012) Mechanisms of ketogenic diet action. In: Noebels JL, Avoli M, Rogawski MA, Olsen RW, Delgado-Escueta AV (eds) Jasper's basic mechanisms of the epilepsies, 4th edn. National Center for Biotechnology Information, Bethesda, Available via NCBI, http://www.ncbi.nlm.

nih.gov/books/NBK98219/. Accessed 09 Jun 2015

- 46. Bielohuby M, Menhofer D, Kirchner H, Stoehr BJ, Müller TD, Stock P et al (2011) Induction of ketosis in rats fed lowcarbohydrate, high-fat diets depends on the relative abundance of dietary fat and protein. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 300: E65–E76
- Bough KJ, Yao SG, Eagles DA (2000) Higher ketogenic diet ratios confer protection from seizures without neurotoxicity. Epilepsy Res 38:15–25
- 48. Nylen K, Likhodii S, Abdelmalik PA, Clarke J, Burnham WM (2005) A comparison of the ability of a 4:1 ketogenic diet and a 6.3:1 ketogenic diet to elevate seizure thresholds in adult and young rats. Epilepsia 46: 1198–1204
- 49. Seo JH, Lee YM, Lee JS, Kang HC, Kim HD (2007) Efficacy and tolerability of the ketogenic diet according to lipid:nonlipid ratios comparison of 3:1 with 4:1 diet. Epilepsia 48:801–805
- 50. Raju KN, Gulati S, Kabra M, Agarwala A, Sharma S, Pandey RM et al (2011) Efficacy of 4:1 (classic) versus 2.5:1 ketogenic ratio diets in refractory epilepsy in young children: a randomized open labeled study. Epilepsy Res 96:96–100
- 51. Muzykewicz DA, Lyczkowski DA, Memon N, Conant KD, Pfeifer HH, Thiele EA (2009) Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of the low glycemic index treatment in pediatric epilepsy. Epilepsia 50:1118–1126
- 52. Eagles DA (2008) Design of dietary treatment: humans versus rodents. Epilepsia 49: 61-63
- Cerqueira FM, Kowaltowski AJ (2010) Commonly adopted caloric restriction protocols often involve malnutrition. Ageing Res Rev 9:424–430
- 54. Rizza W, Veronese N, Fontana L (2014) What are the roles of calorie restriction and diet quality in promoting healthy longevity? Ageing Res Rev 13:38–45
- 55. Anson RM, Jones B, de Cabod R (2005) The diet restriction paradigm: a brief review of the effects of every-other-day feeding. Age (Dordr) 27:17–25
- Libert S, Guarente L (2013) Metabolic and neuropsychiatric effects of calorie restriction and sirtuins. Annu Rev Physiol 75:669–684
- 57. Longo VD, Mattson MP (2014) Fasting: molecular mechanisms and clinical applications. Cell Metab 19:181–192

- Masoro EJ (2009) Caloric restriction-induced life extension of rats and mice: a critique of proposed mechanisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1790:1040–1048
- 59. Testa G, Biasi F, Poli G, Chiarpotto E (2014) Calorie restriction and dietary restriction mimetics: a strategy for improving healthy aging and longevity. Curr Pharm Des 20: 2950–2977
- 60. Bough KJ, Valiyil R, Han FT, Eagles DA (1999) Seizure resistance is dependent upon age and calorie restriction in rats fed a ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 35:21–28
- 61. Greene AE, Todorova MT, McGowan R, Seyfried TN (2001) Caloric restriction inhibits seizure susceptibility in epileptic EL mice by reducing blood glucose. Epilepsia 42: 1371–1378
- 62. Bough KJ, Schwartzkroin PA, Rho JM (2003) Calorie restriction and ketogenic diet diminish neuronal excitability in rat dentate gyrus in vivo. Epilepsia 44:752–760
- 63. Azarbar A, McIntyre DC, Gilby KL (2010) Caloric restriction alters seizure disposition and behavioral profiles in seizure-prone (fast) versus seizure-resistant (slow) rats. Behav Neurosci 124:106–114
- 64. Phillips-Farfán BV, Rubio Osornio M del C, Custodio Ramírez V, Paz Tres C, Carvajal Aguilera KG (2015) Caloric restriction protects against electrical kindling of the amygdala by inhibiting the mTOR signaling pathway. Front Cell Neurosci 9:90
- 65. Parinejad N, Keshavarzi S, Movahedin M, Raza M (2009) Behavioral and histological assessment of the effect of intermittent feeding in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 86:54–65
- 66. Hartman AL, Zheng X, Bergbower E, Kennedy M, Hardwick JM (2010) Seizure tests distinguish intermittent fasting from the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 51:1395–1402
- 67. Karimzadeh F, Jafarian M, Gharakhani M, Razeghi Jahromi S, Mohamadzadeh E, Khallaghi B et al (2013) Behavioural and histopathological assessment of the effects of periodic fasting on pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures in rats. Nutr Neurosci 16:147–152
- 68. Anson RM, Guo Z, de Cabo R, Iyun T, Rios M, Hagepanos A et al (2003) Intermittent fasting dissociates beneficial effects of dietary restriction on glucose metabolism and neuronal resistance to injury from calorie intake. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:6216–6220
- 69. Bruce-Keller AJ, Umberger G, McFall R, Mattson MP (1999) Food restriction reduces brain damage and improves behavioral

outcome following excitotoxic and metabolic insults. Ann Neurol 45:8–15

- 70. Contestabile A, Ciani E, Contestabile A (2004) Dietary restriction differentially protects from neurodegeneration in animal models of excitotoxicity. Brain Res 1002: 162–166
- 71. Kumar S, Parkash J, Kataria H, Kaur G (2009) Interactive effect of excitotoxic injury and dietary restriction on neurogenesis and neurotrophic factors in adult male rat brain. Neurosci Res 65:367–374
- 72. Sharma S, Kaur G (2005) Neuroprotective potential of dietary restriction against kainateinduced excitotoxicity in adult male Wistar rats. Brain Res Bull 67:482–491
- 73. Youssef FF, Ramchandani J, Manswell S, McRae A (2008) Adult-onset calorie restriction attenuates kainic acid excitotoxicity in the rat hippocampal slice. Neurosci Lett 431:118–122
- 74. Zeier Z, Madorsky I, Xu Y, Ogle WO, Notterpek L, Foster TC (2011) Gene expression in the hippocampus: regionally specific effects of aging and caloric restriction. Mech Ageing Dev 132:8–19
- 75. Bough KJ, Rho JM (2007) Anticonvulsant mechanisms of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 48:43–58
- 76. Giordano C, Marchiò M, Timofeeva E, Biagini G (2014) Neuroactive peptides as putative mediators of antiepileptic ketogenic diets. Front Neurol 5:63
- 77. Likhodii S, Nylen K, Burnham WM (2008) Acetone as an anticonvulsant. Epilepsia 49:83–86
- 78. McNally MA, Hartman AL (2012) Ketone bodies in epilepsy. J Neurochem 121:28–35
- Newman JC, Verdin E (2014) Ketone bodies as signaling metabolites. Trends Endocrinol Metab 25:42–52
- 80. Rahman M, Muhammad S, Khan MA, Chen H, Ridder DA, Müller-Fielitz H et al (2014) The  $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate receptor HCA2 activates a neuroprotective subset of macrophages. Nat Commun 5:3944
- Laeger T, Metges CC, Kuhla B (2010) Role of beta-hydroxybutyric acid in the central regulation of energy balance. Appetite 54: 450–455
- Offermanns S, Schwaninger M (2015) Nutritional or pharmacological activation of HCA(2) ameliorates neuroinflammation. Trends Mol Med 21:245–255
- Shimazu T, Hirschey MD, Newman J, He W, Shirakawa K, Le Moan N et al (2013) Suppression of oxidative stress by

 $\beta$ -hydroxybutyrate, an endogenous histone deacetylase inhibitor. Science 339:211–214

- 84. Klein C, Kemmel V, Taleb O, Aunis D, Maitre M (2009) Pharmacological doses of gammahydroxybutyrate (GHB) potentiate histone acetylation in the rat brain by histone deacetylase inhibition. Neuropharmacology 57:137–147
- Auvin S (2012) Fatty acid oxidation and epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 100:224–228
- Cunnane SC (2004) Metabolism of polyunsaturated fatty acids and ketogenesis: an emerging connection. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:237–241
- 87. Pifferi F, Tremblay S, Plourde M, Tremblay-Mercier J, Bentourkia M, Cunnane SC (2008) Ketones and brain function: possible link to polyunsaturated fatty acids and availability of a new brain PET tracer, 11C-acetoacetate. Epilepsia 49:76–79
- 88. Veech RL (2004) The therapeutic implications of ketone bodies: the effects of ketone bodies in pathological conditions: ketosis, ketogenic diet, redox states, insulin resistance, and mitochondrial metabolism. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 70:309–319
- 89. Lutas A, Yellen G (2013) The ketogenic diet: metabolic influences on brain excitability and epilepsy. Trends Neurosci 36:32–40
- Masino SA, Kawamura M Jr, Ruskin DN, Geiger JD, Boison D (2012) Purines and neuronal excitability: links to the ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 100:229–238
- 91. Garriga-Canut M, Schoenike B, Qazi R, Bergendahl K, Daley TJ, Pfender RM et al (2006) 2-Deoxy-D-glucose reduces epilepsy progression by NRSF-CtBP-dependent metabolic regulation of chromatin structure. Nat Neurosci 9:1382–1387
- 92. Stafstrom CE, Ockuly JC, Murphree L, Valley MT, Roopra A, Sutula TP (2009) Anticonvulsant and antiepileptic actions of 2-deoxy-D-glucose in epilepsy models. Ann Neurol 65:435–447
- 93. Stafstrom CE, Roopra A, Sutula TP (2008) Seizure suppression via glycolysis inhibition with 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG). Epilepsia 49:97–100
- 94. Ding Y, Wang S, Jiang Y, Yang Y, Zhang M, Guo Y et al (2013) Fructose-1,6-diphosphate protects against epileptogenesis by modifying cation-chloride co-transporters in a model of amygdaloid-kindling temporal epilepticus. Brain Res 1539:87–94
- 95. Ding Y, Wang S, Zhang MM, Guo Y, Yang Y, Weng SQ et al (2010) Fructose-1,6diphosphate inhibits seizure acquisition in fast

hippocampal kindling. Neurosci Lett 477: 33-36

- 96. Lian XY, Khan FA, Stringer JL (2007) Fructose-1,6-bisphosphate has anticonvulsant activity in models of acute seizures in adult rats. J Neurosci 27:12007–12011
- 97. Lian XY, Xu K, Stringer JL (2008) Oral administration of fructose-1,6-diphosphate has anticonvulsant activity. Neurosci Lett 446:75–77
- Stringer JL, Xu K (2008) Possible mechanisms for the anticonvulsant activity of fructose-1,6diphosphate. Epilepsia 49:101–103
- 99. Borges K, Sonnewald U (2012) Triheptanoin a medium chain triglyceride with odd chain fatty acids: a new anaplerotic anticonvulsant treatment? Epilepsy Res 100:239–244
- 100. Hadera MG, Smeland OB, McDonald TS, Tan KN, Sonnewald U, Borges K (2014) Triheptanoin partially restores levels of tricarboxylic acid cycle intermediates in the mouse pilocarpine model of epilepsy. J Neurochem 129:107–119
- 101. Kovac S, Abramov AY, Walker MC (2013) Energy depletion in seizures: anaplerosis as a strategy for future therapies. Neuropharmacology 69:96–104
- 102. Yudkoff M, Daikhin Y, Melø TM, Nissim I, Sonnewald U, Nissim I (2007) The ketogenic diet and brain metabolism of amino acids: relationship to the anticonvulsant effect. Annu Rev Nutr 27:415–430
- 103. Bough KJ, Paquet M, Paré JF, Hassel B, Smith Y, Hall RA et al (2007) Evidence against enhanced glutamate transport in the anticonvulsant mechanism of the ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 74:232–236
- 104. Juge N, Gray JA, Omote H, Miyaji T, Inoue T, Hara C et al (2010) Metabolic control of vesicular glutamate transport and release. Neuron 68:99–112
- 105. McDaniel SS, Rensing NR, Thio LL, Yamada KA, Wong M (2011) The ketogenic diet inhibits the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway. Epilepsia 52:e7–e11
- 106. Galanopoulou AS, Gorter JA, Cepeda C (2012) Finding a better drug for epilepsy: the mTOR pathway as an antiepileptogenic target. Epilepsia 53:1119–1130
- 107. Lasarge CL, Danzer SC (2014) Mechanisms regulating neuronal excitability and seizure development following mTOR pathway hyperactivation. Front Mol Neurosci 7:18
- 108. Wong M (2013) Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathways in neurological diseases. Biomed J 36:40–50

- 109. Mahoney LB, Denny CA, Seyfried TN (2006) Caloric restriction in C57BL/6J mice mimics therapeutic fasting in humans. Lipids Health Dis 5:13
- 110. Cheng CM, Hicks K, Wang J, Eagles DA, Bondy CA (2004) Caloric restriction augments brain glutamic acid decarboxylase-65 and -67 expression. J Neurosci Res 77: 270–276
- 111. Cheng CM, Kelley B, Wang J, Strauss D, Eagles DA, Bondy CA (2003) A ketogenic diet increases brain insulin-like growth factor receptor and glucose transporter gene expression. Endocrinology 144:2676–2682
- 112. Eagles DA, Boyd SJ, Kotak A, Allan F (2003) Calorie restriction of a high carbohydrate diet elevates the threshold of PTZ-induced seizures to values equal to those seen with a ketogenic diet. Epilepsy Res 54:41–52
- 113. Linard B, Ferrandon A, Koning E, Nehlig A, Raffo E (2010) Ketogenic diet exhibits neuroprotective effects in hippocampus but fails to prevent epileptogenesis in the lithiumpilocarpine model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy in adult rats. Epilepsia 51: 1829–1836
- 114. Raffo E, François J, Ferrandon A, Koning E, Nehlig A (2008) Calorie-restricted ketogenic diet increases thresholds to all patterns of pentylenetetrazol-induced seizures: critical importance of electroclinical assessment. Epilepsia 49:320–328
- 115. Hipkiss AR (2007) Dietary restriction, glycolysis, hormesis and ageing. Biogerontology 8:221–224
- 116. Kalapos MP (2007) Can ageing be prevented by dietary restriction? Mech Ageing Dev 128:227–228
- 117. Martin B, Pearson M, Brenneman R, Golden E, Keselman A, Iyun T et al (2008) Conserved and differential effects of dietary energy intake on the hippocampal transcriptomes of females and males. PLoS One 3:e2398
- 118. Poplawski MM, Mastaitis JW, Yang XJ, Mobbs CV (2010) Hypothalamic responses to fasting indicate metabolic reprogramming away from glycolysis toward lipid oxidation. Endocrinology 151:5206–5217
- Dupuis N, Curatolo N, Benoist JF, Auvin S (2015) Ketogenic diet exhibits anti-inflammatory properties. Epilepsia 56:e95–e98
- 120. Redman LM, Ravussin E (2011) Caloric restriction in humans: impact on physiological, psychological, and behavioral outcomes. Antioxid Redox Signal 14:275–278
- 121. Rogers AE (1979) Nutrition. In: Baker HJ, Lindsey JR, Weisbroth SH (eds) The laboratory rat, 1st edn. Academic, Orlando

- 122. Allmann-Iselin I (2000) Husbandry. In: Krinke GJ (ed) The laboratory rat, 1st edn. Academic, London
- 123. Dutton SB, Escayg A (2008) Genetic influences on ketogenic diet efficacy. Epilepsia 49:67–69
- 124. Sohal RS, Forster MJ (2014) Caloric restriction and the aging process: a critique. Free Radic Biol Med 73:366–382
- 125. Sharma N, Castorena CM, Cartee GD (2012) Tissue-specific responses of IGF-1/insulin and mTOR signaling in calorie restricted rats. PLoS One 7:e38835
- 126. Appleton DB, DeVivo DC (1974) An animal model for the ketogenic diet. Epilepsia 15: 211–227
- 127. Asrih M, Altirriba J, Rohner-Jeanrenaud F, Jornayvaz FR (2015) Ketogenic diet impairs FGF21 signaling and promotes differential inflammatory responses in the liver and white adipose tissue. PLoS One 10:e0126364
- 128. Badman MK, Kennedy AR, Adams AC, Pissios P, Maratos-Flier E (2009) A very low carbohydrate ketogenic diet improves glucose tolerance in ob/ob mice independently of weight loss. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 297:E1197–E1204
- 129. Bielohuby M, Sisley S, Sandoval D, Herbach N, Zengin A, Fischereder M et al (2013) Impaired glucose tolerance in rats fed lowcarbohydrate, high-fat diets. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 305:E1059–E1070
- 130. Ellenbroek JH, van Dijck L, Töns HA, Rabelink TJ, Carlotti F, Ballieux BE et al (2014) Long-term ketogenic diet causes glucose intolerance and reduced β- and α-cell mass but no weight loss in mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 306:E552–E558
- 131. Garbow JR, Doherty JM, Schugar RC, Travers S, Weber ML, Wentz AE et al (2011) Hepatic steatosis, inflammation, and ER stress in mice maintained long term on a very lowcarbohydrate ketogenic diet. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 300:G956–G967
- 132. Jelinek D, Castillo JJ, Arora SL, Richardson LM, Garver WS (2013) A high-fat diet supplemented with fish oil improves metabolic features associated with type 2 diabetes. Nutrition 29:1159–1165
- 133. Murata Y, Nishio K, Mochiyama T, Konishi M, Shimada M, Ohta H et al (2013) Fgf21 impairs adipocyte insulin sensitivity in mice fed a low-carbohydrate, high-fat ketogenic diet. PLoS One 8:e6933
- 134. Kossoff EH, Turner Z, Bergey GK (2007) Home-guided use of the ketogenic diet in a patient for more than 20 years. Pediatr Neurol 36:424–425

- 135. National Research Council (US) Committee on Recognition and Alleviation of Distress in Laboratory Animals (2008) Avoiding, minimizing, and alleviating distress. In: Recognition and alleviation of distress in laboratory animals, 1st edn. National Academies Press, Washington DC. Available via NCBI. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK4039/. Accessed 13 Aug 2015
- 136. Bate ST, Clark RA (2014) Experimental design. In: The design and statistical analysis of animal experiments, 1st edn. Cambridge University Press, New York
- 137. Festing MF, Altman DG (2002) Guidelines for the design and statistical analysis of experiments using laboratory animals. ILAR J 43: 244–258

# **Chapter 10**

### **Gene Therapy in Epilepsy**

### Miguel A. López-García, Iris A. Feria-Romero, Julia J. Segura-Uribe, David Escalante-Santiago, and Sandra Orozco-Suárez

### Abstract

The genetic modification of cell cultures and their transplantation into the brain is an effective ex vivo gene therapy. This transfer of genes via the genetic engineering of viruses or plasmids and subsequent transfection into cells that will express transgenes in the central nervous system (CNS) may allow specific treatment in epileptogenic foci while sparing healthy brain tissue, and minimize the side effects of antiepileptic drug treatment. Prime modification candidates are neuropeptide Y (NPY) and galanin, which are important modulators of neuronal excitability. These neurotransmitters exhibit an inhibitory effect on neuronal activity and provide anticonvulsant effects in animal models. Galanin also exhibits neuroprotective properties. Other modification candidates are adenosine, which acts as an endogenous anticonvulsant, and the glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), which exerts neuroprotective and anticonvulsive actions. Recombinant adeno-associated viral vectors can release any of these agents because of their neuronal tropism, lack of toxicity, and stable persistence in neurons. This chapter provides an overview of gene therapy methods, and reviews several studies that used neural and non-neuronal cell transplants as a basis for expanding our understanding of diseases that affect the CNS and possible therapeutic alternatives.

Key words Transfection, Viral vectors, Gene therapy, Neuropeptide Y, Galanin, Neural transplant

### 1 Introduction

Gene therapy is a therapeutic strategy to replace a defective gene with its functional counterpart and restore the operation of a specific cell population. Gene therapy uses nucleic acids tactically, instead of drugs, to correct the pathological state of cells via modification of their genome [1]. Therefore, molecular knowledge of the disease is essential to hit specific targets [2]. Depending on the target cell, two types of gene therapy exist: the first genetically modifies germ cells (i.e., those that are involved in the formation of eggs and sperm), so that this information will be transmitted to offspring. Another type is the somatic gene therapy where the genetic endowment is introduced in non-germ or somatic cells, so genetic modification is not transmitted to offspring [3]. Gene therapy can be performed in vivo or ex vivo. In vivo gene therapy

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_10, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

introduces the genetic material directly into the cells of the organism without prior manipulation in vitro. Its disadvantages are a lower level of control on gene transfer and difficulties in achieving a high degree of tissue specificity. Ex vivo gene therapy removes target cells from the patient, and these cells are isolated and grown in culture medium for transfection. Effectively transfected cells reproduce in culture and are replaced in the patient.

Recent efforts attempted to develop techniques to insert target genes for the treatment of central nervous system (CNS) disorders. The results in animal models treated with gene therapy have created new possibilities in the treatment of multifactorial diseases, such as epilepsy, which led to a rapid development in the manipulation of gene expression in brain cells [4].

Epilepsy is the third most common neurological disease worldwide. It is a CNS disease that is characterized by spontaneous and recurring seizures. Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are the first treatment choice, but these drugs are effective in only 60-70% of the individuals [5–7]. Patients who continue to suffer seizures despite more than two changes in their drug regimen are considered for surgical resection of the epileptic focus. However, this option is invasive, it is associated with dysfunctional effects, and only 10% of this population are acceptable candidates for surgical treatment [8]. The death of GABAergic interneurons and plastic changes in the hippocampus have been reported in temporal lobe epilepsy [9]. This cell loss alters the levels of neurotransmitters, in this case dopamine and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA). Cell therapy for epilepsy proposes the use of replacement cells or ex vivo gene therapy transplantation to administer a substance of interest to the damaged CNS [10]. The objectives of gene therapy in epilepsy are to obtain a sustained anticonvulsant effect (as an antiepileptogenic drug that blocks disease progression, avoids epileptic focus propagation [8], and restores neurotransmitter levels) and the possible integration of transplanted cells into damaged circuits to restore the functions that are lost during the disease progression [11].

### 2 Gene Therapy Methods

As discussed already, two main methods are used in gene therapy: ex vivo, which involves the removal of tissue cells, in vitro modification using a retroviral vector, and the replacement into the body. In vivo gene therapy consists of the manipulation of the corrective gene within the patient rather than the replication of cultured cells [12].

2.1 Ex Vivo Gene The first step in ex vivo gene transfer is obtaining tissue cells from the target organ. Tissue cells are disrupted and seeded in appropriate cell culture conditions in vitro. Cells are transfected with a therapeutic gene using a suitable vector, which should be selected

for its ability to stably and persistently express the exogenous gene. Selected cells are amplified and collected for reimplantation in the organism. Allogeneic cell lines may also be used in cases where the organ or tissue of interest cannot be easily removed or provide cells for in vitro proliferation. The ex vivo method is the most used technique because rejection is minimal [12].

2.2 In Vivo Gene This method is based on the systematic management of the genetic construct of interest. DNA may be administered directly, but the use of a vector that facilitates the process of gene transfer and allows entry and intracellular localization, resulting in a functional gene, is a more common method. A noninvasive procedure is also important for the use of specific vectors that allow gene delivery to target cells in a specific organ or tissue. This method is used in cells that are difficult to extract and implant, such as CNS cells [13] (Fig. 1).

**2.3** Introduction A transgene, which is also called a genetic construct, is defined as a set of one or more genes and regulatory sequences that control its expression. The transgene exerts the therapeutic function for gene therapy. Most research on this topic was performed in animal models, but there are clinical trials in humans [14].



Corrected protein

**Fig. 1** General model for gene transfer microinjection or misting mediated by different types of vectors. Viral methods: adenovirus, retrovirus, adeno-associated virus, herpes virus; nonviral methods: DNA-liposomes, naked DNA

### 2.4 Direct Methods of Transfection

2.4.1 Chemical Systems

*Calcium phosphate transfection.* This technique was first used in the 1960s with good transfection efficiency; it is based on the precipitation of exogenous DNA, with the resulting DNA-Ca<sup>2+</sup> precipitate entering the cell via endocytosis. Transfection efficiency reaches 10% of the cells, but it is generally transient. This technique does not cause toxicity in cells, but the transgene expression is low. It is used only in cell cultures and ex vivo applications.

2.4.2 Physical Systems These techniques involve the injection of DNA into the cell nucleus. This direct introduction of DNA avoids cytoplasmic and lysosomal degradation. Injection is performed using a micromanipulator and an inverted microscope for visualization. Cells with inserted genetic material that survive exhibit high expression efficiency. This technique requires isolated cells, and it is often used ex vivo. The germline gene therapy method injects DNA into embryos, and it is performed in vivo.

*Microinjection (electroporation).* A gene construct is introduced into the cells by an electric shock that causes the formation of pores in their membranes through which the transgenes enter. It is especially suitable for cells with high proliferation rate. However, many cells die as a consequence of the electric shock. Another disadvantage of this technique is that it cannot be used in many cell types.

*Naked DNA*. It consists in the introduction, usually by intramuscular injection, of DNA in a saline solution or serum to achieve the expression of a transgene. Expression has been observed in thymus, skin, heart muscle, and skeletal muscle. The mechanism of naked DNA uptake is not fully understood but it is postulated to involve the nuclear pore complex. This technique has a low percentage of transfected cells, no integration of the transfected material into the genome once injected, and no replication in the genome. This is a system used for performing gene therapy in vivo [12, 15].

2.4.3 Direct Methods A wide array of vectors has been used to deliver genes into the Mediated by Vectors nervous system. Several researchers use nonviral vectors composed of naked DNA. These vectors exhibit several problems (Table 1) related to delivery, short-term expression, and immune reactivity against the vector. Viruses may be delivered locally, and many, but not all, are transported to the cell body by axons via retrograde transport mechanisms afetr the infection of nerve terminals. This retrograde transport is particularly attractive for neuropathic pain therapies, as described in the following sections. Though different efficiencies are obtained depending on the type and strain of virus, the herpes simplex virus (HSV) is a highly efficient vehicle for the delivery of exogenous genetic material in humans. Retrograde transport provides means of targeting specific nodes after intradermal infection or other routes of administration.

| Table 1<br>Vector features used ir | l gene therapy                          |   |                           |                            |                    |                                    |
|------------------------------------|---|---|---------------------------|----------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------------|
|                                    | Retrovirus                              | Adenovirus                              | ASH                       | AAV                        | Liposomes          | Naked DNA                          |
| Insert size                        | 8 kb                                    | 35 kb                                   | >20 kb                    | <4 kb                      | >20 kb             | >20 kb                             |
| Title (CFU/ml)                     | 107                                     | 1011                                    | 1010                      | 109                        | Undefined          | Undefined                          |
| Integration                        | Yes                                     | No                                      | No                        | Uncertain                  | No                 | No                                 |
| Sustained expression               | Variable                                | Transient                               | Transient                 | Variable                   | Transient/variable | Transient                          |
| Distribution in vivo               | Low                                     | High                                    | High                      | High                       | Variable           | Muscle                             |
| Quiescent cells                    | Only lentivirus                         | Yes                                     | Yes                       | Yes                        | Ycs                | Yes                                |
| Disadvantages                      | Insertional<br>mutagenesis/<br>leukemia | Immunogenic,<br>complex<br>manipulation | Poor ability to<br>insert | limited insert<br>capacity | Immunogenic        | Complex<br>administration<br>route |
| HSV herpes simplex virus,          | AAV adeno-associated viru               | ıs. Modified from Zorzan                | o, 2003                   |                            |                    |                                    |

|        | therapy  |
|--------|----------|
|        | gene     |
|        | l in     |
|        | use      |
|        | features |
| able 1 | ector    |

The ability of liposomes (structures surrounded by a lipid membrane to resemble eukaryotic cells) to deliver DNA into cells has been known since 1965, but it was not until 1980 that suitable transfection efficiency was achieved.

> Cationic liposomes are artificial vesicles prepared with cationic lipids which are particularly adequate to interact with negatively charged DNA. Many lipids are used to form these liposomes, and different lipid mixtures are being tested. These liposomes are recommended for in vitro transfections. Among the advantages of liposomes we can mention the protection of the transgene from degradation until it reaches the nucleus, the unlimited DNA size, the possibility of targeting specific receptors in tissues (e.g., the lipid layer), low immunogenicity, and the ability to transfect nondividing cells. The disadvantages include low transfection efficiency, transient expression, some cellular toxicity, possible inhibition by serum components, and the inability for gene therapy in neurological disorders [13].

Viral Vectors This methodology began in 1968, when it was discovered that viruses were capable of infecting mammalian cells. The development of packaging cells in 1989, protein composition that is required for functionality is removed from the viral genome, marked an important stage in this methodology, and reduced the degree of virus pathogenicity. Numerous genes and sequences are removed to allow the virus to capture the exogenous DNA. These viral vectors may be used in vivo and ex vivo, and several viruses are used for gene therapy (Table 1, Fig. 2).

Retroviruses. These RNA viruses integrate a relatively large amount (up to 8 kb) of therapeutic genes, but packaging cells are needed to create these vectors. Virus DNA is transferred into the packaging cells using the calcium phosphate technique. A second transduction is performed in which the gene construct of interest is introduced, and the virus is injected into the host; subsequently, it integrates its DNA into the genome to express the inserted gene. No immune response is produced because the host does not express virus proteins. This technique exhibits a high efficiency transduction and expression, and it is a well-studied system. However, this method only infects host cells that are dividing, viral concentrations are low, and integration into the genome is random. Vectors based on more complex genomes are called lentiviruses. Lentiviruses deliver durable transgene expression but require integration. Axonal transport of these vectors is inefficient, and standard retroviruses require cell division for gene delivery. Lentiviruses are integrated into nondividing cells, and they may be pseudotyped with rabies G protein to enhance retrograde delivery [16, 17]. However, these viruses may disrupt normal genes, including tumor suppressor functions, or activate oncogenes [18, 19].

Nonviral Vectors

### VECTOR ELEMENTS



**Fig. 2** Diagram of an ideal gene therapy vector. A vector should possess a number of properties to be used for therapy in an efficient manner. It is also important that the vector does not cause an immune response or other deleterious responses [63]

Vectors that stably persist as episomes are preferred for peripheral nerve applications.

Adenoviruses. Adenoviruses are a family of DNA viruses that cause different infections in humans, mainly in the respiratory tract. Approximately 7.5 kb of exogenous DNA may be inserted into these viruses. Serotype 5 is generally used in gene therapy, but 42 different serotypes infect humans. Integration of the virus genetic material into the host is needed for replication. The transgene is introduced into the genome of the cell, but cellular division of infected cells is not required for replication. The advantage of an adenovirus vector is the high efficiency of transduction and expression of the introduced gene construct, although the expression is transient (a few weeks). Periodic treatments are required, which is a disadvantage because adenoviruses produce cellular and inflammatory immune responses [15].

Adenoviral vectors do not require integration and undergo retrograde transport, but these vectors recruit inflammatory cells because of viral gene expression [20, 21], and they do not persist for a long term in sensory neurons. The immunogenicity of adenoviral vectors has relegated their exploitation to vaccine development and use as oncolytic vectors for cancer treatment.

Adeno-associated virus (AAV). AAVs are DNA-containing parvoviruses that require coinfection with an adenovirus to multiply. AAVs are vectors that combine the advantages of retroviral and adenoviral infection, and they can integrate small exogenous DNA (only 5 kb). The primary advantages are that AAVs integrate their DNA into the cell during replication, and transduction (which is highly effective) is stable in the target cell. AAVs also infect dividing and nondividing cells, which is highly important for gene therapy in vivo. AAVs vectors are not involved in any human disease, and the risk of an immune response to the production of viral proteins is minimized. AAVs were efficiently transduced into nerve tissue, retrogradely transported efficiently at least in mice [22-24], achieving long-term transgenes expression. As stated before, one limitation of these vectors is the payload capacity (3-4 kb), and only single moderate-sized genes are generally accommodated. Therefore, virus doses that are required to achieve effective transduction are very high compared to other vectors. Further, AAVs vectors do not adequately target specific cell types for infection, especially neurons. Antibodies readily neutralize AAV, and repeat dosing is generally not possible. High vector dosing in the periphery and the loading of genomes into cells may induce DNA damage responses that lead to inflammation [25, 26]. The disadvantages of AAV have limited the study of this type of vectors, which are not as well studied as retroviruses and adenoviruses [27].

*Herpesvirus* (*HSV*). HSVs are DNA viruses that can be used to target neurons. The advantage of HSVs is their DNA size, which allows the insertion of various therapeutic genes with regulatory regions. One disadvantage is the need to remove sequences that encode the lytic virus proteins, which kill infected cells.

Some characteristics of the ideal vector for gene therapy include the incorporation and regulated expression of one or more genes for clinical application during an appropriate time, specificity in gene transfer, to be unrecognizable to the immune system, absence of a stable inflammatory response, and easy obtention [12]. The vector designed from HSV allows the insertion of approximately 20 kb, and exhibits a strong neuronal tropism. This vector spreads through the nervous system, which allows a wide distribution of the transfected gene [28]. However, the main limitations are HSV cytotoxicity and its ability to induce cellular immune responses [29]. The HSV-1 variant is used. This vector deletes genes that are involved in viral replication, which reduces neurotoxicity [30]. A specific promoter for tyrosine hydroxylase is also used, which increases the specificity of neuronal transfection [31].

### 2.5 Genetic Repair Using Oligonucleotides

Oligonucleotides are short sequences of nucleic acids that bind to specific sequences of DNA (triplex-forming DNA) or RNA (RNA-DNA heteroduplex formation). These sequences are complementary to specific sequences of a given messenger RNA (sense sequence) and form a double-stranded sense-antisense heteroduplex that blocks the translation of the genetic message into the protein. This strategy is used to repair genes that are altered by a well-known point mutation. There are selectively activated cellular mechanisms of DNA repair at the site of the mutation. Specific oligonucleotides are designed adjacent to genomic sequences at the mutation site, and the oligonucleotide carries, on one end, an agent that is capable of damaging the DNA by forming a covalent bond with the nucleotide responsible for the mutation. Selective nucleotide mutation triggers cellular DNA repair processes, which leads to structural and functional gene correction [1].

### 3 Route of Administration to the Brain

The genetic modification of cell cultures and transplantation into the brain is an effective ex vivo gene therapy. The transfer of genes via genetic engineering of viruses or plasmids and subsequent transfection into cells expresses transgenes in the CNS [32]. The first treatment emerged from adenosine deaminase deficiency. Gene therapy via the intracerebral delivery of a combination of genes was the best option for the treatment of certain CNS disorders, since the blood-brain barrier hindered the access to the CNS [32]. Intranasal administration is a viable option for the expression of transgenes in neural cells. This method achieved CP10PK HSV gene transfection in hippocampal neurons using this same virus as vehicle. However, the level of transgene expression was limited because this route of administration is not the most suitable for therapies that require transfection in specific areas of the brain, unless the vectors are developed with promoters [33]. Stereotactic surgery is a more efficient technique for the delivery of therapeutic genes into specific brain areas because high levels of transgene expression are achieved after the injection of a viral vector [34]. This approach is the most common gene delivery method to the brain, having the lowest population of antigen-presenting cells and lymphatic system in the CNS [15]. However, damage to the bloodbrain barrier permits penetration of active lymphocytes and immune response cells, and this transfer technique must be redefined. Other factors should be considered when gene delivery is successful, such as the level and stability of transgene expression and the ability to regulate the expression of the transgene [35]. Lentiviral vectors are used in gene therapy because of their ability to integrate up to a 9 kb chromosome of the host and to transfect most brain cell types, which facilitates the expression of transgenes [15, 35].

Primate and human immunodeficiency viruses (HIVs) belong to the lentivirus family. Therefore, it is important to consider extreme biosecurity measures compared to other viral vectors, to prevent recombination events that could generate a virus capable of replication. Biosecurity measures include the elimination of virulence genes in packaging plasmids, the introduction of genes involved in capsid assembly using separate plasmids to reduce the possibility of recombination, and the induction of vector auto-inactivation to suppress viral transcriptional activity [27].

The use of recombinant adenovirus (rAAV) vectors for the delivery of transgenes in the brain does not produce toxicity. These vectors also elicit a low immune response and exhibit efficient cell transduction in the brain in animal models. These adenovirus serotypes were isolated from humans and primates, and some of the rAAVs that were cloned and packaged into recombinant vectors exhibited tropism for neuronal types and various brain areas [36]. Injection of high concentrations of viral particles to the brain promoted transgene expression and dissemination, and achieved effective cell transduction [37]. The combined use of rAAV2 vectors and stereotactic surgery achieved transfection in selective foci, such as the hilum or hippocampal CA1 areas [38]. Several rAAV serotypes were characterized recently, and these vectors primarily exhibited neuronal tropism. Therefore, it is important to continue the development of vectors that are more efficient and exhibit more tropism for glial cells, including improved expression cassettes, greater storage capacity, and the characterization of specific promoters for greater expression in certain cell types. Several promoters were used to restrict rAAV expression in melaninconcentrating neurons in the hypothalamus. However, promoters have not been isolated yet, and expression is restricted to neuronal subclasses in the hippocampus, such as hilar GABAergic neurons or principal neurons in the dentate gyrus. This limitation is a particularly difficult challenge for rAAV vectors because of the promoter activity contained within the inverted terminal repeats [39]. The development of treatments for each neurological disorder is important to optimize the efficiency of the systems for gene delivery.

### 4 Gene Therapy Strategies for Epilepsy

Although a large part of the epilepsies are of genetic origin, genetic targets are not the best candidates for gene therapy. A single mutant gene rarely causes the disease since epilepsy is the result of the inheritance of two or more susceptibility genes [40]. In these cases, the pathology often affects a large part of the brain, which would require widespread gene transfer. These features pose two big obstacles for gene therapy. The first obstacle is the need to transfer multiple genes into diseased cells, and most viral vectors (with the notable exception of HSV) have a small genome that hosts only one gene at a time. The second obstacle is the need for widespread expression of the therapeutic gene(s): currently available gene

therapy methods mostly provide localized effects. These reasons suggest that focal epilepsies, particularly temporal lobe epilepsy, are better candidates for gene therapy. In these cases, seizures often originate in a restricted brain area, which allows local delivery of the vector using stereotaxic surgery. Epilepsy caused by focal lesions often has an identifiable cause from a damaging insult (e.g., head trauma, status epilepticus (SE), stroke, brain infection), which sets a cascade of neurobiological events in motion. The development and extension of tissue that is capable of generating spontaneous seizures would result in the development of an epileptic condition and/or the progression of the epilepsy.

Epileptogenesis (i.e., the transformation of a normal brain into an epileptic brain) in humans and animals is associated with progressive pathological abnormalities, such as cell death (the most prominent is a loss of neurons in the hippocampus termed "hippocampal sclerosis"), axonal and dendritic plasticity, neurogenesis, neuroinflammation, and alterations in ion channels and synaptic properties. The physiopathology of epilepsy is well studied in animal models and surgically resected tissue, and several candidate genes have been identified as potential therapeutic targets [41]. Gene therapy allows specific targeting of the epileptogenic region, which spares the surrounding healthy tissue and minimizes the side effects of antiepileptic drug treatment.

Research on gene therapy for epilepsy was conducted essentially in several types of models, primarily chemical convulsant (pilocarpine or kainate) evoked SE and electrical stimulation (electrical kindling). SE models induce an epileptogenic insult that is followed by a latency period during which the animals are apparently well, followed by spontaneous recurrent seizures (SRSs), i.e., epilepsy. This situation closely mimics the situation in humans with acquired structural epilepsies [42]. SE models allow the exploration of interventions at different levels: antiepileptogenic (prevention of development of epilepsy in subjects who are at risk after an epileptogenic insult), antiseizure (reduction of frequency and/or severity of seizures), disease-modifying (alteration of the natural history of the disease) and repair of the affected regions, where cells may be modified to produce inhibitory neurotransmitters, such as GABA.

Increased GABA levels in the epileptogenic area are favorable on physiological behaviors because they reduce neuronal excitability and the occurrence of seizures. Löscher et al. [43] observed these effects following the transplantation of fetal GABAergic neurons in the substantia nigra, which transiently decreased seizures in the kindling model in rats [41, 43]. This observation led to the development of the transfection of glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) in in vitro and in vivo models to increase GABA levels (Table 2). Ruppert et al. [44] used a retroviral expression system to obtain complementary DNA (cDNA) and induce the expression of different GAD isoforms in rat

### 4.1 Gene Therapy in Animal Models of Epilepsy

# Table 2Gene therapy used in epilepsy models

| Animal model                              | Gene therapy  | Description  | Reference   |
|---|---|--|---|
| Tetanus toxin<br>into the<br>motor cortex | Optogenetic strategy<br>In vivo<br>Ex vivo                                      | Overexpress the light-activated<br>chloride-pump, halorhodopsin, in<br>pyramidal cells   | Walker et al. (2013)<br>[64], Tønnesen<br>et al. (2009) [65]            |
| Kainate-induced<br>seizures               | Expression of<br>microRNA<br>targeting adenosine<br>kinase (miR-ADK)<br>In vivo | Silencing of ADK expression using<br>an alternative RNA interference-<br>mediated mechanism in astrocytes  | Young et al. (2014)<br>[66]   |
| Kainate-induced<br>seizures               | AAV-GS and<br>AAV-EAAT2.<br>In vivo   | Overexpression of glutamine<br>synthetase (GS) or excitatory<br>amino acid transporter 2 (EAAT2)<br>Synthesis of GABA  | Young et al. (2014)<br>[66]   |
| Limbic kindling                           | GABAergic cell<br>transfer (GAD 65<br>and GAD 67)                               | Reduced the incidence of severe<br>limbic motor seizures, by granule<br>cell stimulation<br>Expression of GAD 65 and 67<br>Transient increased GABA levels                               | Gernert et al. (2002)<br>[46]   |
| Kindling                                  | AAV-mediated<br>delivery of an<br>antisense RNA<br>specific to<br>NMDAR1        | Influence NMDA receptor function<br>both in vitro and in vivo  | Haberman et al.<br>(2002) [51]  |
| Pilocarpine-<br>induced status            | Replication-defective<br>HSV-1 vector<br>expressing FGF-2<br>and BDNF           | Attenuated the ongoing cell loss,<br>favored the proliferation of early<br>progenitors, and led to the<br>production of cells that entered<br>the neuronal lineage of<br>differentiation | Simonato and<br>Zucchini (2010)<br>[56], Simonato<br>et al. (2006) [57] |
| Kainic-induced<br>epilepsy                | NSCs expanded from<br>E14 MGE   | Reduced frequency, duration and<br>severity of seizures 3 months after<br>graft  | Waldau et al. (2010)<br>[67]  |
| Kindled seizures                          | AAV<br>Vector-derived NPY   | Reduced the generalization of<br>seizures from their site of onset,<br>delayed acquisition of fully kindled<br>seizures, and afforded<br>neuroprotection                                 | Noe et al. (2007) [68]  |

AAV adeno-associated virus vectors, NMDAR1 N-methyl-d-aspartic acid receptor 1, RNA ribonucleic acid, NSC neural stem cell, MGE medial ganglionic eminence

fibroblasts. These experiments increased enzymatic synthesis and GABA activity, which was released into the surrounding medium by the modified cells. These results demonstrated that the expression of GAD from cDNA was effective for the synthesis of GABA in transplanted cells although not in cells of neuronal origin [44]. Sacchettoni et al. [45] used Molonev murine leukemia virus expressing the GAD-67 enzyme under the control of the GFAP promoter as a replicationdefective vector. The clones were transfected into fibroblast cell lines and astrocytes and both expressed functional enzymes. However, only fibroblasts produced GABA in the extracellular medium. Gernert et al. [46] transplanted immortalized cortical neurons with genetically modified GAD-65 into the piriform cortex of rats with amygdala kindling. The GABA-producing cells implanted in potential brain targets enhanced the seizure threshold and augmented the latency to the first generalized convulsion during the kindling process [46]. Liu et al. [47] used vectors derived from human foamy virus (HFV) to transfect the cDNA of a specific GAD isoform into primary cultures of hippocampal neurons, which may have a potential therapeutic value in the treatment of neurological diseases. Another study investigated kainic acid-induced seizures (5 mg/kg, stage V in Racine scale) in rats that previously received transplants of a cell line transfected with human cDNA encoding GAD67 (M213-2O CL4) into the substantia nigra. The results demonstrated that the group transplanted with M213-2O CL4 cells required a higher dose of kainic acid to induce seizure activity, whereas the latency to convulsion increased, and the behavioral manifestation was reduced compared to rats with untransfected cell transplantation [48].

One target for inhibitory mechanisms is the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor, which is the main receptor subtype for the principal inhibitory neurotransmitter. This receptor is a pentameric chloride-permeable channel. The expression of GABA<sub>A</sub> alpha-1 subunits is decreased and alpha-4 subunits expression is increased in the granule cells of the hippocampus of epileptic rats, which generates receptors that rapidly desensitize and favor the generation of seizures. Raol et al. [49] used an AVV to achieve the expression of the GABRA1 gene (GABA receptor subunit alpha-1) under control of the GABRA4 promoter (GABA receptor subunit alpha-4). The vector was injected into the dentate gyrus of rats, and SE was produced using pilocarpine. The results revealed an increased expression of GABRA1 mRNA and protein after 2 weeks of SE, and also a threefold increase during the interictal period and a decrease in the number of rats that developed spontaneous seizures by 60% during the first 4 weeks after SE. These results demonstrate the importance of the composition of GABA receptor subunits for the development of circuits and epilepsy, and the role of GABRA1 expression in hippocampal inhibitory function [49]. The N-methyl-daspartate (NMDA) receptor also provides a potential target for gene therapy in focal seizures. During et al. [50] constructed an

AAV to synthesize the NR1 subunit of the NMDA receptor. Gene expression persisted for at least 5 months after AAV administration, and it was associated with a strong antiseizure activity and neuroprotective effect in a mouse model of kainate-induced epilepsy and stroke.

Haberman et al. [51] cloned a cDNA fragment (729 bp) of the NMDAR1 gene (NMDA receptor) in an antisense orientation into an AAV that contained a promoter regulated by tetracycline (AAV-TTAK-NMDAR1). The vector was used for the transfection of a primary culture of cortical neurons. The decreased expression of NMDA receptors significantly reduced the evoked currents [51].

Neuropeptides are important modulators of neuronal activity in the mammalian CNS. Neuropeptide Y (NPY) is a widely distributed polypeptide in the CNS, and it has become a focus of attention in the epilepsy field because of the changes in the expression of this protein and its receptors in brain regions that are involved in seizure initiation and propagation. Hippocampal interneurons and NPY-overexpressing axons are observed in patients with intractable temporal lobe epilepsy. The expression of NPY Y2 receptors on presynaptic neurons and pyramidal granular cells inhibits glutamate release and the presence of seizures. Richichi et al. [52] designed a rAAV vector to overexpress rat NPY in neurons and obtained an increase of the expression of this protein in the hippocampus, a reduction in kainic acid-induced seizures and an increase in the latency of seizures.

Cholecystokinin (CCK) was first discovered in the gastrointestinal tract, although it is one of the most abundant neuropeptides in the CNS. This neuropeptide was identified as a central regulator of neuronal circuits, and CCK and its receptors are implicated in the neurobiology of feeding, memory, nociception, exploratory behavior, and anticonvulsant activity. CCK is also associated with neuropsychiatric disorders. Zhang et al. [53] evaluated the potential for CNS gene transfer using lipofectin-mediated plasmids encoding CCK. Intracerebroventricular transfection was performed in rats with audiogenic seizures, and a high analgesic response to peripheral electrical stimulation was observed. Previous studies demonstrated that low CCK levels may vary the neurochemistry of audiogenic seizures in rats and underlie the high analgesic responses pursuant to its anti-opioid properties. CCK expression corrected the development of seizure susceptibility for 1 week. These results suggest that gene transfer mediated by lipofectin may be useful in studies of brain function, modification of behavior, and gene therapy for the CNS. This strategy may result in the transient expression of a foreign gene with functional consequences in the adult brain, but it has the advantage of not recombining with the endogenous virus [54].

The endogenous neuropeptide galanin generally exerts an inhibitory action on the CNS by increasing potassium conductance or reducing calcium conductance, and the magnitude of this inhibition is sufficient to suppress seizure activity in the hippocampus. Haberman et al. [51] proposed a gene therapy for temporal lobe epilepsy using the transfection of constructs with fibronectin and galanin adenovirus (AAV-FIB-GAL). AAV-FIB-GAL vectors protected the hippocampal hilar neurons from kainic acid-induced cell death, but unilateral secretion did not alter the course of electrographic seizures after kainic acid administration [51]. Other authors achieved significantly attenuated seizures induced by kainic acid using the same constructs (AAV-FIB-GAL) and prevented the electrographic seizure activity, which abolished limbic seizure activity and the bilateral constitutive secretion of galanin in the rat piriform cortex. These studies demonstrated that the modulation of this gene influenced the behavior of limbic seizure activity [55].

The flexibility to transfect exogenous genes achieving protein expression for the treatment of disease, such as protein ICP10PK of herpes simplex virus type 2 (HSV-2), is one advantage of gene therapy. This protein inhibits caspase-dependent apoptosis and protects against several neurotoxic stimuli, including viral infection, treatment with an inhibitor of protein kinase C, osmolar environment disruption, loss of carrier in trophic growth, and excitotoxicity. Notably, neurons that survived gene therapy retained their synaptic function [55].

Laing et al. [33] demonstrated that gene transfection of ICP10PK using HSV2 as a vehicle had antiapoptotic activity in rat hippocampal cultures and mice with kainic acid-induced seizures. This method may be used to target neurons that are inaccessible to surgical techniques. ICP10PK-mediated protection is likely involved in the inhibition of reactive oxygen species (ROS), astro-gliosis, and microglial activation induced by kainic acid.

Genetic interventions have attempted to prevent epilepsy after an insult based on the hypothesis that impairment in the levels of neurotrophic factors (NTFs), such as FGF-2 (fibroblast growth factor-2) and BDNF (brain-derived neurotrophic factor), may be a factor in epilepsy pathogenesis. FGF-2 and BDNF protect neurons from damage. FGF-2 is a potent proliferation factor for neural stem cells, and BDNF favors differentiation into neurons [56].

Simonato et al. [56, 57] used a replication-defective HSV-1 vector expressing FGF-2 and BDNF to test the hypothesis that local supplementation of these NTFs would attenuate seizure-induced damage and inhibit epileptogenesis. This vector was injected into one damaged hippocampus 4 days after a chemically induced SE in rats (i.e., during latency and after the establishment of damage). These conditions are similar to a person who is in the latency period after the occurrence of an epileptogenic insult and preceding the onset of spontaneous seizures [58]. Expression of the transgenes was bilateral (because of the retrograde transport of the vector to the contralateral hippocampus) and transient (approximately 2 weeks). However, short-term expression is an advantage in these specific settings because NTFs trigger plastic changes that remain detectable when the vectors are no longer expressed, and their long-term expression may be detrimental for brain function. Therefore, this approach allowed modification of the microenvironment via the generation of cells that were capable of constitutively, but transiently, secreting FGF-2 and BDNF. This treatment slightly attenuated the ongoing cell loss, favored the proliferation of early progenitors, and led to the production of cells that entered the neuronal lineage of differentiation. All untreated animals displayed hippocampal sclerosis and spontaneous seizures 1 month after SE. These studies provide evidence that gene therapy is an option in epilepsy prevention in at-risk patients. The disease-modifying effect was striking, and the result may be interpreted as truly antiepileptogenic.

Injuries, such as head trauma, ischemia, tumors, and neuroinfections, also generate epilepsy. Brain areas damaged by stroke and seizures express high levels of heat shock protein 72 kDa (HSP72). This protein is a marker of stress, but its participation in the survival of neurons after damage is controversial. Yenari et al. [32] found a neuroprotective effect by inducing the expression of the HSP72 protein in areas damaged by stroke, inhibiting the development of seizures. The vectors used for the transfection of an animal model of kainateinduced focal cerebral ischemia were constructed from HSV.

4.2 Gene Therapy The process used to develop new gene therapies relies upon experiin the Clinic mental validation in model systems. In the case of the epilepsies, the establishment of models has itself been hindered by clinical and genetic heterogeneity. In fact, due to the numerous ways in which recurrent seizures arise and the different types of seizures that can manifest, epilepsy may be considered as a group of diseases, each one potentially requiring different models and strategies for development of maximally effective treatment. Until now, antiepileptic drugs have been devised primarily through seizure models in rodents. On the other hand, preclinical results of Phase I to Phase III clinical trials are highly encouraging and demonstrate that gene therapy does not present a general increase in risk factors associated with the technique compared to other surgical methods for other neurological disorders, including Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and metabolic diseases [59]. Given the complexity of the pathophysiology of epilepsy, patients with partial epilepsies selected for surgical resection of the epileptogenic area are ideal candidates for gene therapy: the pathology of their illness is focal; the optimal medical treatment has failed to produce the desired results; and the success of surgery in leading centers (>70% seizure-free at 1 year) supports the idea that local and sustained release of an inhibitory molecule might be sufficient to "silence" hyperactivity. In a certain way, tissue resection represents the most extreme form of cellular "silencing," and gene therapy may provide a realistic alternative [60-62].

Data from in vivo experiments using AAV vectors suggest that this method of gene delivery is a more practicable approach to progress to clinical trials. An early proof of principle study demonstrated that gene transfer using AAV vectors in resected human tissue slices resulted in an appreciable level of transduction of cells in the epileptic tissue [61]. No clinical trial has been conducted using this technology. However, the therapeutic approach in epilepsy is directed to interrupt abnormal seizure activity rather than reintroduce a cell population that was lost, which was often the focus of gene therapy for neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases [59, 63–65].

In summary, the experimental and clinical data from other neurological diseases demonstrate the feasibility of gene therapy for epilepsy [66–68]. The genetic modification of cell cultures and transplantation into the brain is an effective ex vivo gene therapy. This transfer of genes using the genetic engineering of viruses or plasmids and subsequent transfection into cells achieves the expression of transgenes in the CNS. Cell therapy and ex vivo gene therapy have increased our knowledge of plasticity mechanisms and the factors that promote cellular integration in the CNS. Basic and clinical studies suggest that temporal lobe epilepsy, which is clearly refractory to traditional pharmacological approaches, is an ideal candidate for gene therapy, which will significantly impact disease management in the coming decade. There is no doubt that accurate verification of safety and scale-up studies are needed before beginning studies in humans, but gene therapy experience in humans with other diseases is encouraging [42].

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Council of Science and Technology, grant number 248004.

#### References

- 1. Jorde LB, Carey JC, Bamshad MJ, White RL (1999) Genética médica. Harcourt, Madrid
- Chuah MK, Collen D, Vandendriessche T (2004) Preclinical and clinical gene therapy for haemophilia. Haemophilia 10:119–125
- Lazo PA (1996) Terapia génica humana: tendencias y problemas. Med Clin (Barc) 106: 469–476
- Ronchera-Oms CL, González JM (2013) Terapia génica. In: Gamundi Planas MC (coord) Farmacia hospitalaria, vol 2. SEFH, Madrid, pp 919–927
- Rogawski MA, Löscher W (2004) The neurobiology of antiepileptic drugs. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:553–564
- Pitkänen A, Sutula TP (2002) Is epilepsy a progressive disorder? Prospects for new therapeutic approaches in temporal-lobe epilepsy. Lancet Neurol 1:173–181
- 7. Duncan JS, Sander JW, Sisodiya SM et al (2006) Adult epilepsy. Lancet 367:1087–1100
- Foldvary N, Bingaman WE, Wyllie E (2001) Surgical treatment of epilepsy. Neurol Clin 19:491–515

- Ben-Ari Y (2001) Cell death and synaptic reorganizations produced by seizures. Epilepsia 42(Suppl 3):S5–S7
- Gökhan S, Song Q, Mehler MF (1998) Generation and regulation of developing immortalized neural cell lines. Methods 16:345–358
- Conejero-Goldberg C, Tornatore C, Abi-Saab W et al (2000) Transduction of human GAD67 cDNA into immortalized striatal cell lines using an Epstein-Barr virus-based plasmid vector increases GABA content. Exp Neurol 161:453–461
- 12. Orozco E, Gariglio P (1999) Genética y biomedicina molecular. Limusa, México D.F
- 13. Klug WS, Cummings MR (1999) Conceptos de genética. Prentice Hall, Madrid
- Lindvall O, Odin P (1994) Clinical application of cell transplantation and neurotrophic factors in CNS disorders. Curr Opin Neurobiol 4:752–757
- Jakobsson J, Lundberg C (2006) Lentiviral vectors for use in the central nervous system. Mol Ther 13:484–493
- 16. Mazarakis ND, Azzouz M, Rohll JB et al (2001) Rabies virus glycoprotein pseudotyping of lentiviral vectors enables retrograde axonal transport and access to the nervous system after peripheral delivery. Hum Mol Genet 10:2109–2121
- 17. Wong LF, Azzouz M, Walmsley LE et al (2004) Transduction patterns of pseudotyped lentiviral vectors in the nervous system. Mol Ther 9:101–111
- Beard BC, Keyser KA, Trobridge GD et al (2007) Unique integration profiles in a canine model of long-term repopulating cells transduced with gammaretrovirus, lentivirus, or foamy virus. Hum Gene Ther 18:423–434
- 19. Derse D, Crise B, Li Y et al (2007) Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 integration target sites in the human genome: comparison with those of other retroviruses. J Virol 81:6731–6741
- 20. Yang Y, Li Q, Ertl H et al (1995) Cellular and humoral immune responses to viral antigens create barriers to lung-directed gene therapy with recombinant adenoviruses. J Virol 69:2004–2015
- Varnavski AN, Calcedo R, Bove M et al (2005) Evaluation of toxicity from high-dose systemic administration of recombinant adenovirus vector in vector-naive and pre-immunized mice. Gene Ther 12:427–436
- 22. Castle MJ, Perlson E, Holzbaur EL et al (2014) Long-distance axonal transport of AAV9 is driven by dynein and kinesin-2 and is trafficked in a highly motile Rab7-positive compartment. Mol Ther 22:554–566

- Towne C, Schneider BL, Kieran D et al (2010) Efficient transduction of non-human primate motor neurons after intramuscular delivery of recombinant AAV serotype 6. Gene Ther 17:141–146
- 24. Zheng H, Qiao C, Wang CH et al (2010) Efficient retrograde transport of adenoassociated virus type 8 to spinal cord and dorsal root ganglion after vector delivery in muscle. Hum Gene Ther 21:87–97
- 25. Lovric J, Mano M, Zentilin L et al (2012) Terminal differentiation of cardiac and skeletal myocytes induces permissivity to AAV transduction by relieving inhibition imposed by DNA damage response proteins. Mol Ther 20:2087–2097
- 26. Rosas LE, Grieves JL, Zaraspe K et al (2012) Patterns of scAAV vector insertion associated with oncogenic events in a mouse model for genotoxicity. Mol Ther 20:2098–2110
- Zhao J, Lever AM (2007) Lentivirus-mediated gene expression. Methods Mol Biol 366: 343–355
- Hickey WF (2001) Basic principles of immunological surveillance of the normal central nervous system. Glia 36:118–124
- 29. Hacein-Bey-Abina S, Von Kalle C, Schmidt M et al (2003) LMO2-associated clonal T cell proliferation in two patients after gene therapy for SCID-X1. Science 302:415–419
- Berges BK, Wolfe JH, Fraser NW (2007) Transduction of brain by herpes simplex virus vectors. Mol Ther 15:20–29
- 31. McMenamin MM, Byrnes AP, Charlton HM et al (1998) A gamma34.5 mutant of herpes simplex 1 causes severe inflammation in the brain. Neuroscience 83:1225–1237
- 32. Yenari MA, Fink SL, Sun GH et al (1998) Gene therapy with HSP72 is neuroprotective in rat models of stroke and epilepsy. Ann Neurol 44:584–591
- 33. Laing JM, Gober MD, Golembewski EK et al (2006) Intranasal administration of the growth-compromised HSV-2 vector DeltaRR prevents kainate-induced seizures and neuronal loss in rats and mice. Mol Ther 13:870–881
- 34. Ruitenberg MJ, Eggers R, Boer GJ et al (2002) Adeno-associated viral vectors as agents for gene delivery: application in disorders and trauma of the central nervous system. Methods 28:182–194
- Barker RA, Widner H (2004) Immune problems in central nervous system cell therapy. NeuroRx 1:472–481
- 36. Zufferey R, Nagy D, Mandel RJ et al (1997) Multiply attenuated lentiviral vector achieves efficient gene delivery in vivo. Nat Biotechnol 15:871–875

- Blesch A, Conner J, Pfeifer A et al (2005) Regulated lentiviral NGF gene transfer controls rescue of medial septal cholinergic neurons. Mol Ther 11:916–925
- Ralph GS, Radcliffe PA, Day DM et al (2005) Silencing mutant SOD1 using RNAi protects against neurodegeneration and extends survival in an ALS model. Nat Med 11:429–433
- 39. Broekman ML, Comer LA, Hyman BT et al (2006) Adeno-associated virus vectors serotyped with AAV8 capsid are more efficient than AAV-1 or -2 serotypes for widespread gene delivery to the neonatal mouse brain. Neuroscience 138:501–510
- Berkovic SF, Mulley JC, Scheffer IE et al (2006) Human epilepsies: interaction of genetic and acquired factors. Trends Neurosci 29:391–397
- 41. Vezzani A (2004) Gene therapy in epilepsy. Epilepsy Curr 4:87–90
- 42. Simonato M, Bennett J, Boulis NM et al (2013) Progress in gene therapy for neurological disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 9:277–291
- 43. Löscher W, Ebert U, Lehmann H et al (1998) Seizure suppression in kindling epilepsy by grafts of fetal GABAergic neurons in rat substantia nigra. J Neurosci Res 51:196–209
- 44. Ruppert C, Sandrasagra A, Anton B et al (1993) Rat-1 fibroblasts engineered with GAD65 and GAD67 cDNAs in retroviral vectors produce and release GABA. J Neurochem 61:768–771
- 45. Sacchettoni SA, Benchaibi M, Sindou M et al (1998) Glutamate-modulated production of GABA in immortalized astrocytes transduced by a glutamic acid decarboxylase-expressing retrovirus. Glia 22:86–93
- 46. Gernert M, Thompson KW, Löscher W et al (2002) Genetically engineered GABAproducing cells demonstrate anticonvulsant effects and long-term transgene expression when transplanted into the central piriform cortex of rats. Exp Neurol 176:183–192
- 47. Liu W, He X, Cao Z et al (2005) Efficient therapeutic gene expression in cultured rat hippocampal neurons mediated by human foamy virus vectors: a potential for the treatment of neurological diseases. Intervirology 48:329–335
- 48. Castillo CG, Mendoza S, Freed WJ et al (2006) Intranigral transplants of immortalized GABAergic cells decrease the expression of kainic acid-induced seizures in the rat. Behav Brain Res 171:109–115
- 49. Raol YH, Lund IV, Bandyopadhyay S et al (2006) Enhancing GABA(A) receptor alpha 1 subunit levels in hippocampal dentate gyrus inhibits epilepsy development in an animal

model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 26:11342-11346

- 50. During MJ, Symes CW, Lawlor PA et al (2000) An oral vaccine against NMDAR1 with efficacy in experimental stroke and epilepsy. Science 287:1453–1460
- 51. Haberman R, Criswell H, Snowdy S et al (2002) Therapeutic liabilities of in vivo viral vector tropism: adeno-associated virus vectors, NMDAR1 antisense, and focal seizure sensitivity. Mol Ther 6:495–500
- 52. Richichi C, Lin EJ, Stefanin D et al (2004) Anticonvulsant and antiepileptogenic effects mediated by adeno-associated virus vector neuropeptide Y expression in the rat hippocampus. J Neurosci 24:3051–3059
- 53. Zhang LX, Li XL, Smith MA et al (1997) Lipofectin-facilitated transfer of cholecystokinin gene corrects behavioral abnormalities of rats with audiogenic seizures. Neuroscience 77:15–22
- 54. McCown TJ (2006) Adeno-associated virusmediated expression and constitutive secretion of galanin suppresses limbic seizure activity in vivo. Mol Ther 14:63–68
- 55. Golembewski EK, Wales SQ, Aurelian L et al (2007) The HSV-2 protein ICP10PK prevents neuronal apoptosis and loss of function in an in vivo model of neurodegeneration associated with glutamate excitotoxicity. Exp Neurol 203:381–393
- 56. Simonato M, Zucchini S (2010) Are the neurotrophic factors a suitable therapeutic target for the prevention of epileptogenesis? Epilepsia 51(Suppl 3):48–51
- 57. Simonato M, Tongiorgi E, Kokaia M (2006) Angels and demons: neurotrophic factors and epilepsy. Trends Pharmacol Sci 27:631–638
- 58. Paradiso B, Marconi P, Zucchini S et al (2009) Localized delivery of fibroblast growth factor-2 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor reduces spontaneous seizures in an epilepsy model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:7191–7196
- 59. Rowland NC, Kalia SK, Kalia LV et al (2016) Merging DBS with viral vector or stem cell implantation: "hybrid" stereotactic surgery as an evolution in the surgical treatment of Parkinson's disease. Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev 3:15051
- 60. Kasperaviciūte D, Catarino CB, Heinzen EL et al (2010) Common genetic variation and susceptibility to partial epilepsies: a genomewide association study. Brain 133(Pt 7): 2136–2147
- 61. O'Connor WM, Davidson BL, Kaplitt MG et al (1997) Adenovirus vector-mediated gene transfer into human epileptogenic brain slices:

prospects for gene therapy in epilepsy. Exp Neurol 148:167–178

- 62. Simonato M (2014) Gene therapy for epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 38:125–130
- 63. Zorzano A (2003) Terapia génica en endocrinología: una aproximación realista. Endocrinol Nutr 50:244–249
- 64. Walker MC, Schorge S, Kullmann DM et al (2013) Gene therapy in status epilepticus. Epilepsia 54(Suppl 6):43–45
- Tønnesen J, Sørensen AT, Deisseroth K et al (2009) Optogenetic control of epileptiform activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:12162–12167
- 66. Young D, Fong DM, Lawlor PA et al (2014) Adenosine kinase, glutamine synthetase and EAAT2 as gene therapy targets for temporal lobe epilepsy. Gene Ther 21:1029–1040
- 67. Waldau B, Hattiangady B, Kuruba R et al (2010) Medial ganglionic eminence-derived neural stem cell grafts ease spontaneous seizures and restore GDNF expression in a rat model of chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. Stem Cells 28:1153–1164
- 68. Noe F, Nissinen J, Pitkänen A et al (2007) Gene therapy in epilepsy: the focus on NPY. Peptides 28(2):377–383

# Part II

## Innovative Solutions for the Screening of New Antiepileptics Drugs and Addressing Multi-Drug Resistant Epilepsy

# **Chapter 11**

### Human Brain Tissue as a Model for the Study of Epilepsy

### Leonardo Lara-Valderrábano, Ivette Bañuelos-Cabrera, Víctor Navarrete-Modesto, and Luisa Rocha

### Abstract

Epilepsy surgery is widely used to treat pharmacoresistant epilepsy. This therapeutic strategy offers the opportunity to study human brain tissue in vitro. We describe three approaches that represent an excellent opportunity for the study of the underlying mechanisms of pharmacoresistant epilepsy: in vitro electro-physiological recordings, in vitro procedures for receptor evaluation, and genomic analyses. These procedures could allow individual diagnosis and personalized treatment for patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy.

Key words Temporal lobe epilepsy, Human brain tissue, Electrophysiology, Receptor analysis, Genomic analysis

### 1 Introduction

The human epileptic brain exhibits unique network, cellular, and molecular properties. Therefore, using brain tissue from patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE) is a first-rate opportunity to characterize the electrophysiological, histological, molecular, and genetic properties in this pathological condition. There is an increase of interest in the study of epilepsy directly in human tissue, estimated by the number of publications on this topic between 1976 and 2005 [1] (Fig. 1).

Epilepsy is one of the most common neurologic disorders [2]. It is estimated that approximately 50 million people is affected with epilepsy worldwide [3]. Despite the severity and high prevalence of this disorder [4], the underlying neurobiology mechanisms associated with epilepsy are poorly understood. Indeed, most of what is known about epilepsy has been obtained from the research done in animal models. Studying human brain tissue in vitro offers a crucial opportunity for the understanding of the disease. The increment of epilepsy surgery [5] and its effectiveness to reduce pharmacoresistant epilepsy [6, 7] has increased the availability of brain tissue from

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_11, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016



Fig. 1 Histogram showing the number of publications containing "human brain tissue" in PubMed search

patients with this disorder. In this review, we focus in the relevance of evaluating the human epileptic tissue using the following approaches: electrophysiology, receptor analysis, and genetic evaluation.

### 2 Epilepsy and In Vitro Electrophysiology

The first topic to be addressed is the electrophysiological approach to study the brain tissue obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy. This situation allows us to explore directly the activity of human single neurons and networks of brain structures of patients with drug-resistant epilepsy (Fig. 2).

Once the focus has been identified, surgery often involves the resection of specific brain structures involved in the generation and propagation of the seizure activity [6]. It is essential to proceed fast in order to preserve the tissue in optimal conditions. After brain tissue samples have been excised, it is optimal to place them immediately in ice-cold (4 °C) artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) gassed with a 95% O<sub>2</sub>–5% CO<sub>2</sub> mixture. The ACSF composition used for slice perfusion during electrophysiological experiments varies, but it generally includes (in mM): NaCl 124–129, KCl 2–4, CaCl<sub>2</sub> 1.6–2.4, MgSO<sub>4</sub> 1.3–2, NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> 1.24–1.25, NaHCO<sub>3</sub> 21–26, and glucose 10 [1, 8]. When tissue transportation takes long periods (30 min), it is advised to use ACSF reduced in Na<sup>+</sup> (to prevent hypoxia-induced Na<sup>+</sup> influx) and  $\alpha$ -tocopherol in addition (as a free radical scavenger) [9].

The thickness of brain slices varies depending if the procedure involves the evaluation of individual neurons or networks. Commonly it goes from 300 to 750  $\mu$ m [8–14], although it is recommended a maximum of 600  $\mu$ m for a proper slice oxygenation [1].



**Fig. 2** Schematic representation of the standard protocol used to evaluate electrophysiological activity in brain tissue obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy. After slicing, the tissue is available for different techniques of electrophysiological recording (*right panels*); each one provides distinct kind of information depending on the aim of the study. For example, current-clamp allows the study of epileptiform activity and action potential dynamics of individual neurons; voltage-clamp could be used to analyze currents and channel properties; multielectrode arrays provide the opportunity of simultaneously stimulating and recording field potentials, and/or action potentials in different areas of the tissue; field potentials are used to evaluate multiple neuron activity of during epileptiform activity

It is important to consider that some types of epilepsy, such as mesial temporal lobe epilepsy (MTLE), are associated with neuronal damage and hippocampal sclerosis [15–17]. This condition makes the tissue difficult to be penetrated by the pipette or electrode. Also, the usual method to visualize neurons in patch-clamp mode (infrared differential interference contrast optics) could be difficult to implement.

Reports about the evaluation of human cortex unitary activity in vivo exist since 1956 [18]. Extracellular field potentials or unitary neuron recordings in vitro are valuable alternatives for the study of the underlying cellular mechanisms of epilepsy depending on the main goal of the study. Field potential recordings are used to study extracellular activity of network synchronization activity in hippocampal preparations [11] and synaptic plasticity properties [19]. This approach allows the description of spontaneous and rhythmic activity initiated in the subiculum, a condition that resembles the epileptiform discharges recorded by intracranial electrodes [20]. Concurrent to field potential recordings, other measurements as extracellular ionic concentrations can be assessed [21].

The evaluation of unitary extracellular neuronal activity requires the incubation of the human brain tissue immediately after its resection [12]. The study of Schwartzkroin and Prince in 1976 represents the first evaluation of intracellular recording of neurons from the human cortex neurons [22]. These authors employed the same criteria used for assessing neurons of animal

cortex and used sharp electrodes  $(20-50 \text{ M}\Omega)$ . The results obtained demonstrated that human cortical neurons present stable resting membrane potential (RMP), overshooting action potentials, and absence of rhythmic high-frequency spike firing. Although the number of neurons recorded was small, the authors stood out that the in vitro electrophysiology techniques can be used to obtain valuable data from human brain tissue [20, 22–24].

The firing properties of human neurons evaluated by in vitro electrophysiology methods have shown to be similar to those identified in rodents and other species [1, 24, 25]. Other important approach represents the evaluation of neurotransmitter effects. For example, when GABA is applied to the brain slice, it may exert inhibitory effects crucial for controlling cerebral excitability [10]. This situation is perturbed in the cerebral tissue of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy [26, 27]. The in vitro evaluation of the effects of other neurotransmitters such as acetylcholine, adenosine, histamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin reveals their effects and their contribution in the neuronal activity modulation [28].

The electrophysiological activity should be correlated with the cell morphology. Cellular labeling with fluorescent dyes as Lucifer yellow [23] or biocytin [24, 27] are techniques available for morphological reconstructions after the electrophysiological evaluation of the tissue. Morphological data of neurons in epileptic tissue should be carefully compared with data obtained from autopsies [29, 30]. Biocytin-filled neurons in combination with immuno-chemistry [26] provide more information about the expression of particular proteins.

There are some approaches that reduce the clamp problems such as the dissociation of the cells or neuronal cultures [31]. The isolation of neurons allows the characterization of essential events for the neuronal excitability, such as the transient currents in neocortical neurons [32]. The evaluation of astrocytes in cultures from medically intractable TLE allowed to establish that cells from the seizure focus exhibited action potential-like events in response to electrical stimulation [33].

Another new approach is the evaluation of electrical activity by multielectrode arrays (MEAs). This procedure allows the analysis of spatiotemporal dynamics of the epileptiform activity in specific networks, including the areas of seizure initiation and propagation. It also facilitates the analysis of effects induced by antiepileptic drugs at cellular and network levels, field potentials, and action potentials of multiple neurons from diverse regions of the tissue [34].

One of the most interesting perspectives of the evaluation of the cerebral tissue obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy using in vitro electrophysiology is the investigation on the mechanisms underlying the pharmacoresistance to antiepileptic drugs. For example, previous studies demonstrated that the blockage of sodium channels induced by carbamazepine (i.e., use-dependent blocker of voltage-dependent sodium channels) is not detected in tissue obtained from some patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy [35]. In another study, the modulation of Na<sup>+</sup> currents induced by valproic acid was tested in isolated neurons from patients with and without hippocampal sclerosis. The cellular response to valproic acid was consistent with previous reports in animal models. In spite of the important damage found in patients with mesial sclerosis, they did not demonstrate differences in the biophysical properties of the voltage-gated sodium currents, when compared with the non-sclerotic tissue [36].

It is evident that the in vitro electrophysiology approaches can contribute to trace the underlying cellular mechanisms of epilepsy and the screening of new antiepileptic drugs and their effects. This approach can be used to determine the final diagnosis and subsequent individual therapy. However, it presents relevant limitations such as the scarce spontaneous epileptiform activity found in human brain slices possibly due to the isolation of complex networks from other brain areas.

### 3 Evaluation of Receptor Changes in Human Brain Tissue

A receptor is a cellular macromolecule, or an assembly of macromolecules, that is involved in chemical signaling between and within cells [37]. Receptors should present at least the following characteristics to identify them: (1) Binding, specific, and saturable ligand binding are hallmarks of receptors. (2) Affinity, the ability of a drug to bind to the specific receptor to form the drug-receptor complex. The dissociation constant (Kd) or affinity of most receptors for their ligands is in the nanomolar or subnanomolar range. (3) Ligand binding to the receptors should be able to activate signaling pathways to trigger physiological responses [38].

The evaluation of the tissue of patients with epilepsy represents a great opportunity to investigate receptor changes associated with this disorder such as number, affinity, binding, and coupling to transduction mechanisms. The knowledge obtained allows the design of new therapeutic strategies to strengthen or inhibit transductional mechanisms [39]. Receptors in the cerebral tissue of patients with epilepsy have been evaluated through different in vitro and in vivo techniques. The method of choice depends upon the aim of the study.

Western blot is a useful procedure to determine changes in the protein expression of the receptors [40]. In general, the methodology for Western blot is as follows: samples of human brain tissue are suspended in lysate buffer containing protease inhibitor cocktail including 50 mM HEPES buffer, 0.05% Triton X-100, 0.62 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and 20 mM sodium molybdate. Proteins from tissue are isolated by electrophoresis using 8% SDS-polyacrylamide Tris-glycine gels. Once separated, the proteins are transferred to a membrane of nitrocellulose in which each protein is located in specific bands according to the molecular weight. The membrane is then incubated with specific antibodies to label the protein of interest. The thickness and density of the band corresponds to the amount of protein present [40, 41]. Although the results obtained from Western blot experiments give information about the protein expression of specific receptors, they do not give data about the capacity of these proteins to bind specific agonists and induce transductional mechanisms.

Some in vivo and in vitro techniques are useful to determine receptor binding changes in the brain of patients with epilepsy. Positron emission tomography (PET) is an in vivo procedure that let us identify the distribution and density of specific receptors in specific brain areas of patients with epilepsy (Fig. 3a). This procedure involves the systemic administration of ligands that may label particular receptors. However, be cautious regarding the interpretation of results due to the presence of endogenous ligands in the brain that may compete with the exogenous ligands.

In vitro autoradiography is a useful procedure to label specific receptors and proteins involved in the transductional mechanisms in brain sections obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy and submitted to epilepsy surgery. In vitro autoradiography procedures avoid endogenous ligands and give information about the anatomical localization of the receptors (Fig. 3b) [42].

For in vitro autoradiography, brain sections are exposed to ligands labeled with a radioactive isotope and subsequently exposed to a film [43, 44]. The more commonly used isotopes for in vitro autoradiography are the following: <sup>3</sup>H gives the highest resolution and is used to label proteins, nucleic acids, and other molecules frequently involved in binding assays; <sup>14</sup>C replaces the nonradioactive carbon in order to trace chemical and biochemical reactions involving pharmacological substances; and <sup>35</sup>S is used to label proteins, nucleic acids, and amino acids containing a thiol group [45].

The in vitro autoradiography experiments can be carried out using brain sections of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy. Initially, the brain sections are washed to remove endogenous ligands and then incubated in a solution containing the specific radioligand at a concentration necessary to occupy 50% of receptors (Kd) [39]. Nonspecific binding has to be detected in parallel sections from the same tissue and incubated under similar experimental conditions but including a high concentration of a nonlabeled ligand (a concentration 500–1000 higher than that used for the <sup>3</sup>H-ligand). Specific binding is obtained from the difference between nonspecific and total binding. After incubation, the sections are rinsed in buffer, dipped into distilled water, and dried under cold air stream. The dried sections are exposed to a sensitive



**Fig. 3** Schematic representation of in vivo positron emission tomography (PET) (**a**) and in vitro autoradiography (**b**) procedures. Notice that in PET radiolabeled ligands compete with the endogenous ligands for the binding site in the receptors. In contrast, for autoradiography, the radioligand binds directly to the receptors because the endogenous ligands were previously washed

film together with standards of the isotope used. After the exposure period, the film is developed and used to determine optical densities of specific brain areas. The optical density is converted to radioactivity values (dpm/mm<sup>2</sup>) and then to amount of receptors (fmol/mg protein) [46–48].

The in vitro autoradiography allows to determine the distribution of receptors labeled with a specific ligand in selected brain areas of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy [43, 49]. The results obtained will depend on the affinity and number of receptors labeled. However, in vitro autoradiography is not an appropriate procedure to determine specific characteristics of the receptor binding like maximal binding (Bmax) and affinity (Kd).

Binding of an agonist to its receptor induces conformational changes in the receptor molecule. This situation leads to activation

of the G protein, a process during which the  $\alpha$  subunit replaces the GDP with GTP. Functional autoradiography is a technique used to know if the receptor is capable to activate this reaction and subsequent transductional signaling pathways. During the functional assay, the tissue is exposed to [<sup>35</sup>S]-GTP $\gamma$ S that is resistant to hydrolysis. This situation provokes that [<sup>35</sup>S]-GTP $\gamma$ S replaces the GDP upon receptor activation and remains irreversibly bound to the G proteins [39, 42].

To perform functional autoradiography, the sections are initially dipped in assay buffer (50 mM Tris, 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM EGTA, 100 Mm NaCl, pH 7.4) at 25 °C for 10 min and then incubated with 2 mM GDP in assay buffer for 30 min at 25 °C. Thereafter, the process involves different assays in parallel sections under different conditions (Table 1). The specific binding results from the difference between the values obtained from the basal and nonspecific binding assays. At the end of each assay, slides are rinsed twice, 2 min each in 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer and once in deionized H<sub>2</sub>O at 4 °C. Slices are dried overnight and exposed to film for 5 days in film cassettes containing [14C] microscales. A standard curve is generated from [14C] microscales values. Optical density readings are converted into nanocuries of [35S] per milligram of tissue. Net agonist-stimulated [35S]-GTPyS binding is calculated by subtracting basal binding (obtained in absence of agonist) from agonist-stimulated binding [46, 50].

A main limitation of the  $[{}^{35}S]$ -GTP $\gamma S$  autoradiography is that not all the G proteins can be detected with this method due to their low number or efficiency. In addition, it results difficult to identify the types of G proteins labeled with  $[{}^{35}S]$ -GTP $\gamma S$  [42, 51].

Binding assays in membranes are valuable procedures to determine important receptor characteristics such as Bmax (propor-

| Basal activity   | G proteins are evaluated in presence of 2 mM GDP and 40 pM  |
|--|---|
|  | ["5]-611 yo. No agonists are included in the assay  |
| Agonist-stimulated<br>[ <sup>35</sup> S]-GTPγS                               | This step is carry out in presence of 2 mM GDP, 40 pM [ ${}^{35}S$ ]-GTP $\gamma S$ , and a receptor agonist at a concentration necessary to produce maximal stimulation ( $\mu M$ ) of the G proteins. The [ ${}^{35}S$ ]-GTP $\gamma S$ labels the G proteins activated as consequence of the agonist   |
| Antagonist blockade<br>of agonist-<br>stimulated<br>[ <sup>35</sup> S]-GTPγS | A parallel assay has to be focused to evaluate the specificity of the receptor that activates the labeled G protein. The assay is carry out according to the conditions described for the agonist-stimulated [ <sup>35</sup> S]-GTPγS but containing a specific antagonist at a concentration that blocks >90% of the receptor-induced G protein activation |
| Nonspecific binding  | The assay is similar to the agonist-stimulated [ $^{35}$ S]-GTP $\gamma$ S but with an excess of unlabelled GTP $\gamma$ S (10 $\mu$ M).  |

 Table 1

 Experimental conditions to implement functional autoradiography
tional to the number of receptors present in the brain tissue), Kd (equilibrium dissociation constant), Emax (concentration of an agonist to produce maximal stimulation), and potency of stimulation ( $EC_{50}$ ).

Binding assays can be used to determine changes in Bmax and Kd, and  $[^{3}H]$  is the most frequently used isotope for this purpose. For this procedure, brain tissue (~50 mg) is thawed and homogenized into a mixture of ice-cold 50 mM Tris-HCl and 1 mM EGTA, pH 7.4. After centrifugation (13,000 rpm, 20 min, 4 °C), the pellet is resuspended in 10 ml of 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer solution (pH 7.4) and centrifuged again. The resulting pellet (crude membranes) is suspended in incubation buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, pH 7.4). Receptor binding assays are performed in triplicate in 0.5 ml of incubation buffer containing membranes (30-70 µg protein) and in presence of different concentrations of the radioligand with and without a non-labeled ligand. Specific binding is determined by subtracting the binding in the presence of non-labeled ligand from total binding. Incubations are terminated by rapid filtration through Whatman GF/C filters presoaked in 0.3% polyethylenimine. Filters are washed three times with icecold 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4), dried, and then immersed in Sigma-Fluor<sup>™</sup> scintillation cocktail (Sigma). Radioactivity is determined using a Beckman LS6000SC liquid scintillation counter. Data are expressed in fmol/mg of tissue.

Binding assays in membranes can be also used to evaluate the ligand-induced activation of G proteins subsequent to the receptor stimulation (Emax and  $EC_{50}$ ). The binding assays are as follows: brain tissue (~50 mg) is thawed and individually homogenized in 10 mM Tris-HCl solution containing 1 mM EGTA (pH 7.4) and centrifuged (10 min, 1800 rpm, 4 °C). The supernatants are collected and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm (20 min, 4 °C) and the pellet obtained is incubated (30 min, 30 °C) in 5 ml of assay buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, 100 mM NaCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). The incubation is stopped with the addition of 10 ml of ice-cold buffer. The obtained membranes are incubated (60 min, 60 °C) in 0.5 ml of assay buffer containing 0.02% bovine serum albumin, [35S]-GTPγS (50 pM), and increasing concentrations (10<sup>-10</sup>–10<sup>-6</sup> M) of a selective receptor agonist in the presence of excess GDP (10 µM). Basal binding is measured in the absence of the tested compound. Nonspecific binding is determined in the presence of 20 µM unlabeled GTPyS and subtracted from total binding to calculate the specific binding. The reaction is initiated by adding [35S]-GTPyS and terminated by filtration of the samples through Whatman GF/B glass fiber filters. Filters are washed three times with ice-cold 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.4), dried, and dipped in Sigma-Fluor<sup>™</sup>. Finally, bound radioactivity is determined using a liquid scintillation counter. Data are subjected to nonlinear regression analysis of concentration effect curves performed by Prism (GraphPad Software) to determine Emax and  $EC_{50}$  values. Data are expressed in percentage of stimulation or in fmol/mg of protein [52].

One important limitation of the binding assays is that the changes evaluated correspond to big areas of the cerebral tissue. This procedure does not allow the evaluation of small brain areas.

#### 4 Genomic Analysis of Brain Tissue from Patients with Pharmacoresistant Epilepsy

According to the dogma of molecular biology (Fig. 4), nucleic acids (DNA and RNA) and proteins, through the processes of replication, transcription, and translation, are key to perform genomic analyses. These represent the main tools in research, diagnosis, evaluation, treatment, and prognosis of many diseases, including various types of epilepsies. At present, genetic alterations are considered relevant in the development of epilepsy [53] and various types of seizures, such as juvenile myoclonic epilepsy [54]. It is important to consider that some of the studies that demonstrate the role of genes in the development of epilepsy and the associated pathological processes (e.g., drug resistance and hippocampal sclerosis) have been carried out using tissue obtained from patients subjected to epilepsy surgery [55].

When the cerebral tissue is removed from the human body, the neuronal cells begin to die. During this process, there is an activation of specific caspases that in turn activate endo- and exonucle-ases responsible for the degradation of RNA [56]. In contrast with DNA, which has a double-stranded arrangement and a chemical structure that favors its preservation, RNA is more labile and sensitive to degradation due to its single-stranded conformation while the presence of ribose facilitates the reaction with oxygen [57]. Therefore, the experimental conditions to manipulate postsurgical



Fig. 4 Central dogma of molecular biology. Notice the different methodological approaches that can be carried out to evaluate DNA, RNA, and protein expression

tissue are essential to maintain the quality of proteins and nucleic acids and give validity and reliability to the results obtained [58].

In practice, after surgical resection, the epileptic tissue should be immediately frozen and stored at -80 °C for the subsequent mRNA evaluation. Low temperatures (-60 °C or lower) prevent the activation of caspases and hence the degradation of nucleic acids and proteins [59]. However, RNA seems to maintain some reactivity at low temperatures. RNases and some ribozymes are still active at -20 °C and -70 °C, respectively [60, 61]. At present, there are commercial compounds such as RNAlater® (Qiagen) which are useful to stabilize and protect the structure of cellular RNA and prevent its oxidation. Formalin fixation with paraffin embedding represents other procedure for mRNA preservation and maintaining histology [62]. With this procedure, the proteins are kept whole and the DNA can be isolated with very good quality for several years after [63–65]. Other important factor for consideration is the period of storage. The integrity of nucleic acids and proteins are compromised when the tissue is stored for long periods after the surgical resection.

Some considerations are relevant to keep in mind when isolating nucleic acids or proteins obtained from cerebral tissue: (1) one must work on ice and under complete sterile conditions; (2) the use of inhibitors of endo- and exonucleases in the case of nucleic acids is essential, and protease inhibitors in the case of proteins, (3) the material must be treated with diethylpyrocarbonate (DEPC) to 0.1%, which is a potent inhibitor of RNase [66].

The nucleic acid isolation of cerebral tissue from patients with epilepsy is often achieved by common protocols. However, isolation of DNA, RNA, and proteins has to be done separately if we want to preserve the quality of the molecules. For DNA isolation, it is necessary to use extraction with organic solvents such as ethanol or acetone. This procedure preserves the DNA of high molecular weight. The RNA is isolated by phenol-chloroform extraction in addition to commercial solutions of guanidine isothiocyanate and ammonium thiocyanate (e.g., TrizolThermoFisher Sci.). Proteins are isolated through different buffers containing detergent and ionic salts. Once the RNA is obtained, it is necessary to confirm its purity and integrity. The purity is determined by commonly used spectrophotometric assays, according to the ratio 260/280 nm. Using this procedure, an index of 1.8 for DNA and RNA 2 indicates high purity, whereas lower values indicate contamination with proteins or organic solvents. The integrity is determined by electrophoretic assays using 1% agarose gel. Using this procedure, a single band must be observed for DNA (no sweep), while for the RNA, it is common to detect electrophoretic migration patterns of the 28S, 18S, 5.8S, and 5S ribosomal subunit. These values represent the RNA integrity number (RIN) [67]. Pure samples of DNA should be stored in solution because their dehydration leads to denaturation. In contrast, the RNA is best preserved dehydrated [59].

Concerning epilepsy and regardless of the level and the techniques used, the study of patients with this disorder is focused on the search for the "epilepsy gene." Unfortunately this approach is utopian because it is impossible to attribute the cause of epilepsy to a single gene since it represents a multifactorial disorder from a physiological point of view [68]. Also, the molecular analysis of genes has to be associated with different factors, such as type of epilepsy, the epileptic focus, the treatments administered prior to surgical resection, whether or not it is drug resistant, and other clinical variables.

Despite the plurality in studies, when a search in PubMed (NCBI) is performed with the words "epilepsy and genes in humans," they found only 6285 items, in which research ranges from the characterization and analysis of gene expression (the gene encoding the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor subunit  $\delta$  [69]) to variants associations (atypical variants, p.G257R, p.R323Q, p.I389V in GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor associated with Rolandic epilepsy [70]), polymorphisms and mutations (the SNP c.3435C > T in the MDR1 gene encoding the P-glycoprotein transporter [71]), identification and global study of microRNAs (miRNAs such as miR-204 and miR-218 that are downregulated in patients with TLE [72]), identification of biomarkers (TGF<sup>β</sup>1 that is increased in CSF of patients with drugresistant epilepsy [73]), epigenomic analysis (hypermethylationassociated genes observed in neurotransmission and synaptic transmission in patients with TLE [74]), and inheritance (the deletion of 18q21.32 relatives inherited from a family with cases of idiopathic epilepsies [75]). Thanks to all the studies using tissue of patients with epilepsy, many genetic aspects of the disease have been identified. However, there is still a long way to go in understanding the mechanisms. An undeniable fact is that studies of gene expression have opened the door to a new era where the final goal is the optimization and customization of treatments, thus improving the quality of life of patients.

#### 5 Autopsy and Control Human Tissue

A good research design should always consider a control condition to eliminate variables that could lead to the wrong conclusion. The evaluation of human brain tissue of patients with epilepsy implies the analysis of control tissue obtained from neurologically healthy subjects. However, this situation is difficult to obtain.

Appropriate controls represent a crucial situation that must be addressed when human tissue is used for electrophysiology recordings [76]. It is clear that normal tissue samples cannot be used for comparison for obvious ethical causes. Resected samples of nonepileptic patients due to removal of deeply laying tumors have been

### Table 2

Factors that affect the quality of the brain samples for molecular studies in epilepsy

| Antemortem        | Postmortem  |
|-------------------|---|
| Diseases          | Postmortem interval (PMI)   |
| Premedication     | Structural alterations of the pathophysiology of epilepsy<br>(hippocampal sclerosis and cortical dysplasia) |
| Fever             | pH of the brain or cerebrospinal fluid  |
| Hypoxia-ischemia  | Ambient temperature in the postmortem period  |
| Acidosis          | Harvesting procedures   |
| Agonal conditions | Storage temperature   |
|                   | Accidental or systematic thawing and refreezing   |

used as "control tissue" [65]. Nevertheless, this tissue is not adequate for comparison because it comes from patients with a different pathology.

Many studies include the evaluation of autopsy samples obtained from subjects who died of different causes and without evidence of neurological illness. However, it is important to consider various antemortem and postmortem factors that can directly impact on the quality and therefore the validity of the results obtained from autopsy samples. For example, the evaluation of nucleic acids from autopsies is particularly difficult (Table 2) [76, 77]. Indeed, there are controversial studies indicating that the RNA of the brain tissue is stable and preserves integrity even several hours after death [78, 79], while other studies suggest a rapid and definitive RNA degradation as the postmortem interval progresses [76, 80].

#### 6 Concluding Remarks

Certain epilepsy animal models have received great acceptance as they exhibit similar development of spontaneous seizures and a spectrum of histological changes like those of showed by patients with epilepsy [81]. However, the study of brain tissue obtained from patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy provides valuable information about human epilepsy pathophysiology [22] and represents an excellent tool for individual diagnosis and specialized treatment. Indeed, correlations between the results obtained and different clinic data from the patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy represent a valuable procedure to identify the possible influence of relevant conditions that can be manipulated to modify the expression of the disease.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Francia Carmona for her technical assistance and the National Council for Sciences and Technology of Mexico for the support provided for developing this work (grant 220365 (LR) and scholarships 232762 (LL), 243422 (IB), and 377494 (VN)) and by the Fogarty International Center of the National Institutes of Health (Award Number R21TW009384).

#### References

- Köhling R, Avoli M (2006) Methodological approaches to exploring epileptic disorders in the human brain in vitro. J Neurosci Methods 155:1– 19. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2006.04.009
- 2. Ngugi AK, Bottomley C, Kleinschmidt I et al (2010) Estimation of the burden of active and life-time epilepsy: a meta-analytic approach. Epilepsia 51:883–890. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02481.x
- PAHO/WHO (2013) Report on Epilepsy in Latin America and the Caribbean. http:// www.who.int/mental\_health/neurology/epilepsy/paho\_report\_2013.pdf. Accessed on 27 Mar 2016
- Magiorkinis E, Sidiropoulou K, Diamantis A (2010) Hallmarks in the history of epilepsy: epilepsy in antiquity. Epilepsy Behav 17:103– 108. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.10.023
- Engel J, Wiebe S, French J et al (2003) Practice parameter: temporal lobe and localized neocortical resections for epilepsy: report of the Quality Standards Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology, in association with the American Epilepsy Society and the American Association of Neuro. Neurology 60:538–547. doi:10.1212/01.WNL.0000055086.35806.2D
- Jobst BC, Cascino GD (2015) Resective epilepsy surgery for drug-resistant focal epilepsy. JAMA 313:285–293. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.17426
- Tonini C, Beghi E, Berg AT et al (2004) Predictors of epilepsy surgery outcome: a meta-analysis. Epilepsy Res 62:75–87. doi:10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2004.08.006
- Ledri M, Sørensen AT, Madsen MG (2015) Differential effect of neuropeptides on excitatory synaptic transmission in human epileptic hippocampus. J Neurosci 35:9622–9631. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3973-14.2015
- Kivi A, Lehmann TN, Kovács R et al (2000) Effects of barium on stimulus-induced rises of [K+]o in human epileptic non-sclerotic and sclerotic hippocampal area CA1. Eur J Neurosci 12:2039–2048.doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2000. 00103.x

- Mccormick DA (1989) GABA as an inhibitory neurotransmitter in human cerebral cortex. J Neurophysiol 62:1018–1027
- Cohen I, Navarro V, Clemenceau S et al (2002) On the origin of interictal activity in human temporal lobe epilepsy in vitro. Science 298:1418– 1421. doi:10.1126/science.1076510
- Kato H, Ito Z, Matsuoka S et al (1973) Electrical activities of neurons in the sliced human cortex *in vitro*. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 35:457–462
- Roseti C, Fucile S, Lauro C et al (2013) Fractalkine/CX3CL1 modulates GABAA currents in human temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 54:1834–1844. doi:10.1111/epi.12354
- 14. Foehring RC, Waters RS (1991) Contributions of low-threshold calcium current and anomalous rectifier (Ih) to slow depolarizations underlying burst firing in human neocortical neurons in vitro. Neurosci Lett 124:17–21. doi:10.1016/0304-3940(91)90812-8
- 15. Thom M, Mathern GW, Cross JH et al (2010) Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: how do we improve surgical outcome? Ann Neurol 68:424-434. doi:10.1002/ana.22142
- Margerison JH, Corsellis JA (1966) Epilepsy and the temporal lobes. Brain 89:499–530
- 17. Blümcke I, Coras R, Miyata H et al (2012) Defining clinico-neuropathological subtypes of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. Brain Pathol 22:402–411. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2012.00583.x
- Ward AA, Thomas LB (1955) The electrical activity of single units in the cerebral cortex of man. Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol 7:135– 136. doi:10.1016/0013-4694(55)90067-5
- Dietrich D, Kral T, Clusmann H et al (2002) Presynaptic group II metabotropic glutamate receptors reduce stimulated and spontaneous transmitter release in human dentate gyrus. Neuropharmacology 42:297–305. doi:10.1016/ S0028-3908(01)00193-9
- 20. Köhling R, Schwartzkroin PA, Avoli M (2006) Studying epilepsy in the human brain in vitro.

In: Pitkänen A, Schwartzkroin PA, Moshé SL (eds) Models of seizures and epilepsy, 1st edn. Elsevier, Burlington, VT

- 21. Avoli M, Drapeau C, Louvel J et al (1991) Epileptiform activity induced by low extracellular magnesium in the human cortex maintained in vitro. Ann Neurol 30:589–596. doi:10.1002/ana.410300412
- 22. Schwartzkroin PA, Prince DA (1976) Microphysiology of human cerebral cortex studied in vitro. Brain Res 115:497–500. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(76)90366-8
- Avoli M, Olivier A (1989) Electrophysiological properties and synaptic responses in the deep layers of the human epileptogenic neocortex in vitro. J Neurophysiol 61:589–606
- 24. Koch UR, Musshoff U, Pannek HW et al (2005) Intrinsic excitability, synaptic potentials, and short-term plasticity in human epileptic neocortex. J Neurosci Res 80:715–726
- Schwartzkroin PA (1994) Cellular electrophysiology of human epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 17:185– 192. doi:10.1016/0920-1211(94)90049-3
- Huberfeld G, Wittner L, Clémenceau S et al (2007) Perturbed chloride homeostasis and GABAergic signaling in human temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 27:9866–9873. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.2761-07.2007
- 27. Wittner L, Huberfeld G, Clémenceau S et al (2009) The epileptic human hippocampal cornu ammonis 2 region generates spontaneous interictal-like activity in vitro. Brain 132:3032–3046. doi:10.1093/brain/ awp238
- McCormick DA, Williamson A (1989) Convergence and divergence of neurotransmitter action in human cerebral cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:8098–8102
- 29. Milatovic D, Montine TJ, Zaja-Milatovic S et al (2010) Morphometric analysis in neurodegenerative disorders. Curr Protoc Toxicol 12:1–14. doi:10.1002/0471140856.tx1216s43
- Rosoklija GB, Petrushevski VM, Stankov A et al (2014) Reliable and durable Golgi staining of brain tissue from human autopsies and experimental animals. J Neurosci Methods 15:20–29. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2014.04.006
- 31. Vreugdenhil M, Hoogland G, van Veelen CWM et al (2004) Persistent sodium current in subicular neurons isolated from patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. Eur J Neurosci 19:2769–2778. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03400.x
- 32. Rüschenschmidt C, Köhling R, Schwarz M et al (2004) Characterization of a fast transient outward current in neocortical neurons from epilepsy patients. J Neurosci Res 75:807–816. doi:10.1002/jnr.20055

- 33. O'Connor ER, Sontheimer H, Spencer DD et al (1998) Astrocytes from human hippocampal epileptogenic foci exhibit action potentiallike responses. Epilepsia 39:347–354. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1157.1998.tb01386.x
- 34. Dossi E, Blauwblomme T, Nabbout R et al (2014) Multi-electrode array recordings of human epileptic postoperative cortical tissue. J Vis Exp 26:1–9. doi:10.3791/51870
- 35. Remy S, Gabriel S, Urban BW et al (2003) A novel mechanism underlying drug resistance in chronic epilepsy. Ann Neurol 53:469–479. doi:10.1002/ana.10473
- 36. Vreugdenhil M, van Veelen CWM, van Rijen PC (1998) Effect of valproic acid on sodium currents in cortical neurons from patients with pharmaco-resistant temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsy Res 32:309–320. doi:10.1016/ S0920-1211(98)00061-8
- 37. Neubig RR, Spedding M, Kenakin T et al (2003) International Union of Pharmacology Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification. XXXVIII. Update on terms and symbols in quantitative pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 55:597–606. doi:10.1124/pr.55.4.4
- Feener EP, King GL (1998) The biochemical and physiological characteristics of receptors. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 29:197–213
- 39. Rocha L, Neri-Bazán L, Orozco-Suárez SA et al (2009) Studying receptors in the human epileptic brain using in vitro autoradiography. In: Rocha L (ed) Models of neuropharmacology, 1st ed. Research Signpost, Kerala
- 40. Mahmood T, Yang PC (2012) Western blot: technique, theory, and trouble shooting. N Am J Med Sci 4:429–434. doi:10.4103/1947-2714.100998
- Pujols L, Mullol J, Roca-Ferrer J et al (2002) Expression of glucocorticoid receptor alphaand beta-isoforms in human cells and tissues. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 283:C1324–C1331. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00363.2001
- 42. Sóvágó J, Dupuis DS, Gulyás B et al (2001) An overview on functional receptor autoradiography using [35S]GTPgammaS. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38:149–164. doi:10.1016/ S0165-0173(01)00106-0
- 43. Solon EG (2015) Autoradiography techniques and quantification of drug distribution. Cell Tissue Res 360:87–107. doi:10.1007/ s00441-014-2093-4
- 44. Sharif N, Eglen R (1993) Quantitative autoradiography: a tool to visualize and quantify receptors, enzymes, transporters, and second messenger systems. In: Sharif N (ed) Molecular imaging in neuroscience: a practical approach, 1st edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford

- 45. Barthe N, Maîtrejean S, Cardona A (2012) High-resolution beta imaging. In: L'Annunziata MF (ed) Handbook of radioactivity analysis, 3rd edn. Academic, Oxford
- 46. Rocha L, Orozco-Suarez S, Alonso-Vanegas M et al (2009) Temporal lobe epilepsy causes selective changes in mu opioid and nociceptin receptor binding and functional coupling to G-proteins in human temporal neocortex. Neurobiol Dis 35:466–473. doi:10.1016/j. nbd.2009.06.008
- 47. Jin CY, Anichtchik O, Panula P (2009) Altered histamine H3 receptor radioligand binding in post-mortem brain samples from subjects with psychiatric diseases. Br J Pharmacol 157:118– 129. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00149.x
- Pollard H, Moreau J, Arrang JM et al (1993) A detailed autoradiographic mapping of histamine H3 receptors in rat brain areas. Neuroscience 52:169–189
- Waeber C, Chiu ML (1999) In vitro autoradiographic visualization of guanosine-5'-O-(3-[35S]thio) triphosphate binding stimulated by sphingosine 1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid. J Neurochem 73:1212–1221. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.1999.0731212.x
- 50. Potier S, Sénécal J, Chabot JG (2005) A pentylenetetrazole-induced generalized seizure in early life enhances the efficacy of muscarinic receptor coupling to G-protein in hippocampus and neocortex of adult rat. Eur J Neurosci 21:1828–1836. doi:10.1111/ j.1460-9568.2005.04026.x
- 51. Sim L, Selley D, Childers S (1997) Autoradiographic visualization in brain of receptor-G protein coupling using [35S] GTPγS binding. In: Challiss RAJ (ed) Receptor signal transduction protocols, 1st edn. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ
- 52. Cuellar-Herrera M, Velasco AL, Velasco F et al (2012) Mu opioid receptor mRNA expression, binding, and functional coupling to G-proteins in human epileptic hippocampus. Hippocampus 22:122–127. doi:10.1002/hipo.20891
- 53. Panayiotopoulos CP (2012) The new ILAE report on terminology and concepts for the organization of epilepsies: critical review and contribution. Epilepsia 53:399–404. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03381.x
- Helbig I, Hartmann C, Mefford HC (2013) The unexpected role of copy number variations in juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav 28:S66–S68. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.07.005
- 55. Mirza N, Vasieva O, Marson AG et al (2011) Exploring the genomic basis of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy: an integrative analysis of large-scale gene expression profiling studies on brain tissue from epilepsy surgery. Hum Mol

Genet 20:4381–4394. doi:10.1093/hmg/ ddr365

- Wagner E, Lykke-Andersen J (2002) mRNA surveillance: the perfect persist. J Cell Sci 115:3033–3038
- 57. Elliott D, Ladomery M (2011) Molecular biology of RNA. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Neumeister VM (2014) Tools to assess tissue quality. Clin Biochem 47:280–287. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2014.02.016
- 59. Fabre AL, Colotte M, Luis A et al (2014) An efficient method for long-term room temperature storage of RNA. Eur J Hum Genet 22:379–385. doi:10.1038/ejhg.2013.145
- 60. Ma S, Huang Y, van Huystee RB (2004) Improved plant RNA stability in storage. Anal Biochem 326:122–124. doi:10.1016/j. ab.2003.10.026
- 61. Seyhan AA, Burke JM (2000) Mg2+independent hairpin ribozyme catalysis in hydrated RNA films. RNA 6:189–198
- 62. Su JM, Perlaky L, Li XN et al (2004) Comparison of ethanol versus formalin fixation on preservation of histology and RNA in laser capture microdissected brain tissues. Brain Pathol 14:175–182. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2004. tb00050.x
- 63. Shibata D, Martin WJ, Arnheim N (1988) Analysis of DNA sequences in forty-year-old paraffin-embedded thin-tissue sections: a bridge between molecular biology and classical histology. Cancer Res 48:4564–4566
- 64. Foss RD, Guha-Thakurta N, Conran RM et al (1994) Effects of fixative and fixation time on the extraction and polymerase chain reaction amplification of RNA from paraffin-embedded tissue: comparison of two housekeeping gene mRNA controls. Diagn Mol Pathol 3:148–155
- 65. Kashofer K, Viertler C, Pichler M et al (2013) Quality control of RNA preservation and extraction from paraffin-embedded tissue: implications for RT-PCR and microarray analysis. PLoS One 8:e70714. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0070714
- 66. Williams MA (2010) Stabilizing the codemethods to preserve RNA prove their worth. Biomark Insights 5:139–143. doi:10.4137/ BMI.S6094
- 67. Schroeder A, Mueller O, Stocker S et al (2006) The RIN: an RNA integrity number for assigning integrity values to RNA measurements. BMC Mol Biol 7:3. doi:10.1186/1471-2199-7-3
- 68. Stafstrom CE, Tempel BL (2000) Epilepsy genes: the link between molecular dysfunction and pathophysiology. Ment Retard Dev Disabil Res Rev 6:281–292. doi:10.1002/1098-2779(2000) 6:4<281::AID-MRDD7>3.0.CO;2-9

- 69. Windpassinger C, Kroisel PM, Wagner K et al (2002) The human γ-aminobutyric acid A receptor delta (GABRD) gene: molecular characterisation and tissue-specific expression. Gene 292:25–31. doi:10.1016/S0378-1119 (02)00649-2
- 70. Reinthaler EM, Dejanovic B, Lal D et al (2015) Rare variants in  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid type A receptor genes in rolandic epilepsy and related syndromes. Ann Neurol 77:972–986. doi:10.1002/ana.24395
- 71. Manna I, Gambardella A, Labate A et al (2015) Polymorphism of the multidrug resistance 1 gene MDR1/ABCB1 C3435T and response to antiepileptic drug treatment in temporal lobe epilepsy. Seizure 24:124–126. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2014.09.010
- 72. Kaalund SS, Venø MT, Bak M et al (2014) Aberrant expression of miR-218 and miR-204 in human mesial temporal lobe epilepsy and hippocampal sclerosis-convergence on axonal guidance. Epilepsia 55:2017–2027. doi:10.1111/epi.12839
- 73. Yu W, Zou Y, Du Y et al (2014) Altered cerebrospinal fluid concentrations of TGFβ1 in patients with drug-resistant epilepsy. Neurochem Res 39:2211–2217. doi:10.1007/ s11064-014-1422-z
- 74. Miller-Delaney SF, Bryan K, Das S et al (2015) Differential DNA methylation profiles of coding and non-coding genes define hippocampal sclerosis in human temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 138:616–631. doi:10.1093/brain/awu373
- 75. Tiron C, Campuzano O, Pérez-Serra A et al (2015) Further evidence of the association

between LQT syndrome and epilepsy in a family with KCNQ1 pathogenic variant. Seizure 25:65–67. doi:10.1016/j.seizure.2015.01.003

- 76. Birdsill AC, Walker DG, Lue L et al (2011) Postmortem interval effect on RNA and gene expression in human brain tissue. Cell Tissue Bank 12:311–318. doi:10.1007/s10561-010-9210-8
- 77. Trabzuni D, Ryten M, Walker R et al (2011) Quality control parameters on a large dataset of regionally dissected human control brains for whole genome expression studies. JNeurochem119:275–282.doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07432.x
- Ervin JF, Heinzen EL, Cronin KD et al (2007) Postmortem delay has minimal effect on brain RNA integrity. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 66:1093–1099. doi:10.1097/ nen.0b013e31815c196a
- 79. Durrenberger PF, Fernando S, Kashefi SN et al (2010) Effects of antemortem and postmortem variables on human brain mRNA quality: a BrainNet Europe study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 69:70–81. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181c7e32f
- Beach T, Sue L, Walker DG et al (2008) The sun health research institute brain donation program: description and experience, 1987– 2007. Cell Tissue Bank 9:229–245. doi:10.1007/s10561-008-9067-2
- 81. Sharma AK, Reams RY, Jordan WH et al (2007) Mesial temporal lobe epilepsy: pathogenesis, induced rodent models and lesions. Toxicol Pathol 35:984–999. doi:10.1080/ 01926230701748305

# **Chapter 12**

# The Blood–Brain Barrier and the Design of New Antiepileptic Drugs

## Gabriela Rogel-Salazar and Hiram Luna-Munguia

#### Abstract

The vertebrate's brain is vascularized during its development to provide oxygen and essential nutrients to newly born neurons. This brain vasculature is anatomically distinct from that of other organs. It comprises, in addition to endothelial cells, pericytes and astrocytes, which collectively form the neurovascular unit, structure that underlies the blood-brain barrier and regulates blood flow to match brain activity. The main features of the vertebrate blood-brain barrier are closed cell-cell junctions, a low rate of transcytosis, and the expression of various adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporters. The blood-brain barrier function is impaired in several neurological diseases including epilepsy. This chapter will provide a brief overview on the regulation of blood-brain barrier properties by the neurovascular unit and the relation between blood-brain barrier, seizures, and epilepsy. We will also summarize new therapies that aim to control seizure activity.

Key words Neurovascular unit, Blood-brain barrier, Seizures, Epilepsy, Antiepileptic drugs

#### 1 Introduction

The brain constitutes only 2% of the body weight and can be considered the most complex and energy-demanding organ since it consumes approximately 20% of the human body's metabolic reserves. However, it has a limited capacity to store energy, and thus the maintenance of its optimal function depends on the proper delivery of oxygen, glucose, and other nutrients via the anatomically distinct brain vasculature. There is therefore a tight relation between the local microscopic cerebral blood flow and the changes in neuronal activity of specific brain regions. This regulating mechanism is named hyperemia and is activated in physiological situations such as reading or it can also be triggered in pathological situations such as seizures [1-3].

The complex interplay between changes in blood supply according to increased or decreased neuronal demand is accomplished by a group of cells of both vascular and neural origin, called

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_12, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

the neurovascular unit [4]. Harder et al. [5] defined it as a synchronized interactive structure formed by neurons, interneurons, astrocytes, microglia, pericytes, endothelial cells, and extracellular matrix components, which establishes an anatomical and functional whole. One of the distinctive functional characteristics of the neurovascular unit is the blood-brain barrier, first described by Paul Ehrlich in 1885. However, it was Edwin Goldman who showed that the water-soluble dye trypan blue injected into cerebrospinal fluid readily stained central nervous tissue blue, contradicting Ehrlich's conclusion of a lower binding affinity of the central nervous system for these dyes and supporting the hypothesis of limited permeation from the circulatory system into the brain [6, 7]. More than a century later, we know that the bloodbrain barrier serves as a functional and anatomical barrier able to control the flow of solutes in and out of the brain to maintain an optimal environment for neuronal functioning. Moreover, the blood-brain barrier is the site where drug entry into the brain is regulated by multidrug transporter molecules [8]. The knowledge about this structure is fundamental to understand some aspects of brain physiology, as well as the pathogenesis of several neurodegenerative diseases.

This chapter focuses on the cellular components of the neurovascular unit, the blood-brain barrier characteristics and its involvement in the generation of seizures and epilepsy, and the new therapies that aim to optimize drug delivery in the epileptic brain.

#### 2 The Neurovascular Unit Components

Under physiological conditions, each component of the neurovascular unit (Fig. 1) plays an active and particular role, which results in a highly efficient regulatory system of the cerebral blood flow [9, 10]. However, the specific role of each component is not yet fully established [11].

**2.1 Endothelial Cells** The endothelial cells that line the luminal side of blood vessels enter the brain parenchyma early during neural tube development [12]. It is currently known that endothelial cells produce trophic and vasoactive factors which are extremely important for the vascular tone control; some of these factors are dilatory as nitric oxide, and some others are vasoconstrictors as endothelin and thromboxane [13, 14].

Their morphological, biochemical, and functional properties are unique and distinguishable from all other endothelial cells in the body [15]. Specifically, the brain endothelial cells have longer tight junctions, sparse pinocytic vesicular transport systems, no fenestrations in their cytoplasm, a high amount of mitochondria, and a negative surface charge that repulses negatively charged



**Fig. 1** Constitution of the neurovascular unit. Schematic representation showing the tight junctions between the endothelial cells surrounding a blood-brain capillary and ensheathed by the basement membrane. Pericytes are distributed discontinuously along the length of the cerebral capillaries. Cerebral endothelial cells and pericytes are enclosed by the basement membrane. Astrocytic end-feet processes conform a complex network surrounding the capillaries. Astrocytes provide links to neurons and microglia are central nervous system-resident immune cells

compounds. The diffusion of hydrophilic solutes is severely restricted since the capillary endothelium in the brain is 50-100 times tighter than peripheral microvessels [16]. However, these cells are set up with specific transport systems and receptors that will help to uptake nutrients and hormones required for brain function [17].

2.2 Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells and Pericytes Vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes, collectively known as mural cells, enter the brain parenchyma together with endothelial cells during angiogenesis [18]. The vascular smooth muscle cells surround small arteries, arterioles, and venules. It is believed that the blood flow of brain vasculature is controlled at the level of arterioles and thus involves vessel constriction and relaxation controlled by neurons and astrocytes that are mediated by vascular smooth muscle cells [19].

> The pericytes are perivascular cells that tend to be aligned with the vessel axis, surrounding the endothelium around microvessels and capillaries in the brain, which provides support to endothelial cells. Pericytes share the basement membrane and are in direct

communication with astrocytes, neurons, and endothelial cells, exchanging information through tight junctions, gap junctions, adhesion plaques, and soluble factors [3, 20–23]. The contractile proteins expressed in pericytes, such as alpha-SM actin, play a fundamental role in the regulation of capillary blood flow since they provide vascular stability by modulating the vessel diameter [24]. Indeed, pericyte loss leads to locally reduce cerebral blood flow and breakdown of the blood–brain barrier [18].

**2.3 Astrocytes** The astrocytes are glial cells characterized by their numerous processes containing the cytoskeleton intermediate filament, the glial fibrillary acidic protein [17]. Certain astrocytes cover the entire abluminal side of blood vessels with specialized processes called astrocyte end-feet [16, 25]. These astrocytic end-feet are slender processes, enriched with water and potassium channels, anchored to the basement membrane of blood vessels via the dystroglycan complex [26]. Due to the anatomic proximity to endothelial cells, the astrocytes play a central role in the restricted permeability and in the integrity of the blood–brain barrier. Basically, they enhance the formation of tight junctions between endothelial cells and reduce its gap junctional area, regulate the brain water and electrolyte metabolism, modulate the expression and polarization of transporters, and promote specialized enzyme systems [27–29].

Besides the relevance of the interplay between astrocytes and endothelial cells for blood–brain barrier properties, astrocytes are also crucial for proper neuronal function and, thus, for a functional neurovascular unit. In fact, astrocytes can signal vascular smooth muscle cells of blood vessels in order to regulate the cerebral blood flow in response to moment-to-moment changes in local neuronal activity [17]. Astrocytes also contribute to a variety of neuronal functions such as synapse formation and plasticity, energetic and redox metabolism, and synaptic homeostasis of neurotransmitters and ions [30].

**2.4 Perivascular Macrophages** The perivascular macrophages are blood-derived phagocytic cells that reside in the perivascular spaces, which surround penetrating arterioles and are continuous with the subarachnoid space. These perivascular cells perform phagocytic functions and regulate the immune response and lymphocyte entry into brain parenchyma [31–33].

**2.5** *Microglia* The microglial cells invest the brain very early during development just before the endothelial cells invade and vascularize the tissue [34]. Since microglia are located in perivascular space, it is conceivable that their interactions with the endothelial cells may influence the blood–brain barrier properties. However, this is still an unclear issue that has led to contradictory findings in the literature.

Microglia plays a very important role in immune responses of the central nervous system. In fact, these cells present themselves in two forms: resting (under physiological conditions) and activated (under pathological conditions) microglia. When resting, cells have small bodies and long thin processes, known as ramified morphology; in contrast, activated microglia assume a phagocytic morphology by shifting from long to short processes [28].

2.6 Neurons Neurons are characterized by a cell body, an axon, and numerous and Interneurons dendrites. It has been estimated that almost every neuron in the human brain has its own capillary, which shows the importance of the close neuronal-vascular relationship for normal brain functioning [28]. In fact, the neurons have been called the pacemaker of the neurovascular unit [35]. They are able to detect small variations in its supply of nutrients and oxygen and transform these signals into electrical and chemical messages to adjacent interneurons or astrocytes [36]. In some cases, neurons communicate with the vessels via the astrocytes, influencing the vascular tone and the blood supply to the area surrounding it [14, 37]. Furthermore, there is some evidence that neurons can regulate the function of blood vessels in response to metabolic requirements by inducing expression of enzymes unique for brain microvascular endothelial cells [25]. On the other hand, mature endothelium has a reciprocal function in inducing a stable brain microenvironment that enables proper neuronal activity [38].

2.7 Basement Membrane The basement membrane is an important regulator of all epithelial cells and is crucial for the integrity and mechanical stability of brain vasculature. It surrounds the brain microvascular endothelial cells and pericytes and presents a duplicature that separates the pericyte from the endothelial cells and the astrocyte end-feet [39, 40].

The basement membrane does not act as a significant barrier to the diffusion of small molecules, but its anchoring function plays an important role in the integrity of cerebral microvasculature and, thus, on blood-brain barrier stability, contributing to tissue/cell organization and differentiation [25, 41]. The main basement membrane components are structural proteins (collagen and elastin), specialized proteins (fibronectin and laminin), and proteoglycans (perlecan), organized in three apposed layers [26, 42]. In addition, the basement membrane also includes matrix adhesion receptors, known as cell adhesion molecules, as well as signaling proteins, which form an extensive and complex matrix [40]. The basement membrane is also essential for endothelial cell polarization and lumen formation. Proper endothelial polarization is needed for the correct localization of influx and efflux transporters [43].

#### **3 Blood–Brain Barrier Characteristics**

The blood-brain barrier is a collective term referring to a complex system of metabolic, physical, and transport filters or barriers that control access of blood-borne chemicals to the brain but, at the same time, ensure the delivery of essential nutrients and selected biomolecules. Altogether, these barriers maintain an optimal and stable physicochemical environment within which the central nervous system can operate [44].

3.1 Cell-Cell
Junctions
Cell-cell junctions in the brain are closed and they even restrict the passage of ions, contributing to maintain endothelial polarization and the correct localization of blood-brain barrier transport proteins [45]. Two different types of endothelial cell-cell junctions are crucial for keeping the correct blood-brain barrier properties, the tight and the adherens junctions.

The tight junctions are elaborate structures located on the luminal region of the endothelial cells (Fig. 1). It is generally accepted that these junctions seal the interendothelial cleft forming a continuous blood vessel. They significantly reduce permeation of ions and other small hydrophilic solutes through the intercellular cleft (paracellular pathway) but cannot prevent that small highly lipophilic substances such as oxygen and carbon dioxide diffuse passively into the brain parenchyma along their concentration gradient [46–48]. Tight junctions primarily confer low paracellular permeability and high endothelial electrical resistance [49]. The tight junctions are composed of claudins (claudin-3, claudin-5, claudin-12), occludins, junction adhesion molecules (JAM-A, JAM-B, and JAM-C), and several transmembrane proteins [50].

The adherens junctions are typically found intermingled with the tight junctions [28]. They hold the cells together giving structural support and participate in the regulation of the paracellular permeability and the initiation of cell polarity [51]. Adherens junctions are composed of vascular endothelial cadherin and catenin [52].

**3.2 Influx and Efflux Transporters** The tight junction-controlled paracellular impermeability of the brain capillary endothelium implies that the hydrophilic molecules must cross the endothelial wall by transcellular pathways to reach their neuronal targets or leave the brain [53]. Influx and efflux transporters carry nutrients, ions, and macromolecules into the brain and remove toxic and unwanted molecules into the circulatory system. These transporters are expressed in a polarized manner which allows the effective exchange of molecules and ions between blood and the brain parenchyma [47, 53].

> The fact that the blood-brain barrier has a high density of mitochondria reflects high energy demands for active adenosine triphosphate-dependent transporters. The sodium pumps (Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>-ATPase)

and the sodium-potassium-two chloride cotransporters are examples of ion transporters [54].

The solute carriers are transporters embedded in the luminal and abluminal membranes. This carrier-mediated transport allows the efflux of waste products and the influx of ions, nutrients, and molecules essential for the central nervous system metabolism such as glucose, amino acids, nucleosides, and neurotransmitters [48, 55].

The brain endothelium also expresses many different adenosine triphosphate-driven efflux pumps that are localized on the luminal side of the endothelium. The main blood-brain barrier efflux transporters are P-glycoprotein, multidrug resistanceassociated proteins, breast cancer-related protein, members of the organic anion transporting polypeptide family, and members of the organic anion transporter family. These transporters have the potential to work together to reduce penetration of many drugs into the brain and to increase extrusion from the brain. Weak substrates of the blood-brain barrier efflux transporters generally pass the blood-brain barrier to a certain extent and exert central nervous system effects, showing that they are lipophilic enough to diffuse through the blood-brain barrier. However, their effectiveness may be affected by expression rates and the functional state of the relevant efflux transporter. In contrast, strong substrates of the blood-brain barrier efflux transporters do not pass the blood-brain barrier to a relevant extent, and their pharmacodynamic effects are restricted to the periphery [56-58].

**3.3 Transcytosis** Transcytosis is the vesicular mechanism by which large molecules such as proteins and peptides can move across the brain endothe-lium. This mechanism can be specific (receptor-mediated transcytosis) or nonspecific (adsorptive-mediated transcytosis system) [47, 59]. In both cases, to achieve transcytosis of an intact protein or peptide, the lysosomal compartment within the cell needs to be avoided by routing the primary sorting endosome and its contents away from the degradative compartment. Routing away from the lysosome appears not to occur in many peripheral endothelia but it seems to be a specialized feature of the blood–brain barrier [60].

Large proteins such as insulin, transferrin, leptin, lipoproteins, and immunoglobulin G use the receptor-mediated transcytosis to cross the blood-brain barrier. This mechanism involves the binding of macromolecular ligands to specific receptors on the cell surface triggering an endocytic event. The first step of this event occurs when the receptor and its bound ligand cluster together and a caveolus is formed which pinches off into a vesicle. Then, both ligand and receptor are internalized into the endothelial cell and routed across the cytoplasm to be exocytosed at the opposite pole of the cell. Finally, the dissociation of the ligand and the receptor presumably occurs during cellular transit or during the exocytotic event [47]. The receptor-mediated transcytosis has been used for drug delivery into the brain via a strategy known as Trojan horses. For example, different growth factors or anti-sense agents that normally do not cross the blood–brain barrier, or immunoliposomes carrying naked DNA, can be conjugated to monoclonal antibodies against one of the blood–brain barrier receptors (e.g., insulin and transferrin). Therefore, the monoclonal antibodies act as surrogate ligands and can be used to carry conjugated neuro-therapeutics across the blood–brain barrier [61].

The adsorptive-mediated transcytosis system is a mechanism that requires an excess positive charge on the molecule, which renders it cationic. The posterior interaction with the cell surface binding sites will induce endocytosis and subsequent transcytosis [62]. Molecules as histone and albumin use this mechanism to access the blood-brain barrier [55].

#### 4 Blood–Brain Barrier, Seizures, and Epilepsy

A wide range of neurological conditions such as Alzheimer disease, Parkinson disease, multiple sclerosis, trauma, brain tumors, stroke, and epilepsy are associated with perturbations in the normal blood– brain barrier that contribute to their pathology.

In order to study whether blood-brain barrier disruption can cause epilepsy, several studies have focused on the changes of the blood-brain barrier permeability during epileptogenesis. Their results show that a remarkable blood-brain barrier leakage is detected during the acute and latent phases (shortly after *status epilepticus*), when spontaneous seizures are still absent. This indicates that the blood-brain barrier disruption does not induce seizures immediately but is more likely to play a role in epileptogenesis [63–67]. Similarly, while extensive blood-brain barrier leakage is observed directly after traumatic brain injury in humans, seizure activity develops only at later time points [68–70].

On the other hand, a few attempts have been made to investigate the role of a single seizure on blood–brain barrier permeability. van Vliet et al. [64] were able to show that blood–brain barrier leakage occurs also during the chronic epileptic phase in rats as a result of a spontaneous seizure. These data suggest that a spontaneous seizure is associated with focal blood–brain barrier leakage, which probably may help to sustain the epileptic condition. In conclusion, although it seems that acute seizures can induce blood– brain barrier damage, it is not easy to determine whether disruption of the blood–brain barrier during the chronic epileptic phase is just a consequence of seizure activity or that it can also contribute to the occurrence of seizures.

One of the most obvious changes after blood-brain barrier disruption is the presence of serum proteins in the brain tissue. Previous studies showed that albumin is present in the parenchyma but can also be taken up or bound to neurons, astrocytes, and microglial cells, particularly shortly after traumatic brain injury and status epilepticus [63, 64, 66, 67, 71–77]. Ivens et al. [72] described that albumin can be taken up by astrocytes via transforming growth factor β receptors. This is followed by a downregulation of inwardrectifying potassium (Kir 4.1) channels and water (aquaporin 4) channels in these astrocytes. As a result, the buffering of extracellular potassium is reduced, which facilitates N-methyl-d-aspartatemediated neuronal hyperexcitability and eventually epileptiform activity. However, Frigerio et al. [76] have suggested that albumin is not neurotoxic by itself and that the features of cellular damage in albumin-positive neurons in epileptic tissue are determined by the underlying neuropathology. For example, considering that the albumin uptake in neurons can increase the synthesis and release of glutamate [78], this will in consequence enhance neuronal excitability. Therefore, the role of albumin accumulation in neurons and its contribution to epileptogenesis needs further study.

Moreover, albumin can also induce brain inflammation via the upregulation of cytokines and the activation of the transforming growth factor  $\beta$  receptor pathway [79, 80]. This brain inflammation can directly affect synaptic signaling and plasticity, reduce inhibitory transmission, affect blood–brain barrier permeability, and thereby increase the seizure susceptibility and promote epileptogenesis [81–84].

#### 5 Design of New Antiepileptic Drugs

Epilepsy is one of the most prevalent neurological disorders affecting 65 million people worldwide [85]. Preclinical research has enabled the discovery of valuable drugs for the symptomatic suppression of seizures in epileptic patients. However, although more than 20 available antiepileptic drugs include compounds with a broad range of mechanisms of action, this symptomatic treatment is not successful in a third of all people with epilepsy, especially those with temporal lobe epilepsy [86].

The fact that the efforts in antiepileptic drug development have not solved the issue of pharmacoresistance has encouraged experimental and clinical research to focus on drug refractory mechanisms. In this sense, the multidrug transporter hypothesis has emerged as a mechanistic explanation of drug resistance. Based on data obtained from expression analyses in tissue dissected during epilepsy surgery as well as from rodent seizure and epilepsy models, this hypothesis suggests an increased expression of transporters in the luminal membrane of brain capillary endothelial cells which results in enhanced efflux transport into the capillary lumen, thereby limiting brain access of antiepileptic drugs [57]. Considering the broad substrate spectrum of the involved transporter molecules, it is not surprising that blood-brain barrier efflux constitutes a major hurdle in central nervous system drug development [87]. Therefore, brain penetration of high-affinity substrates can be efficaciously limited, preventing any therapeutic effect in the central nervous system [88].

Studies in rodents have indicated that coadministration of P-glycoprotein modulators can enhance brain penetration of antiepileptic drugs. Local administration of verapamil increased brain penetration of different antiepileptic drugs in microdialysis experiments [89, 90]. In an epilepsy model, administration of tariquidar (a third-generation modulator) promoted brain penetration of phenytoin in those brain regions with overexpressed P-glycoprotein [91]. In addition, some case reports have been published describing add-on treatment with verapamil in patients [92, 93]. However, any future planning needs to consider the fact that P-glycoprotein serves an important physiological function protecting sensitive tissues and hematopoietic cells from harmful xenobiotics and regulating the distribution of endogenous compounds. Considering the physiological relevance of blood-brain barrier efflux transporters, preventing transporter upregulation might offer considerable advantages over modulating transporter function once an induction has occurred. Therefore, knowledge about the main signaling factors contributing to seizure-associated induction of efflux transporters is essential to identify key signaling factors in the cascade regulating their expression [58, 94, 95].

An alternate approach, which avoids compromising the protective function of efflux transporters, is to bypass transporter molecules. Different strategies are followed in this regard including nanoparticle encapsulation of transporter substrates [96]. Nanosized carrier systems including polymers, emulsions, micelles, liposomes, and nanoparticles may deliver their content into the brain by passive targeting [97]. However, the penetration and distribution rate into the brain is often limited since these carrier systems have to face very diverse physicochemical features and physiological conditions. In general, it is possible to achieve much higher concentrations of drug in the brain by local administration procedures [98]. Although implantable controlled release systems are already clinically used for treatment of brain tumors, these systems also face the fact that local penetration of the drug is limited due to the restriction of diffusion by the brain parenchyma [99]. Alternative approaches for direct delivery include gene therapy involving viral, lipid, polymer-based, and cell-based delivery strategies. For details, interested readers are referred to reviews that focus on these techniques [97, 98].

In order to identify new mechanisms involved in epileptogenesis and develop novel treatments, it is fundamental to know its pathways. In this sense, the blood-brain barrier leakage may be a candidate biomarker [100]. Several promising new therapeutic strategies that aim to restore blood-brain barrier function have been investigated in experimental epilepsy models. These include inhibition of transforming growth factor  $\beta$  receptors [72, 79, 101], leukocyte–vascular interactions [102], interleukin-1 receptors [83, 103], and the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway [104–106]. Recently, the mTOR inhibitor everolimus improved the seizure control in the majority of tuberous sclerosis complex patients with drug-resistant epilepsy [107]. Similarly, in epileptic rats, a mTOR inhibitor reduced epileptogenesis and decreased blood–brain barrier leakage during the chronic epileptic phase [106].

#### 6 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

The neurovascular unit components and their multifactorial interactions are extremely sophisticated and complex. The knowledge of each of the components and their respective pathways are crucial to understand various neurological disorders such as epilepsy. The blood–brain barrier is now considered as a potential therapeutic target. A better understanding of all these players can lead to novel treatment strategies and thereby prevent the development of pharmacoresistance.

#### References

- Gordon GR, Mulligan SJ, MacVicar BA (2007) Astrocyte control of the cerebrovasculature. Glia 55:1214–1221. doi:10.1002/ glia.20543
- Lecrux C, Hamel E (2011) The neurovascular unit in brain function and disease. Acta Physiol 203:47–59. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2011.02256.x
- 3. Muoio V, Persson PB, Sendeski MM (2014) The neurovascular unit - concept review. Acta Physiol 210:790–798. doi:10.1111/ apha.12250
- Kim KJ, Filosa JA (2012) Advanced in vitro approach to study neurovascular coupling mechanisms in the brain microcirculation. J Physiol 590:1757–1770. doi:10.1113/ jphysiol.2011.222778
- Harder DR, Zhang C, Gebremedhin D (2002) Astrocytes function in matching blood flow to metabolic activity. News Physiol Sci 17:27–31
- Ribatti D, Nico B, Crivellato E, Artico M (2006) Development of the blood-brain barrier: a historical point of view. Anat Rec B New Anat 289:3–8. doi:10.1002/ar.b.20087
- Liddelow SA (2011) Fluids and barriers of the CNS: a historical viewpoint. Fluids Barriers CNS 8:2. doi:10.1186/2045-8118-8-2

- Schoknecht K, David Y, Heinemann U (2015) The blood–brain barrier—gatekeeper to neuronal homeostasis: clinical implications in the setting of stroke. Semin Cell Dev Biol 38:35– 42. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2014.10.004
- Simard M, Arcuino G, Takano T, Liu QS, Nedergaard M (2003) Signaling at the gliovascular interface. J Neurosci 23:9254–9262
- Abbott NJ, Friedman A (2012) Overview and introduction: the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. Epilepsia 53(Suppl 6):1–6. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03696.x
- Kowiański P, Lietzau G, Steliga A, Waśkow M, Moryś J (2013) The astrocytic contribution to neurovascular coupling--still more questions than answers? Neurosci Res 75:171–183. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2013.01.014
- Ruhrberg C, Bautch VL (2013) Neurovascular development and links to disease. Cell Mol Life Sci 70:1675–1684. doi:10.1007/ s00018-013-1277-5
- Emanueli C, Schratzberger P, Kirchmair R, Madeddu P (2003) Paracrine control of vascularization and neurogenesis by neurotrophins. Br J Pharmacol 140:614–619. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0705458
- 14. Duchemin S, Boily M, Sadekova N, Girouard H (2012) The complex contribution of NOS

interneurons in the physiology of cerebrovascular regulation. Front Neural Circuits 6:1– 19. doi:10.3389/fncir.2012.00051

- Engelhardt B, Sorokin L (2009) The bloodbrain and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barriers: function and dysfunction. Semin Immunopathol 31:497–511. doi:10.1007/ s00281-009-0177-0
- Abbott NJ (2002) Astrocyte-endothelial interactions and blood-brain barrier permeability. J Anat 200:629–638. doi:10.1046/ j.1469-7580.2002.00064.x
- 17. Sá-Pereira I, Brites D, Brito MA (2012) Neurovascular unit: a focus on pericytes. Mol Neurobiol 45:327–347. doi:10.1007/ s12035-012-8244-2
- Armulik A, Genové G, Mäe M, Nisancioglu MH, Wallgard E, Niaudet C, He L, Norlin J, Lindblom P, Strittmatter K, Johansson BR, Betsholtz C (2010) Pericytes regulate the blood-brain barrier. Nature 468:557–561. doi:10.1038/nature09522
- Attwell D, Buchan AM, Charpak S, Lauritzen M, Macvicar BA, Newman EA (2010) Glial and neuronal control of brain blood flow. Nature 468:232–243. doi:10.1038/ nature09613
- Shepro D, Morel NM (1993) Pericyte physiology. FASEB J 7:1031–1038
- 21. Allt G, Lawrenson JG (2001) Pericytes: cell biology and pathology. Cells Tissues Organs 169:1–11
- 22. Bonkowski D, Katyshev V, Balabanov RD, Borisov A, Dore-Duffy P (2011) The CNS microvascular pericyte: pericyte-astrocyte crosstalk in the regulation of tissue survival. Fluids Barriers CNS 8:8. doi:10.1186/ 2045-8118-8-8
- 23. Winkler EA, Bell RD, Zlokovic BV (2011) Central nervous system pericytes in health and disease. Nat Neurosci 14:1398–1405. doi:10.1038/nn.2946
- Bandopadhyay R, Orte C, Lawrenson JG, Reid AR, De Silva S, Allt G (2001) Contractile proteins in pericytes at the blood-brain and bloodretinal barriers. J Neurocytol 30:35–44
- Persidsky Y, Ramirez SH, Haorah J, Kanmogne GD (2006) Blood-brain barrier: structural components and function under physiologic and pathologic conditions. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 1:223–236. doi:10.1007/s11481-006-9025-3
- 26. Wolburg H, Noell S, Mack A, Wolburg-Buchholz K, Fallier-Becker P (2009) Brain endothelial cells and the glio-vascular complex. Cell Tissue Res 335:75–96. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0658-9

- Abbott NJ, Rönnbäck L, Hansson E (2006) Astrocyte-endothelial interactions at the blood-brain barrier. Nat Rev Neurosci 7:41– 53. doi:10.1038/nrn1824
- Zlokovic BV (2008) The blood-brain barrier in health and chronic neurodegenerative disorders. Neuron 57:178–201. doi:10.1016/j. neuron.2008.01.003
- Freeman MR (2010) Specification and morphogenesis of astrocytes. Science 330:774– 778. doi:10.1126/science.1190928
- Salmina AB (2009) Neuron-glia interactions as therapeutic targets in neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis 16:485–502. doi:10.3233/ JAD-2009-0988
- Bechmann I, Priller J, Kovac A, Böntert M, Wehner T, Klett FF, Bohsung J, Stuschke M, Dirnagl U, Nitsch R (2001) Immune surveillance of mouse brain perivascular spaces by blood-borne macrophages. Eur J Neurosci 14:1651–1658
- Prinz M, Priller J, Sisodia SS, Ransohoff RM (2011) Heterogeneity of CNS myeloid cells and their roles in neurodegeneration. Nat Neurosci 14:1227–1235. doi:10.1038/nn.2923
- 33. Ransohoff RM, Engelhardt B (2012) The anatomical and cellular basis of immune surveillance in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol 12:623–635. doi:10.1038/ nri3265
- 34. Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW (2013) Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. Nature 496:445–455. doi:10.1038/nature12034
- Koehler RC, Gebremedhin D, Harder DR (2006) Role of astrocytes in cerebrovascular regulation. J Appl Physiol 100:307–317. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00938.2005
- 36. Figley CR, Stroman PW (2011) The role(s) of astrocytes and astrocyte activity in neurometabolism, neurovascular coupling, and the production of functional neuroimaging signals. Eur J Neurosci 33:577–588. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2010.07584.x
- 37. Pelligrino DA, Vetri F, Xu HL (2011) Purinergic mechanisms in gliovascular coupling. Semin Cell Dev Biol 22:229–236. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.02.010
- Choi YK, Kim KW (2008) Blood-neural barrier: its diversity and coordinated cell-to-cell communication. BMB Rep 41:345–352
- Balabanov R, Dore-Duffy P (1998) Role of the CNS microvascular pericyte in the bloodbrain barrier. J Neurosci Res 53:637–644
- 40. Carvey PM, Hendey B, Monahan AJ (2009) The blood brain barrier in neurodegenerative disease: a rhetorical perspective.

J Neurochem 111:291–314. doi:10.1111/ j.1471-4159.2009.06319.x

- 41. Yurchenco PD, Patton BL (2009) Developmental and pathogenic mechanisms of basement membrane assembly. Curr Pharm Des 15:1277–1294
- LeBleu VS, Macdonald B, Kalluri R (2007) Structure and function of basement membranes. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 232:1121– 1129. doi:10.3181/0703-MR-72
- 43. Zovein AC, Luque A, Turlo KA, Hofmann JJ, Yee KM, Becker MS, Fassler R, Mellman I, Lane TF, Iruela-Arispe ML (2010) Beta 1 integrin establishes endothelial cell polarity and arteriolar lumen formation via a Par3dependent mechanism. Dev Cell 18:39–51. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2009.12.006
- 44. Greenstein B, Greenstein A (2000) Color atlas of neuroscience: neuroanatomy and neurophysiology. Thieme, New York, NY
- 45. Dejana E, Tournier-Lasserve E, Weinstein BM (2009) The control of vascular integrity by endothelial cell junctions: molecular basis and pathological implications. Dev Cell 16:209– 221. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2009.01.004
- 46. Ballabh P, Braun A, Nedergaard M (2004) The blood-brain barrier: an overview: structure, regulation, and clinical implications. Neurobiol Dis 16:1–13
- 47. Abbott NJ, Patabendige AA, Dolman DE, Yusof SR, Begley DJ (2010) Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. Neurobiol Dis 37:13–25. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030
- Abbott NJ (2013) Blood-brain barrier structure and function and the challenges for CNS drug delivery. J Inherit Metab Dis 36:437– 449. doi:10.1007/s10545-013-9608-0
- Bazzoni G, Dejana E (2004) Endothelial cellto-cell junctions: molecular organization and role in vascular homeostasis. Physiol Rev 84:869–901. doi:10.1152/physrev.00035. 2003
- 50. Taddei A, Giampietro C, Conti A, Orsenigo F, Breviario F, Pirazzoli V, Potente M, Daly C, Dimmeler S, Dejana E (2008) Endothelial adherens junctions control tight junctions by VE-cadherin-mediated upregulation of claudin-5. Nat Cell Biol 10:923–934. doi:10.1038/ ncb1752
- Hawkins BT, Davis TP (2005) The bloodbrain barrier/neurovascular unit in health and disease. Pharmacol Rev 57:173–185
- 52. Li F, Lan Y, Wang Y, Wang J, Yang G, Meng F, Han H, Meng A, Wang Y, Yang X (2011) Endothelial Smad4 maintains cerebrovascular integrity by activating N-cadherin through cooperation with Notch. Dev Cell 20:291–302. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2011.01.011

- Deane R, Zlokovic BV (2007) Role of the blood-brain barrier in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 4:191–197
- Vorbrodt AW (1988) Ultrastructural cytochemistry of blood-brain barrier endothelia. Prog Histochem Cytochem 18:1–99
- 55. Wong AD, Ye M, Levy AF, Rothstein JD, Bergles DE, Searson PC (2013) The bloodbrain barrier: an engineering perspective. Front Neuroeng 6:1–22. doi:10.3389/ fneng.2013.00007
- Miller DS (2010) Regulation of P-glycoprotein and other ABC drug transporters at the bloodbrain barrier. Trends Pharmacol Sci 31:246– 254. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2010.03.003
- 57. Löscher W, Potschka H (2005) Drug resistance in brain diseases and the role of drug efflux transporters. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:591– 602. doi:10.1038/nrn1728
- Potschka H (2010) Targeting regulation of ABC efflux transporters in brain diseases: a novel therapeutic approach. Pharmacol Ther 125:118– 127. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.10.004
- 59. Hervé F, Ghinea N, Scherrmann JM (2008) CNS delivery via adsorptive transcytosis. AAPS J 10:455–472. doi:10.1208/ s12248-008-9055-2
- 60. Nag S, Begley DJ (2005) Blood brain barrier, exchange of metabolites and gases. In: Kalimo H (ed) Pathology and genetics: cerebrovascular diseases. ISN Neuropath Press, Basel, pp 22–29
- 61. Pardridge WM (2007) Blood-brain barrier delivery. Drug Discov Today 12:54–61. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2006.10.013
- 62. Sauer I, Dunay IR, Weisgraber K, Bienert M, Dathe M (2005) An apolipoprotein E-derived peptide mediates uptake of sterically stabilized liposomes into brain capillary endothelial cells. Biochemistry 44:2021–2029. doi:10.1021/bi048080x
- 63. Rigau V, Morin M, Rousset MC, de Bock F, Lebrun A, Coubes P, Picot MC, Baldy-Moulinier M, Bockaert J, Crespel A, Lerner-Natoli M (2007) Angiogenesis is associated with blood-brain barrier permeability in temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 130:1942–1956. doi:10.1093/brain/awm118
- 64. van Vliet EA, da Costa Araújo S, Redeker S, van Schaik R, Aronica E, Gorter JA (2007) Blood-brain barrier leakage may lead to progression of temporal lobe epilepsy. Brain 130:521–534. doi:10.1093/brain/ awl318
- van Vliet EA, Aronica E, Gorter JA (2014) Role of blood-brain barrier in temporal lobe epilepsy and pharmacoresistance. Neuroscience 277:455– 473. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.07.030

- 66. Ravizza T, Gagliardi B, Noé F, Boer K, Aronica E, Vezzani A (2008) Innate and adaptive immunity during epileptogenesis and spontaneous seizures: evidence from experimental models and human temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 29:142–160. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2007.08.012
- 67. Ndode-Ekane XE, Hayward N, Gröhn O, Pitkänen A (2010) Vascular changes in epilepsy: functional consequences and association with network plasticity in pilocarpine-induced experimental epilepsy. Neuroscience 166:312–332. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2009.12.002
- 68. Korn A, Golan H, Melamed I, Pascual-Marqui R, Friedman A (2005) Focal cortical dysfunction and blood-brain barrier disruption in patients with Postconcussion syndrome. J Clin Neurophysiol 22:1–9
- 69. Tomkins O, Shelef I, Kaizerman I, Eliushin A, Afawi Z, Misk A, Gidon M, Cohen A, Zumsteg D, Friedman A (2008) Blood-brain barrier disruption in post-traumatic epilepsy. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 79:774–777. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2007.126425
- Tomkins O, Feintuch A, Benifla M, Cohen A, Friedman A, Shelef I (2011) Blood-brain barrier breakdown following traumatic brain injury: a possible role in posttraumatic epilepsy. Cardiovasc Psychiatry Neurol 2011:765923. doi:10.1155/2011/765923
- 71. Seiffert E, Dreier JP, Ivens S, Bechmann I, Tomkins O, Heinemann U, Friedman A (2004) Lasting blood-brain barrier disruption induces epileptic focus in the rat somatosensory cortex. J Neurosci 24:7829–7836
- 72. Ivens S, Kaufer D, Flores LP, Bechmann I, Zumsteg D, Tomkins O, Seiffert E, Heinemann U, Friedman A (2007) TGF-beta receptor-mediated albumin uptake into astrocytes is involved in neocortical epileptogenesis. Brain 130:535–547. doi:10.1093/brain/ awl317
- 73. Marchi N, Johnson AJ, Puvenna V, Johnson HL, Tierney W, Ghosh C, Cucullo L, Fabene PF, Janigro D (2011) Modulation of peripheral cytotoxic cells and ictogenesis in a model of seizures. Epilepsia 52:1627–1634. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03080.x
- 74. Zattoni M, Mura ML, Deprez F, Schwendener RA, Engelhardt B, Frei K, Fritschy JM (2011) Brain infiltration of leukocytes contributes to the pathophysiology of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 31:4037–4050. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6210-10.2011
- 75. Braganza O, Bedner P, Hüttmann K, Von Staden E, Friedman A, Seifert G, Steinhäuser C (2012) Albumin is taken up by hippocampal

NG2 cells and astrocytes and decreases gap junction coupling. Epilepsia 53:1898–1906. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03665.x

- 76. Frigerio F, Frasca A, Weissberg I, Parrella S, Friedman A, Vezzani A, Noé FM (2012) Long-lasting pro-ictogenic effects induced in vivo by rat brain exposure to serum albumin in the absence of concomitant pathology. Epilepsia53:1887–1897.doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03666.x
- 77. Michalak Z, Sano T, Engel T, Miller-Delaney SF, Lerner-Natoli M, Henshall DC (2013) Spatio-temporally restricted blood-brain barrier disruption after intra-amygdala kainic acid-induced status epilepticus in mice. Epilepsy Res 103:167–179. doi:10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2012.10.006
- 78. Tabernero A, Granda B, Medina A, Sánchez-Abarca LI, Lavado E, Medina JM (2002) Albumin promotes neuronal survival by increasing the synthesis and release of glutamate. J Neurochem 81:881–891
- 79. Cacheaux LP, Ivens S, David Y, Lakhter AJ, Bar-Klein G, Shapira M, Heinemann U, Friedman A, Kaufer D (2009) Transcriptome profiling reveals TGF-beta signaling involvement in epileptogenesis. J Neurosci 29:8927–8935. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0430-09.2009
- Relay Ranaivo H, Wainwright MS (2010) Albumin activates astrocytes and microglia through mitogen- activated protein kinase pathways. Brain Res 1313:222–231. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.11.063
- 81. Yu B, Shinnick-Gallagher P (1994) Interleukin-1 beta inhibits synaptic transmission and induces membrane hyperpolarization in amygdala neurons. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 271:590–600
- Weissberg I, Reichert A, Heinemann U, Friedman A (2011) Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in epileptogenesis of the temporal lobe. Epilepsy Res Treat 2011:1–10. doi:10.1155/2011/143908
- Librizzi L, Noè F, Vezzani A, De Curtis M, Ravizza T (2012) Seizure-induced brainborne inflammation sustains seizure recurrence and blood-brain barrier damage. Ann Neurol 72:82–90. doi:10.1002/ana.23567
- 84. Vezzani A, Aronica E, Mazarati A, Pittman QJ (2013) Epilepsy and brain inflammation. Exp Neurol 244:11–21. doi:10.1016/j. expneurol.2011.09.033
- 85. Thurman DJ, Beghi E, Begley CE, Berg AT, Buchhalter JR, Ding D, Hesdorffer DC, Hauser WA, Kazis L, Kobau R, Kroner B, Labiner D, Liow K, Logroscino G, Medina MT, Newton CR, Parko K, Paschal A, Preux PM, Sander JW, Selassie A, Theodore W, Tomson T, Wiebe S

(2011) Standards for epidemiologic studies and surveillance of epilepsy. Epilepsia 52:2–26. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03121.x

- Mohanraj R, Brodie MJ (2005) Outcomes in newly diagnosed localization-related epilepsies. Seizure 14:318–323. doi:10.1016/j. seizure.2005.04.002
- Fromm MF (2004) Importance of P-glycoprotein at blood-tissue barriers. Trends Pharmacol Sci 25:423–429. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2004.06.002
- Löscher W, Potschka H (2005) Role of drug efflux transporters in the brain for drug disposition and treatment of brain diseases. Prog Neurobiol 76:22–76. doi:10.1016/j. pneurobio.2005.04.006
- Potschka H, Löscher W (2001) In vivo evidence for P-glycoprotein mediated transport of phenytoin at the blood brain barrier of rats. Epilepsia 42:1231–1240
- Potschka H, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W (2002) P-Glycoprotein-mediated efflux of phenobarbital, lamotrigine, and felbamate at the bloodbrain barrier: evidence from microdialysis experiments in rats. Neurosci Lett 327:173–176
- 91. van Vliet E, van Schaik R, Edelbroek PM, Voskuyl RA, Redeker S, Aronica E, Wadman WJ, Gorter JA (2007) Region-specific overexpression of P-glycoprotein at the blood-brain barrier affects brain uptake of phenytoin in epileptic rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 322:141– 147. doi:10.1124/jpet.107.121178
- 92. Iannetti P, Spalice A, Parisi P (2005) Calciumchannel blocker verapamil administration in prolonged and refractory status epilepticus. Epilepsia 46:967–969. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2005.59204.x
- 93. Iannetti P, Parisi P, Spalice A, Ruggieri M, Zara F (2009) Addition of verapamil in the treatment of severe myoclonic epilepsy in infancy. Epilepsy Res 85:89–95. doi:10.1016/ j.eplepsyres.2009.02.014
- 94. Luna-Munguia H, Salvamoser JD, Pascher B, Pieper T, Getzinger T, Kudernatsch M, Kluger G, Potschka H (2015) Glutamatemediated upregulation of the multidrug resistance protein 2 in porcine and human brain capillaries. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 352:368– 378. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.218180
- 95. Salvamoser JD, Avemary J, Luna-Munguia H, Pascher B, Getzinger T, Pieper T, Kudernatsch M, Kluger G, Potschka H (2015) Glutamate-mediated down-regulation of the multidrug-resistance protein BCRP/ ABCG2 in porcine and human brain capillaries. Mol Pharm 12:2049–2060. doi:10.1021/ mp500841w

- Kreuter J (2001) Nanoparticulate systems for brain delivery of drugs. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 47:65–81
- 97. de Boer AG, Gaillard PJ (2007) Drug targeting to the brain. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:323–355
- Huynh GH, Deen DF, Szoka FC (2006) Barriers to carrier mediated drug and gene delivery to brain tumors. J Control Release 110:236–259. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2005. 09.053
- 99. Sawyer AJ, Piepmeier JM, Saltzman WM (2006) New methods for direct delivery of chemotherapy for treating brain tumors. Yale J Biol Med 79:141–152
- 100. Engel J, Pitkanen A, Loeb JA, Dudek FE, Bertram EH, Cole AJ, Moshé SL, Wiebe S, Jensen FE, Mody I, Nehlig A, Vezzani A (2013) Epilepsy biomarkers. Epilepsia 54:61– 69. doi:10.1111/epi.12299
- 101. Bar-Klein G, Cacheaux LP, Kamintsky L, Prager O, Weissberg I, Schoknecht K, Cheng P, Kim SY, Wood L, Heinemann U, Kaufer D, Friedman A (2014) Losartan prevents acquired epilepsy via TGF-beta signaling suppression. Ann Neurol 75:864–875. doi:10.1002/ana.24147
- 102. Fabene PF, Navarro Mora G, Martinello M, Rossi B, Merigo F, Ottoboni L, Bach S, Angiari S, Benati D, Chakir A, Zanetti L, Schio F, Osculati A, Marzola P, Nicolato E, Homeister JW, Xia L, Lowe JB, McEver RP, Osculati F, Sbarbati A, Butcher EC, Constantin G (2008) A role for leukocyteendothelial adhesion mechanisms in epilepsy. Nat Med 14:1377–1383. doi:10.1038/ nm.1878
- 103. Marchi N, Fan Q, Ghosh C, Fazio V, Bertolini F, Betto G, Batra A, Carlton E, Najm I, Granata T, Janigro D (2009) Antagonism of peripheral inflammation reduces the severity of status epilepticus. Neurobiol Dis 33:171–181. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.10.002
- 104. Zeng LH, Rensing NR, Wong M (2009) The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathway mediates epileptogenesis in a model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 29:6964–6972. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 0066-09.2009
- 105. Wong M (2010) Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) inhibition as a potential antiepileptogenic therapy: from tuberous sclerosis to common acquired epilepsies. Epilepsia 51:27– 36. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02341.x
- 106. van Vliet EA, Forte G, Holtman L, den Burger JC, Sinjewel A, de Vries HE, Aronica E, Gorter JA (2012) Inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin reduces epileptogenesis

and blood-brain barrier leakage but not microglia activation. Epilepsia 53:1254–1263. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03513.x

107. Krueger DA, Wilfong AA, Holland-Bouley K, Anderson AE, Agricola K, Tudor C, Mays M, Lopez CM, Kim MO, Franz DN (2013) Everolimus treatment of refractory epilepsy in tuberous sclerosis complex. Ann Neurol 74:679–687. doi:10.1002/ana.23960

# **Chapter 13**

# Virtual Screening Applications in the Search of Novel Antiepileptic Drug Candidates

## Alan Talevi and Luis E. Bruno-Blanch

#### Abstract

Virtual screening (VS) encompasses a wide spectrum of computational approaches oriented to prioritize which compounds from chemical libraries or repositories will be subjected to experimental in vitro and in vivo testing. VS can be broadly classified into structure- and ligand-based approaches. Which VS methodology is preferable is highly dependent on the targeted system and the availability of experimental data and also on background considerations such as existing technical and economic resources. To the moment, VS has been underexplored for the discovery of new antiepileptic agents. In this chapter we discuss details on the general ligand-based procedures to undertake VS campaigns, with emphasis on some particular considerations for the case of antiepileptic drug development.

Key words Epilepsy, In silico screening, Ligand-based approximations, Virtual screening

#### 1 Introduction

The universe of accessible chemical compounds has been growing exponentially during the last 50 years: in 2015, the Chemical Abstract Service, which roughly reflects the chemical entities known by mankind, achieved its 100 millionth entry. Judging from the number of entries in PubChem, around half of those substances are small drug-like molecules. This vast and expanding population of available chemicals makes it probable to find novel therapeutic agents with virtually any desired pharmacological profile. Nevertheless, the systematic, massive screening of such molecular diversity remains challenging. Even automated and miniaturized approaches like high-throughput screening are technologically demanding and prohibitive for small academic centers or pharmaceutical companies.

The term virtual screening (VS) or in silico screening refers to the application of a diversity of computational approaches to rank digital chemical repositories or libraries in order to establish which drug candidates are more likely to obtain favorable results when

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_13, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

experimentally tested through in vitro and/or in vivo models. Since they are meant to reduce the volume of experimental testing and optimize the results, VS techniques possess several advantages in terms of cost-efficiency, bioethics, and environmental impact. We may also mention that, since many computational applications and chemical databases are publicly available online and several of them run smoothly in any current personal computer, the technology gap between developed and emerging countries is considerably low for VS technologies compared with other screening approaches.

VS approaches can be essentially classified within two categories: structure-based (or direct) and ligand-based (or indirect) approximations. A persistent and major obstacle for the implementation of structure-based VS approaches comes from the fact that most validated targets for antiepileptic drugs are ligand- or voltageoperated ion channels whose structure has not been solved experimentally yet. In order to predict protein folding for unsolved structures, a drug designer can turn to homology modeling, which uses a known protein similar to the protein of interest (e.g., a homolog from other species or another member of the same protein family from the same species) as a template to predict the secondary and tertiary structure of the target protein [1]. These models can be in turn be used for design or VS campaigns. For instance, some attempts of homology models of epilepsy-relevant targets such as GABA transporters, GABA transaminase, and SV2A have recently been reported [2-4]. A remarkable exception is carbonic anhydrase, a putative AED target whose human isoforms have already been solved and are being actively used in the field of drug discovery [5–7].

Alternatively, ligand-based approaches can be applied whenever a model of the target structure is not available or to complement structure-based approximations. Concisely, ligand-based approaches can be classified into similarity searches, machine learning approaches, and superposition approximations [1, 8]. These techniques differ in a number of factors, from their requisites to their enrichment metrics or scaffold hopping. Similarity search uses molecular fingerprints derived from 2D or 3D molecular representations, comparing database compounds with one or more reference molecules in a pairwise manner. Notably, only one reference molecule (e.g., the physiologic ligand of a target protein) is required to implement similarity-based VS campaigns. Usually, similarity searches are the only alternative to explore the chemical universe for active compounds in the absence of experimental knowledge of the target protein or related proteins and when the number of known ligands is scarce. Machine learning approaches operate by building models from example inputs to make datadriven predictions on the database compounds. Machine learning approximations require several learning or calibration examples.

Finally, superimposition techniques are conformation-dependent methods that analyze how well a compound superposes onto a reference compound or fit a geometrical, fuzzy model (pharmacophore) in which functional groups are stripped off their exact chemical nature to become generic chemical properties (e.g., hydrophobic point, H-bond donor, etc.); such process is facilitated if the modeler counts on an active rigid analog with limited conformational freedom. As a general rule, the more complex approximations take the lead in terms of scaffold hopping, whereas simpler approaches are computationally less demanding while achieving good active enrichment metrics [9]; the efficacy of a given technique is, however, highly dependent on the chosen molecular target, and frequently different techniques are complementary in nature [10].

Since, as it has been mentioned, most of the human proteins validated as molecular targets for antiepileptic drugs have not been solved experimentally, this chapter will focus on ligand-based VS protocols. Similarity search protocols are basically simple: their sole complexity lies in a number of decisions that the user has to make regarding what similarity metric will be used, what fingerprint system, and the size of the molecular features (molecular substructures) considered. Thus, we will aim our attention at more complex ligand-based approaches that rely on inferring a model from a set of instances or examples, in particular, machine learning approaches.

#### 2 Building a Model

# 2.1 Dataset

Compilation

Naturally, the first step when one tries to infer a model (a generalization on some structure-property relationship with a variable degree of abstraction) from a number of examples is to compile such training or calibration instances. We will refer this as dataset compilation. It is often heard that models are as good as the biological and chemical data from which they are derived [11, 12]. Therefore, the dataset compilation is one of the most important steps when developing a model for VS purposes. When intending to build a model for VS applications, some specific considerations must be taken into account: (a) compile a dataset as diverse as possible; (b) ideally, the dependent variable (the modeled property, i.e., the biological activity) should span at least two or three orders of magnitude [13–16], from the least to the most active compound in the series; (c) the available biological data on the training set compounds should, preferably, be uniformly distributed across the range of activity or at least follow some defined statistical distribution, usually normal distribution - the same principle applies to the model's independent variables [13]; and (d) the biological activities of all the training instances should be of comparable quality - ideally, they should have been determined in the same laboratory using the same conditions [14, 15], so that variability in the measured biological activity only reflects treatment variability (this is rarely the case, though).

Let us discuss point by point. Regarding the chemical diversity of the training set, while for computer-aided drug design the use of homologous series of chemicals might be advantageous, in the case of VS, we are expecting to apply the model for the screening of vast collections of chemicals (typically, thousands to millions). As we will comment later, the predictions of the models will only be reliable within the chemical space covered by the training set: thus, if we want to cover a wide chemical space, the training set should ensure the most possible chemical diversity. On the other hand, guaranteeing a wide coverage of the activity space allows the model to capture not only essential molecular features needed to elicit the desired activity, but features that diminish activity as well. Data distribution should be studied in order to avoid poorly populated regions within the studied chemical space as well as highly populated narrow intervals [13]. It is often heard that modelers should avoid data extrapolation; however, interpolation could also be dangerous if too sparse regions exist within the data. Histograms can be of great help to visualize the distribution of both the model dependent and the independent variables; still, analysis of the multivariate space can reveal empty or scarcely populated data regions that separate analysis of the independent variables may not [17]. The second issue related to inadequate data distribution is the existence of *leverage points* (outliers) among the data points. We will resort to the terminology adopted by Cruz-Monteagudo and collaborators to discuss the subject of exceptional data points [18], though their nomenclature is not universal. An outlier is a type of data exception represented by extreme values in the descriptor or property (response) space that cannot be attributed to mislabeling due to annotation or measurement errors (Fig. 1). Outliers exert great influence on the model calibration (hence they are called leverage points) especially when a quantitative model with a continuous response/output (regression model) is used. It is likely that some degree of overfitting will appear when outliers are present among the training examples. Even if no



Fig. 1 Example of a leverage point. Note how much the isolated point on the extreme right influences the fit of the regression line

systematic error in the experimental measurement of the modeled property exists, random error will have greater impact on the model in the case of outliers. There are a huge number of methods to detect outlier behavior (and, consequently, remove atypical points from the calibration samples) [19]. The very simple approach by Roy et al. [20] can be used to detect outliers provided that the data is normally distributed, which is relatively frequent in our field (and the stand-alone application is publicly available online!). However, as always when using parametric methods (which assume that the dataset fits a known distribution or probability model), it may be a good idea to run statistical discordance tests to check if the assumed distribution is optimal or close to optimal. Finally, since most of the machine learning applications are based on datasets that have been directly or indirectly compiled from literature, the last requisite on the dataset (homogeneous data quality) is seldom accomplished. Compiling the dataset from literature could also give raise to another type of data exceptions: noise. Noisy data points emerge from large experimental errors or from wrong annotations. To mitigate this issue, conscientiously curate your dataset: read your data sources carefully and dispose of those training examples extracted from inadequate or dubious experimental protocols. At present, there are several databases that compile experimental data for small molecules (e.g., ChEMBL); though such resources are manually curated from primary scientific literature, it will not hurt to review the experimental procedures from which biological data is extracted. When possible, ChEMBL tries to normalize bioactivities into a uniform set of endpoints and units. Remarkably, they currently flag activity values that are outside a range typical for that activity type, potentially missing data and suspected or confirmed author errors. Finally, classification models can be used to alleviate the influence of data heterogeneity, as will be discussed later. See Note number 1 for an extensive additional discussion on the topic of dataset compilation in relation to antiepileptic drug discovery.

2.2 Partitioning the Dataset into Training and Test Sets Once the dataset has been compiled, it is typically split into a training (or calibration) set (from which the model will be inferred) and an independent test set which will be used to assess the predictive power of the model. Partitioning the dataset is not a trivial task. The general objective of this procedure is to attain representative subsets of the whole dataset. Often, such subsets are obtained through random sampling (a randomly chosen subset of the dataset is tagged as test set) or activity range algorithms (the dataset is divided in groups according to activity values, and test set compounds are chosen from each group to cover the activity range uniformly). While these approaches are appropriate when training and test sets are comparable in size [21, 22], better results are obtained with more rational partitioning procedures such as sphere exclusion algorithms when test sets are small (but larger than five compounds) in comparison with the corresponding training sets [21]. Note that typically only 10–20% of the dataset is selected for external validation [12]. It should also be considered that ideally, the number of active and inactive compounds in the training set should be balanced in order to avoid potential bias toward the prediction of the overrepresented category of training examples [12].

Briefly, molecular descriptors are numerical variables that reflect 2.3 Choosing chemical information encoded within a symbolic representation of and Calculating a chemical compound, e.g., a molecular formula, a chemical graph, Molecular Descriptors and a geometric molecular model. There is a wide diversity of molecular descriptors available to characterize relevant aspects of a molecule, from simple functional group counts to time-demanding quantum descriptors. Once the dataset has been compiled and divided into appropriate training and test sets, the nature of the molecular descriptors that will be allowed into the model should be decided. Some studies suggest that the choice of descriptors plays a more important role than the choice of a modeling technique [23, 24]. Two fundamental aspects are considered at this stage of the modeling process: first, the throughput speed associated with different types of descriptors and, second, the interpretability of each type of descriptor. We should keep in mind that this chapter is focused in models which will eventually be used to screen large collections of chemicals. Thus, the selected molecular descriptors should ideally be easy to compute and readily interpretable. Unfortunately, these two aspects are usually inversely related: in general, the more interpretable a model is, the more it is computationally demanding. 3D QSAR models often provide a graphical output which is easy to interpret in familiar chemical terms. Most 3D QSAR methods, however, implement the pharmacophore concept and are conformation and sometimes alignment dependent. What conformation should be used to compute the correspondent 3D descriptors? An ideal solution to account for the conformation dependency would be to determine the bound (also called bioactive) conformation [25, 26]. Defining the bound conformation is often an enormously difficult and time-consuming task. Remember that the focus of this chapter is VS applications; consistently, any conformational analysis should eventually be applied not only to the training and test set compounds but also to the screened database molecules, which could well include millions of compounds. Bound conformations of ligands can be obtained experimentally by NMR or X-ray crystallography. However, as has been pointed out in the introduction of the chapter, most of the targets for antiepileptic drugs have not been solved yet. Furthermore, crystal structures also have limitations, from data acquisition and data refinement errors to the potential inadequacy of crystal structures to represent the conformational ensemble in solution [26]. Valuable hints on the active conformation might be obtained when

rigid ligands with restricted conformational freedom are available. For instance, some antiepileptic agents like phenytoin and carbamazepine have very few rotatable bonds and have been used to propose pharmacophore models [27]. When no hints on the bioactive conformation can be inferred from experimental data or rigid ligands, the modeler has no alternative, but to sample the potential energy surface of the ligands. A number of methods (all of them computationally demanding) are available for such purpose, including systematic search, stochastic approaches, and molecular dynamics. Note that very frequently very rough approximations are performed in this stage, from using the presumed global energy minimum or a local energy minimum (which is not representative of the bioactive conformation) to energy minimization procedures in vacuum, which ignore solvent effects. If bound conformations can be defined, eventually the conformational energy (energy difference between the bound and unbound conformation, sometimes called strain energy) should be calculated for each of the chemicals in the database subjected to VS, retaining those molecules with calculated strain energy below a user-defined threshold, which is typically below 10 kcal/mol. On the other hand, when alignment-dependent methods are used, defining alignment criteria for structurally diverse compounds can be tough (if not impossible). On the basis of all the previous limitations of 3D QSAR methods, we believe that conformation-independent QSAR methods (2D QSAR) are more easily automated and adapted to the task of VS since they neither require conformational search nor structural analysis [28]. Judging from the success of such approaches, simple representations of the molecular descriptors such as chemical graphs seem to implicitly contain a large amount of biologically relevant molecular information. They are naturally inappropriate, though, to differentiate geometrical isomers. Moreover, they are usually less transparent to interpretation; many 2D models behave like a black box: effective but inscrutable. In any case, 2D approaches could be used as a first screening approach to reduce the number of potential drug candidates, which can be later complemented with more computationally demanding techniques.

Once the molecular descriptors that will be used have been chosen, it is time to curate chemical structures. The required degree of curation depends on the descriptors that are to be used. Do not underestimate the importance of this step: it has been shown that, in average, there are two structural errors per medicinal chemistry publication [12] and a variable rate of errors in compounds indexed in chemical databases which may be as high as 8% [29]. Even slight errors in chemical structures may lead to significant loss of prediction accuracy in the subsequent model [29]. The first step for cleaning chemical records is to remove those data points that are usually not handled by conventional cheminformatics techniques: inorganic and some organometallic compounds,

counterions, salts, and mixtures [12]. Some additional details on this subject are provided in Note number 2. Duplicates should also be removed; otherwise the incidence of a single compound on the model would be exaggerated. Note that different compounds might act as duplicates depending on the chosen molecular descriptors: e.g., stereoisomers are distinct but act as duplicates if 2D descriptors are used. Some chemical functions and moieties that can be represented in multiple ways should be standardized, e.g., aromatic rings, nitro groups, etc. [30]. Finally, tautomeric groups should also be curated. In order to decide which tautomer should be kept, the mechanism of action of the compounds could be considered [29] or, alternatively, the dominant tautomer at physiologically relevant conditions should be used. Many of the previous steps can be performed in an automated manner by specialized software applications (e.g., ChemAxon's Standardizer); still, it is advisable to manually verify a randomly picked subset of the compounds to ensure everything has gone well. Also note that many software tools for molecular descriptor calculation impose restrictions to the molecular representations (e.g., explicit or implicit hydrogens, aromatic rings, etc.).

Building a Model So far we have explained the cautions needed to compile an ade-2.4 quate training set, curate the correspondent molecular structures, and compute a set of molecular descriptors. At this point, the subset of descriptors that best correlates with the property of interest should be selected (variable or feature selection step), and the dependent variable should be mapped with those preselected descriptors (i.e., the incidence of each descriptor on the dependent variable should be weighted). There is a plethora of techniques to execute these tasks [31-33], and their analysis is out of the scope of this chapter. However, we would like to discuss two particular aspects of model building that are generally pertinent no matter which modeling technique is considered. The first relates to the principle of parsimony and the problem of overfitting. The second relates to the convenience of choosing between regression and classification approaches.

> Overfitting means gaining explanatory power on the training examples at the expense of generalizability (predictive power). As in any learning task, memorizing is discouraged since the goal is to extract a generalization from learning examples that can be later applied to other cases/situations. The principle of parsimony affirms that we should use the simplest method that provides the desired performance level. This includes avoiding the use of excessively flexible approaches if they are not required (e.g., avoid using nonlinear methods if linear methods can provide an appropriate solution) and also avoiding the inclusion of more parameters/features than needed [34]. In our personal experience, the models that explain too well the training data fail at predicting external

data, while models with moderately good performance on the training examples tend to behave similarly on external instances. Overfitting can be avoided retrospectively (once a model has already been built, using adequate validation procedures as discussed in the next subsection) or prospectively (during the modelbuilding stage). Prospective avoidance of overffiting usually involves a rule of thumb regarding the ratio of learning examples to predictors (molecular descriptors) included in the model. Though a ratio equal or greater than five is often suggested for multivariate regression approaches [13, 35-37], in our opinion at least ten training compounds per independent variable are safer. Some methods such as partial least squares allow a higher number of descriptors. A final point that should be regarded is the influence of the total number of variables screened for possible correlation with the modeled activity (i.e., the size of the descriptor pool) on the statistical significance of the obtained correlation [38]: the larger the descriptor pool, the greater the probability of arriving to spurious, chance correlations. Software for molecular descriptor calculation can typically compute hundreds to thousands of descriptors. In our experience, we have found that the use of small random subsets of descriptors is a useful strategy to mitigate the chance of spurious correlations (note that this issue is intimately related to the problem of overfitting, since the general idea still is avoiding inclusion of independent variables that reflect meaningless particularities of the training examples; thus, the strategies that have been already discussed to minimize the risk of overfitting are also suitable to reduce the probability of chance correlations). Fisher's randomization test, which is discussed in the next section, is also a valuable tool to assess the probability of random correlations. Some additional hints on the matter of variable selection are presented in Note number 3.

With regard to the selection of a classification or regression model, classification models might be more adequate when biological data has been obtained in different labs and it is subjected to large interlaboratory variability, possibly introducing noise to the model [39]; this approach might be valuable to mitigate the influence of leverage data points. Note that, typically, biological data from cellular and animal models is prone to present high variability; as we discuss in the Notes, many modeling efforts directed to predict anticonvulsant activity are based on in vivo data obtained from seizure models; even when models of seizure are naturally more controlled than models of epilepsy, which often require sub-chronic administration of pro-convulsant stimuli, high interlab variability is to be expected. Classification models are quantitative models based on relationships between independent variables (in this case molecular descriptors) and a categorical response variable of integer numerical values that represents the class of the corresponding sample. Here, the term "quantitative" is

referred to the numerical value of the independent variables needed to classify the chemicals in the qualitative classes (a categorical response); such variables specify the quantitative meaning of a QSAR-based classification process [36]. As clearly stated by Polanski et al. [40], extensive data independence implies qualitative and not quantitative solutions; classification models might be considered somehow in the middle, because they provide a qualitative response (yes or no, active or inactive, etc.) while retaining quantitative analysis through the numerical independent variables. Those same authors point out that the combination of different data handling schemes seems particularly effective to provide robust solutions. When using classification models, the sources of noise are majorly restricted to those points that lie in the frontier between the categories of objects under consideration (e.g., those whose activity value is near the activity threshold that has been defined to differentiate active from inactive compounds). Also note that scientific literature is generally biased toward the report of highly active compounds, resulting in a general relative abundance of active compounds in comparison to inactive ones. Classification methods can ameliorate this issue since the modeler might include putative inactive compounds within the inactive class: though this is a potential source of error (the inactive nature of such presumed inactive examples has not been verified), it can be assumed that this error will not be significant if the dataset is sufficiently large.

2.5 Model Validation Model validation implies the quantitative assessment of the model robustness and predictive power [41, 42], which serves to detect the occurrence of overfitting and chance correlations. In the context of signal processing applications (within which we can enclose QSAR modeling), robustness refers to approaches that are not degraded significantly when the assumptions that were invoked in defining the processing algorithm are no longer valid [40]. Validation techniques can be divided in internal and external validation. In the internal validation approaches, the training set itself is used to assess the model stability and predictive power; in external validation, a holdout sample absolutely independent from the training set is used to test the predictive ability of the model. Though there is a diversity of techniques that can be used for internal validation purposes, the most frequent are cross validation and Y-randomization.

> In cross validation, groups of training examples are iteratively held out from the training set used for model development; the model is thus regenerated without the removed chemicals, and the regenerated model is used to predict the dependent variable for the held-out compounds [43]. The process is typically repeated until every training compound has been removed from the training set at least once (Fig. 2). When only one compound is held out in each



**Fig. 2** A fourfold cross validation is schematized as an example. In each cross validation round, 25% of the training compounds (shown in *red*) are randomly removed from the training set and used as internal test sample, while the remaining compounds (in *blue*) are used for training purposes. Note that in the example the same model parameters that are included in the original model are present in the new models, but the regression coefficients change reflecting the variability introduced to the training sample. Here, the process has been repeated until every instance in the original training data has been removed once

cross validation cycle, we will speak of leave-one-out cross validation. If larger subsets of training examples are removed in each round, we will speak of multifold, leave-some-out, leave-group-out, or leave-many-out cross validation. Naturally, the more compounds removed per cycle, the more challenging the cross validation test. Cross validation in general and leave-one-out cross validation in particular tend to be overoptimistic [41, 43, 44]: good cross validation metrics are a necessary but not sufficient condition to prove the predictive power of a model. When leave-manyout cross validation is used, the results for each (held-out) fold or subsample can be averaged or otherwise combined to produce a single estimation. See *Note number 4* for some additional discussion on this subject.

Y-randomization (Fig. 3) involves scrambling the value of the experimental/observed dependent variable across the training instances, thus abolishing the relationship between the response and the molecular structure. Naturally, since the response is now randomly assigned to the training examples, no correlation is expected to be found if the model is regenerated from the scrambled data.


**Fig. 3** In randomization test, the Y-response is scrambled among the training samples, and the relationship between the molecular structure and the response is thus abolished, hopefully leading to poorly performing randomized models. Note that process randomization has been illustrated here, as can be deducted from the different parameters included in the randomization models and the real one

External validation, i.e., using an independent test set to establish the model predictive power, has been regarded as the most significant validation step [41, 43], though one condition should be observed for the results to be reliable: the test sample should be representative of the training sample; at least 20 holdout examples are advised when the test set is randomly chosen from the dataset and, if possible, at least 50. Some authors have pointed out, however, that dividing the dataset into training and test sets may result in loss of valuable chemical information which otherwise could have been used for model building [34, 42, 45], suggesting that only internal validation is advised for small (<50 instances) datasets. In that situation, leave-group-out using folds comprising 30% of the training set gives robust results across several small datasets [43].

### 3 Virtual Screening

### 3.1 Pilot VS Campaign

Once the model has been built and properly validated and before it is applied in a real VS campaign, it is convenient to assess the model performance in a pilot VS campaign. Note that the active and inactive compounds are generally balanced in the dataset that was used to build the model, but in real VS applications, the inactive compounds greatly outnumber the active ones. This constitutes an intrinsic limitation of the VS approach, determining that even models with very good performance will tend to have low positive predictive value (PPV, i.e., activity probability of a given predicted hit) in VS, since, as follows, such probability is influenced not only by intrinsic features of the model (specificity, Sp, and sensitivity; Se) but also by the yield of active Ya of the screened database [46]:

$$PPV = (Se \times Ya) / [Se \times Ya + (1 - Sp)(1 - Ya)]$$
(1)

While Ya is uncertain in real VS applications, it is unequivocally low. Thus, it is desirable to perform a pilot VS campaign in the first place, seeding a relatively low number (below 5%) of known actives among a large number of observed and presumed inactive compounds. As mentioned previously, finding reported inactive compounds in the literature is hard due to the bias to report positive results, which makes it difficult to accomplish the precedent condition. Therefore, one will often resort to putative inactive compounds as decoys. A good decoy should share certain physicochemical features with the active compounds in order to pose a more rigorous challenge to the model [47]. The enhanced directory of useful decoys (DUD-E) is an online public resource that automatically generates valuable matched decoys for usersupplied ligands (such decoys are matched by a number of physicochemical properties but are topologically dissimilar to the actual active compounds) [48]. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves in which the model Se (true positive rate) is plotted versus 1 minus Sp (true negative rate) for a diversity of score thresholds are a valuable tool to test the performance of a given VS model/ method and also for benchmarking purposes [46]. They are also used to optimize the score threshold that will define if a given compound from the screened database will be considered a predicted active or inactive, allowing selecting an adequate Se/Sp balance and thus optimizing the PPV. A scheme describing how ROC curves are built is presented in Fig. 4. With the help of ROC curves, different VS approaches can be statistically compared between themselves and to random behavior; the area under the ROC curves is usually used for those purposes. Though owing to the saturation effect, the total area under the ROC curve is not a suitable metric to assess the VS approaches in relation to the early recognition (i.e., the ability of a VS method to rank actives early in the ordered list) [49], the partial area under the ROC curve is well suited for this purpose. pROC is an excellent free open-source package for R which can be used for partial and total ROC curve comparison [50]. Some additional remarks on this subject are included in Note number 5.

3.2 Virtual Screening
and Applicability
Domain Estimation
After making sure that the model is suitable for real VS applications and selecting an appropriate cutoff score value, one can proceed to the real VS campaign. There exist numerous publicly available databases containing drug-like molecules, such as ZINC [51], DrugBank [52], Sweetlead [53], or the Universal Natural Product Database [54]. The election of the screened database depends on



Fig. 4 Schematic representation of ROC curve construction

which compounds the researcher is focused on. For instance, DrugBank and Sweetlead are the collections of choice when the VS is oriented to drug repurposing, since they compile approved and investigational drugs from the FDA and other regulatory agencies. The Universal Natural Product Database, as its name implies, compiles (more than 200,000) compounds from natural sources. It must be checked if every screened compound belongs to the applicability domain of the model (in order to determine whether a given prediction is or is not reliable); for this, there are a number of methods available, including distance-based, parametric, and nonparametric approaches, among others [17]. Most of these approximations can be easily implemented with most statistical software packages; if the molecular descriptors included in the training set follow a normal distribution, the parametric approach discussed by Roy et al. might be applied [20], and it is readily available online. Note, however, that it has been observed that applicability domain assessment often limits the chemical space coverage of the resulting (reliable) predictions [23]; the same authors have observed that consensus scoring (combining the scores or ranks from different VS approximations) might reduce the necessity of applicability domain estimation while retaining a wider coverage. Remarkably, consensus scoring could also mitigate the influence of noisy data achieving robust solutions [40].

# **3.3 ADME Filters** The pharmaceutically relevant processes of absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion (ADME) determine the pharmacokinetics of a given drug and therefore the extent of drug action. Including ADME filters as secondary criteria to select drug candidates is particularly important when implementing VS applications

to discover novel AEDs, whose pharmacology is often critically influenced by biodistribution and metabolism issues. Besides the frequently used Lipinski rules (or other similar rules, e.g., Veber's rules) to filter out compounds with likely unfavorable oral absorption, having in mind the role of the blood-brain barrier regulating the influx of chemicals into the brain, specific rules or algorithms to predict central nervous system bioavailability should be considered. For example, the "rule of 2" states that a log octanol-water partition  $(\log P)$  coefficient of 2 is optimal to assure brain bioavailability for those compounds that enter the brain through passive diffusion [55]. Other more complex (yet simple) filters such as the central nervous system desirability score proposed by Wager et al. could also be included [56]. If the VS campaign is focused on novel treatments for refractory epilepsy, it could be a good idea to include in silico filters to predict affinity for ABC transporters (some models on these antitargets are discussed in other chapters of this volume). Whenever using a model built by other developers, ensure that such model's predictions include applicability domain assessment. At last, many known AEDs are involved in CYP induction or suffer extensive CYP metabolism; accordingly, filters to predict affinity for the main CYP isoforms (e.g., CYP3A4, CYP2D6, CYP2C9) or nuclear receptors might also result useful.

### 4 Notes

1. Dataset compilation. Traditionally, the requirements on the training set examples were even more stringent than the ones listed in Sect. 2.1. For instance, it is usually affirmed that, especially in the case of 3D QSAR, all the training examples should share the same mechanism of action (and the same binding mode) and all the inactive compounds in the training set should be truly (and not putative) inactive [14-16, 57]. It is argued that all 3D QSAR methods were conceived to describe only one interaction step in the lifetime of ligands [14], a statement which is partially supported by the fact that many 3D QSAR methods are highly alignment dependent (the results depend on the position and orientation of the molecular representation in space). Furthermore, it is also said that only in vitro biological data should be considered, since in vivo data reflects a number of parallel processes (e.g., transport, metabolism, binding to multiple targets), while by definition it is not possible to reach equilibrium in an in vivo system [14, 15]. It is true that in vitro data is cleaner than in vivo data, in the sense that interpretation of the test results is more straightforward and less affected by confounding factors; all the other systems undergo significant time-dependent changes. Personally, however, we believe that such excessive reductionist approach could be

dangerous when dealing with complex disorders such as epilepsy. There are many good reasons to take dogmatic principles with caution. First, very frequently biological data emerging from phenotypic models (e.g., in vivo or cellular models) are used to obtain QSAR models, and in spite of this, the models achieve considerable explicatory and predictive ability (see, e.g., [58-62]). A common mechanism could be presumed when compounds of the same chemical series are being considered, but the modeler cannot be truly sure regarding the specific action mechanism explaining the phenotypic observation or the number or identity of the pharmacologically active chemical species. The complex nature of the biological response makes it impossible to describe, a priori, a well-defined action mechanism or to discriminate the influence of other processes on the modeled activity (transport processes, bioactivation, etc.). And yet, the so obtained models work. Sometimes one will not have a satisfactory explanation to an observation, but facts should not be ignored in favor of a preestablished principle. Second, it is now understood that multifactor, complex disorders (e.g., mood disorders, neurodegenerative disorders, or epilepsy) are usually better addressed with drugs with complex pharmacology (i.e., multi-target drugs) [63-65]; in fact, once and again it is mentioned that the "one target, one drug" paradigm has been disappointing in terms of innovative treatments [66-68]. Most currently approved antiepileptic drugs are in fact multi-target agents [64]. Therefore, it is possible that we should resort to tailored multi-target drug discovery and/or return to phenotypic-based drug discovery to identify new pharmacological solutions to epilepsy. Under this perspective, going against the doctrine and using biological data obtained from animal models might be in fact a better approach toward VS for novel antiepileptic agents. Note that many successful QSAR and VS applications focused on antiepileptic drugs have indeed used in vivo biological data for modeling purposes [27, 28, 69–72], including reports by leading experts in the QSAR field [28]. Third, not all available molecular descriptors are conformation and/or alignment dependent, and some of them are capable of describing more general properties than those relevant for a single binding event. For instance, molecular complexity and molecular size have been directly and inversely correlated with drug promiscuity [73]; these molecular features can be captured by descriptors such as information indices or molecular weight, respectively. Fourth, QSAR theory has greatly evolved in the last years; multitasking QSAR models are suitable to predict multiple features and complex behaviors, exploiting latent commonalities across tasks [74, 75]. Finally, as it has already been discussed, classificatory models might be able to mitigate potential noise linked to experimental error or

simultaneous incidence of multiple parallel processes on the bioactivity data. All in all, there is no reason to exclude a model where the mechanism is not known or if there are multiple mechanisms [35]. A final remark must be done in relation to activity cliffs: while continuous structure–activity relationships where gradual change in the molecular structure results in moderate changes in the biological response are benign to modeling efforts, sometimes small modifications in the molecules introduce huge changes in biological activity [17]. Whereas highly informative (they provide valuable information on molecular features essential to the activity) activity cliffs can be really problematic for modeling purposes; some algorithms have been developed to identify these "instances that should be misclassified" [76].

- 2. Curation of chemical structures. While the properties of salts can be very different from those of the corresponding neutral molecules, before excluding salts from the QSAR analysis, some questions should be (if possible) answered. The first question would be if the descriptors that will be used are sensitive to charge. If they are insensitive to charge, just neutralize the cations or anions that are left when removing counterions. If at least some of the descriptors that you will use are sensitive to charge, it might be a good idea to go through the original publications from which biological data of your dataset have been extracted and see if the pH of the tested solutions and the test system are known or can be figured out from the media composition. In any case, the (experimental or at least theoretical) pKa/s of the dataset compounds will be needed to assign their protonation states. The pH of the drug solution is more likely to affect in vivo than in vitro data. In vitro assays usually require buffered systems, thus limiting the influence of the drug solution pH; in general, the protonation state in in vitro models would be thus determined by the test media pH. In contrast, in vivo absorption and thus pharmacokinetics can be greatly influenced by the pH of the drug solution. If the administered dose is known and assumed to be bioavailable, one might choose to assign the protonation state depending on the pH of the target organ; e.g., in the case of antiepileptic drugs, the pH of the brain is around 7 [77]. Always remember to analyze your set of chemicals at those physiologically relevant conditions for the administration route and therapeutic goal; also keep in mind that some pharmaceutically/pharmacologically relevant conditions may vary due to a physiopathological process. If data to afford the previous analysis is not available, neutralizing ions is acceptable [30].
- 3. *Excluding redundant variables.* When building the model, it is often advised that simultaneous inclusion of highly correlated (redundant) independent variables should be avoided.

Correlated independent variables lead to multicollinearity, which can increase the standard errors associated with the regression coefficients and cause problems in interpreting the results of a regression equation. Orthogonalization procedures can be applied to obtain orthogonal descriptors [78]. Redundant variables can be avoided prospectively by setting a high tolerance value (or by defining a threshold value for its inverse, the variance inflation factor, VIF). Descriptor calculation software usually includes some option to exclude descriptors correlated above a programmer- or user-defined threshold. However, it must be taken into account that even highly correlated descriptor pairs might be included in the model without losing statistical significance ([79] and references therein): it has been suggested that the VIF should be compared to the model inflation factor (MIF) and only if VIF>MIF, one of the seemingly redundant descriptors should be excluded.

4. Validation. In our opinion, averaging the predictive performance on the folds used for the multifold cross validation is more useful, since it allows computing a confidence interval (or an estimate of the standard deviation) to evaluate, for instance, if the statistical behavior of the original model (the one built using the entire training set) significantly differs from the behavior of the cross validation models on the held-out samples. It is advisable to perform stratified multifold cross validation, in which the folds are selected so that the mean response value is approximately equal in all the folds. For instance, if you are validating a classification model, the folds might comprise an equal number of examples from each class. In the case of Y-randomization, the confidence interval of the metric used to characterize the performance of the randomized model should not contain the value of the performance metric for the original, nonrandomized model (although other ways of analyzing the randomization results have been proposed [13]).

Finally, note that internal validation procedures can be performed at varying confidence levels. One can study the whole process from the variable selection step, or, alternatively, one can validate the influence of the experimental design on the weighting scheme used to measure the contribution of an independent variable to the response. The former is, of course, a more strict challenge to the model robustness, since one is leaving aside any influence of the original training data on the variable selection. The importance of applying cross-validation at the variable selection step has been signaled in the specialized literature [42, 43]. It has also been highlighted that the randomization technique can be of two types: process randomization, in which the values of the dependent variable are scrambled and variable selection is done freshly using the whole descriptor pool, and model randomization, in which case the response is scrambled but the new QSAR models so obtained include the same set of independent variables as present in the nonrandom model [80] which is of course a less strict validation approach. In conclusion, use validation techniques to validate the whole modeling procedure, including variable selection, for more reliable results.

5. *ROC curve analysis.* The adequate balance between the true positive rate and the true negative rate is context dependent and not a statistical matter. Sp and Se evolve in an opposite way and therefore they cannot be optimized simultaneously. If the budget for experimental testing is limited, Sp can be prioritized to reduce the false positive rate (predicted hits that will yield negative results) at the expense of sacrifying some true positives; if, in contrast, chemical novelty of the hits is the priority and funding abounds, Sp may be relaxed in favor of Se.

### 5 Final Remarks

We have presented an overview of the most relevant considerations that must be made in order to develop QSAR models and apply them in VS campaigns. Regarding particular considerations for the case of antiepileptic drug discovery, the complex nature of the disease and the multi-target nature of most of the existing antiepileptic drugs suggest that modeling in vivo data (i.e., phenotypic-based drug discovery) might lead to more efficacious drug candidates. As discussed in separate chapters, the classical "the more potent the better" paradigm might not apply to the particular task of antiepileptic drug discovery. Finally, considering the critical role of pharmacokinetics in antiepileptic drug pharmacology, it is advised to include in silico ADME filters during the screening process to predict the brain bioavailability and potential biodistribution and metabolism issues of the selected drug candidates, along with potential drug interactions.

#### References

- 1. Weaver DF (2008) Principles and practice of computer-aided drug design as applied to the discovery of antiepileptic agents. In: Computational neuroscience in epilepsy, 1st edn. Academic, London
- 2. Baglo Y, Gabrielsen M, Sylte I et al (2013) Homology modeling of human  $\gamma$ -butyric acid transporters and the binding of pro-drugs 5-aminolevulinic acid and methyl aminolevulinic acid used in photodynamic therapy. PLoS One 8:e65200
- Khan HN, Rashid H, Kulsoom S (2013) Homology modeling of y-aminobutyrateaminotransferase, a pyridoxal phosphate-

dependent enzyme of Homo sapiens: molecular modeling approach to rational drug design against epilepsy. Af J Biotechnol 10:5916–5926

- 4. Lee J, Daniels V, Sands ZA et al (2015) Exploring the interaction of SV2A with racetams using homology modelling, molecular dynamics and site-directed mutagenesis. PLoS One 10:e0116589
- 5. Temperini C, Innocenti A, Mastrolorenzo A et al (2007) Carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Interaction of the antiepileptic drug sulthiame with twelve mammalian isoforms: kinetic and X-ray crystallographic studies. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17:4866–4872

- 6. Carta F, Supuran CT, Scozzafava A (2014) Sulfonamides and their isosters as carbonic anhydrase inhibitors. Future Med Chem 6:1149–1165
- De Luca L, Ferro S, Damiano FM et al (2014) Structure-based screening for the discovery of new carbonic anhydrase VII inhibitors. Eur J Med Chem 71:105–111
- Lavechia A (2015) Machine-learning approaches in drug discovery: methods and applications. Drug Discov Today 20:318–331
- 9. Zhang Q, Muegge I (2006) Scaffold hopping through virtual screening using 2D and 3D similarity descriptors: ranking, voting, and consensus scoring. J Med Chem 9:1536–1548
- Krüger DM, Evers A (2010) Comparison of structure- and ligand-based virtual screening protocols considering hit list complementarity and enrichment factors. ChemMedChem 5:148–158
- Natasenamat C, Isarankura-Na-Ayudhya C, Prachayasittikul V (2010) Advances in computational methods to predict the biological activity of compounds. Expert Opin Drug Discov 5:633–654
- Tropsha A (2010) Best practices for QSAR model development, validation and exploitation. Mol Inf 29:476–488
- Kiralj R, Ferreira MMC (2009) Basic validation procedures for regression models in QSAR and QSPR studies: theory and application. J Braz Chem Soc 20:770–787
- Langer T, Bryant SD (2008) 3D quantitative structure-property relationships. In: The practice of medicinal chemistry, 3rd edn. Academic, London
- 15. Sippl W (2010) 3D QSAR: applications, recent advances, and limitations. In: Recent advances in QSAR studies. Method and applications, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- 16. Roy K, Kar S, Das RN (2015) Background of QSAR and historical developments. In: Understanding the basics of QSAR for applications in pharmaceutical sciences and risk assessment, 1st edn. Academic, London
- Jaworska J, Nokolova-Jeliazjova N, Aldenberg T (2005) QSAR applicability domain estimation by projection of the training set descriptor space: a review. Altern Lab Anim 33:445–459
- Cruz-Monteagudo M, Medina-Franco JL, Pérez-Castillo Y et al (2014) Activity cliffs in drug discovery: Dr Jekyll or Mr Hyde? Drug Discov Today 19:1069–1080
- Zhang J (2013) Advancements of outlier detection: a survey. ISCT Trans Scal Inf Syst 13:e2
- 20. Roy K, Kar S, Ambure P (2015) On a simple approach for determining applicability domain

of QSAR models. Chemometr Intell Lab Syst 145:22–29

- Golbraikh A, Shen M, Xiao Z et al (2003) Rational selection of training and test sets for the development of validated QSAR models. J Comput Aided Mol Des 17:241–253
- 22. Talevi A, Bellera CL, Castro EA et al (2010) Optimal partition of datasets of QSPR studies: a sampling problem. MATCH Commun Math Comput Chem 63:585–599
- 23. Zhu H, Tropsha A, Foruches D et al (2008) Combinatorial QSAR modeling of chemical toxicants tested against *Tetrahymena pyriformis.* J Chem Inf Model 48:766–784
- 24. Tetko IV, Sushko I, Pandey AK et al (2008) Critical assessment of QSAR models of environmental toxicity against *Tetrahymena pyriformis*: focusing on applicability domain and overfitting by variable selection. J Chem Inf Model 48:1733–1746
- Verma J, Khedkar VM, Coutinho EC (2010) 3D-QSAR in drug design. Curr Top Med Chem 10:95–115
- 26. Avgy-David HH, Senderowitz H (2015) Toward focusing conformational ensembles on bioactive conformations: a molecular mechanics/quantum mechanics study. J Chem Inf Model 55:2154–2167
- 27. Tasso SM, Moon SC, Bruno-Blanch LE et al (2004) Characterization of the anticonvulsant profile of valpromide derivatives. Bioorg Med Chem 12:3857–3869
- 28. Shen M, LeTiran A, Xiao Y et al (2002) Quantitative structure–activity relationship analysis of functionalized amino acid anticonvulsant agents using k nearest neighbor and simulated annealing PLS methods. J Med Chem 45:2811–2823
- 29. Young D, Martin T, Venkatapathy R et al (2008) Are the chemical structures in your QSAR correct? QSAR Comb Sci 27:1337–1345
- 30. Fourches D, Muratov E, Tropsha A (2010) Trust, but verify: on the importance of chemical structure curation in cheminformatics and QSAR modeling research. J Chem Inf Model 50:1189–1204
- Yee LC, Wei YC (2012) Current modeling methods used in QSAR/QSPR. In: Statistical modeling of molecular descriptors in QSAR/ QSPR, vol 2, 1st edn. Wiley-Blackwell, Weinheim
- 32. González MP, Terán C, Saíz-Urra L et al (2008) Variable selection methods in QSAR: an overview. Curr Top Med Chem 8:1606–1627
- 33. Roy K, Kar S, Das RN (2015) Statistical methods in QSAR/QSPR. In: A primer on QSAR/ QSPR modeling, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht

- Hawkins DM (2004) The problem of overfitting. J Chem Inf Comput Sci 44:1–12
- 35. Cronin MTD (2010) Quantitative structureactivity relationships (QSARs) – applications and methodology. In: Recent advances in QSAR studies. Method and applications, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- 36. Gramatica P (2010) Chemometric methods and theoretical molecular descriptors in predictive QSAR modeling of the environmental behavior of organic pollutants. In: Recent advances in QSAR studies. Method and applications, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- 37. Kaliszan R, Baczek TB (2010) QSAR in chromatography: quantitative structure-retention relationships (QSRRs). In: Recent advances in QSAR studies. Method and applications, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- Topliss JG, Costello RJ (1972) Chance correlations in structure-activity studies using multiple regression analysis. J Med Chem 15:1066–1068
- 39. Talevi A, Bellera C, Di Ianni M et al (2012) An Integrated drug development approach applying topological descriptors. Curr Comput Aided Drug Des 8:172–181
- 40. Polanski J, Bak A, Gieleciak R et al (2006) Modeling robust QSAR. J Chem Inf Model 46:2310–2318
- 41. Tropsha A, Gramatica P, Gombar VK (2003) The importance of being earnest: validation is the absolute essential for successful application and interpretation of QSPR models. QSAR Comb Sci 22:69–77
- 42. Roy K, Mitra I (2011) On various metrics used for validation of predictive QSAR models with applications in virtual screening and focused library design. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 14:450–474
- Gramatica P (2007) Principles of QSAR models validation: internal and external. QSAR Comb Sci 26:694–701
- 44. Golbraikh A, Tropsha A (2002) Beware of q2! J Mol Graph Model 20:269–276
- 45. Hawkins DM, Basak SC, Mills D (2003) Assessing model fit by cross-validation. J Chem Inf Comput Sci 43:579–586
- 46. Triballeau N, Acher F, Brabet I et al (2005) Virtual screening workflow development guided by the "Receiver Operating Characteristic" curve approach. Application to high-throughput docking on metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 4. J Chem Inf Model 48:2534–2547
- Nicholls A (2008) What do we know and when do we know it. J Comput Aided Mol Des 22:239–255

- 48. Mysinger MM, Carchia M, Irwin JJ et al (2012) Directory of useful decoys, enhanced (DUD-E): better ligands and decoys for better benchmarking. J Med Chem 55: 6582–6594
- 49. Truchon JF, Bayly CI (2007) Evaluating virtual screening methods: good and bad metrics for the "early recognition" problem. J Chem Inf Model 47:488–508
- 50. Robin X, Turck N, Hainard A et al (2011) pROC: an open-source package for R and S+ to analyze and compare ROC curves. BMC Bioinformatics 12:77
- Irwin JJ, Sterling T, Mysinger MM et al (2012) ZINC: a free tool to discover chemistry and biology. J Chem Inf Model 52:1757–1768
- 52. Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC et al (2008) DrugBank: a knowledge base for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. Nucleic Acids Res 36:D901–D906
- 53. Novick PA, Ortiz OF, Poelman J et al (2013) SWEETLEAD: an *in silico* database of approved drugs, regulated chemicals, and herbal isolates for computer-aided drug discovery. PLoS One 8:e79568
- 54. Gu J, Gui Y, Chen L et al (2013) Use of natural products as chemical library for drug discovery and network pharmacology. PLoS One 8:e62839
- 55. Misra A, Ganesh S, Shahiwala A et al (2003) Drug delivery to the central nervous system: a review. J Pharm Pharm Sci 6:252–273
- 56. Wager TT, Hou X, Verhoest PR et al (2010) Moving beyond rules: the development of a central nervous system multiparameter optimization (CNS MPO) approach to enable alignment of druglike properties. ACS Chem Neurosci 1:435–449
- 57. Alagarsamy V (2013) Structure-activity relationship and quantitative structure-activity relationship. In: Textbook in medicinal chemistry, vol 1, 1st edn. Elsevier, New Delhi
- 58. Nikolic K, Agbaba D (2009) QSAR study and design of novel organoselenium and α-tocopherol derivatives with enhanced chemotherapeutic activity. Lett Drug Des Discov 6:228–235
- 59. Bello-Ramírez AM, Buendía-Orozco J, Nava-Ocampo AA (2003) A QSAR analysis to explain the analgesic properties of aconitum alkaloids. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 17:575–580
- 60. Patel SR, Gangwal R, Sangamwar AT et al (2014) Synthesis, biological evaluation and 3D-QSAR study of hydrazide, semicarbazide and thiosemicarbazide derivatives of 4-(adamantan-1-yl)quinoline as anti-tuberculosis agents. Eur J Med Chem 85:255–267

- Richard AM, Benigni R (2002) AI and SAR approaches for predicting chemical carcinogenicity: survey and status report. SAR QSAR Environ Res 13:1–19
- 62. Myshkin E, Brennan R, Khasanova T et al (2012) Prediction of organ toxicity endpoints by QSAR modeling based on precise chemicalhistopathology annotations. Chem Biol Drug Des 80:406–416
- 63. Roth BL, Sheffler DJ, Kroeze WK (2004) Magic shotguns versus magic bullets: selectively non-selective drugs for mood disorders and schizophrenia. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:353–359
- 64. Bianchi MT, Pathmanathan J, Cash SS (2009) From ion channels to complex networks: magic bullet versus magic shotgun approaches to anticonvulsant pharmacotherapy. Med Hypotheses 72:297–305
- 65. Talevi A (2015) Multi-target pharmacology: possibilities and limitations of the "skeleton key approach" from a medicinal chemist perspective. Front Pharmacol 6:205
- Sams-Dodd F (2005) Target-based drug discovery: is something wrong? Drug Discov Today 10:139–147
- 67. Hopkins AL (2008) Network pharmacology: the next paradigm in drug discovery. Nat Chem Biol 4:682–690
- Swinney DC, Anthony J (2011) How were new medicines discovered? Nat Rev Drug Discov 10:507–519
- 69. Talevi A, Bellera CL, Castro EA et al (2007) A successful virtual screening application: prediction of anticonvulsant activity in MES test of widely used pharmaceutical and food preservatives methylparaben and propylparaben. J Comput Aided Mol Des 21:527–538
- 70. Talevi A, Enrique AV, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Anticonvulsant activity of artificial sweeteners: a structural link between sweettaste receptor T1R3 and brain glutamate receptors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:4072–4074
- 71. Sutherland JJ, Weaver DF (2003) Development of quantitative structure–activity relationships

and classification models for anticonvulsant activity of hydantoin analogues. J Chem Inf Model 43:1028–1036

- 72. Hashemianzadeh M, Safarpour MA, Ghlamjani-Moghddam K et al (2008) DFTbased QSAR study of valproic acid and its derivatives. QSAR Comb Sci 27:469–474
- 73. Sturm N, Desaphy J, Quinn RJ et al (2012) Structural insights into the molecular basis of the ligand promiscuity. J Chem Inf Model 52:2410–2421
- 74. Speck-Planche A, Cordeiro MN (2015) Multitasking models for quantitative structurebiological effect relationships: current status and future perspectives to speed up drug discovery. Expert Opin Drug Discov 10:245–256
- 75. Liu Q, Zhou H, Liu L et al (2011) Multitarget QSAR modelling in the analysis and design of HIV-HCV co-inhibitors: an in-silico study. BMC Bioinformatics 12:294
- 76. Smith MR, Martínez T (2011) Improving classification accuracy by identifying and removing instances that should be misclassified. The 2011 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks, IEEE, pp 2690–2697
- 77. Vorstrup S, Jensen KE, Thomsen C et al (1989) Neuronal pH regulation: constant normal intracellular pH is maintained in brain during low extracellular pH induced by acetazolamide--31P NMR study. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 9:417–421
- Duchowicz PR, Fernández FM, Castro EA (2010) Orthogonalization methods in QSPR. In: QSPR-QSAR studies on desired properties for drug design, 1st edn. Research Signpost, Trivandrum
- Peterangelo SC, Seybold PG (2004) Synergistic interactions among QSAR descriptors. Int J Quantum Chem 96:1–9
- 80. Roy K, Kar S (2015) How to judge predictive quality of classification and regression based QSAR models? In: Frontiers in computational chemistry, vol 2, 1st edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam

# **Chapter 14**

### Discovering New Antiepileptic Drugs Addressing the Transporter Hypothesis of Refractory Epilepsy: Ligand-Based Approximations

### Manuel Couyoupetrou, Mauricio Di Ianni, Melisa Gantner, Guido Pesce, Roxana Peroni, Alan Talevi, and Luis E. Bruno-Blanch

### Abstract

About one third of the epileptic patients cannot control their symptoms with antiepileptic drugs, despite the introduction of more than 15 novel therapeutic agents to the market since 1990. The most studied hypothesis to explain the phenomenon of drug resistance in epilepsy maintains that it might be related to regional overactivity of efflux transporters from the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) superfamily at the blood-brain barrier and/or the epileptic foci. Here, we review scientific evidence supporting the transporter hypothesis along with its limitations. We also cover some technical aspects of computational and experimental approaches used for the early detection of substrates of such efflux systems.

Key words ABC transporters, Breast cancer resistance protein, CETA, Ligand-based approaches, Meta-classifiers, MDCK–MDR1, P-glycoprotein, Refractory epilepsy, Transport assays

### 1 Introduction

1.1 Refractory Epilepsy: Current Explanations About 30% of the epileptic patients suffer from refractory or intractable epilepsy [1], i.e., they fail to achieve seizure freedom through adequate trials of two tolerated appropriately chosen antiepileptic drug (AED) schedules [2]. A clear and universal definition of refractory epilepsy is fundamental to understand the limitations of the neurobiological explanations to refractory epilepsy, which are discussed later in the present chapter. This scenario has not changed substantially despite the introduction of more than 15 AEDs from 1990 to the present [3]. Biological mechanisms underlying drugresistant epilepsy have not been fully elucidated [4], though there are several hypotheses that explain this phenomenon; among them, the more prominent are the transporter hypothesis [5, 6], the target hypothesis [6, 7], the neural network hypothesis [8], the gene variant hypothesis [9], and the intrinsic severity hypothesis [10].

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_14, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

The transporter and target hypotheses have been proposed earlier and have thus been more extensively studied. The former states that drug resistance in epilepsy may be a consequence of the local overactivity of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters at the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and/or the epileptic foci. An overview on the evidence and limitations of this hypothesis is provided under the next subsection. The target hypothesis proposes that the reduced sensitivity to AEDs might be linked to acquired modifications in the structure and/or functionality of AED targets. While some years back constitutive alterations of drug transporters or targets were also included within the scope of the transporter and target hypothesis [7, 11], leading experts in the field now categorize intrinsic alterations of drug targets within the gene variant hypothesis [4]. The latter, however, also covers other possible genetic causes of drug resistance, such as polymorphic variants of CYP biotransformation enzymes. The nature of the pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic alteration is not trivial since it could have a profound impact on the clinical approach to the drug resistance issue. While genetic causes of pharmacoresistance might currently be detected through simple diagnostic tests even before starting the treatment, acquired modifications linked to the pathophysiology of the disease are more difficult to prove and nowadays still require more invasive procedures (e.g., surgery resection). Recently, the possible role of epigenetics in drug-resistant epilepsy has also been underlined [12].

It has been noted that none of the hypotheses provides a full or universal explanation to nonresponsive patients with epilepsy: a certain hypothesis might be applicable to a particular subgroup of patients, or alternatively, some patients could require multiple hypotheses to explain their refractoriness [4, 11, 13]. It is worth highlighting that the best treatment approach should be highly dependent on the underlying drug resistance mechanisms observed in a given patient.

1.2 Strong and Weak In eukaryotes, ABC transporters are transmembrane efflux transporters characterized by wide substrate specificity [14, 15]. They are Points of the Transporter highly expressed in barrier tissues (e.g., blood-brain barrier) and Hypothesis elimination organs (such as the liver and kidneys), restricting the bioavailability of xenobiotics and being consequently involved in multidrug resistance phenomena. They also play a role in the traffic of physiologic compounds (e.g., cholesterol or amyloid beta) and the pathogenesis of diverse disorders [15–17]. Most of the research on ABC transporters has focused on P-glycoprotein (Pgp), the first historically identified member of the superfamily, although the attention of the scientific community now also extends to other members, namely, multidrug resistance proteins (MRPs or ABCCs) and breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP or ABCG2).

Validation of the transporter hypothesis for drug-resistant epilepsy has been achieved at the preclinical level, where drug resistance in animal models of seizure and epilepsy has been reverted by coadministration of ABC transporter inhibitors. In 2001, Potschka and coworkers proved that the levels of carbamazepine in the extracellular fluid of the cerebral cortex could be enhanced through perfusion of the Pgp inhibitor verapamil and the MRP1/2/5 inhibitor probenecid [18]. Next, the same group proved that coadministration of probenecid and phenytoin increased phenytoin anticonvulsant effect in kindled rats [19]. Neither 50 mg/kg probenecid nor 6.25 mg/kg phenytoin exerted significant anticonvulsant effect when given alone. It was argued that such raise in the seizure threshold was unlikely to result from additive effects of the chosen sub-anticonvulsant doses. Similar results were later obtained in the focal pilocarpine model of limbic seizures [20]. These pioneering works had two important limitations: (a) they used weak, unspecific modulators of ABC transporters; and (b) experiments were performed without discriminating between responder and nonresponder animals. The first issue was solved with tariquidar, a third-generation and more specific inhibitor of Pgp [21]. Inhibition of Pgp by tariquidar increased the phenytoin brain-to-plasma ratio. Definitive preclinical proof of concept of the transporter hypothesis was obtained by coadministration of tariquidar to drug-resistant animals with Pgp overactivity [22]. Similar results were observed in the 3-mercaptopropionic acid model of refractory seizures, which is associated with Pgp upregulation at the blood-brain barrier, neurons, and astrocytes [23]. Remarkably, verapamil add-on therapy did not improve seizure control in a study on phenobarbitalresistant dogs, and some animals showed a worsening of seizure control [24], which highlights the potential influence of interspecies variability and the necessity to validate the transporter hypothesis at clinical trials.

Concerning clinical data, substantial evidence shows high expression levels of ABC transporters at the neurovascular unit of nonresponders [25–32]. Most of these studies compare samples from patients with intractable epilepsy subjected to surgical removal of the epileptic focus with samples of human brain from people with no history of seizures. While brain tissue from drug-responsive epileptic patients would be a more adequate control, such samples are unavailable since the invasive procedure to obtain them is unacceptable in responders. This limitation has recently been overcome using positron emission tomography [33, 34] which showed that the plasma-to-brain transport rate constants K1 for [11C]verapamil and (R)-[11C]verapamil tend to be reduced in different brain regions of drug-resistant epileptic patients in comparison with both healthy individuals and seizure-free patients.

Reversal of drug resistance after blocking ABC transporters would constitute definite proof of the transporter hypothesis.

Anecdotal cases of refractory patients who have shown improvement when AEDs were coadministered with verapamil have been reported [35–38], but it is unclear if the observed results could be a consequence of the intrinsic anticonvulsant effects of verapamil and/or other drug interactions of pharmacokinetic nature. More recently, a study was conducted on seven children with drugresistant epilepsy [39]. They received verapamil as add-on therapy to baseline AED. Three subjects with genetically determined Dravet syndrome showed a partial response to adjunctive verapamil; another patient with the same syndrome but no known mutation showed partial seizure control during 13 months followed by seizure worsening. Two subjects with structural epilepsy and one with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome showed no improvement. In spite of the limited number of patients participating in the study, the results seem in agreement with the idea that some therapeutic interventions might be more effective in certain subgroups of refractory patients. A double-blind, randomized, single-center trial (initial sample size = 22) showed mild benefits of verapamil in comparison to placebo as add-on therapy for refractory epilepsy for a subset of the participants [40]. Randomized controlled multicentered trials and studies addressing the effect of selective inhibitors of Pgp with no intrinsic activity are still needed to obtain definitive clinical evidence for the transporter hypothesis. Regarding a possible association between genetic variants of ABC transporters and drug-resistant epilepsy, the available studies are controversial and sometimes inconclusive; while former meta-analysis failed to establish an association between ABCB1 variants and refractory epilepsy [41], subgroup analysis in more recent ones suggests associations in Caucasian and Asian subjects [42-44].

The main argument against the transporter hypothesis is that not all AEDs are Pgp substrates. Seemingly contradictory evidence exists regarding which AEDs are substrates and which are not [45, 46], but it should be kept in mind that results are highly dependent on the experimental setting, including the type of assay (in vivo, ex vivo, or in vitro, human versus animal models, concentration equilibrium transport assay, or nonequilibrium conditions). Still, it seems safe to say that some AEDs are unlike Pgp substrates. A number of points should be considered to reach a conclusion regarding the assigned category (substrate or non-substrate). Possible interspecies variability in substrate specificity should not be excluded. Bidirectional transport assays in the presence and absence of a selective Pgp inhibitor might lack sensitivity since directional transport might be masked by the contribution of passive diffusion; this is especially true when high concentrations of the test drug are used. The magnitude of this effect depends on the expression levels of the transporter in the cell culture, the substrate-tested concentrations, the drug affinity for the transporter, and the physicochemical features of the test drug, among others

[47]. Starting the assay with equal drug concentrations on both sides of the cell monolayer (concentration equilibrium transport assay, CETA) removes the concentration gradient, avoiding net diffusion and enhancing sensitivity [48].

Even if some available AEDs are not Pgp substrates, does this entirely preclude the validity of the transporter hypothesis? Not really. First, Pgp is one among many other efflux transporters possibly involved in drug-resistant epilepsy. Most of the studies determining the directional transport of AEDs have focused on Pgp; however, some of the AEDs are transported by other members of the ABC superfamily. The role of BCRP in the drug resistance phenomena might have been overlooked: while previous work seemed to suggest that AEDs were not transported by BCRP [49], more recent studies using double-knockout Mdrla/lb(-/-)/ Bcrp(-/-) mice and the CETA model suggest otherwise [50, 51]. Interestingly, proteomic studies have revealed ABCG2 as the transporter with the highest expression levels at the BBB of healthy subjects [52]. Moreover, due to the partial overlapping of the substrate specificity of different ABC transporters (together with reported co-expression and co-localization patterns that point to a cooperative role in the disposition of common substrates) [50-52], the role of a certain ABC transporter might be obscured owing to the function of others, their concerted function, and possible compensatory regulation, thus requiring complex models to study the phenomena. The difficulties to quantify the levels of expression of a given transporter in different regions of the brain of patients who have not been subjected to surgical procedures and the uncertainties regarding the ability of experimental models to reflect the absolute and relative expression levels of the different ABC efflux transporters at the epileptic foci and the BBB contribute to the difficulties to study the influence of a given transporter in the regional AED bioavailability in the brain.

The current definition of refractory epilepsy itself suggests that the transporter hypothesis may hold even if some of the known AEDs are not recognized by ABC transporters. Since the definition indicates that a patient should be considered unresponsive after failure of two well-tolerated and appropriately chosen and used AED trials, the key to the preceding reasoning lies in what is considered an appropriate drug choice. The definition of drugresistant epilepsy weakens the transporter hypothesis if and only if one of the two appropriate therapeutic interventions was in fact a non-substrate for ABC transporters. At present, in the absence of definitive clinical proof of the transporter hypothesis, clinical guidelines for the management of epilepsy do not recommend to try at least one non-substrate AED; thus, the quality of substrate or non-substrate is presently unrelated to the appropriateness of the intervention. If the transporter hypothesis was validated, then a method for patient selection capable of identifying patients that

Epilepsy

may benefit from therapeutic strategies targeting efflux transport will be required; what is more, patient selection should also be considered when designing clinical trials to study the clinical relevance of the transporter-associated resistance [53], excluding other sources of drug resistance as possible confounders.

1.3 Therapeutic There are a number of possible therapeutic solutions that are being explored in relation to the transporter hypothesis. Inhibition of **Approaches** ABC transporters by adding on transporter blockers has already to Transporterbeen studied as a possible therapeutic solution to multidrug resis-Mediated Refractory tance in cancer, though clinical trials have so far been disappointing ([13, 15, 53] and references therein) due to safety issues. The reader should bear in mind the physiologic role of ABC transporters as a general detoxification mechanism and their involvement in the traffic of endogenous substrates, which discourages the use of add-on inhibitors in the context of long-term therapeutic interventions (such as the ones used in epilepsy). The potential effects of such inhibitors in the pharmacokinetics of other drugs should also be considered in a polymedication scenario owing to the high probability of adverse drug interactions. Moderate or weak inhibitors of ABC transporters emerge as possible solutions; so do therapeutic agents directed to the signaling cascade that regulates the transporter expression [53]. A deep review on such approaches can be found in the excellent articles by Potschka and Luna-Munguia [53, 54].

> The use of a "Trojan horse" approach to deliver therapeutic levels of the ABC transporter substrates to the epileptic focus, avoiding the recognition of the efflux pumps, could also be mentioned. This type of intervention encompasses prodrug design and particulate delivery systems (mainly, pharmaceutical nanocarriers) ([55, 56]; the reader may also refer to the special chapter on this subject, in this same volume). Finally, the design of novel AEDs which are not recognized by ABC transporters constitutes an interesting but presently overlooked alternative solution. In the following sections, we will describe some protocols directed to the early in silico and in vitro identification of substrates of ABC transporters in the frame of AED discovery programs.

#### In Silico Identification of Substrates for ABC Transporters 2

The general procedure to build ligand-based computational models has already been discussed by Talevi and Bruno-Blanch in another chapter of this volume. Similarly, the use of target-based approximations for the early recognition of Pgp substrates through homology modeling and subsequent virtual screening has been discussed by Palestro and Gavernet. Thus, we will only discuss under this section particular aspects of ligand-based approximations aimed to in silico early recognition of ABC transporter substrates, with emphasis on the suitability of meta-classifiers for this purpose. Naturally, the general objective here is to discard substrates of ABC transporters; that is, ABC efflux pumps will be regarded as antitargets, i.e., *a biological target that causes undesirable effects when interacting with a drug*. Note that unlike common screening campaigns, where the compounds that interact with a given biological target are retained for further studies, the compounds interacting with an antitarget will not progress to additional testing.

We suggest starting any protocol to identify potential new treatments for efflux transporter-associated refractory epilepsy with high-throughput cost-efficient in silico screening tools and then gradually advance to computationally demanding models with lower throughput, reserving in vitro and in vivo models to the last stages of the screening. This cascade "in silico and in vitro first, in vivo later" approximation is not only cost-efficient (experimental tests are always more expensive than in silico experiments) but is also in good agreement with the 3R's bioethical principle, since it helps replacing and reducing animal testing as much as possible.

The reader may choose between developing its own in-house in silico model and resorting to any of the (many) models reported previously (see, for example, the models reviewed in references [57–59]). Some model developers offer their models online or in software packages, either freely or commercially. See, for example, Biozyne (http://pgp.biozyne.com/, last assessed January 2016) and Althotas Virtual Laboratory (http://pgp.althotas.com/, last assessed January 2016) [60, 61]. Some models can be reproduced from literature reports provided that you can access the required software tools. If you decide to use models developed by someone else for your predictions, it might be a good idea to examine the original papers in which such models are described, in order to assess the suitability of the procedures that have been used for model building and possible limitations of the approach. Do not rely blindly in computational models whose details have not been disclosed. Note that very frequently reported models related to ABC transporters are based on unbalanced training sets in which substrates significantly outnumber non-substrates, resulting in possible bias toward the prediction of the dominant category. On the other hand, many of the reported models have been derived from congeneric series of molecules, severely restricting their chemical space coverage. Finally, models to predict interaction with ABC transporters are seldom complemented by experimental validation of the results. As a general rule, when using models related to ABC transporters developed by other modelers, you should try posing the following questions: Have the models been derived from a balanced training set? Have the models been

inferred from a chemically diverse training set? Is it possible for you to estimate whether a predicted compound belongs to the applicability domain of the model? Have the models been appropriately validated using at least external validation procedures? If your answer to any of this questions is no or if you do not know the answer, avoid using the correspondent model(s). As a final advice on this matter, try to review the quality of the biological data used for training purposes. Section 3 will discuss some advice for in vitro permeability assays that could be used as reference. As discussed in the chapter by Talevi and Bruno-Blanch in this same volume, there are some robust modeling approaches (namely, classification models and ensemble learning) that can help mitigating noise related to dubious or heterogeneous experimental data. Finally, note that accuracy metrics reported in the literature for a given model often correspond to a single score cutoff value. If you are able to build a receiving operating characteristic (ROC) curve, you may even optimize the score threshold value according to your own scenario, opting for a cutoff value that favors specificity or sensitivity depending on your particular needs [62]. From the work by Truchon and Bayly, it is suggested to study the behavior of a given virtual screening/ranking method by seeding a relatively small number of known hits among a large number of decoys [63]. Through analytical work and proper statistical simulation methods, these authors demonstrated that the standard deviations in different metrics used to assess ranking methods tend to converge in such conditions, simultaneously removing a possible "saturation effect." In brief, do not excessively rely in conclusions regarding ranking metrics when they have been drawn from a limited-size test sample; instead, conduct your own evaluation through a pilot screening campaign dispersing a small sample of known hits among a large number of decoys: you might find the directory of useful decoys valuable for this purpose [64].

If you choose to build your own model(s) to predict affinity for ABC transporters, you must assume similar considerations. The key point here is that, owing to the polyspecificity that characterizes ABC transporters and the high interlab variability associated with experimental data, predicting whether a substance is or is not transported by a given member of the ABC superfamily is particularly challenging. Back in 2007, based on the high variability of Pgp experimental affinity data, Zhang and colleagues estimated the upper bound of accuracy for Pgp models in 85% [65], which is quite low compared with the accuracy achieved in the frame of other modeling problems. With some exceptions that overcome that theoretic upper bound (see, for instance, [66]), most of the reported models on ABC transporters display an overall accuracy similar to 80%. Typically, modeling efforts rely on biological data and chemical datasets compiled from literature: classification models can be used to alleviate the noise associated with such heterogeneous experimental data and large interlaboratory variability [67]; as Polanski et al. affirm, extensive data independence implies qualitative rather than quantitative solutions [68].

The intrinsic difficulty of predicting affinity for ABC transporters has led many researches in the field to contemplate more flexible techniques such as nonlinear models [59] and more robust approximations such as ensemble learning/consensus QSAR or locally weighted methods [58, 69–75]. Also note that there is some evidence that ensemble learning could reduce the necessity of applicability domain estimation, assuring wider coverage of the chemical space [76]. Despite a very large number of models and algorithms for the computer-aided recognition of substrates for ABC transporters have been reported, very few have been applied in the specific field of drug discovery for refractory epilepsy, including the models by Di Ianni et al. [74] which have been used either alone or combined with docking protocols, as described by Palestro and Gavernet in this same volume.

Finally, when compiling training data, interspecies differences and other sources of variability (e.g., expression systems, genetic variants) must be considered.

### 3 In Vitro Permeability Assay to Identify ABC Transporter Substrates

In vitro models for the prediction of drug transport across biological barriers include cell cultures that reproduce physiological characteristics of a variety of barriers, such as the intestine and the blood-brain barrier. As previously insinuated, one of the main limitations of such systems is the high variability in permeability estimations, which makes difficult the comparison and combination of data from different laboratories and demands careful validacontinuous suitability demonstration: tion and proper standardization of preexperimental, experimental, and postexperimental factors helps in reducing intra- and interlaboratory variability [77–79]. In the conclusion of their recent and remarkable study assessing the influence of a diversity of factors (mainly, days between seeding and experiment, passage number, coating, and data analysis approach) on variability and permeability, Oltra-Noguera and coworkers conclude that a similar study should be undertaken in each laboratory to evaluate the influence of protocol variables on the cell monolayer properties, in order to standardize the conditions and set acceptance criteria [77]. Caco-2, MDCK, and MDCK Pgp-transfected clone (MDCK-MDR1) cell lines are the most frequently used to determine in vitro permeability values and characterize drug transport mechanisms. Among them, we are currently using MDCK-MDR1 cells to study if AED candidates are or are not Pgp substrates. MDCK-MDR1 constitute a fast maturation model; note that MDCK-MDR1 lines with low values of transepithelial resistance (TEER) have also been used as bloodbrain barrier model [80, 81]. Back to the study of Oltra-Noguera, MDCK–MDR1 showed constant CV among passages, protocols, and experimental conditions, but permeability values were affected by all the studied conditions mentioned previously, indicating that for this cell line, standardization of experimental conditions is particularly critical to obtain comparable results between different laboratories [77].

Since the more relevant transporters possibly contributing to drug-resistant epilepsy are preferentially expressed in the apical membrane of the cells, the efflux (or transport) ratio can be generally used to define whether a given drug is or is not a substrate from an ABC transporter. Briefly, using a permeability chamber in which a donor and a receiver compartment are separated by the cell monolayer growing on a polycarbonate membrane, apparent permeability coefficients (Papp) are calculated in both apical-tobasolateral and basolateral-to-apical directions; the efflux ratio is defined as the apparent permeability obtained in the basolateral-toapical direction divided by those obtained in the apical-tobasolateral direction. If the only drug transport mechanism is diffusion, then no significant difference between both permeability coefficients is expected, and the efflux ratio will be similar to 1; in contrast, the movement of a substrate for an efflux transporter preferentially expressed in the apical membrane will be restricted in the apical-to-basolateral direction, and the efflux ratio will tend to be larger than 1. Assuming sink conditions (negligible drug concentration in acceptor versus donor compartment, i.e., acceptor concentration <10% of donor concentrations), Fick's first law may be used to compute the correspondent Papp as follows:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}Q}{\mathrm{d}t} = \mathrm{Papp} \times S \times \mathrm{Co}$$

where dQ/dt is the appearance rate of drug in the receiver side, calculated using linear regression of amounts in the receiver chamber versus time, S is the surface area of the monolayer, and Co is the initial drug concentration in the donor compartment. Since after starting the experiment the concentration in the donor compartment is not really Co but constantly changes with time, the precedent equation can be corrected by replacing Co by Cd, the concentration in the donor compartment at each sample time (which can be simply calculated from the difference between the initial drug amount in the donor compartment and the drug amount in the receiver compartment at each sample time, assuming biotransformation within the cells can be neglected) [82]. If the sink condition is not verified, one should resort to non-sink equations, which are valid both in sink and non-sink conditions [77]. Note that concentrations should be corrected to consider the dilution effect related to media replenishment. Ideally, the mass balance should be checked at the end of the experiment by determining the amount of drug in cell membranes and inside the cells,

though the percentage of compound retained in the cell compartment is often negligible [77]. Note that a given cell line will express more than one drug transporter. Thus, the efflux ratio should be repeated in the presence of a specific inhibitor of the transporter being studied. Provided that the test drug is actually a substrate of the (anti)targeted transporter, such experiment should remove the influence of the (anti)targeted transporter returning the efflux ratio to around 1.

According to the results of Oltra-Noguera and collaborators, the best conditions to study compounds subjected to active efflux include using an intermediate or late passage number, polycarbonate filter without collagen coating, and sink corrected equations [77]. Within our group the following experimental conditions are observed: MDCK II-MDR1 cells are grown in 25 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flasks using DMEM with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% l-glutamine, 1% nonessential amino acids, and penicillin and streptomycin at 37 °C in 5% atmosphere. Cells are split twice a week at 70-80% confluence in a ratio of 1:20 or 1:30 using trypsin-EDTA solution (0.25%). All transport assays were done with cells from passages 19 to 43. Cells were kept at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cells are seeded in 6-well Costar Snapwell plates with polycarbonate membrane inserts at a density of 50,000 cells per insert  $(1.12 \text{ cm}^2)$  and grown for 4 days in culture medium. The medium is replaced every day. The apical media volume is 0.5 ml, and the basal volume is 2 ml. Integrity of the cell monolayers is determined by measuring the TEER using an epithelial voltammeter (Millicell-ERS, Millipore Corporation); normal TEER in MDRK and MDCK II–MDR1 cells is about  $190 \Omega$  cm<sup>2</sup> [83]. In addition, the integrity is also checked using atenolol (which is transported by the paracellular pathway). The Papp of atenolol across MDCK II-MDR1 cell monolayers in these conditions is typically  $1-5 \times 10^{-7}$  cm/s. The expression of Pgp is checked by Western blot analysis and by transport assay with trimethoprim, a substrate for Pgp [84]. On the day of the experiment, culture medium is removed, and cells are washed three times with media transport (HBSS, Hanks' balance salt solution, pH 7.4, Gibco-BRL). The filter inserts containing the cell monolayers are placed in an Ussing chamber and kept at 37 °C and under constant gassing with carbogen. Test compounds are added to the donor side (4 ml for the apical and basal chamber). At 20, 40, 60, 80, 100, and 120 min, samples (400 µl) are taken from the acceptor compartment followed by the addition of 400 µl of transport media. For the inhibition experiments, cell monolayers are incubated with amiodarone chlorhydrate (50 µM) [85] for 1 h in apical and basolateral compartments before adding the test compound. A schematic representation of the device is shown in Fig. 1.

A critical point in transport assays is the AED concentrations used in these studies [48]; the role of drug transporters may be concealed by the contribution of passive diffusion, especially when



Fig. 1 Diffusion chamber used in MDCK II-MDR1 permeability studies

highly permeable compounds (which is the case for most AEDs) and/or weak substrates are assayed. This effect could be more pronounced at high concentrations, since the concentration gradient is the driving force for passive diffusion. It is advised to test therapeutically relevant drug concentrations [48]. Note that free drug levels in plasma seldom exceed micromolar concentrations and brain levels are usually even smaller. Thus, the use of as low concentrations as possible is suggested. However, the lower limit of the possible concentration range to be used depends on the sensitivity of the analytical detection method used. HPLC MS/ MS methods usually fulfill the requirements. Naturally, the analytical methods should be properly validated. Pay close attention to the fact that some ABC transporter substrates such as verapamil display a biphasic behavior depending on the concentration [48, 86]; thus, using a concentration range covering from low nanomolar to micromolar concentrations is highly preferred to using a single concentration, when possible. If due to sensitivity issues of the available analytical method the lowest concentrations of that range are precluded, try to use at least therapeutically relevant concentrations; the use of as low concentrations as possible could help reduce the impact of passive diffusion on the study results. Take into consideration that in general expression levels of the transporter at the monolayer will not represent local expression levels at epileptogenic regions in the brain and that ABC transporters display stereospecificity for some substrates.

Alternatively, using identical initial concentrations at both sides of the monolayer (apical and basolateral compartment) is an elegant solution to remove the passive diffusion component, increasing the assay sensitivity (i.e., CETA) [48]. In such case, only the net direction of the transport should be analyzed. In the absence of mediated transport, no net drug movement should be registered. In contrast, if the drug acts as a substrate for an efflux transporter expressed at the apical membrane, a net movement in the basolateral-to-apical direction should take place.

# 4 Ex Vivo Permeability Assay to Identify ABC Transporter Substrates: Evert Gut Sac Model

The in vitro everted gut sac model was first introduced in 1954 by Wilson and Wiseman [87]. Since then modifications and improvements have been made to the model to increase the viability of tissue and to maintain intact mucosal epithelium that mimic the in vivo conditions [88, 89]. The everted sac model has been explored to carry out pharmacokinetic investigations of the impact of efflux transport modulators on the absorption of drugs [90-94]. The main advantage of this technique with respect to in vitro assays is that frequently results from the everted intestinal sac model have been in agreement with in vivo findings [92, 95–98]. On the other hand, the cell culture assays conducted in either human cancer lines expressing ABC tansporters or transfected cell lines with high density of transporter molecules, which is required for their function to be predominant over membrane permeation and passive diffusion processes, have high negative predictive value, but often give false positives [99]. Indeed, there are evidences that the absorption rate of test compounds is not always similar in the everted gut sac than in the Caco-2 monolayer [100]. For oral absorption studies, Caco-2 cell line experiments were approved by the Food and Drug Administration, but these cell lines are not always the right substitute for the ex vivo everted gut sac model [101]. For that reason, new drug candidates screened for interactions in silico and in vitro culture assays during early stages of drug development should be tested in a subsequent step by ex vivo assays such as everted gut sac, the isolated intestinal perfusion, or Ussing chamber system [102].

The advantages of this everted gut sac model as an ex vivo tool to study the mechanisms and kinetics of drug absorption are a relatively large surface area available for absorption and the presence of a mucus layer [103]. On the other hand, the tissue viability is one of the main limiting parameters having a maximum of approximately 2 h [88].

Different animals have been chosen for everted gut sac experiments, but the everted rat intestinal sac is the most commonly used [87, 88, 90, 104]. The reproducibility of the rat everted gut sac suggests that this ex vivo model is a useful tool for studying transport of substrates and modulators of ABC transporters [93].

4.1 Localization of ABC Transporters along the Intestinal Tract One of the keys for the success of the analysis of the participation of ABC transporters in drug absorption by the everted gut sac technique is to select the correct intestinal segment. A cellular and subcellular localization description of the most frequently studied ABC transporters in human and in rats is briefly described below. For a full scan of the intestinal expression of Pgp (MDR1/ABCB1), BCRP, and MRP2 (ABCC2) in male and female rats, consult McLean et al. [105].

The expression of Pgp increases from proximal to distal portions in the apical membrane of the intestinal crypts in human, resulting in the highest expression levels in the colon [106, 107]. In the same way, it shows an increase from proximal to distal regions in the rat [105].

In the rat and human intestine, MRP2/ABCC2 mRNA expression is highest in the apical membrane of the enterocytes in the duodenum and subsequently decreases in direction to the terminal ileum and colon where it is only minimal [103, 108]. Protein levels of MRP2 in rats decrease along the intestinal axis from proximal to distal parts [105].

Transcription of BCRP in the human jejunum is higher than that of MDR1 and comparable with that of MRP2 [109]. BCRP/ ABCG2 mRNA is also expressed with apical localization in the epithelium of the small intestine of the rat showing duodenum and jejunum levels similar to those found for MRP2 and then decreasing slightly to the more distal portions [109]. In the large intestine, a continuous decrease of the BCRP mRNA toward the distal portions is observed finding in the rectum a half of the levels found in the small intestine [110]. However, protein levels of BCRP show an arcuate pattern with the highest expression toward the end of the small intestine in the rat [90, 105].

On the other hand, MRP3/ABCC3 localizes to the basolateral membrane of enterocytes in rats. It is expressed in low levels in the duodenum and jejunum but markedly increases in the ileum and colon [108].

There are not sex differences in the mRNA and protein expression levels of ABC transporters in the entire intestine of the rat [105].

As described above, the localization of ABC transporters not always matches thorough the intestine between rat and human beings. Moreover, differences exist between the mRNA expression and the subsequent translation to protein because of posttranscriptional modifications. Furthermore, it is important to note that expression levels of transporters can be modified under various physiopathological conditions, in the presence of polymorphisms, and by administration of drugs. For example, we observed overexpression of BCRP in the ileum after chronic oral administration with the antiretroviral efavirenz that reduces its own intestinal penetration [90]. Yumoto et al. demonstrated that in situ intestinal absorption of methotrexate, a substrate of Mrp2, is decreased by oral treatment with ursodeoxycholic acid that causes Mrp2 upregulation [92]. Moreover, the metabolic syndrome generated by enhanced fructose intake in rats decreases the protein expression and activity of ileal Pgp, thus increasing the bioavailability of rhodamine [93]. Changes in expression level, subcellular localization, and functional properties can all be involved in interindividual differences in drug pharmacokinetics. For that reason, the expression levels of the ABC transporter of interest need to be checked in experimental models before carrying out the everted gut sac technique to achieve optimal experimental conditions and to avoid false results.

4.2 Everted Gut Sac Under anesthesia with urethane (1.2 g/kg body weight), rapidly remove the jejunum or duodenum or ileum of the intestine and Preparation wash each segment with an ice-cold oxygenated Krebs solution (pH 6.5) containing 7 g/l sodium chloride, 0.34 g/l potassium chloride, 1.8 g/l glucose, 0.251 g/l disodium hydrogen phosphate, 0.207 g/l sodium dihydrogen phosphate, and 46.8 mg/l magnesium chloride. Gently evert the washed intestine over a glass rod and divide into segments (5-6 cm each). Clamp one end of the everted intestine and tie with a silk braided suture and then place a short intravenous cannula at the other end and tie the intestine around it using a second braided silk suture making sure it does not break to hang it so that this end is available for the administration of fluids. It is very important to prevent the intestinal wall to enter the cannula being damaged because the fluid inside the bag was lost by these sites giving erroneous results. Previously, enter a stainless thin wire in the cannula cap that acts as a hook at the other end so as to be able to hang the everted sac in the container where it will conduct the test. Hang the everted filled sac in the incubation tube containing drug in 5-10 ml oxygenated Krebs solution at 37 °C alone or in the presence of a fixed dose of ABC inhibitors preventing the sac to touch the walls. Fill the sac with 600-800 µl Krebs solution containing the drug to be tested using a 1 ml syringe. Sampling could be performed at different intervals considering that the same amount of medium as the sample is taken must be replaced. Depending on the transport direction to be analyzed, e.g., serosal to mucosal or the opposite, drugs to be tested could be added in the incubation container or into the sac [90, 93, 103].

There are several factors that need to be taken into account due to the fact that they impact on the outcome and conclusion of everted gut sac studies, e.g., animal factors (age, sex, species, diet, disease state, chronic treatment, and toxicity), intestinal segment (ileum, jejunum, duodenum, and colon), and experimental factors (e.g., pH, aeration, temperature, concentration of substances). Those factors have been extensively revised by Alam et al. [111].

Finally, to achieve sensitivity and specificity, it is important to select the best quantification method for each compound as spectrophotometry [93, 112], liquid chromatography [92, 93, 96], and radioactivity [106] and to perform the analysis in the presence of highly specific pairs of substrate inhibitors [112].

### 5 Final Remarks

Despite the transporter hypothesis of refractory epilepsy has long been studied (with convincing preclinical evidence and encouraging yet limited clinical evidence), such hypothesis is still underexplored in the drug discovery field to assist the search of new treatments for refractory epilepsy. Although a considerable number of computational models related to the early identification of substrates for ABC transporters have indeed been developed, few of them have been applied specifically in the field of AED discovery.

ABC transporter polyspecificity and interlaboratory variability of experimental data on their substrates and non-substrates constitute major challenges to the development of accurate computational models oriented to the prediction of affinity for efflux pumps. We have reviewed some general criteria to circumvent or at least minimize the impact of such limitations when building computational models for that purpose, prominently, the use of classifiers and meta-classifiers. Whenever applying external (i.e., non-inhouse models), estimation of the model's coverage/applicability domain is essential.

Regarding experimental substrate assessment, some relevant issues include measuring interaction with not one but a number of ABC transporters with (partially) overlapping substrate specificity (which often act in a concerted manner and can be subjected to compensatory regulation) and testing a wide range of therapeutically relevant concentrations (from nM to  $\mu$ M) in order to discard possible biphasic responses. The use of small concentrations helps in minimizing the influence of passive diffusion on the study outcome; alternatively, the CETA is a sensitive model to measure the affinity for ABC transporters of highly permeable drugs and/or weak substrates. Experimental variables should be carefully study to enhance the reproducibility of the obtained results [113].

### Acknowledgments

The authors' work is supported by Agencia de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica (PICT 2010-1774, PICT 2013-3175), CONICET, Universidad Nacional de La Plata, and Argentinean National Institute of Medications (INAME, ANMAT).

#### References

- Brodie MJ, Barry SJ, Bamagous GA et al (2012) Patterns of treatment response in newly diagnosed epilepsy. Neurology 78:1548–1554
- Sinha S, Siddiqui KA (2011) Definition of intractable epilepsy. Neurosciences (Riyadh) 16:3–9
- Löscher W, Schmidt D (2011) Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. Epilepsia 52:657–678
- Löscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE et al (2013) New avenues for anti-epileptic drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:757–776
- Kwan P, Brodie MJ (2005) Potential role of drug transporters in the pathogenesis of medically intractable epilepsy. Epilepsia 46:224–235
- 6. Remy S, Beck H (2006) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. Brain 129:18–35
- Schmidt D, Löscher W (2005) Drug resistance in epilepsy: putative neurobiologic and clinical mechanisms. Epilepsia 46:858–877
- Fang M, Xi ZQ, Wu Y et al (2011) A new hypothesis of drug refractory epilepsy: neural network hypothesis. Med Hypotheses 76:871–876
- 9. Löscher W, Klotz U, Zimprich F et al (2009) The clinical impact of pharmacogenetics on the treatment of epilepsy. Epilepsia 50:1–23
- Rogawski MA, Johnson MR (2008) Intrinsic severity as a determinant of antiepileptic drug refractoriness. Epilepsy Curr 8:127–130
- Schmidt D, Löscher W (2009) New developments in antiepileptic drug resistance: an integrative view. Epilepsy Curr 9:47–52
- Kobow K, El-Osta A, Blumcke I (2013) The methylation hypothesis of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. Epilepsia 54(Suppl S2):41–47
- Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) In: Rocha L, Cavalheiro EA (eds) Pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. From genes and molecules to promising therapies, 1st edn. Springer, New York, NY
- Rees DC, Johnson E, Lewison O (2009) ABC transporters: the power to change. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:218–227
- 15. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Efflux transporters at the blood-brain barrier. Therapeutic opportunities. In: Montenegro PA, Juárez SN (eds) The blood-brain barrier: new research, 1st edn. Nova, New York, NY
- 16. Glavinas H, Krajscsi P, Cserepes J et al (2004) The role of ABC transporters in drug resistance, metabolism and toxicity. Curr Drug Deliv 1:27–42

- Abuznait AH, Kaddoumi A (2012) Role of ABC transporters in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. ACS Chem Neurosci 3:820–831
- Potschka H, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W (2001) P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistanceassociated protein are involved in the regulation of extracellular levels of the major antiepileptic drug carbamazepine in the brain. NeuroReport 12:3557–3560
- Potschka H, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W (2003) Multidrug resistance protein MRP2 contributes to blood-brain barrier function and restricts antiepileptic drug activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 306:124–131
- 20. Clinckers R, Smolders I, Meurs A et al (2005) Quantitative in vivo microdialysis study on the influence of multidrug transporters on the blood-brain barrier passage of oxcarbazepine: concomitant use of hippocampal monoamines as pharmacodynamics markers for the anticonvulsant activity. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 314:725–731
- 21. van Vliet EA, van Schaik R, Edelbroek PM et al (2006) Inhibition of the multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein improves seizure control in phenytoin-treated chronic epileptic rats. Epilepsia 47:672–680
- 22. Brandt C, Bethmann K, Gastens AM et al (2006) The multidrug transporter hypothesis of drug resistance in epilepsy: proof-of-principle in a rat model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 24:202–211
- 23. Höcht C, Lazarowski A, González NN et al (2007) Nimodipine restores the altered hippocampal phenytoin pharmacokinetics in a refractory epileptic model. Neurosci Lett 413:168–172
- Jambroszyk M, Tipold A, Potschka H (2011) Add-on treatment with verapamil in pharmacoresistant canine epilepsy. Epilepsia 52:284–291
- Tishler DM, Weinberg KI, Hinton DR et al (1995) MDR1 gene expression in brain of patients with medically intractable epilepsy. Epilepsia 36:1–6
- Dombrowski SW, Desai SY, Marroni M et al (2001) Overexpression of multidrug resistance genes in endothelial cells from patients with refractory epilepsy. Epilepsia 42:1501–1506
- 27. Sisodiya SM, Lin WR, Harding BN et al (2002) Drug resistance in epilepsy: expression of drug resistance proteins in common causes of refractory epilepsy. Brain 125:22–31
- 28. Aronica E, Gorter JA, Jansen GH et al (2003) Expression and cellular distribution

of multidrug transporter proteins in two major causes of medically intractable epilepsy: focal cortical dysplasia and glioneuronal tumors. Neuroscience 118:417–429

- 29. Aronica E, Gorter JA, Redeker S et al (2005) Localization of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) in microvessel endothelium of human control and epileptic brain. Epilepsia 46:849–857
- 30. Lazawoski A, Massaro M, Schteinschnaider A et al (2004) Neuronal MDR-1 gene expression and persistent low levels of anticonvulsants in a child with refractory epilepsy. Ther Drug Monit 26:44–46
- Kubota H, Ishihara H, Langmann T et al (2006) Distribution and functional activity of P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistanceassociated proteins in human brain microvascular endothelial cells in hippocampal sclerosis. Epilepsy Res 68:213–228
- 32. Ak H, Ay B, Tanriverdi T et al (2007) Expression and cellular distribution of multidrug resistance-related proteins in patients with focal cortical dysplasia. Seizure 16:493–503
- 33. Feldmann M, Koepp M (2012) P-glycoprotein imaging in temporal lobe epilepsy: in vivo PET experiments with the Pgp substrate [11C]-verapamil. Epilepsia 53(Suppl 6):60–63
- 34. Feldmann M, Asselin MC, Liu J et al (2013) P-glycoprotein expression and function in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a casecontrol study. Lancet Neurol 12:777–785
- 35. Summers MA, Moore JL, McAuley JW (2004) Use of verapamil as a potential P-glycoprotein inhibitor in a patient with refractory epilepsy. Ann Pharmacother 38:1631–1634
- Ianetti P, Spalice A, Parisi P (2005) Calciumchannel blocker verapamil administration in prolonged and refractory status epilepticus. Epilepsia 46:967–969
- 37. Schmitt FC, Dehnicke C, Merschhemke M et al (2010) Verapamil attenuates the malignant treatment course in recurrent status epilepticus. Epilepsy Behav 17:565–568
- Pirker S, Baumgartner C (2011) Termination of refractory focal status epilepticus by the P-glycoprotein inhibitor verapamil. Eur J Neurol 18:e151
- 39. Nicita F, Spalice A, Papetti L et al (2014) Efficacy of verapamil as an adjunctive treatment in children with drug-resistant epilepsy: a pilot study. Seizure 23:36–40
- 40. Borlot F, Wither RG, Ali A (2014) A pilot double-blind trial using verapamil as adjuvant therapy for refractory seizures. Epilepsy Res 108:1642–1651

- 41. Haerian BS, Lim KS, Tan CT et al (2011) Association of ABCB1 gene polymorphisms and their haplotypes with response to antiepileptic drugs: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Pharmacogenomics 12:713–725
- 42. Yu L, Liao WP, Yi YH et al (2015) ABCB1 G2677T/A polymorphism is associated with the risk of drug-resistant epilepsy in Asians. Epilepsy Res 115:100–108
- 43. Lv WP, Han RF, Shu ZR (2014) Associations between the C3435T polymorphism of the ABCB1 gene and drug resistance in epilepsy: a meta-analysis. Int J Clin Exp Med 7:3924–3932
- 44. Li SX, Liu YY, Wang QB (2015) ABCB1 gene C3435T polymorphism and drug resistance in epilepsy: evidence based on 8,604 subjects. Med Sci Monit 21:861–868
- 45. Zhang C, Kwan P, Zuo Z et al (2012) The transport of antiepileptic drugs by P-gp. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:930–942
- 46. Stépien KM, Tomaszewski M, Tomaszewska J et al (2012) The multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein in pharmacoresistance to antiepileptic drugs. Pharmacol Rep 64:1011– 1019
- Luna-Tortós C, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W (2008) Several major antiepileptic drugs are substrates for human P-glycoprotein. Neuropharmacology 55:1364–1375
- 48. Löscher W, Luna-Tortós C, Römermann K et al (2011) Do ATP-binding cassette transporters cause pharmacoresistance in epilepsy? Problems and approaches in determining which antiepileptic drugs are affected. Curr Pharm Des 17:2808–2828
- 49. Cerveny L, Pavek P, Malakova J et al (2006) Lack of interactions between breast cancer resistance protein (bcrp/abcg2) and selected antiepileptic agents. Epilepsia 47:461–468
- 50. Römermann K, Helmer R, Löscher W (2015) The antiepileptic drug lamotrigine is a substrate of mouse and human breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2). Neuropharmacology 93:7–14
- 51. Nakanishi H, Yonezawa A, Matsubara K et al (2013) Impact of P-glycoprotein and breast cancer resistance protein on the brain distribution of antiepileptic drugs in knockout mouse models. Eur J Pharmacol 710:20–28
- 52. Uchida Y, Ohtsuki S, Katsukura Y et al (2011) Quantitative targeted absolute proteomics of human blood-brain barrier transporters and receptors. J Neurochem 117:333–345
- 53. Potschka H, Luna-Munguia H (2014) CNS transporters and drug delivery in epilepsy. Curr Pharm Des 20:1534–1542

- 54. Potschka H (2012) Role of CNS efflux drug transporters in antiepileptic drug delivery: overcoming CNS efflux drug transport. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:943–952
- 55. Rosillo-de la Torre A, Luna-Bárcenas G, Orozco-Suárez S et al (2014) Pharmacoresistant epilepsy and nanotechnology. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 6:329–340
- Bennewitz MF, Saltzman WM (2009) Nanotechnology for delivery of drugs to the brain for epilepsy. Nanotherapeutics 6: 323–336
- 57. Ecker GF, Stockner T, Chiba P (2008) Computational models for prediction of interactions with ABC-transporters. Drug Discov Today 13:311–317
- Chen L, Li Y, Yu H et al (2012) Computational models for predicting substrates or inhibitors of P-glycoprotein. Drug Discov Today 17:343–351
- 59. Pinto M, Digles D, Ecker GF (2014) Computational models for predicting the interaction with ABC transporters. Drug Discov Today Technol 12:e69–e77
- 60. Levatić J, Ćurak J, Karlj M et al (2013) Accurate models for P-gp drug recognition induced from a cancer cell line cytotoxicity screen. J Med Chem 56:5691–5708
- 61. Bikadi Z, Hazai I, Malik D et al (2011) Predicting P-glycoprotein-mediated drug transport based on support vector machine and three-dimensional crystal structure of P-glycoprotein. PLoS One 6:e25815
- 62. Triballeau N, Acher F, Brabet I et al (2005) Virtual screening workflow development guided by the "Receiver Operating Characteristic" curve approach. Application to high-throughput docking on metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 4. J Chem Inf Model 48:2534–2547
- 63. Truchon JF, Bayly CI (2007) Evaluating virtual screening methods: good and bad metrics for the "early recognition" problem. J Chem Inf Model 47:488–508
- 64. Mysinger MM, Carchia M, Irwin JJ et al (2012) Directory of useful decoys, enhanced (DUD-E): better ligands and decoys for better benchmarking. J Med Chem 55:6582–6594
- 65. Zhang L, Balimane P, Johnson S et al (2007) Development of an in silico model for predicting efflux substrates in Caco-2 cells. Int J Pharm 343:98–105
- 66. Huang J, Ma G, Muhammad I et al (2007) Identifying P-glycoprotein substrates using a support vector machine optimized by a particle swarm. J Chem Inf Model 47:1638–1647

- 67. Talevi A, Bellera C, Di Ianni M et al (2012) An Integrated drug development approach applying topological descriptors. Curr Comput Aided Drug Des 8:172–181
- 68. Polanski J, Bak A, Gieleciak R et al (2006) Modeling robust QSAR. J Chem Inf Model 46:2310–2318
- Penzotti JE, Lamb ML, Evensen E et al (2002) A computational ensemble pharmacophore model for identifying substrates of P-glycoprotein. J Med Chem 45:1737–1740
- 70. Li WX, Li L, Eksterowicz J et al (2007) Significance analysis and multiple pharmacophore models for differentiating P-glycoprotein substrates. J Chem Inf Model 47:2429–2438
- Svetnik V, Wang T, Tong C et al (2005) Boosting: an ensemble learning tool for compound classification and QSAR modeling. J Chem Inf Model 45:786–799
- 72. Cao DS, Huang JH, Yan J et al (2012) Kernel k-nearest neighbor algorithm as a flexible SAR modeling tool. Chemom Intell Lab Systems 114:19–23
- 73. Gantner ME, Di Ianni ME, Ruiz ME et al (2013) Development of conformation independent computational models for the early recognition of breast cancer resistance protein substrates. Biomed Res Int 2013:863592
- 74. Di Ianni ME, Talevi A, Castro EA et al (2011) Development of a highly specific ensemble of topological models for early identification of P-glycoprotein substrates. J Chemometr 25:313–322
- 75. Leong MK, Chen HB, Shih YH (2012) Prediction of promiscuous P-Glycoprotein inhibition using a novel machine learning scheme. PLoS One 7:e33829
- 76. Zhu H, Tropsha A, Foruches D et al (2008) Combinatorial QSAR modeling of chemical toxicants tested against *Tetrahymena pyriformis.* J Chem Inf Model 48:766–784
- 77. Oltra-Noguera D, Magas-Sanjuan V, Centelles-Sangüesa A et al (2015) Variability of permeability estimation from different protocols of subculture and transport experiments in cell monolayers. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 71:21–32
- Rodriguez YI, Abalos IS, Lozano V et al (2011) Standardization of Caco-2 cell culture as in vitro model for intestinal permeability. Lat Am J Pharm 30:33–38
- 79. Birske-Anderson MJ, Finley JW, Newman SM (1997) The Influence of culture time and passage number on the morphological and physiological development of Caco-2 cells. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 214:248–257

- Garberg P, Ball M, Borg N et al (2005) In vitro models for the blood-brain barrier. Toxicol In Vitro 19:299–334
- 81. Wang Q, Rager JD, Weinstein K et al (2005) Evaluation of the MDR-MDCK cell line as a permeability screen for the blood–brain barrier. Int J Pharm 288:349–359
- Tavelin S, Graski J, Taipalensuu J et al (2002) Applications of epithelial cell culture in studies of drug transport. Methods Mol Biol 188:233–272
- 83. Navarro C, González-Álvarez I, González-Álvarez M et al (2011) Influence of polyunsaturated fatty acids on cortisol transport through MDCK and MDCK-MDR1 cells as blood-brain barrier in vitro model. Eur J Pharm Sci 42:290–299
- 84. Varma MVS, Sateesh K, Panchagnula R (2005) Functional role of P-glycoprotein in limiting intestinal absorption of drugs: contribution of passive permeability to P-glycoprotein mediated efflux transport. Mol Pharm 2:12–21
- 85. Kakumoto M, Takara K, Sakaeda T et al (2002) MDR1-mediated interaction of digoxin with antiarrhythmic or antianginal drugs. Biol Pharm Bull 25:1604–1607
- 86. Karwatsky J, Lincoln MC, Georges EA (2003) A mechanism for P-glycoprotein-mediated apoptosis as revealed by verapamil hypersensitivity. Biochemistry 42:12163–12173
- 87. Wilson TH, Wiseman G (1954) The use of sacs of everted small intestine for the study of the transference of substances from the mucosal to the serosal surface. J Physiol 123:116–125
- 88. Barthe L, Woodley JF, Kenworthy S et al (1998) An improved everted gut sac as a simple and accurate technique to measure paracellular transport across the small intestine. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 23:313–323
- 89. Ugolev AM, Bagiian AA, Ekkert LG (1980) New method of studying membrane hydrolysis and transport as well as metabolic processes in the small intestine in vitro (everted small intestinal sac with bilateral oxygenation). Fiziol Zhurnal SSSR Im I M Sechenova 66:1674–1677
- 90. Peroni RN, Di Gennaro SS, Hocht C et al (2011) Efavirenz is a substrate and in turn modulates the expression of the efflux transporter ABCG2/BCRP in the gastrointestinal tract of the rat. Biochem Pharmacol 82:1227–1233
- 91. Rong Z, Xu Y, Zhang C et al (2013) Evaluation of intestinal absorption of amtolmetin guacyl in rats: breast cancer resistant protein as a primary barrier of oral bioavailability. Life Sci 92:245–251

- 92. Yumoto R, Hamada S, Okada K et al (2009) Effect of ursodeoxycholic acid treatment on the expression and function of multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 in rat intestine. J Pharm Sci 98:2822–2831
- 93. Novak A, Godoy YC, Martinez SA et al (2015) Fructose-induced metabolic syndrome decreases protein expression and activity of intestinal p-glycoprotein. Nutrition 31:871–876
- 94. Cao F, Zhang H, Guo J et al (2008) Mrp2related efflux of scutellarin in the intestinal absorption in rats. Pharmazie 63:75–80
- 95. Patel JP, Korashy HM, El-Kadi AOS et al (2010) Effect of bile and lipids on the stereoselective metabolism of halofantrine by rat everted-intestinal sacs. Chirality 22:275–283
- 96. Ni L, Yu X, Yu Q et al (2008) Effects of cyclosporine A and itraconazole on permeability, biliary excretion and pharmacokinetics of amlodipine. Drug Metab Lett 2:163–168
- 97. Machavaram KK, Gundu J, Yamsani MR (2006) Effect of ketoconazole and rifampicin on the pharmacokinetics of ranitidine in healthy human volunteers: a possible role of P-glycoprotein. Drug Metabol Drug Interact 22:47–65
- Kashimura J, Nagai Y (2007) Inhibitory effect of palatinose on glucose absorption in everted rat gut. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 53:87–89
- 99. del Amo EM, Heikkinen AT, Mönkkönen J (2009) In vitro-in vivo correlation in P-glycoprotein mediated transport in intestinal absorption. Eur J Pharm Sci 36:200–211
- 100. Park MY, Kwon HJ, Sung MK (2009) Intestinal absorption of aloin, aloe-emodin, and aloesin; A comparative study using two in vitro absorption models. Nutr Res Pract 3:9–14
- 101. Lafforgue G, Arellano C, Vachoux C et al (2008) Oral absorption of ampicillin: role of paracellular route vs. PepT1 transporter. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 22:189–201
- 102. van de Kerkhof EG, de Graaf IAM, Groothuis GMM (2007) In vitro methods to study intestinal drug metabolism. Curr Drug Metab 8:658–675
- 103. Dietrich CG, Geier A, Oude Elferink RPJ (2003) ABC of oral bioavailability: transporters as gatekeepers in the gut. Gut 52:1788–1795
- 104. Barthe L, Woodley J, Houin G (1999) Gastrointestinal absorption of drugs: methods and studies. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 13:154–168
- 105. MacLean C, Moenning U, Reichel A et al (2008) Closing the gaps: a full scan of the intestinal expression of p-glycoprotein, breast

cancer resistance protein, and multidrug resistance-associated protein 2 in male and female rats. Drug Metab Dispos 36:1249–1254. doi:10.1124/dmd.108.020859

- 106. Fricker G, Drewe J, Huwyler J et al (1996) Relevance of p-glycoprotein for the enteral absorption of cyclosporin A: in vitro-in vivo correlation. Br J Pharmacol 118:1841–1847
- 107. Suzuki H, Sugiyama Y (2000) Role of metabolic enzymes and efflux transporters in the absorption of drugs from the small intestine. Eur J Pharm Sci 12:3–12
- 108. Rost D, Mahner S, Sugiyama Y et al (2002) Expression and localization of the multidrug resistance-associated protein 3 in rat small and large intestine. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 282:G720–G726
- 109. Taipalensuu J, Törnblom H, Lindberg G et al (2001) Correlation of gene expression of ten drug efflux proteins of the ATP-binding cassette transporter family in normal human jeju-

num and in human intestinal epithelial Caco-2 cell monolayers. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 299:164–170

- 110. Gutmann H, Hruz P, Zimmermann C et al (2005) Distribution of breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) mRNA expression along the human GI tract. Biochem Pharmacol 70:695–699
- 111. Alam MA, Al-Jenoobi FI, Al-Mohizea AM (2012) Everted gut sac model as a tool in pharmaceutical research: limitations and applications. J Pharm Pharmacol 64:326–333
- 112. Perrone MG, Inglese C, Berardi F et al (2013) Comparative evaluation of two dye probes in the rat everted gut sac model for unambiguous classification of P-gp substrate and inhibitor. J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 67:5–8
- 113. Löscher W, Langer O (2010) Imaging of P-glycoprotein function and expression to elucidate mechanisms of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. Curr Top Med Chem 10:1785–1791

# **Chapter 15**

## Discovering New Antiepileptic Drugs Addressing the Transporter Hypothesis of Refractory Epilepsy: Structure-Based Approximations

### **Pablo Palestro and Luciana Gavernet**

### Abstract

Drug resistance represents a major obstacle to the success of epilepsy treatments, therefore intense investigations have been carried out to explain its origins. One of the most experimentally corroborated theories is the transporter hypothesis. It proposes that, at least for a subset of patients, the failure of the anticonvulsant drugs is caused by their inability to reach the molecular targets due to the regional overexpression or activation of efflux transporters. Among them, P-glycoprotein (P-gp) showed overactivity in drug-resistant patients as well as proved interactions with known anticonvulsant drugs. In this chapter we summarized the structure-based approximations employed to identify substrates/inhibitors of the glycoprotein, with special attention in describing the structural data available of the target- and the docking-based simulations. We also pointed out our results regarding the identification of new anticonvulsant candidates that avoid P-gp interactions by means of a sequential ligand-based and target-based screening, along with practical details related to this protocol.

Key words Refractory epilepsy, Docking, P-Glycoprotein, Virtual screening

### 1 The Transporter Hypothesis of Refractory Epilepsy

Despite the successful discovery of new antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) with better absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion, and toxicity (ADME/TOX) profiles (or, in some examples, with novel mechanisms of action), the efficacy of drug treatment of epilepsy has not substantially improved over the years. According to the international consensus, refractory epilepsy is described as the failure to achieve seizure freedom with two or more well-tolerated AEDs, given in an appropriate manner [1]. About 30% of the patients fit to this definition, since they respond inadequately to known drug therapies. This fact represents a main concern for the experts in the field, who elaborated several hypotheses to explain the origins of the drug-resistant epilepsy.

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_15, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

Abundant evidence acquired from epidemiological analysis, studies in animal models, and human epileptic tissues of patients undergoing surgical resection indicates that the refractory epilepsy is a multifactorial phenomenon. It might be associated with the development of tolerance during prolonged administration of the AEDs [2], the etiology and severity of the seizures [3], changes of the drug targets [3–6], alterations in neuronal connectivity [7, 8], blood-brain barrier dysfunctions [9], and genetic variants of the proteins involved in the biodistribution, metabolism, and mechanism of action of the drugs [10]. In addition to these causes, the transporter hypothesis claims that the failure of AEDs in some refractory patients is originated by their inability to reach the molecular targets, due to the overexpression or activation of efflux transporters in brain tissues [11]. This mechanism of drug resistance is highly supported by experimental data [11–25] and provides a possible explanation about one important characteristic of refractory epilepsy: patients that fail to control the seizures with one AED have a small chance (lower than 10%) to control them by other AEDs, even with drugs that act through the interaction with different molecular targets [10, 11, 26].

The most-studied efflux transporter is P-glycoprotein (P-gp). It is a member of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter family, and it is expressed in brain cells (neural cells, glial cells, and capillary endothelium at the blood-brain barrier) as well as in other barriers and excretory tissues, with the function of detoxifying them by preventing exogenous compounds from entering susceptible organs [27, 28]. In contrast to this beneficial effect, the regional overactivity of P-gp in drug-resistant patients limits the access of AEDs into the brain targets, rendering them ineffective [13, 21, 22, 29, 30]. Moreover, studies about the interaction between P-gp and AEDs confirmed that phenytoin, phenobarbital, topiramate, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, oxcarbazepine, and eslicarbazepine acetate (and some of their metabolites) are substrates or inhibitors of the P-gp [31–35]. In this context, it became advisable to include in the early phases of AED discovery the analysis of the interactions of the newly designed anticonvulsants with P-gp.

According to the characteristics of the binding, compounds can be categorized as substrates, inhibitors, or modulators of P-gp. Substrates are actively transported by P-gp, whereas inhibitors affect the transporting function. Modulators interact with active sites distinct from the substrates, reducing the strength of its interactions by a negative allosteric binding [36]. Since both inhibitors and modulators impair the transport function, they are frequently named equally as inhibitors [37]. Additionally, as modulators, inhibitors, and substrates interact with P-gp in one way or another, here we will refer them together as *binders*.

There are several biological assays developed to test the ability of compounds to interact with P-gp [38, 39]. Among them, in vitro transport experiments are recommended by the US Food and Drug Administration as the preferred data to decide if a drug is a P-gp binder. They suggested a bidirectional transport assay using cultured cells as the initial test, followed by the validation that the efflux is inhibited by the presence of one or more inhibitors [40]. The in vitro methods with Caco-2 cells are the most frequently employed, followed by the MDCKII-MDR1 cells (multidrug resistance protein-1-transfected Madin–Darby canine kidney cells) [41]. However, any experimental screening to evaluate P-gp interactions with new active compounds is expensive and time demanding, so computational models provide a valuable and complementary tool for the virtual recognition of P-gp binders.

### 2 In Silico Approaches to Predict P-gp Binders

The impact of P-gp on the drug resistance to treat not only epilepsy but also other diseases (such as cancer, Alzheimer, and HIV [42–45]) has promoted the development of in silico studies to identify P-gp binders. It is known that P-gp has the capability to interact with unrelated structures, and this poli-specificity makes it difficult to find a common pattern for the recognition of binders. However, numerous ligand-based approaches were developed to find the requirements shared by small molecules to be P-gp substrates or inhibitors. The initial pharmacophoric patterns proposed the importance of aromatic rings and lipophilic centers, basic nitrogen atoms, and hydrogenbonding interactions [46-48]. After that, other ligand-based approaches were developed to predict P-gp binders, which include new pharmacophoric patterns, machine-learning algorithms, and quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) studies among others [47, 49-60]. Details of the ligand-based models are widely explained in a previous chapter of this book. Some of them present a high prediction accuracy for given classes of drugs or drug candidates, with the additional advantage of being less computationally demanding than target-based approaches.

Structure-based methods deal with the high computational cost (particularly for virtual screening campaigns with large datasets), but they are able to provide atomic details on the protein-ligand interactions. Therefore, these approaches allow the prediction of the binding modes between new (or known) compounds and the biological targets as well as the structural optimization of the ligands (to improve/avoid their interactions with the macromolecules). Of course, the application of structure-based approximations implies the knowledge of the target at atomic level.

2.1 TridimensionalStructure of P-gpThe elucidation of the 3D structure of membrane proteins from crystallography still represents a challenge in structural biology. Regarding crystals of transporters in complex with some substrates, the experiments get even more problematical because the low binding affinities increase the difficulty to solve their positions.

In 2009 Aller and coworkers elucidated the first X-ray structure of the eukaryotic (*Mus musculus*) P-gp, improving enormously the knowledge of the protein architecture at atomic level [61]. Before this finding, the 3D structure of P-gp was modeled by comparative analysis (homology-modeling techniques) with templates that share low sequence identity to the human protein, such as the bacterial ABC transporter MsbA [62–64]. Conversely, the sequence of mouse P-gp has more than 80% sequence identity to human P-gp and similar size [65], suggesting a high level of conservation of the 3D structure.

Additionally, Aller and coworkers crystallized two protein–ligand complexes providing the first structural details about how P-gp interacts with their binders [61]. The reported apo and drug-bound structures showed inward-facing conformations of P-gp, which correspond to the initial stage of the transport cycle. Subsequently, other experimental models were also elucidated and deposited in the protein data bank [66] improving the information about the overall 3D structure of P-gp and the architecture of the binding sites (Table 1).

As other ABC proteins, P-gp employs the hydrolysis of ATP to efflux out of the cell substrates across the biological membrane. It comprises two pseudosymmetric halves. Each one has six transmembrane helices (TMs) connected with loops and short helices to one cytosolic nucleotide-binding domain (NBD) (Fig. 1).

### Table 1

| Date | Authors              | Related PDB codes (resolution) | Organism               |
|------|----------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------|
| 2009 | Aller et al. [61]    | 3G5U (3.80 Å)                  | Mus musculus           |
|      |                      | 3G60 (4.40 Å)                  |                        |
|      |                      | 3G61 (4.35 Å)                  |                        |
| 2012 | Jin et al. [67]      | 4F4C (3.40 Å)                  | Caenorhabditis elegans |
| 2013 | Li et al. [68]       | 4M1M (3.80 Å)                  | Mus musculus           |
|      |                      | 4M2S (4.40 Å)                  |                        |
|      |                      | $4M2T~(4.35~\text{\AA})$       |                        |
| 2013 | Ward et al. [69]     | 4KSB (3.80 Å)                  | Mus musculus           |
|      |                      | 4KSC (4.00 Å)                  |                        |
|      |                      | 4KSD (4.10 Å)                  |                        |
| 2015 | Szewczyk et al. [70] | 4Q9H(3.40  Å)                  | Mus musculus           |
|      |                      | 4Q9I (3.78 Å)                  |                        |
|      |                      | 4Q9J (3.60 Å)                  |                        |
|      |                      | $4Q9K(3.80\text{\AA})$         |                        |
|      |                      | 4Q9L (3.80 Å)                  |                        |

Experimental 3D models of P-gp deposited in the protein data bank after the mouse structures elucidated by Aller in 2009 [61]


**Fig. 1** Overview of the crystal structure of mouse P-gp (PDB code 4Q9H). Transmembrane domains are labeled (TM). *Horizontal lines* approximate the region of the lipid bilayer

Regarding the binding sites for substrates and inhibitors, previous analyses have proposed up to seven binding regions located into the internal cavity of the protein, which is generated by the two sets of TMs (TMs 1-3,6,10,11 and TMs 4,5,7-9,12) [71, 72]. The existence of multiple binding sites (some of them overlapped) in the P-gp internal cavity is consistent with the poli-specificity observed for the protein. Moreover, this cavity has a volume around 6000 Å<sup>3</sup>, which is big enough to accommodate more than one binder simultaneously in different subsites [61] (Fig. 2). Recently, another potential binding site has been detected by X-ray crystallography [70]. It is placed on the exterior of the P-gp structure but close to the region proposed as a potential intramembranous access of the substrates to the cavity [73, 74]. The authors suggested that there is an initial weak interaction of the substrates with this site before achieving their final position into the internal cavity [70] (Fig. 2).

2.2 In Silico Predictions of P-gp Binders Through Target-Based Methods

The structural information of P-gp provides the starting point for the application of target-based methods of drug design. Among them, molecular docking protocols were employed to locate P-gp putative binding sites and to predict the binding affinities of small molecules. Note that the results of a docking protocol are highly dependent on the experimental data available, the predefined scoring functions, and the conformational search algorithms provided by the software. Consistently, it is always convenient to test a diversity of docking alternatives and appropriately validate the suitability of the protocol to reproduce the experimental conformation of ligand–target complexes, if they are available. In the same line, it is opportune to test their ability to discriminate known binders from non-binders through their docking score. It is expected that they predict better affinities (i.e., lower calculated binding energies) for binders.



**Fig. 2** Overview of P-gp co-crystallized with valine—cyclopeptide structure (PDB code 4Q9J). Two molecules of the ligand are located in the internal cavity (high-lighted in *blue*), whereas another is placed on the exterior of the structure (high-lighted in *yellow*). The position of the other two ligands (phenylalanine cyclopeptide, co-crystallized in the PDB complex 4Q9L) was also included in *red*, to show the versatility of the active site

Becker and collaborators constructed a P-gp homology model based on the 3D structures of the transporters Sav1866 and MsbA to dock the ligands verapamil, rhodamine B, colchicine, and vinblastine into the binding cavity [64]. The results showed good correlation with the experimental data available since the docking poses interact with residues previously identified in the active site. Pajeva et al. employed the structure of mouse P-gp (PDB code: 3G61) as template to construct a P-gp human 3D model, and they docked a small set of quinazolinone inhibitors to support the results obtained from pharmacophoric patterns about the common structural features of P-gp binders [75]. Later on, other authors evaluated the ability of docking programs to discriminate known binders from non-binders [49, 60, 76, 77]. They constructed bigger test sets than Becker and Pajeva with different chemical backbones to consider the promiscuity of the P-gp binding sites. The final proposition was to employ docking algorithms to predict the P-gp binding affinities of untested molecules.

Chen et al. evaluated the prediction capability of molecular docking by using the two drug-bound P-gp structures provided by Aller et al. (PDB codes: 3G60 and 3G61, Table 1). They docked 157 substrates and 88 non-substrates with Glide docking software (http://www.schrodinger.com/Glide) and scored them by the two Glide modes: SP (standard precision) and XP (extra

precision). The authors concluded that the docking protocols were unable to clearly discriminate substrates from no substrates by using the best score criterion [49].

Dolghih and coworkers applied docking protocols to analyze their capacity to differentiate 30 binders (26 drugs and four metabolites) from 98 presumed non-binders (metabolites). They employed the target structure provided by Aller (PDB code: 3G60) and run rigid and flexible docking (with induced fit algorithms). The force fields were provided by Glide SP, Glide XP, and MM-GB/ SA scoring functions [76]. Additionally, they tested 13 binders and 34 non-binders selected from a dataset of FDA-approved drugs. The active compounds of the set were positive in two experimental assays (monolayer efflux and calcein-AM inhibition assays) whereas the non-binders were negative for both experiments. Finally they benchmarked the docking conditions with a blind test on a series of peptidic cysteine protease inhibitors. The authors concluded that flexible receptor models have the ability to differentiate known binders from non-binders. They proposed that the better results in flexible docking might be associated with the mobility of the binding site residues but also with the low resolution of the target structure. They also suggested that P-gp substrates could bind deeper in the P-gp cavity than the ligands in the crystallized complex [76].

Dolghih et al. also docked rhodamine B, a known P-gp substrate with experimental binding data available [78, 79], to validate if docking can predict accurately the geometry of experimental complexes. In the same line, they strip and docked the ligand (a cyclic peptide) back into the crystal structure 3G60 (named QZ59-RRR). Again, the flexible receptor poses reproduced better the experimental binding interactions. Interestingly, one of the best docking conditions found in this investigation was then applied by the authors to estimate the efflux ratio of the molecules (the ratio of their two transport rates in opposite directions: basal to apical and apical to basal across a single layer of cells) as a measure of their brain penetration [80].

On the other hand, Bikardi et al. combined ligand-based and target-based methods to find a cost-effective protocol to predict potential P-gp substrates and their molecular interactions [50]. The identification of possible P-gp substrates was in charge of a support vector machine method (with a training dataset of 197 known P-gp substrates and non-substrates), and the docking calculations were employed only to predict the interactions at atomic level of the selected compounds. The authors validated the docking protocol (Autodock Vina software) by re-docking the QZ59RRR ligand to the mouse X-ray P-gp structure. They found an acceptable agreement between the experimental and predicted ligand conformations (RMSD value of 1.27). However, the binding predictions were performed on a human P-gp model as the target. The authors constructed a 3D homology model (using mouse P-gp as template) and tested it by docking rhodamine B.

The results of this docking calculation were consistent with experimental data [78, 79]. The algorithms are available in a Web server, which enables the users to predict if a compound is a P-gp substrate, as well as its binding conformation into the P-gp active sites.

Bikardi et al. did not use docking for classifying P-gp binders from non-binders. Conversely, Klepsch and collaborators compiled a large set of 1076 inhibitors and 532 non-inhibitors to test the capacity of the scoring functions implemented in GOLD package to differentiate them [60]. They employed a model of the human P-gp as target, which was constructed from murine P-gp (PDB code 3G5U). Initially, the ligands were docked in two protonation states with ChemScore or GoldScore functions. Then, the resulting docking poses were rescored with five scoring functions: ChemScore, GoldScore, Astex Statistical Potential (ASP), Piecewise Linear Potential (ChemPLP), and XScore [60]. In summary, 20 final models were obtained and their prediction capabilities were investigated. The best one was based on ChemScore, and it was able to predict 76% of P-gp inhibitors and 73% of non-inhibitors. Additionally, the authors combined the results obtained from ChemScore-based docking with the log P values of the compounds, which relates to the ability of the compounds to cross the membranes by diffusion. It caused a slight improvement in the prediction of true inhibitors, with values in the confusion matrix of 0.81 for sensitivity (i.e., 81% of the inhibitors predicted), at expenses of a decrease in the detection of non-inhibitors (0.69 of specificity) [60]. Note that this approach is philosophically consistent with the enhanced sensitivity of the CETA assay [35] to identify lipophilic weak substrates of P-gp by removing the diffusion component from the permeability assay.

It is worth mentioning that docking protocols are unable to provide a complete explanation about the ligand interactions during efflux cycle in all the models mentioned before. More than a few doubts remained unsolved about the binding sites' specific locations for substrates and/or inhibitors. Moreover, during the course of the efflux cycle, P-gp undergoes large-scale conformational changes to pump the drugs out of the cellular membranes, and the mechanisms of these conformational transitions are still unclear. In that direction, numerous attempts have been performed by means of molecular dynamic simulations to better understand the mechanisms of drug uptake and binding in a flexible protein like P-gp [81–89]. The studies confirm the significant conformational change that facilitates the extrusion of the molecules and the importance of the TM12 and TM6 regions for the flexibility of the macrostructure.

2.3 Structure-Based Design of New
Anticonvulsants to
Treat Refractory
Epilepsy
The early recognition of potent anticonvulsant candidates with no interaction with P-gp represents a useful strategy to design anticonvulsant drugs. On the other hand, the virtual identification of compounds with strong interactions with P-gp could be implemented for developing inhibitors for adjuvant therapies.

This last strategy has serious limitations since it implies to cancel the physiological role of the glycoprotein (a first line of defense in several barriers), and it involves the development of very selective and specific inhibitors to minimize side effects.

To the extent to our knowledge, the docking-based protocols mentioned before in this chapter have not been employed to find new anticonvulsants that avoid interactions with P-gp. On the contrary, we and other authors have run a virtual screening campaign to identify anticonvulsants for the treatment of P-gp-mediated drug-resistant epilepsy [77]. Initially we applied four ligand-based models on the ZINC 5 [90] and DrugBank [91–93] databases to propose new possible non-substrates of P-gp with anticonvulsant properties. Briefly, a topological discriminant function was employed to identify active compounds against the maximal electroshock-induced seizure (MES) test, and a three-model ensemble of 2D classifiers was used to differentiate P-gp substrates from non-substrates.

From the ligand-based screening, 380 candidates were selected for a second round of analysis by docking simulations. We first analyze the capacity of different docking software and conditions to discriminate known binders from non-binders of the test set, which was constructed after a thorough analysis of the bibliographic data. Special attention was given to the selection of the compounds of the test set, since there is some controversy in the literature regarding the classification of substrates/inhibitors and non-substrates/non-inhibitors. For example, Polli et al. classifies verapamil as non-substrate according to the monolayer efflux experiment in MDCK cells [94], whereas Feng et al. consider it as substrate in the same assay [95]. Doan et al. [96] reports fluoxetin as a non-substrate (monolayer efflux experiment in MDCKII-MDR1 cells), but in the assay of calcein-AM (CAM) inhibition (same cellular line), it behaves as an inhibitor [97]. In order to construct a representative and diverse set, the biological results from multiple publications were considered and priority was given to in vitro assays over in vivo tests [65]. After a thorough analysis, we included in the test set those substrates/inhibitors that were detected in two or more publications in different assays (if possible more than three). Conversely, we considered non-binders those compounds found as non-substrates preferably in two or more different assays and not reported as substrate/inhibitors (or reported in only one test). The compounds reported with some controversy in the results (e.g., one test where the compound was considered substrate/inhibitor and another where it behave as non-substrate) were discarded.

We benchmarked Glide, Autodock, and Autodock Vina software [65]. The compounds were docked into a homology model of human P-gp based on the mouse P-gp structure as template (PDB code: 3G61). The target was considered either rigid or flexible. Two different sets of amino acids were allowed to move in the flexible simulations. In one model (model A) we allowed the movement of the amino acids that interact with the experimental ligands in the mouse complexes (Phe-335, Phe-343, Phe-728, Phe-732; PDB codes 3G60 and 3G61). For model B, we examined the conformation of the flexible residues in model A after the docking simulations. We found that Phe-343 and Phe-978 showed different conformations depending on the ligand, whereas Phe335, Phe732, and Phe728 adopted practically the same conformation in all the tested compounds. Therefore we choose another set of flexible residues that includes Phe-343, Phe-978, and other amino acids (Tyr-307, Tyr-953) that interact with the compounds of the test set according to the docking results with model A. The results were analyzed by means of the receiver-operating characteristic (ROC) curves for each docking system [98] to decide the most favorable docking conditions and to choose the limiting docking score (best threshold value) that can be used to discern between binders and non-binders classes.

The ROC curves graph the relation between the false positive rate (on the X axis) and the true positive rate (on the  $\Upsilon$  axis) for all possible threshold levels (see as example Fig. 3). These two values are defined as follows:



**Fig. 3** ROC-type curves obtained for the best simulation. The confusion matrix with threshold –7.4 shows the number of well-categorized binders (22 of 26) and non-binders (20 of 26)

False positive rate = FP/(TN + FP)

True positive rate = TP/(TP + FN)

where TP means true positives, FN false negatives, FP false positives, and TN true negatives. The true positive rate is also defined as sensitivity and the false positive rate is also named as 1-specificity, since specificity is the rate of true negatives: TN/(TN+FP).

291

The ROC plots provide an objective picture of the methods' performance through the area under the curve (AUC) [98]. A random classification would give an AUC of 0.5, whereas a perfect classification would give an AUC of 1. Therefore, the AUC of the "real" models ranges between these two values. The analyses of the curves are useful to compare different methods and to have an overview of their capacity to discriminate known active from known inactive compounds.

As mentioned before, to construct the ROC curve we need to determine the selectivity and specificity values. Continuous data (as docking scores) requires a threshold value that divides the predicted active and inactive compounds. Depending on this cutoff, the selectivity and specificity will vary, and each pair of values represents a point in the curve.

On the other hand, for virtual screening purposes, we need to select the best threshold value that allows deciding which new compounds are good candidates to experimental analysis. If this cutoff is selected so that the sensitivity of the model increases (high rate of true positives), the specificity will decrease and we will expect a high rate of false positive compounds. On the contrary, if specificity is favored over sensitivity, more true positives will be classified as inactive.

There are several criterions to balance both sensitivity and specificity, and the threshold values are selected according the given system. For example, the highest G-mean value (square root of the product between selectivity and specificity) could be used to select the best cutoff for virtual screening. Another practical criterion is based on the accessibility of the experimental assays. As the resources involved in the experimental test are limited, it would be useful to minimize the evaluation of false positive candidates. This criterion prioritizes specificity over sensitivity, at expenses of losing active compounds.

In our investigation the best ROC curve was achieved by means of Autodock Vina with flexible receptor (model B) and ligands at physiological pH. The resulting simulation is shown in Fig. 3, with an area under the ROC curve of 0.916 (best threshold of docking score: -7.4). This protocol is able to predict the 85% of the binders (sensitivity value of 0.85) and the 77% of non-binders (specificity value of 0.77) with a global accuracy value of 0.81 [65].

Finally we performed the docking simulation to the 380 compounds selected by the ligand-based virtual screening. According to the ROC curves, we considered as P-gp binders the structures that showed a docking score lower than -7.4 kcal/mol. With this



**Fig. 4** Compounds selected by sequential virtual screening that showed anticonvulsant activity against MES test. I, chrisantemic acid; II, 7,7-dimethyl-1-norbornane carboxylic acid; III, thioctic acid; IV, metformin; V, mannitol; VI, sorbitol; VII, *N-(tert-butoxycarbonyl)-I-isoleucine;* VIII, 1-hydroxycycloheptanecarboxylic acid; IX, *N-*(3,3-dimethylbutane-2-yl)-2-methylfuran-3-carboxamide; X, EDTA [65]

threshold, 275 structures passed the docking filter as non-binders, evidencing a high level of consensus between the ligand-based and target-based protocols (more than 72% of the initial structures were recovered by docking). From them, ten diverse molecules were selected for acquisition and subsequent pharmacological evaluation (Fig. 4). All showed anticonvulsant properties in animal models of acute seizures (MES test), proving the accuracy of our predictions in relation to the protective effects of the candidates [77].

#### 3 Conclusions

P-glycoprotein is probably one of the most studied antitargets (together with hERG channel and CYP3A4 enzyme) due to its participation in drug resistance and drug interactions.

Particularly, the P-gp awareness for the design of new anticonvulsants represents an interesting strategy to treat P-gp-mediated refractory epilepsy. In this context, target-based methods offer a virtual alternative to ligand-based protocols, since they might discern possible binders from non-binders using, for example, the values of the docking scores.

Docking on P-gp deals with the intrinsic limitations of the software (characterized by specific-search algorithms and force fields) to correctly quantify the binding energies of the complexes. Additionally, human P-gp is a very flexible membrane protein and its experimental structure is not currently available. Therefore, the simulations have to be run on experimental structures of mouse P-gp (which show low resolution in the position of the amino acid side chains) or by comparative models of the human target. Despite these difficulties, the docking protocols mentioned in this chapter showed, in general, an acceptable performance. Additionally they were able to reproduce the binding modes of known binders and could provide atomic details on the new protein–ligand complexes. The final step in the virtual screening campaigns is to test the candidates in adequate experimental models. The implementation of models of drug-resistant epilepsy, taking into consideration overexpression of P-gp, would optimize the process of selection of compounds. They could serve to identify new chemical entities that control resistant patients and to better understand the mechanisms of drug resistance.

In vitro cell assays include for example the use of isolated brain capillaries, primary or immortalized brain endothelial cells, and immortalized cells from peripheral tissues (some of them mentioned before in this chapter) [99, 100]. On the other hand, in vivo models of drug-resistant seizures associated with overexpression of P-gp, such as the model of seizure induced by 3-mercaptopropionic acid, are available [100].

We believe that the sequential screening of large databases with ligand-based filters coupled by target-based protocols represents an opportunity for the discovery of new anticonvulsants that evade P-gp interactions in a timely and cost-efficient manner. Moreover, the prediction of the P-gp-binding modes might serve to optimize the new leaders without losing their anticonvulsant action. These investigations, in conjunction with suitable biological models, could afford new effective drugs in patients with P-gp-mediated refractory epilepsy.

#### References

- Kwan P, Arzimanoglou A, Berg AT et al (2010) Definition of drug resistant epilepsy: consensus proposal by the ad hoc Task force of the ILAE commission on therapeutic strategies. Epilepsia 51:1069–1077
- Loscher W, Schmidt D (2006) Experimental and clinical evidence for loss of effect (tolerance) during prolonged treatment with antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsia 47(8):1253–1284
- Schmidt D, Loscher W (2009) New developments in antiepileptic drug resistance: an integrative view. Epilepsy Curr 9(2):47–52
- Remy S, Gabriel S, Urban BW et al (2003) A novel mechanism underlying drug resistance in chronic epilepsy. Ann Neurol 53(4):469–479
- Remy S, Beck H (2006) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. Brain 129:18–35
- Beck H (2007) Plasticity of antiepileptic drug targets. Epilepsia 48(Suppl 1):14–18
- Lehmann TN, Gabriel S, Eilers A et al (2001) Fluorescent tracer in pilocarpine-treated rats shows widespread aberrant hippocampal neuronal connectivity. Eur J Neurosci 14(1):83–95

- Lehmann TN, Gabriel S, Kovacs R et al (2000) Alterations of neuronal connectivity in area CA1 of hippocampal slices from temporal lobe epilepsy patients and from pilocarpine-treated epileptic rats. Epilepsia 41(Suppl 6):S190–S194
- Salar S, Maslarova A, Lippmann K et al (2014) Blood-brain barrier dysfunction can contribute to pharmacoresistance of seizures. Epilepsia 55(8):1255–1263
- Löscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE et al (2013) New avenues for anti-epileptic drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12(10):757–776
- 11. Regesta G, Tanganelli P (1999) Clinical aspects and biological bases of drug-resistant epilepsies. Epilepsy Res 34:109–122
- 12. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2013) On the development of new antiepileptic drugs for the treatment of pharmacoresistant epilepsy: different approaches to different hypothesis. In: Rocha L, Cavalheiro EA (eds) Pharmacoresistance in Epilepsy. From genes and molecules to promising therapies. Springer, New York, NY

- 13. Aronica E, Sisodiya SM, Gorter JA (2012) Cerebral expression of drug transporters in epilepsy. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64(10):919–929
- 14. Marchi N, Hallene KL, Kight KM et al (2004) Significance of MDR1 and multiple drug resistance in refractory human epileptic brain. BMC Med 2:37
- 15. Sisodiya SM, Martinian L, Scheffer GL et al (2006) Vascular colocalization of P-glycoprotein, multidrug-resistance associated protein 1, breast cancer resistance protein and major vault protein in human epileptogenic pathologies. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol 32(1):51–63
- 16. Begley DJ, Lechardeur D, Chen ZD et al (1996) Functional expression of P-glycoprotein in an immortalised cell line of rat brain endothelial cells, RBE4. J Neurochem 67(3):988–995
- 17. Liu JY, Thom M, Catarino CB et al (2012) Neuropathology of the blood-brain barrier and pharmaco-resistance in human epilepsy. Brain 135:3115–3133
- Sisodiya SM, Lin WR, Harding BN et al (2002) Drug resistance in epilepsy: expression of drug resistance proteins in common causes of refractory epilepsy. Brain 125:22–31
- 19. Aronica E, Gorter JA, Ramkema M et al (2004) Expression and cellular distribution of multidrug resistance-related proteins in the hippocampus of patients with mesial temporal lobe epilepsy. Epilepsia 45(5):441–451
- 20. Nies AT, Jedlitschky G, Konig J et al (2004) Expression and immunolocalization of the multidrug resistance proteins, MRP1-MRP6 (ABCC1-ABCC6), in human brain. Neuroscience 129(2):349–360
- 21. Kwan P, Li HM, Al-Jufairi E et al (2010) Association between temporal lobe P-glycoprotein expression and seizure recurrence after surgery for pharmacoresistant temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 39:192–197
- 22. Feldmann M, Asselin MC, Liu J et al (2013) P-glycoprotein expression and function in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a case control study. Lancet Neurol 12:777–785
- Sisodiya SM, Lin WR, Squier MV et al (2001) Multidrug resistance protein 1 in focal cortical dysplasia. Lancet 357:42–43
- 24. Aronica E, Gorter JA, Jansen GH et al (2003) Expression and cellular distribution of multidrug transporter protein in two major causes of medically intractable epilepsy: focal cortical dysplasia and glioneural tumor. Neuroscience 118:417–429

- Tishler DM, Weinberg KI, Hinton DR et al (1995) MDR1 gene expression in brain of patients with medically intractable epilepsy. Epilepsia 36:1–6
- Loscher W (2002) Current status and future directions in the pharmacotherapy of epilepsy. TRENDS Pharmacol Sci 23:113–118
- 27. Cascorbi I (2006) Role of pharmacogenetics of ATP binding cassette transporters in the pharmacokinetics of drugs. Pharmacol Ther 112:457–473
- 28. Staud F, Ceckova M, Micuda S, Pavek P (2009) Expression and function of P-glycoprotein in normal tissues: effect on pharmacokinetics. In: Zhou J (ed) Multi-drug resistance in cancer, Methods in molecular biology. Humana Press, New York, NY
- 29. Loscher W, Luna-Tortos C, Romermann K et al (2011) Do ATP-binding cassette transporters cause pharmacoresistance in epilepsy? Problems and approaches in determining which antiepileptic drugs are affected. Curr Pharm Des 17(26):2808–2828
- 30. Zhang C, Kwan P, Zuo Z et al (2012) The transport of antiepileptic drugs by P-glycoprotein. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64(10):930–942
- Zhang C, Zuo Z, Kwan P (2011) In vitro transport profile of carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, eslicarbazepine acetate, and their active metabolites by human P-glycoprotein. Epilepsia 52(10):1894–1904
- 32. Zhang C, Kwan P, Zuo Z et al (2010) In vitro concentration dependent transport of phenytoin and phenobarbital, but not ethosuximide, by human P-glycoprotein. Life Sci 86(23):899–905
- 33. Weiss J, Kerpen CJ, Lindenmaier H et al (2003) Interaction of antiepileptic drugs with human P-glycoprotein in vitro. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 307(1):262–267
- 34. Luna-Tortós C, Rambeck B, Jürgens UH et al (2009) The antiepileptic drug topiramate is a substrate for human P-glycoprotein but not multidrug resistance proteins. Pharm Res 26(11):2464–2470
- Luna-Tortos C, Fedrowitz M, Loscher W (2008) Several major antiepileptic drugs are substrates for human P-glycoprotein. Neuropharmacology 55(8):1364–1375
- 36. Colabufo NA, Berardi F, Cantore M et al (2009) Perspectives of P-glycoprotein modulating agents in oncology and neurodegenerative diseases: pharmaceutical, biological, and diagnostic potentials. J Med Chem 53(5):1883–1897

- 37. Colabufo NA, Berardi F, Grazia Perrone M et al (2010) Substrates, inhibitors and activators of P-glycoprotein: candidates for radiolabeling and imaging perspectives. Curr Top Med Chem 10(17):1703–1714
- Ambudkar SV, Dey S, Hrycyna CA et al (1999) Biochemical, cellular, and pharmacological aspects of the multidrug transporter. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 39(1):361–398
- Giacomini KM, Huang SM, Tweedie DJ et al (2010) Membrane transporters in drug development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9(3):215–236
- 40. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research. In: Guidance for Industry. Drug Interaction Studies—Study Design, Data Analysis, Implications for Dosing, and Labeling Recommendations. http://www.fda.gov/ RegulatoryInformation/Guidances/default. htm. Accessed on 20 Sep 2015
- 41. Agarwal S, Arya V, Zhang L (2013) Review of P-gp inhibition data in recently approved new drug applications: utility of the proposed [11]/IC50 and [I2]/IC50 criteria in the P-gp decision tree. J Clin Pharm 53(2):228–233
- 42. Eckford PD, Sharom FJ (2009) ABC efflux pump-based resistance to chemotherapy drugs. Chem Rev 109(7):2989–3011
- Gottesman MM, Ling V (2006) The molecular basis of multidrug resistance in cancer: the early years of P-glycoprotein research. FEBS Lett 580(4):998–1009
- 44. Falasca M, Linton KJ (2012) Investigational ABC transporter inhibitors. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 21(5):657–666
- 45. Abuznait AH, Kaddoumi A (2012) Role of ABC transporters in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. ACS Chem Neurosci 3(11):820–831
- 46. Zamora JM, Pearce HL, Beck WT (1998) Physical-chemical bioactive properties shared by compounds that modulate multidrug resistance in human leukemic cells. Mol Pharmacol 33(4):454–462
- 47. Pearce HL, Safa AR, Bach NJ et al (1989) Essential features of the P-glycoprotein pharmacophore as defined by a series of reserpine analogs that modulate multidrug resistance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86(13):5128–5132
- Seelig A (1998) A general pattern for substrate recognition by P-glycoprotein. Eur J Biochem 251(1-2):252–261

- 49. Chen L, Li Y, Yu H et al (2012) Computational models for predicting substrates or inhibitors of P-glycoprotein. Drug Discov Today 17(7):343–351
- 50. Bikadi Z, Hazai I, Malik D et al (2011) Predicting P-glycoprotein-mediated drug transport based on support vector machine and three-dimensional crystal structure of P-glycoprotein. PLoS One 6(10):e25815
- 51. Di Ianni M, Talevi A, Castro EA et al (2011) Development of a highly specific ensemble of topological models for early identification of P-glycoprotein substrates. J Chemometr 25(6):313–322
- 52. Ecker GF, Stockner T, Chiba P (2008) Computational models for prediction of interactions with ABC-transporters. Drug Discov Today 13(7):311–317
- 53. Demel MA, Kraemer O, Ettmayer P et al (2010) Ensemble rule-based classification of substrates of the human ABC-transporter ABCB1 using simple physicochemical descriptors. Mol Informatics 29(3):233–242
- 54. Cianchetta G, Singleton R, Zhang W et al (2005) A pharmacophore hypothesis for P-glycoprotein substrate recognition using GRIND-based 3D-QSAR. J Med Chem 48(8):2927–2935
- 55. Langer T, Eder M, Hoffmann RD et al (2004) Lead identification for modulators of multidrug resistance based on in silico screening with a pharmacophoric feature model. Arch Pharm (Weinheim) 337(6):317–327
- 56. Sakiyama Y (2009) The use of machine learning and nonlinear statistical tools for ADME prediction. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol 2009:149–169
- 57. Wang YH, Li Y, Yang SL et al (2005) Classification of substrates and inhibitors of P-glycoprotein using unsupervised machine learning approach. J Chem Inf Model 45(3):750–757
- Broccatelli F, Carosati E, Neri A et al (2011) A novel approach for predicting P-glycoprotein (ABCB1) inhibition using molecular interaction fields. J Med Chem 54(6):1740–1751
- 59. Chen L, Li Y, Zhao Q et al (2011) ADME evaluation in drug discovery. Predictions of P-glycoprotein inhibitors using recursive partitioning and naive bayesian classification techniques. Mol Pharm 8(3):889–900
- 60. Klepsch F, Poongavanam V, Ecker GF (2014) Ligand and structure-based classification models for Prediction of P-glycoprotein inhibitors. J Chem Inf Model 54(1):218–229

- 61. Aller SG, Yu J, Ward A et al (2009) Structure of P-glycoprotein reveals a molecular basis for poly-specific drug binding. Science 323(5922):1718–1722
- 62. Seigneuret M, Garnier-Suillerot A (2003) A structural model for the open conformation of the mdr1 P-glycoprotein based on the MsbA crystal structure. J Biol Chem 278(32):30115–30124
- Pajeva IK, Globisch C, Wiese M (2004) Structure-function relationships of multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein. J Med Chem 47(10):2523–2533
- 64. Becker JP, Depret G, Van Bambeke F et al (2009) Molecular models of human P-glycoprotein in two different catalytic states. BMC Struct Biol 9(1):3
- 65. Palestro PH, Gavernet L, Estiu GL et al (2014) Docking applied to the prediction of the affinity of compounds to P-glycoprotein. BioMed Res Int 2014:358425. doi:10.1155/2014/358425
- 66. Berman HM, Westbrook J, Feng Z et al (2000) The protein data bank. Nucleic Acids Res 28(1):235–242
- 67. Jin MS, Oldham ML, Zhang Q et al (2012) Crystal structure of the multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein from Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 490(7421):566–569
- Li J, Jaimes KF, Aller SG (2014) Refined structures of mouse P-glycoprotein. Protein Sci 23(1):34–46
- 69. Ward AB, Szewczyk P, Grimard V et al (2013) Structures of P-glycoprotein reveal its conformational flexibility and an epitope on the nucleotide-binding domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(33):13386–13391
- 70. Szewczyk P, Tao H, McGrath AP et al (2015) Snapshots of ligand entry, malleable binding and induced helical movement in P-glycoprotein. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr 71:732–741
- Martin C, Berridge G, Higgins CF et al (2000) Communication between multiple drug binding sites on P-glycoprotein. Mol Pharm 58(3):624–632
- 72. Shapiro AB, Ling V (1997) Positively cooperative sites for drug transport by P-glycoprotein with distinct drug specificities. Eur J Biochem 250(1):130–137
- Al-Shawi MK, Omote H (2005) The remarkable transport mechanism of P-glycoprotein: a multidrug transporter. J Bioenerg Biomembr 37(6):489–496
- 74. Dey S, Ramachandra M, Pastan I et al (1997) Evidence for two nonidentical drug-interaction sites in the human

P-glycoprotein. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(20):10594–10599

- 75. Pajeva IK, Globisch C, Wiese M (2009) Combined pharmacophore modeling, docking, and 3D QSAR studies of ABCB1 and ABCC1 transporter inhibitors. ChemMedChem 4(11):1883–1896
- Dolghih E, Bryant C, Renslo AR et al (2011) Predicting binding to p-glycoprotein by flexible receptor docking. PLoS Comput Biol 7:e1002083. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002083
- 77. Di Ianni ME, Enrique AV, Palestro PH et al (2012) Several new diverse anticonvulsant agents discovered in a virtual screening campaign aimed at novel antiepileptic drugs to treat refractory epilepsy. J Chem Inf Model 52(12):3325–3330
- 78. Loo TW, Bartlett MC, Clarke DM (2003) Methanethiosulfonate derivatives of rhodamine and verapamil activate human P-glycoprotein at different sites. J Biol Chem 278(50):50136–50141
- Loo TW, Clarke DM (2002) Location of the rhodamine-binding site in the human multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein. J Biol Chem 277(46):44332–44338
- Dolghih E, Jacobson MP (2012) Predicting efflux ratios and blood-brain barrier penetration from chemical structure: combining passive permeability with active efflux by P-glycoprotein. ACS Chem Neurosci 4(2):361–367
- Chang SY, Liu FF, Dong XY et al (2013) Molecular insight into conformational transmission of human P-glycoprotein. J Chem Phys 139(22):22510–22515
- Jara GE, Vera DMA, Pierini AB (2013) Binding of modulators to mouse and human multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein. A computational study. J Mol Graph Model 46:10–21
- Liu M, Hou T, Feng Z et al (2013) The flexibility of P-glycoprotein for its poly-specific drug binding from molecular dynamics simulations. J Biomol Struct Dyn 31(6):612–629
- 84. Ma J, Biggin PC (2013) Substrate versus inhibitor dynamics of P-glycoprotein. Proteins 81(9):1653–1668
- McCormick JW, Vogel PD, Wise JG (2015) Multiple drug transport pathways through human P-glycoprotein. Biochem 54(28):4374–4390
- 86. Prajapati R, Sangamwar AT (2014) Translocation mechanism of P-glycoprotein and conformational changes occurring at drug-binding site: insights from multitargeted molecular dynamics. Biochim Biophys Acta 1838(11):2882–2898

- 87. Subramanian N, Condic-Jurkic K, Mark AE et al (2015) Identification of possible binding sites for morphine and nicardipine on the multidrug transporter P-glycoprotein using umbrella sampling techniques. J Chem Inf Model 55:1202–1217
- Wen PC, Verhalen B, Wilkens S et al (2013) On the origin of large flexibility of P-glycoprotein in the inward-facing state. J Biol Chem 288(26):19211–19220
- Zhang J, Sun T, Liang L et al (2014) Drug promiscuity of P-glycoprotein and its mechanism of interaction with paclitaxel and doxorubicin. Soft Matter 10(3):438–445
- 90. Irwin JJ, Sterling T, Mysinger MM et al (2012) ZINC: a free tool to discover chemistry for biology. J Chem Inf Model 52(7):1757–1768
- 91. Law V, Knox C, Djoumbou Y et al (2014) DrugBank 4.0: shedding new light on drug metabolism. Nucleic Acids Res 42(D1):D1091–D1097
- 92. Knox C, Law V, Jewison T et al (2011) DrugBank 3.0: a comprehensive resource for 'omics' research on drugs. Nucleic Acids Res 39(suppl 1):D1035–D1041
- 93. Wishart DS, Knox C, Guo AC et al (2008) DrugBank: a knowledgebase for drugs, drug actions and drug targets. Nucleic Acids Res 36(suppl 1):D901–D906
- 94. Polli JW, Wring SA, Humphreys JE et al (2001) Rational use of in vitro P-glycoprotein

assays in drug discovery. J Pharm Exp Ther 299(2):620-628

- 95. Feng B, Mills JB, Davidson RE et al (2008) In vitro P-glycoprotein assays to predict the in vivo interactions of P-glycoprotein with drugs in the central nervous system. Drug Met Dispos 36(2):268–275
- 96. Doan KMM, Humphreys JE, Webster LO et al (2002) Passive permeability and P-glycoprotein-mediated efflux differentiate central nervous system (CNS) and non-CNS marketed drugs. J Pharm Exp Ther 303(3):1029–1037
- 97. Schwab D, Fischer H, Tabatabaei A et al (2003) Comparison of in vitro P-glycoprotein screening assays: recommendations for their use in drug discovery. J Med Chem 46(9):1716–1725
- 98. Rizzi A, Fioni A (2008) Virtual screening using PLS discriminant analysis and ROC curve approach: an application study on PDE4 inhibitors. J Chem Inf Model 48(8):1686–1692
- Löscher W, Potschka H (2005) Role of drug efflux transporters in the brain for drug disposition and treatment of brain diseases. Prog Neurobiol 76:22–76
- 100. Zavala-Tecuapetla C, Rocha L (2013) Experimental models to study pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. In: Rocha L, Cavalheiro EA (eds) Pharmacoresistance in Epilepsy. From genes and molecules to promising therapies. Springer, New York, NY

# **Chapter 16**

## Nanoformulations of Antiepileptic Drugs: In Vitro and In Vivo Studies

### María E. Ruiz and Guillermo R. Castro

#### Abstract

Epilepsy is a chronic neurological disorder that represents a unique therapeutic challenge displaying high population incidence with more than 60 million people worldwide. Nearly 70% of people are provisionally responding to the treatment, but 20–60% of patients become resistant to current antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) (WHO 2015, Epilepsy Fact Sheet No. 999). Also, there is a negative social impact of the pathology since patients and their families suffer stigma and discrimination in many parts of the world. Furthermore, patients who positively respond to the anticonvulsant treatment are subjected to high systemic concentrations of drugs to achieve therapeutically effective levels at the site of action in the central nervous system (CNS), which results in undesirable side effects that threaten their quality of life and their adherence to the treatment.

A complete assessment of the described situation is far beyond the possibilities of the present book chapter, and the sanitary problem of epilepsy (as well as other CNS diseases treated with anticonvulsant drugs) has already been described in the previous chapters. Hence, we will focus in the pharmacokinetic aspects of the problem of epilepsy treatment, including the low brain bioavailability of AEDs due to the restrictions imposed by the blood–brain barrier (BBB) and the high efflux rate of drugs from the CNS caused by the overexpression of ABC transporters at the BBB. In any case, the development of nanoformulations of AEDs seems like a promising strategy to improve their pharmacokinetic profile by increasing the fraction of drug that reaches (and stays in) the CNS, as well as by optimizing the drug's distribution/ metabolism and elimination profile.

Despite the abundance of recent works in the field of pharmaceutical nanoformulations, there is not much to be found in the particular case of epilepsy, especially if one looks for nanosystems with proven in vivo effectiveness. Therefore, this chapter begins with a short overview of the possibilities offered by the pharmaceutical nanotechnology to improve the antiepileptic therapy to continue with a detailed analysis of the methods and the results of the in vitro and in vivo evaluation of nanoformulations of AEDs reported so far.

Key words Antiepileptic drugs, Bioavailability, Biopolymers, Blood-brain barrier, Central nervous system, Drug delivery systems, Epilepsy, Intranasal route of administration, Nanoformulations, Nanoparticles, Nanosystems, Nanotechnology, Solid lipid nanoparticles

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_16, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

#### 1 Introduction

The currently available pharmacological treatment for epilepsy is symptomatic: seizures are inhibited by the periodic administration of one or more antiepileptic drugs (AEDs). However, it is not possible to achieve the control of convulsions in all the patients, mainly due to the lack of an adequate therapeutic response (refractory patients) or because of the high attrition rates observed in anticonvulsant therapy, where long-term therapies are needed with drugs that cause several unwanted side effects [1, 2]. Conventional dosage forms are characterized by the lack of specificity in its distribution: to achieve therapeutic levels at the site of action, other tissues are unnecessarily subjected to high levels of the drug.

From a therapeutic point of view, the epilepsy treatment implies, similar to all central nervous system (CNS) disorders, additional challenges due to the presence of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) that limits the access of drugs to their molecular target in the brain [3]. The BBB includes not only particularly tight junctions that limit the passage of drugs through the paracellular pathway but also high expression levels of polyspecific efflux pumps of the ABC superfamily (e.g., P-gp, BCRP, MRPs, among others), which in turn restrict the transfer of their substrates through the transcellular pathway [4].

One of the classic strategies to address these difficulties in order to improve the anticonvulsant therapy has been the search for new drugs (or prodrugs) with more potency and/or higher bioavailability (BA) [5]. However, although the number of new AEDs has significantly increased over the last 20 years, this has not been followed by a decrease in the rate of treatment failure: about one third of patients remain resistant to drug therapy [6], and the results of clinical studies available so far are not conclusive in suggesting a therapeutic improvement or a better tolerability of the new AEDs [7]. Moreover, the excessive cost of these new anticonvulsant drugs makes them inaccessible for many of the epileptic patients, since about 80% of the population affected by epilepsy live in low- and middle-income countries [8].

Considering the role of the efflux transporters at the BBB, blocking their function, downregulating their activity, or inhibiting the upregulation associated with the disease seem at first sight as a logical strategy to enhance the localization of the therapeutic agents in the brain [9, 10]. However, the associated risks are high: long-term decline of the function of ABC transporters has been associated with xenobiotic toxicity and enhanced predisposition to neurodegenerative diseases such as Parkinson's and Alzheimer's [11, 12].

Therefore, other methods have been proposed to bypass the BBB and deliver drugs directly into the CNS, like the reversible disruption of the BBB by the infusion of hyperosmotic solutions or the administration of vasoactive compounds to temporarily open the tight junctions. Moreover, invasive methods like the intracerebral (or intraparenchymal) administration of solutions or implants and the convection-enhanced delivery (CED) of drugs have also been proposed [3]. Many are the drawbacks of these approaches, specially the elevated risks of brain damage, infection and/or toxicity, and a possible lack of control of the release kinetics.

There is, however, a less invasive alternative approach to bypass the BBB: direct nose-to-brain delivery of drugs. The intranasal administration of drugs represents a promising route for CNS drug delivery; its characteristics are discussed in Sect. 4.

For all the aforementioned issues, it is imperative to develop novel strategies to achieve a proper control of epileptic seizures in all the patients through innovative treatments and novel technologies. In this regard, pharmaceutical nanotechnology will most probably play a key role to substantially improve the treatment of epilepsy, as it has been the case for other diseases like cancer [13].

The encapsulation of anticonvulsant drugs using nanoscale systems may provide, among other advantages, an optimized drug distribution profile, with controlled and higher levels at the target site and lower efflux of the drugs from the CNS by the ABC transporters present at the BBB [14]. A formulation with such characteristics would have seemed idealistic a few years ago. However, today advances in nanotechnology and nanobiotechnology are allowing us to approach and develop novel vehicles and strategies showing very interesting prospects for the treatment of CNS diseases [15].

#### 2 Nanoformulations in Epilepsy Treatment

As discussed so far, it is clear that many are the difficulties that a drug must overcome to achieve their therapeutic effect at the CNS. In addition to the undesirable side effects and the resistance mechanisms by nonspecific efflux transporters already mentioned in the previous section, there are other factors that threaten or endanger the success of the therapy, such as metabolic reactions that can cause the drug inactivation and/or the production of active metabolites with unfavorable pharmacokinetic properties, as well as the low aqueous solubility exhibited by many of the already known active ingredients or by the ones currently in the development pipeline. In an excellent review published in 2013, Vlieghe and Khrestchatisky affirmed that most small molecules and virtually all macromolecules do not cross the BBB by passive diffusion due to their hydrophilicity and/or their high molecular weight [3]. Therefore, by encapsulating a drug into a nanosystem, it is expected to attain a global improvement of both the release and the biodistribution profiles of the drug.

A drug incorporated into a nanosystem of about 100–200 nm size could be hidden from the body clearance mechanisms [16], which in turn will result in more drug reaching the target site. In other words, the nanoformulation is expected to efficiently cross the blood capillary endothelial cells at the BBB producing greater drug concentrations at the brain parenchyma [17].

In general, a drug encapsulated or entrapped into a nanoparticle (NP) could enter the CNS by adsorptive-mediated transport (AMT) or alternatively by receptor-mediated transport (RMT) if the NP possesses a suitable ligand to a BBB receptor. In any case, the efflux transporters at the BBB are avoided, which is especially relevant since it has been demonstrated that many currently used AEDs are substrates of those carriers, including phenobarbital (PBT), phenytoin (PHT), lamotrigine (LTG), and oxcarbazepine (OxCBZ), among others [18].

Besides a diminished efflux from the CNS, nanosystems are expected to provide additional advantages over the classic dosage forms. As mentioned before, epilepsy treatment with AEDs is characterized by several undesirable side effects that this group of drugs produces to the patients, partly due to its high systemic levels and unspecific distribution [19]. Moreover, cell/organ toxicity could be increased by the metabolites produced from the biotransformation of the drug under physiological conditions.

Generally, AEDs are well absorbed (with oral BA ranging from 70% to higher percentages), highly bound to plasma proteins, and also highly metabolized by the hepatic enzymes that convert the AEDs into one or more metabolites some of which also possess antiepileptic activity [19]. Carbamazepine (CBZ), for example, is not a P-gp substrate but is metabolized (in a percentage variable between 10 and 80%) to its 10,11-epoxi-CBZ (E-CBZ) derivate, a compound of similar antiepileptic activity to that of the parent drug but with much lower plasmatic half-life (near  $6 \pm 1$  h, meanwhile the CBZ half-life is around  $26 \pm 5$  h [19]) and susceptible to P-gp-mediated transport [20]. In addition, due to the elevated plasma protein binding ability of almost all AEDs (near 50% for PBT and CBZ-E, 75% for CBZ and even 90% for PHT), there is a small fraction of drug circulating in its free form, and it is precisely this fraction the one that could enter the CNS through passive diffusion [21].

Finally, and compared with other strategies to address the problem (like the search for new drugs or prodrugs), the development of nanoformulations of AEDs could provide the additional advantage of rapidly reaching clinical development, since they can involve already approved drugs. The screening and development of novel drugs usually starts from about 10,000 or more prospective molecules to finally get a couple good candidates, a process that requires between 12 and 15 years to reach the market and a huge amount of money [22].

Regarding the inactive substances of the formulation, namely, excipients, their choice depends mainly on the type of nanosystem intended to be developed. The classification and the advantages and drawbacks of each class of nanosystem have been extensively discussed in other texts (see, *e.g.*, [23, 24] and references therein). Despite that virtually all kinds of nanosystems could be used for the delivery of AEDs, the preference for the use of excipients already approved by the FDA for their use in drug products [25] makes some of them more suitable than others, like lipid-based over polymeric-based nanosystems.

The use of this kind of excipients also avoids safety issues if the formulation does not exceed the maximum limits established for each component (which could also depend on the administration route). Other characteristics of the nanosystems, as the drugloading capacity, physical and chemical stability, cost of the production method, sterilization possibilities, and scale-up properties, must also be taken into account.

#### 3 Proposed Nanosystems for the Administration of AEDs

This section is dedicated to the review and discussion, with special emphasis on the in vitro/in vivo evaluations performed, of some of the articles published so far on the field of antiepileptic therapy that meet the following inclusion criteria: (1) related to formulations of drugs with proven anticonvulsant effect, (2) administered as nano (but not micro)-sized carriers, and (3) published in the last 5 years (with the exception of three articles prior to 2010, included to illustrate some key concepts of the section). The articles selected, as well as their main features, are listed in Table 1.

It is worth highlighting that all the results presented in this section were reported at different preclinical stages. There is so far no approved nanoformulation for epilepsy treatment.

Though many other interesting works can be found on the topic, we limited our analysis to the ones presented in Table 1 to illustrate the potential of pharmaceutical nanocarriers applied to the particular case of epilepsy.

Back in 2000, Friese et al. assayed polymeric nanoparticles for the delivery of a novel noncompetitive NMDA receptor antagonist (MRZ 2/576) [26]. When administered as a solution, the free drug demonstrated to be very potent in vivo (maximal electroshock seizure—MES test ED50 7.7 mg/kg), but with a very short duration of action, the maximum effect was reached around 5 min after intravenous (IV) administration due to its extrusion from the CNS by the carboxylic acid transporters. Therefore, the authors tested the effect of a pretreatment with probenecid (PBC, 200 mg/kg intraperitoneal (IP) injection as an aqueous suspension 30 min

3.1 In Vivo Pharmacokinetic/ Pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) Studies of Nanoformulations of AEDs

| Table 1 |          |            |           |         |         |
|---------|----------|------------|-----------|---------|---------|
| Summary | of the n | anosystems | discussed | in this | section |

|                          |  | Studies                     | included  |                    |                   |                                   |      |
|--------------------------|--|-----------------------------|---|--------------------|-------------------|-----------------------------------|------|
| Drug                     | Type of<br>nanosystem                                    | In vitro<br>drug<br>release | In vitro<br>permeability  | ln<br>vivo<br>(PK) | In vivo<br>(PD)   | Authors and reference             | Year |
| MRZ 2/576                | PBCA NP  | -                           | -   | -                  | MES               | Friese et al.<br>[26]             | 2000 |
| Valproic acid<br>(VA)    | PBCA NP coated<br>with PS 80                             | -                           | -   | Yes                | -                 | Darius et al.<br>[27]             | 2000 |
| Diazepam (DZ)            | SLN  | Yes                         | -   | -                  | -                 | Abdelbary<br>and<br>Fahmy<br>[51] | 2009 |
| Valproic acid<br>(VA)    | NLC  | Yes                         | -   | -                  | -                 | Varshosaz<br>et al. [ <b>76</b> ] | 2010 |
| Valproic acid<br>(VA)    | Chitosan NP  | Yes                         | -   | -                  | -                 | Hamidi et al.<br>[77]             | 2011 |
| Ethosuximide<br>(ETS)    | Chitosan NC  | Yes                         | -   | -                  | Yesª              | Hsiao et al.<br>[ <b>35</b> ]     | 2012 |
| Carbamazepine<br>(CBZ)   | Chitosan SLN   | Yes                         | -   | -                  | MES               | Nair et al.<br>[ <b>36</b> ]      | 2012 |
| Clonazepam<br>(CZ)       | SLN  | -                           | BBB model<br>(hCMEC/D3<br>cells)                                | -                  | PTZ               | Leyva-<br>Gómez<br>et al. [37]    | 2014 |
| Lamotrigine<br>(LTG)     | Pluronic 123<br>micelles                                 | Yes                         | -   | Yes                | -                 | Liu et al.<br>[ <b>30</b> ]       | 2014 |
| Gabapentin<br>(GPT)      | Albumin NP<br>coated with PS<br>80                       | Yes                         | -   | Yes                | MES<br>and<br>PTZ | Wilson et al.<br>[33]             | 2014 |
| Phenytoin<br>(PHT)       | Angiopep-2-<br>conjelectro-<br>responsive<br>hydrogel NP | Yes                         | BBB model<br>(bEnd3 cells)                                      | Yes                | AK                | Ying et al.<br>[34]               | 2014 |
| Oxcarbazepine<br>(OxCBZ) | PLGA-NP  | Yes                         | BBB (hCMEC/<br>D3) and human<br>placenta (BeWo<br>cells) models | -                  | -                 | Lopalco<br>et al. [78]            | 2015 |

<sup>a</sup>The anticonvulsant effect was evaluated in epileptic rats

*PK* pharmacokinetic, *PD* pharmacodynamics, *PBCA* poly(butylcyanoacrylate), *NP* nanoparticles, *PS* polysorbate, *NLC* nanostructured lipid carriers, *SLN* solid lipid nanoparticles, *PLGA* poly(lactide-coglycolide), *BBB* blood brain barrier, *VA* valproic acid, *DZ* diazepam, *ETS* etosuximide, *CBZ* carbamazepine, *LTG* lamotrigine, *GPT* gabapentine, *PHT* phenytoin, *OxCBZ* oxcarbazepine, *MES* maximal electroshock seizure test, *PTZ* pentylenetetrazol test, *AK* amygdala kindling test

before the drug administration), an uricosuric agent that competitively inhibits the aforementioned transporters, and a significant prolongation of the drug action time (up to 150 min) was observed possibly due to the simultaneous effect of PBC at the BBB and the kidneys. PBC however has its own pharmacological activity and hence a combined administration of MRZ and PBC could not be considered as a therapeutically viable option.

Consequently, the authors tested the IV administration of the drug in poly(butylcyanoacrylate) NP (140–335 nm) finding that the NP were able to prolong the MRZ anticonvulsant activity up to 60 min (or even 210 min, if the NP were coated with polysorbate 80) when mice were subjected to the MES test (100 Hz, 20 mA, 0.5 s shock duration applied by corneal electrodes).

Despite the lack of important complementary studies of the nanosystem, such as in vitro drug release, toxicity, and/or biodistribution studies, the work of Friese et al. is still a good example of how nanotechnology can help to overcome pharmacokinetic problems of promising drug candidates that would be otherwise dismissed.

In the same year, the effect over the PK profile of valproic acid (VA) administered in a NP formulation was reported by Darius et al. [27]. The preparation technique included the polymerization of 1% butylcyanoacrylate in the presence of dextran 70,000 or Tween 85 as stabilizers, followed by the lyophilization of the produced NPs, resuspension in buffer PBS, and adsorption of VA (30 mg/ml) onto the NP surface. A third formulation was also prepared by coating the dextran 70,000 NPs with polysorbate 80 (PS 80).

The three formulations and the control (VA solution of the same concentration) were IV administered (0.1 ml/10 g of body weight, *i.e.*, 300 mg/kg of VA) to four groups of mice (three mice per time point), and VA was quantified in plasma and brain by gas chromatography at 5, 20, and 60 min post-dose. Interestingly, none of the three formulations displayed differences compared to the control group in terms of plasma and brain exposures. The work also included the quantification of several VA metabolites, some of which (including a neurotoxic one) showed significantly lower serum levels when administered as NP.

From the presented results, it seems that the nanoformulation did not modify the influx and efflux of VA from the CNS (processes known for being asymmetric [28, 29]). Unfortunately, the in vitro drug release profile and the encapsulation efficiency were not reported, which would have allowed having a better description of the system, especially interesting in this case in which the drug is adsorbed onto, and not encapsulated into, the NP.

When preclinical studies are carried out with a drug adsorbed or encapsulated into a nanosystem, it is essential to also perform a complete in vitro characterization of the system by means of the determination of the total drug content, the percentage encapsulated, the stability of the system over the time (under the proposed storage conditions), and the in vitro release profile of the drug, both at time zero and after the estimated period of use. This information allows a better interpretation of the results of the in vivo studies, usually performed with the suspension resulting from the NP synthesis (without a prior separation step) and not necessarily immediately after it.

Nevertheless, the most relevant conclusion of the Darius et al. work is the possibility of the modification of a drug's metabolic clearance by a nanocarrier. As in the case of Friese et al., this is another nanotechnology-based strategy to develop an optimization of the PK profile of a drug.

On the contrary, Liu et al. found significant differences in brain exposure when the same dose of LTG (10 mg/kg) was IV administered as a solution or incorporated into pluronic 123 (P123) polymeric micelles with an average size of 20 nm [30]. Despite that the authors attributed these results to the P123 ability of modulating the P-gp activity at the BBB, they did not find differences in brain exposure of LTG-P123 micelles when the animals were pretreated with the P-gp inhibitor verapamil.

To elucidate the mechanisms underlying the improvement in brain BD, an in vitro bidirectional permeability study could be performed (e.g., in Caco 2 or MDCK cells transfected with P-gp) to comparatively assess the permeability of the free drug, the encapsulated drug, and the drug plus the inactive components of the NP formulation (excipients). Such experiment, performed both with and without specific inhibitors of the transporter, would help to prove the authors' hypothesis about a potential effect of P123 over P-gp.

Furthermore, due to the specialized transport mechanisms that exist in each epithelium or endothelium, it is important to also assess, if possible, the permeability in adequate in vitro specific cellular systems (*e.g.*, brain microvascular endothelial cells).

The developed micelles are promising in terms of the high BA achieved by the nanoformulation, and the results allow to speculate about the presence of several mechanisms involved in that outcome, like the effect of the nanosystem over other efflux transporters, since LTG is a P-gp substrate [18] and also a BCRP substrate [31], a transporter not inhibited by verapamil [32].

As in the case of Liu et al., the work of Wilson et al. also achieved a better biodistribution for the AED gabapentin (GPT) administered in a nanosystem (compared to a solution of the drug), but in this case the authors also assessed the anticonvulsant activity of the formulation in vivo to confirm that the better PK properties actually translate into better PD properties [33].

In the aforementioned work, GPT-loaded albumin NPs were prepared by pH-coacervation method, freeze-dried, and then coated with PS 80 showing an average size of 140 nm. The drug released from the NPs in the brain was almost twofold higher than the control made by GPT solution. Meanwhile, the coated NPs achieved brain levels more than threefold higher compared with the control. In addition, when the NPs were tested in vivo, the coated formulation significantly reduced the duration of all phases of convulsion compared to the control, both in MES and PTZ test.

The last of the selected studies about drug biodistribution is the one of Ying et al., who reported PHT-loaded electro-responsive hvdrogel NP (ERHNP) brain targeted by means of its conjugation with angiopep-2 (ANG-ERHNP), with an average size of 140 nm and a %EE near 80% [34]. The main results of this very comprehensive work could be summarized in the following points: (1) conjugation with the brain-targeting peptide significantly increased the cell permeability of ANG-ERHNP in bEnd3 cells (derived from brain microvascular endothelial mouse cells as an in vitro BBB model); (2) ANG-PHT-ERHNP exerted the same protection as the control PHT solution in the in vivo amygdala-kindling (AK) epilepsy model; for a given dose (50 mg/kg), the free drug only displayed protective effects for 2 h, while the nanoformulation still showed protection (measured as reached seizure stage and after discharge duration) 8 h post-dose; and (3) the maximum drug concentration in the brain was reached 0.5-1 h post-dose but remained high (relative to the free drug) during the following 4 h of the study, which is consistent with the PD data.

Finally, Hsiao et al. [35], Nair et al. [36], and Leyva-Gómez et al. [37] described nanosystems for the delivery of ethosuximide (ETS), CBZ, and clonazepam (CZ), respectively, the first two with the common feature of using chitosan-based systems. Chitosan is a highly bioadhesive and biodegradable cationic polysaccharide, suitable for the synthesis of biocompatible and nontoxic drug delivery systems.

Hsiao et al. obtained chitosan nanocapsules of ETS with thermo-gelling properties that could be potentially used as an injectable depot for drug delivery. The in vivo therapeutic effect was evaluated by the subcutaneous (SC) injection of 1 ml of the thermo-gelling solution (that forms, at body temperature, a SC gel implant with 10 mg/ml of ETS) into five Long-Evans rats with spontaneous spike-wave discharges (SWDs), suggested to be an absence-like seizure model that is known to be suppressed by ETS [38]). The treatment reduced the number of recorded SWDs to about 50% on days 1-3 after injection, and also the amplitude of the SWDs that occurred during the other days of the study were monitored by electrodes surgically implanted over the frontal cortex of the rats. From day 4 the number of SWDs increased, which coincided with a gel volume reduction greater than 50%. The work did not include a control group treated with a solution of ETS, what could have revealed the typical differences between immediate and prolonged drug release kinetics.

In 2012, Nair et al. reported a new chitosan-solid lipid nanoparticle (SLN) system for the administration of CBZ [36]. Orally administered chitosan-SLN-CBZ formulation exerted

shorter durations of all epileptic phases in MES test in vivo with respect to the control group (CBZ solution) and significantly delayed the onset of convulsions in the isoniazid induced convulsion model. From the reported results, however, it is not possible to establish neither the dose actually administered to the groups of mice nor the mechanisms underlying the improved activity. As stated previously in this section, unfortunately the lack of a complete in vitro characterization of a nanosystem limits the conclusions of in vivo experiments.

Probably, the final effect is the resultant of various combined effects, like an improved oral BA, as in the case of Leyva-Gómez (below), and improved metabolic/distribution profiles of the drug. CBZ is not a P-gp substrate [18], but, as mentioned before, near 10–80% of the dose is metabolized to its 10,11-epoxide derivative, a compound with activity similar to CBZ [39] that presents a shorter plasma half-life and is a P-gp substrate [20]. Therefore, the overall effect would be a higher anticonvulsant effect due to a higher brain exposure to the drug if the nanoformulation is capable of reducing the CBZ metabolism as in the previously reviewed work by Darius et al. [26].

Leyva-Gómez et al. synthesized and studied the in vitro permeability and in vivo activity of SLN containing the drug CZ [37]. Permeability studies were performed in hCMEC/D3 cells (human brain endothelial cell line) and showed a significantly higher permeability of the drug encapsulated in SLNs compared to the drug alone, even though CZ permeability is already high across the in vitro BBB. The anticonvulsant effect was assessed by the pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) seizure test, and the authors found that when administered orally to mice, the SLN-CZ significantly delayed the onset of the first convulsive event (respect to the control group that received a CZ solution); the same effect was not observed when the administration was IP. These findings are in line with the results reported by Nair et al. about the possibility of an improved oral BA due to some components of the SLN [36], a hypothesis that could be tested by studying the in vitro permeability of the loaded SLN, in comparison with the free drug and a solution of free drug plus SLN constituents, in adequate models of intestinal permeability (e.g., Caco 2 cells).

Regardless of the positive results, benzodiazepines are not suitable for chronic therapies due to tolerance development. They are, however, a first choice for acute seizures, a situation in which the intranasal administration could be a more suitable drug delivery route, as we will see in Sect. 4.

As a last remark on the present section, it would be of great importance to also perform the in vivo preclinical studies (both PK and PD) in animal models of resistant epilepsy, in which biochemical alterations may be present, like the overexpression of the efflux transporters at the BBB [40].

#### 3.2 In Vitro Drug Release Studies

Drug dissolution tests have near a century of development. However, in recent decades they have attracted more interest, especially due to their application to the study of solid drug dosage forms which somehow predicts the drug BA. To be absorbed, an active ingredient should be previously dissolved; to cross a biological membrane, a compound must be solubilized in the fluids in contact with the membrane [41]. Additionally, if the active ingredient is included in a dosage form, it must be released to be dissolved, a common feature of all the administration routes of drugs, both enteral and parenteral.

Therefore, the study of release and dissolution kinetics becomes the in vitro assay of choice for a first predictive assessment of a drug's in vivo performance, and even in some cases it is enough to subrogate the drug of in vivo BA or bioequivalence (BE) studies (biowaiver) [42]. The biorelevance of the test, i.e., its ability to adequately predict what will happen in vivo, is thus essential: the test should be able to detect those differences between formulations which would lead to a different in vivo behavior and at the same time should not be over-discriminating to differences that would be irrelevant at a physiological level.

The aforementioned highlights a key aspect of these in vitro studies: their comparative nature, either against a reference formulation (as in the regulatory case) or between different alternative formulations, as well as between a formulation and the pure drug, comparisons that can only be done if certain experimental parameters are standardized. While strict protocols are followed to perform an in vitro dissolution test during a pharmacopeial quality control [43], several variables should be modified to assess the release performance of a drug in a nanoformulation, but some general guidelines should also be followed to yield comparatively useful results.

The use of **biorelevant media**. In its simplest form, these are buffer solutions of a pH coincident with some portion of the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, *i.e.*, ranging from 1.2 to 6.8, as proposed by the WHO [44]. However, more complex simulated biological fluids have been proposed for oral dosage forms, which release the active ingredient to be absorbed in the GI tract: fasted-state (FaSSIF) and fed-state (FeSSIF) simulated intestinal fluid [45, 46], simulated gastric fluid also in the fasted or fed state (FaSSGF and FeSSGF, respectively), and colonic fluid in both states (FaSSCoF and FeSSCoF) [47]. However, a medium to simulate the dissolution conditions at the CNS has not been developed yet, which is natural if one bears in mind that conventional dosage forms are not able to reach the BBB to release their contents into the CNS, which is now possible with nanometric formulations.

It should be emphasized that, since nanoencapsulated drugs may cross biological barriers as such, dissolution testing should always be complemented with permeability studies in appropriate models.

Working under sink conditions. The United States Pharmacopeia (USP) establishes that these conditions are met if the concentration of saturation of the drug in the medium is at least three times the working concentration [48]. In the case of poorly soluble drugs (class II and IV of the BCS), that condition may require volumes incompatible with the experimental possibilities (conventional dissolution equipment allows for a maximum of 1 l per vessel). To overcome these limitations, several alternatives are available (use of cosolvents, surfactants, biphasic systems, medium removal strategies, among others), but of them only the use of certain surfactants has been officially accepted [49].

Finally, another interesting aspect that tends to be underestimated is **the influence of hydrodynamics** during dissolution tests. The type and intensity of agitation, closely related to the type of dosage form and equipment used [50], is a major factor to ensure biorelevant results, since little or inefficiently agitated systems are likely to be over-discriminant, while the opposite happens if the agitation is excessive.

Taking into account these considerations, Table 2 summarizes the conditions used to study the in vitro release kinetic of the nanoformulations of AEDS described in the previous section of this chapter.

Despite not having any in vivo results, the work of Abdelbary and Fahmy was analyzed because it is one of the most biorelevant in vitro test reported [51]. The authors prepared SLN loaded with diazepam (DZ) by modified high-shear homogenization and ultrasound techniques and assessed the in vitro drug release by using a buffer solution of biorelevant pH as dissolution media and the USP apparatus 1 (basket), which allows for the system to be correctly agitated at 37 °C. On the other hand, and since the dose of DZ used for the test is declared, it is possible to affirm that the test was performed under *sink* conditions (the volume used is more than three times the solubility of DZ in the medium). This is especially relevant since a common failure found in the experimental design of many of the reviewed articles is the lack of specification of the amount of drug placed in the dissolution media.

Finally, despite that the agitation speed could seem low for the apparatus used (in general, rotation speeds of 100 rpm are used for in vitro dissolution tests in the USP apparatus 1 [42]), it should be kept in mind that these conditions are trying to simulate the flow of the nanosystem through the systemic circulation and not peristaltic movements.

If an oral route of administration is proposed, the nanosystem could release the drug in the GI tract or be absorbed as such. In the first case, a classical drug release profile under the accepted biorelevant conditions for orally administered dosage forms should

|    | 1 |
|----|---|
| 2  | , |
| e  |   |
| Q  |   |
| Та | 1 |

Description of the experimental conditions used to evaluate the in vitro release performance of the nanosystems of AEDs reviewed in this section

| Amount/dose   | Experimental array  | Medium, agitation, and<br>temperature   | Sampling time and quantification method   | % Dissolved/time  |
|---|---|---|---|---|
| DZ-SLN [ <b>51</b> ]<br>An amount of SLN<br>dispersion equivalent to<br>2 mg of DZ    | Dispersion was placed in a glass<br>cylinder fitted at its lower end<br>with a cellulose membrane<br>(MWCO: 12–14 kDa) and<br>suspended in a USP dissolution<br>apparatus 1 (basket) vessel | 400 ml of phosphate buffer<br>(pH 7.4) was added to<br>each flask and allowed to<br>rotate (25 rpm) at 37 °C  | Sampling time: 8 h. Aliquots were<br>withdrawn and replaced with<br>fresh buffer and the drug<br>content was determined<br>spectrophotometrically     | Near 90% of DZ is<br>dissolved in 8 h (for<br>the two selected SLN<br>formulations) |
| VA-NLC [ <b>76</b> ]<br>3 mL of aqueous<br>dispersion                                 | Dispersion was scaled into dialysis<br>bags (MWCO: 12.4 kDa) with<br>a constant length of 10 cm and<br>placed in a glass test tube  | 100 mL of pH 6 PBS with<br>0.1% Tween 80. 200 rpm<br>magnetic stirrer agitation.<br>Temperature is not<br>disclosed   | Sampling time: 21 days. Aliquots<br>were withdrawn and replaced<br>with fresh medium. Drug<br>content was determined by<br>HPLC                       | Less than 75% is<br>dissolved in 8 days<br>(for the selected<br>NLC formulation)    |
| VA-hydrogel NP [77]<br>The nano-dispersion was<br>divided into 1 mL<br>portions       | Each portion was placed in<br>1.5 mL polypropylene micro<br>tubes, placed in a vertically<br>shaking incubator designed and<br>assembled in-house   | The samples were shaken gently (15 rpm) while being incubated in 37 °C  | Sampling time: 7 days. At each time point, one of the aliquots was harvested and the total and free drug were quantified by HPLC                      | Almost 60% of VA is<br>released in the first<br>24 h, reaching 90%<br>in 7 days     |
| ETS-chitosan NC [35]<br>Portions of 2 ml of<br>Ethosuximide nanogels<br>(0.1 g/10 ml) | 2 ml portions (prepared with the<br>crosslinking agent genipin to<br>prevent gel erosion during the<br>test) were prepared in 15 ml<br>falcon tubes   | In each tube, 2 ml of pH<br>7.4 simulated body fluid<br>(SBF) were added <sup>a</sup> . The<br>test was carried out at<br>room temperature. No<br>agitation described | Sampling time: 20 days. Aliquots<br>were withdrawn and replaced<br>with fresh buffer and the drug<br>content was determined<br>spectrophotometrically | Near 75 % of ESM is<br>dissolved in 21 days<br>(more than 55 % in<br>the first 6 h) |
| CBZ-SLN [ <b>36</b> ]<br>2 ml of the SLN<br>dispersion                                | The dispersion was placed in the<br>donor compartment of a Franz<br>diffusion cell fitted with a<br>dialysis membrane (MWCO:<br>3.5 kDa)  | 20 ml of PBS was placed in<br>the receptor<br>compartment, and the<br>system was kept at<br>37 °C. No agitation<br>described  | Sampling time: 24 h<br>Aliquots were withdrawn and the<br>drug content was determined<br>spectrophotometrically                                       | One of the three SLN<br>formulations reach<br>the 65 % of CBZ<br>dissolved in 24 h  |

(continued)

| h<br>% Dissolved/time                   | 75% of LTG is<br>dissolved in 6 h and<br>remained constant<br>until the last<br>sampling time   | Near the 45% of the<br>drug is released in<br>24 h  | At 4 h, the release<br>increased from 35 to<br>60–90% when<br>currents of 100–<br>200 µA were applied,<br>respectively  | Among 60–70%<br>released in the first<br>3 h, and remain<br>almost constant until<br>24 h  | 'ml HPO <sub>4</sub> ; 0.5 mmol/ml SO <sub>4</sub>  |
|---|---|---|---|--|---|
| Sampling time and quantification method | Sampling time: 24 h<br>Aliquots were withdrawn and<br>replaced with fresh medium.<br>The drug content was<br>determined<br>spectrophotometrically | Sampling time: 24 h.<br>Aliquots were withdrawn and<br>replaced with fresh medium. The<br>drug content was determined<br>spectrophotometrically | Sampling time: 24 h<br>Aliquots were withdrawn and the<br>drug content was determined by<br>HPLC  | Sampling time: 24 h.<br>Aliquots were withdrawn and the<br>drug content was determined by<br>HPLC  | ml Cl; 4.2 mmol/ml HCO <sub>3</sub> ; 1.0 mmol/<br>the membrane of the dialvsis bag               |
| Medium, agitation, and<br>temperature   | The bag was immersed into<br>50 mL of PBS ( $pH = 7.4$ )<br>with 0.1 % Tween 80, and<br>kept at 37 °C, with<br>stirring at 100 rpm                | The end-scaled bag was<br>dialyzed against 50 ml of<br>pH 7.4 phosphate buffer,<br>at 37 °C, with stirring at<br>100 rpm                        | The bag was immersed into<br>50 mL of PBS (pH = 7.4)<br>buffer and kept at $37 \degree C$<br>in a thermal bath with<br>continuous stirring  | Dissolution medium was<br>pH 7.4 PBS, orbitally<br>shaked at 50 rpm in a hot<br>box at 37 °C   | ; 2.5 mmol∕ml Ca; 147.8 mmol∕i<br>in effect of the PHT molecule via                               |
| Experimental array                      | The solution was introduced into<br>a pre-swollen dialysis bag<br>(MWCO: 3.5 kDa)   | NPs were suspended in 2 ml of<br>pH 7.4 phosphate buffer and<br>the suspension was placed in a<br>dialysis bag (MWCO: 5 kDa)                    | The solution was scaled into a dialysis bag (MWCO: 8–14 kDa). Additionally, two parallel Pt electrodes were inset in the bag and DC voltage was applied to the solution with a current of 100 or 200 µA for 1 min | Volumes used are not disclosed,<br>but the suspension were directly<br>added and mixed with the<br>dissolution media in vials placed<br>on an orbital shaker | ml Na; 5 mmol/ml K; 1.5 mmol/ml Mg;<br>g/ml) was used to remove the retardatio                    |
| Amount/dose                             | LTG-polymeric micelles<br>[30]<br>1 ml of LTG-<br>incorporated micellar<br>solution   | GPT-albumin NP [33]<br>NP equivalent to 5 mg of<br>Gabapentin   | PHT-electro-responsive<br>NP [34]<br>2 mL of the NP<br>equivalent to 1 mg of<br>PHT were used <sup>b</sup>  | OxCBZ-polymeric NP<br>[78]<br>NP suspensions were<br>diluted 1:20 (v/v) in<br>the medium   | <sup>a</sup> SBF composition: 140 mmol/ <sup>j</sup><br><sup>b</sup> Control PHT solution (500 µ) |

312

Table 2 (continued)

be expected [44]. In the second case, however, the situation is more complex: under GI simulated conditions, the formulation should remain stable long enough to be absorbed without a significant loss of its drug content. How to experimentally measure this has not been addressed yet, but it is not illogical to think that larger release times under GI-simulating conditions (pH 1.2–6.8, agitation at 75–100 rpm) would be favorable if the drug is expected to be absorbed in the encapsulated form. However, under no circumstances the test should be performed without any agitation and/or accurate temperature control.

A similar analysis can be done regarding to the composition of the dissolution media. For parenteral administration, it is correct to select a pH 7.4 buffer, despite that for GI administration the same drugs may require more acidic media, e.g., the evaluation of DZ, LTG, and GBP release from solid oral dosage forms is recommended in HCl 0.01–0.1 N [43]. The use of additives should be more carefully addressed: as it was mentioned before, if the release is expected to happen in the GI tract, tensioactive substances may be considered, although some commonly used compounds (e.g., Tween 80, pluronic 123, PEG) have been shown to negatively modulate P-gp activity [52, 53] and could therefore lead to the results' misinterpretation. For example, both VA capsules and CBZ tablets' USP dissolution tests are performed with a small amount of sodium lauryl sulfate (*i.e.*, SDS) in the medium [43]. The biorelevance of the use of Tween 80 to simulate plasmatic conditions should be further investigated.

A last point to consider is the logical need of some adaptations to perform the in vitro release test of nanoformulations. The use of a dialysis bag, for example, is one of the most commonly found. Despite that with a good agitation system a significant alteration of the release profile is not expected, it is always convenient to assess whether there is a retardation effect (for the diffusion through the membrane) in order to correct the results. Of all the articles reviewed, this verification was found only in one of them [34]. As a general rule, one could think that every alteration introduced to the classical system should be previously validated to ensure that it would not hamper the biorelevance of the test. As a classical system, we understand a vessel with enough fresh dissolution medium to achieve sink conditions at a biorelevant pH, correctly agitated and kept at 37 °C.

#### 4 Nose-to-Brain Delivery of AEDs

Intranasal (IN) drug administration has always been regarded as an alternative administration route especially useful for those drugs that are extensively metabolized or that result unstable on the GI tract conditions [54].

Nasal mucosa is highly vascularized and of easy access for drugs, and its epithelium is mainly formed by ciliated cells, together with goblet cells and seromucous glands, which are responsible of producing secretions for the endonasal mucus [55]. It is a highly porous, nonkeratinized epithelium that lies over a thin basal membrane and that acts as a barrier for the absorption of drugs and xenobiotics [56].

Historically, the IN administration of drugs has been restricted to local uses since the systemic absorption achieved by the route is usually low and erratic. Furthermore, it shows a great interindividual variability since many are the physiological factors involved in the absorption process, like the dimensions of the nasal cavity (which in turn determines the surface available for the absorption), the blood flow, and the metabolic capacity of the mucosa as well as the composition and volume of nasal secretions. Additionally, pathologic factors associated with some allergic or infectious diseases may modify the secretion levels and/or the blood flow of the tissue.

Nevertheless, this administration route has been proposed as a noninvasive alternative to deliver drugs to the brain since it possesses a unique anatomic characteristic: the nasal epithelium is innervated by the trigeminal and olfactory nerves. Once in the olfactory epithelium, a drug is absorbed and enters the olfactory bulb through the dendritic processes of the olfactory neurons that are directly exposed in the upper nasal passage. Therefore, as it can be seen in Fig. 1, the drug is capable of diffusing through the olfactory and trigeminal nerve, effectively distributing throughout the brain [57].

Despite that the drugs absorbed by this route effectively bypass the restrictions imposed by the BBB, the amount of drug reaching the brain from the nasal cavity is still very low, near the 0.1 % of the administered dose [54]. The major obstacle for the absorption process is the mucus layer that covers all the epithelium and reduces the contact time of the substances with the absorptive surface. In a process called mucociliary clearance, the mucus layer (and all the particles and compounds associated to it) is transported by the cilia movement toward the nasopharynx, where it is either swallowed or expelled via coughing.

Therefore, IN dosage forms of AEDs could be a suitable option to ensure a direct delivery of the drugs into the CNS, with less systemic drug losses, faster onset of action, noninvasiveness, easy application, and circumvention of the BBB. A proof of this is that, despite the aforementioned drawbacks, this administration route has been successfully applied for the delivery of anticonvulsant drugs like CBZ [58, 59], CBZ microspheres [60], and LTG [61]. Furthermore, IN delivery of benzodiazepines (midazolam, diazepam, lorazepam) is especially useful in acute crisis management, since it allows for the reduction of the time between drug administration and cessation of seizures [62].



**Fig. 1** Intranasal delivery pathways. Intranasally applied drugs are rapidly transported into the brain tissue both by the peripheral olfactory route (shown in *blue*) and by the peripheral trigeminal route (shown in *red*). *Reprinted with permission from Goldsmith* et al. *Precision nanomedicine in neurodegenerative diseases. ACS Nano* 8(3): 1958–65. © 2014 American Chemical Society

In the next sections, we will discuss the articles about nanosystems for IN administration of AEDs that have so far been published.

The use of this administration route for the delivery of biotherapeutics will not be discussed here, but it is a very interesting option to deliver macromolecules that are usually potent enough to achieve therapeutically active levels in the brain in spite of the small fraction that is absorbed through the nasal mucosa. The nasal route offers several advantages for this kind of molecules that are too large and too unstable to be administered by other routes [56]. The work series of Kubek et al. represents a good example of how the IN route could be applied to the administration of NP-encapsulated biomolecules for epilepsy treatment [63–65].

**4.1 Nanoparticulated** In nasal formulations, the site of drug deposition depends on several variables such as the diameter and size distribution of the particles, some matrix properties, and, in the case of aerosols, the speed of the particles. Therefore, formulating a drug into a nanoparticulated

system for IN administration would provide, besides all the classic and already mentioned advantages of nanocarriers, the achievement of a better control over the deposition place, and thus over the drug absorption, while simultaneously protecting the drug from the degrading environment in the nasal cavity (e.g., lytic enzymes and pH present in nasal secretions).

It is very important to use biocompatible materials to reduce the risk of irritation of the mucosa during the application. Despite that sporadic administration is not likely to produce damage to the epithelium and/or the cilia, chronic administration could produce severe irritation and toxicity, either by the drug or the ingredients of the formulations (*i.e.*, preservatives, salts, etc.), which could lead to serious damage of the cilia, compromising this natural defense mechanism.

There are several articles within the scientific literature that present nanoparticle formulations for IN administration, but only three of them involved AEDs: two based on nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC) and the other one using polymeric nanoparticles.

Back in 2011, Eskandari et al. developed NLC-containing VA for IN administration to achieve sustained protection against the MES model of seizure with lower drug concentrations, thus reducing systemic side effects of the drug. The main features of their work are presented in Table 3. Intranasally administered, the nanosystems showed a protective effect, measured as the decrease in the extension/flexion (E/F) ratio, equal or greater than the one obtained with the VA solution given by the same route but with much lower doses (4 mg/kg of the VA-NLC vs. 30 mg/kg of the VA solution). Furthermore, the intranasally given VA-NLC (4 mg/ kg) protected in the same way as the IP VA solution of 150 mg/ kg. As it can be expected from the preceding results, the VA quantification revealed a brain/plasma (B/P) ratio of 8.4, 6.77, and 0.42 for the intranasal VA-NLC, VA nasal solution, and VA IP solution, respectively [66].

On the other hand, the group of Alam et al. developed and optimized NLC for the IN administration of LTG. The work included an extensive in vitro characterization of the nanosystem, a biodistribution study of the <sup>99m</sup>Tc-labeled nanosystem by  $\gamma$ -scintigraphy, and an in vivo PD study of its activity in the MES test, measured as the percentage of protected animals and as the latency and duration of the tonic hind limb extension (THLE) experienced by the unprotected animals. Other experimental details are listed in Table 3.

Latency times were as follows: nasal NLC > nasal solution > oral solution; all of them were statistically greater than the control (no treatment). However, only the group that received the nanoformulation was protected against seizures (100% and 75% of protection at 1 h and 24 h post-dose, respectively). As in the case of latency times, brain concentration of LTG was greater for the

Table 3 Summary of the experimental protocols used to test the anticonvulsant effect of nanoformulations developed for nose-to-brain delivery of AEDs

I

| AED and nanosystem  | Groups  | Dose (route)  | Intranasal<br>administration  | Anticonvulsant animal<br>model                                | <b>Biodistribution studies</b>                |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| Nanoparticles<br>VA-NLC [66]                                      | Control (NLC) <sup>a</sup>  | 0 mg/kg (IN)  | 100 µl in each nostril<br>with a svringe tubing                     | Rats were given shock<br>(110 mA. 0.2 s.                      | VA in the blood and<br>brain bv GC            |
| Drug loading:<br>t7±0.8%  | Control (NLC) <sup>a</sup><br>VA-NLC <sup>b</sup>   | $\begin{array}{c} 0 \ mg/kg \ (IP) \\ 4 \ mg/kg \ (IN) \end{array}$ | Animals held in supine<br>position under light                      | 100 Hz) 15, 30, 60,<br>90, and 120 min                        | Rats were sacrificed at<br>maximum protection |
| ?article size:<br>154 ± 16 nm<br>Zeta potential:                  | VA-NLC <sup>b</sup><br>VA solution <sup>b</sup><br>VA solution <sup>b</sup>                         | 20 mg/kg (IP)<br>30 mg/kg (IN)<br>150 mg/kg (IP)                    | ether anesthesia  | post-dose. The E:F<br>ratio was recorded                      | time  |
| -10±0.5 mV<br>CTG-NLC [67]  | $(N=6\times 6=36)$<br>Control   | Without any treatment   | 100 µl in each nostril  | Rats were given shock<br>(150 mA, 0.2 s,<br>60 Hz) 1 and 24 h | LTG in the blood and<br>brain by HPLC         |
| Drug loading:<br>96.6 ± 4.3 %<br>?article size:<br>151.6 ± 7.6 mm | LTG solution <sup>c</sup><br>LTG solution <sup>c</sup><br>LTG-NLC <sup>d</sup><br>$(N=4\times4=16)$ | 24 mg/kg (oral)<br>4.8 mg/kg (IN)<br>4.8 mg/kg (IN)                 | Animals held in slanted<br>position under light<br>ether anesthesia | post-dose<br>Latency and THLE<br>duration were<br>recorded    | Rats were sacrificed at<br>24 h post-dose     |
| $-11.7 \pm 3.0 \text{ mV}$  |   |   |   |   |   |

(continued)

| <b>Biodistribution studies</b> | Not performed   |
|--------------------------------|---|
| Anticonvulsant animal<br>model | Mice were injected with<br>100 mg/kg of PTZ<br>(IP) 5 min post-dose<br>Onset of clonic<br>convulsions and death<br>times were recorded<br>Mice were given shock<br>(99 mA, 11 s, 95 Hz)<br>5 min post-dose<br>The tolerated number<br>of shocks were<br>recorded                    |
| Intranasal<br>administration   | 100 µl in each nostril<br>with a syringe tubing<br>Animals were then<br>allowed to rest for<br>5 min to recover from<br>the anesthesia<br>completely and to<br>allow time for the<br>drug to reach the<br>brain   |
| Dose (route)                   | Sham operated<br>25 mg/kg (IN)<br>ST vehicle(IV)<br>25 mg/kg (IV)<br>Sham operated<br>25 mg/kg (IN)<br>25 mg/kg (IV)<br>25 mg/kg (IV)   |
| Groups                         | Control<br>CBZ-MNEG<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =10)<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =5)<br>Control<br>CBZ solution<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =5)<br>Control<br>CBZ-MNEG<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =10)<br>Control<br>CBZ solution<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =5)<br>Control<br>CBZ solution<br>(Both of <i>N</i> =5) |
| AED and nanosystem             | Micro- and nanoemulsions<br>CBZ-Mucoadhesive<br>nanoemulgel [71]<br>0.1% w/w CBZ-loaded<br>nanoemulgel with 0.1%<br>xanthan gum as anionic<br>mucoadhesive polymer<br>Globule size:<br>45–146 nm  |

.

Table 3 (continued)

| CBZ microemulsion [73]                                 | Control  | Without any<br>treatment   | <i>ca</i> . 88 µl in each nostril<br>with a micropipette<br>attached with a | Rats were given shock<br>(150 mA, 0.2 s,<br>60 Hz) 1 h post-dose    | CBZ in the brain and<br>plasma by HPLC          |
|--|--|--|---|---|---|
| 40% w∕v CBZ<br>Globule size:<br>51.3±2.5 nm<br>pH=5.78 | CBZ solution <sup>e</sup><br>CBZ solution <sup>e</sup><br>CBZ-ME<br>CBZ-ME<br>(N=5×6=30) | 8.2 mg/kg (IP)<br>8.2 mg/kg (IN)<br>8.2 mg/kg (oral)<br>8.2 mg/kg (IN) | 0.1 mm id of LDPE<br>tubing   | THLE duration and<br>time for complete<br>recovery were<br>recorded | Rats were sacrificed<br>15 min post-dose        |
| PHT microemulsion [72]                                 | Control  | Without any<br>treatment   | ca. 88 μl in each nostril<br>with a micropipette<br>attached with a         | Rats were given shock<br>(150 mA, 0.2 s,<br>60 Hz) 1 h post-dose    | PHT in the brain by<br>HPLC                     |
| 40% w∕v PHT<br>Globule size:<br>16 nm<br>pH=6.0        | PHT solution <sup>e</sup><br>PHT-ME<br>PHT-ME<br>$(N=4 \times 6 = 24)$                   | 8.2 mg/kg (IP)<br>8.2 mg/kg (oral)<br>8.2 mg/kg (IN)                   | 0.1 mm id of LDPE<br>tubing   | Duration of the THLE<br>was recorded                                | Rats were sacrificed 15<br>and 30 min post-dose |
| Drenared in the same way as the                        | VA-NI C but without the  | drug   |   |   |   |

<sup>b</sup>Pre-dialyzed against purified water (24 h) to separate NP from free drug <sup>c</sup>In DMSO 50% v/v

 $^d Medium$  for resuspension of lyophilized particles is not specified  $^{e\rm In}$  60% PEG 400

NLC, followed by the IN solution, while plasmatic LTG concentrations were IN solution > oral solution > nasal NLC [67].

Unfortunately, the authors did not include an excipient control group (with the same constituents as the NLC but without the drug) in the report. Also, the medium where the LTG-NLC were suspended for the in vivo studies is not clear, which is a very important issue when dealing with absorptive processes that may be influenced by cosolvents (like the DMSO present in the solutions) or pH.

The third work related to the use of NP for nose-to-brain drug delivery of AEDs is the one of Sharma et al., who formulated lorazepam-loaded PLGA nanoparticles (LZ-PLGA-NP) intended for IN administration. The formulation was optimized in terms of particle size and Z-potential (167-318 nm, -18.4 mV), and the amount of drug encapsulated (ca. 90%) resulted stable for at least 90 days and showed no appreciable toxicity in a cell viability assay. Despite that we could not include this work in Table 3 for its lack of in vivo PD studies, the NP showed promising brain-preferential biodistribution: when a fixed dose of LZ was administered to rats as IV solution, IN solution, and IN PLGA-NP, the brain concentration was higher for the latter in the whole time interval (0–8 h). At maximum concentration time (2 h), the B/P ratios were 0.59, 0.76, and 0.87, respectively [68]. It would be interesting to analyze the PLGA's degradation products, considering that the lactic acid (pKa  $\approx$  3.86) released from the NPs is considered a strong acid and the brain pH is about 7.2, with the potential toxic consequences.

4.2 Microand Nanoemulsions for IN Administration of AEDs Particle size is not the only factor that determines the IN absorption of a drug, since despite that smaller particles are capable of reaching the superior nasal epithelium (with the greater permeability), they are also cleared faster by the mucociliary system. The use of bioadhesive materials delays this clearance mechanism and extends the time that particles are in contact with the epithelium, thus promoting the absorption of the drug. For example, Alam et al. postulated that the greater brain exposure found with their LTG-NLC could be due to the mucoadhesive effect of the poloxamer 188 used, which proceeds via an immediate adhesion of the polyoxyethylene chains to mucus through secondary forces, followed by their diffusion into mucus where they undergo molecular interactions [69].

Vyas et al. prepared two CZ microemulsions, one of them with polycarbophil 0.5% for mucoadhesive properties, and compared their biodistribution after IN administration to rats by  $\gamma$ -scintigraphy. As in the previously reviewed articles, they found greater brain/plasma ratios for the IN route compared with an IV administration, with greater brain accumulation of the mucoadhesive formulation [70].

Samia et al. developed a CBZ-loaded mucoadhesive o/w nanoemulgel (0.1 % w/w CBZ-MNEG), based on a nanoemulsion of oleic acid in water, with Labrasol<sup>®</sup> (caprylocaproyl polyoxylglycerides) as surfactant and xanthan gum as mucoadhesive polymer. Along with the PD studies (both in the PTZ and MES models, see details of the experimental protocol in Table 3), the authors evaluated the bioadhesion strength of the formulation by measuring the force required to detach the gel from a bovine nasal mucosa.

Briefly, the CBZ-MNEG was stable during a 12-month period, showed strong bioadhesive properties, and protected animals in both models of seizures. In the PTZ model, the formulation prolonged the onset time for convulsion and death (the obtained values were higher than the IV ones for the same dose and significantly greater than the ones of the control group). For electrically convulsive mice, CBZ-MNEG prevented the convulsions in the first shock, while all control animals died within the first shock. Expressed as number of tolerated shocks, CBZ-MNEG resulted in  $2.0 \pm 0.1$  and IV solution in  $1.5 \pm 0.2$  [71].

Lastly, the group of Acharya et al. developed microemulsions (ME) for nose-to-brain delivery of PHT [72] and CBZ [73] and evaluated their in vivo protective effect in the MES model (details in Table 3). In both cases, the ME caused higher brain concentration levels than the IP solution of the same dose, but showed similar anticonvulsant effect. It would have been interesting to assess the B/P ratio at 60 min, the time employed for the MES test, since these results seem somehow contradictory: in the case of CBZ, for example, the ME showed a B/P ratio 10–15-fold higher than the IP solution of the same dose, but the same anticonvulsant effect was attained with both formulations.

It is worth highlighting that Acharya et al. presented nasal ciliotoxicity studies, very important for this administration route and not included in any of the other reviewed articles. The studies were performed in vivo in rats (CBZ-ME) or ex vivo in sheep nasal mucosa (PHT-ME), followed by the microscopic examination of the nasal mucosa to evaluate the tissue damage. Both formulations were considered nontoxic, as no change could be noticed in the gross morphology and histology of the nasal mucosa, supporting what was already found by other authors for the same excipients [74].

Although the clinical potential of the IN delivery route still remains controversial, the interest in continuing the exploration of the nose-to-brain delivery of drugs is understandable. As seen in the works reviewed in this section, there are many alternatives (type of nanovector, particle size, mucoadhesive materials, and penetration enhancers, among others) that can be tailored to improve brain BA through IN administration. If this route allows the drugs to reach the CNS in a sufficient amount, it could generate interest in previously abandoned drugs and enable a novel approach to CNS drug delivery [75].
#### 5 Conclusions

Conventional administration of AEDs has been proved unsatisfactory in many ways, from insufficient drug levels at the biophase, high toxicity, drug bioconversions and degradability, improper administration routes, and lack of targeting. Nanotechnology is an emerging field that will offer novel drug formulations through the development of novel carriers which could provide an improved pharmacokinetic profile, extended drug release, higher BA, and better patient compliance among other properties. A better understanding of the pathology and characteristics of the patient will allow targeting specific cells avoiding the capture of the nanodevice by nontargeted organs (e.g., liver, kidneys). In this sense, the nanocarrier morphology, shape, size, and surface topography could be used to determine the drug fate. Possibilities are huge, since many are the molecules available in the market.

However, nanomedicine is still in its infancy, and thus we still need to develop and design novel and standardized assays, including the toxicological ones and preclinical and clinical trials for the matrix components and the nanodevices, that allow for the study of their interactions with the drugs and the body. The combination of AEDs and tailored nanodevices will provide novel and efficient platforms to improve the therapeutic treatment of epilepsy and consequently the life quality of patients.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the American Chemical Society for the permission to reproduce Fig. 1. The authors would like to thank UNLP and CONICET.

#### References

- Lie IA, Hoggen I, Samsonsen C et al (2015) Treatment non-adherence as a trigger for status epilepticus: an observational, retrospective study based on therapeutic drug monitoring. Epilepsy Res 113:28–33. doi:10.1016/j. eplepsyres.2015.03.007
- 2. Ferrari CM, de Sousa RM, Castro LH (2013) Factors associated with treatment nonadherence in patients with epilepsy in Brazil. Seizure 22:384–389. doi:10.1016/j.seizure. 2013.02.006
- Vlieghe P, Khrestchatisky M (2013) Medicinal chemistry based approaches and nanotechnology-based systems to improve CNS drug targeting and delivery. Med Res Rev 33:457–516. doi:10.1002/med.21252

- 4. Ejendal KF, Hrycyna CA (2002) Multidrug resistance and cancer: the role of the human ABC transporter ABCG2. Curr Protein Pept Sci 3:503–511
- 5. Pathan SA, Jain GK, Akhter S et al (2010) Insights into the novel three "D"s of epilepsy treatment: drugs, delivery systems and devices. Drug Discov Today 15:717–732. doi:10.1016/j. drudis.2010.06.014
- Moshé SL, Perucca E, Ryvlin P et al (2014) Epilepsy: new advances. Lancet 385:884–898. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60456-6
- Perucca E, Tomson T (2011) The pharmacological treatment of epilepsy in adults. Lancet Neurol 10:446–456. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70047-3

- Plumpton CO, Brown I, Reuber M et al (2015) Economic evaluation of a behavior-modifying intervention to enhance antiepileptic drug adherence. Epilepsy Behav 45:180–186. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.01.035
- Van Vliet EA, Zibell G, Pekcec A et al (2010) COX-2 inhibition controls P-glycoprotein expression and promotes brain delivery of phenytoin in chronic epileptic rats. Neuropharmacology 58:404–412. doi:10.1016/ j.neuropharm.2009.09.012
- Pekcec A, Unkrüer B, Schlichtiger J et al (2009) Targeting prostaglandin E2 EP1 receptors prevents seizure-associated P-glycoprotein up-regulation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 330:939– 947. doi:10.1124/jpet.109.152520
- Bartels AL, Willemsen AT, Kortekaas R et al (2008) Decreased blood-brain barrier P-glycoprotein function in the progression of Parkinson's disease, PSP and MSA. J Neural Transm 115:1001–1009. doi:10.1007/ s00702-008-0030-y
- 12. Cirrito JR, Deane R, Fagan AM et al (2005) P-glycoprotein deficiency at the blood-brain barrier increases amyloid-beta deposition in an Alzheimer disease mouse model. J Clin Invest 115:3285–3290. doi:10.1172/JCI25247
- Bellera C, Gantner ME, Ruiz ME et al (2013) Recent advances on nanotechnology applications to cancer drug therapy. J Can Res Updates 2:151–185, doi: 10.6000/1929-2279.2013. 02.03.3
- 14. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Efflux transporters at the blood-brain barrier: therapeutic opportunities. In: Montenegro P, Suarez S (eds) Blood-brain barrier new research. Nova Publishers, New York, NY
- Patel T, Zhou J, Piepmeier JM et al (2012) Polymeric nanoparticles for drug delivery to the central nervous system. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 64:701–705. doi:10.1016/j. addr.2011.12.006
- Yadav KS, Chuttani K, Mishra AK et al (2011) Effect of size on the biodistribution and blood clearance of Etoposide-loaded PLGA nanoparticles. PDA J Pharm Sci Technol 65:131–139, 65/2/131 [pii]
- 17. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2013) On the development of new antiepileptic drugs for the treatment of pharmacoresistant epilepsy: different approaches to different hypothesis. In: Rocha L, Cavalheiro EA (eds) Pharmacoresistance epilepsy. From genes and molecules to promising therapies. Springer, New York, NY
- Luna-Tortós C, Fedrowitz M, Löscher W (2008) Several major antiepileptic drugs are substrates for human P-glycoprotein.

Neuropharmacology 55:1364–1375. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.08.032

- Goodman LS, Gilman A (2006) Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics. McGraw-Hill, Medical Publishing Division, New York, NY
- 20. Zhang C, Zuo Z, Kwan P et al (2011) In vitro transport profile of carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, eslicarbazepine acetate, and their active metabolites by human P-glycoprotein. Epilepsia 52:1894–1904. doi:10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03140.x
- 21. Loryan I, Sinha V, Mackie C et al (2014) Mechanistic understanding of brain drug disposition to optimize the selection of potential neurotherapeutics in drug discovery. Pharm Res31:2203–2219.doi:10.1007/s11095-014-1319-1
- 22. Pankevich DE, Altevogt BM, Dunlop J et al (2014) Improving and accelerating drug development for nervous system disorders. Neuron 84:546–553. doi:10.1016/j.neuron. 2014.10.007
- 23. Thassu D, Deleers M, Pathak Y (eds) (2007) Nanoparticulate drug delivery systems. Informa Healthcare, New York, NY
- 24. Pathak Y, Thassu D (eds) (2009) Drug delivery nanoparticles formulation and characterization. Informa Healthcare, New York, NY
- FDA Inactive Ingredient for Approved Drug Products. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ scripts/cder/iig/index.cfm. Accessed on 10 Oct 2015
- 26. Friese A, Seiller E, Quack G et al (2000) Increase of the duration of the anticonvulsive activity of a novel NMDA receptor antagonist using poly(butylcyanoacrylate) nanoparticles as a parenteral controlled release system. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 49:103–109. doi:10.1016/ S0939-6411(99)00073-9
- 27. Darius J, Meyer FP, Sabel BA et al (2000) Influence of nanoparticles on the brain-to-serum distribution and the metabolism of valproic acid in mice. J Pharm Pharmacol 52:1043–1047. doi:10.1211/0022357001774958
- Kakee A, Takanaga H, Hosoya K et al (2002) In vivo evidence for brain-to-blood efflux transport of valproic acid across the bloodbrain barrier. Microvasc Res 63:233–238. doi:10.1006/mvre.2001.2378
- Cornford EM, Diep CP, Pardridge WM (1985) Blood-brain barrier transport of valproic acid. J Neurochem 44:1541–1550. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.1985.tb08793.x
- 30. Liu J-S, Wang J-H, Zhou J et al (2014) Enhanced brain delivery of lamotrigine with Pluronic(<sup>®</sup>) P123-based nanocarrier. Int

J Nanomedicine 9:3923–3935. doi:10.2147/ JJN.862263

- Römermann K, Helmer R, Löscher W (2015) The antiepileptic drug lamotrigine is a substrate of mouse and human breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2). Neuropharmacology 93:7– 14. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.01.015
- 32. Zhang Y, Gupta A, Wang H et al (2005) BCRP transports dipyridamole and is inhibited by calcium channel blockers. Pharm Res 22:2023– 2034. doi:10.1007/s11095-005-8384-4
- 33. Wilson B, Lavanya Y, Priyadarshini SR et al (2014) Albumin nanoparticles for the delivery of gabapentin: preparation, characterization and pharmacodynamic studies. Int J Pharm 473:73– 79. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.05.056
- 34. Ying X, Wang Y, Liang J et al (2014) Angiopepconjugated electro-responsive hydrogel nanoparticles: therapeutic potential for epilepsy. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 53:12436– 12440. doi:10.1002/anie.201403846
- 35. Hsiao M-H, Larsson M, Larsson A et al (2012) Design and characterization of a novel amphiphilic chitosan nanocapsule-based thermogelling biogel with sustained in vivo release of the hydrophilic anti-epilepsy drug ethosuximide. J Control Release 161:942–948. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2012.05.038
- 36. Nair R, Kumar AC, Priya VK et al (2012) Formulation and evaluation of chitosan solid lipid nanoparticles of carbamazepine. Lipids Health Dis 11:72. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-11-72
- Leyva-Gómez G, González-Trujano ME, López-Ruiz E et al (2014) Nanoparticle formulation improves the anticonvulsant effect of clonazepam on the pentylenetetrazole-induced seizures: behavior and electroencephalogram. J Pharm Sci 103:2509–2519. doi:10.1002/ jps.24044
- 38. Shaw FZ, Chuang SH, Shieh KR et al (2009) Depression- and anxiety-like behaviors of a rat model with absence epileptic discharges. Neuroscience 160:382–393. doi:10.1016/j. neuroscience.2009.02.053
- Bertilsson L (1978) Clinical pharmacokinetics of carbamazepine. Clin Pharmacokinet 3:128–143
- 40. Rosillo-de la Torre A, Luna-Bárcenas G, Orozco-Suárez S et al (2014) Pharmacoresistant epilepsy and nanotechnology. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 6:329–340
- 41. Polli J (2008) In vitro studies are sometimes better than conventional human pharmacokinetic in vivo studies in assessing bioequivalence of immediate-release solid oral dosage forms. AAPS J 10:289–299. doi:10.1208/ s12248-008-9027-6

- 42. FDA/CDER (2015) Guidance for industry: waiver of in vivo bioavailability and bioequivalence studies for immediate-release solid oral dosage forms based on a BCS.
- United States Pharmacopeia Convention (2011) The United States Pharmacopeia 34. United States Pharmacopeia Convention, Rockville, MD
- 44. WHO (2006) Multisource (generic) pharmaceutical products: guidelines on registration requirements to establish interchangeability.
  40th Rep WHO Expert Comm Specif Pharm Prep WHO Tech Rep Ser No 937: 347–390.
- 45. Galia E, Nicolaides E, Hörter D et al (1998) Evaluation of various dissolution media for predicting in vivo performance of class I and II drugs. Pharm Res 15:698–705. doi:10.102 3/a:1011910801212
- 46. Jantratid E, De Maio V, Ronda E et al (2009) Application of biorelevant dissolution tests to the prediction of in vivo performance of diclofenac sodium from an oral modified-release pellet dosage form. Eur J Pharm Sci 37:434– 441. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2009.03.015
- 47. Otsuka K, Shono Y, Dressman J (2013) Coupling biorelevant dissolution methods with physiologically based pharmacokinetic modelling to forecast in-vivo performance of solid oral dosage forms. J Pharm Pharmacol 65:937– 952. doi:10.1111/jphp.12059
- Jamzad S, Fassihi R (2006) Role of surfactant and pH on dissolution properties of fenofibrate and glipizide--a technical note. AAPS PharmSciTech 7:E33. doi:10.1208/pt070233
- 49. Phillips DJ, Pygall SR, Cooper VB et al (2012) Overcoming sink limitations in dissolution testing: a review of traditional methods and the potential utility of biphasic systems. J Pharm Pharmacol64:1549–1559.doi:10.1111/j.2042-7158.2012.01523.x
- 50. Fotaki N, Aivaliotis A, Butler J et al (2009) A comparative study of different release apparatus in generating in vitro–in vivo correlations for extended release formulations. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 73:115–120. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb. 2009.04.012
- Abdelbary G, Fahmy RH (2009) Diazepamloaded solid lipid nanoparticles: design and characterization. AAPS PharmSciTech 10:211– 219. doi:10.1208/s12249-009-9197-2
- 52. Wei Z, Yuan S, Hao J et al (2013) Mechanism of inhibition of P-glycoprotein mediated efflux by Pluronic P123/F127 block copolymers: relationship between copolymer concentration and inhibitory activity. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 83:266–274. doi:10.1016/j. ejpb.2012.09.014

- 53. Hugger ED, Novak BL, Burton PS et al (2002) A comparison of commonly used polyethoxylated pharmaceutical excipients on their ability to inhibit P-glycoprotein activity in vitro. J Pharm Sci 91:1991–2002. doi:10.1002/jps.10176
- Illum L (2003) Nasal drug delivery—possibilities, problems and solutions. J Control Release 87:187–198. doi:10.1016/S0168-3659(02)00363-2
- 55. Beule AG (2010) Physiology and pathophysiology of respiratory mucosa of the nose and the paranasal sinuses. GMS Curr Top Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Surg 9:Doc07. doi: 10.3205/cto000071
- 56. Shah L, Yadav S, Amiji M (2013) Nanotechnology for CNS delivery of biotherapeutic agents. Drug Deliv Transl Res 3:336–351. doi:10.1007/s13346-013-0133-3
- 57. Goldsmith M, Abramovitz L, Peer D (2014) Precision nanomedicine in neurodegenerative diseases. ACS Nano 8:1958–1965. doi:10.1021/nn501292z
- Barakat NS, Omar SA, Ahmed AA (2006) Carbamazepine uptake into rat brain following intra-olfactory transport. J Pharm Pharmacol 58:63–72. doi:10.1211/jpp.58.1.0008
- 59. Serralheiro A, Alves G, Fortuna A et al (2014) Intranasal administration of carbamazepine to mice: a direct delivery pathway for brain targeting. Eur J Pharm Sci 60:32–39. doi:10.1016/j. ejps.2014.04.019
- 60. Gavini E, Hegge AB, Rassu G et al (2006) Nasal administration of carbamazepine using chitosan microspheres: in vitro/in vivo studies. Int J Pharm 307:9–15. doi:10.1016/j. ijpharm.2005.09.013
- Serralheiro A, Alves G, Fortuna A et al (2015) Direct nose-to-brain delivery of lamotrigine following intranasal administration to mice. Int J Pharm 490:39–46. doi:10.1016/j. ijpharm.2015.05.021
- 62. Kälviäinen R (2015) Intranasal therapies for acute seizures. Epilepsy Behav 49:303–306. doi:10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.04.027
- 63. Kubek MJ, Domb AJ, Veronesi MC (2009) Attenuation of kindled seizures by intranasal delivery of neuropeptide-loaded nanoparticles. Neurotherapeutics 6:359–371. doi:10.1016/j. nurt.2009.02.001
- 64. Veronesi MC, Kubek DJ, Kubek MJ (2011) Intranasal delivery of neuropeptides. Methods Mol Biol 789:303–312. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-310-3\_20
- 65. Veronesi MC, Aldouby Y, Domb AJ et al (2009) Thyrotropin-releasing hormone d, l polylactide nanoparticles (TRH-NPs) protect against glutamate toxicity in vitro and kindling

development in vivo. Brain Res 1303:151–160. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.039

- 66. Eskandari S, Varshosaz J, Minaiyan M et al (2011) Brain delivery of valproic acid via intranasal administration of nanostructured lipid carriers: in vivo pharmacodynamic studies using rat electroshock model. Int J Nanomedicine 6:363–371. doi:10.2147/IJN.S15881
- 67. Alam T, Pandit J, Vohora D et al (2015) Optimization of nanostructured lipid carriers of lamotrigine for brain delivery: in vitro characterization and in vivo efficacy in epilepsy. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 12:181–194. doi:10. 1517/17425247.2014.945416
- 68. Sharma D, Maheshwari D, Philip G et al (2014) Formulation and optimization of polymeric nanoparticles for intranasal delivery of lorazepam using Box-Behnken design: in vitro and in vivo evaluation. Biomed Res Int 2014:156010. doi:10.1155/2014/ 156010
- 69. Na L, Mao S, Wang J et al (2010) Comparison of different absorption enhancers on the intranasal absorption of isosorbide dinitrate in rats. Int J Pharm 397:59–66. doi:10.1016/j. ijpharm.2010.06.048
- 70. Vyas TK, Babbar AK, Sharma RK et al (2006) Intranasal mucoadhesive microemulsions of clonazepam: preliminary studies on brain targeting. J Pharm Sci 95:570–580. doi:10.1002/ jps.20480
- 71. Samia O, Hanan R, Kamal ET (2012) Carbamazepine mucoadhesive nanoemulgel (MNEG) as brain targeting delivery system via the olfactory mucosa. Drug Deliv 19:58–67. doi:10.3109/10717544.2011.644349
- 72. Acharya SP, Pundarikakshudu K, Upadhyay P et al (2015) Development of phenytoin intranasal microemulsion for treatment of epilepsy. J Pharm Investig 45:375–384. doi:10.1007/s40005-015-0190-3
- 73. Acharya SP, Pundarikakshudu K, Panchal A et al (2013) Development of carbamazepine transnasal microemulsion for treatment of epilepsy. Drug Deliv Transl Res 3:252–259. doi:10.1007/s13346-012-0126-7
- 74. Bragagni M, Mennini N, Furlanetto S et al (2014) Development and characterization of functionalized niosomes for brain targeting of dynorphin-B. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 87:73– 79. doi:10.1016/j.ejpb.2014.01.006
- Mistry A, Stolnik S, Illum L (2009) Nanoparticles for direct nose-to-brain delivery of drugs. Int J Pharm 379:146–157. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2009.06.019
- Varshosaz J, Eskandari S, Tabakhian M (2010) Production and optimization of valproic acid

nanostructured lipid carriers by the Taguchi design. Pharm Dev Technol 15:89–96. doi:10.3109/10837450903013568

- 77. Hamidi M, Azadi A, Mohamadi-Samani S et al (2011) Valproate-loaded hydrogel nanoparticles: preparation and characterization. J Appl Polym Sci 124:4686. doi:10.1002/app.35527
- 78. Lopalco A, Ali H, Denora N et al (2015) Oxcarbazepine-loaded polymeric nanoparticles: development and permeability studies across in vitro models of the blood-brain barrier and human placental trophoblast. Int J Nanomedicine 10:1985–1996. doi:10.2147/ IJN.S77498

# **Part III**

# Potential Contributions of Network Pharmacology and Drug Repurposing in Antiepileptic Drug Discovery

# **Chapter 17**

# **Side Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs**

# Hana Kubova

#### Abstract

Adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are common and result in treatment discontinuation in up to 25% of patients. The profile of adverse effects varies greatly among AEDs and markedly affects drug selection for individual patients. The most common adverse effects like cognitive impairment, coordination difficulties, and other CNS-related adverse effects are predictable, dose dependent, and reversible. They are of particular concern in patients who work or study. Idiosyncratic adverse reactions are unexpected events that cannot be explained by known mechanisms of action. Typically, they are not related to dose and they are associated with high risk of morbidity or even mortality. Some of them, like weight gain, can negatively affect treatment adherence. Many of AEDs increase the risk of congenital malformations or reproductive problems. New AEDs are usually better tolerated and some of them have no effect on hepatic drug-metabolizing enzymes which results in lower potential for drug interactions. Comparative, well-designed, and long-term trials are however needed to confirm better tolerability of the new AEDs and to assess their effect on quality of life, tolerability, and teratogenic potential.

Key words Epilepsy, Antiepileptic drugs, Side effects

#### **1** Side Effects of Antiepileptic Drugs

Approximately 65 million people worldwide have epilepsy, making it the most common neurological disorder after stroke. Epilepsy is a multifactorial disorder that encompasses many seizure types and syndromes with different prognoses and sensitivities to available treatment. Treatment is symptomatic and limited to seizure suppression. Thus, current antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are more accurately called "anti-seizure drugs" because they do not prevent or reverse pathological changes underlying development or progression of epilepsy and epilepsy-related comorbidities.

Adverse effects represent a leading cause of treatment failure, are a major impediment to optimal dosing for seizure control, and result in early treatment discontinuation in nearly 25% of patients. Adverse effects also negatively affect patient adherence to AEDs [1]. Furthermore, adverse effects are a major source of disability and mortality in patients with epilepsy and substantially contribute to the use

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_17, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

and costs of healthcare systems. Recently, many new AEDs have been introduced into clinical practice. They have brought new therapeutic options, but their efficacy is not greater than that of old AEDs, and their use does not reduce the frequency of drug-resistant epilepsy in at-risk patients. Approximately 20–30% of patients continue to be pharmacoresistant with ongoing seizures, high risk of adverse effects, and considerable psychiatric comorbidities. In some patients, remission is achieved only at the expenses of serious side effects. In patients with epilepsy, drug treatment is usually necessary for several years, but it can last a lifetime. During such a long duration, various adverse effects of AEDs may appear and negatively affect the patient's quality of life. Systematic research and new methods of assessment of toxic effects may result in more effective strategies to detect and tackle the adverse effects of AEDs and to improve the quality of life for epileptic patients.

The frequency at which adverse effects are reported and, to a certain extent, their patterns are highly dependent on the method of their assessment. Particularly, studies on CNS effects often generate controversial data. Outcomes of these studies are affected by many variables; among them criteria used for selection of patients, length of therapy, and domains of measured effects play critical roles. The use of standardized and validated screening methods also helps to obtain comparable data and allows identification of populations at high risk for developing adverse effects.

It should also be stressed that an adverse effect is an unpleasant experience arising during drug exposure that is not necessarily caused by the drug. Thus, establishing causality can be challenging in uncontrolled studies and case reports, particularly when relevant information concerning dose, other treatments, or reversibility after discontinuation of therapy is missing (for a review, see reference [2]).

### 2 Definitions and Classification of Adverse Effects

The WHO's definition of an adverse drug reaction, which has been used since 1972, is A response to a drug which is noxious and unintended and which occurs at doses normally used in man for the prophylaxis, diagnosis, or therapy of disease or for the modifications of physiological function. The term adverse effect encompasses all unwanted effects and is preferable to other terms such as toxic effect or side effect. A toxic effect is always dose related and occurs as an exaggerated therapeutic effect. On the other hand, a side effect is not associated with therapeutic effect and it may or may not be dose related [3]. Thus, the term "adverse effect" makes no assumption about mechanisms and avoids the risk of misclassification.

The term "adverse effect" must be distinguished from "adverse event." An adverse effect is an untoward experience that can be attributed to some action of a drug; an adverse event is an adverse outcome arising while the patient is taking a drug, but the event is not necessarily attributed to the drug [3]. Adverse drug effects can be classified by symptoms, severity, frequency, underlying mechanisms, or other parameters. According to the WHO, adverse drug reactions were originally divided into two basic groups, type A and type B. Type A is defined as "expected exaggerations of the drug's known effect that is usually dose dependent." Type B is "an idiosyncratic and unpredictable reaction, usually unrelated to the drug's known pharmacology." For the demands of modern pharmacology, two other categories were added to this classification, labeled type C (reaction related to the dose and time) and type D (delayed reaction). The latter classification was later split into withdrawal reaction (type E) and unexpected failure of therapy (type F) (for details, see reference [3]). Indeed, this classification, like others, has certain limitations because an adverse drug reaction can be difficult to classify into one of these categories. This classification was modified recently by Perucca and Gilliam [2] for AEDs (*see* Table 1).

| Table 1    |                   |                 |                  |                  |                   |
|------------|-------------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|-------------------|
| Modified o | classification of | adverse effects | according to Per | ucca and Gilliam | n (reference [2]) |

| Туре      | Features   | Example  | Management   |
|-----------|--|--|--|
| Type<br>A | Related to known<br>mechanisms of drug<br>actions                                | CNS-related adverse effects (dizziness, somnolence, agitation)   | Dose reduction or drug<br>withdrawal, dosage<br>modification |
|           | Dose related   |  |  |
|           | Common or very<br>common, predictable  |  |  |
|           | Low mortality  |  |  |
| Type<br>B | Related to individual<br>vulnerability<br>(immunological,<br>genetical)          | Skin rash, hepatotoxic effects,<br>pancreatitis, agranulocytosis, aplastic<br>anemia                                     | Immediate withdrawal, drug<br>avoidance in future            |
|           | Not related to<br>mechanism of action<br>of the drug                             |  | Slow dose titration  |
|           | Not dose related   |  |  |
|           | Unexpected, uncommon   |  |  |
|           | High mortality   |  |  |
| Type<br>C | Related to cumulative<br>dose, occur after some<br>time after the use of<br>drug | Decreased bone density, endocrine<br>effects, sexual and reproductive<br>dysfunction, folate and vitamin D<br>deficiency | Dose reduction or<br>withdrawal, vitamin<br>supplementation  |
|           | Time related   |  |  |
|           | Uncommon, chronic,<br>usually reversible   |  |  |

#### Table 1 (continued)

| Туре      | Features   | Example  | Management  |
|-----------|--|--|---|
| Type<br>D | Teratogenic and carcinogenic effects             | Birth defects  | Avoid drugs with known<br>teratogenic effects in<br>patients in risk (women |
| Usu       | Usually dose related                             |  | with childbirth potential)  |
|           | Irreversible, delayed                            |  |   |
| Type<br>E | Adverse drug interactions<br>Common, predictable | Increased risk of CNS neurotoxicity in<br>combination of Na <sup>2+</sup> blockers,<br>decreased efficacy of warfarin in<br>combination with carbamazepine,<br>interaction between hormonal<br>contraception and lamotrigine<br>(reduced efficacy) | Avoid necessary polytherapy   |
| Type<br>F | Withdrawal related<br>Usually related to abrupt  | Status epilepticus, insomnia, agitation, psychiatric withdrawal symptoms   | Slow withdrawal   |
|           | withdrawal                                       |  |   |
|           | Uncommon   |  |   |

# 3 Type A Effects

Type A adverse effects are defined as common, predictable, and related to a known pharmacological action of the drug. They are dose dependent, and they usually appear at the beginning of therapy or after dose escalation. The CNS effects are the most frequently reported type A adverse effects of AEDs and typically include fatigue, drowsiness, dizziness, coordination problems, concentration difficulties, memory problems, and irritability. Although the profile of CNS adverse effects varies from one drug to another, nearly all AEDs induce sedation and coordination disturbances to some extent (for a review, see reference [2]). Cognitive adverse effects observed as a result of AEDs are usually fairly modest, but can nevertheless be clinically significant because patients with even subtle adverse CNS symptoms display significant worsening of perceived quality of life [4]. Furthermore, cognitive and behavioral deficits are highly individualized and must be considered independently in every patient. Polytherapy or elevated plasma levels of AEDs increase the risk of CNS adverse effects.

In addition to AED effects, seizure etiology, and frequency, age of epilepsy onset and cerebral lesions also contribute to

cognitive functions in patients with epilepsy. It should be emphasized that epilepsy patients, as a group, have been shown to perform more poorly on a variety of cognitive measures compared to healthy controls.

As documented by many reports, AEDs exhibit a whole spectrum of CNS effects, not all of which are only negative with unfavorable impact on quality of patient's life. Some AEDs have beneficial effects on mood and behavior, and many AEDs are also used in psychiatry in non-epileptic patients. Available data from patients with epilepsy, however, demonstrate substantial differences in the CNS response to individual AEDs. For example, beneficial behavioral and mood-stabilizing effects of lamotrigine have been documented in many studies, whereas other studies report the development of psychosis in patients treated with lamotrigine. Such controversial data suggest that the behavioral response to AEDs in individual patients cannot be simply predicted only on the basis of a known mechanism of drug action.

In 1999, Ketter and collaborators [5] divided AEDs on the basis of their predominant psychotropic profiles into two global categories. One group of AEDs, acting predominantly through potentiation of inhibitory gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) neurotransmission, is assumed to have "sedating" effects in association with fatigue, cognitive slowing, and possible anxiolytic and antimanic effects. This group involves drugs such as barbiturates, benzodiazepines, valproate, gabapentin, tiagabine, and vigabatrin. The other group involves felbamate and lamotrigine and attenuates excitatory glutamate neurotransmission. These drugs are expected to be "activating," possibly with anxiogenic and antidepressant effects. AEDs with mixed GABAergic and antiglutamatergic actions may have "mixed" profiles. More recent analysis of available literature, however, did not bring conclusive evidence for this hypothesis (for a review, see reference [6]). Thus, in addition to mechanisms of action (see Table 2), there are other variables that play a role in the behavioral and mood-modifying effects of AEDs. Among these variables, age, the presence or absence of brain lesions, and the baseline mood state have to be considered in particular. Additionally, the extreme age groups, children and elderly patients, appear to be particularly sensitive to the cognitive or mood effects of AEDs. Immaturity of the nervous system in children may be responsible for the paradoxical responses described after administration of some AEDs, and several reports have indicated some differences in the mood effects of phenobarbital, carbamazepine, phenytoin, and valproate in pediatric populations. In particular, children on phenobarbital demonstrated poorer performance than children treated with valproate. Unlike in adults, administration of both phenobarbital and benzodiazepines in children often produces an acute reaction that includes hyperactivity, irritability, or aggression. Additionally, animal studies

#### Table 2

#### Main mechanisms of action of AEDs

| Drug                       | Main mechanism of action   |
|----------------------------|--|
| Phenobarbital              | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition   |
| Phenytoin                  | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Primidone                  | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition   |
| Ethosuximide               | Blockade of T-type of Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel   |
| Benzodiazepine             | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition   |
| Carbamazepine              | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Valproate                  | Multiple (enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition, glutamate (NMDA) inhibition, Na <sup>+</sup> channel, and T-type calcium channel blockade) |
| Vigabatrin                 | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition   |
| Lamotrigine                | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker, attenuation of excitatory transmission  |
| Oxcarbazepine              | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Gabapentin                 | Blockade of $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel, effects on GABA turnover   |
| Tiagabine                  | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition, inhibition of glial GAT-1  |
| Topiramate                 | Multiple (GABA potentiation, AMPA inhibition, Na <sup>+</sup> and Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel blockade)   |
| Levetiracetam              | SV2A modulation  |
| Zonisamide                 | Na <sup>+</sup> and T-type Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel blocker, carbonic anhydrase inhibition   |
| Stiripentol                | Enhancement of GABA-meditated inhibition, Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Pregabalin                 | Blockade of $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of Ca <sup>2+</sup> channel   |
| Rufinamide                 | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Lacosamide                 | Enhancement of slow inactivation of voltage-gated Na <sup>+</sup> channel  |
| Eslicarbazepine<br>acetate | Na <sup>+</sup> channel blocker  |
| Perampanel                 | Glutamate (AMPA-Rp) antagonist   |

This table summarizes the predominant mechanisms of action for each AED. It is, however, important to realize that only a limited number of AEDs (ethosuximide) are characterized by a single mechanism of action. In fact most of AEDs have multiple mechanisms of action

have suggested that children may be at increased risk for enduring cognitive impairment because of the possible interference of the AEDs with normal development. In elderly patients, the increased risk of adverse cognitive effects is usually associated with agerelated changes in pharmacokinetics.

Mood and anxiety disorders represent the most frequently reported psychiatric problems in patients with epilepsy, and both biological and psychological reasons were identified [7]. Biological contributors involve neuroanatomical factors, including involvement of temporal lobe structures, severity and distribution of brain lesions, and various epigenetic changes at molecular, cellular, and structural levels. Such changes may both lead to rebuilding of the brain circuitry and participate in functional alterations occurring in epilepsy patients. In addition, epilepsy is a chronic, stigmatizing disorder that brings various social limitations that can contribute to development of psychiatric problems. Seizure reduction with related improvement in quality of life can positively affect the patient's mood. On the other hand, in people with learning disabilities associated with ongoing seizures, sudden seizure control can result in "release phenomenon" because the patient did not have chance to develop proper skills in how to use their new-found abilities. Similarly, patients who are not able to express their concerns about adverse effects in words can instead react aggressively. Such behavioral disturbances are not direct effects of the drug, but they have yet to be well identified in order to be eliminated (for a review, see reference [8]).

Apparently, proper assessment of both beneficial and adverse CNS effects is of high clinical relevance, and the selection of optimal AEDs can help not only to manage seizures but also to reduce psychiatric problems accompanying epilepsy. However, improper selection of AEDs or their combinations can cause mood-related problems and result in severe behavioral disturbances. The following part of this review therefore not only summarizes the adverse effects of AEDs but also presents brief insight into possible beneficial CNS effects of these drugs.

## 4 Old Antiepileptic Drugs

Phenytoin, primidone, phenobarbital, carbamazepine, valproate, ethosuximide, and benzodiazepines have been used in monotherapy or polytherapy for many years, and their adverse effects are relatively well established. Mood effects of these drugs are usually moderate and can be clinically significant. Typically, they include sedative effects and coordination disturbances such as vertigo, imbalance, ataxia, nystagmus, or diplopia. For *phenytoin*, agitation, increased anxiety, and alterations of emotional state have been reported, however, only after high doses [9, 10]. *Phenobarbital*, like other barbiturates and *benzodiazepines*, has sedative effects in adults, whereas it often induces hyperactivity in children with epilepsy. Both *phenobarbital* and *benzodiazepines* have the most detrimental effects on cognition.

Consistent with the structurally similar tricyclic antidepressants, *carbamazepine* is used in psychiatry for the treatment of mood disorders, primarily mania and rapid cycling bipolar disorders, depression, and dysphoria and with some limitation for bipolar and unipolar depression and dysphoria (for a review, see reference [11]). Carbamazepine may help control agitated or disruptive behaviors, viewed dimensionally across a spectrum of psychiatric disorders, including attention deficit/hyperactivity, intermittent explosive behavior, post-traumatic stress, and personality disorders, as well as in mental retardation, dementia, and alcohol and possibly benzodiazepine withdrawal. Fenwick [12] characterized carbamazepine as a mood-stabilizing drug. However, data regarding carbamazepine therapy and psychosis in patients with epilepsy are controversial. A double-blind study with adjunctive carbamazepine revealed improvement in chronically psychotic psychiatric patients with temporal lobe epilepsy [13]. In contrast, no studies have documented serious mood effects. There are studies reporting occasional development of acute psychosis in some epilepsy patients receiving carbamazepine, but these studies are usually case reports. The effects of carbamazepine on cognition are relatively mild, and only a few cognitive differences between carbamazepine, phenytoin, phenobarbital, or primidone were reported in a large group of new-onset epilepsy patients who were followed for at least 36 months [14]. In a more recent study, Keene et al. [15] did not find any differences in cognitive side effects between add-on therapies with carbamazepine, phenytoin, and clobazam in children with refractory epilepsy.

*Valproate*, a drug with multiple mechanisms of action, may relieve mood symptoms and agitation in epilepsy patients [16]. Epilepsy patients with concomitant neurological problems (abnormal EEG, head injury) had better rates of affective improvement than patients without neurological abnormalities [16]. Valproate rarely causes somnolence, fatigue, and mild cognitive impairment [17].

Contradictory effects of valproate on mood function have been reported in pediatric patients. In some studies, no behavioral effects were found [18], whereas in children with behavioral problems, mental retardation and hyperactivity were reported [19, 20]. However, Herranz and collaborators [21] reported behavioral effects of valproate in 65% of children on valproate monotherapy. In a minority of these children, sedating effects were observed, while most showed increased irritability or hyperactivity. Similarly, like in adults, valproate seems to be more beneficial in children with a "mood-activated" profile, while valproate may lead to behavioral disturbances in children without baseline problems [6].

There is limited information concerning the mood and behavioral effects of *ethosuximide*. Dizziness, fatigue, and somnolence represent the most frequently reported CNS adverse effects observed in patients treated with ethosuximide (for a review, see reference [22]). A controlled study did not find any mood effects of ethosuximide or its association with cognitive impairment [23].

#### 5 New Antiepileptic Drugs

As mentioned above, the new AEDs are expected to be better tolerated and to affect cognitive functions to a lesser extent than the old AEDs. Although most of the previous studies dealt with the putative advantages of newer over older AEDs, some serious adverse CNS effects are observed after their administration.

Similarly, sedative effects and coordination disturbances of old AEDs represent the most commonly reported CNS-related adverse effects of new AEDs although sedative effects are more frequent and severe with the old AEDs: benzodiazepines, phenobarbital and primidone [2]; however, coordination problems were documented in all third-generation AEDs (gabapentin, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, oxcarbazepine, pregabalin, retigabine, tiagabine, topiramate, zonisamide) [24, 25].

Because of fatal adverse hematological and hepatological effects, felbamate is currently used only in severe refractory forms of epilepsy such as the Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. Felbamate is an NMDA receptor antagonist, and at the same time, it potentiates GABA-mediated events. In children, somnolence, insomnia, and anorexia are the most frequently reported CNS effects. A similar profile including diplopia and headache was also reported in adults [26]. Adverse psychiatric effects are consistent with the activating profile of felbamate and include anxiety, manic depression, irritability, aggression, mania, and psychosis [27, 28]. Patients with previous psychiatric problems may or may not be at increased risk of aggravation of psychiatric problems. Favorable behavioral effects of felbamate were reported in patients with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. Gay et al. [29] documented significant improvement in social, intellectual, and motor functioning and improvement of attention, concentration, and memory.

Mechanism of action for gabapentin is not fully understood, but it binds to the Ca<sup>2+</sup> channel  $\alpha 2\delta$  subunit. It also affects GABA turnover. Clinical studies documented rather positive mood effects of gabapentin, including decreased anxiety and depression or mood stabilization [30]. In epilepsy patients, gabapentin is generally well tolerated despite some sedative effects [31]. In adult patients, development of psychosis or depression was reported only sporadically [32]. Reports from pediatric patients are controversial. Some studies have documented behavioral disturbances including hyperactivity, irritability, and agitation in children with add-on gabapentin [33, 34]. The risk of developing these behavioral disturbances was higher in children with preexisting attention deficits and other behavioral problems. In contrast, Besag [35] did not report frequent or serious behavioral disturbances in children or teenagers with learning difficulties after gabapentin was added to their current therapy.

The positive mood effects of gabapentin were also reported in patients with epilepsy. Almost 50% of patients reported improvement in general well-being compared to those with placebo [36]. Effects of gabapentin on cognitive performance are less adverse than those of carbamazepine [37]. Additionally, the risk of developing depression is low (for a review, see reference [38]).

There are many reports on the beneficial behavioral effects of lamotrigine in patients with epilepsy, in particular on bipolar mood disorders and depression (for a review, see reference [8]). Lamotrigine is a Na<sup>+</sup> channel blocker, but it was also found to attenuate glutamate release. Lamotrigine-treated patients not only performed better in 48% of neuropsychological measures compared with those on carbamazepine but also scored better on measures of memory, attention, and a number of quality-of-life measures [39]. As documented by a multicenter international trial, a majority of children and adolescents on lamotrigine improved on global assessments [40], and significant behavioral improvement was also observed. In a double-blind, placebo-controlled study, lamotrigine was not associated with any cognitive impairment [41], and multiple studies comparing lamotrigine with other AEDs reported fewer adverse cognitive effects. Although adjunctive lamotrigine induces more somnolence than placebo, sedative effects are less common than with carbamazepine [42]. Placebocontrolled trials have shown low rates of psychosis and depression in patients taking lamotrigine (>1%; for a review, see reference [38]). Mood improvements have been reported in several open clinical studies in both adults and children taking lamotrigine [42–44]. There are only a few case reports of psychosis attributed to lamotrigine treatment. The development of psychosis was documented in both adult and pediatric patients receiving lamotrigine as add-on therapy (for a review, see reference [8]).

Levetiracetam possesses a unique pharmacological activity profile; it binds selectively to the synaptic vesicle protein, SV2A, which is involved in the exocytosis of neurotransmitters [45]. The most commonly reported CNS adverse effects of levetiracetam include somnolence, dizziness, irritability, and behavioral disturbances, but their incidence is relatively low [31]. The most severe adverse effects, such as psychosis, are most common in patients with a previous history of psychotic diseases [46]. Similar to felbamate and tiagabine, levetiracetam presents an intermediate risk of depression (4%). A more recent study with add-on levetiracetam in children and young adults [47] is in line with previously published data confirming the safety of this drug.

*Topiramate* is a drug with multiple mechanisms of action that involve GABA potentiation, AMPA inhibition, and Na<sup>+-</sup> and Ca<sup>2+-</sup> channel blockade, suggesting that it might have beneficial effects in some patients and detrimental effects in others. In older literature, the use of topiramate was associated with a relatively high risk of developing neurocognitive and behavioral problems compared to newer AEDs (lamotrigine, gabapentin, vigabatrin) [48]. An audit of topiramate, carried out by Crawford [32], determined a risk of psychotic syndromes at 12%. A slow titration schedule, however, is associated with lower prevalence of psychiatric adverse effects. Another relevant risk factor is having a history of psychiatric disorders [49]. Beneficial behavioral effects of topiramate in patients with mood disorders were reported by Marcotte [50], who found improvement in 52% percent of patients with bipolar affective disorders.

*Tiagabine* inhibits reuptake of GABA. This drug is associated with a relatively high risk of coordination problems, somnolence, and dizziness, as reported in up to 22% of patients [51]. Incidence of serious psychiatric adverse events such as psychosis is not significantly higher than those with placebo [52]. According to individual studies, risk of depressed mood ranges between 1% [53] and 5% [54]. Some studies suggested beneficial effects of tiagabine in patients with mania, but data are limited (for a review, see reference [8]).

Because peripheral vision constriction occurs in up to 40% of patients [55], the use of *vigabatrin* is limited only to situations when it is absolutely necessary. Major CNS adverse effects of vigabatrin, which acts as a suicide inhibitor of GABA transaminase, include dizziness, fatigue, and drowsiness. Its administration is associated with increased risk of behavioral disturbances, ranging from irritation to psychosis. Patients with a previous history of psychosis are at increased risk of psychotic symptoms [56]. It is of interest that vigabatrin seems to be better tolerated in pediatric patients, and psychotic reactions have rarely been reported in children [57]. Review of data from double-blind, placebo-controlled studies revealed increased incidence of depression in patients treated with vigabatrin [58]. Treatment with this drug did not produce significant cognitive deterioration and had no effects on the quality-of-life measures [59].

The most common CNS adverse effects of *oxcarbazepine* are similar to those of carbamazepine. Behavioral disturbances are not usually reported. Oxcarbazepine is generally well tolerated and rather beneficial compared with the adverse CNS effects that have been reported (for a review, see reference [8]).

*Zonisamide* acts through multiple mechanisms of action. It blocks sodium and T-type calcium channels and inhibits carbonic anhydrase. The most frequently reported CNS adverse events are agitation and irritability, with higher incidence compared to placebo (data from manufacturer). Frequency of psychosis with zonisamide was similar to that reported with other AEDs. Incidence of depression was higher than in placebo, but this effect is likely dose dependent, and its risk increases with used dose. Compared to placebo, somnolence, anorexia, and ataxia were slightly more common with zonisamide treatment [60–62].

Data concerning adverse CNS effects of the newest AEDs are still limited, but in general, adverse CNS effects were reported in all of them. Meta-analysis of double-blind studies on neurological adverse events of new-generation sodium blockers, eslicarbazepine acetate, lacosamide, and oxcarbazepine, demonstrates increased risk of dizziness, diplopia, vertigo, or coordination problems compared to placebo. These effects were more frequently observed after oxcarbazepine than after eslicarbazepine acetate or lacosamide [63]. Similar to gabapentin, pregabalin interacts with calcium ion channels and increases the level of GABA in neuronal tissue. It is well tolerated, causing dizziness, somnolence, and ataxia of only mild to moderate intensity [64]. Similar adverse CNS effects were reported in patients treated with perampanel, a new AMPA glutamate receptor antagonist, and *retigabine*, acting primarily through the opening of voltagegated KCNQ2/3 potassium channels. Both drugs have also demonstrated the ability to induce neuropsychiatric symptoms [65].

The renal adverse effects of AEDs are dependent on the mechanism of action. The risk of kidney stones is associated with the AED's potential to inhibit carbonic anhydrase. The development of calcium phosphate kidney stones was reported in approximately 1% of patients treated with *topiramate*, *zonisamide*, and *acetazolamide*. The risk increases with dose and treatment duration [66– 68]. Due to its direct effects on the smooth muscles of the bladder, administration of *retigabine* in higher doses is associated with approximately 10% risk of urinary retention [69].

#### 6 Type B Effects

Type B or idiosyncratic adverse reactions refer to unexpected events that cannot be explained by known mechanisms of action and occur unpredictably in susceptible individuals. Typically, they are not related to dose. Individual susceptibility can be due to immunologic, genetic, or other mechanisms. Type B adverse events are less common than type A effects. They usually arise shortly after the therapy onset, and they can be reversed after drug withdrawal. Type B effects are associated with high risk of morbidity or even mortality.

The most common types of idiosyncratic reaction to AEDs include cutaneous, hematological, hepatic, and pancreatic responses (for a review, see reference [70]). Skin rash occurs in approximately 5–17% of patients on *lamotrigine*, *phenytoin*, *carbamazepine*, and *phenobarbital* (for more details, see reference [71]). Stevens-Johnson syndrome or toxic epidermal necrolysis affects 1–10 of 10,000 new users of these AEDs [72]. Known risk factors for cutaneous adverse reactions are high starting dose and rapid dose escalation, history of immune system disorders, and age. For example, lamotrigine-induced serious and benign skin rashes occur more frequently in children than in adults, probably because of

age-related differences in drug metabolism [70]. Additionally, pharmacogenetics may be helpful in selecting patients with increased risk of serious dermatologic hypersensitivity reaction. In Asia, the presence of human leukocyte antigen HLA-B\*1502 is highly associated with Stevens-Johnson syndrome induced with carbamazepine and probably also with phenytoin, lamotrigine, and oxcarbazepine [73]. Among others, HLA genes and the antigen HLA-A\*3101 are associated with carbamazepine-induced cutaneous reactions. However, this association was found in more diverse ethnic groups (for a review, see reference [71]).

AEDs are among the drugs that most frequently cause liver necrosis leading to transplantation, and hepatotoxic effects of AEDs can occur in isolation or as a part of DRESS (drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms). *Valproate, phenytoin*, and *felbamate* carry the highest risk of hepatic failure. Transient elevation in liver function tests appears in 15–30% of patients with valproate [74]. Valproate and phenytoin were responsible for drug-induced acute hepatic failure leading to liver transplant in 7.3% of patients. Pediatric patients are at greater risk and valproate-induced hepatotoxicity occurs in one in 500–800 cases in young children under the age of 2 years receiving valproate polypharmacy [75]. For felbamate, the risk for hepatic failure is estimated at one per 18,500–25,000 exposures (for a review, see reference [76]).

Several AEDs can induce life-threatening hematological adverse effects. In general, exposure to AEDs excluding patients on felbamate is associated with a nine times higher risk of developing aplastic anemia [77]. *Felbamate* is associated with the greatest risk of fatal aplastic anemia with an incidence of 127 per one million [78]. Risk of developing aplastic anemia in patients with felbamate is up to 20 times higher than in those with carbamazepine. Predictors of felbamate-induced aplastic anemia include immune diseases, especially lupus erythematosus, allergy, and prior cytopenia (for a review, see reference [76]). *Carbamazepine* has the highest potential for causing agranulocytosis [79].

## 7 Type C Effects

Chronic adverse effects are those that manifest after a prolonged period of exposure lasting from months to years. They progress slowly and although some of these effects are reversible, others can be irreversible. Most serious adverse effects belonging to this group are associated with exposure to enzyme-inducing AEDs. Among the most important adverse effects, type C effects are reproductive disorders in man, abnormalities in bone health, cardiovascular problems, and weight gain.

Long-term treatment with AEDs can cause decreased bone mineral density and increased risk of fractures. A study by Pack

[80] revealed that epilepsy patients have a greater risk of fracture than the general population, and osteopenia or osteoporosis was detected in 38–60% people with epilepsy (for a review, see reference [81]). The risk is particularly high in enzyme-inducing drug exposure. Changes seen after exposure to these drugs are related to their hepatic enzyme inducting properties which are responsible for accelerated degradation of vitamin D. Negative effects on bone mineral density are associated primarily with administration of phenobarbital and phenytoin. Valproate and carbamazepine can also have negative impacts on bone health, but data are inconsistent (for a review, see reference [82]).

AED therapy is often associated with endocrine adverse effects. Sexual dysfunctions, reproductive disorders, and changes in hormone levels represent common problems among epileptic patients. The most robust effects on sexual hormone levels were reported in patients treated with enzyme-inducing AEDs primarily with phenytoin and carbamazepine. Enzyme-inducing AED exposure is associated with acceleration of the breakdown and production of sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG). This results in increased SHBG and reduced levels of biologically active estrogen and androsterone. Additionally, reduced levels of serum dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHAES) have been reported in men and women taking phenytoin and carbamazepine (for a review, see reference [83]). Valproate does not induce liver enzymes, but it does reduce serum gonadotropin levels, probably through direct central effects [84]. In addition, valproate, but not carbamazepine, was found to affect semen morphology and motility [85]. In women with epilepsy, administration of valproate is associated with the highest risk of endocrine and reproductive problems. These women have significantly more menstrual disorders than controls, and these were frequently associated with polycystic ovary syndrome and/or hyperandrogenism, which were detected in 70% of women receiving valproate, 20% of carbamazepine-treated women, and 19% of women acting as controls [86]. In addition, results of several studies in pubescent girls treated with valproate indicate that young ovaries are more susceptible to long-lasting endocrine changes (for a review, see reference [83]). Lamotrigine and levetiracetam were not found to cause endocrine disturbances or reproductive problems, but data on levetiracetam are still inconclusive [84]. There is growing evidence that topiramate administration can cause sexual dysfunction. Data concerning other newer AEDs are sparse and randomized studies are still lacking (for a review, see reference [83]).

In addition to effects on sexual hormones, some AEDs can also affect thyroid function. In spite of their clinical importance, these adverse effects are only rarely mentioned. Significant alteration of thyroid functions has been reported in patients treated long-term with *carbamazepine oxcarbazepine* and *phenytoin*, but not with valproate [87, 88]. Changes in bodyweight represent another typical type C effect of AEDs. Weight gain is typically reported in patients treated with valproate, gabapentin, pregabalin, vigabatrin, retigabine, and, to a lesser extent, carbamazepine. Weight gain poses a serious health hazard and carries an increased risk of hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and dyslipidemia [89]. It also increases risk of non-adherence or discontinuation of treatment. In contrast, topiramate, zonisamide, felbamate, stiripentol, and rufinamide can cause weight loss, which is potentially beneficial in overweight or obese individuals [90].

*Vigabatrin*-induced restriction of the bilateral visual field is another serious type C adverse effect of AEDs. Loss of the visual field is irreversible and was reported in 44% of adult and 34% of pediatric patients. Risk factors involve cumulative dose and increasing age (for a review, see reference [91]).

#### 8 Type D Effects

Through clinical experience and pregnancy registries, it is known that children of women with epilepsy are at increased risk of congenital defects and neurodevelopmental deficits. While a variety of problems can contribute to neurodevelopmental problems in children of women with epilepsy, AEDs appear to play a major role. Possible teratogenic effects of AEDs are a major concern in women of childbearing potential treated for epilepsy. In addition to increased risk of serious birth defects, the risk for mental retardation related to intrauterine growth retardation, reduced head circumference, and other factors was also reported (for a review, see reference [92]). A relatively high risk of congenital malformations and neurodevelopmental problems are associated with exposure to old, enzyme-inducing AEDs. Their teratogenic potential is determined by the chemical attributes of the AEDs and also by the genetic attributes of the patient. Drug metabolism plays a critical role in teratogenesis because not only maternal compounds but also intermediate, active metabolites can be responsible for teratogenic effects. For example, drugs containing an aromatic ring, such as carbamazepine or lamotrigine, are converted to a reactive epoxide or arene oxide that can interact with macromolecules to produce toxicity (for a review, see reference [93]).

Risk of congenital malformations varies across AEDs, with *valproate* and *phenytoin* carrying a higher risk than carbamazepine, phenobarbital, and lamotrigine. According to the most recent data from the Australian Pregnancy register [94], valproate monotherapy is associated with a five- or sixfold risk of fetal malformation and carbamazepine monotherapy with a little over twofold increase relative to that in pregnancy not exposed to AED. Exposure to lamotrigine in monotherapy was not associated with a significantly higher risk of malformations than other newer AEDs taken as monotherapy. Polytherapy carries increased risk of birth defects especially when valproate is used.

In addition to increased risk of fetal malformations, many studies also report neurodevelopmental deficits in children of mothers with epilepsy suggesting behavioral teratogenicity of AEDs (for a review, see reference [92]). Most frequently, cognitive impairment, learning difficulties or behavioral impairment are mentioned, but methodological differences and variability in patient populations are probably responsible for inconsistencies among the data. Additionally, there are many other variables that can influence the neurodevelopmental outcome of children born to epileptic mothers such as generalized tonic-clonic seizures or genetic factors (for a review, see reference [95]). However, it is apparent that not all AEDs are the same with regard to behavioral teratogenicity. The highest risk of unfavorable neurodevelopmental outcome is associated with fetal exposure to *valproate*. The prospective NEAD study demonstrated significantly lower IQ in children exposed to valproate in utero compared to those exposed to phenytoin, lamotrigine, or carbamazepine. Association between IQ and valproate was dose dependent [96-98]. Poor cognitive outcome was also reported in children exposed to phenobarbital and exposure involving the last trimester was the most detrimental [99]. Although risk appears to be lower than with valproate, cognitive deficits were also reported in children exposed to *phenytoin* [100]. Whereas the data are contradictory, exposure to carbamazepine or lamotrigine appears to confer only a low risk of neurodevelopmental problems.

### 9 Type E Effects

Adverse reactions due to drug interactions in epilepsy patients are relatively common and usually clinically important. Most AEDs affect the activity of drug-metabolizing enzymes or are substrates for the same enzymes; therefore, pharmacokinetic drug interactions are particularly important. Pharmacokinetics concern processes related to drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination from the body. Consequently, interactions can occur at all of these levels. If the drug has pharmacologically active metabolites, then interaction may involve both the parent drug and these metabolites.

Drug interactions associated with distribution closely relate to the degrees of their binding to blood albumins. Any interactions are likely to occur when at least 90% of drug is protein bound. *Phenytoin, valproate*, and *tiagabine* fulfill this criterion, whereas *gabapentin, pregabalin, vigabatrin*, and *ethosuximide* are not considerably protein bound [101, 102]. Displacement of the drug from the protein-bound state may lead to an increase in its free plasma levels. Because many AEDs have a narrow therapeutic index, increased levels of free drug can increase the risk of toxic effects.

Metabolic interactions most frequently occur at the level of cytochrome P-450 (CYP) or UDP-glucuronosyltransferase (UGT).

The CYP pathway is involved in the metabolism of first-generation AEDs such as carbamazepine, phenobarbital, primidone, and phenytoin. Among newer AEDs, the CYP pathway plays an important role in the metabolism of *felbamate*, topiramate, tiagabine, and zonisamide. The UGT pathway metabolizes lamotrigine and valproate. Carbamazepine, phenobarbital, primidone, and phenytoin are typical enzyme inductors, and they act as metabolic activators. They reduce the serum concentration and efficacy of a wide range of medications, including cardiovascular, psychotropic, antimicrobial, and antineoplastic drugs, as well as oral contraceptives or immunosuppressants. For example, carbamazepine enhances the metabolism of warfarin [103]. On the other hand, some drugs, such as *valproate*, act as CYP inhibitors. They may cause an increase in plasma levels of parent drugs or their toxic metabolites and consequently enhance the risk of toxic effects. Concomitant administration of valproate and carbamazepine increases serum level of carbamazepine-10,11-epoxide, an active carbamazepine metabolite, which is responsible for most of its serious toxic effects (for a review, see reference [103]).

With regard to the UGT pathway, *oxcarbazepine* is a UGT activator that accelerates metabolism of lamotrigine. On the other hand, *valproate* is a UGT inhibitor, and it may affect the metabolism of lamotrigine (for a review, see reference [103]). Although most of the newer AEDs have a significantly reduced potential for drug interactions, they are not free of type E adverse effects. Importantly, *oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine, felbamate, topiramate,* and *rufinamide* can reduce serum levels of oral contraceptives [104].

Interactions at the level of renal excretion are unlikely to happen among AEDs; however, interactions with other drugs excreted in the same way cannot be excluded (for a review, see reference [103]).

Pharmacodynamic interactions at the site of action have also to be considered in epilepsy treatment. In contrast to pharmacokinetic interactions, pharmacodynamics interactions are not associated with changes in the serum or brain levels of combined drugs. Pharmacodynamic interactions assume summation or even potentiation of drug receptor or non-receptor effects (for a review, see reference [102]). In particular, co-prescription of AEDs with the same mechanisms of action can lead to summation/potentiation of their neurotoxic effects (for a review, see reference [105]).

#### 10 Type F Effects

Despite its benefits, stopping AEDs in seizure-free patients is associated with the increased risk of seizure recurrence for up to 2 years compared with continued treatment. Furthermore, the outcome of treating a seizure recurrence in patients who have been seizurefree for years may be surprisingly poor (for a review, see reference [106]). However, patients chronically treated with AEDs are at risk of serious adverse effects, including possible teratogenic effects (for a review, see reference [107]).

Abrupt discontinuation of AEDs carries a particularly high risk of serious withdrawal reaction frequently involving frequent seizures, status epilepticus, and psychiatric withdrawal symptoms. Antiepileptic drug non-adherence is a common cause of SE across all ages, particularly in children and adolescents. Prompt and reliable recognition of non-adherence is imperative for correct management (Lie et al. [108]).

## 11 Conclusion

The long-term safety of AEDs primarily depends on their systemic and metabolic effects and on the genetic predisposition of the host. Adverse effects of AEDs are common, frequently contributing to treatment failure. They have also emerged as one of the strongest predictors of impaired quality of life, independent of seizures. However, the majority of adverse effects of AEDs are predictable. Patient education can therefore substantially decrease the risk of developing long-term, serious adverse events. Overtreatment should be avoided to minimize risk of dose-dependent adverse effects. Pharmacoepidemiological resources can help to identify the individual profiles of patients at high risk of specific adverse effects. Additionally, the successes in pharmacogenomics may help to select patients with increased risk of serious, life-threatening toxic effects such as Stevens-Johnson syndrome of toxic epidermal necrolysis. In addition, assessment of potential risks should include age, sex, childbearing potential, and presence of somatic and psychiatric comorbidities. Introduction of new AEDs with new mechanisms of action provides better opportunities for individually tailored pharmacotherapy for each patient to maximize efficacy and to minimize the risk of adverse events. New-generation AEDs are not free of adverse effects, although they typically have better tolerability and reduced potential for drug interactions.

Despite progress made in the safety of AEDs, new AEDs with fewer adverse effects and better efficacy than the currently available drugs are still needed. Treatment that would prevent or favorably modify processes leading to the development of epilepsy in patients with a known risk due to genetic predisposition or brain injury is an unmet need in epileptology.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the Ministry of Education (LH 15025) and the Czech Science Foundation (16-04726S). Support for the long-term conceptual development of this research organization was supported by RVO: 67985823.

#### References

- 1. Perucca P, Carter J, Vahle V et al (2009) Adverse antiepileptic drug effects: toward a clinically and neurobiologically relevant taxonomy. Neurology 72:1223–1229
- Perucca P, Gilliam FG (2012) Adverse effects of antiepileptic drugs. Lancet Neurol 9:792–802
- Edwards IR, Aronson JK (2000) Adverse drug reactions: definitions, diagnosis, and management. Lancet 356:1255–1259
- Gilliam F (2002) Optimizing health outcomes in active epilepsy. Neurology 58(Suppl 5):S9–S20
- Ketter TA, Post RM, Theodore WH (1999) Positive and negative psychiatric effects of antiepileptic drugs in patients with seizure disorders. Neurology 53(Suppl 2):S53–S67
- Reijs R, Aldenkamp AP, De Krom M (2004) Mood effects of antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsy Behav 5(Suppl 1):S66–S76
- Téllez-Zenteno JF, Dhar R, Hernandez-Ronquillo L et al (2007) Long-term outcomes in epilepsy surgery: antiepileptic drugs, mortality, cognitive and psychosocial aspects. Brain 130:334–345
- Besag FM (2001) Behavioural effects of the new anticonvulsants. Drug Saf 24:513–536
- Franks RD, Richter AJ (1979) Schizophrenialike psychosis associated with anticonvulsant toxicity. Am J Psychiatry 136:973–974
- Lefkowitch MM (1969) Effects of diphenylhydantoin on disruptive behavior. Arch Gen Psychiatry 20:643–651
- Post RM, Weiss SRB, Chuang DM et al (1994) Mechanisms of action of carbamazepine in seizures and affective disorders. In: Joffe RT, Calabrse JR (eds) Anticonvulsant in psychiatry. Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, pp 43–92
- Fenwick PB (1992) Antiepileptic drugs and their psychotropic effects. Epilepsia 33(Suppl 6):S33–S36
- Gillham RA, Williams N, Wiedmann K et al (1988) Concentration-effect relationships with carbamazepine and its epoxide on psychomotor and cognitive function in epileptic patients. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 51:929–933
- 14. Smith DB, Mattson RH, Cramer JA et al (1987) Results of a nationwide Veterans Administration Cooperative Study comparing the efficacy and toxicity of carbamazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin, and primidone. Epilepsia 28(Suppl 3):S50–S58
- 15. Keene DL, Whiting S, Humphreys P (1990) Clobazam as an add-on drug in the treatment

of refractory epilepsy of childhood. Can J Neurol Sci 17:317–319

- Prevey ML, Mattson RH, Cramer JA (1989) Improvement in cognitive functioning and mood state after conversion to valproate monotherapy. Neurology 39:1640–1641
- Boxer CM, Herzberg JL, Scott DF (1976) Has sodium valproate hypnotic effects? Epilepsia 17:367–370
- Sommerberg KW, Theilgaard A, Rasmussen KL et al (1977) Valproate sodium: evaluation of so-called psychotropic effects: a controlled study. Epilepsia 18:159–167
- 19. Vining EP, Mellitis ED, Dorsen MM et al (1987) Psychologic and behavioral effects of antiepileptic drugs in children: a double-blind comparison between phenobarbital and valproic acid. Pediatrics 80:165–174
- Kastner T, Friedman DL, Plummer AT et al (1990) Valproic acid for the treatment of children with mental retardation and mood symptomatology. Pediatrics 86:467–472
- 21. Herranz JL, Arteaga R, Armijo JA (1982) Side effects of sodium valproate in monotherapy controlled by plasma levels: a study in 88 pediatric patients. Epilepsia 23:203–214
- 22. Gören MZ, Onat F (2007) Ethosuximide: from bench to bedside. CNS Drug Rev 13:224–239
- 23. Smith WL, Philippus MJ, Guard HL (1968) Psychometric study of children with learning problems and 14-6 positive spike EEG patterns, treated with ethosuximide (Zarontin) and placebo. Arch Dis Child 43:616–619
- Sirven JI, Fife TD, Wingerchuk DM et al (2007) Second-generation antiepileptic drugs' impact on balance: a meta-analysis. Mayo Clin Proc 82:40–47
- 25. Martyn-St James M, Glanville J, McCool R et al (2012) The efficacy and safety of retigabine and other adjunctive treatments for refractory partial epilepsy: a systematic review and indirect comparison. Seizure 21:665–678
- 26. Bourgeois BF (1997) Felbamate. Semin Pediatr Neurol 4:3–8
- McConnell H, Snyder PJ, Duffy JD et al (1996) Neuropsychiatric side effects related to treatment with felbamate. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 8:341–346
- Hill RR, Stagno SJ, Tesar GE (1995) Secondary mania associated with the use of felbamate. Psychosomatics 36:404–406
- 29. Gay PE, Mecham GF, Coskey JS et al (1995) Behavioral effects of felbamate in childhood epileptic encephalopathy (Lennox-Gastaut syndrome). Psychol Rep 77:1208–1210

- 30. Sokolski KN, Green C, Maris DE et al (1999) Gabapentin as an adjunct to standard mood stabilizers in outpatients with mixed bipolar symptomatology. Ann Clin Psychiatry 11:217–222
- Marson AG, Kadir ZA, Hutton JL et al (1997) The new antiepileptic drugs: a systematic review of their efficacy and tolerability. Epilepsia 38:859–880
- 32. Crawford P (1998) An audit of topiramate use in a general neurology clinic. Seizure 7:207–211
- Holmes GL (1997) Gabapentin for treatment of epilepsy in children. Semin Pediatr Neurol 4:244–250
- Mikati MA, Choueri R, Khurana DS et al (1998) Gabapentin in the treatment of refractory partial epilepsy in children with intellectual disability. J Intellect Disabil Res 42(Suppl 1):57–62
- Besag FMC (1996) Gabapentin use with pediatric patients. Rev Contemp Pharmacother 7:233–238
- 36. Dimond KR, Pande AC, Lamoreaux L et al (1996) Effect of gabapentin (NeurontinR) on mood and well-being in patients with epilepsy. Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 20:407–417
- 37. Meador KJ, Loring DW, Ray PG et al (1999) Differential cognitive effects of carbamazepine and gabapentin. Epilepsia 40:1279–1285
- Mula M, Sander JW (2007) Negative effects of antiepileptic drugs on mood in patients with epilepsy. Drug Saf 30:555–567
- Meador KJ, Loring DW, Ray PG et al (2001) Differential cognitive and behavioral effects of carbamazepine and lamotrigine. Neurology 56:1177–1182
- 40. Besag FM, Wallace SJ, Dulac O et al (1995) Lamotrigine for the treatment of epilepsy in childhood. J Pediatr 127:991–997
- Smith D, Baker G, Davies G et al (1993) Outcomes of add-on treatment with lamotrigine in partial epilepsy. Epilepsia 34:312–322
- 42. Brodie MJ, Richens A, Yuen AW (1995) Double-blind comparison of lamotrigine and carbamazepine in newly diagnosed epilepsy. UK Lamotrigine/Carbamazepine Monotherapy Trial Group. Lancet 345:476–479
- 43. Aldenkamp AP, Arends J, Bootsma HP et al (2002) Randomized double-blind parallelgroup study comparing cognitive effects of a low-dose lamotrigine with valproate and placebo in healthy volunteers. Epilepsia 43:19–26
- 44. Schapel G, Chadwick DA (1996) Survey comparing lamotrigine and vigabatrin in everyday clinical practice. Seizure 5:267–270

- 45. Rigo JM, Hans G, Nguyen L et al (2002) The anti-epileptic drug levetiracetam reverses the inhibition by negative allosteric modulators of neuronal GABA- and glycine-gated currents. Br J Pharmacol 136:659–672
- 46. Sirsi D, Safdieh JE (2007) The safety of levetiracetam. Expert Opin Drug Saf 6:241–250
- 47. Goldberg-Stern H, Feldman L, Eidlitz-Markus T et al (2013) Levetiracetam in children, adolescents and young adults with intractable epilepsy: efficacy, tolerability and effect on electroencephalogram--a pilot study. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 17:248–253
- Cramer JA, Fisher R, Ben-Menachem E et al (1999) New antiepileptic drugs: comparison of key clinical trials. Epilepsia 40:590–600
- 49. Mula M, Trimble MR, Lhatoo SD et al (2003) Topiramate and psychiatric adverse events in patients with epilepsy. Epilepsia 44:659–663
- Marcotte D (1998) Use of topiramate, a new anti-epileptic as a mood stabilizer. J Affect Disord 50:245–251
- Crawford P, Meinardi H, Brown S et al (2001) Tiagabine: efficacy and safety in adjunctive treatment of partial seizures. Epilepsia 42:531–538
- 52. Sackellares JC, Krauss G, Sommerville KW et al (2002) Occurrence of psychosis in patients with epilepsy randomized to tiagabine or placebo treatment. Epilepsia 43:394–398
- 53. Leach JP, Brodie MJ (1998) Tiagabine. Lancet 351:203–207
- 54. Leppik IE (1995) Tiagabine: the safety landscape. Epilepsia 36(Suppl 6):S10–S13
- 55. Constable S, Pirmohamed M (2004) Drugs and the retina. Expert Opin Drug Saf 3:249–259
- 56. Sander JW, Hart YM, Trimble MR et al (1991) Vigabatrin and psychosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 54:435–439
- 57. Caviedes BE, Herranz JL, Arteaga R et al (1999) In children with refractory epilepsy: vigabatrin or lamotrigine? Rev Neurol 28:444–448
- Levinson DF, Devinsky O (1999) Psychiatric adverse events during vigabatrin therapy. Neurology 53:1503–1511
- 59. Dodrill CB, Arnett JL, Sommerville KW et al (1995) Effects of differing dosages of vigabatrin (Sabril) on cognitive abilities and quality of life in epilepsy. Epilepsia 36:164–173
- 60. Schmidt D, Jacob R, Loiseau P et al (1993) Zonisamide for add-on treatment of refractory partial epilepsy: a European double-blind trial. Epilepsy Res 15:67–73
- 61. Sackellares JC, Ramsay RE, Wilder BJ et al (2004) Randomized, controlled clinical trial

of zonisamide as adjunctive treatment for refractory partial seizures. Epilepsia 45:610–617

- 62. Faught E, Ayala R, Montouris GG et al (2001) Zonisamide 922 Trial Group. Randomized controlled trial of zonisamide for the treatment of refractory partial-onset seizures. Neurology 57:1774–1779
- 63. Zaccara G, Giovannelli F, Maratea D et al (2013) Neurological adverse events of new generation sodium blocker antiepileptic drugs. Meta-analysis of randomized, doubleblinded studies with eslicarbazepine acetate, lacosamide and oxcarbazepine. Seizure 22:528–536
- 64. Arroyo S, Anhut H, Kugler AR et al (2004) Pregabalin 1008-011 International Study Group. Pregabalin add-on treatment: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-response study in adults with partial seizures. Epilepsia 45:20–27
- 65. Faulkner MA, Burke RA (2013) Safety profile of two novel antiepileptic agents approved for the treatment of refractory partial seizures: ezogabine (retigabine) and perampanel. Expert Opin Drug Saf 12:847–855
- Resor SR Jr, Resor LD (1990) Chronic acetazolamide monotherapy in the treatment of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. Neurology 40:1677–1681
- 67. Shorvon SD (1996) Safety of topiramate: adverse events and relationships to dosing. Epilepsia 37(Suppl 2):S18–S22
- Zaccara G, Tramacere L, Cincotta M (2011) Drug safety evaluation of zonisamide for the treatment of epilepsy. Expert Opin Drug Saf 10:623–631
- 69. Brickel N, Gandhi P, VanLandingham K et al (2012) The urinary safety profile and secondary renal effects of retigabine (ezogabine): a first-in-class antiepileptic drug that targets KCNQ (K(v)7) potassium channels. Epilepsia 53:606–612
- Zaccara G, Franciotta D, Perucca E (2007) Idiosyncratic adverse reactions to antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsia 48:1223–1244
- Plaszczyk B, Lasoń W, Czuczwar SJ (2015) Antiepileptic drugs and adverse skin reactions: an update. Pharmacol Rep 67:426–434
- 72. Mockenhaupt M, Messenheimer J, Tennis P et al (2005) Risk of Stevens-Johnson syndrome and toxic epidermal necrolysis in new users of antiepileptics. Neurology 64:1134–1138
- 73. Chung WH, Hung SI, Hong HS et al (2004) Medical genetics: a marker for Stevens-Johnson syndrome. Nature 428:486

- 74. Anderson GD (2004) Children versus adults: pharmacokinetic and adverse-effect differences. Epilepsia 43(Suppl 3):53–59
- Bryant AE 3rd, Dreifuss FE (1996) Valproic acid hepatic fatalities. III. U.S. experience since 1986. Neurology 46:465–469
- Pellock JM (1999) Felbamate in epilepsy therapy: evaluating the risks. Drug Saf 21:225–239
- 77. Handoko KB, Souverein PC, van Staa TP et al (2006) Risk of aplastic anemia in patients using antiepileptic drugs. Epilepsia 47:1232–1236
- Kaufman DW, Kelly JP, Anderson T et al (1997) Evaluation of case reports of aplastic anemia among patients treated with felbamate. Epilepsia 38:1265–1269
- 79. Ibáñez L, Vidal X, Ballarín E et al (2005) Population-based drug-induced agranulocytosis. Arch Intern Med 165:869–874
- 80. Pack A (2008) Bone health in people with epilepsy: is it impaired and what are the risk factors? Seizure 17:181–186
- 81. Brodie MJ, Mintzer S, Pack AM et al (2013) Enzyme induction with antiepileptic drugs: cause for concern? Epilepsia 54:11–27
- 82. Pack AM (2011) Treatment of epilepsy to optimize bone health. Curr Treat Options Neurol 13:346–354
- Svalheim S, Sveberg L, Mochol M et al (2015) Interactions between antiepileptic drugs and hormones. Seizure 28:12–17
- 84. Svalheim S, Taubøll E, Luef G et al (2009) Differential effects of levetiracetam, carbamazepine, and lamotrigine on reproductive endocrine function in adults. Epilepsy Behav 16:281–287
- Isojärvi JI, Löfgren E, Juntunen KS et al (2004) Effect of epilepsy and antiepileptic drugs on male reproductive health. Neurology 62:247–253
- Isojärvi JI, Taubøll E, Pakarinen AJ et al (2001) Altered ovarian function and cardiovascular risks in valproate treated women. Am J Med 111:290–296
- Isojarvi JIT, Turkka J, Pakarinen AJ et al (2001) Thyroid function in men taking carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, or valproate for Epilepsy. Epilepsia 42:930–934
- Tiihonen M, Liewendahl K, Waltimo O et al (1995) Thyroid status of patients receiving long-term anticonvulsant therapy assessed by peripheral parameters: a placebo-controlled thyroxine therapy trial. Epilepsia 36:1118–1125
- Mintzer S, Skidmore CT, Abidin CJ et al (2009) Effects of antiepileptic drugs on lipids,

homocysteine, and C-reactive protein. Ann Neurol 65:448-456

- Biton V (2003) Effect of antiepileptic drugs on bodyweight: overview and clinical implications for the treatment of epilepsy. CNS Drugs 17:781–791
- 91. Maguire MJ, Hemming K, Wild JM et al (2010) Prevalence of visual field loss following exposure to vigabatrin therapy: a systematic review. Epilepsia 51:2423–2431
- 92. Velez-Ruiz NJ, Meador KJ (2015) Neurodevelopmental effects of fetal antiepileptic drug exposure. Drug Saf 38:271–278
- Sankar R, Lerner JT (2008) Teratogenicity of antiepileptic drugs: role of pharmacogenomics. Int Rev Neurobiol 83:215–225
- 94. Vajda FJ, O'Brien TJ, Graham J et al (2016) Is carbamazepine a human teratogen? J Clin Neurosci 23:34–37
- 95. Adab N, Tudur Smith C, Vinten J (2015) WITHDRAWN: common antiepileptic drugs in pregnancy in women with epilepsy. Cochrane Database Syst Rev (12): CD004848
- 96. Meador KJ, Baker GA, Browning N et al (2009) NEAD Study Group. Cognitive function at 3 years of age after fetal exposure to antiepileptic drugs. N Engl J Med 360:1597–1605
- 97. Meador KJ, Baker GA, Browning N et al (2012) NEAD Study Group. Effects of fetal antiepileptic drug exposure: outcomes at age 4.5 years. Neurology 78:1207–1214
- 98. Meador KJ, Baker GA, Browning N et al (2013) NEAD Study Group. Fetal antiepileptic drug exposure and cognitive outcomes at age 6 years (NEAD study): a prospective observational study. Lancet Neurol 12:244–252

- 99. Reinisch JM, Sanders SA, Mortensen EL et al (1995) In utero exposure to phenobarbital and intelligence deficits in adult men. JAMA 274:1518–1525
- 100. Scolnik D, Nulman I, Rovet J et al (1994) Neurodevelopment of children exposed in utero to phenytoin and carbamazepine monotherapy. JAMA 271:767–770
- Rogawski M (2006) Diverse mechanisms of antiepileptic drugs in the development pipeline. Epilepsy Res 69:273–294
- 102. Lasoń W, Dudra-Jastrzębska M, Rejdak K et al (2011) Basic mechanisms of antiepileptic drugs and their pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic interactions: an update. Pharmacol Rep 63:271–292
- 103. Rambeck B, May TW (2005) Interaction between antiepileptic drugs. In: Majkowski J, Bourgeois B, Patsalos P, Mattson R (eds) Antiepileptic drugs. Combination therapy and interaction. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 111–138
- 104. Crawford P (2002) Interactions between antiepileptic drugs and hormonal contraception. CNS Drugs 16:263–272
- 105. Perucca E (2006) Clinical pharmacokinetics of new-generation antiepileptic drugs at the extremes of age. Clin Pharmacokinet 45:351–363
- 106. Schmidt D (2011) AED discontinuation may be dangerous for seizure-free patients. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 118:183–186
- 107. Beghi E (2001) AED discontinuation may not be dangerous in seizure-free patients. J Neural Transm (Vienna) 118:187–191
- 108. Lie IA, Hoggen I, Samsonsen C et al (2015) Treatment non-adherence as a trigger for status epilepticus: an observational, retrospective study based on therapeutic drug monitoring. Epilepsy Res 113:28–33

# **Chapter 18**

# **Network Pharmacology and Epilepsy**

# Alan Talevi

#### Abstract

In contrast with the reductionist "one gene, one target, one drug" approach, network pharmacology proposes the use of multi-target therapies, a strategy that seems particularly suitable to treat disorders of complex etiology, among them epilepsy. As a matter of fact, most of the existing antiepileptic drugs are indeed multi-target unintended agents. Whereas a number of authors have recently advocated the use of network-based approximations in the antiepileptic drug discovery field, such strategy has so far not produced deliverables. Here, we review some practical considerations which could be used to assist in silico and wet screening for novel antiepileptic agents.

Key words Epilepsy, Network pharmacology, Systems biology, Multi-target drug, Tailored multi-target drug

#### 1 Introduction

Some decades back, the pharmaceutical sector adopted a targetdriven, reductionist approach to drug discovery. The idea was appealing: highly selective agents interacting with (and only with) a validated target would avoid off-target interactions, representing safer therapeutic solutions. Furthermore, the target-driven approach allowed the implementation of rational drug design campaigns and the bioethical (and cost-efficient) replacement of lowthroughput animal models by high-throughput in vitro models as primary screening platform. Whereas such clean drugs seem well suited to find therapeutic agents to treat Mendelian disorders where a single gene is associated to the disease, they have generally shown limited efficacy for the treatment of complex disorders (e.g., cancer, psychiatric and neurological disorders). The former reductionist approach has once again been proposed as one of the possible explanations for the decline in productivity in the pharmaceutical sector [1-3], a reality that particularly hits the field of central nervous system (CNS) pharmacology [4, 5]. Curiously,

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_18, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

the number of first-in-class small molecule drugs emerging from phenotypic screening seems to outnumber those from target-centered discovery [6].

From a systems biology viewpoint, living organisms are understood as robust entities, and disease can also be considered a robust state emerging from multiple and simultaneous perturbations of a resilient system [2]. Recently, a number of authors have discussed that epilepsy, being a multifactorial, polygenic, and dynamic disorder, could be particularly suited to be approached through network pharmacology [7–12]. Such belief is supported by the fact that, while it is currently thought that highly selective agents could be useful to treat specific syndromes [9], most of the existing antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) are actually fortuitous multi-target drugs which have emerged from phenotypic screening [8, 11]. On the other hand, a number of studies in animal models of seizure and epilepsy suggest that the combination of drugs associated with different mechanisms of action tends to enhance the efficacy of the treatment [9, 13–16]. At least, contrary to the general bioethical trend, in vivo models remain the primary screening assay to identify AEDs, which underlines the complex nature of the disorder. Whereas the majority of primary assays used within the pharmaceutical industry for the early drug discovery rely upon the creation of stable mammalian cell lines or upon the overexpression and purification of recombinant proteins to establish biochemical assays [17], the absence of immortalized cell lines mimicking the epileptic condition precludes this possibility. And while in vitro AED screening using animal or human ex vivo tissue (brain slice preparations) is also possible [18–21], such approach is limited by tissue availability, the rarity of spontaneous epileptiform activity in the tissue, and the viability of the tissue (a limitation that has lately been partially overcome thanks to the advances of organotypic culture techniques) [22].

Having said so, it is very surprising that the network pharmacology approach has yet not been fully embraced within the AED discovery field, which seems to have fallen a little behind in comparison with other complex disorders such as cancer or Alzheimer's disease. Stressing the previous statement, Fig. 1 displays the evolution over time (according to Scopus) of the number of scientific articles in periodicals that present the terms "multi-target" and "epilepsy" within their title, abstract, or keywords, in comparison with the coappearance of "multi-target" and "cancer" and "multitarget" and "Alzheimer." The previous observations are in agreement with the opinions of leading experts in the epilepsy field, who have stressed the urgent need of innovative approaches for AED discovery [9, 23]. While some recent articles have beautifully reviewed the experimental and theoretical basis that support adopting systemic, integrative approaches for AED discovery, here we will discuss some practical considerations for the implementation of this paradigm shift.



**Fig. 1** Frequency of co-occurrence of the terms "multi-target" and "Alzheimer," "cancer," or "epilepsy" in scientific publications (2005–2015, Scopus). Whereas the relative frequencies could also reflect the comparative interest shown for each condition by the drug discovery sector, the epilepsy community seems to have embraced the network pharmacology paradigm more slowly

## 2 Tailored Multi-target Agents

Before target-focused drug discovery, new lead compounds emerged from serendipitous discovery, traditional medicine, and phenotypic/physiologic screening in cellular or animal models of disease. Though it was possible to find multi-target agents through such approaches, those targets were, hopefully, defined a posteriori, and the combination of targets attacked was unplanned and sometimes not fully known.

In the discussion on target- versus phenotypic-based strategies (or reductionist versus integrative approaches), tailored multitarget agents can be regarded as the dialectical synthesis that pick the best out of each paradigm. Multi-target therapies are an extension of the target-centered approach that incorporates the viewpoint of network pharmacology. Tailored (or designed) multifunctional agents are deliberately devised to selectively modulate a number of chosen targets, usually relying on computeraided design and data analysis applications and simplifying the expensive target deconvolution. Theoretically, multi-target agents are equivalent to combined therapies with different single-target agents, but they are advantageous in terms of diminished chances of drug interactions, simpler pharmacokinetics, and improved patient compliance [24].

Multi-target agents could be a viable solution to deal with drug-resistant epilepsy linked to acquired or constitutive target modifications [25]. They could also be specifically designed to

address, in a simultaneous manner, the signs and symptoms and underlying causes of the disease. For example, it is suspected that seizures and inflammation take part in a complex interplay that results in a vicious circle [26, 27] where inflammation would be both cause and consequence of seizures. Clinical evidence shows that steroids and other anti-inflammatory treatments display anticonvulsant activity in some drug-resistant epilepsy syndromes, and some of the most widely used AEDs (e.g., valproate) have proven anti-inflammatory effects [28]. It could be guessed that a combination of anti-inflammatory and anticonvulsant properties in a single molecule could have a positive impact on epilepsy management. The preclinical evidence on the effects of anti-inflammatory agents in epilepsy is reviewed in a separate chapter of this same volume. Similarly, due to the high prevalence of comorbid mood disorders (mainly, anxiety and depression) in epileptic patients [29, 30], the simultaneous treatment of core and comorbid manifestations of epilepsy constitutes an additional potential application of multi-target agents in epilepsy management. Remarkably, many widely used antiepileptic drugs have shown efficacy against different psychiatric conditions, as clearly reviewed in Chap. 17 by Kubova.

2.1 Practical Considerations to Apply in the Design of Antiepileptic Multi-target Drugs Etymologically, the word *pharmacophore* comes from the Greek and means "cure carrier" or "medicine carrier." Presently, it alludes to an abstract (geometrical) description of molecular features which are necessary for molecular recognition of a ligand by its molecular target. In other words, the pharmacophore is the molecular framework which is essential to elicit a biological response. A multi-target drug must either combine different pharmacophores in a single molecule (one for each specific recognition event intended) or present a common pharmacophore for different targets (which implies that the different targets display shared determinants of specificity). That is, different degrees of pharmacophore overlapping can be found in multi-target drugs [31] (Fig. 2).

Those multi-target drugs that use different sets of atoms (anchors) to interact with each target protein tend to violate druglike criteria, presenting oral bioavailability issues [7, 32, 33]; understandably, the chance of violating drug-likeness rules and endangering bioavailability increases with the number of separate anchors. Thus, if designing multi-target drugs, watch carefully for violations of more than one of Lipinski's rules (no more than five H-bond donors, no more than ten H-bond acceptors, molecular mass below 500 g/Mol, and calculated Log*P* below 5) [34], and check if Veber's rules are accomplished (ten or fewer rotatable bonds and a polar surface area below 140 square Ångström) [35]. Note that, owing to the more challenging diffusion barrier posed by the blood–brain barrier, the physicochemical properties required to achieve brain bioavailability are even more stringent than those



Fully overlapping pharmacophores

Fig. 2 Multi-target agents can display different degrees of merged pharmacophores

needed to attain oral bioavailability. Accordingly, the biopharmaceutical properties of multi-anchor ligands intended for the treatment of epilepsy or other central nervous system conditions must be specially watched. As discussed elsewhere in this volume, the very interesting work from Wager and coworkers presents a central nervous system multiparameter optimization approach that delivers a desirability score that can be especially useful to assist the design of multi-anchor multi-target AEDs on the basis of readily computable physicochemical properties [36]. The score is easily computed by calculating six theoretical properties, most of which are available in almost every modern chemoinformatics software package and also frequently provided by public chemical databases as PubChem or ZINC: calculated partition coefficient (clog P), calculated distribution coefficient at pH=7.4 (clogD), molecular mass, number of H-bond donors, topological polar surface area, and the pKa of the most basic center. A direct relationship between Wager's desirability score and key in vitro attributes (absence of permeability issues, P-glycoprotein efflux, safety, metabolic stability) has been observed in marketed central nervous system drugs as well as Pfizer's candidate set. Remarkably, almost all the approved AEDs present high desirability scores (around 5).

Ligand efficiency metrics are another aspect that should not be disregarded during the design of multi-target agents [7, 33]. The empirical analysis by Juntz et al. revealed that, across a wide variety of ligand-macromolecule complexes, maximal contributions to binding free energy per ligand non-hydrogen atom are similar to -1.5 kcal/mol; the authors also observed a trend to a smaller free energy contribution per atom as the molecular mass of the ligand increases [37]. Ligand efficiency metrics have gained increasing acceptance within the drug discovery community, with retrospective analysis of recently marketed oral drugs showing that they usually have highly optimized ligand efficiency values [38]. In the case

of the bianchor agents, it might be speculated that efficiency metrics will tend to be low since only a fraction of the molecule participates in each independent binding event between ligand and each molecular target. Consequently, the density of efficient contacts between the drug and the targets is expected to be low. Merged pharmacophores may serve to solve the binding efficiency and bioavailability issues that characterize fragment-based approximations to multi-target drugs.

A number of physicochemical molecular properties could be tuned to promote promiscuity. Several reports suggest that ligand promiscuity is inversely related to molecular weight [39-41], but others have failed to find a correlation or have even shown an opposite trend [42, 43] suggesting that the relationship between molecular mass and promiscuity might be context dependent [44]. Sturn et al. observed a class of multi-target compounds that they called "superpromiscuous," which could bind to nonhomologous targets and shared some of the atoms involved in direct interactions with each target [39]. Curiously, these superpromiscuous ligands tend to present either low or high complexity. Direct correlations have also been found between promiscuity and calculated  $\log P[43, 44]$ . Bases and quaternary bases are markedly more promiscuous than acids, neutral compounds, or zwitterions [43]. The molecular topology can also influence promiscuity: the number of rings and the fraction of molecular framework  $(f_{MF})$  have also shown to be directly correlated with promiscuity at least for large (above 0.65) molecular framework values [43, 44]. The  $f_{\rm MF}$  is defined as the atom of heavy atoms in the molecular framework (MF) divided by the total number of heavy atoms in the molecule. In other words, a smaller molecular framework and more sidechain atoms will improve selectivity. A clear (and graphical) definition of the molecular framework can be found in the original work by Bernis and Murcko [45].

In the particular case of AEDs, our group, while looking for quantitative structure-activity relationships (QSAR) to identify anticonvulsants with activity in the maximal electroshock seizure (MES) model, observed that compounds with anti-MES effects tend to be small and display low complexity [46]. Figure 3 shows the distribution of molecular mass for AEDs approved between 1912 and 2012. Observe that the average molecular mass is 243.5, with a standard deviation of 70. If we compare these data with the average values of molecular mass for the compounds patented by 18 big pharmaceutical companies between 2000 and 2010, across the major drug-target classes [47], we will observe that the average molecular mass for approved AEDs is considerably lower (note that a definite trend toward higher molecular mass and clogP values, within Lipinski's rule limits, has been observed between 2000 and 2010, when the target-centered approaches still prevailed). Interestingly, Yang et al. [44] have studied the interplay between promiscuity, logP, and molecular topology. They defined four different topological classes according to the number of terminal ring systems and the presence of a molecular bridge. The "one terminal ring system" (1TR) class includes molecules with only one ring system. The "two terminal ring systems" (2TR) contain molecules with two ring systems directly connected to each other. The 2TR + B class comprehends molecules with two terminal ring systems and a molecular bridge. Finally, the 3TR+B class contains molecules with three terminal ring systems and a molecular bridge. While, in general, promiscuity showed an uptrend from simpler (1TR) to more complex (2TR+B) motifs, the topology class did not influence promiscuity for compounds with clog P values ranging from 1 to 3. In the case of approved AEDs, Fig. 3 also shows that, for most AEDs, the  $f_{MF}$  tends to be high (with some exceptions, e.g., aliphatic compounds such as valproic acid or pregabalin). About 80% of the approved AEDs belong to the simpler topological classes (TR or 2TR), which a priori suggests a reduced tendency to promiscuity, but they also show, in most cases, clog P values in the range of 1–3 (Fig. 3), which is optimal for passive diffusion through the blood-brain barrier and where the degree of promiscuity seems to be indifferent to the topological class (with some remarkable exceptions like vigabatrin, tiagabine, or perampanel, which emerged in the context of the target-centered paradigm).



Fig. 3 Molecular mass, fraction of molecular framework and clogP distribution for AEDs approved between 1912 and 2012. The analyzed drugs have been extracted from ref [9]

The previous analysis confirms our observations and provides some keys to the proven promiscuity of most AEDs: low molecular mass and low complexity, high  $f_{\rm MF}$ , and an adequate interplay between clog *P* and molecular topology. The analysis also suggests that novel scaffolds should simultaneously explore the 3TR+B topology and higher lipophilicity, while keeping high  $f_{\rm MF}$  values (i.e., few side chains), which represents an unexplored and promising region of the chemical space for AEDs.

Regarding virtual screening campaigns focused on multitarget agents, one should remember that application of independent models to identify multi-target agents is expected to yield lower *positive predictive values* than virtual screening campaigns focused on single-target drugs [4, 32, 33, 48]. If it is assumed that being a ligand for one of the intended targets does not enhance or reduce the probability of being a ligand for another one (a situation that corresponds to nonoverlapping pharmacophores), each model applied in the virtual screening process works as a structural restriction that filters out all the molecules that do not accomplish the model requirements; subsequently, finding chemical compounds accomplishing all the model structural constraints becomes increasingly difficult as the number of target increases. Having this in mind, when optimizing the score thresholds, it is advised to gain sensitivity at the expense of specificity (be thus prepared to observe higher false-positive rates: such strategy results in an increment of experiment-related costs due to reduced active enrichment).

Also keep in mind that the pharmacophores correspondent to two targets could be mutually exclusive. Some pharmacophoric features are irreconcilable (they cannot coexist in the same point of the molecule, e.g., a charged moiety and a lipophilic one), while others are not (e.g., negative charge and H-bond acceptor). Choosing the pursued targets on the basis of empirical or theoretical evidence on common determinants of specificity (resulting in overlapping ligand specificity due to common pharmacophores) could be a good advice to expand the likelihood of success (remember that multi-target ligands with merged pharmacophores are preferred from the ligand efficiency and bioavailability perspectives). Bioinformatics tools capable of detecting protein coevolution [49] can be useful for detecting molecular targets with similar binding sites.

**2.2 The Most Potent, the Better?** From a network pharmacology standpoint, attacking hubs (highly connected nodes in a biochemical network) may not be the best strategy, particularly if we are targeting sensitive organs like the brain. Designing low-affinity multi-target drugs to modulate multiple nonessential nodes nearby key nodes seems a more rational approach to restore the network to its normal functioning without serious toxic effects that could otherwise be expected when
blocking a key node [50]. As openly voiced by Bianchi and coworkers, "the complexity of neural processes underlying seizure activity may be more amenable to multiple small perturbations than a single dominant mechanism" [11]. At this point it may be worth highlighting the difference between potency and efficacy. Potency is related to the amount of drug that is needed to produce a given effect and is related to the affinity of the drug for its molecular target(s) and the number of units of the molecular target(s) available. In contrast, efficacy is linked to the maximum effect that a drug can produce, regardless of dose. From these definitions, it follows that *a drug could be more efficacious than others without being more potent*.

Memantine represents an outstanding example of the potential benefits of low-affinity multi-target ligands on CNS disorders [51, 52]. This drug is presently prescribed for the treatment of moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease and other dementias when acetyl-cholinesterase inhibitors are not well tolerated. In contrast, high-affinity uncompetitive inhibitor of the *N*-methyl-d-aspartate receptors (NMDARs) dizocilpine has not reached the market due to serious adverse reactions including Olney's lesions, cognitive disruption, and psychotic reactions. Memantine possesses low-affinity binding to NMDARs (in the high nM to low  $\mu$ M range), fast on/off kinetics, and almost no selectivity among subtypes [51], being consequently much better tolerated. Memantine also shows uncompetitive antagonism on other receptors, e.g., serotonin 5-HT3 [53] and dopamine D2 receptors [54], with similar affinity than for the NMDA receptors.

The old paradigm (the more potent, the better) still prevails in the primary screening for novel AEDs. The NIH's Anticonvulsant Screening Program considers the potency of drug candidates in acute seizure models as one of the criteria to select which drug candidates will advance to further testing [55]; this decision-making scheme may underestimate the efficacy of the drugs in on a long-term basis [56]. An equivalent principle is often applied in the context of some computer-aided screening campaigns (e.g., those based on docking and regression models), where the hits with higher predicted affinities are more likely to be selected for experimental validation. In the light of this paradigm shift, it could be appropriate to discard mere potency as selection criteria of AED candidates, preferring drugs with multiple (small) actions on different targets. Protein network analysis could prove useful to reveal weakly and moderately connected nodes as potential new targets for epilepsy therapies. In this line, it has been stressed that levetiracetam (a new generation AED that enjoys increasing attention within the epilepsy community and perhaps the third generation AED with the most innovative pharmacologic profile) exerts various mild modulatory actions on neurons [8].

## 2.3 What Response Should Be Modeled When Building Computational Models to Detect Novel AEDs

In the background of classical QSAR theory and more reasonably in the case of 3D QSAR, the compound dataset used to build and validate the model should present a common mode of action and even the same binding mode [57–59]. Alignment-dependent 3D QSAR methods have been conceived to describe one specific interaction step in the lifetime of ligands [57]. Obviously, the same principle applies for molecular docking and other structure-based approaches that explicitly predict the ligand-target interaction. Consequently, in vitro affinity data could be considered the gold standard for traditional QSAR modeling. However, considering the possible benefits of network pharmacology in the field of epilepsy and as an alternative to tailored multi-target agents, it is possible to detect novel antiepileptic drugs by modeling "dirty" responses obtained in phenotypic/physiologic models, instead of "clean" affinity data. Molecular descriptors reflecting more general structural patterns than those required for the specific ligandrecognition event by a certain target could be probably more suitable for this job. Many of the successful QSAR models and virtual screening applications for the discovery of AEDs have relied on in vivo biological data for modeling purposes [46, 60-70], and they include work by leading experts in the QSAR field [60].

Since most of the previously cited articles report models to predict the effect of a drug in seizure models (prominently, MES test), the current challenge is probably to face modeling campaigns based on biological data obtained from actual models of epilepsy (e.g., pilocarpine and kindling models), refractory epilepsy, and acute models so far understudied through the QSAR theory (e.g., 6 Hz test).

## **3 Comparing Gene-Wide Profiles**

It is now known that drugs, particularly those administered in a repeated manner (e.g., AEDs), do not only provoke a given biological response in a direct way; they also indirectly elicit regulatory effects on gene expression profiles which could be even more relevant than the direct drug-target interaction.

Gene expression profiles offer a snapshot of globally measured transcript levels in a given cell, tissue, or organism at a specific point of time [71]; gene signatures are representative of specific conditions, i.e., exposure to a given xenobiotic or a disease state. Gene signatures are particularly relevant to characterize the phenotypic response to long-term exposure, shed light about the modes of action of a drug, and identify potential treatments for a certain disorder. The Broad Institute has pioneered such applications through its Connectivity Map, a publicly available resource designed to link disease and drugs through gene profiles [72]. This resource collects gene signatures derived from the exposure of human cells to a huge number of xenobiotics, including 1300

FDA-approved drugs. Query signatures can be compared to the stored ones through similarity matching algorithms: those at the top and bottom of the resulting ranking are thought to be related to the query state by shared or opposite expression changes. Compounds eliciting similar expression changes would exacerbate such condition; compounds displaying inverse signatures would function as therapeutic agents.

A diversity of microarray-based gene expression profiling studies have been conducted to elucidate the molecular changes underlying epilepsy and epileptogenesis [73–77]. They and other similar works could be a fair starting point to find novel drugs with diseasemodifying properties by application of the inverse similarity idea proposed by the Connectivity Map.

## 4 Final Remarks

In spite of recent authoritative opinions on the potential contribution of network pharmacology to the development of more efficacious AEDs, such considerations have so far not been translated into new drug candidates, contrasting advances in other complex diseases such as neurodegenerative conditions or cancer.

We have presented four strategies to incorporate a network pharmacology perspective in the field of AED discovery: tailored multitarget agents, reexamining the validity of "the more potent, the better" paradigm, building QSAR models based on biological responses emerging from phenotypic models, and gene signature comparison.

### Acknowledgments

The author work is supported by Agencia Nacional de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica (PICT 2013-3175), CONICET, and Universidad Nacional de La Plata (Incentivos UNLP).

#### References

- Sams-Dodd F (2005) Target-based drug discovery: is something wrong? Drug Discov Today 10:139–147
- 2. Hopkins AL (2008) Network pharmacology: the next paradigm in drug discovery. Nat Chem Biol 4:682–690
- 3. Kotz J (2012) Phenotypic screening, take two. SciBX 5:1–3
- Talevi A, Bellera CL, Di Ianni E et al (2012) CNS drug development – lost in translation? Mini Rev Med Chem 12:959–970
- 5. Arrowsmith J (2011) Trial watch: Phase III and submission failures: 2007-2010. Nat Rev Drug Discov 10:87

- Swinney DC, Anthony J (2011) How were new medicines discovered? Nat Rev Drug Discov 10:507–519
- Margineanu DG (2012) Systems biology impact on antiepileptic drug discovery. Epilepsy Res 98:104–115
- Margineanu DG (2014) Systems biology, complexity, and the impact on antiepileptic drug discovery. Epilepsy Behav 38:131– 142
- Loscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE et al (2013) New avenues for ant-epileptic drug discovery and development. Nat Rev Drug Discov 12:757–776

- Di Ianni ME, Talevi A (2014) How can network-pharmacology contribute to antiepileptic drug development? Mol Cell Epilepsy 1:e30
- Bianchi MT, Pathmanathan J, Cash SS (2009) From ion channels to complex networks: magic bullet versus magic shotgun approaches to anticonvulsant pharmacotherapy. Med Hypotheses 72:297–305
- Margineanu DG (2015) Neuropharmacology beyond reductionism – a likely prospect. Biosystems 141:1–9
- Kamisnki RM, Matagne A, Patsalos PN et al (2009) Benefit of combination therapy in epilepsy: a review of the preclinical evidence with levetiracetam. Epilepsia 50:387–397
- Brodie MJ, Sills GJ (2011) Combining antiepileptic drugs – rational polytherapy? Seizure 20:369–375
- 15. Löscher W, Rundfelt C, Hönack D (1993) Low doses of NMDA receptor antagonists synergistically increase the anticonvulsant effect of the AMPA receptor antagonist NBQX in the kindling model of epilepsy. Eur J Neurosci 5:1545–1550
- 16. Brandt C, Nozadze M, Heuchert N et al (2010) Disease-modifying effects of phenobarbital and the NKCC1 inhibitor bumetanide in the pilocarpine model of temporal lobe epilepsy. J Neurosci 30:8602–8612
- Hughes JP, Ress S, Kalindjian SB et al (2011) Principles of early drug discovery. Br J Pharmacol 162:1239–1249
- Jahromi SS, Pelletier MR, McDonald PJ et al (2000) Antiepileptic efficacy of topiramate: assessment in two in vitro seizure models. Brain Res 872:20–28
- Ohno K, Higashima M (2002) Effects of antiepileptic drugs on afterdischarge generation in rat hippocampal slices. Brain Res 924:39–45
- Shin DS, Yu W, Sutton A (2011) Isovaline, a rare amino acid, has anticonvulsant properties in two in vitro hippocampal seizure models by increasing interneuronal. Epilepsia 52:2084–2093
- Kombian SB, Phillips OA (2013) Novel actions of oxazolidinones: in vitro screening of a triazolyloxazolidinone for anticonvulsant activity. Med Princ Pract 22:340–345
- 22. Jones RS, da Silva AB, Whittaker RG et al (2016) Human brain slices for epilepsy research: pitfalls, solutions and future challenges. J Neurosci Methods 260:221–232
- Löscher W, Schmidt D (2011) Modern antiepileptic drug development has failed to deliver: ways out of the current dilemma. Epilepsia 52:657–678
- 24. Milan JL (2014) On 'polypharmacy' and multi-target agents, complementary strategies

for improving the treatment of depression: a comparative appraisal. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 17:1009–1037

- 25. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) In: Rocha L, Cavalheiro EA (eds) Pharmacoresistance in epilepsy. From genes and molecules to promising therapies, 1st edn. Springer, New York, NY
- Vezzani A, French J, Bartfai T et al (2011) The role of inflammation in epilepsy. Nat Rev Neurol 7:31–40
- 27. Vezzani A, Friedman A, Dingledine RJ (2013) The role of inflammation in epileptogenesis. Neuropharmacology 69:16–34
- Ximenes JC, de Oliveira Gonçalves D, Siqueira RM et al (2013) Valproic acid: an anticonvulsant drug with potent antinociceptive and antiinflammatory properties. Naunym Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 386:575–587
- Vuilleumier P, Jallon P (1998) Epilepsy and psychiatric disorders: epidemiological data. Rev Neurol 154:305–317
- Dalmagro CL, Velasco TR, Bianchin MM et al (2012) Psychiatric comorbidity in refractory focal epilepsy: a study of 490 patients. Epilepsy Behav 25:593–597
- Morphy R, Kay C, Rankovic Z (2004) From magic bullets to designed multiple ligands. Drug Discov Today 9:641–665
- 32. Ma X, Shi Z, Tan C et al (2010) In silico approaches to multi-target drug design: computer-aided multi-target drug design, multi-target virtual screening. Curr Pharm Res 27:739–744
- **33.** Talevi A (2015) Multi-target pharmacology: possibilities and limitations of the "skeleton key approach" from a medicinal chemist perspective. Front Pharmacol 6:205
- 34. Lipisnki CA, Lombardo F, Dominy BW et al (2001) Experimental and computational approaches to estimate solubility and permeability in drug discovery and development settings. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 46:3–26
- 35. Veber DF, Johnson SR, Cheng HY et al (2002) Molecular properties that influence the oral bioavailability of drug candidates. J Med Chem 45:2615–2623
- 36. Wager TT, Hou X, Verhoest PR et al (2010) Moving beyond rules: the development of a central nervous system multiparameter optimization (CNS MPO) approach to enable alignment of druglike properties. ACS Chem Neurosci 1:435–449
- Kuntz ID, Chen K, Sharp KA et al (1999) The maximal affinity of ligands. Proc Natl Acad Sci 96:9997–10002
- Hopkins AL, Keserú GM, Leeson PD et al (2014) The role of ligand efficiency metrics in drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13:105–121

- 39. Sturm N, Desaphy J, Quinn RJ et al (2012) Structural insights into the molecular basis of the ligand promiscuity. J Chem Inf Model 52:2410–2421
- 40. Cases M, Mestres J (2009) A chemogenomic approach to drug discovery: focus on cardiovascular diseases. Drug Discov Today 14:479–485
- 41. Hu Y, Gupta-Ostermann D, Bajorath J (2014) Exploring compound promiscuity patterns and multi-target activity spaces. Comput Struct Biotechnol 9:e201401003
- 42. Azzaoui K, Hamon H, Faller B et al (2007) Modeling promiscuity based on in vitro safety pharmacology profiling data. ChemMedChem 2:874–880
- Leeson PD, Springthorpe B (2007) The influence of drug-like concepts on decision-making in medicinal chemistry. Nat Rev Drug Discov 6:881–890
- 44. Yang Y, Chen H, Nilsson I et al (2010) Investigation of the relationship between topology and selectivity for druglike molecules. J Med Chem 53:7709–7714
- Bernis GW, Murcko MA (1996) The properties of known drugs. 1. Molecular framework. J Med Chem 39:2887–2893
- 46. Talevi A, Bellera CL, Castro EA et al (2007) A successful virtual screening application: prediction of anticonvulsant activity in MES test of widely used pharmaceutical and food preservatives methylparaben and propylparaben. J Comput Aided Mol Des 21:527–538
- Leeson PD, St-Gallay SA (2011) The influence of the 'organizational factor' on compound quality in drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 10:749–765
- Talevi A (2016) Tailored multi-target agents. Applications and design considerations. Curr Pharm Des 22: 3164–3170
- Juan D, Pazos F, Valencia A (2013) Emerging methods in protein co-evolution. Nat Rev Gen 14:249–261
- 50. Csernely P, Korcsmárosa T, Kissa HJM et al (2013) Structure and dynamics of molecular networks: a novel paradigm of drug discovery: a comprehensive review. Pharmacol Ther 138:333–408
- Zheng H, Fridkin M, Youdim M (2014) From single target to multitarget/network therapeutics in Alzheimer's therapy. Pharmaceuticals 7:113–135
- Lipton SA (2006) Paradigm shift in neuroprotection by NMDA receptor blockade: memantine and beyond. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5:160–170
- 53. Rammes G, Rupprecht R, Ferrari U et al (2001) The N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor channel blockers memantine, MRZ 2/579 and

other amino-alkyl-cyclohexanes antagonize 5-HT(3) receptor currents in cultured HEK-293 and N1E-115 cell systems in a noncompetitive manner. Neurosci Lett 306:81–84

- 54. Seeman P, Caruso C, Lasaga M (2008) Memantine agonist action at dopamine D2High receptors. Synapse 62:149–153
- 55. Stables JP, Kupferberg HJ. The NIH Anticonvulsant Drug Development (ADD) Program: preclinical anticonvulsant screening project. http://www.ninds.nih.gov/research/ asp/addadd\_review.pdf. Assessed on Mar 2016
- 56. Löscher W (2011) Critical review of current animal models of seizures and epilepsy used in the discovery and development of new antiepileptic drugs. Seizure 20:359–368
- Langer T, Bryant SD (2008) 3D quantitative structure-property relationships. In: The practice of medicinal chemistry, 3rd edn. Academic, London
- 58. Sippl W (2010) 3D QSAR: applications, recent advances, and limitations. In: Recent advances in QSAR studies. Method and applications, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht
- 59. Roy K, Kar S, Das RN (2015) Background of QSAR and historical developments. In: Understanding the basics of QSAR for applications in pharmaceutical sciences and risk assessment, 1st edn. Academic, London
- 60. Shen M, LeTiran A, Xiao Y et al (2002) Quantitative structure–activity relationship analysis of functionalized amino acid anticonvulsant agents using k nearest neighbor and simulated annealing PLS methods. J Med Chem 45:2811–2823
- 61. Tasso SM, Moon SC, Bruno-Blanch LE et al (2004) Characterization of anticonvulsant profile of valpromide derivatives. Bioorg Med Chem 12:3857–3869
- 62. Talevi A, Enrique AV, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Anticonvulsant activity of artificial sweeteners: a structural link between sweettaste receptor T1R3 and brain glutamate receptors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:4072–4074
- 63. Sutherland JJ, Weaver DF (2003) Development of quantitative structure-activity relationships and classification models for anticonvulsant activity of hydantoin analogues. J Chem Inf Model 43:1028–1036
- 64. Gavernet L, Domínguez-Cabrera MJ, Bruno-Blanch LE et al (2007) 3D QSAR design of novel antiepileptic sulfamides. Bioorg Med Chem 2007:1556–1567
- 65. Gavernet L, Talevi A, Castro EA et al (2008) A combined virtual screening 2D and 3D QSAR methodology for the selection of new anticonvulsant candidates from a natural product library. QSAR Comb Sci 27:1120–1129

- 66. Di Ianni ME, Enrique AV, Palestro PH et al (2012) Several new diverse anticonvulsant agents discovered in a virtual screening campaign aimed at novel antiepileptic drugs to treat refractory epilepsy. J Chem Inf Model 52:3325–3330
- Bruno-Blanch L, Gálvez J, García-Domenech R (2003) Topological virtual screening: a way to find new anticonvulsant drugs from chemical diversity. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 13:2749–2754
- 68. Talevi A, Cravero MS, Castro EA et al (2007) Discovery of anticonvulsant activity of abietic acid through application of linear discriminant analysis. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 17:1684–1690
- 69. Di Ianni ME, Del Valle ME, Enrique AV et al (2015) Computer-aided identification of anticonvulsant effect of natural nonnutritive sweeteners stevioside and rebaudioside A. Assay Drug Dev Technol 13:313–318
- 70. Talevi A, Prieto JJ, Bruno-Blanch LE et al (2007) New similarity-based algorithm and its application to classification of anticonvulsant compounds. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem 22:253–265
- Qu XA, Rajpal DK (2012) Applications of connectivity map in drug discovery and development. Drug Discov Today 17:1289–1298

- 72. Lamb J, Crawford ED, Peck D et al (2006) The connectivity map: using gene-expression signatures to connect small molecules, genes, and disease. Science 313:1929–1935
- 73. Elliot RC, Miles MF, Lowestein DH (2003) Overlapping microarray profiles of dentate gyrus gene expression during developmentand epilepsy-associated neurogenesis and axon outgrowth. J Neurosci 23:2218–2227
- 74. Newton SS, Collier EF, Hunsberger J et al (2003) Gene profile of electroconvulsive seizures: induction of neurotrophic and angiogenic factors. J Neurosci 23:10841–10851
- Hunsberger JG, Bennett AH, Selvanayagam E et al (2005) Gene profiling the response to kainic acid induced seizures. Mol Brain Res 141:95–112
- 76. Borges K, Shaw R, Dingledine R (2007) Gene expression changes after seizure preconditioning in the three major hippocampal cell layers. Neurobiol Dis 26:66–77
- 77. Theilhaber J, Rakhade SN, Sudhalter J et al (2013) Gene expression profiling of a hypoxic seizure model of epilepsy suggests a role for mTOR and Wnt signaling in epileptogenesis. PLoS One 8:e74428

## **Chapter 19**

## The Importance of Drug Repurposing in the Field of Antiepileptic Drug Development

## Alan Talevi

## Abstract

Drug repurposing involves finding new therapeutic uses for existing drugs, including marketed, discontinued, shelved, and investigational drugs. The advantages of this strategy are many: reduced drug development timeline, best chances of surviving Phase II and Phase III clinical trials, simplified dosage form development, and, of course, added value to drugs belonging to a company or laboratory portfolio. The relatively high number of antiepileptic drugs which have been successfully repurposed and the fact that many drugs from other categories have proven anticonvulsant effects at the preclinical and even clinical level suggest that this strategy should be widely exploited in the antiepileptic drug discovery field. Here, we present an overview of the current approaches to drug repurposing, along with practical considerations to face a drug repurposing campaign to find new treatments for epilepsy and novel therapeutic uses for antiepileptic drugs.

Key words Computer-guided drug repurposing, Drug repositioning, Drug reprofiling, Drug repurposing, Drug rescue, Epilepsy, Indication expansion, Indication shift, *In silico* drug repurposing, Offlabel use

## 1 Introduction

Drug repurposing (also known as drug reprofiling, drug repositioning, indication expansion, or indication shift) involves finding new therapeutic uses for existing drugs, including marketed, discontinued, shelved, and investigational drugs. Repurposed drugs present considerably higher probability of success (at preclinical and clinical level) than de novo drugs and a reduced development timeline [1, 2]. Repurposed candidates have already survived preclinical toxicological testing; they have verified tolerable safety and possess acceptable, previously characterized pharmacokinetics. When repurposed drugs have already been used in the clinical practice, manufacturing and stability issues have already been solved; furthermore, off-patent repurposed drugs may provide relatively low-cost solutions for new problems [3].

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3\_19, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

Plenty approved antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) have also been approved for second or further medical uses and/or possess different off-label uses [4–8] (see Table 1 for a summary of other approved uses and the most frequent off-label uses). This suggests

### Table 1

### Other approved and off-label uses of AEDs

| Antiepileptic drug | Other approved uses        | Off-label uses                    |
|--------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Phenobarbital      | Sedative                   | Crigler-Najjar syndrome (type II) |
|                    | (Short-term) Hypnotic      |                                   |
|                    | Preanesthetic              | Gilbert's syndrome                |
|                    |                            | Neonatal abstinence syndrome      |
|                    |                            | Cycling vomiting syndrome         |
| Phenytoin          | -                          | Antiarrhythmic                    |
|                    |                            | Neuropathic pain                  |
|                    |                            | Wound healing and ulcers          |
| Primidone          | -                          | Essential tremors                 |
| Diazepam           | Anxiety                    | Eclampsia                         |
|                    | Skeletal muscle spasms     |                                   |
|                    | Acute alcohol withdrawal   |                                   |
| Carbamazepine      | Trigeminal neuralgia       | Bipolar disorder                  |
|                    | Glossopharyngeal neuralgia | Antipsychotic (adjunctive)        |
|                    |                            | Abuse substances withdrawal       |
| Valproic acid      | Bipolar disorder           | Impulse control disorders         |
|                    | Migraine                   |                                   |
| Clonazepam         | Panic disorder             | Anxiety                           |
|                    |                            | Sleep disorders                   |
|                    |                            | Restless legs syndrome            |
|                    |                            | Spasticity                        |
| Lamotrigine        | Bipolar disorder           | Trigeminal neuralgia              |
|                    |                            | Neuropathic pain                  |
|                    |                            | Attention deficit                 |
|                    |                            | Migraine                          |
|                    |                            | Schizoaffective disorders         |

(continued)

| Antiepileptic drug      | Other approved uses    | Off-label uses                |
|-------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|
| Gabapentin              | Postherpetic neuralgia | Neuropathic pain              |
|                         |                        | Anxiety disorders             |
|                         |                        | Nystagmus                     |
|                         |                        | Smoking cessation             |
| Topiramate              | Obesity                | Abuse substances withdrawal   |
|                         |                        | Essential tremor              |
|                         | Migraine prevention    | Obsessive-compulsive disorder |
| Zonisamide              | -                      | Obesity                       |
|                         |                        | Parkinson's disease           |
|                         |                        | Migraine                      |
|                         |                        | Neuropathic pain              |
| Tiagabine               | -                      | Anxiety (adjunctive)          |
|                         |                        | Neuropathic pain (adjunctive) |
| Pregabalin              | Neuropathic pain       | Anxiety disorders             |
|                         | Fibromyalgia           |                               |
|                         | Postherpetic neuralgia |                               |
| Lacosamide              | Neuropathic pain       | -                             |
| Eslicarbazepine acetate | -                      | Trigeminal myalgia            |
|                         |                        | Bipolar disorder              |

| Table 1     |  |
|-------------|--|
| (continued) |  |

that approved AED as well as AED candidates in the pipeline should be systematically examined for possible second uses, a strategy which could imply a significant added value for laboratories' portfolios. Note that many AEDs are persistently used to treat neurological and psychiatric conditions (e.g., neuropathic pain, anxiety disorders, bipolar disorders), which suggests that drugs belonging to this therapeutic class could be more likely to be repurposed from certain therapeutic indications.

In the next section of the chapter, we will review different approaches for the systematic, rational drug repurposing of AEDs.

## 2 Different Approaches to Rational Drug Repositioning

There are several approaches that can be used to propose second medical uses of existing drugs. The first of them involves serendipitous clinical (or, why not, preclinical) observations regarding possible unexpected beneficial effects of a drug. Such observations may arise in the regular clinical practice or in the framework of a clinical trial (as it happened in the famous sildenafil anecdote). Epidemiological retrospective studies could be an adequate methodological approach to reveal hidden additional benefits of existing drugs [9]. A second (and probably more rational) option is knowledge-based drug repurposing, in which chemical and pharmacological information on the drugs and pathophysiological knowledge on the diseases are examined to guide an indication expansion [10]. Owing to the unprecedented rate at which scientific knowledge is generated nowadays, computational data analysis approaches can provide a valuable support to organize information and gain knowledge which can in turn be used to guide repurposing campaigns. In the following subsections we will discuss some general aspects of computer-aided drug repurposing. Some universal considerations to keep in mind when selecting candidates for repurposing are also presented in Sect. 3.

2.1 Bioinformatics-One of the general principles that support computer-aided drug repositioning is that health disorders linked to the same or similar **Based Drug** dysregulated or dysfunctional proteins may be treated with the Repurposing same drugs (disease-centric approach). Bioinformatic tools, from sequence alignment to domain similarity identification tools, might be useful to reveal hidden protein-protein similarities. While experts in a given disease are naturally familiarized with target proteins associated with their specific subject of study, they might well ignore which other diseases are linked to the same or closely related targets. There are many online public resources which could be used to find curated information on gene-disease associations. For instance, DisGeNET [11] is a discovery platform whose current version contains more than 429,000 associations, between more than 17,000 genes and 14,000 diseases, disorders, and clinical or abnormal human phenotypes (including both Mendelian and complex diseases). Given the large number of compiled associations the platform features a score based on the supporting evidence to prioritize gene-disease associations. Other interesting resources include the Comparative Toxicogenomics Database (CTD) [12], which provides information about interactions between environmental chemicals and gene products, and their relationship to diseases; the Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM) [13], an online catalog of human genes and genetic disorders; and PsyGeNET [14], which focuses on associations between genes and

psychiatric disorders. Briefly, if you pretend to repurpose an AED for other indication and the molecular target/s linked to antiepileptic activity are known, you might want to find out which homologs (proteins sharing a common evolutionary ancestor) of such protein/s are associated with other disease. The simpler way of inferring homology is probably through sequence similarity; remember, however, that homologous sequences do not always share significant sequence similarity but are clearly homologous based on statistically significant structural similarity or strong sequence similarity to an intermediate sequence [15]. The previous fact suggests that using different approaches to find homologs could be convenient for a wider coverage. For local sequence alignments, like those produced by BLAST, the expected distribution of similarity scores by chance is described by the extreme value distribution. The expectation value depends on the size of the searched database, which does not mean that sequences can be homologous in one context (a smaller search) but not in another (large databases). If the alignment is significant in a small search the sequences are homologous, but that homology may not be detected in a larger search. In other words, sequence similarity search tools minimize Type I errors (i.e., false positives) but do not make claims about false Type II errors (i.e., false negatives). Consequently, it is easier to identify distant homologs when exploring smaller databases. Also note that protein:protein comparisons are more sensitive and accurate than DNA:DNA ones. To obtain highly curated and annotated sequences (e.g., the sequences that will be used as queries) the Swissprot subset of the UniProt database is recommended; it provides comprehensive information on modified residues, active sites, variation, and mutation studies that allow more accurate functional prediction from homologous alignments. As insinuated previously, homology identification based on sequence alignment can be complemented by structural homology approaches based on manual or automated comparison of 3D x-ray or NMR protein structures. For instance, Vector Alignment Search Tool (VAST) [16] is a computer algorithm developed at the US National Center for Biotechnology Information that identifies similar protein 3D structures by purely geometric criteria and can detect distant homologs which are omitted by sequence comparison. While this application is useful to work with individual proteins, its extension, VAST+, presents structural similarity at the level of biological assemblies or macromolecular complexes [17], a very attractive approach in the field of epilepsy if we have in mind that several AEDs such as ligand-operated ion channels are in fact macromolecular complexes of different proteins. Once homologous with suspected similar functions and conserved determinants of specificity have been found, the previously discussed public resources compiling associations between gene/gene products and disease can be used to propose new medical uses.

In relation with the previous discussion, it is worth mentioning that connections between ligand promiscuity and binding-site and global structure similarity have been established by Haupt and coworkers [18]. For that purpose, 164 ligands co-crystallized with three or more nonredundant targets were extracted from the Protein Data Bank. Such ligands were present in 712 nonredundant protein targets. All pairs of binding sites for all promiscuous drugs were aligned. Those sites with consistent binding mode of the ligand were kept for subsequent analysis, finding a direct correlation (r=0.76) between the global structure similarity and the degree of promiscuity (drug target count), and also between the square root of the number of similar binding sites and the degree of promiscuity (r=0.81). These results suggest that the binding-site similarity and the global structure similarity can be used as criteria to guide drug repositioning initiatives. Interestingly, a diversity of algorithms has been developed to identify, in an automated manner, similarities between binding sites. See for instance reference [19].

Another bioinformatics approach which can prove helpful to guide drug repurposing involves comparison of genome-wide gene expression profiles, e.g., through the Connectivity Map. The approach has been briefly discussed in another chapter of this volume dedicated to network pharmacology and epilepsy and the discussion will not be repeated here. The reader may also visit the excellent review by Qu and Rajpal [20]. For instance, by application of this approach Zhuo et al. recently revealed that the AED valproic acid is able to reverse acquired Erlotinib resistance of lung cancer [21], which has been validated experimentally. Similarly, Dudley and coworkers found, through application of the Connectivity Map, that the anticonvulsant topiramate is a potential therapy for inflammatory bowel disease [22]. These authors validated their prediction in vivo using a trinitrobenzenesulfonic acid induced rodent model of the disorder.

## 2.2 Cheminfor matics-Based Drug Repurposing

The most common cheminformatic-based drug repositioning approach is no other thing than a very particular type of virtual screening campaign in which the screened chemical repository/ database is focused on approved, discontinued, abandoned, and/or investigational drugs. The methods used in cheminformatic-based drug repositioning are thus classified in the same way that for general virtual screening approaches [23] and have been discussed in other chapters of this volume. Essentially, such classification includes structure- and ligand-based approximations. Lately, serial and parallel combinations of these methods have been extensively applied [24, 25]. DrugBank and Sweetlead constitute excellent resources to carry out *in silico* drug repurposing campaigns, since they compile approved, discontinued and investigational drugs and other regulated chemicals from the FDA and other national regulatory agencies [26, 27]. Note that it was recently observed that the

importance of bioactivation might have been underestimated in the context of *in silico* screening-based campaigns oriented to drug repurposing [28, 29]. Since around 10% of the known "drugs" are in fact unintended or intended prodrugs [30], it is suggested to take into consideration possible active metabolites of the potentially repurposed compounds during the screening protocol.

A different but conceptually interesting approach has been presented by Wu and coworkers [31], in line with previous work by Keiser and collaborators [32, 33]. The general idea behind their work is that different therapeutic indications could be related if each of them includes chemically similar drugs. The anatomic therapeutic chemical (ATC) classification system provided by the WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology was used as international standard to define the therapeutic indication. The authors used a 1151 FDA-approved drugs database to train a Cytoscape network. First, the chemical similarity between two drugs belonging to two different therapeutic classes under comparison is calculated by using three independent molecular fingerprinting systems: CDK, MACCS, and Pubchem fingerprints. Tanimoto scores are calculated by the three methods, and later averaged. An evaluating score is obtained by summing the Tanimoto score of all drug pairs. For each anatomic therapeutic chemical class, a Z score between it and the remaining classes is then computed. A permutation test is applied to obtain the Z score of each pair of therapeutic classes, in order to remove the influence of the drug set size and to assess the significance of the similarity sum. The permutated drug sets (with the same number of drugs than the original ones) are generated for each therapeutic class through random selection from the 1151 drugs. The distribution of the permutated scores is determined and the corresponding normal distribution is indicated. The  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  of the normal distribution of the permutated evaluating score values are used to calculate the final Z score of ATC pairs. Because the permutated evaluated score follows a normal distribution, it is considered that if the Z score for a given pair of therapeutic classes is above 1.96, such classes display a statistically significant correlation. Note that the previously described method is conceptually in good agreement with our previous observation on the high number of AEDs that have consistently proven to have effects on other disorders such as anxiety or bipolar disorders. Again, the regular efficacy of drugs belonging to a given therapeutic class on other disorders seems to speak of a possible pattern of repurposing opportunities between pairs of therapeutic classes, which encourages the systematic (and possible reciprocal) screening of drugs from one therapeutic class for the other. The approach reported by Wu could provide a rational basis to decide which pairs of therapeutic classes are more favorable to explore possible cross-repurposing.

A current trend in computer-aided drug repurposing consists in integrating large volumes of very heterogeneous types of data (e.g., experimental and predicted, chemical similarity and protein similarity) into large-scale drug protein networks or even drugprotein-disease networks [34–36]. While initially network analysis only considered the connectivity between the nodes of the network, recently much attention has been also given to semantic networks [10, 37].

Recently, a combination of bioinformatic and cheminformatic approximations led us to detect the anticonvulsant effects of artificial sweeteners cyclamate and acesulfame [38, 39], which in turn allowed us to identify the anticonvulsant effects of natural sweeteners (steviol glycosides) in mice [40]. Cyclamate has later shown selective inhibitory effects on one carbonic anhydrase VII, which has been proposed as a novel AED target [41].

## 3 Notes

Let us assume the potential of a number of drugs for repurposing has already been validated at some experimental level (e.g., in vitro). What features should a promising candidate gather? What criteria can be used to decide which candidate deserves more attention?

The first thing you should bear in mind is that, to fully exploit the advantages of repurposing, the dose needed for the pursued (new) indication should be compatible with the ones used for the original indication. Remember that one of the alleged benefits of repurposing is that repurposed candidates have proven to be safe in humans, thus increasing its chances to survive clinical trials required to gain approval for the second medical use. We could speculate that, if the new indication requires doses below the maximum tolerated dose for the previous indication, safety will not be an issue. Naturally, the lower the doses, the better. In vitro assays provide a fair idea of the concentration of the drug necessary to induce a desirable effect (e.g.,  $EC_{50}$ ). It is advised to review available literature on the drug candidate and compile pharmacokinetic data. The steady-state concentration obtained after repeated administration for the original indication could be used as a reference value: if the in vitro effective concentration for the intended second use results one or more orders of magnitude above the plasma steady-state concentrations for the original therapeutic use, the drug is not a straightforward candidate for repurposing. As stated elsewhere in this volume, in the absence of perpetual cellular models of epilepsy, animal seizure models are often used as primary screening for AEDs. You might then need to extrapolate approximate human doses from animal doses; allometric conversions could be useful for that purpose. Conversion of animal doses to human equivalent doses based on body surface area is usually convenient. Converting mouse doses

(mg/kg) to *estimated* human equivalent doses requires dividing the animal dose by 12.3; in the case of rat, you should divide by 6.2. These values assume 60 kg humans; for weights outside the standard range, the following formula should be used:

## HED = animal dose in mg / kg × (animal weight in kg / human weight in kg)<sup>0.33</sup>

Note that this conversion is often used to calculate the dose that will be used at Phase I clinical trials (initial clinical dose), in which case a safety factor of at least 10 is applied to protect subjects taking part in the trial; nevertheless, here we are only estimating the effective dose in humans in order to study the compatibility between the doses used for the original indication and the approximate doses that would be required for the new, pursued (repurposed) indication. Therefore, safety factor is not needed here. You could check references [41-43] for additional considerations on interspecies dose conversion. Note that some drugs are unlikely to be amenable to simple allometric conversion, including those that are highly protein-bound, undergo extensive metabolism and active transport, experience significant biliary excretion, those whose targets are subject to interspecies differences in expression, affinity and distribution, and drugs that undergo extensive renal secretion [43]. If working with concentrations, have in mind that plasma drug levels will in general not coincide with the concentrations in other tissues. In the case of AEDs, we are particularly interested in brain bioavailability. Unbound (free) brain concentration would determine the activation of a specific target receptor and thus the intensity of the pharmacological response [44, 45], though information on free drug concentrations is still difficult to find in the literature. You should also examine the literature for data on protein and tissue binding and affinity for efflux and influx transporters expressed at the blood-brain barrier. Binding to plasma proteins will tend to increase total plasma concentration in comparison to brain concentrations; the opposite will occur if the drug takes part in extensive unspecific interactions with brain tissue. Affinity for efflux transporters will tend to increase the blood free drug concentration compared with free brain concentrations; the opposite will be true for compounds with affinity for influx transporters at the blood-brain barrier. Elimination half-life could also provide valuable information. Figure 1 shows the evolution of drug plasma levels after administration of repeated doses of the drug at fixed time intervals. The most common drug therapy interventions consist in administering a given dose of the drug at regular intervals (usually 6, 8, 12, or 24 h to help treatment adherence). Although it falls beyond the scope of this chapter, following the superposition principle and coupling multiple single dose equations, it can be easily demonstrated that, after a number of doses,



Fig. 1 Concentration-time profile for extravascular (e.g., oral) multiple doses delivered at regular intervals (in the example, doses are administered at regular intervals of 8 h)

drug plasma levels build up and a steady state is reached. During steady state, plasma drug levels will fluctuate between approximately fixed steady-state maximum (Cpmax,ss) and minimum (Cpmin,ss) concentrations. Four to five half-lives are required to achieve steady-state levels.

It can be inferred from the previous discussion on the importance of dose compatibility that the repurposed candidates linked to the larger doses for the original indication are more likely to be repurposed at lower doses. Naturally, drugs used exclusively as topical treatments are not good candidates for repurposing as systemic medications, since most of the advantages of the repurposing approach will be lost [29].

Once the compatibility between the doses used for the original indication and the ones that would be needed for the second indication (in our case, epilepsy) have been established, available data on the repurposed candidate should be scrutinized. It is important to detect possible contraindications or additional beneficial effects for the new indication [46]. For example, owing to the high prevalence of depression and anxiety in epileptic patients, repurposing a treatment for anxiety disorders or depression as AED could provide interesting additional benefits for the people suffering from epilepsy. This could eventually provide arguments to gain approval if multiple endpoints are later considered when designing the clinical trials. On the contrary, drugs displaying suicidal behaviors or depression as possible side effects would not constitute attractive candidates as AEDs, since they could exacerbate comorbid conditions associated with epilepsy. Finally, one would probably disregard repurposed candidates linked to frequent and severe adverse reactions in favor of those candidates displaying a better safety profile.

## 4 Final Remarks

AEDs constitute, undoubtedly, a therapeutic category that possesses great potential for drug repurposing opportunities, which could be related with the multi-target nature and complex pharmacology of most of the approved antiepileptic agents, a feature that has opportunely been discussed in the chapter dedicated to network pharmacology. So far, from the knowledge on the AEDs pharmacology and the preclinical and clinical data available, the therapeutic indications for which AEDs could be repurposed seem to be neuropathic pain, mood disorders, and arrhythmias. However, hidden opportunities could be detected in a systematic manner though some of the computational approaches discussed in this chapter.

Regarding which therapeutic categories could be more interesting for screening as novel AEDs, we may mention anxiolytics, antidepressants, and anti-inflammatory agents. First, because it is possible to find reciprocal relationships between two therapeutic classes and, as mentioned already, existing AEDs frequently have effects on mood disorders. Second, because comorbid mood disorders (anxiety, depression) have high prevalence in epilepsy. In the case of inflammation, it seems to be involved in the disease onset and progression, and antiinflammatory drugs with anticonvulsant properties could be useful as antiepileptogenic agents.

At last, we have discussed some general considerations to select which drug candidates are more attractive for repurposing. We advise to carefully examine the pharmacokinetic, toxicologic, and pharmacological available data on the candidate for repurposing. Drugs which are well tolerated at high doses for the original indication are more likely to be successful for repurposing. Drugs whose side effects might exacerbate the symptoms or etiology of the second disease (or some comorbid condition) should be disregarded. In contrast, drugs which could display additional benefits should be especially considered.

### Acknowledgements

The author work is supported by Agencia de Promoción Científica y Tecnológica (PICT 2013-3175), CONICET and Universidad Nacional de La Plata (Incentivos UNLP).

#### References

- 1. Arrowsmith J, Harrison R (2012) Drug repositioning: the business case and current strategies to repurpose shelved candidates and marketed drugs. In: Barrat MJ, Frail DE (eds) Drug repositioning: bringing new life to shelved assets and existing drugs. Wiley, New Jersey
- Ashburn TT, Thor KB (2004) Drug repositioning: identifying and developing new uses for existing drugs. Nat Rev Drug Discov 3:673–683
- Aubé J (2012) Drug repurposing and the medicinal chemist. ACS Med Chem Lett 3:442–444
- Spina E, Preugi G (2004) Antiepileptic drugs: indications other than epilepsy. Epileptic Disord 6:57–75
- Rogawski MA, Löscher W (2004) The neurobiology of antiepileptic drugs for the treatment of nonepileptic conditions. Nat Med 10:685–692
- Ettinger AB, Argoff CE (2007) Use of antiepileptic drugs for nonepileptic conditions: psychiatric disorders and chronic pain. Neurotherapeutics 4:75–83
- Moch S (2010) Therapeutic uses of antiepileptic drugs in non-epileptic disorders. S Afr Pharm J 77:18–27
- Bialer M (2012) Why are antiepileptic drugs used for nonepileptic conditions? Epilepsia 53(Suppl 7):26–33
- 9. Kim TW (2015) Drug repositioning approaches for the discovery of new therapeutics for Alzheimer's disease. Neurotherapeutics 12:132–142
- Bellera CL, Di Ianni ME, Sbaraglini ML (2014) Knowledge-based drug repurposing: a rational approach towards the identification of novel medical applications of known drugs. In: Ul-Haq Z, Madura JD (eds) Frontiers in computational chemistry, vol 1. Sharjah, Bentham
- 11. Piñero J, Queralt-Rosinach N, Bravo A et al (2015) DisGeNET: a discovery platform for the dynamical exploration of human diseases and their genes. Database (Oxford) 2015: bay028
- Davis AP, Murphy CG, Johnson R et al (2013) The comparative toxicogenomics database: update 2013. Nucleic Acids Res 41:D1104–D1114
- Hamosh A, Scott AF, Amberger JS et al (2005) Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM), a knowledgebase of human genes and genetic disorders. Nucleic Acids Res 41:D514–D517
- 14. Gutiérrez-SAcristán A, Grosdidier S, Valverde O et al (2015) PsyGeNET: a knowledge platform on psychiatric disorders and their genes. Bioinformatics 31:3075–3077

- 15. Pearson WR (2013) An introduction to sequence similarity ("homology") searching. Curr Protoc Bioinformatics 42:3.1.1–3.1.8
- Gibrat JF, Madej T, Bryant SH (1996) Surprising similarities in structure comparison. Curr Opin Struct Biol 6:377–385
- Madej T, Lanczycki CJ, Zhang D et al (2014) MMDB and VAST+: tracking structural similarities between macromolecular complexes. Nucleic Acid Res 42:D297–D303
- Haupt VJ, Daminelli S, Schroeder M (2013) Drug promiscuity in PDB: protein binding site similarity is key. PLoS One 8:e65894
- Konc J, Janežič D (2014) Binding site comparison for function prediction and pharmaceutical discovery. Curr Opin Struct Biol 25:34–39
- Qu XA, Rajpal DK (2012) Applications of Connectivity Map in drug discovery and development. Drug Discov Today 17:1289–1298
- 21. Zhuo W, Zhang L, Zhu Y et al (2015) Valproic acid, an inhibitor of class I histone deacetylases, reverses acquired Erlotinib-resistance of lung adenocarcinoma cells: a Connectivity Mapping analysis and an experimental study. Am J Cancer Res 5:2202–2211
- 22. Dudley JT, Sirota M, Shenoy M et al (2011) Computational repositioning of the anticonvulsant topiramate for inflammatory bowel disease. Sci Transl Med 3:96ra76
- 23. Talevi A, Bruno-Blanch LE (2011) Virtual screening: an emergent, key methodology for drug development in an emergent continent. A bridge towards patentability. In: Castro EA, Haghi AK (eds) Advanced methods and applications in chemoinformatics. Research progress and new applications. Hershey, IGI Global
- Drwal MN, Griffith R (2013) Combination of ligand- and structure-based methods in virtual screening. Drug Discov Today Technol 10:e395–e401
- 25. Talevi A, Gavernet L, Bruno-Blanch LE (2009) Combined virtual screening strategies. Curr Comput Aided Drug Des 5:22–37
- 26. Law V, Knox C, Dioumbou Y et al (2014) DrugBank 4.0: shedding new light on drug metabolism. Nucleic Acid Res 42:D1091–D1097
- 27. Novick PA, Ortiz OF, Poelman J et al (2013) SWEETLEAD: an in silico database of approved drugs, regulated chemicals, and herbal isolates for computer-aided drug discovery. PLoS One 8:e79568
- 28. Talevi A (2016) The importance of bioactivation in computer-guided drug repositioning. Why the parent drug is not always enough. Curr Top Med Chem 16: 2078–2087

- 29. Oprea TI, Overington JP (2015) Computational and practical aspects of drug repositioning. Assay Drug Dev Technol 13:299–306
- Zawilska JB, Wojcieszak J, Olejniczak AB (2013) Prodrugs: a challenge for the drug development. Pharmacol Rep 65:1–14
- Wu L, Ai N, Liu Y et al (2013) Relating anatomical therapeutic indications by the ensemble similarity of drug sets. J Chem Inf Model 53:2154–2160
- Keiser KL, Roth LB, Armbruster BN et al (2007) Relating protein pharmacology by ligand chemistry. Nat Biotechnol 25:197–206
- 33. Keiser MJ, Irwin JJ, Laggner C et al (2009) Predicting new molecular targets for known drugs. Nature 462:175–181
- 34. Liu R, Singh N, Tawa GJ et al (2014) Exploiting large-scale drug-protein interaction information for computational drug repurposing. BMC Bioinformatics 15:210
- 35. Cheng F, Liu C, Jiang J et al (2012) Prediction of drug-target Interactions and drug repositioning via network-based Inference. PLoS Comput Biol 8:e1002503
- Chen B, Ding Y, Wild DJ (2012) Assessing drug target association using semantic linked data. PLoS Comput Biol 8:e1002574
- Zhang Y, Tao C, Jianq G (2014) Network-based analysis reveals distinct association patterns in a semantic MEDLINE-based drug-disease-gene network. J Biomed Semantics 5:33
- Talevi A, Enrique AE, Bruno-Blanch LE (2012) Anticonvulsant activity of artificial sweeteners: a structural link between sweet-taste receptor T1R3 and brain glutamate receptors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 22:4072–4074

- 39. Di Ianni ME, Enrique AV, Del Valle ME et al (2015) Is there a relationship between sweet taste and seizures? Anticonvulsant and proconvulsant effects of non-nutritive sweeteners. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 18:335–345
- 40. Villalba ML, Palestro P, Ceruso M et al (2016) Sulfamide derivatives with selective carbonic anhydrase VII inhibitory action. Bioorg Med Chem 24:894–901
- 41. Food and Drug Administration Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (2005) Guidance for industry estimating the maximum safe starting dose in initial clinical trials for therapeutics in adult healthy volunteers
- 42. Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N (2008) Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. FASEB J 22:659–661
- Sharma V, McNeill JH (2009) To scale or not to scale: the principles of dose extrapolation. Br J Pharmacol 157:907–921
- 44. Liu X, Vilenski O, Kwan J et al (2009) Unbound brain concentration determines receptor occupancy: a correlation of drug concentration and brain serotonin and dopamine reuptake transporter occupancy for eighteen compounds in rats. Drug Metab Dipos 37:1548–1556
- Watson J, Wright S, Lucas A (2009) Receptor occupancy and brain free fraction. Drug Metab Dispos 37:753–760
- 46. Bellera CL, Balcazar DE, Vanrell MC et al (2015) Computer-guided drug repurposing: identification of trypanocidal activity of clofazimine, benidipine and saquinavir. Eur J Med Chem 93:338–348

## INDEX

## Α

| AAV. See Adeno-associated virus (AAV)                   |          |
|---|----------|
| Absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion     | 1        |
| (ADME) filters  | .250,251 |
| Acesulfame  |          |
| Acetazolamide (Diamox®)                                 | 41       |
| Adeno-associated virus (AAV)                            | .188,197 |
| Adenoviruses  |          |
| Adsorptive-mediated transport (AMT)                     |          |
| Adverse drug effects                                    |          |
| <i>vs.</i> adverse event                                |          |
| new antiepileptic drugs                                 |          |
| felbamate   |          |
| gabapentin  |          |
| lamotrigine   |          |
| levetiracetam   |          |
| oxcarbazepine   |          |
| tiagabine   |          |
| topiramate  |          |
| vigabatrin  |          |
| zonisamide  |          |
| old antiepileptic drugs                                 | .335,336 |
| type A  | .332-335 |
| type B  | .340,341 |
| type C  | .341-343 |
| type D  | .343–344 |
| type E  | .344–345 |
| type F  | .345,346 |
| Adverse drug reaction                                   |          |
| Adverse event   |          |
| Allopregnanolone  |          |
| $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propior | nate     |
| receptors (AMPARs)                                      |          |
| clinical trials   |          |
| perampanel  |          |
| talampanel  |          |
| preclinical models                                      | .107-108 |
| Althotas Virtual Laboratory                             |          |
| AMT. See Adsorptive-mediated transport (AMT)            |          |
| Anatomic therapeutic chemical (ATC) classification      | n        |
| system  |          |
| Anticonvulsant Screening Project                        |          |
| 0,00  |          |

| Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs)                     | 63–65      |
|--|------------|
| Anti-inflammatory cytokines                    | 4          |
| Anti-inflammatory drugs                        |            |
| antiepileptic effects                          | 29–33      |
| antimicrobial agents                           | 28, 29     |
| antioxidants                                   | 27–28      |
| COX inhibitors                                 | 25–27      |
| glucocorticoids                                | 27         |
| Anti-seizure drugs                             | 329        |
| Antitargets                                    |            |
| Approved antiepileptic drugs (AEDs)            | .366–367   |
| Artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF)          | 204        |
| Assisted Model Building with Energy Refinement |            |
| (AMBER)  | 71         |
| Astex Statistical Potential (ASP)              |            |
| ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter         |            |
| bidirectional transport assay                  |            |
| ex vivo permeability assay271 (see als         | o Everted  |
| gut sac model)                                 |            |
| in silico identification                       |            |
| ABC efflux pumps                               |            |
| affinity prediction                            | 267        |
| cost effectiveness                             | 265        |
| interlab variability                           |            |
| ligand-based approximations                    | 264        |
| meta-classifiers                               | .265,274   |
| models   | 265        |
| online/software packages                       | 265        |
| polyspecificity                                |            |
| screening/ranking method                       | 266        |
| in vitro permeability assay                    |            |
| active efflux                                  |            |
| apical membrane                                |            |
| efflux ratio                                   |            |
| MDCK-MDR1 cells                                |            |
| passive diffusion                              |            |
| sink condition                                 |            |
| Pgp  | , 261, 263 |
| reversal, drug resistance                      | 261        |
| therapeutic approaches                         | 264        |
| validation                                     | 261        |
| Autism   | 13         |
| Autodock Vina software                         | .287,289   |

Alan Talevi and Luisa Rocha (eds.), Antiepileptic Drug Discovery: Novel Approaches, Methods in Pharmacology and Toxicology, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-6355-3, © Springer Science+Business Media New York 2016

## 380 ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUG DISCOVERY: NOVEL APPROACHES

## В

| BCRP. See Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) |
|---|
| BCRP/ABCG2272                                     |
| Benzodiazepines                                   |
| $\beta$ common receptor ( $\beta CR)155$          |
| β-hydroxybutyric acid169                          |
| Bioactive conformation242, 243                    |
| Bioavailability (BA) 300, 306, 308, 309, 321, 322 |
| Bioinformatics-based drug repurposing             |
| Biosecurity190                                    |
| Biozyne   |
| BLAST   |
| Blood-brain barrier (BBB)                         |
| antiepileptic drugs229–231                        |
| characteristics                                   |
| cell-cell junctions                               |
| influx and efflux transporters                    |
| transcytosis                                      |
| multidrug transporter molecules                   |
| neurovascular unit components223                  |
| astrocytes224                                     |
| basement membrane225                              |
| endothelial cells222–223                          |
| microglial cells224                               |
| neurons and interneurons225                       |
| perivascular macrophages224                       |
| vascular smooth muscle cells and                  |
| pericytes   |
| nanoformulation                                   |
| seizures, and epilepsy                            |
| Bound conformation242                             |
| Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP)260, 263,  |
| 272, 273  |
| Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)195       |

## С

| Calcium phosphate transfection184 |
|-----------------------------------|
| Caloric restriction (CR)          |
| definition166                     |
| food restriction167               |
| health span167                    |
| intermittent fasting167, 168      |
| mechanism of action170, 171       |
| periodic fasting167               |
| procedure                         |
| Cannabidiol (CBD)                 |
| Cannabinoids                      |
| control epilepsy in humans90–91   |
| eCB (see Endocannabinoids (eCBs)) |
| phytocannabinoids85–86, 90        |
| seizure activity and epilepsy     |
| Cannabis plants                   |
| Carbamazepine (CBZ)               |

| Carbonic anhydrases (CAs)   |   |
|---|---|
| anticonvulsant drugs  |   |
| acetazolamide41, 4  | 2   |
| active site interaction4  | 1   |
| CAVII inhibitors  | 7   |
| designing selective4  | 3   |
| divergences in identity4  | 3   |
| limitations4  | 3   |
| methazolamide41, 4  | 2   |
| sulthiame4  | 2   |
| topiramate4   | 2   |
| zonisamide4   | 2   |
| catalytic forms3  | 9   |
| classifications   | 8   |
| isoforms  | 9   |
| seizures  | 0   |
| CA-related proteins (CARPs)   | 9   |
| Caspases  | 0   |
| Catamenial epilepsy   | 7   |
| Cationic liposomes  | 6   |
| CAVII inhibitors  | 7   |
| Cell-cell junctions   | 6   |
| Cell therapy  | 2   |
|   |   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport                             |   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)             |   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL24 | 1   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | -1<br>7   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 172   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3<br>1<br>5  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3<br>1<br>5<br>8   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3<br>1<br>5<br>8<br>7  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 172315874   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723<br>158748  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723158748  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3<br>1<br>5<br>8<br>7<br>4<br>8<br>4   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | $1 \\ 7 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 1 \\ 5 \\ 8 \\ 7 \\ 4 \\ 8 \\ 4 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 5 \\ 7 \\ 4 \\ 8 \\ 4 \\ 0 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1$ |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723<br>158748<br>401   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723 158748 4019  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723 158748 40197   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723 158748 401973  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723 158748 4019732   |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1723 158748 40197324  |
| CETA. See Concentration equilibrium transport<br>assay (CETA)<br>ChEMBL   | 1<br>7<br>2<br>3<br>1<br>5<br>8<br>7<br>4<br>8<br>4<br>0<br>1<br>9<br>7<br>3<br>2<br>4<br>1   |

## D

| Dataset compilation                               | 239–241 |
|---|---------|
| $\Delta$ 9-tetrahydrocannabinol ( $\Delta$ 9-THC) |         |
| Descriptor calculation software                   | 254     |
| Dexamethasone                                     | 27      |
| Dietary treatments                                |         |
| ketogenic diet                                    |         |

| LGI treatment                                  | 166           |
|--|---------------|
| MAD  | 166           |
| MCT regime                                     | 165           |
| Directory of useful decoys, enhanced           |               |
| (DUD-E)  | 249           |
| DisGeNET                                       |               |
| Docking score                                  | 285, 290, 291 |
| Dravet syndrome                                |               |
| DrugBank2                                      | 250, 289, 370 |
| Drug rash with eosinophilia and systemic sympt | oms           |
| (DRESS)  | 341           |
| Drug repurposing                               |               |
| animal doses to human equivalent doses         |               |
| bioinformatic tools                            | 368–370       |
| cheminformatics tools                          | 370–372       |
| dose compatibility                             | 374           |
| multiple doses                                 | 373, 374      |

## Ε

| Electro-responsive hydrogel NP (ERHNP)        | 307      |
|---|----------|
| Endocannabinoids (eCBs)                       |          |
| cannabinoid receptors                         | 84       |
| carrier-mediated transport systems            | 84       |
| CB1 and CB2 receptors                         | 85       |
| central nervous system                        | 84       |
| patients with epilepsy                        |          |
| postsynaptic neurons                          | 84       |
| seizure activity and epilepsy                 |          |
| Enzyme StAR                                   | 128      |
| Epilepsy. See Neuroinflammation               |          |
| Epileptogenesis                               | 168, 191 |
| ERHNP. See Electro-responsive hydrogel NP (El | RHNP)    |
| Erythropoietin (EPO)                          |          |
| different concentrations                      | 154      |
| hypoxia                                       | 150, 151 |
| neuroprotective effects                       | 154–156  |
| seizure activity                              |          |
| different concentrations                      | 153      |
| protective effect                             | 154      |
| rHu-EPO                                       | 153–154  |
| structure                                     | 149      |
| Ethosuximide                                  |          |
| Everted gut sac model                         |          |
| advantages                                    | 271      |
| limitations                                   | 271      |
| localization along intestinal tract           | 272, 273 |
| preparation                                   | 273,274  |
| Every other day feeding (EOF)                 |          |
| Exocytosis process                            | 54       |
| · 1   |          |

## F

| Factor-inhibiting HIF-1 (FIH-1)    | 148 |
|------------------------------------|-----|
| Felbamate                          |     |
| Fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) |     |

## ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUG DISCOVERY: NOVEL APPROACHES |381

| Fick's first law                 |          |
|----------------------------------|----------|
| Finasteride-induced neurosteroid | 136, 137 |
| Food restriction (FR)            | 165, 167 |
| Force field (FF)                 | 71       |

## G

| GABA. See Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GAB   | A)              |
|--|-----------------|
| Gabapentin                               | . 306, 337, 338 |
| GABRA1 expression                        |                 |
| Galanin                                  |                 |
| Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)           | 182, 193,       |
| 333, 337                                 |                 |
| conductance                              | 130             |
| DGCs, epileptic animals                  |                 |
| on expression                            |                 |
| subunits                                 |                 |
| $\gamma$ -scintigraphy                   |                 |
| Gene therapy                             |                 |
| administration route                     |                 |
| animal models                            |                 |
| in clinic                                |                 |
| epileptogenesis                          | 191             |
| ex vivo gene transfer                    |                 |
| germ cell modification                   |                 |
| in vitro gene transfer                   |                 |
| objectives                               |                 |
| obstacles                                | 190             |
| somatic                                  |                 |
| Gene transfer                            |                 |
| See also Transgene                       |                 |
| Glide docking software                   |                 |
| Gliosis                                  | 4, 14           |
| Glutamatergic synapse                    | 98              |
| GoldScore functions                      |                 |
| GROningen Machine for Chemical Simulatio | ns              |
| (GROMACS)                                | 71              |

## н

| 152      |
|----------|
| 4        |
| 184, 188 |
| 195      |
| 191      |
| 238      |
|          |
| 214–215  |
| 204–207  |
| 212-214  |
| 203, 204 |
| 207-212  |
| 193      |
|          |
| 148      |
| 12       |
|          |

## 382 ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUG DISCOVERY: NOVEL APPROACHES

| Нурохіа                            |     |
|------------------------------------|-----|
| definition                         | 147 |
| events time course                 |     |
| HIF-1                              |     |
| hypobaric                          |     |
| PHD1-3                             |     |
| Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) |     |

## I

| ICP10PK195  |  |
|---|--|
| Immunohistochemistry (IHC)                          |  |
| antibody (Ab)66                                     |  |
| materials and methods                               |  |
| animals67   |  |
| PB67  |  |
| results68   |  |
| SV2A protein IR68                                   |  |
| tissue sample collection and processing67           |  |
| optical density66                                   |  |
| Inflammatory cytokines                              |  |
| anti-inflammatory4                                  |  |
| definition3   |  |
| hematopoietic4                                      |  |
| mood comorbidities                                  |  |
| anxiety disorder12                                  |  |
| autism13  |  |
| depression11, 12                                    |  |
| MDD11   |  |
| proinflammatory4                                    |  |
| receptors after seizures4–7                         |  |
| seizures  |  |
| epileptogenesis7-9                                  |  |
| ictogenesis7-9                                      |  |
| neuronal damage9–11                                 |  |
| In silico screening. See Virtual screening (VS)     |  |
| Interleukin-1ß                                      |  |
| anticonvulsant effect7                              |  |
| autism  |  |
| carbamazepine/vinpocetine9                          |  |
| depression12  |  |
| epileptogenesis8                                    |  |
| febrile convulsions8                                |  |
| intracerebroventricular (i.c.v) injection15–16      |  |
| intrahippocampal injection7                         |  |
| localization by immunohistochemistry                |  |
| LPS   |  |
| mRNA expression by qRT-PCR16                        |  |
| neuronal damage10, 11                               |  |
| PD12  |  |
| proconvulsant effect7, 8                            |  |
| PTSD12  |  |
| sertraline9   |  |
| Intermittent fasting (IF) 165, 167, 168             |  |
| International League Against Epilepsy (ILAE)37, 151 |  |

| .6 |
|----|
| 5  |
| 20 |
| .6 |
|    |
|    |
|    |
| 0  |
|    |
|    |
|    |

## J

| Janus tyrosine kinase 2 | (JAK-2) | 154 |
|-------------------------|---------|-----|
|-------------------------|---------|-----|

## Κ

| Kainate receptors (KARs) |                  |
|--------------------------|------------------|
| Ketogenic diet (KD)      | 164–165, 169–170 |

### L

| Lamotrigine                          | 332, 333, 337–345    |
|--------------------------------------|----------------------|
| Lennox-Gastaut syndrome              |                      |
| Lentiviruses                         |                      |
| Leverage points                      |                      |
| Levetiracetam (LEV)                  | 61-63, 338, 342, 359 |
| LGI. See Low glycemic index (LGI)    |                      |
| Linear Constraint Solver (LINCS) alg | orithm74             |
| Lipinski's rules                     |                      |
| Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)             |                      |
| Lorazepam-loaded PLGA nanoparticl    | es                   |
| (LZ-PLGA-NP)                         |                      |
| Low glycemic index (LGI) treatment   |                      |
| LPS. See Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)    |                      |

## Μ

| MAD. See Modified Atkins diet (MAD)              |              |
|--|--------------|
| Major depressive disorder (MDD)                  | 11           |
| Major facilitator superfamily (MFS) transporters | 57           |
| Mammalian (mechanistic) target of rapamycin      |              |
| (mTOR)   | 31, 170      |
| Maternal immune activation (MIA)                 | 13           |
| Maximal electroshock-induced seizure (MES) tes   | st289        |
| Maximal electroshock seizure (MES) model         |              |
| MDCK II–MDR1 cells                               | 57, 269, 270 |
| Medium-chain triglyceride (MCT) regime           | 165          |
| Memantine  |              |
| Mendelian disorders                              | 351          |
| Metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs)        |              |
| Group I  | 110–112      |
| Group II   | 111, 114     |
| Group III  | 115–117      |
| Methazolamide                                    | 41           |
| Microglia4,                                      | 5, 9, 10, 14 |
| <u> </u>   |              |

| Microinjection (electroporation)184  |
|--------------------------------------|
| Model inflation factor (MIF)254      |
| Model randomization254               |
| Modified Atkins diet (MAD)165, 166   |
| Molecular dynamics simulation (MDS)  |
| AMBER                                |
| CHARMM                               |
| cluster analysis74–75                |
| drug discovery70                     |
| force field                          |
| GROMACS71, 73                        |
| materials and methods73–74           |
| NAMD71                               |
| PCA75                                |
| properties72-73                      |
| unit cell                            |
| Molecular fingerprinting             |
| Molecular framework (MF)             |
| Moloney murine leukemia virus193     |
| MRP2/ABCC2                           |
| MRP3/ABCC3                           |
| Multidrug resistance proteins (MRPs) |
| Multielectrode arrays (MEAs)206      |

## Ν

| N-acylphosphatidylethanolamine-hydrolyzi | ng phospholipase |
|--|------------------|
| D (NAPE-PLD)                             | 84               |
| Naked DNA                                |                  |
| Nanoformulations                         |                  |
| advantages                               |                  |
| AMT                                      |                  |
| excipients                               |                  |
| IN administration                        |                  |
| biocompatible materials                  |                  |
| drug deposition sites                    |                  |
| LZ-PLGA-NP                               |                  |
| microemulsions                           |                  |
| nanoemulsions                            |                  |
| NLC                                      |                  |
| in vitro                                 |                  |
| biorelevant media                        |                  |
| experimental conditions                  |                  |
| hydrodynamics influence                  |                  |
| oral route administration                |                  |
| parenteral administration                |                  |
| release test                             |                  |
| sink conditions                          |                  |
| in vivo PK/PD                            |                  |
| chitosan                                 |                  |
| ERHNP                                    |                  |
| gabapentin                               |                  |
| PBC                                      |                  |
| pluronic 123                             |                  |
| valproic acid                            |                  |
|  |                  |

| plasma protein                             |              |
|--|--------------|
| RMT  |              |
| Nanoscale Molecular Dynamics (NAMD)        | 71           |
| Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC)        |              |
| Network pharmacology                       |              |
| gene expression                            |              |
| "multi-target" and Alzheimer/cancer/       |              |
| epilepsy                                   |              |
| potency                                    |              |
| tailored multi-target agents               | 353–354      |
| bioinformatics tools                       |              |
| independent models                         |              |
| ligand efficiency metrics                  |              |
| MES model                                  | 356          |
| molecular framework                        | 356          |
| 1TR  | 357          |
| nharmaconhores                             | 354          |
| physicochemical properties                 | 355          |
| superpromiscuous ligande                   | 356          |
|  |              |
| 2D OSAR                                    |              |
| SD QSAK                                    |              |
| anti inflammatore druge (aa Anti inflamm   | atomi dmina) |
| anti-milaminatory drugs (see Anti-milamini | atory drugs) |
|  |              |
| central/peripheral events                  |              |
| microglia                                  |              |
| neuronal excitability                      |              |
| Neuropeptide 1 (NP1)                       |              |
| Ineurosteroids                             | 125 127      |
|  |              |
| epileptogenesis regulation                 | 138          |
| GABA <sub>A</sub> receptors                | 120          |
| conductance                                |              |
| DGCs, epileptic animals                    |              |
| expression                                 |              |
| subunits                                   |              |
| seizure suppression                        |              |
| stress                                     |              |
| synaptic inhibition                        |              |
| synthesis in brain                         |              |
| tonic inhibition                           |              |
| Neurovascular unit components              |              |
| astrocytes                                 | 224          |
| basement membrane                          |              |
| endothelial cells                          |              |
| microglial cells                           | 224          |
| neurons and interneurons                   | 225          |
| perivascular macrophages                   | 224          |
| vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes | 223–224      |
| New antiepileptic drugs                    |              |
| felbamate                                  |              |
| gabapentin                                 |              |
| lamotrigine                                |              |
| levetiracetam                              |              |
|  |              |

## 384 ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUG DISCOVERY: NOVEL APPROACHES

| New antiepileptic drugs (cont.)                          |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| oxcarbazepine  |  |  |
| tiagabine  |  |  |
| topiramate   |  |  |
| vigabatrin   |  |  |
| zonisamide   |  |  |
| NIH's Anticonvulsant Screening Program                   |  |  |
| NLC. See Nanostructured lipid carriers (NLC)             |  |  |
| <i>N</i> -methyl-D-aspartate receptor receptors (NMDARs) |  |  |
| clinical trials  |  |  |
| DCPP-ene106  |  |  |
| dextromethorphan106, 107                                 |  |  |
| felbamate106   |  |  |
| ketamine 105, 106  |  |  |
| remacemide107  |  |  |
| preclinical models99–105                                 |  |  |
| Nose-to-brain delivery, AEDs. See Intranasal (IN) drug   |  |  |
| administration   |  |  |
| Nucleotide-binding domain (NBD)                          |  |  |

## 0

| Old antiepileptic drugs                    | 335,336  |
|--|----------|
| Oligonucleotides                           |          |
| 1β converting enzyme (ICE)                 | 30       |
| One terminal ring system (1TR)             | 357      |
| Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM) |          |
| Overfitting                                | 244, 245 |
| Oxcarbazepine                              |          |

## Ρ

| Panic disorder (PD)12                    |
|--|
| Papp                                     |
| Pentylenetetrazol (PTZ) 5, 167, 168, 308 |
| Pentylenetetrazol test (scMES test)      |
| Periodic fasting (PF)165, 167            |
| Peripheral benzodiazepine receptors      |
| P-glycoprotein (P-gp)                    |
| ABC transporter                          |
| biological assays                        |
| molecular docking                        |
| analyzing capacity287                    |
| docking score                            |
| human 3D model286                        |
| prediction capability286                 |
| rhodamine B                              |
| tridimensional structure283–286          |
| Pharmacology                             |
| reductionist approach                    |
| systems biology viewpoint                |
| target-driven approach                   |
| Pharmacophore, definition                |
| Pharmacoresistant epilepsy151–156        |
| Phenobarbital                            |
| Phytocannabinoids                        |

| Piecewise Linear Potential (ChemPLP)       |            |
|--|------------|
| Pluronic 123 (P123)                        |            |
| Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD)       | 12         |
| Principal Component Analysis (PCA)         | 75         |
| Probenecid (PBC)                           |            |
| Process randomization                      |            |
| Proinflammatory cytokines                  | 4, 5, 9–15 |
| Prolyl-hydroxylase domain enzymes (PHD1-3) | 148        |
| Protein Data Bank (PDB)                    | 71, 370    |
| Protein network analysis                   |            |
| PsyGeNET                                   |            |
| PTZ. See Pentylenetetrazole (PTZ)          |            |
| PubChem                                    |            |
|  |            |

## Q

| Quantitative structure–activity relationship |           |     |
|--|-----------|-----|
| (QSAR)                                       | 243, 283, | 360 |

## R

| rAAV vectors. See Recombinant adenovirus (rAA    | V) vectors   |
|--|--------------|
| Receiver-operating characteristic (ROC)          |              |
| curves   | 55, 290, 291 |
| Receptor-mediated transport (RMT)                |              |
| Recombinant adenovirus (rAAV) vectors            | 190          |
| Recombinant human Epo (rHu-EPO)                  | 153          |
| Redundant variables                              | 254          |
| Refractory epilepsy                              |              |
| anticonvulsant drugs                             | 288–292      |
| definition                                       | 259          |
| SUDEP  | 152          |
| transporter hypothesis                           | 60,281-283   |
| ABC transporters                                 |              |
| Repetitive seizures                              | 151          |
| Retroviruses                                     |              |
| RMT. See Receptor-mediated transport (RMT)       |              |
| Robustness                                       | 246          |
| ROC curve. See Receiver- operating characteristi | c (ROC)      |
| curves   |              |
| "Rule of 2"                                      | 251          |

## S

| Saturation effect                                  |             |
|--|-------------|
| Scaffold hopping                                   | 238, 239    |
| Sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG)                |             |
| Signal transduction and activator of transcription | n 5a and 5b |
| (STAT5) pathways                                   | 155         |
| Small interfering RNAs (siRNAs)                    | 13, 14      |
| Solid lipid nanoparticle (SLN)                     | 307, 308    |
| Somatic gene therapy                               |             |
| Spike-wave discharges (SWDs)                       |             |
| Spontaneous excitatory postsynaptic currents       |             |
| (sEPSCs)   | 60          |
| Spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents       |             |
| (sIPSCs)   | 59          |
|  |             |

| Status epilepticus (SE)                  | 138, 152, 168 |
|--|---------------|
| Stereotactic surgery                     |               |
| Stevens-Johnson syndrome                 |               |
| Strain energy                            |               |
| Sudden Unexpected Death in Epilepsy (SUE | DEP)152       |
| Sulfamides                               |               |
| Sulfonamides                             |               |
| Sulthiame                                | 42            |
| Superpromiscuous ligands                 |               |
| Sweetlead                                |               |
| Synaptic vesicle protein 2A (SV2A)       |               |
| epilepsy                                 |               |

| -FF-2                                  |              |
|--|--------------|
| AEDs                                   | 63–65        |
| animal models                          | 60–61        |
| anticonvulsant drug levetiracetam      | 61–63        |
| mice lacking                           |              |
| facial and trigeminal nuclei           | 56           |
| glutamatergic and GABAergic terminals  | 56           |
| immunoreactivity (IR)                  | 56           |
| MDS (see Molecular dynamics simulation | (MDS))       |
| synaptic vesicle cycle                 | 54–55, 58–59 |
| transmembrane glycoproteins            | 56           |
| transport proteins                     | 56           |
| transporter function                   |              |
| VGLUT                                  |              |
| Synaptic vesicles (SVs)                |              |
| Synaptotagmin 1 (SYT-1) protein        |              |
|  |              |

## т

| Tail approach                               | 44           |
|---|--------------|
| Tanimoto score                              |              |
| TEER. See Transepithelial resistance (TEER) |              |
| Tetrahydrodeoxycorticosterone (THDOC)       | 128          |
| 3D QSAR methods                             |              |
| 3R's bioethical principle                   |              |
| Tiagabine                                   |              |
| Tissue-protective EPO receptor              | 155          |
| Tonic hind limb extension (THLE)            |              |
| Topiramate (Topamax <sup>®</sup> )          | 42, 338, 342 |
| Toxic epidermal necrolysis affects          |              |
| Transcytosis                                |              |
| Transepithelial resistance (TEER)           |              |
| Transgene                                   |              |
| calcium phosphate transfection              |              |
| definition                                  |              |
| microinjection (electroporation)            |              |
| naked DNA                                   |              |
| non-viral vectors                           |              |
| oligonucleotides                            |              |
| viral vectors                               |              |
| AAV   |              |
| adenoviruses                                |              |
| HSV   |              |
| retroviruses                                |              |
|   |              |

| Translocator protein (TSPO)                |               |
|--|---------------|
| Transporter hypothesis. See ATP-binding ca | assette (ABC) |
| transporter                                |               |
| "Trojan horse" approach                    |               |
| Tumor necrosis factor (TNF-α)              | 4–14          |
| Two terminal ring systems (2TR)            | 357           |
| Type A effects                             |               |
| Type B effects                             |               |
| Type C effects                             |               |
| Type D effects                             |               |
| Type E effects                             |               |
| Type F effects                             |               |
|  |               |

## U

| UniProt database                     |     |
|--------------------------------------|-----|
| United States Pharmacopeia (USP)     |     |
| Universal Natural Product Database   |     |
| US National Center for Biotechnology |     |
| Information                          | 369 |

## V

| Valproate                                 |                 |
|---|-----------------|
| 336, 341–345                              |                 |
| Valproic acid (VA)                        |                 |
| Variance inflation factor (VIF)           | 254             |
| Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) | 152             |
| Veber's rules                             | 251, 354        |
| Vector Alignment Search Tool (VAST)       |                 |
| Vector machine method                     |                 |
| Verapamil                                 | . 261, 262, 270 |
| Vesicular glutamate transporters (VGLUT)  | 56              |
| Vigabatrin                                | 339, 343        |
| Virtual screening (VS)                    |                 |
| ADME filters                              | 250, 251        |
| advantages                                | 238             |
| applicability domain estimation           | 249, 250        |
| dataset compilation                       |                 |
| 251–253                                   |                 |
| definition                                | 237             |
| independent test set                      | 241, 242        |
| ligand-based                              |                 |
| machine learning approaches               | 238             |
| similarity searches                       | 238             |
| superimposition techniques                | 239             |
| model building                            |                 |
| classification or regression model        | 245, 246        |
| overfitting                               | 244, 245        |
| model validation                          |                 |
| cross                                     | 246, 247        |
| external                                  | 248             |
| robustness                                | 246             |
| Y-randomization                           | . 247, 248, 254 |
| molecular descriptors                     | 242–244         |
| pilot VS campaign                         |                 |

# 386 ANTIEPILEPTIC DRUG DISCOVERY: NOVEL APPROACHES

| W                              |          |
|--------------------------------|----------|
| complex                        |          |
| von Hippel-Lindau (VHL)        |          |
| Virtual screening campaigns    |          |
| training set                   | 241, 242 |
| structure-based                | 238      |
| redundant variables            | 253, 254 |
| Virtual screening (VS) (cont.) |          |

### w

| Wager's desirability score                   | 355 |
|--|-----|
| WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics |     |
| Methodology                                  |     |

| Х               |               |
|-----------------|---------------|
| XScore          |               |
| Υ               |               |
| Y-randomization | 247, 248, 254 |
| Z               |               |
| Zinc            |               |
| ZINC 5          |               |
| Zonisamide      |               |
| Z score         |               |